

# Evaluation of new lentiviral vector pseudotypes for gene transfer into hematopoietic cells

Anaïs Girard Gagnepain

# ► To cite this version:

Anaïs Girard Gagnepain. Evaluation of new lentiviral vector pseudotypes for gene transfer into hematopoietic cells. Virology. Ecole normale supérieure de lyon - ENS LYON, 2014. English. NNT: 2014ENSL0939 . tel-01084864

# HAL Id: tel-01084864 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01084864

Submitted on 20 Nov 2014

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# THÈSE

En vue de l'obtention du grade de

Docteur de l'Université de Lyon, délivré par l'École Normale Supérieure de Lyon

Discipline : Sciences de la Vie

Laboratoire : Virologie Humaine (CIRI – INSERM U1111 – Equipe EVIR)

École Doctorale : Biologie Moléculaire Intégrative et Cellulaire

Présentée et soutenue publiquement

Le 15 Octobre 2014

par Mme Anaïs Girard, épouse Gagnepain

# EVALUATION DE NOUVEAUX PSEUDOTYPES DE VECTEURS LENTIVIRAUX POUR LE TRANSFERT DE GENES DANS LES CELLULES HEMATOPOIETIQUES

Directeur de thèse :

Mme le Docteur Els Verhoeyen

Devant la commission d'examen formée de :

M. le Docteur François-Loïc Cosset, Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie (Lyon), Examinateur

Mme le Professeur Anne Galy, Genethon (Evry), Rapporteur

Mme le Docteur Elvire Gouze, Centre Méditerranéen de Médecine Moléculaire (Nice), Examinatrice

M. le Professeur Renaud Mahieux, Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie (Lyon), Examinateur

M. le Docteur Tuan Huy Nguyen, Centre de Recherche en Transplantation et Immunologie (Nantes), Rapporteur

Mme le Docteur Els Verhoeyen, Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie (Lyon) et Centre Méditerranéen de Médecine Moléculaire (Nice), Directrice.

工欲善其事,必先利其器

« De bons outils pour un bon travail »,

Extrait des Analectes de Confucius

Voici venue la dernière étape d'écriture de ce manuscrit qui sera sans doute paradoxalement la plus lue, quelques mots en français, car j'aurai bien du mal à transmettre mes sentiments dans la langue de Shakespeare.

Pour commencer, je tiens à remercier les membres de mon jury,

Mme le Professeur Anne Galy, c'est un honneur pour moi que vous ayez accepté de relire et apporter votre éclairage sur ce manuscrit. Merci d'avoir consacré du temps pour m'aider à améliorer ce travail.

Mme le Docteur *Elvire Gouze*, merci d'avoir accepté au pied levé d'examiner mes travaux et de faire partie de mon jury.

M. le Professeur *Renaud Mahieux*, merci de m'avoir suivi de la licence à aujourd'hui, pour vos conseils avisés lors de mon comité de suivi de thèse et pour aujourd'hui examiner le rendu final de ce passage à l'ENS.

*M. le Docteur Tuan Huy Nguyen*, je me souviens encore de la première fois où je t'ai rencontré en congrès dans le sud de la France alors que je n'étais encore qu'en première année de Master. Ta disponibilité et ton accessibilité m'ont marquée, je n'ai pas souvent eu l'occasion de te voir mais tu as été présent tout au long de mon parcours, pour mon rapport de fin de Master, et aujourd'hui comme rapporteur de ma thèse. Pour cet accompagnement, pour tes remarques judicieuses, ton humour et ta gentillesse, merci, c'était un réel plaisir de partager avec toi sur ces quelques années de travail.

Membre de mon jury, directeur de notre équipe mais bien plus que ça à mes yeux, *François-Loïc* je vous remercie pour tellement de choses. M'avoir permis d'évoluer dans votre laboratoire, de mener à bien mes projets professionnels en facilitant mon cursus en médecine et surtout votre écoute. Malgré votre charge de travail, j'ai toujours trouvé auprès de vous une oreille attentive et des conseils précieux qui m'ont aidé à surmonter des moments difficiles, pour cela merci de tout cœur et recevez, sincèrement, toute mon admiration.

*Els*, merci de m'avoir accueillie à bras ouvert et de m'avoir accompagné depuis cette troisième année de licence avec ces projets qui m'ont passionnée et qui je l'espère continueront à se développer. Merci d'avoir accepté le compromis difficile d'encadrer une doctorante en double cursus et d'avoir relu et apporté tes corrections à ce manuscrit en un temps record. Enfin, grâce à toi, j'ai pu prendre conscience de la portée des écrits de Marc Aurèle: « *Que la force me soit donnée de supporter ce qui ne peut être changé et le courage de changer ce qui peut l'être mais aussi la sagesse de distinguer l'un de l'autre »*.

Je tiens aussi à remercier l'*ENS* et l'ensemble des personnes qui constituent cette école formidable, sa direction, ses enseignants et son administration. Je suis reconnaissante envers vous tous pour votre soutien à toute épreuve et la formation d'exception dont j'ai pu profiter dans vos murs. J'ai lutté pour faire partie de cette école et je ne l'ai jamais regretté.

Durant ces trois années de thèse, je me suis partagée entre le laboratoire et la faculté de médecine, grâce à la compréhension d'Els et François-Loïc mais aussi les ajustements permis par *Messieurs les Doyen et Vice-Doyen de la faculté de médecine de Lyon Est, Messieurs les Professeurs Jérome Etienne et Gilles Rode*, veuillez trouver en ces quelques lignes toute ma reconnaissance pour votre aide, votre soutien et les ajustements que vous avez permis. De même, je remercie *Mesdames Giraud, Liebig, Rabehi, Keraudren* ainsi que toutes les personnes de cette faculté qui m'ont aidé à mener à bien ce projet.

Cette aventure scientifique a aussi consisté en une enrichissante aventure humaine et je voudrai remercier les personnes qui ont marqué mes quelques années au laboratoire. Nathalie, d'abord simple connaissance puis directrice adjointe des études en or et enfin véritable amie, je te remercie pour ton soutien dans les moments difficiles de la thèse mais plus largement aussi. Merci pour ton honnêteté, nos discussions sans langue de bois et tes conseils qui m'ont souvent été précieux tant dans la vie que dans les problématiques scientifiques et qui m'ont évité bien des déboires... Quel bonheur de te voir évoluer en douceur vers votre nouvelle vie à quatre, le Sud-Ouest ce n'est pas si loin, et il parait que les vacances en famille y sont plus qu'agréables, nous vous y attendrons donc...

Merci à Nathalie, Sandrine et Catherine, pour votre aide lors des procédures administratives. Merci Catherine pour ton sourire, ta gentillesse et ta disponibilité, j'aurai aimé te connaître davantage.

Merci à *Nadine, Jean-François* et tous les membres du *PBES* pour leur aide et leur soutien technique concernant les souris. Merci Nadine pour ta bonne humeur et ta gentillesse.

Je remercie aussi les personnes passées ou présentes de l'équipe à proprement parler,

Pour commencer, une pensée pour *Judit, Guillemette, Sarah, Loan, Thomas, Florian, Marine, Sonia, Elodie, Solène, Brian*, je vous remercie pour les quelques moments passés.

*Camille*, je te remercie de m'avoir confirmé le génie d'Hobbes, notamment dans ses histoires de retour à l'état de nature et de lupidés.

*Marlène*, lors de ton retour au labo, je commençais mes études de médecine, nous ne nous sommes donc pas beaucoup vues mais nos quelques échanges étaient fructueux et c'est avec plaisir que j'ai partagé avec toi quelques poches de sang de donneurs dévoués.

*Dimitri*, merci pour nos discussions scientifiques et médicales, merci pour ta gentillesse, je te souhaite le meilleur.

*Bertrand*, merci pour tes quelques conseils et ton pragmatisme appréciable pour quelqu'un comme moi qui ne l'est pas du tout... Ton parcours est à mes yeux un exemple de persévérance et d'évolution.

*Fanny*, les choses ont faites que nous ne nous sommes pas beaucoup connues, merci néanmoins pour nos quelques discussions enrichissantes, j'espère que ta vivacité d'esprit et ta persévérance te mèneront où tu le souhaiteras.

*Vincent*, ce fut un plaisir de faire ta connaissance, merci pour ta bonne humeur et ta sympathie, je te souhaite de t'épanouir pleinement avec beaucoup de succès dans le domaine que tu choisiras.

*Judith, Caro*, merci de m'avoir accueillie dans ce laboratoire et de m'avoir aidé à gagner en autonomie notamment pour dompter les 293T et même si c'est un peu moins probant, les westerns...Ceci grâce à vos conseils, votre patience et votre expérience. En souvenir des bons moments passés, notamment nos quelques sorties piscine, merci.

*Ophélia*, tu es partie depuis déjà quelques temps du laboratoire mais quel plaisir de t'avoir connue. Merci pour tous tes conseils et ton soutien à distance aux moments les plus durs.

*Jimmy*, ce fut un plaisir de partager quelques discussions plus ou moins sérieuses avec toi, qui aurait cru qu'un peu de Y dans un monde de X pouvait être si bénéfique... Profites bien de ta nouvelle vie, avec tout le bonheur qu'il est possible de souhaiter.

Véro, merci de m'avoir appris à murmurer aux oreilles du CANTO, bien que je pense que je devrai encore prendre quelques cours...Ta gentillesse, ton sourire et ton oreille attentive ont quelques fois été salutaires pour moi, nos discussions ont toujours été agréables et ton honnêteté fais de toi une femme d'exception, tu me manqueras, sincèrement. Sara, merci pour ta gentillesse à mon égard, pour avoir su quand ça n'allait pas et pour tes mots réconfortants, merci aussi d'avoir initié Manu aux joies du hochet et de Sophie. A toi et ta jolie famille, je vous souhaite le plus grand bonheur.

*Christelle*, merci pour les bons moments passés et la gentillesse dont tu as fait preuve avec moi. Tu es quelqu'un de bien, faudrait-il encore que tu y crois toi-même...Je vous souhaite à tous les quatre de mener une vie heureuse et sereine.

*Didier*, plus qu'un voisin de bureau, j'ai trouvé en toi une personne formidable. Merci pour toutes nos discussions plus variées les unes que les autres, ta vision des choses et tout ce que j'oublie encore. Merci de m'avoir évité quelques belles boulettes pour ce manuscrit et pour avoir toujours été disponible malgré ton travail. Ton entièreté et ta sympathie m'ont marquées, tu es une belle personne, tout comme Nicole qui m'a soutenu pendant mon court passage au CLB. Vous serez les bienvenus dans le Sud Ouest, je partagerai avec plaisir une petite balade en vélo avec toi, (bien que je conçoive qu'il y ait plus palpitant que les Landes en VTT !)

Ma douce *Flo*, que de souvenirs et d'émotions partagées, merci d'avoir toujours été là malgré tes propres problématiques. Je reste en admiration devant ta vision « pure » de la science et ton expertise, tu mérites à mes yeux le meilleur et j'espère qu'il t'arrivera très vite. En dehors du labo, merci pour tes conseils avisés de maman, de femme et d'amie et tes petits mots qui font toute la différence. Ta folie communicative me manque déjà, je t'invite à poursuivre cette belle histoire d'amitié autour d'un bonhomme en mousse ou d'un échinoderme de ton choix, sur une belle plage bien tranquille où nos deux familles qui ont le diable au corps pourront s'exprimer librement (Spéciale dédicace à Christophe, Thara, Lubin et Olive…).

Je tiens désormais à remercier ma famille, qui grâce à cette aventure humaine s'est élargie pour mon plus grand bonheur,

Ma chère *Céci*, même si tu es loin désormais tu ne quittes pas mes pensées, tu es une personne formidable et ma reconnaissance envers toi n'a pas de limite. Merci pour tellement de chose, pour avoir agi comme une sœur ou encore plus que ça à maintes reprises tant dans les bons que dans les pires moments. J'aimerai avoir été plus présente auprès de toi lors des derniers événements merveilleux qui ont changé votre vie. Mille merci ma belle, pour tout, un océan nous sépare mais rien n'affectera mon affection et ma tendresse envers toi. Vivement que vous veniez en Espagne et que l'on vous y rejoigne, tu me manques tellement.

*Fouzia*, la charge émotionnelle de ces remerciements me ferait presque verser une larme... Ma sista comme tu dis si bien, ton soutien à toute épreuve, ta présence réconfortante et tes mots toujours justes font de toi une personne exceptionnelle. J'ai adoré travailler, réfléchir avec toi, plus que tout j'adore (et le présent prend tout son sens) t'entendre me raconter les dernières péripéties de votre merveille, j'adore pouvoir tout te dire et tout entendre de ta part. Je te dois tellement, qu'il me faudrait noircir quelques pages de remerciements alors disons tout simplement Merci, avec un grand M, de ceux qu'on n'oublie jamais. Si vous changez d'avis, toi, Youness et Shahin êtes et serez toujours les bienvenus dans notre nouvelle aventure, ne l'oubliez pas...

Je voudrai aussi dans cette thèse faire honneur à ma famille, mes parents, Monique, Mélissa et ma très jolie-famille pour leur soutien au quotidien, vous m'êtes tellement précieux.

Enfin et surtout, Stephen, tu sais déjà combien... Je voudrais quand même t'adresser cette petite phrase d'un auteur qui nous est cher, et résume merveilleusement bien mes sentiments : « Soyons reconnaissants aux personnes qui nous donnent du bonheur ; elles sont les charmants jardiniers par qui nos âmes sont fleuries. ». Pour une fois qu'il ne s'agit pas de moquette, petits Lu, madeleines ou de temps perdu...

Sans oublier Manu, notre fils, notre merveille à nous, parce qu'auprès de vous deux la vie est plus douce et prend tout son sens.

Au plus important, Stephen et Manu,

### RESUME

Le transfert de gènes dans les cellules souches hématopoïétiques par des vecteurs lentiviraux s'inscrit dans les protocoles actuels de traitement par thérapie génique de plusieurs maladies monogéniques (B-thalassémie, Adrénoleucodystrophie, SCID...). De même, le transfert de gènes dans les lymphocytes T et B ouvre des perspectives tant au niveau de la thérapie génique que pour l'immunothérapie.

Nous avons mis au point des vecteurs lentiviraux pseudotypés par des glycoprotéines chimérique (BaEV/TR) et mutante (BaEVRLess) du rétrovirus endogène de babouin.

Nous avons montré que ces nouveaux vecteurs peuvent transduire de manière plus efficace les cellules souches hématopoïétiques stimulées et quiescentes que les vecteurs pseudotypés par la glycoprotéine du virus de la stomatite vésiculaire (VSV-G). Il en est de même pour les vecteurs développés récemment et pseudotypés par les Glycoprotéines H et F du virus de la rougeole.

Nous avons aussi comparé la capacité de ces derniers vecteurs à ceux pseudotypés par les glycoprotéines BaEV/TR et BaEVRLess dans le transfert de gènes dans les lymphocytes B et T ainsi que dans l'ensemble des cellules de la lignée T. Nous sommes désormais en mesure de proposer des vecteurs adaptés au transfert de gènes à chaque étape de la différenciation des cellules CD34+ en thymocytes ainsi qu'en lymphocytes T matures. Ceci pourrait permettre de proposer de nouveaux protocoles cliniques en thérapie génique avec une co-transplantation de cellules souches génétiquement modifiées et de cellules T différenciées à partir de ces cellules. Ceci permettrait notamment de réduire les phases d'aplasie actuellement nécessaires pour la greffe de cellules souches.

11

### ABSTRACT

Lentiviral vectors and their ability to transfer gene into hematopoietic stem cells are currently evaluated for the cure of several single-gene diseases (eg : B-thalassemia, Adrenoleucodystrophy, SCID). Likewise, gene transfer into B and T lymphocytes is of major interest in gene therapy and immunotherapy.

We engineered new lentiviral vectors pseudotyped by some chimeric (BaEV/TR) and mutant (BaEVRLess) glycoproteins from the baboon endogenous retrovirus. We demonstrated that these new vectors can transduce more efficiently resting and mild stimulated hematopoietic stem cells than obtained with lentivectors pseudotyped by the glycoprotein G from the vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV-G). It is the same with the recently developed lentiviral vectors pseudotyped by the H and F glycoprotein from measles virus (H/F-LVs).

We also compared the ability of the H/F-LVs with the BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess lentiviral vector pseudotype to transfer genes into B and T lymphocytes and into the whole T lineage. From now on, we are able to propose adapted vectors for gene transfer at each stage of differentiation from CD34+ cells to thymocytes and mature T cells. This could allow us to propose some new clinical protocols in gene therapy with a co-transplantation of genetically modified stem cells and their differentiated T progenitors in order to reduce the aplasia stage induced by current transplantation protocols.

12

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

RESUME		_ 11
		. 12
TABLE OF CON	ENTS	. 13
LIST OF FIGURE	S	. 19
LIST OF TABLES	۶	21
LIST OF ABBRE	/IATIONS	23
PREAMBLE		. 25
INTRODUCTION		. 27
PART 1 - LENTIV	IRAL VECTORS	. 29
1) Lentiviral v	ector features	. 29
1.1) Basics	in lentivirology	. 29
1.1.1) Le	entiviral genomic structure and proteins	. 29
1.1.1.1)	Gag, Pol and Env are the three major structural proteins of HIV-1	. 30
1.1.1.2)	Tat and Rev, the viral regulatory proteins of HIV-1	31
1.1.1.3)	Vpr, Vpu, Nef and Vif, the viral accessory proteins of HIV1	31
1.1.1.4)	The cis-acting elements	. 32
1.1.1.5)	A few words on non-human lentiviruses	. 32
1.1.2) Le	entiviral life cycle	33
1.2) From I	entiviruses to HIV-1 lentiviral vectors	. 34
1.2.1) The	self inactivating (SIN) lentiviral vectors, an important safety measure	36
1.2.2) 1 <sup>st</sup> ge	eneration of HIV-1 vectors	. 36
1.2.3) 2 <sup>nd</sup> g	eneration of HIV-1 vectors	. 37
1.2.4) 3 <sup>RD</sup> g	jeneration of HIV-1 vectors	. 37
2) Optimizatio	n of lentiviral vectors targeting by pseudotyping	. 38
2.1) How to c	btain lentiviral vectors at a high infectious titer with an expanded tropism	?
2.2) Lentivira tropism	vector pseudotypes: parental virus, type of envelope glycoprotein and	39 . 41

2.2.1) VSV-G lentiviral vector pseudotype	41
2.2.2) Examples of retroviral pseudotypes	42
2.2.2.1) Feline endogenous retrovirus and RD114 glycoprotein	42
2.2.2.2) Baboon endogenous retrovirus and BaEV glycoprotein	43
2.2.3) Example of measles virus lentiviral vector pseudotype	43
2.3) Lentiviral vector pseudotype engineering	46
2.3.1) Pseudotype assembly	46
2.3.2) Glycoprotein optimization for pseudotyping of lentiviral vectors	46
2.3.2.1) Example of retroviral glycoprotein pseudotyping	47
2.3.2.2) Example of measles virus pseudotype	47
3) Aspects of lentiviral vector production	48
3.1) Production of lentiviral vectors	49
3.1.1) Transient vector production	49
3.1.2) Production by stable packaging cell lines	50
3.2) Concentration and purification of lentiviral vectors	51
3.3) Titration of lentiviral vectors	52
3.3.1) Titration by measuring the quantity of vector particle components	52
3.3.2) Titration by functional assays	53
3.4) Lentiviral vector biosafety determination	53
3.4.1) RCL detection	53
3.4.2) Detection of LVs genotoxicity	54
3.4.2.1) In vitro genotoxicity assay	55
3.4.2.2) In vivo genotoxicity assays in tumor prone mouse models	57
3.4.3) Regulation of integration of LVs	57
3.4.3.1) Integration deficient LVs for non-proliferating cells	58
3.4.3.2) Site directed integration of IDLVs	59
3.4.3.2.1) The Zinc Finger Nuclease strategy (ZFN)	59
3.4.3.2.2) The TALE Nucleases strategy	61
4) Lentiviral vector applications in basic research and gene therapy	61
4.1) Lentiviral vector applications in fundamental research	62
4.1.1) Gene silencing vectors	62
4.1.2) Lentiviral vector mediated transgenesis and in vivo cell lineage tracking	63
4.1.3) Cellular reprogramming	64
4.1.4) Lentiviral vector mediated immune modulation	64
4.2) Lentiviral vectors in hematopoietic stem cell based gene therapy, state of the art	65
4.2.1) First clinical trial for the genetic treatment of hiv infection	66
4.2.2) X-linked Adrenoleukodystrophy clinical trial	66
4.2.3) β-Thalassemia clinical trial	66
4.2.4) Metachromic Leukodystrophy and Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome clinical trial	67

PART 2 – HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS (HSC)	69
1) Identification and characterization of hSC	69
1.1) Historical approach of HSC	69
1.2) Characterization and isolation of human HSC	70
1.2.1) Biochemical characteristics of HSC	70
1.2.2) HSC surface antigens	71
1.2.3) Physical characteristics of HSC	73
2) HSC homing and fate	73
2.1) The stem cell niche	73
2.2) Hematopoietic stem cell fate	75
2.2.1) Majority of HSC are in a quiescent state	76
2.2.2) HSC Self-renewal	76
2.2.3) HSC Differentiation into the different blood lineages	77
2.2.4) Apoptosis	79
3) Sources of human HSCs and HSC transplantation	79
3.1) Bone marrow	79
3.2) Peripheral blood	80
3.3) Umbilical cord blood	80
3.4) Embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells	81
3.5) HSC transplantation (HSCT)	81
4) Identification of modified HSC	83
4.1) In vitro assays	83
4.1.1) Colony forming cell assay	83
4.1.2) Long term culture initiating cell assay	84
4.2) In vivo determination of long term reconstitution capacity of transduced cells	84
	00
1) Human T cell development	89
1) Furthan T cell development and Thymonologia	09 09
1.1.1) T cell lineage engagement	09 00
1.1.2) T lineage commitment and $\beta$ -selection	00 <u> </u>
1.1.3) Positive selection	90 01
1.1.4) Recent thymic emigrants	01
1 2) Role of the Notch1/DL-4 interaction in thymonolesis	01
2) Adult peripheral blood T cell phenotype, function and signalling	02
2 1) Peripheral blood T cell subpopulations	92 92
2.1.1) CD4+ T cell subsets	02
2.1.1.1) Naïve CD4+ T cells	02
2.1.1.2) Memory CD4+ T cells	02
	00

2.1.1.2.1) Central memory CD4+ T cells (T <sub>CM</sub> )	94
2.1.1.2.2) Effector memory CD4+ T cells (T <sub>EM</sub> )	94
2.1.2) CD8+ T cells	95
2.1.2.1) From CD8+ naïve to memory T cells	95
2.1.2.2) Memory CD8+ T cells	97
2.1.2.2.1) Molecular overview of memory CD8+T cell generation	97
2.1.2.2.2) Memory CD8+ T cell subsets	98
2.2) T cell activation pathways	99
2.2.1) TCR activation and <i>in vitro</i> applications	99
2.2.2) In vitro stimulation of T cells with IL-7	101
3) Umbilical cord blood T cells, a naïve enriched T cell subpopulation	101
4) T cell gene therapy and immunotherapy	102
4.1) T cell gene transfer for effective treatment of inherited or acquired disease	s 102
4.2) Restriction in LV gene transfer of T cells and how to overcome them	105
5) Acceleration of immune reconstitution after hematopoietic stem cell transplar	ntation107
5.1) Adaptive immunity reconstitution	107
5.2) Enhancing of thymus independent T cell recovery	109
5.3) Enhancing of thymus dependent T cell recovery and adoptive transfer of ir generated T cells precursors	vitro 110
PART 4 – B cell based gene therapy and immunotherapy	113
1) Mature B cellsubsets	113
2) B lymphocytes are a target of interest in gene therapy and immunotherapy _	113
3) Restrictions of LV-mediated gene transfer in human B cells	115
<ol> <li>Co-culture conditions that overcomes lentiviral vector restrictions for gene transprimary resting B cells</li></ol>	sfer into 116
5) Lentiviral vector pseudotyped with Measles virus glycoproteins allows quiescen lymphocyte TRANSDUCTION WITHOUT affecting the cell cycle status	າt B- 117
RESULTS	119
PART 1 – IMPROVING GENE DELIVERY INTO HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS	121
<ol> <li>BaEV- and H/F-LVs, two new tools for gene transfer into resting and stimulat 121</li> </ol>	ed HSCs
<ol> <li>Baboon envelope pseudotyped lentiviral vectors outperform VSV-G pseudoty lentiviral vectors for gene transfer into cytokine-stimulated and resting HSCs</li> </ol>	/ped 125
<ol> <li>Measles virus glycoprotein pseudotyped LVs transduce cytokine stimulated a resting HSCs at an efficiency without precedent</li> </ol>	and 151

193 Early T cell progenitors and naïve T cells, interesting targets of BaEV-LVs for T cell 1) based gene therapy and immunotherapy \_\_\_\_\_ 193 2) New Baboon envelope pseudotyped LVs efficiently transduce adult and CB T cells, thymocyte progenitors and in vitro derived T cell progenitors that reconstitute T cell lineage in NSG mice \_\_\_\_\_\_ 195 PART3 – SUPPLEMENTARY RESULTS: BAEV PSEUDOTYPED LENTIVIRAL VECTORS ALLOW EFFICIENT TRANSDUCTION OF ADULT B CELLS \_\_\_\_\_ 239 1) Introducing LV MEDIATED gene delivery into B cells \_\_\_\_\_ 239 2) Additional material and methods \_\_\_\_\_ 240 2.1) B cells isolation \_\_\_\_\_ 240 2.2) Transduction of B cells\_\_\_\_\_ 240 3) BaEV-LVs efficiently transduce stimulated and resting B cells 241 3.1) BaEV pseudotyped vectors manage to transduce quiescent B cells\_\_\_\_\_ 241

- 3.2) Both BaEV LV pseudotypes allow efficient transduction of BCR stimulated and
   242

   3.3) BaEV/TR LV pseudotype highly transduce memory B cells \_\_\_\_\_\_ 243
- 4) Transduction of B cells by BaEV-LVs, encouraging preliminary results \_\_\_\_\_ 244

DISCUSSION 24	:47
---------------	-----

1)	BaEV- and H/F-LVs, comparisons and prospects	_ 249
1	1.1) BaEV- and H/F-LVs efficiently transduce HSCs	_ 249
1 li	1.2) BaEV- and H/F-LVs are complementary partners for the transduction of the T ineage	cell 250 _
1	1.3) Can the production of BaEV- and H/F-LVs, go both towards the clinic?	_ 252
	1.3.1) Are they easy to produce at high infectious titers?	_ 253
	1.3.2) Is stable production possible?	_ 253
2)	What about a potential <i>in vivo</i> use of BaEV- and H/F-LVs?	_ 254
2	2.1) Potentialities of BaEV- and H/F- LVs for <i>in vivo</i> use	_ 255
2	2.2) Engineering of the LV surface for direct targeting and <i>in vivo</i> applications	_ 256
	2.2.1) Engineering of specific cytokine-displaying LVs for <i>in vivo</i> gene transfer	_ 256
	2.2.2) Ligand fused glycoproteins to retarget H/F-LVs	_ 258
3)	Biosafety and improvements of BAev and H/F LV pseudotypes for clinical prospect 259	cts
3	3.1) How to regulate and target the transgene integration?	_ 259
3	3.2) Optimization of LV targeting by selective expression	_ 260

4) th	) Importance of minimizing CD34+ stimulation and hematopoietic stem cell based generapy	ene 264
5) sa	) perspective towards transplantation of progenitor T cells and CD34 cells from the ame donor in gene therapy	265
6	) B cell gene delivery by BaEV-LVs and immunotherapy expectations	266
7	) Viral vectors and gene therapy	267
EPI	LOGUE	269
APF	PENDIX	271
1)	Envelope, Please; and the Award Goes to Inside Blood commentary by D.B. Kohn	273
2) and	Chapter Lentiviral vectors (Taylor and Francis Group): design and applications. Gene Cell Therapy: Therapeutic Mechanisms and Strategies	э 277
3) BaE	United States Patent Application Publication: Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with mu	tant 305
REF	FERENCES	353

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Schematic representation of the HIV-1 viral genome and virion structure.	_ 30
Figure 2. Schematic representation of the HIV-1 life cycle.	_ 33
Figure 3. Schematic representations of HIV-1 derived vectors.	_ 35
Figure 4. Structure of envelope glycoproteins.	_ 39
Figure 5. Infectivity of VSV-G and measles virus gp pseudotyped lentiviral vector pseudotypes for resting hematopoietic cells.	_ 45
Figure 6. Optimization of RD114 envelope glycoproteins.	_ 47
Figure 7. Lentiviral vector production process for clinical applications.	_ 48
Figure 8. Transient production of lentiviral vectors.	_ 50
Figure 9. Linear amplification mediated PCR (LAM-PCR).	_ 56
Figure 10. Gene editing using designed zinc finger nucleases (ZFN).	_ 60
Figure 11. Schematic representation of lentiviral vectors for shRNA silencing.	_ 62
Figure 12. View of hematopoiesis by Pappenheim in 1905.	_ 69
Figure 13. The bone marrow niche of HSCs.	_ 75
Figure 14. HSC cell fate.	_ 75
Figure 15. Hematopoiesis from HSC.	_ 78
Figure 16. Colony obtained by a CFC assay.	_ 83
Figure 17. Schematic representation of the reconstitution of an immunodeficient mice mod with human hematopoietic progenitor cells.	del _ 87
Figure 18. Early stages of T cell development.	_ 89
Figure 19. Phenotypes and characteristics of human CD4+ memory T cell subsets.	_ 95
Figure 20. Schematic representation of CD8+ T cell differentiation.	_ 96
Figure 21. Phenotypes and characteristics of major human CD8+ memory T cell subsets.	99
Figure 22. Overview of the TCR activation pathway.	100
Figure 23. T cell regenerative pathways after allogeneic HSCT.	108
Figure 24. BaEV lentiviral vector pseudotypes transduce quiescent B cells conserving the phenotype	ir 245
Figure 25. Efficient transduction of human stimulated and leukemic B cells by BaEV/TR a BaEVRless pseudotyped LVs	nd 246
Figure 26. Schematic representation of the LVs displaying the RD114 glycoprotein and S	CF. 258
Figure 27. Schematic representation of lentiviral vectors for RNA silencing.	263

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Pseudotyping of Lentiviral vectors with heterologous envelope glycoproteins relyin on the natural tropism of these glycoproteins.	ng . 40
Table 2. Gene therapy clinical trials using Lentiviral Vectors	65
Table 3. Hematopoietic lineage markers absent from the surface of HSCs.	73
Table 4. Major regulation factors of HSC self-renewal.	. 77
Table 5. Major diseases treated by HSCT	. 82
Table 6. Differentiation factors and functions of each CD4+ T cell subpopulations.	. 93
Table 7. Overview of T cell based gene therapy and immunotherapy.	104
Table 8. Surface phenotype of mature B cell subsets	113
Table 9. Overview of the major hematopoietic specific promoter developed for LV         transcriptional targeting2	261

$\checkmark$	7-AAD :		7-Aminoactinomycin D
$\checkmark$	APC :		Antigen presenting cell
$\checkmark$	BM :		Bone marrow
$\checkmark$	BCR :		B cell Receptor
$\checkmark$	CD :		Cluster of differentiation
$\checkmark$	CFU :		Colony forming unit
✓	CIP ·		Common lymphoid progenitor
./			Common myeloid progenitor
•			
•	OTD .		
•	CIP :		I-lineage committed progenitors
✓	DC :		Dendritic cell
✓	DL :		Delta-like ligand
$\checkmark$	DN :		Double negative cell
$\checkmark$	DNA :		Deoxyribonucleic acid
$\checkmark$	DP :		Double positive cell
$\checkmark$	EBV :		Epstein Barr Virus
$\checkmark$	EGF :		Epidermal growth factor
$\checkmark$	ELP :		Early lymphoid progenitors
$\checkmark$	ES cell		Embryonic stem cell
~	FTP ·		Early thymic progenitor
./			Measles Virus fusion protein
			Ennonni onomio
•			
•	FACS :		Fluoresence activated cell sorting
•	FIt3 :		Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3
✓	G-CSF :		Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
✓	GFP :		Green Fluorescent Protein
$\checkmark$	GH :		Growth hormone
$\checkmark$	Gp :		Glycoprotein
$\checkmark$	GvHD :		Graft-versus-host disease
$\checkmark$	GvL :		Graft-versus-leucemia
$\checkmark$	GvT :		Graft versus tumor
$\checkmark$	н :		Measles Virus Hemagglutinin
$\checkmark$	HIV :		Human Immunodeficiency Virus
$\checkmark$	HLA :		Human leukocyte antigen (HLA)
$\checkmark$	HSC ·		Hematopoietic stem cell
1			Interleukin
./	IPS coll.		Induced pluripotent stem cell
		э.	Linear amplification modiated PCP
		٦.	
•			Lymphocytic chonomeningitis virus
•	LCR .		
•	LDL :		Low-Density Lipoprotein
✓	LIC-IC:		Long term culture-initiating cell
✓	LV :		Lentiviral Vector
$\checkmark$	MLP :		Multilymphoïd progenitor
$\checkmark$	MLV :		Murine Leukemia Virus
$\checkmark$	MV :		Measles Virus
$\checkmark$	PBMC :		Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
$\checkmark$	PERT :		Product enhanced reverse transcriptase
$\checkmark$	PCR :		Polymerase chain reaction
✓	RNA :		Ribonucleic acid
✓	SCF ·		Stem cell factor
$\checkmark$	SCID ·		Severe combined immunodeficience
~	SRC ·		scid renonulating cells
•			Thrombonoiotin
•			
•			
✓	vSV-G :		vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein

### PREAMBLE

Hematopoietic cells are major targets for gene therapy and immunotherapy. Nevertheless, few efficient tools have been described for gene delivery into these cells. New generations of lentiviral vectors are powerful tools for the targeting of both stimulated and resting cells. This is of interest in the field of hematology where the hematopoietic cell activation status plays a major role in the hematopoiesis fate.

During the past twenty years, several lentiviral vector pseudotypes have been designed in order to develop an optimal tool. Until now, the lentiviral vector pseudotyped with the vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein (VSV-G-LV) is the best described LV pseudotype in particular for the transduction of hematopoietic stem cells and it is currently used in the field of gene therapy. However, numerous limitations of this vector prevent its extensive use in hematopoietic cell gene delivery. In particular, it is not possible to stably produce this vector that could decrease the important costs induced by treatment protocols in gene therapy. Moreover, it does not recognize resting hematopoietic stem cells, T and B lymphocytes and it does not efficiently transduce these cells upon mild stimulation. Furthermore, the preservation of hematopoiesis functionality is based on the respect of the hematopoietic cell activation status. Although VSV-G-LVs had been useful allowing the development of new therapies, it became necessary to develop new tools in order to improve efficiency and safety of tomorrow's treatments.

Therefore, the objective of this thesis was to engineer, evaluate and optimize some new lentiviral vectors for gene transfer into human hematopoietic cells. We propose to extend the evaluation of the lentiviral vectors pseudotyped by modified measles virus glycoprotein which were previously developed in our group. We also engineered a novel promising lentiviral vector pseudotyped by the baboon endogenous retrovirus glycoprotein that hold great promises for the development of gene therapy and immunotherapy of hematopoietic cells.

25

# INTRODUCTION

# PART 1 - LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

### 1) LENTIVIRAL VECTOR FEATURES

#### 1.1) BASICS IN LENTIVIROLOGY

Lentiviruses are complex retroviruses studied since the early 1980s, when the AIDS pandemic emerged due to the current well known Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 (HIV-1). Lentivirus is a genus of the family Retroviridae that causes slow (lentus= slow in Latin) progressive human and animal diseases. They are enveloped RNA viruses. Five serogroups were identified: Bovine, Equine, Feline, Ovine/Caprine lentiviruses and the primate lentiviruses, HIV and SIV. Most of the lentiviral vectors are derived from the primate lentivirus group, which includes the Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) types 1 to 3, the Simian immunodeficiency virus and the Simian AIDS retrovirus SRV-1.

In order to understand the manipulation of lentiviral vectors (LV), it is important to have a good comprehension of the viral components (Coiras et al. 2009).

#### 1.1.1) LENTIVIRAL GENOMIC STRUCTURE AND PROTEINS

HIV-1 genome is composed of two identical single stranded positive RNA molecules of approximately 9kb and encodes at least nine viral proteins (Figure 1). It is important to distinguish the *cis*- and *trans*-acting components of the HIV genome. The *trans*-acting components are composed of nine open reading frames. The three major open reading frames encode the gag, pol and env polypeptides and are also characteristic for MLV-based vectors. The six others encode lentivirus specific genes such as Tat and Rev, the viral regulatory proteins, and the four accessory proteins: Vpr, Vpu, Nef and Vif. The *cis*-acting elements consist of the LTRs, the Rev responsive elements (RRE), the splicing sites and the packaging signal ( $\Psi$ ).



**Figure 1. Schematic representation of the HIV-1 viral genome and virion structure.** The HIV-1 viral genome encodes structural (*gag, pol, env*), regulatory (*tat, rev*) and accessory (*vpr, vif, vpu, nef*) genes flanked by two long terminal repeats (LTRs). Inner and outer viral membranes are coated with matrix (MA) and envelope (Env) proteins, respectively. The two viral ssRNAs, the reverse transcriptase (RT), the integrase (IN) and protease (PR) and the accessory proteins are surrounded by capsid (CA).

### 1.1.1.1) GAG, POL AND ENV ARE THE THREE MAJOR STRUCTURAL PROTEINS OF HIV-1

The gag precursor protein (p55) is involved in budding of the viral particle from the infected cell membrane by recruiting two copies of viral genomic RNA and other viral components. During the viral maturation, p55 is cleaved by the viral protease into MA (p17), CA (p24), NC (p9) and P6 (Figure 1). The MA protein stabilizes the viral particle and facilitates the active nuclear import of the viral genome, allowing HIV-1 to infect non-dividing cells. The CA protein interacts with p55, which favors viral replication. The NC protein recognizes the packaging signal of HIV and also facilitates reverse transcription. The p6 polypeptide allows the incorporation of Vpr into viral particles by interacting with p55 and Vpr and additionally it is required for the efficient release of viruses from the cell.

The gag-pol fusion protein (p160) is produced by a ribosomal frame shifting event. During viral maturation, the pol polypeptide is digested in protease (PR, p10),

Reverse transcriptase (RT, p50), RNase H (p15) and integrase (IN, p31) (Figure 1). The protease is required during viral maturation for Gag and Gag-pol precursors' cleavage. The Reverse transcriptase allows the polymerization of a double strand DNA copy of the HIV-1 genome with the help of the RNase H that removes the original RNA template from the first retro-transcribed DNA strand. The integrase allows the integration of the proviral DNA into the host genomic DNA via its exonuclease, endonuclease and ligase activities.

The Env polypeptide (gp 160) is cleaved after glycosylation in gp41 that contains the transmembrane domain (TMd) and in gp120 the surface (SU) domain, which is linked to gp41 by non-covalent interactions (Frankel et al. 1998).

#### 1.1.1.2) TAT AND REV, THE VIRAL REGULATORY PROTEINS OF HIV-1

Tat is a transcriptional transactivator essential for viral replication. It is an RNA binding protein that recognizes the transactivation response element (TRE) at the 5' end of HIV-1 RNA and strongly activates transcription from the HIV LTR.

Rev is also a RNA binding protein that recognizes the Rev responsive element (RRE) allowing the transition from the early to the late phase in HIV infection. Of note, this binding facilitates the export of unspliced or one fold spliced viral RNA to the cytoplasm using snRNAs and the ribosomal 5s RNA.

#### 1.1.1.3) VPR, VPU, NEF AND VIF, THE VIRAL ACCESSORY PROTEINS OF HIV1

Vpr is a member of the pre-integration complex (PIC) and plays a role in the infection of non-dividing cells by HIV-1 by facilitating the nuclear localization of this PIC. Vpu facilitates the particle assembly by triggering the degradation of intracellular Env-CD4 complexes. It also enhances virus release from the infected cell surface. Vif is necessary for the viral replication in peripheral blood lymphocytes and macrophages by inactivating the host antiviral factor APOBEC3G (Vicenzi et al. 2013). Nef has three major activities: it decreases the cell surface expression of CD4 and thus facilitates viral budding; it perturbs T cell activation and stimulates the HIV-1 virus infectivity (Harris et al. 2012).

#### 1.1.1.4) THE CIS-ACTING ELEMENTS

The LTRs contain three elements U3, R and U5. The U3 region, at the 5'end of each LTR has binding sites for multiple transcription factors, integration sites and includes most of the *cis*-acting DNA elements. The central region, R, contains a specific sequence (100bp) where transcription starts, whereas polyadenylation occurs just at the end of this region. The U5 region contains the Tat binding site. HIV genome transcription is allowed by a single promoter in the 5' LTR. The 3' LTR mediates the polyadenylation that stabilizes the transcripts. Duplication of LTR elements occurs during reverse transcription just before integration when the copied 3' LTR U3 sub-region is transferred to the 5' LTR.

The packaging element  $(\Psi)$  is an important feature and consists of two short sequences flanked at each side of the major splice donor site that gives a structured RNA element and allows the recognition and packaging of genomic RNA into the capsid (CA) just before assembly.

The role of the RRE in the export of unspliced RNA from the nucleus was developed above.

#### 1.1.1.5) A FEW WORDS ON NON-HUMAN LENTIVIRUSES

The non-human lentiviruses used for vectorization are Bovine lentiviruses (Metharom et al. 2000), Equine lentiviruses (Farley et al. 2012), Feline lentiviruses (Mendenhall et al. 2012), Ovine/Caprine lentiviruses (Davey et al. 2012) and the primate Simian immuno-deficiency (SIV) lentiviruses (Negre et al. 2002). Of importance, most of the proteins of these lentiviruses are conserved, except for some variations in accessory proteins (e.g. Vif and Tat). In these viruses, additional genes have been discovered but the function of these other accessory proteins is not always elucidated. However, these accessory proteins are not needed for *in vitro* replication and gene delivery and are thus not included in the lentiviral vector design. These alternative lentiviral vector systems are considered safer by the public because of the fact that they are not derived from a human pathogen, however, this is still under debate. Non-human primate models have been of particular interest for

developing hematopoietic gene therapy strategies in humans because they closely mimic human biology. HIV-based lentiviral gene transfer into macaque cells is inefficient due to the presence of restriction factors in simian cells (e.g. TRIM5 $\alpha$ ) causing an intracellular blocking (Trobridge et al. 2008). Since SIV derived vectors are not subjected to this restriction (Sandrin et al. 2002) latest generation SIN SIV vectors have been develo $\pi$ ed for preclinical testing in non-human primate models (Verhoeyen et al. 2012).

#### 1.1.2) LENTIVIRAL LIFE CYCLE

The global mechanisms involved in the HIV-1 infection cycle (Figure 2) are summarized in this paragraph in order to evaluate the essential differences between lentiviruses and lentiviral vectors.



#### Figure 2. Schematic representation of the HIV-1 life cycle.

During cell entry, capsid proteins are uncoated and the two ssRNA viral genomic strands (marked in green) and viral enzymes are released into the cytoplasm. Viral RNA is converted by RT into proviral dsDNA (marked in red) and imported into the nucleus. Then the IN inserts the dsDNA into the host genome. During the early infection phase, only spliced viral mRNAs encoding tat, nef and rev are exported to the cytoplasm. Then, the Rev protein allows the export of unspliced or singly spliced (vir, vpr, vpu, env) mRNA. Once every viral component is synthesized, viral genome and proteins are assembled at the plasma membrane and new HIV particles are released from the host cell. Just after the virus budding, the PR induces virus maturation, which renders the viral particles infectious

The natural HIV infection cycle begins by the attachment of the SU (gp120) part of its envelope glycoprotein to its primary receptor CD4 and its co-receptor CXCR4 on T lymphocytes or CCR5 on activated T lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells. A conformational change of TM follows this event and leads to viral and host cell membrane fusion. Upon cell entry, capsid proteins are uncoated resulting in the release of the viral RNA genome and the MA, RT, IN and Vpr proteins. The viral RT converts the positive ssRNA into dsDNA, then the proviral DNA is imported into the nucleus and integrated into the host genome by use of its viral IN. During the early phase of infection, only spliced mRNAs encoding for tat, rev and nef can be produced and exported to the cytoplasm. Then, the late phase of infection is initiated by the action of Tat, Rev and accessory protein. Complete viral genome is exported by rev into the cytoplasm and proteins are assembled at the plasma membrane. Just after viral budding, the multimerization of Gag and GagPol activates the protease that induces the maturation of the virus by structural rearrangements.

### 1.2) FROM LENTIVIRUSES TO HIV-1 LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

The first lentiviral vectors (LVs) were developed with the objective to better understand viral replication and they were used as a tool for anti-HIV-1 drug screening. These early HIV-1 LVs were replication competent viruses that carried transgenes. However, the current main goal of LV use is to deliver a gene or a set of genes into a target cell in the absence of replication. Since non-replicating LVs were considered safer their design was achieved by separation of viral sequences on several expression units and identification of the minimal viral components to engineer an efficient gene transfer vector. The first LVs consisted of a plasmid coding for the proviral DNA deleted for the *env* gene and another plasmid encoding the *env* gene. LVs could be produced by transcomplementation without inducing a second round of infection simply because they lacked the *psi* sequence. In these first LVs, transgenes replaced *env* or *nef* sequences and thus their expression was under the control of the promoter in the 5'LTR.



#### Figure 3. Schematic representations of HIV-1 derived vectors.

The first generation of HIV-1 vectors is composed of: 1) a packaging plasmid containing all the viral protein encoding genes except for the envelope; 2) an envelope plasmid which encodes a heterologous envelope glycoprotein and; 3) a transfer vector encoding the 5' and 3' LTRs, the packaging signal ( $\Psi$ ) and rev responsive element (RRE) sequences and the transgene driven by an internal promoter. In the second generation of LVs, all the accessory proteins are excluded from the packaging plasmid. In the 3<sup>rd</sup> generation of LVs, regulatory proteins (tat and rev) are excluded from the packaging plasmid and an additional 4<sup>th</sup> plasmid encoding Rev is added. In Self-inactivating (SIN) LTR transfer vectors the 5' LTR U3 subregion is replaced by a strong and constitutive promoter independent from Tat.
# 1.2.1) THE SELF INACTIVATING (SIN) LENTIVIRAL VECTORS, AN IMPORTANT SAFETY MEASURE

HIV-derived LVs integrate into the host genome flanked by the two HIV-1 LTRs. This implies that, if replication competent lentiviruses (RCLs) are produced or if transduced cells are co-infected by a wild type virus, new infectious viral particles can be produced. Moreover, cellular genes might be activated by the enhancer and promoter activity of integrated LTR. If this integration occurs near to a proto-oncogene, this can have as dramatic result the induction of oncogenesis. Highly relevant in this context is that if a part of the 3' LTR U3 sub-region is deleted, the same deletion is transferred into the 5' LTR during LTR duplication and these results in elimination of its promoter/enhancer function. As a consequence, the SIN approach was applied to LVs by deletion of the 3' LTR TATA-box, SP1-, NF-kB and NFAT binding sites (Miyoshi et al. 1998) (Zufferey et al. 1998). This SIN modification is still currently maintained in all LV generations because it strongly reduces or even ablates the risk of RCL propagation. It avoids the mobilization of integrated vectors by a wild-type helper virus and it also diminishes insertional activation of cellular oncogenes and transcriptional modifications induced by intact LTRs.

# 1.2.2) 1<sup>ST</sup> GENERATION OF HIV-1 VECTORS

In order to reduce the risk of generating RCLs with pathogenic abilities, Naldini et al (1998) introduced a first generation packaging vector with three separated plasmids. The first plasmid contained a packaging construct expressing HIV-1 gag, pol, Tat, Rev and accessory proteins under the control of a strong viral promoter. The Env plasmid encodes a viral glycoprotein that allows the host cell recognition by the LV, virus-cell membrane fusion and LV cell entry. The process of displaying a heterologous viral envelope glycoprotein at the LV surface is called pseudotyping. Several existing strategies for LV pseudotyping will be developed separately in this chapter.

Both packaging and env encoding plasmids are devoid of the packaging signal  $(\Psi)$  and LTRs in order to prevent their encapsidation into the particle and to reduce RCL production resulting from recombination between homologous sequences on

the different plasmids. The third plasmid also called transfer vector contains the transgene cassette and all the essential *cis*-acting elements such as LTR,  $\Psi$  and RRE without encoding for HIV-1 proteins. An internal promoter was added to control transgene expression in the host cell (Figure 3).

The separation of the different LV functions on three plasmids reduces the risk of RCL formation since this requires at least two recombination events. Moreover, the use of an ectopic envelope glycoprotein rather than the HIV-1 Env by eliminating homologous sequences between the Env and the transfer vector plasmids also decreases the risk of recombination.

# 1.2.3) 2<sup>ND</sup> GENERATION OF HIV-1 VECTORS

In order to increase the LV safety, a second generation of LVs was developed by deleting the accessory proteins. Indeed, although these proteins are essential for HIV-1 virulence, they can be deleted without affecting the gene transfer role of LVs. Therefore, in this 2<sup>nd</sup> generation of LVs, the packaging vector encoding plasmid only contained gag, pol, tat and rev and was devoid of all other HIV-1 genes (Sakuma et al. 2012), (Zufferey et al. 1998).

# 1.2.4) 3<sup>RD</sup> GENERATION OF HIV-1 VECTORS

This 3<sup>rd</sup> generation of LVs was developed in 1998 in order to increase LV safety by preventing the role of HIV regulatory genes. The independence for Tat regulation was obtained by replacing the 5' LTR U3 subregion with a strong viral promoter from the human cytomegalovirus (CMV). Since then, several other promoters are in use. The envelope encoding plasmid relies on the same design used for the 2<sup>nd</sup> LV generation. Tat and rev sequences have been removed from the packaging plasmid, thus, they carry only the gag and pol sequences. The transfer vector has adapted a SIN configuration and therefore the transgene is driven by an internal heterologous promoter (Figure 3).

Moreover, a fourth plasmid expressing Rev was introduced to conserve its functions: the nuclear export of unspliced RNAs and the transcript stability. With this

3<sup>rd</sup> generation of LVs, at least three recombination events are necessary to generate an RCL. Even if an RCL would be produced, Tat, accessory proteins and active LTRs would not be present in the resulting viruses. Because of their high infectious titer, high-level transduction and important biosafety features, these 3<sup>rd</sup> generation vectors are currently predominant. Nevertheless, a 4<sup>th</sup> generation of LVs has been developed to still improve biosafety for clinical applications. Several approaches have been evaluated such as the development of Rev independent vectors by replacing the RRE with heterologous viral sequences known to facilitate the export and stability of unspliced viral RNAs. However, the titer decrease induced in these vectors is one of their great disadvantages (Yilmaz et al. 2006). Gag-pol "codon optimization" has been performed in order to eliminate HIV-1 gag-pol homologous regions between the packaging plasmid and the transfer vector. This approach consists in introducing a mutation in the wobble codon position into most of the gag-pol codons in the packaging construct thereby conserving the primary amino acid sequence (Kotsopoulou et al. 2000). Despite of these numerous improvements in terms of biosafety, most laboratories still use the third generation of LVs, except when clinical use is envisaged.

# 2) OPTIMIZATION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTORS TARGETING BY PSEUDOTYPING

LV biosafety, change in tropism (more cell-specific or expanded tropism) and stability were obtained by replacing the HIV-1 envelope on the LV surface by a heterologous viral envelope glycoprotein, a process called pseudotyping. The molecular basis of envelope glycoproteins is shown in Figure 4.

38



#### Figure 4. Structure of envelope glycoproteins.

The sequence encoding the viral envelope glycoprotein is composed of two entities: 1) the SU (surface) subunit contains the Signal peptide (SP), the receptor binding domain (RBD) and the SU carboxy-terminal domain (C); 2) the TM (transmembrane) subunit contains the ectodomain (FP: fusion peptide and HR: heptad repeat), an anchor domain and a cytoplasmic tail containing the fusion inhibitory peptide R.

# 2.1) HOW TO OBTAIN LENTIVIRAL VECTORS AT A HIGH INFECTIOUS TITER WITH AN EXPANDED TROPISM?

It is clear that the HIV-1 envelope only recognizes the human CD4 molecule on the cell surface, therefore its display on the LV surface will limit gene transfer to very restricted cell types (CD4+ T cell and macrophages).

Many heterologous viral glycoproteins can be incorporated into lentiviral or MLV retroviral particles and mediate infectivity, this technology is named pseudotyping. These include viral surface glycoproteins derived from lyssaviruses (Desmaris et al. 2001), arenaviruses (Miletic et al. 1999), hepadnaviridae (Sung et al. 2002), paramyxoviridae (Frecha et al. 2008), orthomyxoviruses (Hatziioannou et al. 1998), filoviruses (Kobinger et al. 2001) and alphaviruses (Suerth et al. 2012). For instance, human airway targeting is possible by LVs pseudotyped with surface glycoproteins derived from the Ebola or the influenza viruses. In contrast, LVs pseudotyped with glycoproteins from hepatitis C virus (HCV), baculovirus or Sindai

virus can target hepatocytes, while LVs pseudotyped with Rabies glycoproteins target neurons (Frecha et al. 2008) (Table 1). Since it was used for MLV retroviral vector pseudotyping with success, the vesicular stomatitis virus envelope glycoprotein G (VSV-G) was an attractive candidate for LV pseudotyping. The attachment of the VSV-G glycoprotein to the ubiquitously expressed LDL receptor provides the VSV-G pseudotyped LVs a "pan-tropic" cell recognition ability (Finkelshtein et al. 2013).

Likewise, the cat endogenous retroviral glycoprotein (RD114/TR) (Sandrin et al. 2002) was shown to be a very attractive candidate for hematopoietic progenitor cell targeting. LVs have recently been pseudotyped with the hemagglutinin (H) and the fusion protein (F) from the Edmonston vaccinal strain of measles virus (MV-LVs) (Frecha et al. 2008), (Frecha et al. 2009), (Frecha et al. 2011). This particular pseudotype has acquired remarkable properties for immune cell transduction. These newly developed MV-LVs conserved the parental MV tropism since they allowed transduction of human T cells, B cells and dendritic cells, the primary targets of measles virus.

Vector pseudotypes glycoproteins	Evaluated targeted cells	Ref		
Rabies virus Rabies-G	Neurons	(Wong et al. 2004), (Mazarakis et al. 2001), (Azzouz et al. 2004), (Watson et al. 2002)		
Mokola virus MK-G	Neurons / Retinal pigment epithelium	(Wong et al. 2004), (Watson et al. 2002)		
LCMV WE, WE-HP1	Glioma/ Neuronal stem cells	(Miletic et al. 2004), (Stein et al. 2005)		
Ross river virus E1, E2	Glial cells	(Kang et al. 2002)		
Ebola virus EboZ	Airway epithelium/Skin	(Medina et al. 2003), (Silvertown et al. 2006), (Hachiya et al. 2007)		
MuLV 4070A-env	Skin	(Hachiya et al. 2007)		
Baculovirus GP64	Hepatocytes	(Kang et al. 2005)		
HCV E1, E2	Hepatocytes	(Bartosch et al. 2003)		
Sindai virus F protein	Hepatocytes	(Kowolik et al. 2002)		

 
 Table 1. Pseudotyping of Lentiviral vectors with heterologous envelope glycoproteins relying on the natural tropism of these glycoproteins.

Influenza A HA	Retinal epithelium	(Duisit et al. 2002)	
GALV GALV/TR	Hematopoietic cells	(Sandrin et al. 2002), (Christodoulopoulos et al. 2001), (Stitz et al. 2000)	
RD114 virus RD114/TR (modified)	Hematopoietic cells	(Sandrin et al. 2002), (Frecha et al. 2012)	
Measles virus H and F (truncated or fused with a single chain antibody)	B and T lymphocytes	(Frecha et al. 2008), (Frecha et al. 2009), (Buchholz et al. 2009), (Funke et al. 2008)	
BaEV BaEV/TR, BaEVRLess	Hematopoietic cells	(Girard-Gagnepain et al. 2014)	

# 2.2) LENTIVIRAL VECTOR PSEUDOTYPES: PARENTAL VIRUS, TYPE OF ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN AND TROPISM

### 2.2.1) VSV-G LENTIVIRAL VECTOR PSEUDOTYPE

Vesicular stomatitis virus is a negative sense RNA virus from *Mononegavirales* and the family of *Rhabdoviridae*. Indiana and New Jersey are the two VSV major serotypes. VSV natural hosts are horses, cattle, pigs and other mammals and insects. It is transmitted by insects or direct contact. Some cases of human infection have been documented causing flu-like symptoms or viral encephalitis. Among, the five genes encoded by its 11 kb genome, the G attachment protein enables infection of a wide range of cells (Hastie et al. 2013). After a search for decades, the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R) has been described as the cell surface receptor that interacts with the G attachment glycoprotein (Finkelshtein et al. 2013, Amirache et al. 2014). The pantropism of VSV is related to the widespread expression of the LDL-R on cell surface. This broad cell tropism added to the viral properties in term of replication, yields, and small size, make VSV a common model virus for basic research. Most importantly, it represented an excellent candidate to confer broad tropism to retroviral vectors.

As the VSV-G murine retroviral vector pseudotypes (Yee et al. 1994), the VSV-G-LV pseudotypes proved stable and could be obtained at higher titers by ultracentrifugation-concentration than obtained with other viral envelopes. Using VSV-G-LVs, numerous cell types have been transduced from human hematopoietic

stem cells to rat neurons and other non-dividing cells. Currently, most of lentiviral vectors are pseudotyped with this envelope, for instance, they can transduce up to 50% of stimulated hematopoietic stem cells at high vector doses. Nevertheless, its sensitivity to the human complement system prevents its potential *in vivo* use. This issue can be resolved by using polyethylene glycol modified VSV-G pseudotypes (Croyle et al. 2004). Moreover, cytotoxicity can be observed with high concentrations of VSV-G pseudotyped LVs. Because of their pan-tropic cell recognition, there are safety concerns for the in vivo use of this pseudotype in the clinic. Indeed, it can easily transduce antigen presenting cells (APCs) which might induce a strong immune response in the recipient patient (Humbert et al. 2012).

Because of the above limitations of VSV-G pseudotyped LVs, more selective tropisms were achieved by using glycoproteins from other enveloped viruses characterized by their own tropism.

#### 2.2.2) EXAMPLES OF RETROVIRAL PSEUDOTYPES

## 2.2.2.1) FELINE ENDOGENOUS RETROVIRUS AND RD114 GLYCOPROTEIN

The cat endogenous retrovirus, named RD114 virus was isolated in 1971 from human rhabdomyosarcoma derived cell line after transplantation in fetal cats (McAllister, 1972). It is a recombinant composed of the gag-pol genes from the cat virus FcEV and the *env* gene from the primate baboon endogenous retrovirus (Van Der Kuyl et al. 1999). The presence of a separate *env* gene in the FceV gammaretrovirus allowed the exchange of this gene and thus the viral recombination.

The RD114 virus envelope glycoprotein recognizes the ASCT2 neutral amino acid transporter (Tailor et al. 1999), (Rasko et al. 1999), (Marin et al. 2003). It was shown that the RD114 receptor is expressed on immature cells from squamous epithelia and some subpopulation of colon, testis, ovary, skeletal muscle and of importance for us in bone marrow (Green et al. 2004). Of importance for gene therapy, RD114/TR pseudotyped LVs have been shown to transduce efficiently hematopoietic stem cells reaching 50% of transduction at low vector doses (Bell et al. 2010), (Di Nunzio et al. 2007), (Jang et al. 2006), (Sandrin et al. 2002). Since the RD114/TR envelope is not cytotoxic and RD114/TR pseudotyped particles are stable

in human sera, this pseudotype offers an alternative to VSV-G –LVs (Bell et al. 2010). Aditionally, its resistance to the human complement system is more promising for *in vivo* applications of RD114/TR pseudotyped LVs for HSC transduction as compared to VSV-G-LVs (Frecha et al. 2012).

#### 2.2.2.2) BABOON ENDOGENOUS RETROVIRUS AND BAEV GLYCOPROTEIN

The baboon endogenous retrovirus was isolated from a baboon placenta in 1973 (Benveniste, 1974). The provirus of BaEV is present only in the genomes of the Papionini tribe and in african green monkeys. This virus is able to replicate in diverse species of cultured cells. Like RD114 virus, Baboon endogenous retrovirus is a chimeric retrovirus. It is constituted by the *gag-pol* genes of the PcEV gammaretrovirus and the *env* gene from the first hypothesized ancestor of BaEV, SERV the first endogenous betaretrovirus sequenced from primates (Kato, 1987), (Mang et al. 1999).

As RD114 virus, BaEV recognizes the human ASCT2 receptor. In addition, it also allows binding to the human ASCT1 carrier which presents 57% of homology with ASCT2 and both mediate BaEV infection (Marin et al. 2000), (Marin et al. 2003). Thanks to the multiple receptor recognition of BaEV as compared to RD114 virus, it can be considered as an attractive candidate for lentiviral pseudotyping.

## 2.2.3) EXAMPLE OF MEASLES VIRUS LENTIVIRAL VECTOR PSEUDOTYPE

Measles virus belongs to the Paramyxoviridae family; it is an enveloped single stranded RNA virus. Eight proteins are encoded by MV genome, including two surface glycoproteins: the envelope proteins, Haemagglutinin (H) and the fusion protein F. During MV infection, the virus infects initially dendritic cells and monocytes of the superficial respiratory tract (Lemon et al. 2011). Then, it migrates to the lymph node and infects T and B lymphocytes (De Swart et al. 2007). MV can infect cells thanks to the recognition of several receptors: Signaling lymphocyte activation molecule SLAM/CD150 (Tatsuo et al. 2000), (Yanagi et al. 2006) expressed on some T and B cell subsets and mature dentritic cells (Aversa et al. 1997). The MV receptor, Nectin-4, is present on epithelial cells (Kato et al. 2012), (Muhlebach et al. 2011). MV vaccine strains like Edmonston recognizes both SLAM and CD46 receptors (Leonard

et al. 2008). CD46 is a complement-regulatory molecule expressed on all human nucleated cells (Liszewski et al. 1991).

LVs pseudotyped by the H and F glycoproteins from the Edmonston vaccinal MV strain have been developed (Frecha et al. 2008), (Funke et al. 2008). There were the first LVs to allow efficient transduction of quiescent human T cells (Frecha et al. 2008), healthy (Frecha et al. 2009) and cancer B cells (Lévy et al. 2010) and monocytes derived dendritic cells (Humbert et al. 2012) without inducing entry into the cell cycle. This pseudotype offers great potential for gene therapy and immunotherapy (Frecha et al. 2010), Figure 5 compare H/F-LVs to VSV-G-LVs for transducing resting hematopoietic cells.

In order to allow the retargeting of H/F-LVs, the natural CD46 and signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM) receptor binding residues of the H protein were mutated and H was fused to targeting ligands such as EGF (Epidermal growth factor) or single chain antibodies specific for antigens expressed on the target cell surface (Funke et al. 2008) (Developed in the discussion part 2.2.2).



Figure 5. Infectivity of VSV-G and measles virus gp pseudotyped lentiviral vector pseudotypes for resting hematopoietic cells.

(A) VSV-G-LVs are not able to enter efficiently into quiescent T or B cells through their recently identified low density lipid (LDL) receptor. And even upon entry, the RT activity and nuclear import is inefficient resulting in a very low proviral integration efficiency. These hurdles can only partially be overcome by addition of nucleosides and exogenous ATP. (B) Measles virus gp-LVs manage to enter into quiescent T and B cells and RT activity is detected without activating these cells, followed by efficient nuclear import of the proviral DNA. This results in proviral DNA integration into the resting T and B cell host genome.

(C) Comparison of transduction efficiencies in unstimulated T cells, B cells and dendritic cells (DCs) for VSV-G-LVs and MV-LVs. The transfer vector encodes for the GFP reporter gene, which allows detection of transduction efficiency (% GFP+ cells) in T and B cells and DCs by flow cytometry analysis

#### 2.3.1) PSEUDOTYPE ASSEMBLY

Two mechanisms are described for assembly of glycoproteins on viral particles. The passive model of glycoprotein incorporation is characterized by the abundance of glycoprotein at the virus budding site (Pickl et al. 2001) and the sterical compatibility of the envelope cytoplasmic tail with virion morphology (Swanstrom et al. 1997). Heterologous glycoproteins with short cytoplasmic tails such as VSV-G probably incorporate on the LV surface by this mechanism. Secondly, the active model of glycoprotein incorporation is based on critical interactions (Cosson et al. 1996), (Murakami et al. 2000), (Vincent et al. 1999), (Wyma et al. 2000) between the cytoplasmic tail of the pseudotyping glycoprotein and components of the viral core. GALV or RD114 envelope glycoprotein incorporation depends on this second mechanism. Indeed, the glycoproteins of some of these retroviruses, have been shown to harbor in their cytoplasmic tail a determinant that restricts incorporation on lentiviral cores (Christodoulopoulos et al. 2001), (Sandrin et al. 2004). The relatively short cytoplasmic tails of mammalian gamma-retroviruses glycoproteins, of about 30-40 amino-acid-long, harbor a 15-20 amino-acid-long carboxy-terminal peptide, named R for murine leukemia viruses. Peptide R cleavage by the homologous viral core protease is required to activate the fusion potential of the glycoprotein (Brody et al. 1994), (Ragheb et al. 1994), (Rein et al. 1994). A possible pathway of incorporation of these glycoproteins on lentiviral cores may involve cleavage of the R peptide by active core proteases at the site of virion assembly, resulting in removal of the cytoplasmic tail determinant that impaired pseudotyping (Bouard et al. 2007), (Sandrin et al. 2004).

# 2.3.2) GLYCOPROTEIN OPTIMIZATION FOR PSEUDOTYPING OF LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

Although the use of the natural tropism of heterologous surface glycoprotein is very interesting for cell targeting, the surface-display of certain wild type glycoproteins on a heterologous LV vector core was very inefficient. Since the

glycoprotein cytoplasmic tail often determines the pseudotyping efficiency, this modification will open new possibilities to increase glycoprotein incorporation on the LV surface.

## 2.3.2.1) EXAMPLE OF RETROVIRAL GLYCOPROTEIN PSEUDOTYPING

When LVs are produced with wild type Gibbon Ape Leukemia virus (GALV) and the RD114 envelope glycoproteins, the resulting viral particles are not highly infectious due to a defect of glycoprotein incorporation on the lentiviral core.

As we previously developed, for pseudotype formation with homologous mammalian gamma-retroviruses viral cores, lack of cleavage of the R peptide by the viral protease alters infectivity of pseudotyped virions but not glycoprotein incorporation (Sandrin et al. 2004), (Bouard et al. 2007), (Brody et al. 1994), (Rein et al. 1994). As a consequence, the cytoplasmic tail of these glycoproteins has been replaced by the one of the MLV glycoprotein that incorporates very well on the lentiviral core (Figure 6). It results in a stronger incorporation on the lentiviral vector surface (Sandrin et al. 2002), (Verhoeyen et al. 2004), (Verhoeyen et al. 2009).



Figure 6. Optimization of RD114 envelope glycoproteins.

Mutations of the cytoplasmic tail of the TM subunit can improve envelope glycoprotein incorporation on the lentiviral vector resulting in LV titer increase. The replacement of the cytoplasmic tail of the cat endogenous retrovirus (RD114) wild type glycoprotein by the one of the MLV glycoprotein allowed an important titer increase

### 2.3.2.2) EXAMPLE OF MEASLES VIRUS PSEUDOTYPE

Pseudotyping of LVs with Edmonston MV strain wild type glycoproteins, the hemagglutinin (H) and fusion (F) proteins was inefficient. This was not real surprise since next to the efficient incorporation of both glycoproteins on the LV surface, the H and F complex functionality need to be conserved by a correct stoechiometric

arrangement. Therefore, several combinations of H and F truncated cytoplasmic tails have been tested. The shortest mutants (H $\Delta$ 24 and F $\Delta$ 30) were identified as the more adapted constructs and allowed a better incorporation on LVs and a 100-fold titer increase (Frecha et al. 2008). Importantly, these cytoplasmic tail modifications do not impair the host cell range of the initial viral glycoprotein since the resulting H/F-LVs conserved their tropism for human immune cells.

## 3) ASPECTS OF LENTIVIRAL VECTOR PRODUCTION

Since the theoretical aspects of lenti-vectorology had been discussed above in detail, this part is dedicated to the methods available to produce and characterize LVs. Figure 7 summarizes the LV production process.



Figure 7. Lentiviral vector production process for clinical applications.

### 3.1.1) TRANSIENT VECTOR PRODUCTION

Transient production of LVs is the most commonly used method because it allows to produce LVs quickly with suitable titers for most of the laboratory applications. The HEK (human embryonic kidney) 293T cells or its derived clones are the preferred producing cells. Separate plasmids classically encoding for the packaging sequence, the transfer vector and the envelope (Figure 7) are introduced in the producer 293T cells by different transfection methods. Because of the cytotoxicity of the transfection process during LV production, it became clear that if an excess of plasmids is transfected, the production is inefficient. Therefore, minimal plasmid concentrations need to be determined to allow efficient LV production. Moreover, a silencing of certain tissue-specific promoters can be observed and in this case the choice of the cell line used for titer determination is very important. Once plasmids are in the producer cell, vector RNA and proteins can be produced and assembled followed by budding of the viral particles from the cell (Figure 8).

This production process is transient and possible only during a restricted time (2-3 days) of vector production. Indeed, after this time-point, producer cells suffer from the toxicity of certain viral proteins (e.g. gagpol en VSV-G) and cannot produce LVs efficiently (Sakuma et al. 2012). The transient transfection method is still the most used method for vector production for research purposes and even for clinical trials.



#### Figure 8. Transient production of lentiviral vectors.

For transient transfection, plasmids encoding for the packaging sequence, the transfer vector and the envelope glycoprotein (+/- the rev protein depending on the LV generation) are transfected into 293T cells using a transfection reagent. These 293T cells produce efficiently vector particles at 36 until 72 hours after the transfection. After that a severe drop in infectious titer is detected.

#### 3.1.2) PRODUCTION BY STABLE PACKAGING CELL LINES

To better guarantee safe LV production, needed for clinical applications, stable vector producing cell lines (VCL) have been developed. They are engineered to express the different vector components (packaging, transfer and envelope sequences) stably by using transfection or transduction methods to introduce them into the producer cell. In addition, to being a reproducible source of LVs, stable production prevents plasmid DNA contaminations and homologous recombination of transient transfected plasmids, which reduces the risk of RCL formation. Moreover, a stable VCL would reduce enormously the LV production costs and make LV mediated gene therapy accessible to a high number of patients while currently only few patients can be treated with a vector batch. Because of these advantages of stable LV production, many groups have invested in the production of stable VCLs but with moderate success. Although, this stable production is essential for clinical

use, the fusogenicity of viral envelopes such as the VSV-G glycoprotein prevented the development of these stable VCLs or induced a strong titer reduction, too low for clinical use. This required complicated strategies using gag-pol and VSV-G expression under the control of inducible promoters, which only allowed short-term production of LVs.

Moreover, production of a stable cell line is cumbersome since for each therapeutic vector a new cell line needs to be established and before moving it into the clinic an extensive evaluation to prove absence of RCLs is required. The STAR cell line has been developed by the Collins's group (Ikeda et al. 2003), (Strang et al. 2004) by transduction of the necessary coding sequences; this cell line is able to produce high titer non-toxic retrovirus glycoprotein (for example RD114/TR) pseudotyped LVs for more than three months. Although this advance does not solve the VSV-G stable production concerns, it holds great promises for LV stable production notably for RD114/TR envelope pseudotyped LVs. Of note, recently a high titer stable RD114/TR VCL was successfully developed (Stornaiuolo et al. 2013).

## 3.2) CONCENTRATION AND PURIFICATION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

After production, there are a lot of protocols that allow concentrating and purifying LVs. The producer cell supernatant is collected and filtrated to remove cellular debris. Subsequently, the vector containing supernatants are concentrated.

The most commonly used method is the ultracentrifugation of the viral supernatant at 1-300,000 g for 1-4 h at 4°C. Then, the viral pellet is re-suspended into an isotonic buffer during several hours. Another step of ultracentrifugation can be applied through a sucrose cushion to remove soluble protein contamination. A 10- to 100-fold titer increase is noted after this concentration and purification step. The purity of these preparations is sufficient for most of laboratory uses. Nevertheless, a lot of LV pseudotypes do not tolerate these high ultracentrifugation forces. In addition, the pelleting of cellular vesicles and debris is a side-effect of this method and is a concern in terms of immune response induction.

As a consequence, other methods have been developed such as high speed long term centrifugation at 10,000 g for 8-12 h at 4°C, precipitation with calcium phosphate or ultrafiltration by using a 100kDa molecular mass cut-off filter (Sakuma et al. 2012).

For the production of LVs used in the clinic, the purification process is well established according to the rules of good manufacturing practice (GMP) (Ausubel et al. 2012), (Merten et al. 2011). Directly following the supernatant harvest, the supernatant is first clarified by filtration. Benzonase nuclease is added in presence of Mg during 6 hours at 37°C in order to degrade most of residual nucleic acids. The clarified and benzonase treated supernatant is ultrafiltrated and diafiltered (by a diafiltering (DF) buffer filtration) and centrifugated for 16-20 h at 6000 g. Then, the resulting viral pellet is reconstituted in DF buffer and centrifuged for 1-2 minutes to remove insoluble material. The production of LVs for the clinic involves several steps of chromatography in some laboratories such as Genethon. The majority of the LV production is aliquoted and stored at -80°C but some samples are tested for sterility, titration and undergo quality-safety control. The overall yield of this type of manufacturing production is around 30%.

## 3.3) TITRATION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

It is essential to determine the infectious titer of a vector preparation. Many methods have been developed but unfortunately, a standard protocol in titration does not exist (Geraerts et al. 2006). We give an overview of possible methods and their limitations below (Kutner et al. {Acuto, 2003 #450}2009).

# 3.3.1) TITRATION BY MEASURING THE QUANTITY OF VECTOR PARTICLE COMPONENTS

This type of titration is based on a non-functional assay by quantifying the content of a vector preparation by measuring the lentiviral capsid antigen (p24 for HIV-1 LVs) by ELISA or the vector genomic RNA content by qRT-PCR. Finally, we can measure the RT activity using real time PCR quantification. The major concern with these methods is that they detect both infectious and non-infectious vector

particles and largely overestimate the LV titer. Moreover, the titer obtained with these methods does not take into account the nature of the vector construct with the addition of *cis*-acting sequences or the use of a tissue-specific promoter, a certain envelope glycoprotein and the targeted cell type, which all can influence the titer.

#### 3.3.2) TITRATION BY FUNCTIONAL ASSAYS

Different methods of functional titration are available. The first assay consists in the isolation of genomic DNA of the target cells after their transduction. Then the total number of integrated vector copies numbers (VCN) per cell is determined by qPCR, which is normalized to the number of target cells (determined by an endogenous cellular gene used as a reference). However, the VCN does not inform us on the transgene expression in the target cell, which might vary according to the genomic integration sites of the provirus.

When a reporter gene is included in the transfer vector (GFP, antibiotic resistance, surface display of ligands at the target cell surface), the direct measurement of transgene expression by transduced cells appears to be the more suitable method to determine the 'true' infectious LV titer. In absence of reporter elements to measure the transgene expression, a qRT-PCR on transgene mRNA in transduced cells is reported to correlate to titers obtained using reported genes in most cases. Of note, if a tissue- or cell-specific internal promoter is used, the cells using for titering should support expression driven by this specific promoter.

## 3.4) LENTIVIRAL VECTOR BIOSAFETY DETERMINATION

#### 3.4.1) RCL DETECTION

To enhance biosafety, the detection of RCLs is a necessary step in the testing of LV preparations and many assays for RCL detection have been developed. RCL detection is performed on the supernatant of LV-infected target cells that have been cultured for two weeks to avoid contamination of the original LV used for the infection. The product-enhanced reverse transcription assay (PERT), a PCR based method is known for its high sensitivity. It consists in using an RNA template as a substrate for RT activity. If a reverse transcript is identified by qPCR, it means that reverse transcriptase is present in a sample contaminated by RCL. Every RCL that present a functional RT can be detected by this method (Rohll et al. 2002), (Pyra et al. 1994). Another frequently used method consists in detecting and measuring CA amounts by detection of p24 using ELISA. Absence of RCLs is shown when serial passaging of supernatant from infected cells is devoid of p24 (Escarpe et al. 2003). However, these methods are based on the principle that RCLs have a usual viral form. As a consequence, there is no current standard for RCL determination and the methods are evaluated case by case in the context of clinical trials. With the 3<sup>rd</sup> or 4<sup>th</sup> LV vector generation, RCLs were not detected using classical methods.

## 3.4.2) DETECTION OF LVS GENOTOXICITY

Since the concerns raised by the clinical trial that used MLV retroviral vector for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (Hacein-Bey-Abina et al. 2003), (Hacein-Bey-Amina et al. 2008), the detection and regulation of transgene integration sites is a major concern in viral vector based therapies. Although this work demonstrated a successful gene therapy in humans, some of the patients developed leukemia due to insertion into a proto-oncogene. Later, it was elucidated that this was caused by the MLV vector integration profile (Hacein-Bey-Abina et al. 2003), (Hacein-Bey-Amina et al. 2008). Today, the knowledge of LV integration tropism has advanced enormously and pointed out the preferential insertion of the provirus in transcriptionally active sites of the cell genome. Indeed, for instance in hematopoietic cells, the insertion pattern of LVs appeared to be quite different than that obtained with MLV retroviral vectors (Modlich et al. 2009), (Cesana et al. 2014).

Nevertheless, SIN LV integration appears to have a genetic impact notably because they may upregulate the expression of genes flanking the integration site (Cesana et al. 2014), induces aberrant splicing or premature termination that involves loss- or gain of function mutations (Montini et al. 2009), (Ranzani et al. 2013), (Moiani et al. 2012), (Cavazzana-Calvo et al. 2010). Therefore, carefull analysis of LV genomic integration sites is needed to assess the risk of insertional mutagenesis

when using a specific vector design. Several essays to estimate this risk have been developed and are discussed below.

#### 3.4.2.1) IN VITRO GENOTOXICITY ASSAY

Insertional mutagenesis can be investigated thanks to a mapping of the genomic integration sites in tumors, called common insertion sites (Montini et al. 2009). cDNA linear amplification mediated PCR (LAM-PCR) was developed in order to identify chimeric LV cellular transcripts from the whole genome of a LV-transduced cell. LAM-PCR consist in amplifying regions of genomic DNA that contains integrated proviral vectors using a LTR specific primer. A magnetic bead capture the DNA fragments and a double strand synthesis is performed followed by restriction enzyme digestion and further ligation of a double stranded linker. Pyrosequencing is realized after a nested PCR stage (Figure 9) (Rae et al. 2013). This method provides qualitative informations on the role of LV integration on aberrant splicing processes but is not sufficient to quantify the frequency of this mechanism. (Ranzani et al. 2013), (Wang et al. 2008). The quantification of aberrant transcripts can be performed on single cell derived clones using RT-qPCR methods (Cesana et al. 2012). LAM-PCR has been described as the most sensitive method to detect LV integration sites allowing for example the detection of miscellaneous vector integration sites (Bartholomae et al. 2012), (Schmidt et al. 2009). This method has been approved for the mutagenesis follow-up of modified cells in preclinical and clinical trials (Ott et al. 2006) (Cartier et al. 2009), (Deichmann et al. 2007).

The combination of LAM-PCR and next generation sequencing (NGS) technologies hold promises for the evaluation of clonogenicity and large scale analysis of vector integration sites (Bartholomae et al. 2012). NGS technologies such as DNA bar coding and pyrosequencing offer a wide characterization of integration sites with high spatial and temporal resolutions (Wang et al. 2008). Briefly, pyrosequencing method is able to generate several hundred thousand sequences with 400-500 base pair read lengths. Amplicons from several samples can be pooled for sequencing and then analyzed separately thanks to DNA bar coding techniques (Wang et al. 2008). More precisely, Lu and colleagues (Lu et al. 2011) have developed the following method: the DNA barcode is a common 6 bp sequence that correspond to a library identifier followed by a random 27bp cellular barcode. LVs are

designed with a barcode sequence in their LTR that they carry to the targeted cells. It is necessary to work on reduced number of cells in order to transfer a unique copy per transduced cell (Lu et al. 2011), (Glimm et al. 2011). *Ex vivo* transduced cells such as hematopoietic stem cells are transplanted in mice (See part 2. 4.2) and replicate containing the barcode sequence. Then, hematopoietic cells are harvested and barcodes are recovered from the genomic DNA using PCR and pyrosequencing; this allows to explore transduced cell clonogenicity in the entire hematopoietic lineage from the stem cell to the myeloid and lymphoid progenitors and end-differentiated cells (Usek et al. 2012).



Figure 9. Linear amplification mediated PCR (LAM-PCR).

A LTR (in grey) specific primer allows to amplify integrated proviral vector DNA. Thanks to a magnetic bead capture (in yellow), linear PCR resulting oligos are digested and then linked to a double strand linker (in green). A nested PCR is realized and its products are sequenced by pyrosequencing. This technique allows to explore LV integration sites.

#### 3.4.2.2) IN VIVO GENOTOXICITY ASSAYS IN TUMOR PRONE MOUSE MODELS

Although *in vitro* genotoxicity assays give important indications concerning the genotoxic effects of different LV designs, animal models allow to evaluate their effects on *in vivo* hematopoiesis. Tumor prone mice have been described as interesting models to investigate the insertional mutagenesis oncogenic effects (Montini et al. 2009). The currently used tumor prone cdkn2a -/- model is based on the inactivation of the *Cdkn2a* gene, which controls cell senescence and prevents cell transformation (Sherr et al. 2004). This mouse model has been useful to demonstrate that HIV-1 based LVs are safer than MLV based vectors in term of genotoxicity (Montini et al. 2006). Indeed, transplantation of LV transduced HSCs can be performed in these mice; then, the integration site selection and tumor development in transplanted mice can be determined by previously described *in vitro* insertion site analysis techniques.

Although mouse models are experimentally preferred to larger animals, in preclinical studies dogs and non-human primates are important to follow the long-term risks associated with insertional mutagenesis because of their longer lifespan (Hematti et al. 2004), (Beard et al. 2007), (Kennedy et al. 2011). This is of importance since the insertional mutagenesis in several clinical trials was only revealed several years after engraftment of corrected HSCs.

## 3.4.3) REGULATION OF INTEGRATION OF LVS

Both MLV retroviruses and lentiviruses integrate semi-randomly into the genome, and thus insertional mutagenesis cannot be excluded. This justifies the numerous strategies that have been evaluated to target gene transfer in a specific "safe harbor" in the cell genome and of which some are described below.

Of importance, the SIN vector design in reducing potential risks of insertional mutagenesis and the role of insulators in case of integration in condensated chromatin regions are major advances for clinical applications of LVs. So, in this part we will focus on the other strategies that have been developed in order to decrease the risks induced by random integration of LVs. Many genomic integration regulation strategies have been developed

#### 3.4.3.1) INTEGRATION DEFICIENT LVS FOR NON-PROLIFERATING CELLS

For non-dividing target cells, integration deficient lentiviral vectors could represents an alternative approach to reduce insertional mutagenesis. (Philpott et al. 2006), (Wanisch et al. 2009). The product of reverse transcription of LV is a linear dsDNA with LTRs at both ends. Classic LVs with a functional integrase (IN) usually can be integrated into the cell genome as proviruses. But the proviral linear DNA can also be circularized by non homologous end joining that produces 2-LTR circles and by homologous recombination between the LTR or by ligation of RT products that gives 1-LTR circles. In order to exclusively obtain these episomal forms, some mutations are performed in the IN encoding gene. Since IN has a pleiotropic function in the viral cycle such as in virion morphogenesis, in RT, in nuclear translocation and in integration only one type of mutations can specifically affect the cleavage and integration functions. These class I mutations are created by substituting one of the three amino acids of the catalytic triad (D64, D116 and E152 for HIV-1 IN), most authors use the well described D64V mutant. Some groups tried to mute the attachment sites at the end of the provirus but these mutations appeared less efficient than obtained with IN class I mutations. In order to optimize the action of these mutations, a pharmacological treatment against IN or its cofactors is possible by using raltegravir or elvitegravir which are strand-transfer inhibitors (Cornu et al. 2007).

IDLVs are more and more developed for clinical applications such as retinal dystrophy gene therapy with interesting results obtained in rodents and dogs (Yanez-Munoz et al. 2006), (Philippe et al. 2006) or immunization against HIV and tumors.

Although these IDLV vectors appear to be attractive candidates for transgene delivery into quiescent tissues and for gene repair, their interest for longterm transgene expression needs to be confirmed. Indeed, the non-integrated transgene is lower expressed than an integrated one (Matrai et al. 2011). Moreover, the high level of non-replicative episomal molecules in transduced cells could assure a high level of transgene expression while preventing insertional mutagenesis and RCL generation. Many authors are currently trying to develop IDLVs with replicating episomes

(Wanisch et al. 2009) that may provide a stable transgenesis in proliferating tissues while maintaining their biosafety characteristics.

#### 3.4.3.2) SITE DIRECTED INTEGRATION OF IDLVS

The targeted integration of LVs can be performed thanks to the use of specific nucleases and non-integrating LVs.

## 3.4.3.2.1) THE ZINC FINGER NUCLEASE STRATEGY (ZFN)

The Zinc Finger nucleases are hybrid restriction enzymes that link the cleavage domain of FokI to a designed zinc finger protein (ZFP) (Naldini et al. 2011), (Miller et al. 2007), (Lombardo et al. 2007). They are used to modify the eukaryotic genome from simple sequence editions to targeted integration of entire genes. ZFNs introduce a double strand break at the chosen site in the host genome and if an exogenous repair template is available, it may be incorporated into the genome by homology directed repair. The targeting of the cleavage event is mediated by the ZFP domain that can be engineered to recognize a wide range of DNA sequences (Figure 10).

To introduce the ZFN technology into a target cell, Naldini and colleagues used IDLVs successfully (Lombardo et al. 2007). The IDLV episomal accumulating proviral DNA is competent for both transient expression of the ZFNs and a transgene substrate for homologous recombination. A 10- to 100-fold increase in site-specific integration was observed when the ZFNs are co-delivered. In this study, authors managed to correct specifically the IL2RG gene mutation, involved in the X-SCID disease, at its endogenous genomic site.

The choice of the integration locus appears to be very important because it may influence the ZFN accessibility, the permissiveness to homology directed repair (HDR) and the maintenance of transgene expression.

59

Although these results are very promising and mean a big step forward towards improved biosafety by reducing the risks of insertional mutagenesis, a carefull safety assessment is required to validate potential off-target effects of ZFNs.





(A) Schematic representation of a ZFN with 3 specific DNA binding domains linked to the Fok1 nuclease. Targeted endogenous gene correction (B) or transgene addition in a well defined genomic locus (C) which is driven by the activation of the ZFN nucleases encoded by lentiviral vectors by ZFN dimerization, cleavage and then homologous directed repair (HDR) with the corresponding homologous sequences flanking the correcting transgene encoded by a second lentiviral vector.

#### 3.4.3.2.2) THE TALE NUCLEASES STRATEGY

In parallel to ZFNs engineering, many studies are focused on artificial enzymes able to generate double stranded DNA breaks at predefined genomic sequences. Indeed, since the recent discovery of the potential of bacterial transcription activator-like type III effectors (TALEs) to recognize specific DNA sequences, many groups have developed some specific TALEs (Holkers et al. 2013). The DNA binding domain of TALEs displays a tandem array of 15.5 to 19.5 repeat units with 34 residues each. A 2-amino acid hypervariable polymorphism at position 12 and 13 is often the only feature difference among the repeats. The TALE nucleases (TALENs) operate similarly to ZFNs by assembly of a pair of TALENs at a given DNA sequence consisting of two half target sites separated by a spacer sequence.

Nevertheless, the integration seems to be more independent from the chromatin context and the simple DNA binding code used, which suggests that TALENs could bind a wider range of DNA sequence with a more predictable manner than obtained with ZFNs which might reduce the off-target effects.

HIV-1 based LVs or IDLVs bearing TALEN sequences could serve as TALEN delivery platforms and could be safer than the ZFNs ones. However, extensive comparisons between the two systems are needed to make definite conclusions.

Interestingly, another genomic targeting systems made its appearance based on the bacterial CRISPR/CAS system, which is popular because of its easy design.

# 4) LENTIVIRAL VECTOR APPLICATIONS IN BASIC RESEARCH AND GENE THERAPY

LVs are able to transduce a wide range of host cells including both dividing and non-dividing cells. Their success in preclinical and clinical studies makes them popular tools for gene transfer. Here below several possible applications for LVs in fundamental research and in the clinic will be reported but of course this list is not exhaustive.

#### 4.1.1) GENE SILENCING VECTORS

RNA interference (RNAi) mediated gene silencing is an interesting technology to study gene functions or to restrict over-expressed or aberrantly expressed genes to specific cell types in some diseases. In mammalian systems, small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) can be expressed endogenously from pol III promoters as short hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) or from pol II promoters as a part of a microRNA molecule (Singer et al. 2008), (Stewart et al. 2003).

Ideally, a gene silencing lentivector would contain both a reporter gene and the shRNA silencing cassette driven by a pol III promoter (e.g. H1 or U6). The interfering RNA target sequence should be ideally 19-23 bases long and several different shRNAs have to be evaluated in order to identify the most effective one (Figure 11). Indeed, if the objective is to knockdown a certain gene, only the sequences showing the highest efficiency should be selected. Since over expression of shRNAs can result in off-target effects, a control shRNA in the context of the same LV backbone and reporter gene should be included. For instance scrambled sequences, non-target sequences or mutated sequences are used as a shRNA control.



**Figure 11. Schematic representation of lentiviral vectors for shRNA silencing.** The lentiviral transfer vector codes for small hairpin RNAs (shRNA), specific for a gene of interest, under the control of a Pol II promoter. Upon expression the shRNA recognizes a particular sequence

of a host cell mRNA and will silence its expression. To identify the transduced cells these LVs often carry a reporter gene such as GFP.

Since LVs have a large packaging capacity, they can harbor the shRNA combined with a regulated expression system. For instance, a Tet-regulatable shRNA cassette in addition to the TtA sequence has been included in the same LV, and proved functional (Stegmeier et al. 2005).

This gene silencing LV technology can lead to better understanding of cellular biology (e.g. in cancer cells) if it allows to obtain a clear knockdown phenotype for cells and transgenic animals.

# 4.1.2) LENTIVIRAL VECTOR MEDIATED TRANSGENESIS AND IN VIVO CELL LINEAGE TRACKING

Many authors have shown that LVs can efficiently transduce embryonic stem (ES) cells. Verma and colleagues (Pfeifer et al. 2002) already showed that in contrast to MLV retroviral vectors, for which expression is silenced in ES cells, LV expression is maintained in human and murine ES cells. Moreover, embryos at morula stage can be transduced and the resulting progeny express the transgene. Likewise, transgenes introduced by LVs in ES cells are transmitted to the germ-line.

Therefore, authors concluded that LVs are very attractive tools for generating transgenic animals. Many transgenic animals have been generated using LVs including mice (Lois et al. 2002), rats (Van den Brandt et al. 2004), cats (Wongsrikeao et al. 2011), rabbits (Hiripi et al. 2010), pigs (Hofmann et al. 2003) and even chickens (McGrew et al. 2004). These transgenic animals either can hold a specific tissue reporter gene such as GFP or can present a specific knock-down in order to study gene function or to produce a disease preclinical model (Tiscornia et al. 2003).

Moreover, LV-mediated stable gene transduction can be exploited *in vivo* in order to follow targeted cells. For instance, Gallo *et al.* (2008) developed a LV for tracking cardiomyocyte differentiation from human ES cells in order to better understand cardiac muscle differentiation.

63

The induced pluripotent stem (IPS) cell generation relies on the introduction of defined pluripotency associated factors such as OCT4, SOX2, KLF4 and cMyc in somatic cells (Takahashi et al. 2007). LVs have been used in order to introduce these multiple factors in fibroblasts, keratinocytes and HSCs in order to reprogram them (Sakuma et al. 2012). After the reprogramming MLV retroviral vector encoding the above factors were spontaneously silenced. Nevertheless, the risks of reactivation of the pluripotency associated factors once integrated into the genome of these IPS cells, led laboratories to develop other technologies such as protein transfer or they privileged integration deficient LVs (IDLVs) for gene transfer of these factors (Mali et al. 2008)

#### 4.1.4) LENTIVIRAL VECTOR MEDIATED IMMUNE MODULATION

LVs can efficiently transduce APCs including macrophages or dendritic cells. These properties can be used for vaccines against infectious diseases and tumors. The LV-mediated expression of specific antigens in dendritic cells induce both CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses leading to cellular immunity and humoral response (Breckpot et al. 2008) (Hu et al. 2011). In order to efficiently present transduced antigens on DCs and generate antigen specific immune response, LVs must transduce but also stimulate DCs. Both cell entry and reverse transcription were shown to affect the activation of DCs *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Contrary to adenoviruses, LVs are able to transduce DCs in a persistent, non-toxic and non-immunogenic manner.

Positive results have been obtained in LV transduced DCs for use as immunity boosting vaccines and a lot of researchers are focused on the development of an HIV-1 vaccine using LV immunization. Unfortunately, until now the extreme ability of HIV-1 to escape the immune system prevented the fabrication of an efficient vaccine (De Feo et al. 2012). Of interest, DCs transduced by LVs expressing tumor associated antigens such as melanoma antigens are able to activate cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses and provide protection against tumor challenges. It has been shown that this strategy can efficiently lead to tumor regression (Yang et al. 2011)

An important anti-cancer strategy based on the transfer of tumor-specific T cell receptor (TCR) genes into patient T cells has been proven successful in the clinic. More recently, a radically different strategy consisting of introducing a coding sequence for a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR), allowed to confer the desired specificity for a cancer antigen to T cells. Indeed, ongoing clinical trials have described durable rejection of previously refractory B-cell malignancy in patients after CD19-directed CAR gene therapy of autologous T cells (Scholler et al. 2012).

# 4.2) LENTIVIRAL VECTORS IN HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL BASED GENE THERAPY, STATE OF THE ART

For the moment, ex-vivo gene therapy strategies using the correction of autologous target cells *in vitro* followed by re-infusion into the patient are favored (Verma et al. 2013). Although numerous gene therapy trials have been performed using MLV retroviral vectors, the first lentiviral vector based clinical trial was initiated only ten years ago. Although the MLV based retroviral vectors were successful for hematopoietic stem cell based gene therapy, the "safer" LVs are gaining interest in the gene therapy field (Table 2).

Disease	Gene to correct	LV	Nb of treated patients	Benefits for the patients	Ref
X-linked Adrenoleukodystrophy	ABCD1	3rd generation LV VSV-G HIV-1 pseudotype	2	Cerebral demyelination ceased	(Cartier et al. 2012 et al. 2010 et al. 2009)
β-Thalassemia	β- globin		1	Transfusion independence – Hemoglobin level stabilized (8,5-9 g/dL)	(Bank et al. 2005), (Cavazzana- calvo et al. 2010), (Payen et al. 2012)
Metachromic Leukodystrophy	ARSA		3	Neurodegeneration ceased	(Biffi et al. 2013)
Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome	WAS		3	Protection from bleeding and severe infections – Eczema resolution	(Galy et al. 2008), (Aiuti et al. 2013)

### Table 2. Gene therapy clinical trials using Lentiviral Vectors

#### 4.2.1) FIRST CLINICAL TRIAL FOR THE GENETIC TREATMENT OF HIV INFECTION

Levine *et al.* (2006) performed a phase I clinical trial for HIV therapy using a conditional replicating VSV-G pseudotyped LV coding for an antisense sequence complementary to the HIV envelope. Five subjects with chronic HIV-1 infection were enrolled in the trial and autologous CD4+ T cells were transduced with the anti-HIV therapeutic vector and reinfused back into the patients. An increase of CD4+ T cells, normally depleted in AIDS patients, and a decrease of viral load were observed and until now insertional mutagenesis was not detected. Further follow-up is needed to conclude on the safety and the efficacy of this therapy but these first results were promising for further clinical applications of LVs.

#### 4.2.2) X-LINKED ADRENOLEUKODYSTROPHY CLINICAL TRIAL

Cartier et al (2012 et al. 2010 et al. 2009) obtained promising results for Xlinked adrenoleukodystrophy (ALD) by *ex vivo* correction of autologous HSCs employing LVs encoding for the wild type ABCD1 gene. This disease is indeed characterized by a deficiency in the ALD protein, an adenosine triphosphate binding cassette transporter encoded by the ABCD1 gene. This defect in ALD protein causes a severe brain demyelination in boys and the only currently available treatment to halt the neurodegeneration is an allogeneic HSC transplantation. In this trial, 14-16 months after infusion of autologous corrected cells into the patients, the progressive cerebral demyelination ceased as compared to patient that did not undergo transplant

#### 4.2.3) β-THALASSEMIA CLINICAL TRIAL

 $\beta$ -thalassemia major is characterized by absence or strong decrease in  $\beta$ globin chains of hemoglobin, which triggers the precipitation of unpaired  $\alpha$ -globin chains in erythroid precursor cells. This phenomenon leads to a perturbed erythropoiesis and thus a decreased production of red blood cells and a decrease of the hemoglobin levels. The phase I/II clinical trial of  $\beta$ -globin gene therapy for  $\beta$ -thalassemia major that was initiated in 2007 also showed very promising results (Bank et al. 2005), (Cavazzana-calvo et al. 2010), (Payen et al. 2012).

In this trial, a SIN-LV containing large elements of the  $\beta$ -globin locus control region (LCR) and chromatin insulators in the LTRs was designed and used to transduce autologous HSCs of one patient. Three years after starting this treatment,  $\beta$ -globin corrected cells are still detected and the patient is transfusion independent and stabilized his blood hemoglobin level. Of note though, a dominant integration clone appeared but this did not lead to leukemia up to now. Indeed, a dominant myeloid cell clone has been evidenced resulting in an activation of the high mobility group AT-hook 2 gene (*HMGA2*) and the expression of a truncated HMGA2 mRNA in the erythroid lineage (Cavazzana-calvo et al. 2010). Cavazzana-Calvo and colleagues hypothesize that this clone dominance may be either the consequence of a stochastic event because of the low number of initially transduced HSCs with HMGA2 erythroid specific expression or explained by a differential proliferation of a myeloid biased lineage induced by a HMGA2 expression dysregulation in early hematopoietic progenitors. Of importance, the overexpression of truncated HMGA2 mRNA.

## 4.2.4) METACHROMIC LEUKODYSTROPHY AND WISKOTT-ALDRICH SYNDROME CLINICAL TRIAL

Very recently, Biffi et al (2013) and Aiuti et al (2013) provide very encouraging results on the HSC-based gene therapy for the correction of metachromatic leukodystrophy and Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome.

Metachromatic leukodystrophy is an autosomal recessive lysosomal storage disease caused by mutations of the ARSA gene encoding for the arylsulfatase enzyme. This enzyme deficiency leads to an accumulation of the enzyme substrate in oligodendrocytes, microglia, Schwann cells and macrophages and in certain neurons of the central nervous system. This results in a widespread demyelination and neurodegeneration. Today, no efficient treatment for this disease exists. The Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome is caused by a mutation in the WAS gene encoding the WASP protein, which regulates the cytoskelet architecture. A deficit in WASP induces a X-linked primary immunodeficiency characterized by infections, thrombocytopenia, eczema, autoimmunity and lymphoma. Currently, the only way to treat patients is allogeneic HSC transplantation.

In 2010, clinical trials were initiated using LVs encoding for ARSA (6 patients) and WASP (10 patients). In these clinical trials, no clonal dominance nor preferential integration pattern were observed. Although a long term follow-up of these patients is needed, the first results in three patients for each of these two trials are very encouraging in terms of efficacy.

Since LVs integrate into the host cell genome, they still can perturb endogenous gene expression. Therefore, a careful biosafety assessment needs to be performed. However, their ability to introduce stably a therapeutic gene in multiple different target cells and their favorable integration pattern predicts that they might become powerful gene therapy tools in the near future. In parallel, safer LV vectors are being designed which will extend their applications to other genetic diseases and give hope to many patients suffering from these incurable diseases.

The following part will describe in detail one of the important target cells used in these LV mediated gene therapy trials: the hematopoietic stem cells.

# 1) IDENTIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF HSC

## 1.1) HISTORICAL APPROACH OF HSC

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are the first identified and the better characterized adult stem cells (Sykes et al. 2013). In 1905, Pappenheim described the "stem cell" fate thanks to the diagram presented in Figure 12. It is striking that his description still approaches the current view on hematopoiesis.



Figure 12. View of hematopoiesis by Pappenheim in 1905. (From Ramalho-Santos et al. 2007). The multipotent stem cell is represented in the middle of the diagram

In 1932, Sabin evocated the presence of undifferentiated hematopoietic stem cells in bone marrow and concluded that irradiation induced impairments in primitive hematopoietic cells and consequently in blood. Some years later (Sabin, 1936), the same authors explored the nature of these stem cells, describing them like small lymphocytes which lack signs of differentiation. Due to limitations in experimental methods, the debate about the existence of a common hematopoietic stem cell continued for several decades.

In 1957, thanks to their work on bone marrow transplantation in dogs, Thomas and colleagues (Thomas, 1957) confirmed that there were specific bone marrow cells which can restore hematopoietic lineages after lethal irradiation.

It was only in the 1960s that Till and McCulloch brought the expected evidence of the existence of HSCs (Ramalho-Santos et al. 2007), (Sykes et al. 2013). They showed that a selected progenitor subpopulation of hematopoietic cells was able to self-renew and to differentiate into mature hematopoietic lineage (Becker, 1963). Indeed, bone marrow cell engraftment to lethally irradiated mice allowed them to survive. Moreover, they found splenic nodules which appeared to be colony forming units (CFU) composed by all hematopoietic populations (Till, 1961). Then, they described the clonally expansion of HSC leading to CFUs (Becker, 1963). These works provided the scientific basis of hematopoiesis and give arguments in favor of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation.

Considering these works, HSCs may be defined as cells that can self-renew and differentiate into the whole hematopoietic lineage.

## 1.2) CHARACTERIZATION AND ISOLATION OF HUMAN HSC

Up to know, human HSCs are not characterized by a combination of phenotypic specific markers as it is the case for murine HSCs (Zhang et al. 2005). Indeed, over the last four decades, several methods of human HSC enrichment have been suggested but none is completely satisfying (Wisniewski et al. 2011).

#### 1.2.1) BIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF HSC

Hoechst 33342 and Rhodamine 123 fluorescent vital dye have been used to enrich population in HSCs in combination of antibody based approaches (Goodel et al. 1996). Although these cells are long term repopulating progenitors, this population is called 'side population' because it does not express CD34 and CD133 markers (see 1.2.2). Moreover, these cells present an impairment in their homing capacity (Matsuzaki et al. 2004) which significantly reduces the interest of this type of isolation for clinical purposes. Primitive human hematopoietic cells present a high aldehyde deshydrogenase (ALDH) activity (Sladek et al. 1999). The ALDH expressing cell exposition to BODIPY-FI1- labeled amino acetaldehyde (BAAA) induces a selective fluorescence. Indeed, BAAA is converted in fluorescent BAA by ALDH. In order to prevent BAA cell efflux, some ABC transporter inhibitors are needed. The selection of ALDH+ hematopoietic cells allows to enrichment for HSCs (Storms et al. 1999). The use of both BAAA and antigen surface markers staining still increases HSC in the cell population (Christ et al. 2007). Nevertheless, the use of transporter inhibitors and of BAAA cannot be employed for clinical applications because of the induced toxicity of this drug.

#### 1.2.2) HSC SURFACE ANTIGENS

The most commonly known human HSC markers, CD34, has been identified in 1984 by Civin and colleagues (Civin, 1984). CD34 is a member of the sialomucin surface molecule family (Krause et al. 1996) and was suggested to play a role in cell adhesion and differentiation but its role remains not completely understood. Nevertheless, the location of the most primitive fraction of HSCs in the CD34+ subset remains a matter of debate. Several explanations have been developed in order to explain the ability of CD34- cells to engraft and reconstitute the hematopoietic lineage (Bhatia et al. 1998). Some authors hypothesized that CD34- cells could be a more primitive precursor than CD34+ cells (Bhatia et al. 1998) when they demonstrate that CD34- isolated from a CD34+ graft could generate a new CD34+ long term repopulating population, the dynamic interconversion of CD34 on cell surface is proposed (Dao et al. 2003). Of importance, in the CD34- subset, only the CD133+ subpopulation is able to engraft immunodeficient mice (Gallacher et al. 2000). Although the expression of CD34 on HSC surface membrane is still debated, the isolation techniques keep using this marker. Nevertheless, new markers are becoming more generalized (CD133, see below). Therefore, other markers can be used in order to identify the most primitive HSC subpopulation.

The CD133 (AC133) surface marker is expressed on 20 to 60% of the CD34+ isolated cells depending on their origin (Yin et al. 1997). CD133+ CD34+ cell subpopulation presents a high capacity of expansion, bone marrow homing and engraftment (Goussetis et al. 2000), (Wynter et al. 1998). However, CD133 is not a
specific marker, in human it is also found in hepatic (Schmelzer et al. 2007) and neural stem cells (Lee et al. 2005). New isolation kits tough are based on the CD133 positive selection since this marker seem to stain more primitive cells than CD34+ cells.

The human CD90 (Thy-1) surface marker has been described by Baum and colleagues (1992) after is first identification in mouse hematopoietic stem cells (Spangrude et al. 1988). Thy-1 is involved in numerous non immunological processes such as cellular adhesion, tumor growth, migration and cell death, its activation has been reported to promote T cell activation (Rege et al. 2006). The CD34+ CD90+ subset presents hematopoietic stem cell properties such as long term repopulation capacity. Both CD90- and CD90+ subsets have self-renewal potential. Nevertheless, the CD90+ subset has been shown to generate more efficiently myeloerythroid lineage and lymphocytes B than obtained with the negative fraction (Baum et al. 1992). Indeed, it was reported that the CD34+CD90+ fraction contains five fold more of HSCs than the total CD34+ population (Notta et al. 2011).

The Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR2) also called Kinase insert domain receptor (KDR) can be added to the list of HSC surface markers. Indeed, the KDR+CD34+ cell fraction (0.1 to 0.5% of the total CD34+ population) was enriched in HSCs (Ziegler et al. 1999). Likewise, the Cub domain protein 1 is co-expressed in the CD34+ CD133+ population only in the HSC subset as compared to mature cells (Conze et al. 2003).

As regards negative markers, the CD34+ CD38- population consists of a highly primitive subset of HSCs. The increase of CD38+ cells is correlated with the HSC cell cycle entry or their differentiation (Terstappen et al. 1991). Likewise, CD45RA- CD34+ cells have been reported to be enriched in HSCs (Lansdorp et al. 1990). HSCs are also negative for lineage markers (lin-) which are presented in Table 3.

A lot of other markers have been described in order to purify the HSC subset, we can quote CD49f (Notta et al. 2011), C1qRp, CD93 (Danet et al. 2002), theses markers are not commonly used for the moment.

Hematopoietic cell type	Lineage marker	
B lymphocytes	CD10, CD19, CD20, CD24	
T lymphocytes	CD2, CD3, CD4, CD5, CD7, CD8	
Myeloid cells	CD14, CD15, CD16, CD33, CD41	
Erythroid cells	CD71, glycophorin A	
Natural killer cell	CD56	
Granulocyte	CD66b	

Table 3. Hematopoietic lineage markers absent from the surface of HSCs.(Adapted from Calloni et al. 2013)

To put in a nutshell, the primitive Lin-CD34+CD38-CD90+CD45RA-CD133+ cells should be a very interesting subset very enriched in HSCs (Wisniewski et al. 2011). Nevertheless, as we will explain later, the lack of consensus about HSC population markers lead scientists to develop other techniques in order to demonstrate that they really work on the stem cell subpopulation.

## 1.2.3) PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF HSC

The low density of HSCs can be used in addition to surface antigen isolation in order to increase purity of HSC isolation. An iso-osmolar percoll density gradient on CD34+ cells enrich by 5- and 10- to 20-fold peripheral blood and bone marrow CD34+ cells respectively. Furthermore, this technique allows to reduce graft versus host disease thanks to the elimination of the contaminating cytotoxic T cells from the CD34+ fraction (Schriber et al. 1995).

## 2) HSC HOMING AND FATE

## 2.1) THE STEM CELL NICHE

Following Becker and collegues work (Becker, 1963), Schofield showed that the putative stem cells in the spleen colony forming units were less able to reconstitute hematopoiesis in lethaly irradiated animals than bone marrow HSCs (Schofield, 1978). He hypothesized that a bone marrow niche provides to HSCs a specific environment allowing them to continue their proliferation. In this niche, HSCs could conserve their stem cell properties without differentiating into mature hematopoietic lineages. The HSC niche is composed of osteolineage cells, sinusoidal endothelial cells, mesenchymal stromal and stem cells, sympathetic neurons and extracellular matrix (Krause et al. 2013). This niche controls the quiescence, self-renewal, proliferation, differentiation and migration of HSCs.

At the beginning of the development, HSC niches are in the aorto-gonadmesonephros region from where they migrate to the placenta, fetal liver and spleen (Morrison et al. 2014). During the second semester of gestation and after birth, HSCs migrate to the bone marrow (Purton et al. 2008). After birth, spleen does not support hematopoiesis in humans, extramedullary hematopoiesis can occur only in case of stress (O'Malley et al. 2005). From birth to the age of five or seven, hematopoiesis takes place in the long bones. In adult, the axial skeleton and the ilium are the major places of hematopoiesis (Purton et al. 2008).

In the bone marrow, HSCs interacts with stroma (adipocytes, reticular cells, macrophages, vascular endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and mesenchymal stem cells), osteolineage cells and produced cytokines, growth factors and extracellular matrix (Krause et al. 2013) (Figure 13). Each element of the niche microenvironment plays a key role in the HSC niche. Osteolineage cells modulate HSC numbers (Calvi et al. 2003) and maintenance (Krause et al. 2013) and retain them in their niche thanks to calcium sensing (Adams et al. 2006). Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) are involved in HSC maintenance by secreting CXCL12, SCF, Ang-1, IL-7 and OPN. The MSC nestin expression contributes to retain HSCs in their niches and favors their homing (Mendez-Ferrer et al. 2010). Macrophages contribute to the retention of HSCs by positive regulation of nestin+ MSCs (Chow et al. 2011). The sympathetic nervous system controls the trafficking of HSCs between the niche and the bloodstream (Mendez-Ferrer et al. 2008). The extracellular matrix is a reservoir for growth factors and cytokines that drive cell maturation, trafficking, proliferation and support a lot of HSC functions by interaction with adhesion molecules (Krause et al. 2013). Perivascular cells secrete SCF that support HSC proliferation (Ding et al. 2012).

74

Of importance, HSCs modulate their niche reciprocally by secreting bone morphogenetic proteins and MSC factors (Krause et al. 2013). Therefore, HSCs are directly involved in their microenvironment development.



### Figure 13. The bone marrow niche of HSCs.

(From Lévesque et al. 2010). Schematic representation of the different parts of HSCs niche. In its niche, HSC fate is determined by interactions with endosteal and bone marrow niche cells and specific ligands.

## 2.2) HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL FATE

Depending on the hematopoietic conditions, HSCs have several possible fates. They can stay quiescent in their niche, self-renew, differentiate or die through apoptosis (Figure 14).



Figure 14. HSC cell fate.

The major part of HSCs stays in a quiescent state in the bone marrow niche. They can also self-renew, differentiate or die through apoptosis.

## 2.2.1) MAJORITY OF HSC ARE IN A QUIESCENT STATE

On average, up to 70% of HSCs are in the G0 phase of the cell cycle and these cells are responsible for the functional long term repopulation and engraftment in immunodeficient recipient mice (Cheshier et al. 1999) (Passegue et al. 2005). The long term repopulation potential of quiescent HSCs has been demonstrated by serial mice transplantation experiments (Foudi et al. 2009). They act as a reservoir of stem cells mobilized in emergency situations (Wilson et al. 2008). Two models have been designed in order to describe the HSC dynamic. The first one, the clonal succession model implies that only few stem cells would contribute to the blood by successive replacement of quiescent clones. These quiescent cells are sequentially recruited to divide and differentiate and are then replaced by a new set of HSCs. The second one, the clonal maintenance model implies that stem cells contribute indefinitely and stably to the blood (expected to be polyclonal) for the life of the individual (Bystrykh et al. 2012). The correct model is still debated, Bystrykh and colleagues (2012) evocated a large range of possible dynamic scenarios between the two extreme succession and maintenance models depending on the stochastic bone marrow intrinsic and extrinsic signals.

HSC dormance is allowed by specific signals in the bone marrow niche. N-cadherin+ osteoblasts directly induce or support HSC quiescence (Zhang et al. 2003) (Arai et al. 2004). Moreover, multiple stroma cell types and factors have been described to play a role in the induction of HSC quiescence (Zheng et al. 2011).

### 2.2.2) HSC SELF-RENEWAL

HSC are able of both self-renewal and multipotency. Self-renewal capacity allows to HSC to proliferate without differentiation. On the other hand, differentiation is allowed by the multipotent character of HSCs.

Two different types of cell division can lead to HSC self-renewal: symmetrical and asymmetrical divisions. With symmetrical division, one HSC gives two daughter HSCs, this mechanism expands the HSC compartment. In asymmetrical division, one

daughter is a HSC and the other enters into differentiation, by this mechanism, the HSC pool remains stable (Punzel et al. 2001), (Wu et al. 2007). The major regulation factors for HSC self-renewal have been described (Table 4).

Regulation factors	Type of regulation	Ref.	
Wnt	positive	(Reya et al. 2003)	
Notch	positive	(Varnum-Finney et al. 2000)	
Hoxb4	positive	(Sauvageau et al. 1995)	
Bmi-1	positive	(Park et al. 2003), (Lessard et al. 2003), (Iwama et al. 2004)	
Gfi-1	positive	(Hock et al. 2004)	
TPO	positive	(Buza-Vidas et al. 2006)	
Sonic hedgehog	positive	(Bhardwaj et al. 2001)	
Pbx1	positive	(Yamazaki et al. 2009)	
CYP26	positive	(Ghiaur et al. 2013)	
Retinoic acid	negative	(Ghiaur et al. 2013)	
P53	negative	(Liu et al. 2009)	
LnK	negative	(Ema et al. 2005)	

Table 4. Major regulation factors of HSC self-renewal.

## 2.2.3) HSC DIFFERENTIATION INTO THE DIFFERENT BLOOD LINEAGES

An average of 10<sup>12</sup> hematopoietic stem cells is produced every day thanks to the support of the small bone marrow HSC subpopulation (Ogawa et al. 1993). Therefore, an impressive expansion is needed between the quiescent HSCs and the mature non-dividing blood cells. At different stages of HSC differentiation, there are some intermediary progenitors called transiently amplifying cells, which allows to reach the adapted cell number (Diaz-Flores et al. 2006).

When the HSC differentiation process occurs, during the priming phase, the opening of the chromatin structure (Cross et al. 1997) by the way of numerous cell factors induces an upregulation of the lineage specific genes (Table 3) while the transcriptional program of the unselected lineages is down (Enver et al. 1998a), (Orkin et al. 2003). Of importance, cytokines and growth factors are involved in the support of proliferation, maturation and survival of the committed cell rather than they directly influence a certain lineage priming (Enver et al. 1998b). A global view of the HSC differentiation process in the hematopoietic lineages is presented Figure 15 with the major involved cytokines and growth factors.



**Figure 15. Hematopoiesis from HSC.** (From Ebioscience manual)

Apoptosis has been described as an important possible fate for HSCs in regulating their compartment (Domen et al. 2000). Indeed, defects in HSC differentiation or self-renewal can induce hematopoietic insufficiencies and the development of hematopoietic malignancies (Oguro et al. 2007). Cell checkpoint factors, reactive oxygen species, apoptosis specific transcription factors and signaling pathways act in synergy for maintaining the HSC pool (Alenzi et al. 2009).

Of importance, Flt3, a member of the receptor tyrosine kinase family, commonly used in HSC stimulation assays, plays a critical role in HSC homeostasis. Flt3 is required to prevent spontaneous apoptosis and maintain HSC survival. Two other early acting cytokines, SCF and TPO, commonly used for HSC stimulation induce survival but their role in apoptosis prevention remains unclear.

## 3) SOURCES OF HUMAN HSCS AND HSC TRANSPLANTATION

## 3.1) BONE MARROW

CD34+ cells represent 1,1% of the bone marrow mononuclear cells. HSCs from bone marrow present the characteristics described above. Bone marrow stem cell harvesting is possible by puncturing bilateral posterior iliac crests of hipbone on an anesthetized donor, 2.10<sup>8</sup> total nucleate cells per kg can be harvested (Chen et al. 2013). This technique has been proven safe for more than three decades (Körbling et al. 2001).

Nevertheless, a long recovery time of on average of 15,8 days after donation, 5,9% of acute complications and the induced discomfort for the stem cell donor have been reported (Stroncek et al. 1993). The risk of death related to BM donation is close to 1 in 10000 (Horowitz et al. 2005).

79

Peripheral blood is naturally composed of only 0,06% of CD34+ cells, more than 18 times less than in bone marrow (Körbling et al. 2001). The facility of blood harvesting has prompted researchers to develop techniques in order to induce cell migration from marrow to blood. In 1993, the five first syngeneic transplants with peripheral blood mononuclear cells mobilized from bone marrow were reported (Weaver; 1993). Marrow cell mobilization is allowed by 4 to 6 days of granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) injections. Likewise G-CSF, Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) has been used but it showed less efficiency than obtained with G-CSF (Kopf et al. 2006).

Mobilized peripheral blood stem cells (PBSCs) are collected by a continuous flow cell separator called apheresis (Chen et al. 2013). Two apheresis procedures are possible when respecting a two day interval. G-CSF is commonly well tolerated, however some side effects have been reported such as fatigue, nausea, headache and bone pain (Anderlini et al. 1996). The more serious life threatening reported complication of G-CSF is spontaneous splenic rupture for five healthy donors in the whole litterature (Veerappan et al. 2007). The potential risks of CD34+ harvesting and the incidence of acute graft versus host disease (GVHD) after transplantation seems to be comparable with maybe a slight advantage for bone marrow cells regarding chronic GVHD (Cutler et al. 2001). However, the survival rates for cured patients give an advantage to mobilized PBSCs for HSC transplantation (Körbling et al. 2001).

### 3.3) UMBILICAL CORD BLOOD

Besides its key role in fetal development, umbilical cord blood (UCB) has been used for numerous clinical applications. Cord blood transplant was first used for treatment in 1972 (Ende, 1972) in a patient suffering lymphoblastic leukemia. UCB has offered an accessible source of HSCs without consequences for the stem cell donor (Broxmeyer et al. 2008). It contains a heterogeneous pool of cells including HSCs, MSCs and embryonic stem cells. UCB has been reported to be enriched in the most primitive subsets, thus it was hypothesized that UCB hosts more immature HSC population than bone marrow do (McGuckin et al. 2003). Since 2007, the number of UCB transplants exceeded the number of BM transplants. Moreover, HSC transplantation with UCB cells induces less acute and chronic GVHD as compared to bone marrow's HSCs. Although this source of HSCs presents numerous advantages, the limited number of collected cells per UCB unit and the longterm engraftment of these cells needs to be improved in order to consolidate its promising prospects for clinical use.

## 3.4) EMBRYONIC AND INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

Recently, CD34+ hematopoietic precursors have been produced from embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) (Ledran et al. 2008), (Choi et al. 2009). Although the capacity of these cells to differentiate *in vitro* into most of hematopoietic lineages has been demonstrated, their potential use in transplantation and the safety of this procedure need more investigation (Tripura et al. 2013). Nevertheless, iPSCs, derived from blood cells of patients with nonmalignant hematological diseases could be a great advance in the field of HSC transplantation notably in terms of donor compatibility (autologous cells) and increased stem cell numbers through expansion (Ye et al. 2009).

## 3.5) HSC TRANSPLANTATION (HSCT)

The first HSC transplantation was performed in 1959 (Thomas, 1959) for the treatment of a patient who suffered from an end-stage leukemia. This patient was treated by an infusion of her twin's marrow after a total irradiation. The identification and typing of HLA system (Human leukocyte antigen) rose the possibility of allogeneic transplantations (Gatti, 1968). Since the 1980s, patient preparations before transplantation evolved with an addition of cyclophosphamide to irradiation protocols or a replacement of this irradiation by busulfan (Thomas, 1977). Adjustments and reductions of these regimens depending on the disease treated and conferred reduced toxicity of this procedure.

As regards HSC sources for transplantation, PBSCs have replaced bone marrow cells for autologous and most of allogeneic transplantations (Copelan et al.

2006). Peripheral blood cells induce more rapid hematopoietic reconstitution despite an increases of the chronic GVHD rates because of the highest proportion of T cell lineage in the progenitor subset (Cutler et al. 2001).

In case of an urgent necessity of HSCT or an absence of suitable donor, banked UCB HSCs are a valid alternative source of HSCs. These UCB HSCs were firstly employed in a Fanconi's anemia patient (Gluckman et al. 1995). UCB HSCT requires less HLA matching; indeed, mismatched UCB cells cause less GVHD while these cells maintain their capacity of struggling against leukemia by the graft versus leukemia effect (Wagner et al. 2002). Combinations of different donors of UCB play a role in engraftment improvement (Barker et al. 2005).

Although HSCT was firstly a last resort treatment, it is now commonly used in the treatment of many diseases as described in Table 5. The consequences of the patient preparation regimens notably regarding the immunodeficiency phase will be treated in a next part.

Type of HSCT	Type of disease	Diseases	
Autologous	Cancers	Multiple myeloma, lymphomas, acute myeloid leukemia neuroblastoma, germ cell tumors, ewing sarcoma, retinoblastoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, ovarian cancer.	
transplantation	Other diseases	Autoimmune disorders (systemic lupus erythtmatous, systemic sclerosis), amyloidosis.	
	Cancers	Acute and chronic myeloid and lymphoblastic leukemias, juvenile chronic myeloid leukemia, multiple myeloma, lymphomas, myeloproliferative syndromes.	
Allogenic transplantation Other diseases		Myelodisplastic disorders, red cell aplasia, aplastic anemia, paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria, fanconi anemia, thalassemia major, sickle cell anemia, severe combined immunodeficiency, wiskott-aldrich syndrome, hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis, metabolism disorders, epidermolysis bullosa, severe congenital neutropenia, Shwachman-Diamond syndrome, Diamond-Blackfan anemia, leukocyte adhesion deficiency, osteogenesis imperfect, chronic granulomatous disease.	

Table 5. Major diseases treated by HSCT.

As we previously explained, surface markers and other HSC purification techniques remains insufficient to prove that a hematopoietic cell is a stem cell (Sato et al. 1999). Indeed, other functional essays are required to ensure that the identified population is most probably a HSC.

## 4.1) IN VITRO ASSAYS

*In vitro* assays investigate the capacity of hematopoietic progenitor cells to self-renew and to differentiate.

## 4.1.1) COLONY FORMING CELL ASSAY

CFC assays can be performed in order to identify hematopoietic progenitors which present limitations in self-renewal or differentiation. A semi-solid medium of methylcellulose supplemented with cytokines and nutrients allows progenitors to produce some various colonies after a two to three weeks culture period (Miller et al. 2008). Myeloid multipotential progenitors are able to give the following colony forming units (CFU):

- CFU-granulocyte, erythroid, monocyte/macrophage, megakaryocyte (CFU-GEMM)
- CFU- granulocyte, monocyte (CFU-GM)

If the studied cells are lineage restricted progenitors, only some of the following colonies will be observed under the microscope: CFU-monocytes (CFU-M), CFU-granulocyte (CFU-G), Burst forming unit erythroid (BFU-E), CFU-erythroid (CFU-E) and CFU-pre B cell. Figure 16 presents major CFUs.



#### Figure 16. Colony obtained by a CFC assay.

(Adapted from Cellular Dynamics international manual) Progenitor cells are cultured 10-12 days in a semi-solid methylcellulose medium supplemented with cytokines and nutrients. If progenitors are multipotents, CFU-GEMM are obtained or at least CFU-GM. If CFU-M, CFU-E, BFU-E or other colonies are preferentially isolated, it means that studied progenitor cells are not multipotents.

The long-term culture initiating cell assay (LTC-IC) allows to estimate the capacity of hematopoietic progenitors to produce myeloid progeny thanks to a 5-12 weeks culture system (Liu et al. 2013). A feeder layer is obtained by coating adherent mouse bone marrow mesenchymal or stromal cells mitotically inactivated by irradiation. This feeder layer is genetically engineered to produce granulocyte-colony stimulating growth factor, human interleukin-3 (IL-3) and human stem cell factor. It provides a bone marrow like environment that secretes stromal substrates (Hogge et al. 1996). The long term colony-initiating cell (LTC-IC) is an immature cell defined by its capacity to produce colony forming cells (CFCs) after a long time of culture superior to five weeks on the above stroma in a minimal cytokine cocktail. During this time, most of the short term CFCs from the initial pool of progenitor cells disappear and the new produced CFCs are inevitably derived from some LTC-ICs.

## 4.2) IN VIVO DETERMINATION OF LONG TERM RECONSTITUTION CAPACITY OF TRANSDUCED CELLS

Despite the practical interests of *in vitro* assays to evaluate differentiation and proliferation of some tested cells independently from their self-renewal capacity, *in vivo* transplantation is a gold standard for assaying stem cell properties. Although competitive repopulation unit assays can be performed by transplanting tested mouse cells in a congenic recipient, this is not possible for evident reasons in humans. Although non-human primates may offer an alternative, for evident ethical and practical reasons, there was a need for small animal models to estimate HSC capacity.

Therefore, xenogenic transplantation models have been developed using different strains of immunodeficient mice. The first hematopoietic progenitor transplantations were developed in severe combined immunodeficiency mice (SCID) (McCune, 1988) and beige/nude/xid (BNX) (Kamel-Reid, 1988) mice, which display defects in their lymphoid lineages.

More specifically, SCID mice derived from the BALB/c C.B.-17strain (Leblond et al. 1997) carry a DNA dependent protein kinase (DNA PK) mutation that impairs rearrangement of immunoglobulin and T cell antigen receptor genes. In spite of the high level of NK cells in these mice, a part of human hematopoietic cells manages to engraft (Meyerrose et al. 2003). Nevertheless, human T cells derived from human HSC engraftment and hematopoietic humanization remain anergic in mice and thus less interesting for numerous use of this model (Tary-Lehmann et al. 1992).

The BNX mice were obtained by a triple mutation resulting in the reduction of the number of natural killer cells and impaired B and T lymphocytes functions. The 2year lifespan of this strain and its ability to quickly recover from sublethal radiation are two characteristics of BNX mice, which makes them superior as a model. Nevertheless, they are difficult to breed because of the necessity to use females heterozygous for the nude allele and the variability of the defects in their B cell lineage. Because of these issues, each recipient mouse must be screened before to be transplanted, a procedure that induces important cost and and is time consuming.

An improved immunodeficient mouse, the nonobese diabetic SCID strain (NOD/SCID) has been developed and presents a highest capacity of human cell engraftment because of improved defects in NK cells, macrophage function and complement system (Prochazka et al. 1992), (Shultz et al. 1995). Moreover, these mice are easy to breed in contrast to the BNX strain. However, in these mice the human immune system reconstitution of the T-cell lineages is not complete (Meyerrose et al. 2003) and mouse NK cells remain active which eventually leads to rejection of the graft (Doulatov et al. 2012).

As a consequence, during the past decade, NOD/SCID mice with either truncation (NOG) or deletion (NSG) in the IL-2 receptor common gamma chain were developed, resulting in mice with a complete absence of murine B, T and NK lineages. In parallel, Balb/c Rag-/- $\gamma$ c-/- mice have been developed. A comparison of these recent mouse strains showed an advantage for female NSG mice in case of small number of transplanted HSCs (McDermott et al. 2010).

85

Despite the fact that these models are the standard in hematopoietic progenitor transplantation, it was showed that the diversity/differentiation of human cells and their functionality are still below normal human ranges (Chen et al. 2009), (Shultz et al. 2007). Especially, myeloid differentiation is now very efficient with for instance almost no platelet production.

Thus, new immunodeficient mouse models have been recently developed in order to provide a better human environment that facilitates HSC engraftment and development. Two strategies have been explored: the mouse secretion of human growth factors and the improvement of cell-ligand or cell-cell interactions (Drake et al. 2012). For example, NSG-SGM3 mice able to secrete human SCF, GM-CSF and IL-3 (Billerbeck et al. 2011), Flavell and colleagues reported human immune system reconstitution, diversity and functionality increases by developing knock-in mice for human TPO (Rongvaux et al. 2011), GM-CSF, IL-3 (Willinger et al. 2011) and M-CSF (Rathinam et al. 2011). On the other hand, the engineering of HLA-A2 (Shultz et al. 2010) or NSG HLA-DR4 (Danner et al. 2011) transgenic mice expressing human major histocompatibility complex (MHC) genes have been reported to improve T cell functions in humanized mice.

Summarizing, new immunodeficient mouse models hold promises in the field of humanized models. Until now, the NSG mouse model offers large possibilities to verify stem cell properties of a pool of hematopoietic progenitors.

Figure 17 presents the current protocols applied to identify HSCs which are able to reconstitute the whole human hematopoietic lineage in mice. Immunodeficient new born mice are sub-lethally irradiated at mild radiative doses of three gray (Coulombel et al. 2004) and hematopoietic progenitor cells are injected in their liver (Traggiai et al. 2004). The progeny of long term repopulating cells are evaluated ten to twelve weeks after by identifying human CD45+ cells in the mouse bone marrow, spleen and thymus. The reconstituted hematopoietic lineages are characterized by cytometry in order to demonstrate that injected cells contained long term repopulating cells. Bone marrow isolated hematopoietic progenitor cells can be re-injected in secondary recipient mice to prove the self-renewal capacity of the cells (Broxmeyer

et al. 2008). Thanks to this protocol, the multipotency and the self-renewal of studied cells can be explored in order to confirm their stem cell status.



## Figure 17. Schematic representation of the reconstitution of an immunodeficient mice model with human hematopoietic progenitor cells.

Newborn immunodeficient mice received sublethal irradiation and were subsequently injected with hematopoietic progenitor cells into the fetal liver. After 10 to 12 weeks of reconstitution, the mice were sacrificed and analyzed for human cell engraftment and human cell phenotyping in the bone marrow, spleen and thymus. At this stage, the multipotency of the hematopoietic progenitor cells is evaluated. Bone marrow hematopoietic progenitors are isolated and reinjected in secondary recipient mice in order to explore their self-renewal potential.

## PART 3 – HUMAN T CELL LINEAGE

## 1) HUMAN T CELL DEVELOPMENT

## 1.1) EARLY STAGES OF T CELL DEVELOPMENT AND THYMOPOIESIS

The generation of T cell repertoire occurs during thymopoïesis by the differentiation of precursors, which migrate from bone marrow to thymus. The thymus provides a microenvironment that guides the T cell repertoire development stages to yield mature, self-tolerant mature T cells (Shah et al. 2014). Of note, the human thymus is also a host tissue for B cell progenitors (Weerkamp et al. 2005). Likewise HSC, most of our knowledge on T cell development has been obtained from genetically modified mouse. However, human and mouse T cell development display differences regarding the molecular pathway involved, the lineage phenotype and the T cell potentials (Den Braber et al. 2012). Here, we will focus on human T cell development because of our interest in using these cells in a therapeutic setting, Figure 18 describes human thymopoiesis.



#### Figure 18. Early stages of T cell development.

Schematic representation of human stem cell migration to the thymus and thymocyte development. For each differentiation stage phenotypic surface markers are indicated. HSPC= human stem progenitor cells; MLP = multipotent early lymphocyte progenitor, ETP= early thymocye progenitor, ISP= immature single positive T cell, DP = double positive, SP = mature single positive T cell.

Human multipotent early lymphoid progenitors (MLP) are included in the Lin-CD34+/CD38- (Terstappen et al. 1992), (Gore et al. 1991), (Van Dongen, 1985) bone marrow subpopulation. They preferentially differentiate into lymphoid lineages and are presumed to contain the thymic progenitors. The MLP capacity to differentiate either in T or B lineages depends on the age of the individual. The number of fetal MLPs engaged towards T and B lineage is balanced, whereas their T lymphoid potential decreases after birth and during childhood.

Six and colleagues (Six et al. 2007) proposed a common lymphoid precursor (CLP) population characterized by the Lin-CD34+CD10+CD24- expression. The CD24+ population has been reported to be B-lineage restricted, whereas the CD10+CD24- subset presented B, T and NK cell potentials.

The study of human fetal tissue identified а bone marrow CD34<sup>+</sup>CD45RA<sup>hi</sup>CD7<sup>+</sup> population never found in the hematopoietic fetal liver. This population is able to enter thymus parenchyma in ex vivo colonization assays (Haddad et al. 2006) and consists in the early T-lineage progenitors (ETP). Human ETPs are comprised in the CD4/CD8 double negative subpopulation. ETP development occurs by upregulation of CD7, CXCR4, CD5 and downregulation of CD10. The proT stage is identified by the following expression profile: CD34+/CD45RA+/CD7+; the progressive expression of CD5 allows the distinction between the CD5-proT1 subset and the CD5+ proT2 subset.

## 1.1.2) T LINEAGE COMMITMENT AND $\beta\mbox{-}SELECTION$

At the preT stage, the appearance of CD1a induces the T-cell commitment and the loss of capacity to differentiate into NK cells or DCs. This involves the initiation of T-cell receptor (TCR)  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  gene rearrangements (Blom et al. 1999). CD1a+CD34+ cells evolve into CD4+CD8+  $\alpha$ + $\beta$ + cells firstly by CD4 upregulation, followed by CD8  $\alpha$ + and then CD8  $\beta$ +. TCR  $\beta$ -selection is reported to occur in the CD4+CD8+  $\alpha$ + $\beta$ - and CD4+CD8+  $\alpha$ + $\beta$ + double positive (DP) sub-populations (Galy et al. 1993), (Spits et al. 1998). Some authors hypothesized that the TCR $\beta$  V-D-J recombination can occur in the CD4<sup>+</sup> immature single positive cells (ISP). ISP cells directly follow preT cells expressing CD4 but not yet CD8 (Vicente et al. 2010) and contain precursors for both the  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta$  T-cell lineages (Spits et al. 2002).

### 1.1.3) POSITIVE SELECTION

After TCR rearrangements,  $\alpha\beta$  T cells need to interact with low affinity with self-peptides complexed with MHC antigens expressed on thymic epithelial cells to survive. After this positive selection CD3+/-CD4+CD8+ double positive (DP) thymocytes differentiate into single positive CD4+ and CD8+ cells thanks to CD69 upregulation, RAG1 downregulation (Brandle et al. 1994), (Vanhecke et al. 1995) and other numerous cell marker variations (Spits et al. 2002).

## 1.1.4) RECENT THYMIC EMIGRANTS

After functional maturation, CD69 T cell expression decreases and T cells become CD45RO-/CD45RA+ (Vanhecke et al. 1995). Recent thymic emigrants (RTE) can be identified by their expression of CD3-TCR, CD45RA, CD27 and CD62-L (Spits et al. 2002). CD4+CD31+ (Kimmig et al. 2002) and CD8+CD103+ (McFarland et al. 2000) naïve T cells have not yet undergone cell division.

## 1.2) ROLE OF THE NOTCH1/DL-4 INTERACTION IN THYMOPOIESIS

Early T cell development depends on the interaction of thymocytes with the thymic microenvironment and essentially relies on the Notch-Ligand signaling pathways. Numerous Notch-Delta like ligands interactions have been reported to regulate and support thymopoiesis. We will focus on Notch-1/DL-4 interactions because of its importance in thymopoiesis, and the fact that recently new *in vitro* protocols were developed relying on Notch-1/DL-4 signaling supporting HSC differentiation into T progenitors (see Part 3 - 4.3)

Notch1 has been reported to be a major factor that induces the choice between T and B cell differentiation of MLPs (Radtke et al. 1999). Notch1 interplays with other

major factors such as IL-7, Wnt and CXCR4 to guide thymopoiesis until  $\beta$ -selection. Members of the Delta-like family are the physiological Notch1 ligands (Jaleco et al. 2001). DL-4 actively participates in the induction and the support of T cell commitment and maturation from double negative to double positive cells exclusively via interaction with Notch1 (Besseyrias et al. 2007). This interaction can promote TCR $\beta$  rearrangement and progression to the double positive stages. The exclusive interaction between DL-4 with Notch 1 is explained by the tissue specific compartmentalization of Delta like family members, this allows specificity in cell fate determination by the Notch signaling pathways (Besseyrias et al. 2007).

## 2) ADULT PERIPHERAL BLOOD T CELL PHENOTYPE, FUNCTION AND SIGNALLING

After T cell maturation in thymus, mature CD4+ and CD8+ SP T cells migrate to the peripheral blood. The PB T cell pool can be subdivided into different T cell subpopulations.

## 2.1) PERIPHERAL BLOOD T CELL SUBPOPULATIONS

Recent thymic emigrant CD4+ and CD8+ single positive T cells migrate from thymus to peripheral blood and lymphoid organs and maturate in their respective subsets.

## 2.1.1) CD4+ T CELL SUBSETS

CD4+ T cell subsets play an essential role in regulating immune response through cytokine secretions and activation of cells from the innate immune system such as B lymphocytes and cytotoxic T cells. CD4+ T cells also mediate the suppression of immune reaction and inflammation.

## 2.1.1.1) NAÏVE CD4+ T CELLS

After they interact with antigen-MHC complexes, naïve CD4+ T cells are activated and are induced into differentiation mediated by the cytokine microenvironment. Naïve CD4+T cells can be identified by the following phenotype: CCR7+CD45RA+CD27+CD28+ (Okada et al. 2008).

Next to the well-known T-helper 1 (Th1) and 2 (Th2) cells, T-helper 17 (Th17), T-helper 9 (Th9), follicular helper T cell (Tfh), induced T regulatory cells (iTreg) and regulatory type 1 cells (Tr1) constitute the CD4+ T cell subsets. Differentiation into each of these subtypes depends on cytokine secretion, transcription factors and antigen concentrations (Luckheeram et al. 2012; Table 6).

CD4+ T cell subset	Differentiation factors	Functions and involvements	Secretion
Th1	IL-12, IFNγ, T bet, STAT1/4, Runx 3, Eomesodermin, Hlx	Elimination of intracellular pathogens and organ-specific auto- immunity	IFNγ, lymphotoxin α, IL-2
Th2	IL-4, IL-2 GATA3, STAT3/5/6, Gfi-1, c-Maf, IRF4	Immune response against extracellular parasites and development of allergic diseases such as asthma.	IL-4/5/9/13/10/25, amphiregulin
Th17	IL-6, IL-21, IL-23, TGF-b RORγt, STAT3, RORα, Runx1, Batf, IRF4, AHR	Immune response against extracellular bacteria and fungi, generation of auto-immune diseases.	IL-17A/17F/21/22
Th9	TGF-β, IL-4 IRF4	Pro-inflammatory, Development of allergic diseases such as asthma.	IL-9
Tfh	IL-6, IL-21 Bcl6, STAT3	Humoral immunity mediation, Plasmocytes formation, long live B memory cell development	IFNγ, IL-4/10
iTreg	TGF-β, IL-2 FOXP3, Smad2/3, STAT5, NFAT	Maintenance of immunologic tolerance to self and foreign antigens, protection against	IL-10/35, TGF-β, prostaglandin E2,
Tr1	IL-27, IL-10 c-Maf, AHR	immunopathologies, dual role in cancer.	adenosine

Table 6. Differentiation factors and functions of each CD4+ T cell subpopulations.(Jabeen et al. 2012), (Whiteside et al. 2012), (Luckheeram et al. 2012)

### 2.1.1.2) MEMORY CD4+ T CELLS

The CD4+ memory T cell generation begins in secondary lymphoid organs by the binding of the T cell antigen receptor (TCR) on naïve T cells to major histocompatibility class II (MHCII) on antigen presenting cells (APCs) (Davis et al. 1990). Through CD28 and other costimulatory signaling, naïve CD4+ T cells divide and become effector cell lymphoblasts (Jenkins et al. 2001), (Swain et al. 1990) as described previously. On average 90% of these effector cells die during a one to two week contraction phase. Surviving cells become long-lived memory cells. The major part of these cells stay quiescent in absence of activation by a MHCII ligand (Seder et al. 2003). Memory CD4+ T cell is a heterogeneous population that contains at least effector memory (T<sub>EM</sub>) and central memory T cell (T<sub>CM</sub>) subpopulations (Sallusto et al. 2004). These memory T cells can be characterized by the expression of CD45RO. Nevertheless, the initial pathway of activation described by Sallusto and colleagues (Sallusto et al. 2004) (lezzi et al. 2001): naïve CD4+ T cell  $\rightarrow$  CD45RO+ noneffector/T<sub>CM</sub>  $\rightarrow$  effector and T<sub>EM</sub> cells is still discussed, some authors suggesting that this pathway is not unidirectional and that T<sub>EM</sub> could be produced at different time of CD4+ T cell activation (Song et al. 2005). CD4+ memory T cell subsets and their characteristics are represented Figure 19.

## 2.1.1.2.1) CENTRAL MEMORY CD4+ T CELLS (T<sub>CM</sub>)

CD4+  $T_{CM}$  cells migrate to the lymph nodes and mucosal lymphoid organs through their expression of CD62-L and CCR7. Indeed,  $T_{CM}$  CD4+ cells present the following phenotype: CD28+CCR7+CCR5-. CXCR5, CXCR3 and CCR4 are additionally expressed on non-polarized, preTh1 and preTh2  $T_{CM}$  subsets respectively.

CD4+  $T_{CM}$  cells do not produce specific cytokines after TCR stimulation, they secrete IL-2 that allows their expansion and acquire effector lymphokine production at different step of activation (Sallusto et al. 2004), (Song et al. 2005).

## 2.1.1.2.2) EFFECTOR MEMORY CD4+ T CELLS (T<sub>EM</sub>)

CD4+  $T_{EM}$  cells can migrate to sites of inflammation by expressing homing receptors on their surface. After being activated by TCR stimulation, they are able to secrete IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-5 and IL-17 which are microbicidal or pro-inflammatory cytokines (Pepper et al. 2011).

CD4+  $T_{EM}$  cells are characterized by the expression of CD28 and CCR5 and the absence of CCR7 (Pitcher et al. 2002). The more  $T_{EM}$  cells are antigen experienced, the more they secrete IFN- $\gamma$ , the less they proliferate and survive.



**Figure 19.** Phenotypes and characteristics of human CD4+ memory T cell subsets. Adapted from (Appay et al. 2008) and (Seder et al. 2003). CD4+ central memory T cells (TCM) express CCR7 and CD45RO markers, they are characterized by a long lifespan, their capacity to migrate until secondary lymphoid organs, their secretion of IL-2 and thus their expansion and frequency in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). Effector memory T cells are CCR7-, they can express both CD45RA and CD45RO, they secrete IFN- $\gamma$  in relation to their antigen experience.

2.1.2) CD8+ T CELLS

## 2.1.2.1) FROM CD8+ NAÏVE TO MEMORY T CELLS

Type 1 immune responses are induced in case of virus or intracellular bacteria infection. During these responses, CD8+ T cells differentiate into cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) that secrete cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF (Tumor necrosis factor). CTLs kill infected cells through perforin and granzyme pathways. CD8+ T cells are an important part of the adaptative immunity against tumors and intracellular pathogens.

Adaptive immune response consists in distinct phases: the recognition of antigen, the activation of lymphocytes with a clonal expansion, the effector phase with the elimination of antigen, the contraction phase with the return to homeostasis and the memory cell survival (Figure 20). During the infection, a dendritic cell (DC) presents an antigen to naïve T lymphocytes by a MHC class I / TCR interaction. This first exposure triggers the memory T cell priming (Jabbari et al. 2006), (Mempel et al. 2004). The antigen amount affects the number of recruited CD8+ T cell (Prlic et al. 2006), (Prlic et al. 2007) which need to divide at least seven times in order to survive (Kaech et al. 2001). It is an "all or nothing" phenomenon where cells which divide several times initiate a developmental program to differentiate in a first time in cytotoxic T cells (CTLs).

After the CD8+ T cell activation, a transient expression of CD40 has been observed. Similarly to the B cell memory mechanism, CD4+ T cells help CD8+ memory T cell generation thanks to a CD40L/CD40 interaction (Hamilton et al. 2006), (Tanchot et al. 2003). Although a CD8+ T cell priming might be possible without CD4+ T cell help, this help is necessary for a robust secondary response. Indeed, in absence of CD4+ T cell, the pro-apoptotic factor TRAIL is upregulated inducing CD8+ T cells to die (Surh et al. 2006).



## Figure 20. Schematic representation of CD8+ T cell differentiation.

1) After priming, at least 7 divisions independent from antigen activation are needed for CD8+ T cell survival. 2) CD8+ T cell survival during the contraction phase is allowed by  $\gamma$ c cytokines. 3) Type I IFN induce IL-15 production and secretion by dendritic cells (DCs), 4) IL-15 favors clonal expansion of CD8+T cells and 5) associated to IL-7 it support the CD8+ memory T cell survival. 6) IL-2 regulates the selection of memory CD8+ T cells during the contraction phase.7) Metabolism switch between anabolic and catabolic stages of CD8+ T cells regulate the CD8+ T cell differentiation.

## 2.1.2.2) MEMORY CD8+ T CELLS

## 2.1.2.2.1) MOLECULAR OVERVIEW OF MEMORY CD8+T CELL GENERATION

The generation of CD8+ memory T cells is an area of intense research and are better characterized than CD4+ memory T cells. Figure 20 represents the majors signalling pathway involved in CD8+ memory T cell generation.

The number of CD8+ memory T cells generated is correlated with the CTLs number at the immune response peak and CD8+ T cells are able to continue dividing in the absence of a continual antigenic exposure (Kaech et al. 2001), (Jabbari et al. 2006), (Prlic et al. 2007).

Growth factors and soluble inflammatory factors like cytokines are involved in CD8+ memory T cell generation. First, IL15 contributes to the clonal expansion and later allows the maintenance of CD8+ T cell memory thanks to a transpresentation by DCs to CD8+ T cells. It also upregulates Bcl2 which is indispensable for memory maintenance (Villinger et al. 2004), (Burkett et al. 2003). Secondly, IL7 is necessary for the formation of a stable pool of CD8+ memory T cells, it allows survival and maintenance of CD8+ memory T cells (D'Cruz et al. 2009), (Schluns et al. 2003). Finally, the role of IL-2 is still discussed. Indeed, IL-2 is necessary for a robust secondary response but it upregulates pro-apoptotic factors such as Fas, Fas-L and down regulates anti-apoptotic factors like Bcl2, and Bcl-XI. CD4+ T cells seems to be the main producer of the IL-2 involved in CD8+ memory T cell generation (D'Cruz et al. 2009), (Blachere et al. 2006), (Osborne et al. 2010), (Williams et al. 2006). IFN $\gamma$ works with IL2 in driving the contraction phase. It might regulate the transition between the clonal expansion and the contraction phase by an induction of IL15. Besides, type I IFN (IFN $\alpha/\beta$ ) are potent inducers of IL15 and facilitate memory T cell CD8 generation upregulating the IL15 production and the IL2 mRNA expression in activated DCs (Agarwal et al. 2009), (Xiao et al. 2009).

Interestingly, some authors describe a metabolic switch in CD8+ memory T cell generation. Indeed, naïve cells present a catabolic metabolism. Then, cytokines

and antigen presentation induce an anabolism activation by a protein-kinase enzyme mTORC1 (mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1) of effector T cells. The reversal switch from anabolism to catabolism takes place during CD8+ memory T cell generation (Araki et al. 2009), (Pearce et al. 2009), (Prlic et al. 2009).

All these molecules involved in CD8+ memory T cell generation could be interesting targets in development of vaccine and immunotherapeutic strategies in order to boost memory T cell function.

## 2.1.2.2.2) MEMORY CD8+ T CELL SUBSETS

Likewise CD4+ T cells, CD8+ memory T cells are divided in  $T_{CM}$  and  $T_{EM}$  cells. A third subset has been identified as the tissue resident memory T ( $T_{RM}$ ) cells. Although CD8+  $T_{CM}$  and  $T_{EM}$  cells display the same phenotypes as CD4+ memory subsets, their frequency in peripheral blood and their ability to proliferate depend on their antigen activation status (Figure 21). Both  $T_{CM}$  and  $T_{EM}$  cell subsets circulate in peripheral blood and some authors report that they might interconvert when they pass through lymphoid or non-lymphoid tissues (Kaech et al. 2007), (Jameson et al. 2009). Contrarly to CD4+ memory T cells, both CD8+  $T_{EM}$  and  $T_{CM}$  cells present cytolytic and cytokine production capacity (Appay et al. 2008), (Seder et al. 2003).

 $T_{RM}$  cells have been reported to reside for a long time in brain and mucosal tissues, they are identified by the CD103<sup>hi</sup>CD69<sup>hi</sup>CD27<sup>lo</sup>CD62L<sup>lo</sup> phenotype and they can produce granzyme B. Thus, they present effector and cytotoxic capacities and they do not proliferate and migrate a lot. Similarly to CD8+  $T_{EM}$  cells,  $T_{RM}$  cells produce less IL-2 than TCM cells (Kaech et al. 2012). During a secondary infection,  $T_{EM}$  and  $T_{RM}$  cells act in first-line with effector functions against pathogen entry, then,  $T_{CM}$  generate larger number of secondary effector cells than during primary infection in a shorter time (Kaech et al. 2012).



## Figure 21. Phenotypes and characteristics of major human CD8+ memory T cell subsets.

Adapted from (Appay et al. 2008) and (Seder et al. 2003). CD8+ central memory T cells ( $T_{CM}$ ) express CCR7 and CD45RO markers, they are characterized by a long lifespan, their capacity to migrate until secondary lymphoid organs, their secretion of IL-2 and thus they proliferate better in absence of antigen. Effector memory T cells,  $T_{EM}$ , are CCR7-, they can express both CD45RA and CD45RO, they have cytolytic and cytokine production capacity similar or a little highest than  $T_{CM}$  depending on the molecules and antigens. They proliferate better in presence of viral antigen.

## 2.2) T CELL ACTIVATION PATHWAYS

## 2.2.1) TCR ACTIVATION AND IN VITRO APPLICATIONS

More than thirty years ago, several groups identified the T cell antigen receptor (Haskins, 1984). Then, the TCR was identified as a complex non-covalently associating the variable  $\alpha\beta$  chain with the CD3 protein (Smith-Garvin et al. 2009). CD3 transduces signals via its immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) thanks to their phosphorylation by src protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs).

Activation through the TCR is insufficient in absence of co-stimulation. Indeed, the co-ligation of other cell surface receptors allows T cell activation. CD28 appeared to be one of the most efficient co-ligands promoting T cell proliferation, survival, cytokine production and metabolism (Acuto et al. 2003) via phosphoinositide 3 kinase

(PI3K) activation. Figure 22 presents an overview of the TCR activation pathway where the major Ras, NK-kB and calcium pathways are involved.

An in vitro activation protocol based on anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 microbeads and IL-2 activation could be sufficient to obtain rapidly TCR activated T cells. Nevertheless, more natural protocols based on APC layers are needed for instance in case of specific works on TCR activation modalities. Of importance for clinical applications, TCR stimulation induce a severe skewing of T cells that could be dramatic for example in the clinical context of gene transfer protocols (Verhoeyen et al. 2003), (Marktel et al. 2003).



**Figure 22. Overview of the TCR activation pathway.** (From Cell Signaling technology manual).

Because of the alteration of the T populations with *in vitro* TCR stimulation of T cells evocated before, the use of survival cytokines such as IL-2 or IL-7 has been developed to stimulate T cells without altering the T cell repertoire functionality (Cavalieri et al. 2003), (Verhoeyen et al. 2003), (Ducrey-Rundquist et al. 2002), (Korin et al. 1999). IL-7 have been attractive because of its role in supporting T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation (Fry et al. 2001), (Rathmell et al. 2001). Besides, IL-7 administration might improve immune reconstitution after allogenic bone marrow transplantation in mouse (Alpdogan et al. 2001). As a consequence, IL-7 stimulation of T cells could be useful to accelerate T cell reconstitution in the fields of bone marrow transplantation, chemotherapy and HIV infection, all marked by reduced T cell numbers. Moreover, the IL-7 receptor belongs to the  $\gamma$ -chain receptor family and is present on the whole T lineage from thymocytes to mature naïve and memory CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Fukui et al. 1997).

Finally, IL-7 treatment of T cells allow their proliferation and survival without inducing their switch between naïve and memory subsets (Webb et al. 1999), (Soares et al. 1998) and only inducing a slight upregulation of CD25, CD98, CD71, CD11a and CD40-L much lower than obtain upon a TCR stimulation (Armitage et al. 1990).

## 3) UMBILICAL CORD BLOOD T CELLS, A NAÏVE ENRICHED T CELL SUBPOPULATION

Some authors have reported that UCB contains a higher number of T, NK and B cells than adult peripheral blood. Of importance, UCB T cells are essentially naïve and immature and express for the vast majority the CD45RA+/CD45RO-/CD25-/CD69- phenotype. In addition, they proliferate more vigorously and secrete less cytokines as compared to adult peripheral blood (Szabolcs et al. 2003).

In the context of transplantation of cells from UCB, it has been demonstrated that UCB transplants induce less acute and chronic GVHD than bone marrow

transplants (Gluckman et al. 1995), (Rubinstein et al. 1998), (Rocha et al. 2001), (Harris et al. 1994). This might be due to a reduction of cytolytic function of UCB T cells (Muench et al. 1994), (Keever et al. 1995). This UCB property add some arguments in favor of the clinical relevance of UCB T cells for allogeneic transplantation.

Human naïve UCB CD4+T cells can be subdivided into two subsets, the CD31+ subset are suggested to be included in the recent thymic emigrant population whereas the CD31- population might be generate by differentiation of the CD31+ subpopulation after homeostatic cell division (Avezedo et al. 2009), (Kimmig et al. 2002).

## 4) T CELL GENE THERAPY AND IMMUNOTHERAPY

## 4.1) T CELL GENE TRANSFER FOR EFFECTIVE TREATMENT OF INHERITED OR ACQUIRED DISEASES

One of the major advantages of using peripheral blood T cells is that they are more accessible for genetic modification than other targets such as HSCs. Moreover, they can be isolated in high amounts. T cells most likely have a lower risk of transformation, as up to now leukemia was not observed in T cell-based gene therapies (Blaese et al. 1995), (Bordignon et al. 1995), (Deeks et al. 2002). Of importance, the naïve T-cell subset, which responds to a novel antigen, has a long-term life span and persists over years in the patients (see part 3). Thus, a longterm-correction can be envisaged by T-cell gene therapy.

Gene transfer into T lymphocytes may allow the treatment of several genetic dysfunctions of the hematopoietic system, such as severe combined immunodeficiency (Blaese et al. 1995), (Bordignon et al. 1995), and the development of novel therapeutic strategies for diseases such as cancers and for acquired diseases such as acquired immunodeficiency infection (AIDS) (Buchschacher et al. 2001).

ADA deficient SCID was the first inherited disease investigated for T cell gene therapy because of a postulated survival advantage for gene corrected T lymphocytes. Aiuti and colleagues showed immune reconstitution in ADA-SCID patients after T-cell gene therapy (Aiuti 2002). Patients received multiple infusions of autologous retroviral vector transduced peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBLs). Discontinuation of ADA replacement therapy led then to a selective growth of the infused ADA expressing lymphocytes, which eventually replaced the non-transduced T-cell population for nearly a 100%. These ADA corrected T cells were capable of responding to novel antigens and represented a new polyclonal T-cell repertoire. Thus PBL-ADA gene therapy leads to sustained T-cell functions in the absence of enzyme therapy. T cells of Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome (WAS) patients were also functionally corrected by transduction with lentiviral vector encoding WAS protein (Dupre et al. 2004).

In the treatment of several blood cancers T cell, gene therapy has now proven to correct severe side effects of bone marrow transplantation (Allo-BMT) (Szydlo et al. 1997), (Vigorito et al. 1998). Treatment with allogenic T cells as offers the possibility of cure for patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) (Horowitz et al. 1990). The specificity of this effect, called graft versus leukemia effect (GVL) is not fully understood. Frequently, but not always, GVL is associated with graft versus host disease (GVHD). The latter is a very severe side effect of allogenic bone marrow transplantation, mediated by allospecific T cells within the graft. A strategy for the prevention of GVHD, now starting to be implemented, is the depletion of the donor T cells in vivo following infusion into the recipient in cases where GVDH becomes severe. This can be achieved by gene transfer of a suicide gene such as for example herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase into the T cell before infusion. Should the need for eradication of these cells arise, administration of the drug ganciclovir will induce apoptotic death of transduced T cells. This has already proven to be effective in the treatment of GVHD in clinical trials (Bondanza et al. 2006), (Bonini et al. 1997), (Tiberghien et al. 2001).

An important anti-cancer strategy based on the transfer of tumor-specific T cell receptor (TCR) genes into patient T cells has been proven successful in the clinic (Morgan et al. 2006). More recently, a radically different strategy consisting of introducing a coding sequence for a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) allowed to confer the desired specificity for a cancer antigen to T cells. Recent case reports from on-going clinical trials have described durable rejection of previously refractory B-cell malignancy in patients after CD19-directed CAR therapy (Kalos et al. 2011), (Kochenderfer et al. 2010). Also for acquired diseases such as AIDS who are in demand of novels therapies, T cell gene therapy might be an important option.

Limitations of Highly Active Anti-Retroviral Therapy (HAART) such as appearance of drug-resistant HIV variants and toxicity show that patients need novel additional immune therapies (Finzi et al. 1997). Therefore, anti-HIV T cell gene therapy might be an option since it would allow protecting the major reservoir, the CD4+ T cells, against HIV infection and at the same time could protect HIV specific memory T cells, which are preferentially attacked by HIV. An HIV-1 based lentiviral vector was engineered expressing an HIV envelope antisense that highly protected T cells from healthy and infected patients against HIV infection (Braun et al. 2005), (Humeau et al. 2004).

These kind of therapies offer a solution for patients either who do not respond any more to anti-retroviral therapy in case of HIV infection or in case of diseases lacking of treatment. Table 7 presents an overview of T cell based gene therapy and immunotherapy.

Table 7. Overview of T cell based gene therapy and immunotherapy.(Adapted from Frecha et al. 2010) ADA. Adenosine deaminase, WAS. Wiskott Aldrich<br/>syndrome.

Disease	Treatment strategy	Ref.
ADA immunodeficiency	ADA cDNA gene transfer	(Aiuti et al. 2002)
WAS immunodeficiency	WAS cDNA gene transfer	(Dupre et al. 2004)
Chronic myeloid leukemia	Suicide gene transfer in allogenic T cells	(Qasim et al. 2007), (Bondanza et al. 2006), (Tiberghien et al. 2001), (Bonini et al. 1997)
Tumors – melanoma	Tumor specific TCR gene transfer in autologous T cells	(Bobisse et al. 2009) (Stanislawski et al. 2001), (Circosta et al. 2009)
AIDS	HIV env glycoprotein antisense RNA transfer / Vectors encoding for several shRNAs directed against HIV genes, for anti-HIV peptide blocking HIV cell entry, for HIV restriction factors	(Levine et al. 2006), (Wang et al. 2009), (Brake et al. 2008), (Egelhofer; 2004), (Hildinger et al. 2001) (Neagu et al. 2009), (Sakuma et al. 2007)

# 4.2) RESTRICTION IN LV GENE TRANSFER OF T CELLS AND HOW TO OVERCOME THEM

As mentioned above (See Introduction Part I) a major limitation of the generally used VSVG-LVs is its inability to govern efficient gene transfer into quiescent cells such as primary T cells and B cells, which hampers their application for gene therapy and immunotherapy (Frecha et al. 2008), (Frecha et al. 2009). That the parental virus, HIV-1, can enter into resting T-lymphocytes but does not replicate, has been attributed to multiple post-entry blocks as well as several cellular restriction factors (Strebel et al. 2009). It has been reported that inducing the resting T cells to enter into the G<sub>1b</sub> phase of the cell cycle without triggering cell division could render them permissive to transduction with HIV-1-vectors (Maurice et al. 2002). Our group and others have reported that inducing cell cycle entry into G<sub>1b</sub> via stimulation through the TCR allows efficient transduction of adult naïve T cells by HIV-1-based vectors (Korin et al. 1998), (Maurice et al. 2002). However, TCR-stimulation of T cells alters their half-life and immune-competence, results in an inversion of the CD4/CD8 ratio, and is associated with loss of naïve T cell subsets and a skewed TCR repertoire (Verhoeyen et al. 2003), (Marktel et al. 2003), (Ferrand et al. 2000).

Of note, up to now T cell gene therapy trials were based on TCR-mediated stimulation of T cells. Protocols were developed allowing LV transduction of T cells in the absence of TCR triggering. It was shown that IL-7, but also IL-2 promoted long-term survival of T lymphocytes (Fry et al. 2001), (Geiselhart et al. 2001). Interestingly, exposure of adult T cells to the cytokines IL-2 and IL-7 renders them permissive to lentiviral transduction in the absence of TCR activation (Cavalieri et al. 2003), (Ducrey-Runquist et al. 2002). These cytokine-treated T cells move out of  $G_0$  into the  $G_{1b}$  phase of the cell cycle, the phase in which T cells are susceptible to LV transduction, but do not yet proliferate. Clearly, IL-2 and IL-7 stimulation allowing lentiviral T-cell transduction could preserve a functional T-cell repertoire and maintain an appropriate proportion of naïve and memory CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Cavalieri et al. 2003).

Our group developed a strategy for LV mediated targeting by specific vectormediated target cell activation. Our targeting strategy consists of an interaction of a ligand displayed on the surface of the vector, with its specific receptor thereby inducing signalling and stimulation of the target cells. A single-chain antibody variable fragment (scFv) derived from the anti-CD3 OKT3 monoclonal antibody, which recognises and activates the T cell receptor, was fused to the amino-terminus of the SU subunit of the MLV envelope glycoprotein. Stimulation by this vector was sufficient to allow gene transfer in up to 48% of the lymphocytes, i.e., 100-fold more than the performance of unmodified lentiviral vectors in non-activated T cells (Maurice et al. 2002). To transduce resting T cells while conserving their phenotype, human IL-7 gene was fused to the amino-terminus of the MLV envelope glycoprotein. IL-7 displaying lenti-vectors allowed efficient transduction, up to 40%, of naïve CD4+ T cells as well as memory CD4+ T cells allowing to maintain the functional characteristics of the naïve T cells (Verhoeyen et al. 2003).

Moreover, our group engineered a novel lentiviral vector pseudotype incorporating measles virus (MV) glycoproteins H and F on their surface (MV-LVs) with the objective to conserve the measles virus tropism for T and B cellsIndeed, these MV-LVs allowed efficient transduction through the MV receptors SLAM and CD46, both present on blood T and B lymphocytes (Frecha et al. 2008a), (Frecha et al. 2008b).

Importantly, a single exposure to H/F-LVs allowed efficient stable gene transfer of quiescent T cells, which are not permissive for classical VSVG-LVs. Indeed, high-level transduction was achieved for resting memory (50%) and naïve T cells (11%) with H/F-LVs. Especially the naïve T cell population is of high interest since these are the long-lived cells in vivo which may induce a long-term gene correction. Unexpectedly, although classical lentiviral transduction demands at least cell-cycle entry into the G<sub>1b</sub> phase of the cell cycle, H/F-LVs did not even induce cell-cycle entry upon transduction in either quiescent T or B cells (Frecha et al. 2008), (Frecha et al. 2009). Importantly, the H/F-LV-mediated gene transfer conserved the naïve and memory phenotypes of transduced resting T cells and B cells.

As we previously detailed, allogeneic HSCT is an effective treatment for a wide range of malignant and immune diseases.

## 5.1) ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY RECONSTITUTION

HSCT was firstly restricted to patients with HLA-matching donors. Several advances allows to offer some possibilities to patients lacking HLA-identical donor, notably by injecting highly purified CD34+ cells which present partially HLAmismatches. Although the hematopoiesis restoration is relatively rapid after HSCT, the immune system functionality recovery is much longer. After HSCT, the major concern is to survive during the prolonged immunodeficiency phase, concerning especially slow T cell lineage reconstitution. Opportunistic infections can lead to death in the first hundred days after HSCT (Ruggeri et al. 2011). Indeed, after HSCT, T cell repertoire regeneration is allowed by T cell production from the new thymus derived from donor stem cells (Wils et al. 2007), (Wils et al. 2005). In contrast to other hematopoietic lineages, T lineage recovery could take a long time with an induced reduction of both cell number and activity (Mackall et al. 1995), (Douek et al. 2000), (Storek et al. 2008). Phenotypically mature T cells have been reported to recover in one- to two months, nevertheless T cell neogenesis has been evidenced after six months and normal levels of adult thymic functions were only recovered more than six months after HSCT (Hochberg et al. 2001). Of importance, the number of naïve T cell and T<sub>CM</sub> may never reach pre-transplant levels (Komanduri et al. 2007)

Several factors have been evaluated in order to understand the reasons of this recovery delay. For example, the type of conditioning regimen, GVHD, infectious disease or inflammatory status and the age of patients notably in connection with the thymic involution process might play a role in this delay (Krenger et al. 2011), (Castermans et al. 2011).

107
Therefore, several strategies to promote and accelerate T-lineage reconstitution are evaluated in order to decrease the long-time of immune system recovery and thus HSCT morbidity. It exists a large number of strategies depending on the T cell recovery pathways presented Figure 23.



### Figure 23. T cell regenerative pathways after allogeneic HSCT.

(From Krenger et al. 2011). Conditioning regimens reduce the whole T lineage in patients. After HSCT, two mechanisms are involved in T cell regeneration. Initially, two T cell populations can expand in response to host signals or antigens independently from the thymus compartment: residual host T cells during a non T cell depleted (TCD) stem cell allograft and mature donor T cells resulting from a donor lymphocyte infusion (DLI) in association to alloreactive donor T cells that mediate GVHD. These firstly recovered T cell populations have been reported to be altered in their memory conversion and their TCR repertoire. Secondly, a new T cell population can be regenerated in a thymus-dependent pathway during a 12 to 24 month process. The host thymus stromal cells allow the differentiation of thymic immigrants into the mature T lineage and contribute in a major part of the regeneration of long life T cells with a diverse TCR repertoire.

### 5.2) ENHANCING OF THYMUS INDEPENDENT T CELL RECOVERY

Two major strategies have been developed to accelerate the thymus independent T cell recovery presented in Figure 23.

Some authors have developed *ex vivo* depletion of alloreactive donor T cells for example by using monoclonal antibodies against activated T cell surface molecules that are upregulated such as CD25, CD69, CD71, CD137 (Samarasinghe et al. 2010), (Hartwig et al. 2006), (Solomon et al. 2005), (Fehse et al. 2000a). This approach has been demonstrated to efficiently prevent GVHD in preclinical models and to accelerate immune recovery after HSCT in numerous preclinical and clinical works (Koh et al. 2002), (Fehse et al. 2000b) (Godfrey et al. 2004), (Solomon et al. 2005), (Amrolia et al. 2006). Albon and colleagues (Albon et al. 2013) have recently developed a close system methodology based on the use of cell differentiation bags and a combined immunomagnetic depletion of alloreactive CD25/CD71 T cells. Nevertheless, these improvements in allo-depletion protocols have not yet been evaluated in children.

On the other hand, the injection of pathogen specific T cells have been investigated in order to reduce the time of immune recovery against specific virus and fungi. *In vitro* expansion of pathogen specific CTLs has been developed in order to perform adoptive immunotherapy. The monitoring of these pathogen specific T cell reconstitution after HSCT can be performed thanks to PBMC intracellular cytokine staining or Enzyme linked immunosorbent spot assay or MHC-multimer staining (Fuji et al. 2013). CMV-, EBV-, anti-aspergillus specific CTLs have become interesting therapeutic options in the prevention and treatment of post-transplant CMV pneumonia (Walter et al. 1995), EBV lymphoproliferative diseases (Rooney et al. 1998) and lung infections caused by fungi (Tramsen et al. 2009).

Numerous clinical trials have demonstrated the efficiency and safety of these adoptive immunotherapies notably in the context of viral diseases (Fuji et al. 2011). Nevertheless, the monospecificity of these *in vitro* generated pathogen specific T cells offers a limitation in patient's immune protection. Indeed, after HSCT patients may suffer from many infectious diseases because of their immunodeficiency; and

since these adoptive immunotherapies are restricted to few pathogens, they do not provide a complete immune system recovery.

## 5.3) ENHANCING OF THYMUS DEPENDENT T CELL RECOVERY AND ADOPTIVE TRANSFER OF IN VITRO GENERATED T CELLS PRECURSORS

Strategies designed to accelerate thymus dependent T cell recovery are promising approaches for enhancing the generation of a mature T cell diverse repertoire derived from the donor cells.

First, enhancing of thymic T cell development and the support of thymic tissues is allowed by cytokines, hormones and growth factors.

IL-7 administration after HSCT has been described in mouse models to improve thymopoiesis and homeostatic proliferation of T cells derived from the infused HSCs (Fry et al. 2001), (Alpdogan et al. 2003a). Nevertheless, the immune restorative capacity of IL-7 on thymopoiesis is still discussed (Beq et al. 2006). The major disadvantage of IL-7 therapy in HSCT patients could be a greater risk of acute GVHD because of the proliferation capacity of this cytokine (Dean et al. 2008). In the case of HSCT with HLA-mismatches, Andre-Schmutz and colleagues (Andre-Schmutz et al. 2004) demonstrated that IL-7 administration could have a favourable role on T cell development. According to these studies, IL-7 treatments after HSCT should be limited to T cell-depleted allografts or autologous transplants.

Moreover, the role of numerous hormones in thymic involution has been evidenced. Gonadal steroid suppression could allow to prevent thymic involution. The sex-steroid blocking by LHRH-agonists has been described to accelerate lymphocyte recovery, to improve peripheral T cell survival and function without inducing GVHD and maintaining Graft-versus-leukemia effect (Sutherland et al. 2008). In addition, growth hormone (GH) and Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) administration in HSC transplanted patients have been described as interesting factors in restoring thymopoiesis after HSCT (Chu et al. 2008), (Alpdogan et al. 2003b), (Napolitano et al. 2008). Of importance, IGF-1 administration allows a successful thymopoiesis restoration in a child six months after HSCT (Ma et al. 2010), (Wendorff et al. 2010).

Furthermore, IL-22 (Dudakov et al. 2012) and fibroblast growth factor 7 (FGF-7) administration after HSCT have been reported to provide the regeneration of thymic microenvironment after conditioning regimens and enhance thymopoiesis (Stiff et al. 2006).

Alternatively, T cell reconstitution can be enhanced by *in vitro* generation of T cell precursors. Some authors developed Notch based culture system in order to in vitro differentiate HSCs in T cell progenitors (Schmitt et al. 2002), (Ohishi et al. 2002), (Reimann et al. 2012). These systems allow the generation of murine and human T cell lineage from cord blood or bone marrow precursors differentiated on a OP-9-Delta-Like 1 cell layer culture system (Reimann et al. 2010), (Ohishi et al. 2002). In 2006, Lefort and colleagues (Lefort et al. 2006) demonstrated that a brief stimulation with Notch ligand Delta-like 4 (DL-4) is sufficient to induce T cell differentiation increasing the T cell potential of human CD34+ cells. It has been demonstrated recently that the culture of human CD34+ CB cells in a DL-4 feeder cell free system allow the *in vitro* differentiation and expansion of large numbers of T cell progenitors. These progenitors display phenotypic markers of early thymic progenitors (ETP) and can lead to the T cell lineage reconstitution. HSCT were performed in the NSG mouse model with a simultaneous injection of DL-4 primed T cell progenitors. Reimann and co-workers showed in this mice model that T cell reconstitution was accelerated and robust (Reimann et al. 2012). Therefore, the coinjection of HSC and DL-4 derived T progenitors from the same autologous HSCs could be an efficient strategy to accelerate T cell reconstitution in HSC transplanted patients. Besides, the basis of this new technique on a feeder cell free protocol appears to be safer for further clinical applications.

## PART 4 – B CELL BASED GENE THERAPY AND IMMUNOTHERAPY

With this part, we propose a short overview about B cell gene transfer in order to make easier the understanding of the preliminary results presented below.

## 1) MATURE B CELLSUBSETS

In short, mature B cells are the major targets for gene transfer in gene therapy. The Table 8 summarize the major phenotypes of mature B cell subsets.

Subset	Туре	Phenotype	Function		
Naïve B cells		IgD <sup>+</sup> CD27 CD10 <sup>-</sup> CD24 <sup>+/lo</sup> CD38 <sup>+/lo</sup>	Precursors		
Memory B cells	Double negative	IgD <sup>-</sup> CD27 <sup>-</sup>	Recall response		
	Non-switched	IgD⁺CD27⁺	Immunoprotective self antibody? circulating ? MZ-Like? Regulatory?		
	IgMonly	lgM⁺lgD⁻ CD27⁺	Immunoprotective self antibody? circulating ? MZ-Like? Regulatory?		
	Switched	IgM <sup>-</sup> IgD <sup>-</sup> CD27 <sup>+</sup>	Pathogen protection Autoimmune pathologies		
Antibody secreting cell	Plasmablast	IgD <sup>-</sup> CD27 <sup>hi</sup> CD38 <sup>hi</sup> CD138 <sup>-</sup>	Antibody socration		
	Plasma cell	lgD <sup>-</sup> CD27 <sup>hi</sup> CD38 <sup>hi</sup> CD138⁺	Anibody Secretion		

Table 8. Surface phenotype of mature B cell subsets(Adapted from Kamiski et al. 2012)

## 2) B LYMPHOCYTES ARE A TARGET OF INTEREST IN GENE THERAPY AND IMMUNOTHERAPY

B-cell gene therapy or immunotherapy has been strongly hampered due to the lack of an efficient LV ensuring stable longterm transgene expression in these cells but, as reported below, the recently developed H/F-LVs now allow many applications.

Transgene expression in B cells is of particular interest as B cells have the potential to induce specific immune activation and tolerance, which could improve genetic vaccination against cancer or autoimmune diseases (Lei et al. 2005), (Melo et al. 2002), (Stripecke et al. 2000). One of the major goals of cancer immunotherapy is to increase the immunogenicity of tumor cells. Although several

surface molecules can mediate T-B cell collaborations, the role of the CD40 receptor appears to be crucial (Aruffo et al. 1993), (Fuleihan et al. 1993). Thus, to overcome the immunological defect in malignant B cells, several groups induced forced ectopic expression of CD40L or other stimulatory factors (Stripecke et al. 2000), (Cantwell et al. 1997), (Cantwell et al. 1996) . Thus, vaccination strategies using autologous tumor cells manipulated ex vivo might be considered as a new approach for patients with B-cell malignancies, especially for those patients who are not responding to current treatment regimens (Moskowitz et al. 2006)

Autoimmune diseases represent failure of self-tolerance in populations of circulating B and T cells (Melo et al. 2002), (Lei et al. 2005). Current treatments include immunosuppression and immune deviation, but they are accompanied by deleterious effects. Thus novel approaches that can induce tolerance are required. Bcell gene therapy is an important option for induction of potent tolerogenic APCs. Scott and colleagues (1979) have shown that peptide-IgG fusion proteins, delivered via retroviral vectors into mouse B cells render these cells highly tolerogenic for the epitopes present in the peptide associated with the IgG in vitro and in vivo (El Amine et al. 2000), (Gourley et al. 2002), (Xu et al. 2004). Mouse B cells can in this way efficiently express multiple antigenic epitopes presented in a tolerogenic manner on class II MHC, inducing tolerance in naive and already primed immunocompetent animals. The clinical relevance of this B-cell gene therapy approach has been demonstrated by tolerance induction for targeted antigens in experimental models of several autoimmune disease (Xu et al 2004), (Agarwal et al. 2000), (Song et al. 2004). In these models, this gene therapy induced protection, delayed the onset of the disease or even reversed the ongoing clinical course.

Of importance, primary B cells are the most potent antibody producing cells. Indeed, the programming of B cells to make a predefined protective antibody would provide a continuous supply of antibodies *in vivo* that might reduce the viral load in patients (Luo et al. 2009). Recently, a B cell based anti-HIV strategy was proposed. LVs were used to introduce an anti-HIV antibody coding regions into HSCs and differentiation of the transduced cells into antibody-secreting autologous B cells was achieved with success (Luo et al. 2009).

114

Alternatively, lentiviral transduction and reinfusion of autologous B cells would allow a quick and continuous supply of HIV neutralizing antibodies *in vivo*. Of note, in the context of B-cell immunotherapy, the traditional methods used for generating human antibodies include screening Epstein-Bar virus (EBV-) transformed human Bcell clones (Cole et al. 1984), (Liao et al. 2009) or antibody phage display libraries. These methods are often time-consuming and can give low yields of pathogenspecific antibodies. A novel strategy requiring efficient B-cell gene transfer may facilitate production and the identification of monoclonal neutralizing antibodies by allowing efficient transduction of primary patient memory B cells with BCL6 and BCL-XL genes inducing immortalization (Kwakkenbo et al. 2010).

Stable gene transfer in human B cells may thus allow the engineering of improved genetic vaccination strategies against cancer, infectious or autoimmune diseases (Li et al. 2006), (White et al. 2000).

## 3) RESTRICTIONS OF LV-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER IN HUMAN B CELLS

Several studies have now established the capacity of VSVG-pseudotyped HIV-1-derived vectors to transduce various types of non-proliferating cells both in vitro and in vivo (Vigna et al. 2000). However, some cell types that are important gene therapy targets are refractory to gene transfer with classical lentiviral vectors.

Until recently, achieving long-term gene transfer into primary human B cells has been notoriously difficult (Bovia et al. 2003), (Janssens et al. 2003), (Serafini et al. 2004) and LV transduction of truly quiescent B cells had not yet been reported. Serafini et al. (2004) showed that conventional VSVG-LVs only achieved low transduction efficiency in anti-CD40-triggered B cells . It has been demonstrated that VSVG-LVs can indeed enter into a very small subset of B cells, undergo reverse transcription (RT) and that proviral integration takes place into the B-cell genome. It is worth pointing out though, that VSV-G-LV cell entry, RT and nuclear entry occur in proliferating B cells but are very inefficient (Serafini et al. 2004). Our group recently demonstrated that the VSV-G receptor (LDL-R) is not expressed on resting B cells and is not a lot expressed when B cells are activated (Amirache et al. 2014).

Moreover, no B-specific putative blocking factors have been yet identified which makes difficult to overcome these obstacles in B cell lentiviral gene transfer.

## 4) CO-CULTURE CONDITIONS THAT OVERCOMES LENTIVIRAL VECTOR RESTRICTIONS FOR GENE TRANSFER INTO PRIMARY RESTING B CELLS

Different B-cell activation/stimulation protocols have been set up in order to achieve stable gene transfer into human B cells. One way of inducing B-cell activation is by the addition of antiCD40-crosslinking antibodies and IL-4 that induces proliferation and entry into S/G<sub>2</sub>/M phase of the cell cycle. Under these conditions VSVG-LVs allow only very poor transduction of B cells. This was reported in three independent studies (Bovia et al. 2003), (Janssens et al. 2003), (Serafini et al. 2004). As reported by Bovia and colleagues (2003), VSVG-LVs allow efficient transduction of human B cells only upon their activation and proliferation in a co-culture system using murine thymoma cells as helper T cells in the presence of a cocktail of cytokines. Additionally, infection of B cells by Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) or stimulation of cells with CpG DNA and cytokines can lead to efficient transduction (Kvell et al. 2005).

More sophisticated approaches use LVs that display an anti-CD20 scFv to target gene transfer to B cells (Funke et al. 2008), (Yang et al. 2006), (Ziegler et al. 2008) (See Introduction Part1 2.2.3). However, all these protocols that render the B cells permissive to LV transduction have a serious drawback: and induce B cell differentiation (Buchholz et al. 2009), (Fecteau et al. 2009).

It is of the utmost importance for many applications and fundamental studies that the primitive characteristics of the target B cell remain as intact as possible upon transduction, and that the vector does not induce itself any activation and/or differentiation as a secondary effect.

116

## 5) LENTIVIRAL VECTOR PSEUDOTYPED WITH MEASLES VIRUS GLYCOPROTEINS ALLOWS QUIESCENT B- LYMPHOCYTE TRANSDUCTION WITHOUT AFFECTING THE CELL CYCLE STATUS

As mentioned above, a major limitation of current LVs such as the generally used VSVG-LVs is their inability to govern efficient gene transfer into quiescent cells such as B cells, which hampers their application for gene therapy and immunotherapy.

To overcome this limitation, our group engineered a lentiviral vector pseudotype incorporating measles virus (MV) glycoproteins H and F on their surface (H/F-LVs) with the objective to conserve the measles virus tropism for T and B cells.

Of interest, B cells were transduced up to 50% in their resting state by H/F-LVs whereas VSVG-LVs remained refractory (Frecha et al. 2009). Unexpectedly, although classical lentiviral transduction demands at least cell-cycle entry into the  $G_{1b}$ phase of the cell cycle, H/F-LVs did not even induce cell-cycle entry upon transduction in quiescent B cells. Importantly, the MV-LV-mediated gene transfer conserved the naive and memory phenotypes of transduced resting B cells.

Of utmost importance, the H/F-LVs have been the first tools to allow stable transduction of B-CLL cells, one of the most prominent leukemic B-cell cancers arrested in the  $G_0/G_{1a}$  cell cycle phase (Frecha et al. 2009), (Levy et al. 2010). It was also demonstrated that H/F-LVs were in addition able to efficiently transduce unstimulated marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) B cells, another less recurrent B-cell malignancy (Levy et al. 2010).

# RESULTS

## PART 1 – IMPROVING GENE DELIVERY INTO HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

## 1) BAEV- AND H/F-LVS, TWO NEW TOOLS FOR GENE TRANSFER INTO RESTING AND STIMULATED HSCS

Up to now, none lentiviral vector (LV) pseudotype was totally satisfactory for gene transfer in resting and stimulated human CD34+ cells. For a long time, VSV-G-LVs have been the reference for transducing CD34+ cells. Indeed, VSV-G LVs can be produced at high infectious titers, stably concentrated by ultracentrifugation and above all they recognize the LDL receptor expressed on the stimulated CD34+ cells (Amirache et al. 2014). However, there are disadvantages in using VSV-G-LVs. Toxicity is associated with long-term expression of VSV-G glycoprotein which makes generation of stable cell lines difficult. In addition, only high VSV-G-LVs doses (multiplicity of infection = MOI of 50-100) allow efficient hCD34+ cell transduction (up to 50%) increasing the risk of multicopy integration and thus genotoxicity (Di Nunzio et al. 2007). Furthermore, VSV-G-LVs are sensitive to human complement (Sandrin et al. 2002), which makes them unsuited for in vivo use. All these evidences limit *ex vivo* and *in vivo* use of VSV-G-LVs.

Consequently, during the last decade, they have been searching in the field for a new alternative envelope glycoprotein able to transduce efficiently HSCs at low vector doses and that renders LVs unsensitive to the human complement allowing their use *in vivo*. The RD114/TR envelope glycoprotein appeared to be a good alternative envelope. Indeed, this pseudotype is not sensitive to the human complement system which makes it attractive for *in vivo* applications (Sandrin et al. 2002). Moreover, its receptor, the human ASCT2 amino acid carrier (Rasko et al. 1999), is represented on human activated CD34+ cells (Green et al. 2004) and the chimeric RD114/TR glycoprotein gives high infectious titers (about 6.10<sup>7</sup> IU/mI) when it is presented on LVs as compared to the wild type RD114 glycoprotein. The low toxicity of RD114/TR glycoprotein expressed in producer cells has lead to the development of stable cell lines (Ikeda et al. 2003), (Strang et al. 2004), (Stornaiuolo et al. 2013). However, the transduction rates of CD34+ cells obtained using RD114/TR-LVs remains low for clinical applications (below 50%).

Of importance, a major limitation of these conventional LVs hampers their application for HSC gene therapy, as they do not allow efficient gene transfer into a subpopulation of quiescent HSCs (Sutton et al. 1999), (Verhoeven et al. 2005). To overcome these limitations, many studies using LVs for hCD34+ cell transduction employed a high vector input and the presence of very strong cytokine cocktails (TPO, SCF, Flt3-L, IL-6, IL-3) in order to induce HSC cycle entry (Amsellem et al. 2002). However, an undesirable effect of extended cytokine stimulation is a decrease of the multipotentality and longterm engraftment of human HSCs (Ahmed et al. 2004), (Uchida et al. 2011). IL-3 prestimulation is involved in CD34+ cell differentiation and although it increases the transduction levels, its application drops the repopulation potentiality of CD34+ cells (Liu et al. 2008), (Mazurier et al. 2004), (Millington et al. 2009). Moreover, high vector doses or multiple administrations of vector were applied to achieve high gene transfer levels into HSCs (Case et al. 1999), (Di Nunzio et al. 2007), (Millington et al. 2009). Nevertheless, a too high vector dose poses the risk for multicopy integration, under these conditions, insertional mutagenesis cannot be neglected (Baum et al. 2003), (Cavazzana-Calvo et al. 2004).

Here, in a first article recently published in the Blood journal, we report for the first time that LVs incorporating modified baboon endogenous retrovirus glycoproteins, BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess on their surface are easy to produce and resistant to the human complement system. Mutant BaEV/TR glycoprotein is not cytotoxic and both BaEV-LVs can be used at low vector doses. They can transduce 30% of quiescent CD34+ cells and up to 80% of mild stimulated hCD34+ very early progenitors. Both quiescent and stimulated transduced CD34+ cells are able to engraft primary and secondary NSG mice. Of importance, the two fold increase of the proportion of GFP + CD45+ cells in secondary transplanted mice with unstimulated transduced CD34+ cells highly suggests that BaEV-LVs preferentially transduce the HSC subset in the resting CD34+ population. This demonstrates that BaEV-LVs highly transduce the HSC subset in the CD34+ cell population even if they are quiescent.

In parallel, we evaluated H/F-LVs which have been previously developed in our group (Frecha et al. 2008), (Frecha et al. 2009). We demonstrate that H/F-LVs succeed in transducing next to 100% of mild cytokine stimulated CD34+ cells and up to 70% of resting CD34+ cells. Contrarly to T and B cells, we show that H/F-LVs bind and enter into resting and stimulated CD34+ cells through the CD46 receptor while SLAM and Nectin 4 MV receptors appear to be barely expressed on the CD34+ surface. Primary and secondary transplantation of transduced CD34+ cells in NSG mice confirm that H/F-LVs allow gene transfer into HSCs.

Both BaEV- and H/F-LVs hold promises in the field of HSC gene delivery. BaEV/TR-LV would be useful for further clinical prospects because it can be produced at high infectious titers, it is not cytotoxic that make easier the production of a stable vector producing cell line and BaEV glycoprotein is resistant to the human complement system for potential *in vivo* applications. On the other hand, H/F-LVs would be a powerful tool for future basic research in hematopoiesis since at the moment it cannot be easily be produced for the clinic. Indeed, H/F-LVs remains difficult to produce at very high infectious titers, H and F glycoproteins are cytotoxic that prevent an immediate stable production and it need to be optimized to escape to MV neutralization for *in vivo* prospects in the large number of MV vaccinated people.

## 2) BABOON ENVELOPE PSEUDOTYPED LENTIVIRAL VECTORS OUTPERFORM VSV-G PSEUDOTYPED LENTIVIRAL VECTORS FOR GENE TRANSFER INTO CYTOKINE-STIMULATED AND RESTING HSCS

### **GENE THERAPY**

## Baboon envelope pseudotyped LVs outperform VSV-G-LVs for gene transfer into early-cytokine-stimulated and resting HSCs

Anais Girard-Gagnepain,<sup>1-6</sup> Fouzia Amirache,<sup>1-6</sup> Caroline Costa,<sup>1-6</sup> Camille Lévy,<sup>1-6</sup> Cecilia Frecha,<sup>7</sup> Floriane Fusil,<sup>1-6</sup> Didier Nègre,<sup>1-6</sup> Dimitri Lavillette,<sup>8</sup> François-Loïc Cosset,<sup>1-6</sup> and Els Verhoeyen<sup>1-6,9</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Team Enveloped Viruses, Vectors and Innate Responses, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France; <sup>2</sup>INSERM, U1111, Lyon, France; <sup>3</sup>Ecole Normale Supérieure de Lyon, Lyon, France; <sup>4</sup>Université Lyon 1, Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Lyon, France; <sup>5</sup>Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Unité Mixte de Recherche 5308, Lyon, France; <sup>6</sup>LabEx Ecofect, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France; <sup>7</sup>Laboratory of Neuroplasticity and Neurotoxins, Institute of Cellular Biology and Neuroscience, Faculty of Medicine, Universite Jyon 1, Microbial Dynamics Aires, Argentina; <sup>8</sup>Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Unité Mixte de Recherche 5557 Microbial Ecology, Universite Lyon 1, Microbial Dynamics and Viral Transmission, Villeurbanne, France; and <sup>9</sup>INSERM, U1065, Centre Méditerranéen de Médecine Moléculaire, Equipe "Contrôle Métabolique des Morts Cellulaires," Nice, France

#### **Key Points**

 New LVs allow transduction of unstimulated hematopoietic stem cells. Hematopoietic stem cell (HSC)-based gene therapy holds promise for the cure of many diseases. The field is now moving toward the use of lentiviral vectors (LVs) as evidenced by 4 successful clinical trials. These trials used vesicular-stomatitis-virus-G protein (VSV-G)-LVs at high doses combined with strong cytokine-cocktail stimulation to obtain therapeutically relevant transduction levels; however, they might compromise the HSC character. Summarizing all these disadvantages, alternatives to VSV-G-LVs are urgently

needed. We generated here high-titer LVs pseudotyped with a baboon retroviral envelope glycoprotein (BaEV-LVs), resistant to human complement. Under mild cytokine prestimulation to preserve the HSC characteristics, a single BaEV-LV application at a low dose, resulted in up to 90% of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction. Even more striking was that these new BaEV-LVs allowed, at low doses, efficient transduction of up to 30% of quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, whereas high-dose VSV-G-LVs were insufficient. Importantly, reconstitution of NOD/Lt-SCID/ $\gamma c^{-/-}$  (NSG) mice with BaEV-LV-transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells maintained these high transduction levels in all myeloid and lymphoid lineages, including early progenitors. This transduction pattern was confirmed or even increased in secondary NSG recipient mice. This suggests that BaEV-LVs efficiently transduce true HSCs and could improve HSC-based gene therapy, for which high-level HSC correction is needed for life-long cure. (*Blood*. 2014;124(8):1221-1231)

#### Introduction

Although the murine leukemia virus (MLV)-based retroviral vectors were successful for hematopoietic stem cell (HSC)-based gene therapy, some clinical trials unfortunately led to severe genotoxic side effects.<sup>1-5</sup> Therefore, the lentiviral vectors (LVs), conferring a safer integration profile,<sup>6</sup> are gaining interest in the field. Cartier et al reported the successful treatment of patients suffering from X-linked adrenoleuko-dystrophy by ex vivo correction of autologous HSCs using LVs.<sup>7</sup> In the clinical trial of  $\beta$ -globin gene therapy for  $\beta$ -thalassemia, initiated in 2007, the single treated patient is still transfusion independent; however, clonal expansion was detected.<sup>8</sup> In 2013, Biffi et al<sup>9</sup> and Aiuti et al<sup>10</sup> provided very encouraging results for HSC-based gene therapy for the correction of metachromatic leukodystrophy or Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Moreover, new trials for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency and Fanconi anemia, 2 other severe monogenetic defects in children, are being initiated.<sup>11</sup>

Importantly, for the correction of all these defects in the hematopoietic system, the therapeutic gene must be delivered to cells able both to self-renew and to differentiate into all hematopoietic lineages.

Because HSCs meet these criteria, they represent the attractive candidates for gene therapy. Although classical vesicular-stomatitisvirus-G protein (VSV-G)-LVs can transduce nondividing cells, fully quiescent  $G_0$  cells are poorly transduced.<sup>12-15</sup> Hence, HSCs are poorly permissive for classical VSV-G-LV transduction because 75% of them reside in G<sub>0</sub>.<sup>14</sup> Moreover, we confirmed a very low expression of the VSV receptor, the low density lipid-receptor (LDL-R)<sup>16</sup> in unstimulated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, perfectly coinciding with their poor VSV-G-LV-mediated transduction.<sup>17</sup> Only early-acting cytokine stimulation of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, up-regulating the LDL-R, permitted high-level VSV-G-LV transduction.<sup>17</sup> However, intense exposure of HSCs to cytokines might affect their homing and extravasation ability and promote differentiation rather than expansion of the HSC pool. 18,19 Moreover, when combining high vector doses with strong cytokine stimulation, the risk for multicopy integration and insertional mutagenesis cannot be neglected.<sup>3,4</sup> In an effort to achieve high-level transduction of HSCs under mild transient cytokine stimulation to preserve stem cells fitness,<sup>20-22</sup> we engineered LVs displaying stem

Submitted February 27, 2014; accepted June 16, 2014. Prepublished online as *Blood* First Edition paper, June 20, 2014; DOI 10.1182/blood-2014-02-558163.

A.G.-G. and F.A. contributed equally to this work.

The online version of this article contains a data supplement.

There is an Inside Blood Commentary on this article in this issue.

The publication costs of this article were defrayed in part by page charge payment. Therefore, and solely to indicate this fact, this article is hereby marked "advertisement" in accordance with 18 USC section 1734.

© 2014 by The American Society of Hematology

cell factor (SCF) at their surface, able to efficiently transduce HSCs in vivo.<sup>22-24</sup> Therefore, mild cytokine stimulation allowing efficient HSC transduction is an important objective.

Clearly, to reach this goal, alternatives to VSV-G-LVs are urgently needed. As a good alternative, we identified the RD114 feline retrovirus envelope glycoprotein.<sup>25</sup> In contrast to VSV-Ggp, RD114gp is resistant to degradation by human complement, an attractive characteristic for in vivo applications.<sup>23,25</sup> An RD114 mutant glycoprotein (RDTR) allows efficient pseudotyping of LVs, which confers efficient transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> HSCs.<sup>24-30</sup> RD114 belongs to the betaretroviruses, also including the baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV). Both of these viruses use the neutral amino acid (aa) transporter 2 (ASCT-2), present on hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells.<sup>31-33</sup> Interestingly, BaEV also recognizes another aa transporter, ASCT-1, not recognized by RD114.31,34 The ASCT-1 and -2 receptors, 57% identical in sequence, are differentially expressed in cells and are transporters of an overlapping but nonidentical set of neutral aa.<sup>34</sup> Because BaEV uses ASCT-1 in addition to ASCT-2, it demonstrated a broader tropism than RD114.35 Therefore, we hypothesized that LVs displaying the BaEV envelope at their surface might permit an increase in hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction.

Here, we generated for the first time LVs that incorporated the BaEVgp at their surface, which efficiently and stably transduced macaque and human hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells up to 90% at low vector doses and on mild cytokine stimulation, outperforming by far VSV-G- and RDTR-LVs. Moreover, these new pseudotypes were highly superior over VSV-G and RDTR-LVs for efficient gene transfer into hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells in the absence of any exogenous stimuli. Remarkably, these BaEV-LVs transduced up to 30% quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells (vs 5% for VSV-G-LV), with NOD/Lt-SCID/ $\gamma c^{-/-}$  (NSG) long-term repopulating capacity of high importance for gene therapy.

#### Materials and methods

#### Envelope construction

RDTR is a mutated form of the feline retroviral glycoprotein (gp), RD114, described previously.<sup>25</sup> By polymerase chain reaction amplification, the cytoplasmic tail of wild-type (WT) BaEV (BaEVwt) was replaced by MLV-A, resulting in BaEVTR-gp. The BaEVRless-gp was constructed by deletion of the R peptide sequence from BaEVwt-gp (Figure 1A; supplemental Figure 1, available on the *Blood* Web site).

All chimeric envelope gps were expressed in the phCMV-G expression plasmid.  $^{36}$ 

#### Production and titration of LVs

Self-inactivating HIV-1-derived vectors encoding green fluorescent protein (GFP) under the control of a spleen focus foamy virus promoter were generated by transfection of 293T cells.<sup>37</sup> For display of RDTR, BaEVTR, and BaEVRless-gps on LVs, 7  $\mu$ g of the respective envelope gp-encoding plasmids was transfected with gagpol and the self-inactivating (SIN) transfer vector; 3  $\mu$ g of VSV-Ggp encoding plasmid was used for VSV-G-LV production. Titering of the LVs was performed on 293T cells (supplemental Methods).

#### Western blot analysis

Western blot analysis was performed as previously described.<sup>38</sup> For the detection of the BaEV gps, a goat anti-BaEV polyclonal antibody (ViroMed Biosafety Labs) was used. p24 HIV-1 capsid was detected by anti-HIVp24 antibody to assess equivalent loading of purified vectors.

#### Sample collection and isolation of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells

Cord blood (CB) samples and mobilized blood were collected in sterile tubes containing the anticoagulant citrate dextrose (Sigma-Aldrich) after informed

consent and approval was obtained by the institutional review board (Centre International d'Infectiologie, Lyon, France) according to the Declaration of Helsinki. Human and macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were isolated as previously described.<sup>22,23</sup>

#### Stability of pseudotyped vectors in human/macaque serum

For details, see supplemental Methods.

#### Transduction of human and macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells

Human and macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were incubated for 14 or 18 to 24 hours (as indicated) in 24-well plates in serum-free medium (CellGro; CellGenix) supplemented with human recombinant cytokines (as indicated): SCF (100 ng/mL), thrombopoietin (TPO) (20 ng/mL), Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Flt3-L) (100 ng/mL), interleukin (IL)-6 (20 ng/mL), and IL-3 (20 ng/mL) (Preprotech);  $5 \times 10^4$  prestimulated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were transduced in 48-well plates with concentrated LVs at indicated multiplicities of infection (MOIs) in serum-free medium. Cells were replenished with cytokines every 3 days. Three, 6, and 14 days after transduction, the percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells was determined by fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS). Alternatively, CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were freshly isolated and transduced immediately in the absence of cytokines. Where indicated, transductions were performed on RetroNectin-coated plates according to the manufacturer's instructions (Takara). For myeloid differentiation of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, see supplemental Methods.

#### Conditioning and reconstitution of NSG mice

NSG mice used were housed in our animal facility (Plateau de Biologie Expérimentale de la Souris, Lyon, France). Experiments were performed in accordance with the European Union guidelines on approval of the protocols by the local ethical committee (Authorization Agreement C2EA-15: Comité d'Evaluation Commun au Centre Léon Bérard, à l'Animalerie de transit de l'ENS, au PBES et au laboratoire P4, Lyon, France).

Two- to 3-day-old newborn NSG mice were subjected to 1-Gy irradiation, and  $2 \times 10^5$  transduced prestimulated CB CD34<sup>+</sup> cells or  $5 \times 10^5$  transduced prestimulated mobilized CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were injected intrahepatically. Unstimulated freshly isolated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were transduced for 24 hours, and  $3 \times 10^5$ transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were injected into NSG mice as above.

After 12 weeks of reconstitution, extensive cell phenotyping in the different hematopoietic tissues (bone marrow [BM], spleen, thymus, and blood) of these mice was performed (supplemental Methods).

For secondary engraftments, the CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were isolated from the BM of primary engrafted mice as above, and 4 to  $5 \times 10^5$  isolated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were injected into newborn NSG mice following the same procedure and phenotype analysis as above.

#### DNA extraction and quantitative polymerase chain reaction

For details, see supplemental Methods.

#### Cell cycle analysis

Cell cycle analysis was performed by staining DNA and RNA with 7-amino-actinomycin-D (7AAD) and pyronin-Y.  $^{39}\,$ 

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using a paired Student t test.

#### Results

## Mutants of the baboon envelope glycoproteins, BaEVTR and BaEVRLess, efficiently pseudotype LVs

Pseudotyping of LVs with WT BaEV gps (Figure 1A) was not efficient because it resulted in fresh and 100-fold concentrated titers

Figure 1. Modification of the cytoplasmic tails of BaEV glycoproteins allows efficient pseudotyping of lentiviral vectors. (A) Schematic representation of the WT (BaEVwt) and mutant BaEV (BaEVTR, BaEVRless), RDTR- and MLV-A gps. The 17 aa long cytoplasmic domain of the cat and baboon retroviral gps, RD114 and BaEVwt, respectively, was exchanged for one of the MLV-A glycoproteins resulting in the chimeric RDTR- and BaEVTR-gps, respectively. The R peptide of the cytoplasmic tail of BaEVwt was deleted, resulting in the BaEVRLess mutant gps. Amino acid sequences and different domains for these gps are shown in supplemental Figure 1. (B) Titers of the different pseudotyped LVs encoding GFP, obtained by infection of HEK293T cells with serial dilutions of fresh or 100-fold concentrated vector preparations (infectious units/mL). The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells was determined 3 days after infection by FACS (means  $\pm$  standard deviation [SD], n = 8; \*\*\*P < .005). (C) Immunoblots of LV particles displaying the different BaEV-gps at their surface. LVs were purified over a sucrose cushion by ultracentrifugation. The upper part shows staining with antibodies against the surface domain of BaEVwt. The corresponding HIV-1 capsid was revealed to verify equal loading. The positions of the BaEVgps and the HIV-1 capsid (HIV1-CA) are indicated. (D) Pictures show 293T cells 48 hours after transfection with BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-ops



of  $6 \times 10^3$  and  $2 \times 10^5$  infectious units (IU)/mL, respectively (Figure 1B). Therefore, a chimeric BaEVTR-gp was engineered using the same strategy used to create the RD114 mutant gp, RDTR, by exchange of its cytoplasmic domain for the the murine leukemia virus gp (MLV-A-gp; Figure 1A).<sup>25</sup> A second mutant was engineered by the deletion of the fusion inhibitory R peptide resulting in the BaEVRLess-gp (Figure 1A; supplemental Figure 1). We compared these different mutant BaEV-gps to VSV-G- and RDTR-gps for their ability to pseudotype LVs.

RDTR, BaEVTR, BaEVRless, and VSV-G pseudotyped SIN LVs encoding GFP were generated by transient transfection in 293T cells and concentrated 100-fold. Average concentrated titers of  $5 \times 10^7$  IU/mL were obtained on 293T cells for BaEVTR- and  $2 \times 10^8$  IU/mL for BaEVRLess-LVs resulting in a 250- and 1000-fold titer increase, respectively, compared with BAEVwt-LVs (Figure 1B; supplemental Table 1). This was in agreement with increased incorporation of BaEVTR- and BaEVRLess-gps on LV particles compared with BaEVwt-gp (Figure 1C). RDTR- and VSV-G-LVs gave titers of  $6 \times 10^7$  and  $1 \times 10^9$  IU/mL as expected

(Figure 1B).<sup>24,25</sup> Physical particle content was similar for the different pseudotypes (supplemental Table 2). Of note, in contrast to BaEVRLess-gp, which induces huge syncytia formation, BaEVTR-gp did not induce any fusion or toxicity in 293T cells (Figure 1D).

The high titers obtained for the BaEVTR- and BaEVRLess-LVs incited us to evaluate them for hCD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitor transduction.

## BaEVgp pseudotyped LVs outperform VSV-G- and RDTR-LVs for the transduction of immature hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells

HSCs are important gene therapy targets because, on correction, they can reconstitute and correct the entire hematopoietic system.<sup>7-10</sup> As depicted in Figure 2A, RDTR-LVs only bind to the hASCT2 receptor, whereas both BaEVTR- and BaEVRLess-LVs (BaEV-LVs) bind additionally to amino acid transporter, hASCT1, expressed on the cell membrane (Figure 2A). We prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells with multiple cytokines (SCF/TPO/Flt3-L) and transduced them with VSV-G-, RDTR-, BaEVTR-, and BaEVRLess-LVs at a MOI of 10 in the presence or absence of the transduction facilitating agent, RetroNectin.



Figure 2. BaEV-LVs are superior for the transduction of human CD34<sup>+</sup> cells over VSVG-LVs and RDTR-LVs. (A) Schematic representation of LVs pseudotyped by BaEV-gps (BaEVTR or BaEVRLess) that bind to the amino acid transporters, hASCT1 and hASCT2, on the HSC surface. RDTR-LVs only bind to the hASCT2 receptor. Once the LVs fuse with the cell membrane of HSCs, reverse transcription of the viral RNA into proviral DNA occurs followed by its nuclear import and integration into the host genome. (B) Cord blood hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were prestimulated with SCF, TPO, and Flt3-L for 14 hours and transduced with the indicated LV pseudotypes in the presence and absence of RetroNectin at an MOI of 10. VSV-G-LV transductions were performed at an MOI of 10 or 100. GFP expression of the cells was analyzed 6 days after transduction by FACS (means  $\pm$  SD, n = 5). \*\*P < .05 when comparing BaEVgps with other pseudotypes in the presence of RetroNectin; \*\*\*P < .005 when comparing BaEVaps with or without RetroNectin. (C) Percentage of transduction of HEK293T cells by the indicated LV pseudotypes on their incubation at 37°C in heat complement-inactivated or fresh human sera. Data for 3 different serum donors are shown. The stability of virions was calculated as the relative percentage of infectivity of macaque/human serumtreated viruses vs viruses treated with fetal calf serum set to 100%.

The BaEV-LVs outperformed the other pseudotypes for the transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells in the presence of RetroNectin (Figure 2B). Importantly, under these conditions, up to 90% of the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were transduced by a single exposure to the BaEVTR- or BaEVRLess-LVs. Because it is difficult to compare different pseudotypes using their infectious titers, we also transduced stimulated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells with equivalent amounts of physical particles (HIV p24). Significantly higher transduction of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells for BaEVgp-LVs compared with VSV-G-LVs was confirmed (supplemental Figure 2A).

In view of clinical in vivo application, it would be an advantage if the BaEV-LVs resist inactivation by the human complement system. Therefore, transduction efficiencies of LVs incubated in fresh or heat-inactivated human sera were compared. Residual transduction efficiencies obtained are shown in Figure 2C. As expected, the VSV-G-LVs were inactivated by the 3 different sera. In contrast, BaEVTR- and BaEVRLess-LVs were resistant to human complement to the same extent as RDTR-LVs (Figure 2C).<sup>25</sup>

Of importance for their preclinical evaluation, the BAEV-LVs transduced efficiently cynomolgus and macaque BM hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells and resisted inactivation by the macaque complement system (supplemental Figure 3A-B).

Taken together, BaEV-LVs are excellent candidates for hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction and are better suited than VSV-G-LVs for in vivo applications.

## BaEV-LVs allow high-level transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells on mild cytokine prestimulation and at low vector doses

Strong stimulation with a cytokine cocktail can induce HSC differentiation and loss of self-renewal capacity. Thus, the less the cells are prestimulated, the more they keep their stem cell

characteristics.<sup>18,19,22,23,40</sup> Therefore, we performed LV transductions of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells using different cytokine prestimulation conditions: (1) stimulation with a single cytokine (rSCF or rTPO); (2) rSCF+rTPO; and (3) rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L (Figure 3A). Even the strongest cytokine prestimulation used here was milder than cytokine cocktails currently used in a clinical setting. Remarkably, TPO stimulation is sufficient to transduce hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells up to 60% using BaEV-LVs, whereas VSVG-LVs and RDTR-LVs transduced only 8% to 20% of the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells (P < .05). A single SCF prestimulation permitted up to 35% to 50% BaEV-LV-mediated transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, whereas VSVG-LVs and RDTR-LVs reached maximum transduction levels of 10% (P < .05). A combination of TPO+SCF prestimulation and a single BaEV-LV transduction resulted in up to 60% to 80% hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction, whereas RDTR- and VSVG-LVs, at the same MOI, achieved on average 40% and 10% transduction, respectively (P < .01 for BaEV-LVs vs VSV-G-LVs). The triple cytokine cocktail (TPO+SCF+Flt-3L) resulted in a gain of transduction levels for the BaEV-LVs (80-90%), whereas significantly lower transduction was obtained for the other pseudotypes (P < .005; Figure 3A).

In gene therapy, insertional mutagenesis must be limited to avoid side effects. Thus, a lower vector copy number/cell might reduce the risk of genotoxicity. Therefore, different vector doses were tested under rSCF+rTPO and rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L stimulation conditions. BaEVTR-LVs and BaEVRLess-LVs transduced significantly higher levels of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells at low vector doses than the other LV pseudotypes (P < .05). They reached 60% (rSCF+rTPO) and 70% (rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L) transduction at an MOI of 5, whereas VSV-G-LVs did not even reach 5% transduction (Figure 3B-C). Only at an MOI of 100, the VSV-G-LVs allowed efficient hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction rates, which remained far below that of BaEV-LVs

#### BLOOD, 21 AUGUST 2014 · VOLUME 124, NUMBER 8

Figure 3. BaEV-LVs allow high-level transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells following mild cytokine prestimulation. (A) CB hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were prestimulated overnight (18-24 hours) with SCF, TPO, SCF+TPO, or SCF+TPO+ Flt3-L and transduced in the presence of RetroNectin by the indicated LV pseudotypes at an MOI of 10. Analysis for the percentage GFP<sup>+</sup> cells was performed 6 days after transduction (means  $\pm$  SD, n = 4). hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were prestimulated with (B) rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L or (C) rSCF+rTPO and transduced by the different LV pseudotypes at different MOIs (1, 5, 10, and 20); for VSV-G-LVs, an additional MOI of 100 was applied. Analysis of percentage GFP<sup>+</sup> cells was performed 6 days after transduction by FACS (means  $\pm$  SD, n = 3). (D) CB hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were prestimulated with rSCF+rTPO or rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L and subsequently transduced with the indicated LV pseudotypes. An MOI of 10 was applied except for VSV-G LVs (MOI = 100). Three days after transduction, the cells were seeded in myeloid differentiation medium for 14 days. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> CFCs is shown for both stimulation conditions (means  $\pm$  SD, n = 3). (E) Mobilized hCD34 cells were prestimulated with SCF+TPO+Flt3-L+IL-3 and transduced with the indicated LV pseudotypes at the same vector doses as in D. Myeloid differentiation and transduction analysis was performed as in D. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup>hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells and CFCs are shown (means  $\pm$  SD, n = 3). All transduction were performed in the presence of RetroNectin, and P < .05 when comparing CFC transduction levels of BaEV-LVs with the other pseudotypes.

BaEV-LV TRANSDUCTION OF Go HSCs

1225



(Figure 3B-C). For the strongest cytokine stimulation, BaEVTR- and BaEVRLess-LV transduction reached a plateau at 80% to 90%. Nevertheless, a low vector copy number per cell was revealed (supplemental Table 3). Stable transduction was demonstrated by differentiation of the transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells into myeloid lineages (Figure 3D).

Mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells are readily accessible and thus valuable target cells for gene therapy in the clinic. Similar to CB hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, BaEVRless-LVs allowed up to 90% transduction of mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, and this transduction level persisted in colony forming cells (CFCs) derived from these cells, indicating that short-term progenitors were stably transduced (Figure 3E).

Concluding, BaEV-LVs outperformed VSV-G- and RDTR-LVs by far for hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells transduction even when using low cytokine stimulation combined with low vector doses.

#### BaEV-LVs promote high-level transduction of prestimulated HSCs reconstituting primary and secondary recipient NSG mice

Because of its potential to support high-level engraftment of human cells, we chose the NSG mouse<sup>41,42</sup> model to evaluate the long-term reconstitution capacity of BaEV-LV-transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells in vivo. To address this question, we transplanted prestimulated

CB hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells transduced with the different LVs into irradiated NSG mice (Table 1). A comparable high level and variability of engraftment with human cells was detected for all pseudotypes (Table 1; supplemental Figure 4A), indicating that the migration and engraftment of these transduced early progenitors was not impaired.

Overall, VSVG-LVs and RDTR-LVs allowed a much lower transduction of SCID repopulating cells (SRCs) compared with BaEV-LVs (Table 1). BaEVTR-LVs- and BaEVRless-LVs-transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells resulted in the highest transduction levels of engrafted human cells in the BM (up to 95% CD45<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup> cells). These high transduction levels were sustained in the primary recipient mice in all hematopoietic tissues (BM, spleen, and thymus; Table 1). Detailed flow cytometry analysis of the BM revealed equivalent high level transduction for the different B-cell subpopulations (CD19<sup>+</sup> pre-B/pro-B, pro-B, and immature/mature B cells), CD13<sup>+</sup> myeloid progenitors, and CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes (Figure 4A; supplemental Table 4). For the BaEV-LVs, equivalent high levels of GFP<sup>+</sup> early progenitors (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>) were detected. In contrast, we observed for VSV-G-LVs and RDTR-LVs a high transduction variability between different tissues and the different cell lineages in the BM (Figure 4A; supplemental Table 4). Consistent with these results, detailed phenotyping of the splenocytes revealed a similar transduction

	Table	1. BaEV	/-LVs	allow	high	rate	transduction	on of	NSG	repo	pulating	cells
--	-------	---------	-------	-------	------	------	--------------	-------	-----	------	----------	-------

		BM (%GFP <sup>+</sup> cells/total lin <sup>+</sup> cells)					Spleen (% GFP)	Thymus (% GFP)
Pseudo-type	BM (%hCD45 <sup>+</sup> )	hCD45	hCD34	hCD19	hCD13	hCD14	hCD45	hCD45
Cytokine-prestimulated hCD34 cells								
VSV-G								
1	22	32	13	34	20	25	24	20
2	57	6	18	13	22	19	7	2
3	33	13	9	7	11	15	13	10
4	43	2	2	0.6	0	0	3	0.6
5	74	36	43	30	39	48	26	14
RDTR								
1	13	37	31	36	41	46	38	27
2	16	27	33	26	28	25	40	17
3	26	69	62	78	57	45	38	40
4	25	12	14	10	11	5	20	16
5	82	34	41	31	49	40	23	4
6	25	52	40	56	25	17	52	35
BaEVTR								
1	66	16	19	16	20	16	22	28
2	53	29	35	24	44	41	38	35
3	27	92	90	92	82	73	82	83
4	32	69	57	62	56	71	65	66
5	46	75	81	72	82	69	69	63
6	8	88	82	88	80	67	83	66
7	67	70	73	69	86	80	87	96
BaEVRless								
1	20	40	30	24	44	41	42	42
2	61	52	56	52	61	60	53	50
3	89	87	84	87	83	84	70	77
4	6	95	87	97	75	80	71	84
5	56	46	54	47	57	47	48	73
6	72	58	57	58	57	59	53	78
7	18	72	73	72	69	75	67	70
Unstimulated hCD34 cells								
BaEVTR								
1	71	8	7	6	18	19	19	15
2	73	8	2	7	6	6	14	1
3	14	6	8	5	6	6	8	2
4	81	16	19	16	27	12	19	12
5	90	14	13	10	15	12	16	8
6	81	35	27	34	40	42	35	62
7	61	26	32	35	27	26	18	18
BaEVRless								
1	70	22	20	23	25	20	16	22
2	75	22	23	27	21	14	26	10
3	29	11	6	13	11	13	13	58
4	72	19	19	18	23	19	20	10
5	64	11	15	12	11	10	23	11
6	77	36	40	35	39	32	30	54
7	85	50	55	49	52	56	52	48

Two- to 3-day-old newborn NOD/SCID  $\gamma c^{-/-}$  mice were subjected to a sublethal irradiation of 1 Gy. 2 × 10<sup>5</sup> hCB-CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, transduced at an MOI of 10 with the indicated LV pseudotypes, were injected intrahepatically into the newborns. After 12 weeks of reconstitution, the humanized mice were killed, and the BM, spleen, and thymus were harvested and assessed for levels of GFP<sup>+</sup> human cell engraftment (hCD45<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>). Multilineage engraftment in the BM was demonstrated by FACS analysis of GFP<sup>+</sup> lineage-positive cells. Independent experiments were performed with different hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell samples and different batches of each vector.

profile (Figure 4B). Importantly, the thymocytes (Table 1) and all thymic subpopulations were transduced to the same extent (Figure 4C).

monocytes in the spleen. The different thymic subpopulations showed high-level transduction (supplemental Figure 5).

As shown above, BaEVRless-LVs allowed up to 90% transduction of mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells (Figure 3E). These cells allowed high-level engraftment of NSG mice, and the transduction level was sustained in the BM immature progenitors, B cells and myeloid cells, splenocytes, and thymocytes. Detailed phenotyping confirmed that very early progenitor CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, as well as B-cell progenitors, myeloid progenitors, and monocytes, in the BM were transduced to the same extent. An identical picture was found for T and B cells and

To confirm that true HSCs were gene modified, secondary reconstitutions of NSG mice were performed with hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells isolated from primary NSG mice previously reconstituted with BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LV-transduced prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells. To improve engraftment into secondary recipients, the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells from the BM of primary NSG mice were cultured, before injection, in SCF and IL-6 to maintain their homing capacity.<sup>43</sup> At 12 weeks after transplantation, the BM and spleen of the secondary recipient Figure 4. BaEV-LVs efficiently transduce NSG repopulating hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells. CB hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were prestimulated for 24 hours with a cytokine-cocktail (TPO+SCF+Flk-3L) and transduced the presence of RetroNectin with RDTR-LVs. BaEVTR-LVs. or BaEVRless-LVs at an MOI of 10 for 36 hours. VSV-G-LV transductions were performed at an MOI = 10. The cells were then injected into the liver of newborn NSG mice. On reconstitution for 12 weeks. the different hematopoietic tissues (BM, spleen, and thymus) of these engrafted mice were analyzed for human cell engraftment by anti-hCD45 staining (Table 1), (A) Transduction levels of the different cell lineages in the BM of NSG reconstituted mice. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> immature early progenitor cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pre/pro-B cells (CD34<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro-B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), immature and mature B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>+</sup>). and myeloid progenitors (CD13<sup>+</sup>) are shown. Data for 2 representative mice from Table 1 for each vector are shown. (B) Transduction levels of different cell lineages in the spleen of NSG reconstituted mice. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> pre/pro-B cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup> CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro-B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), immature and mature B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>+</sup>), monocytes, and granulocytes (CD14<sup>+</sup>) are shown. Data shown correspond to the mice represented in A. (C) Transduction levels of human thymocyte subpopulations of NSG mice reconstituted with hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells transduced with BaEVRless-LVs. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> (DP), CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> (4-SP), and CD4 CD8+ (8-SP) is indicated in the upper right quadrant. A representative blot of the BaEVRless mice in Table 1 is shown.



mice were analyzed for the percentage of  $hCD45^+GFP^+$  cells (Figure 5A). In the spleen and BM, the percentage of  $CD45^+GFP^+$  cells was maintained or even increased in the secondary NSG recipients. Importantly, for both BAEVTR- and BAEVRless-LVs, high levels of  $CD34^+GFP^+$  early progenitors, lymphoid ( $CD19^+$ ), and myeloid ( $CD13^+$ ) cells were detected in the BM of these secondary recipient mice, and equivalent percentages of  $GFP^+$  cells were detected in the different lymphoid and myeloid lineages in BM and other hematopoietic tissues (supplemental Figure 6A).

Overall, these data strongly suggest that BaEV-LVs allowed genetic modification of very early progenitor cells, hHSCs, allowing long-term engraftment and differentiation into all the different cell lineages in vivo.

#### BaEVgp-LV pseudotypes permit efficient transduction of resting hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells without inducing cell cycle progression

Because BaEVgp-LVs permitted efficient transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells on stimulation with a single cytokine (eg, TPO or SCF; Figure 3A), we hypothesized that their binding and signaling through both aa transporters, ASCT-1 and ASCT-2, might be sufficient to

transduce unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells with the objective to avoid their differentiation and loss of the HSC subpopulation.<sup>18,19</sup>

Freshly isolated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were therefore transduced with BaEVTR-, BaEVRless-, RDTR- and VSV-G-LVs in the absence of exogenous stimuli. Importantly, the BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LVs were able to efficiently transduce resting hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells (15-30%) in the absence of any stimulus following a single exposure at low vector doses (MOI = 10; Figure 6A). In agreement with our previous reports,<sup>17,24</sup> the VSV-G-LVs were unable to transduce efficiently resting hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, even when applied at high vector doses (Figure 6A; supplemental Figure 2B). Interestingly, the RDTR-LVs, which bind only to the ASCT-2 receptor, were not able to transduce resting hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells efficiently (<5%; Figure 6A). These BaEVgp-LV transduction levels persisted in CFCs derived from the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, confirming that short-term progenitors were stably transduced (Figure 6B). Important for safety, a low vector copy number per cell was revealed for the BAEV-LVs (supplemental Table 3).

As efficient transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells with classical VSV-G-LVs requires cytokine prestimulation,<sup>17</sup> which leads to cell cycle entry (Figure 6C) and probably differentiation, we wanted to exclude that BaEVgp-LV binding to ASCT-1- and -2-induced cell cycle



Figure 5. BaEV-LVs transduce efficiently longterm reconstituting HSCs. Transduced cells were injected into the liver of irradiated newborn NSG mice. On reconstitution, the BM and spleen of these primary engrafted mice (first transplantation) were analyzed for transduced human cell engraftment (GFP+CD45+) in the BM and the spleen. Subsequently, the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells. isolated from the BM of these mice, were injected following the same procedure as for the primary NSG engraftments. Ten weeks after engraftment, these secondary recipient mice were analyzed for the percentage of transduced human cells (GFP+CD45+) in the BM and spleen. (A) Analysis of engraftment of transduced human cells (GFP<sup>+</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup>) in the BM and spleen of primary transplanted mice reconstituted with prestimulated (TPO+SCF+Flt-3L) hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells and transduced with BaEVTR-LVs or BaEVRless-LVs in the presence of RetroNectin and of secondary recipient NSG mice. (B) Analysis of engraftment of transduced human cells (GFP+CD45+) in the BM and spleen of primary and secondary transplanted mice reconstituted with unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells transduced with BaEVTR-LVs or BaEVRless-LVs in the presence of RetroNectin and of secondary recipient NSG mice

entry. Using a method that allows simultaneous visualization of DNA and RNA,<sup>15</sup> we evaluated cell cycle entry on transduction with the different pseudotypes (Figure 6C). As controls, hCD34 -cells were incubated without vector in the absence or presence of cytokine cocktail stimulation. Although BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LVs resulted in high-level hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction, these cells did not actively enter into the cell cycle but resided in the G0/G1a cell cycle phase. This is essential because the majority of the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells with SCID repopulating potential reside in the G0 phase of the cell cycle.<sup>44,45</sup>

#### BaEV-LVs promote high-level transduction of resting HSCs

To evaluate whether BaEV-LVs transduced long-term reconstituting HSCs in the resting hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell population, we applied a short transduction protocol (18-24 hours) at low vector doses (MOI = 10) without any addition of cytokines before injection into NSG newborn mice. High-level reconstitution with human cells was detected for BaEV-LV-transduced G0 hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, indicating that the homing, engraftment, and differentiation capacity of these cells was not affected (Table 1; supplemental Figure 4). Moreover, the human cell engraftment for BaEV-LV-transduced G0 hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells was significantly higher than for their prestimulated counterparts (supplemental Figure 4; P < .01). Interestingly, for the low (8-20%) and high (>30%) transduction efficiencies, equivalent transduction rates in all the different lineages in the BM and spleen were revealed (Table 1; Figure 6D; supplemental Table 5).

Importantly, both ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 mRNA levels are upregulated on cytokine stimulation (supplemental Figure 7A-B), which might strongly increase the affinity of BaEV-LVs to hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells and explain higher transduction levels in these stimulated cells compared with their resting counterparts.

Secondary reconstitutions of NSG mice were performed as for the prestimulated  $hCD34^+$  cells. The percentage of  $CD45^+GFP^+$  cells in the BM and spleen was maintained or even increased by 1.5- to

threefold in the secondary recipient mice (Figure 5B). Importantly, for both BaEV-LVs, high levels of transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitors and lymphoid (CD19<sup>+</sup>) and myeloid (CD13<sup>+</sup>) cells were detected in the BM of these secondary recipient mice, and equivalent percentages of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells were detected in the other hematopoietic tissues (supplemental Figure 6B).

In summary, these BaEVgp-LVs allowed genetic modification of very early progenitor repopulating cells, so-called hHSCs in the unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell population, able to home, engraft, and differentiate into all the different lineages in primary and secondary NSG mice.

#### Discussion

We describe for the first time efficient pseudotyping of LVs with the envelope glycoprotein BaEV, derived from the baboon endogenous virus. Like RDTR-LV pseudotypes,<sup>25</sup> they are stable in human and macaque sera, which offers potential clinical perspectives for in vivo gene therapy. These BaEV-LVs did not only allow up to 90% transduction of prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> SRCs at low vector doses but also high transduction levels of quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup> SRCs, relevant for clinical application, whereas RDTR- or VSV-G-LVs performed very poorly in this latter condition. Moreover, in using BaEV-LVs, we would be able to significantly decrease the vector doses without a significant loss of gene transfer efficiency, which could make this treatment accessible to a higher number of patients.

During engraftment, transplanted HSCs home to the BM niche, where they initiate both differentiation and self-renewal. There, they reside in a hypoxic niche, where they acquire dormancy and maintain stemness.<sup>42,46</sup> It might be, therefore, crucial to not overexpose the hCD34<sup>+</sup> HSCs to cytokines, currently required for high-level transduction with VSV-G-LVs<sup>18,19</sup> Indeed, recent clinical trials<sup>7-10</sup> still use strong cytokine cocktails, although this can affect the cell Α

**CD34** 

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

60

40

30

20

10

0

2

2

1

3

3

NSG

70

60

50

40

NSG

% transduced cells

в

cells

transduced

%

D

% transduced cells

Figure 6. BaEV-LVs are highly superior over RDTR-LVs and VSV-G-LVs for the transduction of unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells. Freshly isolated CB hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were directly transduced by the indicated LV pseudotypes at an MOI of 10. For VSVG-LVs, an MOI of 100 was used. Analysis for the percentage GFP hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells was performed 3 days after transduction by FACS. A representative dot blot is shown for each pseudotype in A and the average transduction levels are indicated in B (means  $\pm$  SD, n = 6), (B) Three days after transduction, the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were seeded in mveloid differentiation medium. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> CFCs is presented (means  $\pm$  SD, n = 4; P < .001 when comparing BaEV-LVs with VSV-G- and RDTR-LVs). (C) Cell cycle progression was monitored 3 days after transduction of the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells with the different pseudotypes by simultaneously visualizing RNA (Pyronine-Y) and DNA (7-AAD) content of the cells. As controls, unstimulated and stimulated (SCF+TPO+Flt3-L) hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells without exposure to vector (no vector) were included. The percentages of cells in the G0/G1a, G1b, and S/G2/M phase of the cell cycle are indicated in the dot blots. (D) Freshly isolated CB hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells were transduced with BaEVTR-LVs and BaEVRless-LVs at an MOI = 10 for 24 hours. The cells were then injected into the liver of newborn NSG mice. On reconstitution for 12 weeks, the different hematopoietic tissues (BM, spleen, and thymus) of these engrafted mice were analyzed for human cell engraftment by anti-hCD45 staining (Table 1). Transduction levels of the different cell lineages in the BM of NSG reconstituted mice are presented (upper histograms). GFP+ immature early progenitor cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pre/pro-B cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro-B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), immature and mature B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>+</sup>), and myeloid progenitors (CD13<sup>+</sup>) are shown. Transduction levels of different cell lineages in the spleen of NSG reconstituted mice (lower histogram). The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> pre/pro-B cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro-B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), immature and mature B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>+</sup>), monocytes, and granulocytes (CD14<sup>+</sup>) are shown. Data for 4 representative

mice from Table 1 for each vector type are shown.

All transductions were performed in the presence of

RetroNectin.



cycle status and the integrity of the HSC pool.<sup>47-49</sup> Importantly, compared with hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells in G<sub>0</sub>, cells in G<sub>1</sub> or SG<sub>2</sub>M phases of the cell cycle demonstrated diminished engraftment. 44,48,50,51 Here, we show that BaEV-LVs achieve high transduction rates (60-90%) of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells when they are prestimulated briefly with rSCF, rTPO, or a combination of rSCF and rTPO. These mild cytokine stimulation protocols might strongly reduce the risk of HSC differentiation, cell cycle entry, and homing impairment and better conserve HSC function. In agreement, we previously confirmed that LVs displaying only the survival cytokine SCF at their surface transduced long-term SRCs.<sup>22-24</sup> Remarkably, our results indicated that BaEVgp-LVs can transduce up to 30% of unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, whereas VSV-G-LVs and RDTR-LVs remained inefficient. Thus, the former vectors might improve HSC transduction and conserve HSC potential, a combination needed for successful treatment of diseases in which gene-corrected repopulating cells have no selective advantage (eg, hemoglobinopathies). Although a higher level of HSC correction and conservation is of benefit for all monogenetic diseases, patients with Fanconi anemia would in particular benefit from resting hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction. Indeed, the Fanconi anemia genetic defect causes fragility of the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, which are strongly reduced in number in these patients.<sup>52</sup> Moreover, cytokine stimulation induces Fanconi anemia hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells into apoptosis. Therefore, minimizing hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell stimulation combined with efficient gene transfer would be invaluable for Fanconi anemia gene therapy.11,53,54

2

2

Immature/mature B

Pre/pro B

Pro B

DCD14

3

3

Spleen

That the transduction performance of BaEV-LVs is highly superior to the ones obtained by VSV-G-LVs, especially in quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, is not surprising because we recently solved this mystery by demonstrating that unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells do not express the VSV receptor LDL-R.<sup>16</sup> Even after a short-term cytokine stimulation, only a subpopulation up-regulated the LDL-R, limiting VSV-G-LV transduction.<sup>17</sup> The receptor for RD114, ASCT-2,<sup>31,32,55</sup> is upregulated in cytokine-prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells compared with unstimulated cells<sup>56</sup> (supplemental Figure 7), which might explain the low RDTR-LV transduction levels in quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, although some ASCT-2 expression is detected.<sup>57,58</sup> The RDTR-LV transduction levels obtained for cytokine-stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>

cells reached a plateau at 50% in agreement with many other reports.<sup>25,56,59-62</sup> Remarkably, the BaEV-LVs allowed hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction levels to significantly increase (80-90%) cytokine stimulation compared with RDTR-LVs, and they even achieved efficient transduction of these cells without any stimulation. Most probably, this increase must be attributed to the fact that, in contrast to RD114, BaEV recognizes the ASCT-1 receptor in addition to ASCT-2 on the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell population.<sup>34</sup> Indeed, both receptor mRNA levels are up-regulated cytokine stimulation (supplemental Figure 7), which might increase the affinity of BaEV-LV binding to hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells.

Currently, LVs for gene therapy are produced by transient transfection. To date, one important instrument missing is a stable LV packaging cell line. This proved more difficult than expected because some viral proteins are toxic for 293T-HEK producer cells such as the VSV-G envelope gp.<sup>63</sup> Several stable cell lines were engineered; however, they still are not used in the clinic.<sup>64-68</sup> Importantly, 2 stable cell lines for high-titer RDTR-LV production were engineered.<sup>30,69</sup> This points toward BaEVTR-gp as an important candidate for establishing a stable LV packaging cell line because its long-term expression is not cytotoxic to 293T cells (Figure 1D), and these vectors allow high-level HSC transduction. Of note, we confirmed that these BaEV-LVs also allow high-level gene transfer in human T and B cells (A.G-G. and E.V., unpublished data, June 2013).

Summarizing, the new BaEV-LVs allowed improvement of HSC gene transfer levels, accompanied by conservation of HSC function. They transduce unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells with NSG long-term repopulating capacity at high levels that are relevant for gene therapy. Therefore, these new pseudotypes can improve current clinical protocols for HSC-based gene therapy to assure lifelong cure.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank the staff of the animal care facility (Plateau de Biologie Expérimentale de la Souris) at the École normale supérieure (ENSa) de Lyon, the flow cytometry and vectorology platform (UMS3444/US8, Lyon, France). The authors also thank Ornélie Bernadin for help with experiments.

This work was supported by the following grants: Association Française contre les Myopathies, Agence Nationale de Recherche sur le Sida, Agence de Recherche sur le Cancer, and the European Community (FP7-HEALTH-2007-B/222878 "PERSIST" and E-RARE-06-01 "GETHERTHAL").

#### Authorship

Contribution: E.V. coordinated the project, designed and performed experiments, analyzed and discussed the data, and wrote the manuscript; A.G.-G. and F.A. designed and performed experiments, analyzed the data, discussed results; C.L., C.F., C.C., F.F., and D.N. performed experiments; D.L. provided reagents, critical discussion, and technical advice; and F.-L.C. provided critical discussion and reading of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest disclosure: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

Correspondence: Els Verhoeyen, CIRI/EVIR, ENS de Lyon, 46 Allée d'Italie, 69364 Lyon Cedex 07, France; e-mail: els. verhoeyen@ens-lyon.fr; or François-Loïc Cosset, CIRI/EVIR, ENS de Lyon, 46 Allée d'Italie, 69364 Lyon Cedex 07, France; e-mail: flcosset@ens-lyon.fr.

#### References

- Aiuti A, Slavin S, Aker M, et al. Correction of ADA-SCID by stem cell gene therapy combined with nonmyeloablative conditioning. *Science*. 2002;296(5577):2410-2413.
- Cavazzana-Calvo M, Hacein-Bey S, de Saint Basile G, et al. Gene therapy of human severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID)-X1 disease. *Science*. 2000;288(5466):669-672.
- Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Garrigue A, Wang GP, et al. Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. *J Clin Invest.* 2008;118(9):3132-3142.
- Hacein-Bey-Abina S, von Kalle C, Schmidt M, et al. A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(3): 255-256.
- Ott MG, Schmidt M, Schwarzwaelder K, et al. Correction of X-linked chronic granulomatous disease by gene therapy, augmented by insertional activation of MDS1-EVI1, PRDM16 or SETBP1. Nat Med. 2006;12(4):401-409.
- Biffi A, Bartolomae CC, Cesana D, et al. Lentiviral vector common integration sites in preclinical models and a clinical trial reflect a benign integration bias and not oncogenic selection. *Blood.* 2011;117(20):5332-5339.
- Cartier N, Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Bartholomae CC, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy with a lentiviral vector in X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy. *Science.* 2009;326(5954):818-823.
- Cavazzana-Calvo M, Payen E, Negre O, et al. Transfusion independence and HMGA2 activation

after gene therapy of human  $\beta$ -thalassaemia. Nature. 2010;467(7313):318-322.

- Biffi A, Montini E, Lorioli L, et al. Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy benefits metachromatic leukodystrophy. *Science*. 2013; 341(6148):1233158.
- Aiuti A, Biasco L, Scaramuzza S, et al. Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy in patients with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. *Science*. 2013; 341(6148):1233151.
- 11. Tolar J, Becker PS, Clapp DW, et al. Gene therapy for Fanconi anemia: one step closer to the clinic. *Hum Gene Ther*. 2012;23(2):141-144.
- Frecha C, Costa C, Nègre D, et al. Stable transduction of quiescent T cells without induction of cycle progression by a novel lentiviral vector pseudotyped with measles virus glycoproteins. *Blood.* 2008;112(13):4843-4852.
- Korin YD, Zack JA. Progression to the G1b phase of the cell cycle is required for completion of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription in T cells. *J Virol.* 1998;72(4): 3161-3168.
- Sutton RE, Reitsma MJ, Uchida N, Brown PO. Transduction of human progenitor hematopoietic stem cells by human immunodeficiency virus type 1-based vectors is cell cycle dependent. *J Virol.* 1999;73(5):3649-3660.
- Verhoeyen E, Dardalhon V, Ducrey-Rundquist O, Trono D, Taylor N, Cosset FL. IL-7 surfaceengineered lentiviral vectors promote survival and efficient gene transfer in resting primary T lymphocytes. *Blood*. 2003;101(6):2167-2174.

- Finkelshtein D, Werman A, Novick D, Barak S, Rubinstein M. LDL receptor and its family members serve as the cellular receptors for vesicular stomatitis virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. 2013;110(18):7306-7311.
- Amirache F, Lévy C, Costa C, et al. Mystery solved: VSV-G-LVs do not allow efficient gene transfer into unstimulated T cells, B cells, and HSCs because they lack the LDL receptor. *Blood.* 2014;123(9):1422-1424.
- Ahmed F, Ings SJ, Pizzey AR, et al. Impaired bone marrow homing of cytokine-activated CD34+ cells in the NOD/SCID model. *Blood*. 2004;103(6):2079-2087.
- Peled A, Petit I, Kollet O, et al. Dependence of human stem cell engraftment and repopulation of NOD/SCID mice on CXCR4. *Science*. 1999; 283(5403):845-848.
- Millington M, Arndt A, Boyd M, Applegate T, Shen S. Towards a clinically relevant lentiviral transduction protocol for primary human CD34 hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. *PLoS ONE*. 2009;4(7):e6461.
- Orford KW, Scadden DT. Deconstructing stem cell self-renewal: genetic insights into cell-cycle regulation. *Nat Rev Genet.* 2008;9(2):115-128.
- Verhoeyen E, Wiznerowicz M, Olivier D, et al. Novel lentiviral vectors displaying "early-acting cytokines" selectively promote survival and transduction of NOD/SCID repopulating human hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood.* 2005;106(10): 3386-3395.
- 23. Verhoeyen E, Relouzat F, Cambot M, et al. Stem cell factor-displaying simian immunodeficiency

viral vectors together with a low conditioning regimen allow for long-term engraftment of genemarked autologous hematopoietic stem cells in macaques. *Hum Gene Ther.* 2012;23(7):754-768.

- Frecha C, Costa C, Nègre D, et al. A novel lentiviral vector targets gene transfer into human hematopoietic stem cells in marrow from patients with bone marrow failure syndrome and in vivo in humanized mice. *Blood.* 2012;119(5):1139-1150.
- Sandrin V, Boson B, Salmon P, et al. Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with a modified RD114 envelope glycoprotein show increased stability in sera and augmented transduction of primary lymphocytes and CD34+ cells derived from human and nonhuman primates. *Blood*. 2002;100(3):823-832.
- Di Nunzio F, Piovani B, Cosset FL, Mavilio F, Stornaiuolo A. Transduction of human hematopoietic stem cells by lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with the RD114-TR chimeric envelope glycoprotein. *Hum Gene Ther.* 2007; 18(9):811-820.
- Hu J, Kelly P, Bonifacino A, et al. Direct comparison of RD114-pseudotyped versus amphotropic-pseudotyped retroviral vectors for transduction of rhesus macaque long-term repopulating cells. *Mol Ther.* 2003;8(4):611-617.
- Kelly PF, Donahue RE, Vandergriff JA, et al. Prolonged multilineage clonal hematopoiesis in a rhesus recipient of CD34 positive cells marked with a RD114 pseudotyped oncoretroviral vector. *Blood Cells Mol Dis.* 2003;30(1):132-143.
- Neff T, Peterson LJ, Morris JC, et al. Efficient gene transfer to hematopoietic repopulating cells using concentrated RD114-pseudotype vectors produced by human packaging cells. *Mol Ther.* 2004;9(2):157-159.
- Stornaiuolo A, Piovani BM, Bossi S, et al. RD2-MolPack-Chim3, a packaging cell line for stable production of lentiviral vectors for anti-HIV gene therapy. *Hum Gene Ther Methods*. 2013;24(4): 228-240.
- Marin M, Lavillette D, Kelly SM, Kabat D. N-linked glycosylation and sequence changes in a critical negative control region of the ASCT1 and ASCT2 neutral amino acid transporters determine their retroviral receptor functions. J Virol. 2003;77(5): 2936-2945.
- Rasko JE, Battini JL, Gottschalk RJ, Mazo I, Miller AD. The RD114/simian type D retrovirus receptor is a neutral amino acid transporter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1999;96(5):2129-2134.
- Tailor CS, Marin M, Nouri A, Kavanaugh MP, Kabat D. Truncated forms of the dual function human ASCT2 neutral amino acid transporter/ retroviral receptor are translationally initiated at multiple alternative CUG and GUG codons. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(29):27221-27230.
- Marin M, Tailor CS, Nouri A, Kabat D. Sodium-dependent neutral amino acid transporter type 1 is an auxiliary receptor for baboon endogenous retrovirus. J Virol. 2000;74(17): 8085-8093.
- Koo HM, Parthasarathi S, Ron Y, Dougherty JP. Pseudotyped REV/SRV retroviruses reveal restrictions to infection and host range within members of the same receptor interference group. *Virology*. 1994;205(1):345-351.
- Maurice M, Verhoeyen E, Salmon P, Trono D, Russell SJ, Cosset FL. Efficient gene transfer into human primary blood lymphocytes by surface-engineered lentiviral vectors that display a T cell-activating polypeptide. *Blood*. 2002;99(7): 2342-2350.
- Frecha C, Fusil F, Cosset FL, Verhoeyen E. In vivo gene delivery into hCD34+ cells in

a humanized mouse model. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2011;737:367-390.

- Szécsi J, Drury R, Josserand V, et al. Targeted retroviral vectors displaying a cleavage site-engineered hemagglutinin (HA) through HA-protease interactions. *Mol Ther.* 2006;14(5): 735-744.
- Frecha C, Costa C, Lévy C, et al. Efficient and stable transduction of resting B lymphocytes and primary chronic lymphocyte leukemia cells using measles virus gp displaying lentiviral vectors. *Blood*. 2009;114(15):3173-3180.
- Horn PA, Morris JC, Bukovsky AA, et al. Lentivirus-mediated gene transfer into hematopoietic repopulating cells in baboons. *Gene Ther.* 2002;9(21):1464-1471.
- Ito M, Kobayashi K, Nakahata T. NOD/Shi-scid IL2rgamma(null) (NOG) mice more appropriate for humanized mouse models. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* 2008;324:53-76.
- Shima H, Takubo K, Iwasaki H, et al. Reconstitution activity of hypoxic cultured human cord blood CD34-positive cells in NOG mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2009;378(3): 467-472.
- Cai S, Wang H, Bailey B, et al. Differential secondary reconstitution of in vivo-selected human SCID-repopulating cells in NOD/SCID versus NOD/SCID/gamma chain mice. *Bone Marrow Res.* 2011;2011:1-11.
- 44. Gothot A, van der Loo JC, Clapp DW, Srour EF. Cell cycle-related changes in repopulating capacity of human mobilized peripheral blood CD34(+) cells in non-obese diabetic/severe combined immune-deficient mice. *Blood.* 1998; 92(8):2641-2649.
- Passegué E, Wagers AJ. Regulating quiescence: new insights into hematopoietic stem cell biology. *Dev Cell*. 2006;10(4):415-417.
- Shima H, Takubo K, Tago N, et al. Acquisition of G₀ state by CD34-positive cord blood cells after bone marrow transplantation. *Exp Hematol.* 2010; 38(12):1231-1240.
- Tisdale JF, Hanazono Y, Sellers SE, et al. Ex vivo expansion of genetically marked rhesus peripheral blood progenitor cells results in diminished long-term repopulating ability. *Blood.* 1998;92(4):1131-1141.
- Jetmore A, Plett PA, Tong X, et al. Homing efficiency, cell cycle kinetics, and survival of quiescent and cycling human CD34(+) cells transplanted into conditioned NOD/SCID recipients. *Blood*. 2002;99(5):1585-1593.
- Glimm H, Oh IH, Eaves CJ. Human hematopoietic stem cells stimulated to proliferate in vitro lose engraftment potential during their S/G(2)/M transit and do not reenter G(0). *Blood*. 2000;96(13): 4185-4193.
- Gothot A, Pyatt R, McMahel J, Rice S, Srour EF. Functional heterogeneity of human CD34(+) cells isolated in subcompartments of the G0 /G1 phase of the cell cycle. *Blood.* 1997;90(11):4384-4393.
- Habibian HK, Peters SO, Hsieh CC, et al. The fluctuating phenotype of the lymphohematopoietic stem cell with cell cycle transit. *J Exp Med.* 1998; 188(2):393-398.
- Tolar J, Adair JE, Antoniou M, et al. Stem cell gene therapy for fanconi anemia: report from the 1st international Fanconi anemia gene therapy working group meeting. *Mol Ther.* 2011;19(7): 1193-1198.
- Jacome A, Navarro S, Río P, et al. Lentiviralmediated genetic correction of hematopoietic and mesenchymal progenitor cells from Fanconi anemia patients. *Mol Ther.* 2009;17(6): 1083-1092.

- Müller LU, Milsom MD, Kim MO, Schambach A, Schuesler T, Williams DA. Rapid lentiviral transduction preserves the engraftment potential of Fanca(-/-) hematopoietic stem cells. *Mol Ther.* 2008;16(6):1154-1160.
- Lavillette D, Marin M, Ruggieri A, Mallet F, Cosset FL, Kabat D. The envelope glycoprotein of human endogenous retrovirus type W uses a divergent family of amino acid transporters/cell surface receptors. J Virol. 2002;76(13):6442-6452.
- Kim YS, Wielgosz MM, Hargrove P, et al. Transduction of human primitive repopulating hematopoietic cells with lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with various envelope proteins. *Mol Ther.* 2010;18(7):1310-1317.
- Green BJ, Lee CS, Rasko JE. Biodistribution of the RD114/mammalian type D retrovirus receptor, RDR. J Gene Med. 2004;6(3):249-259.
- Lucas ML, Seidel NE, Porada CD, et al. Improved transduction of human sheep repopulating cells by retrovirus vectors pseudotyped with feline leukemia virus type C or RD114 envelopes. *Blood.* 2005;106(1):51-58.
- Ghani K, Wang X, de Campos-Lima PO, et al. Efficient human hematopoietic cell transduction using RD114- and GALV-pseudotyped retroviral vectors produced in suspension and serum-free media. *Hum Gene Ther.* 2009;20(9):966-974.
- Hanawa H, Persons DA, Nienhuis AW. High-level erythroid lineage-directed gene expression using globin gene regulatory elements after lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer into primitive human and murine hematopoietic cells. *Hum Gene Ther.* 2002;13(17):2007-2016.
- 61. Kelly PF, Vandergriff J, Nathwani A, Nienhuis AW, Vanin EF. Highly efficient gene transfer into cord blood nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency repopulating cells by oncoretroviral vector particles pseudotyped with the feline endogenous retrovirus (RD114) envelope protein. *Blood.* 2000;96(4):1206-1214.
- Relander T, Johansson M, Olsson K, et al. Gene transfer to repopulating human CD34+ cells using amphotropic-, GALV-, or RD114-pseudotyped HIV-1-based vectors from stable producer cells. *Mol Ther.* 2005;11(3):452-459.
- Yee JK, Friedmann T, Burns JC. Generation of high-titer pseudotyped retroviral vectors with very broad host range. *Methods Cell Biol.* 1994; 43(Pt A):99-112.
- Broussau S, Jabbour N, Lachapelle G, et al. Inducible packaging cells for large-scale production of lentiviral vectors in serum-free suspension culture. *Mol Ther.* 2008;16(3): 500-507.
- Klages N, Zufferey R, Trono D. A stable system for the high-titer production of multiply attenuated lentiviral vectors. *Mol Ther.* 2000;2(2):170-176.
- Throm RE, Ouma AA, Zhou S, et al. Efficient construction of producer cell lines for a SIN lentiviral vector for SCID-X1 gene therapy by concatemeric array transfection. *Blood.* 2009; 113(21):5104-5110.
- Farson D, Witt R, McGuinness R, et al. A newgeneration stable inducible packaging cell line for lentiviral vectors. *Hum Gene Ther.* 2001;12(8): 981-997.
- Sparacio S, Pfeiffer T, Schaal H, Bosch V. Generation of a flexible cell line with regulatable, high-level expression of HIV Gag/Pol particles capable of packaging HIV-derived vectors. *Mol Ther.* 2001;3(4):602-612.
- Ikeda Y, Takeuchi Y, Martin F, Cosset FL, Mitrophanous K, Collins M. Continuous high-titer HIV-1 vector production. *Nat Biotechnol.* 2003; 21(5):569-572.

#### MLV-A

MAARSTLSKPPQDKINPWKPLIVMGVLLGVGMAESPHQVFNVTWRVTNLMTGRTANATSLLGTVQDAFPKLYFDL CDLVGEEWDPSDQEPYVGYGCKYPAGRQRTRTFDFYVCPGHTVKSGCGGPGEGYCGKWGCETTGQAYWKPTS SWDLISLKRGNTPWDTGCSKVACGPCYDLSKVSNSFQGATRGGRCNPLVLEFTDAGKKANWDGPKSWGLRLYRT GTDPITMFSLTRQVLNVGPRVPIGPNPVLPDQRLPSSPIEIVPAPQPPSPLNTSYPPSTTSTPSTSPTSPSVPQPPPG TGDRLLALVKGAYQALNLTNPDKTQECWLCLVSGPPYYEGVAVVGTYTNHSTAPANCTATSQHKLTLSEVTGQGLC MGAVPKTHQALCNTTQSAGSGSYYLAAPAGTMWACSTGLTPCLSTTVLNLTTDYCVLVELWPRVIYHSPDYMYGQ LEQRTKYKREPVSLTLALLLGGLTMGGIAAGIGTGTTALIKTQQFEQLHAAIQTDLNEVEKSITNLEKSLTSLSEVVLQ NRRGLDLLFLKEGGLCAALKEECCFYADHTGLVRDSMAKLRERLNQRQKLFETGQGWFEGLFNRSPWFTTLISTI MGPLIVLLLILLFGPCILNRLVQFVKDRISVVQALVLTQQYHQLKPLEYEP

#### <u>RDTR</u>

MKLPTGMVILC\$LIIVRAGFDDPRKAIALVQKQHGKPCECSGGQVSEAPPNSIQQVTCPGKTAYLMTNQKWKCRVT PKISPSGGELQNCPCNTFQDSMHSSCYTEYRQCRRINKTYYTATLLKIRSGSLNEVQILQNPNQLLQSPCRGSINQP VCWSATAPIHISDGGGPLDTKRVWTVQKRLEQIHKAMTPELQYHPLALPKVRDDLSLDARTFDILNTTFRLLQMSNF SLAQDCWLCLKLGTPTPLAIPTPSLTYSLADSLANASCQIIPPLLVQPMQFSNSSCLSSPFINDTEQIDLGAVTFTNCT SVANVSSPLCALNGSVFLCGNNMAYTYLPQNWTRLCVQASLLPDIDINPGDEPVPIPAIDHYIHRPKRAVQFIPLLAG LGITAAFTTGATGLGVSVTQYTKLSHQLISDVQVLSGTIQDLQDQVDSLAEVVLQNRRGLDLLTAEQGGICLALQEKC CFYANKSGIVRNKIRTLQEELQKRRESLASNPLWTGLQGFLPYLLPLLGPLLTLLLILTIGPCVFNRLVQFVKDRISVV QALVLTQQYHQLKPLEYEP

#### BAEV wt

MGFTTKIIFLYNLVLVYAGFDDPRKAIELVQKRYGRPCDCSGGQVSEPPSDRVSQVTCSGKTAYLMPDQRWKCKSI PKDTSPSGPLQECPCNSYQSSVHSSCYTSYQQCRSGNKTYYTATLLKTQTGGTSDVQVLGSTNKLIQSPCNGIKG QSICWSTTAPIHVSDGGGPLDTTRIKSVQRKLEEIHKALYPELQYHPLAIPKVRDNLMVDAQTLNILNATYNLLLMSN TSLVDDCWLCLKLGPPTPLAIPNFLLSYVTRSSDNISCLIIPPLLVQPMQFSNSSCLFSPSYNSTEEIDLGHVAFSNCT SITNVTGPICAVNGSVFLCGNNMAYTYLPTNWTGLCVLATLLPDIDIIPGDEPVPIPAIDHFIYRPKR AIQFIPLLAGLGITAAFTTGATGLGVSVTQYTKLSNQLISDVQILSSTIQDLQDQVDSLAEVVLQNRRGLDLLTAEQGGI CLALQEKCCFYVNKSGIVRDKIKTLQEELERRKKDLASNPLWTGLQGLLPYLLPFLGPLLTLLLLLTIGPCIFNRLTAF INDKLNIIHAMVLTQQYQVLRTDEEAQD

#### BaEVTR

MGFTTKIIFLYNLVLVYAGFDDPRKAIELVQKRYGRPCDCSGGQVSEPPSDRVSQVTCSGKTAYLMPDQRWKCKSI PKDTSPSGPLQECPCNSYQSSVHSSCYTSYQQCRSGNKTYYTATLLKTQTGGTSDVQVLGSTNKLIQSPCNGIKG QSICWSTTAPIHVSDGGGPLDTTRIKSVQRKLEEIHKALYPELQYHPLAIPKVRDNLMVDAQTLNILNATYNLLLMSN TSLVDDCWLCLKLGPPTPLAIPNFLLSYVTRSSDNISCLIIPPLLVQPMQFSNSSCLFSPSYNSTEEIDLGHVAFSNCT SITNVTGPICAVNGSVFLCGNNMAYTYLPTNWTGLCVLATLLPDIDIIPGDEPVPIPAIDHFIYRPKR AIQFIPLLAGLGITAAFTTGATGLGVSVTQYTKLSNQLISDVQILSSTIQDLQDQVDSLAEVVLQNRRGLDLLTAEQGGI CLALQEKCCFYVNKSGIVRDKIKTLQEELERRRKDLASNPLWTGLQGLLPYLLPFLGPLLTLLLLLTIGPCIFNRLVQ

FVKDRISVVQALVLTQQYHQLKPLEYEP

#### BaEVRless

MGFTTKIIFLYNLVLVYAGFDDPRKAIELVQKRYGRPCDCSGGQVSEPPSDRVSQVTCSGKTAYLMPDQRWKCKSI PKDTSPSGPLQECPCNSYQSSVHSSCYTSYQQCRSGNKTYYTATLLKTQTGGTSDVQVLGSTNKLIQSPCNGIKG QSICWSTTAPIHVSDGGGPLDTTRIKSVQRKLEEIHKALYPELQYHPLAIPKVRDNLMVDAQTLNILNATYNLLLMSN TSLVDDCWLCLKLGPPTPLAIPNFLLSYVTRSSDNISCLIIPPLLVQPMQFSNSSCLFSPSYNSTEEIDLGHVAFSNCT SITNVTGPICAVNGSVFLCGNNMAYTYLPTNWTGLCVLATLLPDIDIIPGDEPVPIPAIDHFIYRPKRAIQFIPLLAGLGIT AAFTTGATGLGVSVTQYTKLSNQLISDVQILSSTIQDLQDQVDSLAEVVLQNRRGLDLLTAEQGGICLALQEKCCFYV NKSGIVRDKIKTLQEELERRRKDLASNPLWTGLQGLLPYLLPFLGPLLTLLLLLTIGPCIFNRLTAFINDKLNIIHAM

Supplementary Figure 1: Amino acid sequences of the MLV, RDTR and BaEV wt and chimeric glycoproteins. Colors are used to indicate the different domains: Signal peptides, Transmembrane, Cytoplasmic tail, R peptide, surface unit (SU) + part of the transmembrane (TM) unit.



# Supplementary Figure 2: hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell transduction with different LV pseudotypes at equivalent physical particle doses.

(A) CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated for 24h (SCF (100ng/ml), TPO, (20ng/ml), Flt3-L, (100ng/ml)) and transduced at the indicated HIV p24 levels with VSV-G-LVs or BaEVTR-LVs. After 24h transduction, cells were washed and cultured in the presence of the same cytokine cocktail for 6 more days. The % of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells was determined by FACS analysis.

(B) Same transduction protocol as in (A) but using unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells. \* p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

A



# Supplementary Figure 3: SIV vectors pseudotyped with BaEVgps allow efficient transduction of macaque BM CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells

(A) Cynomolgus and rhesus macaque BM CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated with rSCF, rTPO, rFlt3-L and IL-3 for 24h and were transduced with SIV-derived lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with RDTR, BaEVTR and BaEVRless gps. All transduction were performed in the presence of retronectin® at MOI of 10 (n=3) except for VSV-G-SIV-LV transductions which were performed at MOI of 100. GFP expression of the cells was analyzed 6 days after transduction by FACS. (B) Percentage of transduction of 293T cells by the indicated LV pseudotypes upon their incubation at 37°C in heat complement inactivated or in fresh macaque sera. Data for 2 different sera are shown.



### Supplementary Figure 4: LV-transduced CD34\*-cell engraftment in NSG mice.

Prestimulated (A) or resting (B) hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced with the indicated LV pseudotypes at MOI=10 and injected intrahepatically into newborn NSG mice. After 12 weeks of reconstitution, the bone marrow (BM) was harvested and assessed for levels of human cell engraftment (hCD45+).













### Supplementary Figure 5. BAEV-LVs confer high-level transduction of cytokinestimulated mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells in NSG mice.

(A) FACS analysis of multilineage engraftment in BM of an NSG mice upon 12 weeks of reconstitution with BaEVRless-LV transduced mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells. The upper right quadrants show the GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells within the early progenitors (hCD34<sup>+</sup>), B cells (hCD19<sup>+</sup>), myeloid progenitors (hCD13<sup>+</sup>), and monocytes (hCD14<sup>+</sup>) in the human graft (hCD45<sup>+</sup>-cells). FACS analysis of multi-lineage engraftment in NSG mice of BaEVRless-LV-transduced mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells in the spleen is shown in (B), while in (C) the transduced cells in the thymic subpopulations are shown (SP-4 (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>), SP-8 (CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>) and DP (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>). The FACS profiles are representative of 2 independent experiments.



# Supplementary Figure 6: BAEVgp-LVs allow efficient transduction of SCID repopulating hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells

(A) Analysis of engraftment of transduced human cells (GFP<sup>+</sup>) in the BM, spleen, thymus and blood of secondary transplanted mice reconstituted with hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells isolated from the primary NSG recipient mice that were reconstituted with pre-stimulated (TPO+SCF+Flk-3L) hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells transduced with BaEVTR-LVs or BaEVRless-LVs in the presence of retronectin®. (B) Analysis of engraftment of transduced human cells (GFP<sup>+</sup>) in the BM, spleen, thymus and blood of secondary transplanted mice reconstituted with hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells isolated from the primary NSG recipient mice that were reconstituted with hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells isolated from the primary NSG recipient mice that were reconstituted with unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells transduced with BaEVTR-LVs or BaEVRless-LVs in the presence of retronectin®.


### Supplementary Figure 7: ASCT-1 and -2 expression levels on unstimulated and cytokine-stimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells.

(A) Relative mRNA expression levels of ASCT-2 versus ASCT-1 in freshly isolated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells or CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells stimulated for 24h with TPO(20ng/ml), SCF (100ng/ml) and Flk-3L (100 ng/ml). Data for 3 independent cord blood donors are shown.
(B) Relative fold increase in ASCT-1 or ASCT-2 mRNA levels in stimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells (as in (A)) as compared to unstimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, for which mRNA levels were normalized to 1.

#### Supplementary methods

### FACS analysis

In vitro transduction of CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells was detected by anti-CD34-APC antibody.

For the detection of LV transduction of the engrafted human cells in NSG mice, flow cytometry analysis was performed using APC-conjugated anti-hCD45 antibody for the detection of total human cell engraftment in the bone marrow, thymus, peripheral blood and spleen. APC-coupled antibodies are used for the detection of hCD4, hCD56, hCD19, hCD14, and hCD13. Staining of progenitors and early B-cell population in spleen and BM is performed using anti-hCD34-APC, anti-hCD19-PECy7, anti-CD10PE. Staining of thymocytes with anti-hCD3-PE, anti-hCD8-PECy7 and anti-hCD4-APC is performed to screen for thymic subpopulations. Blood samples are stained using anti-CD3APC, anti-hCD19-PECy7, CD14-APC. All antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences (Le Pont de Claix, France).

Secondary recipient NSG mice for BAEVTR-LV transduction were analyzed for % of GFP<sup>+</sup> human B cells (CD19), human immature progenitor cells (CD34) and myeloid progenitor cells (CD13) by FACS.

#### Copy number detection

Estimation of the mean vector copy number per transduced cell was obtained by qPCR performed on human CB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells ten days after transduction.

Genomic DNA was prepared using NucleoSpin Tissue XS kits (Macherey Nagel, Hoerdt, France). Average vector copy number were determined by qPCR with primers amplifying the packaging signal (Primers: Fwd: TGT GTG CCC GTC TGT TGT GT, Rev: GAG TCC TGC GTC GAG AGA GC, Probe: CAG TGG CGC CCG AAC AGG GA) after normalization for endogenous b-actin genes (Primers: Fwd: TCC GTG TGG ATC GGC GGC TCC, Rev: CTG CTT GCT GAT CCA CAT CTG, Probe: CCT GGC CTC GCT GTC CAC CTT CCA). Results were compared with those obtained after serial dilutions of genomic DNA from a cell line containing one copy of the integrated lentiviral vector per haploid genome.

#### Production and concentration of lentiviral vectors

Self-inactivating HIV-1-derived vectors were generated by transfection of  $2x10^6$  293T cells per 10 cm culture plate in DMEM/10% FCS. Co-transfection by Ca<sub>2</sub>-PO<sub>4</sub> precipitation was performed with the Gag-Pol packaging construct 8.91 (8.6 µg) and the self-inactivating (SIN) HIV-1-derived vector coding for the GFP reporter under the control of a SFFV promoter (SIN-HIVSFFVGFP; 8.6 µg). For display of RDTR, BaEVTR and BaEVRLess gps on LVs, 7 µg of plasmid coding for these gps were co-transfected. For VSV-G-LV production, 3 µg of VSV-G encoding plasmid were transfected. At 16h post-transduction, the supernatant was replaced by Opti-MEM medium supplemented with HEPES (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, Germany). Viral supernatant was harvested 48 h post-transfection and filtrated through a 0.45 µm poresized membrane. Low speed centrifugation of the vectors was performed by overnight centrifugation at 3000xg and 4°C. Concentrated vectors are aliquoted and stored at -80°C. Titration was performed by adding serial dilutions of vector to 293T cells and the MOIs were expressed using 293T titers.

#### Titration of the lentiviral vectors

#### 1. Titration by FACS analysis

To determine the infectious titers of the HIV vectors, 293T cells were incubated with serial dilutions of the vector supernatants overnight. Medium on the cells is replaced with 2 ml fresh DMEM and cells are incubated for further 72h. The percentage of  $GFP^+$  cells is determined by FACS. To exclude GFP pseudo-transduction and thus verify that expression was only due to integrated vector copies we continued the culture of these 293T cells for 10 more days (4 passages) and determined again the percentage of  $GFP^+$  cells by FACS as also confirmed in parallel the titer by Q-PCR on these same samples (see below).

#### 2. Titration by Q-PCR

Genomic DNA was extracted from the 293T cells (kept in culture for 14 d after transduction) using the genomic DNA purification kit (Nucleospin Tissue XS, Macherey-Nagel, Hoerdt, France). Q-PCR to determine the titer was performed using Taqman gene expression master mix (Life Technologies, St Aubin, France) and following primer pairs and Taqman probes to amplify the lentiviral vector genome:

Lenti-F : 5'-TGT GTG CCC GTC TGT TGT GT-3'

Lenti-R : 5'-GAG TCC TGC GTC GAG AGA GC-3'

Lenti-Probe : 5'-CAG TGG CGC CCG AAC AGG GA-3'

Results were compared with those obtained after serial dilutions of genomic DNA from a 293T cell line containing one copy of the integrated lentiviral vector per haploid genome.

#### 3. Titration for physical particles (HIV p24gag content)

Vectors were titered for physical particles by measuring p24 antigen using an enzyme-linked immunoabsorbant assay (ELISA) following manufacturer's instructions (RetroTek-ZeptoMetrix, Buffalo, NY).

#### ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 mRNA detection by quantitative RT-PCR

To quantify ASCT1 and ASCT2 gene expression, we used reversed transcription combined with the PCR. Total RNA was isolated from purified unstimulated or SCF/TPO/Flt-3-L stimulated hCB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. 0.5µg of the total RNA from each sample was reverse transcribed into cDNA using the iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA synthesis kit (BIO-RAD, Marnes-la-Coquette). The amount of ASCT1, ASCT2 and GAPDH mRNA was determined using the Fast Start universal SYBR Green Master MIX (Rox, Roche, France) and the following primers:

- ASCT1 F: 5'- ATT GGT CCT GTT TGC TCT GG – 3'

- ASCT1 R: 5' – TGG GGA GAA TAA ACC TGC TG - 3'

- ASCT2 F: 5'- TAC ATT CTG TGC TGC CTG CT - 3'

- ASCT2 R: 5' – ATG AAA CGG CTG ATG TGC TT – 3'

- GAPDH F: 5' – AAG GTG AAG GTC GGA GTC AA – 3'

- GAPDH R: 5' – AAT GAA GGG GTC ATT GAT GG – 3'

The ASCT1 and ASCT2 mRNA levels were calculated relative to the GAPDH housekeeping gene and normalized to control conditions by using the 2<sup>-delta-Ct</sup> method.

#### Complement resistance assay

Stability of vector pseudotypes in human or macaque sera was examined by titrating surviving viral particles after incubation in 1:1 mixtures (vol/vol) of virus preparations with fresh sera for 1 hour at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Approximately  $5x10^{4}$  GFP infectious units (IU) of pseudotyped vector particles were used per point. Sera were harvested from healthy human and macaque blood donors. Stability of virions was calculated as the relative percentage of infectivity of macaque or human serum-treated viruses versus viruses treated with fœtal calf serum set to 100%.

#### Colony-forming-cell (CFC) assays

Three days upon transduction of the CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, they were washed once and seeded into methyl cellulose containing a cytokine coctail that supports myeloid differention according to manufacturer's recommendation (Stemcell technologies, Grenoble, France). After 14 days of culture in methyl cellulose, GFP<sup>+</sup> colonies were identified by fluorescence microscopy.

	Q-PCR <sup>a</sup>	FACS <sup>b</sup>
	(IU/ml)	(IU/ml)
VSV-G-1	1.2 x10 <sup>9</sup>	1.0 x10 <sup>9</sup>
VSVG-2	2.0 x10 <sup>9</sup>	2.9 x10 <sup>9</sup>
BaEVTR-1	2.5 x10 <sup>7</sup>	3.3 x10 <sup>7</sup>
BaEVTR-2	2.7 x10 <sup>7</sup>	3.0 x10 <sup>7</sup>
BaEVRLess-1	4.0 x10 <sup>7</sup>	3.5 x10 <sup>7</sup>
BaEVRLess-2	1.5 x10 <sup>7</sup>	1.1 x10 <sup>7</sup>

#### Supplementary table 1: Comparison of titers obtained by Q-PCR and FACS analysis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a-b</sup>: Titer of concentrated vectors obtained by incubation of 293T cells with serial dilution of the vector supernatants. At day 3 post-transduction cells were analyzed for % of GFP positive cells to calculate the vector titer (<sup>b</sup>) and in parallel cells were culture for 14 day, followed by isolation of genomic DNA for determination of titer by Q-PCR(<sup>a</sup>).

### Supplementary table 2. Titration of the lenti-vector pseudotypes by HIVp24 content

Pseudotype	p24 (ng/ml) (100x concentrated)
VSV-G	3150±1880
RDTR	3370±1140
BaEVTR	4510±1530
BaEVRLess	3620±1330

Supplementary table 3. Vector copy number of LV-transduced cytokine prestimulated and unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells.

		Vector	copy number
Pseudotype	MOI	stimulated CD34	unstimulated CD34
VSV-G	10	3.5 +/- 1.02	ND
VSV-G	100	4.9 +/- 0.89	ND
RDTR	10	2.7 +/- 1.75	ND
BaEVTR	10	4.4 +/- 1.60	3.5 +/- 1.90
BaEVRLess	10	2.8 +/- 1.80	1.3 +/- 1.10

	Myeloid proge- nitor GFP+ (%)		0	11	6	ND		27	11	11	27	12		49	80	62	65	65	44	50		25	61	73	QN	43	45	70
	Mature B GFP+ (%)		22	28	2	ND		40	22	25	29	38		46	<u> 6</u>	46	73	92	47	54		37	53	76	ND	56	52	99
EN	Pro B GFP+ (%)		29	39	б	ND		41	26	41	43	44		47	92	46	82	93	52	57		28	54	77	QN	59	52	71
SPLE	Pre/proB GFP+ (%)		22	16	<u>о</u>	ND		27	17	9	61	27		49	84	60	71	67	39	80		27	54	66	ΔN	64	49	71
	Early proge- nitor GFP+ (%)		17	7	10	ND		17	12	11	35	26		38	69	41	75	40	49	55		41	64	65	ND	53	46	60
	CD45+ GFP+ (%)		24	13	ო	26		38	38	20	23	52	•	38	82	65	69	83	42	76		42	53	70	71	48	53	67
	CD14+ GFP+ (%)		25	15	0	48		46	45	2	41	17		41	73	71	69	67	47	75		41	60	84	80	47	59	75
	Myeloid proge- nitor GFP+ (%)		20	11	0	49		41	57	11	49	25		44	83	56	82	80	53	83		44	61	83	75	57	57	69
MO	Mature B GFP+ (%)		18	7	<del>.</del>	30		37	81	10	29	59	• .	26	06	67	70	89	59	74		49	54	88	93	48	57	65
E MARR	Pro B GFP+ (%)		16	18	~	33		33	74	12	31	51	•	33	89	55	78	81	62	73		32	52	87	86	49	52	67
BON	Pre/proB GFP+ (%)		15	30	<del>.                                    </del>	31		26	60	13	55	16		58	93	58	82	78	46	73		33	68	86	75	39	65	69
	Early proge- nitor GFP+ (%)		14	8	-	47		33	56	14	51	8		37	83	42	80	74	31	65		25	65	76	83	37	53	17
	CD45+ GFP+ (%)		32	16	2	36		37	69	12	34	52		29	92	69	75	88	56	74		40	52	87	95	46	58	72
	BM engraftment		22	33	43	74		13	26	25	82	25		53	27	32	46	ω	87	27		20	61	89	9	56	72	18
	Pseudotype	NSV-G	-	2	ო	4	<b>RD114/TR</b>	-	2	ო	4	5	<b>BaEV/TR</b>	-	2	ო	4	5	9	7	BaEVRLess	-	2	ო	4	5	9	7

Supplementary Table 4. BaEV-LVs efficiently transduce pre-stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells that allow high level NSG engraftment

ND : not determined

Supplementary Table 5. BaEV-LVs efficiently transduce quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells that allow high-level NSG engraftment

		-															
	Myeloid proge- nitor GFP+ (%)		29	25	9	13	19	43	27		17	16	11	16	16	40	20
	Mature B GFP+ (%)		22	14	9	24	18	35	14		16	23	6	22	24	33	50
EN	Pro B GFP+ (%)		20	13	9	26	20	44	16		18	29	11	24	28	32	55
SPLE	Pre/proB GFP+ (%)		16	3	4	27	22	85	20		3	32	15	12	15	43	60
	Early proge- nitor GFP+ (%)		25	6	5	14	18	39	19		14	34	13	16	23	29	50
	CD45+ GFP+ (%)		19	14	8	19	16	36	18		16	26	13	20	23	30	52
	CD14+ GFP+ (%)		19	9	9	12	12	42	26		20	14	13	19	10	32	56
	Myeloid proge- nitor GFP+ (%)		18	6	9	27	15	40	27		25	21	11	24	11	39	52
MO	Mature B GFP+ (%)		2	6	34	16	7.3	38	25		24	27	15	17	11	36	47
E MARR	Pro B GFP+ (%)		10	с	4	17	ი	29	34		23	19	4	22	14	39	50
BON	Pre/proB GFP+ (%)		2	-	7	9	10	43	29	-	10	16	2	12	7	55	63
	Early proge- nitor GFP+ (%)		ო	1	5	17	12	28	23		12	12	4	12	ω	40	49
	CD45+ GFP+ (%)		ω	œ	9	16	14	36	35		22	22	11	19	11	36	50
	BM engraftment		71	73	14	81	06	81	61		20	75	29	72	65	17	85
	Pseudotype	BaEV/TR	-	2	3	4	5	9	2	BaEVRLess	•	2	3 S	4	5	9	7

3) MEASLES VIRUS GLYCOPROTEIN PSEUDOTYPED LVS TRANSDUCE CYTOKINE STIMULATED AND RESTING HSCS AT AN EFFICIENCY WITHOUT PRECEDENT Title:

Measles virus glycoprotein pseudotyped lentiviral vectors transduce cytokine stimulated and resting hematopoietic stem cells at an efficiency without precedent.

### (Manuscript in preparation)

Fouzia Amirache<sup>1-6,\*</sup>, Anaïs Girard-Gagnepain<sup>1-6,\*</sup>, Camille Lévy<sup>1-6,\*</sup>, Cecilia Frecha<sup>7</sup>, Caroline Costa<sup>1-6</sup>, Didier Nègre<sup>1-6</sup>, François-Loïc Cosset<sup>1-6</sup> and Els Verhoeyen<sup>1-6,8</sup>

### \* equal contribution, names listed in alphabetical order

<sup>1</sup>CIRI – International Center for Infectiology Research, Team EVIR, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France.

<sup>2</sup>Inserm, U1111, Lyon, France.

<sup>3</sup>Ecole Normale Supérieure de Lyon, Lyon, France.

<sup>4</sup>Université Lyon 1, Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Lyon, France. <sup>5</sup>CNRS, UMR5308, Lyon, France.

<sup>6</sup>LabEx Ecofect, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France.

<sup>7</sup>Laboratory of Neuroplasticity and Neurotoxins, Institute of cellular Biology and Neuroscience, Faculty of Medicine, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina

<sup>8</sup>Inserm, U1065, Centre Méditerranéen de Médecine Moléculaire (C3M), équipe "contrôle métabolique des morts cellulaires", Nice, 06204, France

Running title: MV-LV high-level transduction of G<sub>0</sub> HSCs

**Keywords:** lentiviral vector, HSCs, pseudotyping, resting cells, hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, gene therapy, measles virus

### Personal contribution:

I designed and performed experiments except for the results presented Figure 3, I analyzed and discussed the data and contribute in writing the manuscriptlj and designing the figures.

#### Abstract

Hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) based gene therapy holds promise for the cure of many inherited and acquired diseases. The field is now moving towards the use of lentiviral vectors (LVs) evidenced by several recent clinical trials. In these trials, VSV-G-LVs were applied at high doses to obtain therapeutically relevant transduction levels. Moreover, high gene transfer was only achieved with very strong cytokinecocktails compromising the 'HSC' character of the cells.

Previously, we have shown that measles virus (MV) glycoprotein displaying LVs (MV-LVs) were able to transduce efficiently stimulated and resting T and B cells, reflecting the natural tropism of MV. Here, we evaluated these MV-LVs for hCD34<sup>+</sup>cell transduction under mild cytokine prestimulation (TPO, SCF or SCF+TPO) in order to better preserve the 'HSC' characteristics. After a single application at a low vector doses, MV-LVs stably transduced 100% of TPO+SCF stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>cells, where VSV-G-LVs reached 5-10% transduction at the same vector doses. Even more striking was that these MV-LVs allowed at low vector doses efficient transduction of up to 50-70% of quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, an efficacy without precedent. Indeed, VSV-G-LVs only allowed up to 5 % transduction of these quiescent cells even at high vector doses. Importantly, reconstitution of NSG mice with MV-LV transduced pre-stimulated or resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells resulted in transduction levels reaching 100% or 70%, respectively, of all analyzed myeloid and lymphoid engrafted lineages in all hematopoietic tissues. This was also true for secondary mice engraftments. We revealed that the CD46 receptor is required and sufficient for MV-LV entry into hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells and that a different integration pattern was detected for MV-LVs in resting and stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells.

Together, these results strongly suggest that the MV-LVs efficiently transduce true HSCs at very high levels. This paves the way to HSC-based gene therapy of multiple diseases including diseases characterized by low numbers of HSCs such as Fanconi Anemia, for which high level HSC correction is needed to be successful.

154

#### Introduction

Hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) based gene therapy holds promise for the cure of many inherited and acquired diseases. The field is now moving towards the use of lentiviral vectors (LVs) evidenced by recent clinical trials (HSC): successful treatment of patients suffering from adrenoleukodystrophy (ALD)<sup>1</sup>,  $\beta$ -thalassemia<sup>2</sup>, metachromatic leukodystrophy<sup>3</sup> and Wiskott-Aldrich<sup>4</sup> syndrome was achieved by ex vivo correction of autologous HSCs employing LVs. Moreover, new trials for X-SCID and Fanconi anemia, two other severe monogenetic defects in children are being initiated.<sup>5,6</sup>

Genetically modified HSCs should retain similar properties as the unmodified ones. They should be able to both self-renew and differentiate into all the hematopoietic lineages. However, HSCs are poorly permissive for classical vesicular stomatitis virus G (VSV-G)-LV transduction because 75% of them reside in G<sub>0</sub> phase of the cell cycle, thought to be the phase that restricted VSV-G-LV transduction.<sup>7</sup> Indeed, using different lentiviral pseudotypes it was observed that in resting lymphocytes post-entry steps like completion of reverse transcription, nuclear import and chromosomal integration of the transgene do not occur. <sup>7-9</sup> We confirmed in addition a very low expression of the VSV receptor, the low density lipid-receptor (LDL-R;<sup>10</sup>) in unstimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, perfectly coinciding with their poor VSV-G-LV-mediated transduction.<sup>11</sup> Only 'early-acting-cytokine' stimulation of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, upregulating the LDL-R, permitted high-level VSV-G-LV transduction.<sup>11</sup>

However, intense exposure of HSCs to cytokines might affect their homing, trafficking ability and promote differentiation rather than expansion of the HSC pool.<sup>12,13</sup> High hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell transduction was only achieved combining high VSV-G-LV doses with strong cytokine-stimulation but the risk for multicopy integration and insertional mutagenesis cannot be neglected under these conditions.<sup>14,15</sup> Therefore, mild cytokine-stimulation allowing efficient HSC transduction is an important objective. Clearly to achieve this objective alternatives to classical VSV-G pseudotypes LVs are urgently needed.

155

Previously, we engineered LVs pseudotyped with modified measles virus (MV) envelope proteins, hemagglutinin (H), responsible for receptor recognition, and fusion protein (F). Most importantly, they represent the first tool to allow efficient transduction of guiescent human T cells and both healthy and cancerous B cells without inducing entry into the cell cycle or changes in phenotype.<sup>16-18</sup> The MV glycoproteins that are derived from the variant of the MV vaccine strain Edmonston, are truncated in their cytoplasmic tails to allow efficient incorporation into the lentiviral envelope. The respective vector particles (HF-LVs) are able to mediate cell entry via the native MV receptors human CD46 and signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM).<sup>17,19</sup> CD46 is a complement regulatory molecule expressed on all human nucleated cells<sup>20</sup>, whereas SLAM (CD150) is constitutively expressed at the surface of some T and B subsets and upregulated upon proliferation of T and B lymphocytes and mature dendritic cells.<sup>21,22</sup> Of importance, we found that efficient guiescent lymphocyte transduction only occurs when CD46 and SLAM are correctly engaged by these HF-LVs, which triggers an entry mechanism that strongly resembles macropinocytosis.<sup>23</sup> The recently identified third MV receptor Nectin-4 does not play a role in lymphocyte transduction as it is not expressed on these cell.<sup>24</sup>

Interestingly, the SLAM receptors belong to a new family of cell surface receptors of the immunoglobulin superfamily that regulates several leukocyte functions. These molecules which are cell-cell interaction and signaling receptors, are differentially expressed on distinct type of leukocytes and lymphocytes.<sup>25,26</sup> CD150 receptors are selectively expressed amoung primitive mouse progenitors in such a way that it is possible to highly purify murine BM and fetal liver HSCs using a simple combination of antibodies (Abs) directed against three of these receptors (CD150+, CD244-, and CD48-).<sup>27,28</sup> Importantly, multipotent progenitors do not express CD150, whereas CD244 and CD48 are expressed. This led to the term "SLAM code," whose applicability to human CD34<sup>+</sup> HS/PCs is still controversial.<sup>27-31</sup> Indeed, several reports already showed the absence of CD150 on the human CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> hematopoietic early progenitors, a subpopulation highly enriched in stem cells.<sup>30,32</sup>

Here we evaluated for the first time the HF-LVs for transduction of 'early acting cytokine' stimulated and unstimulated HSCs. We achieved transduction efficiencies

in prestimulated HSCs close to 100% upon a single step incubation with low doses of HF-LVs. Most remarkably though, was the fact that unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced up to 70-80%. Even upon transplantation in primary and secondary NSG recipients, this high level of gene modified cell persisted in all hematopoietic organs and in all myeloid and lymphoid lineages, emphasizing the very immature nature of the transduced cells. Thus for the first time, we achieved transduction levels of quiescent HSCs at levels without precedent thereby avoiding loss of 'stem cells' properties.

#### Material and methods

#### Plasmids

All Hgps and Fgp are inserted into pCG plasmids under the control of the cytomegalovirus early promoter. Cytoplasmic tails of all Hgps and Fgps were deleted by truncation of 24 and 30 amino acids (aa), respectively. Edm Hgp is the envelope gp form the Edmonston vaccinal strain. The SLAM-restricted vectors (HclinD4/F-LVs), SLAM-blind Hgps (Ha533), H-D4-YG were described previously.<sup>19,33</sup> The pCMV-G plasmid was described previously.<sup>34</sup>

#### Cell lines

CHO-SLAM (Chinese hamster ovary cells expressing SLAM) cells were grown in RPMI medium (Gibco, Invitrogen, Auckland, New Zealand) supplemented with 10% FCS and 50  $\mu$ g/ml of penicillin/Streptomycin; 293T (human kidney epithelial cells) were grown in DMEM (Gibco, Invitrogen, Auckland, New Zealand) medium supplemented as for RPMI medium.

#### Lentiviral vector production

Self-inactivating HIV-1-derived vectors were generated by transient transfection of 293T cells in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Invitrogen) as described previously.<sup>35</sup> Briefly, for codisplay of the different Hgps and Fgps, 3  $\mu$ g of each envelope plasmid was transfected together with a Gag-Pol packaging plasmid (8.91) and a plasmid encoding a self-inactivating lentiviral vector expressing green fluorescent protein (GFP) under the control of the spleen focus

foamy virus promoter ([SIN]-HIVSFFVGFP). Eighteen hours after transfection, the medium was replaced by Opti-MEM supplemented with HEPES (Invitrogen).

Viral supernatants were harvested 48 h after transfection and filtered. The vectors were concentrated at low speed by overnight centrifugation of the viral supernatants at 3,000g at 4°C. Infectious titers (in transduction units [TU]/ml) were determined by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) of target cells using serial dilutions of the supernatants added to the appropriate target cell (CHO-SLAM or 293T cells for SLAM- or CD46-tropic vectors, respectively). For detailed titer determination see below.

#### Titration of the lentiviral vectors

#### 1. Titration by FACS analysis

To determine the infectious titers of the HIV vectors, 293T cells were incubated with serial dilutions of the vector supernatants overnight. Medium on the cells is replaced with 2 ml fresh DMEM and cells are incubated for further 72h. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells is determined by FACS. To exclude GFP pseudo-transduction and thus verify that expression was only due to integrated vector copies we continued the culture of these 293T cells for ten more days (4 passages) and determined again the percentage of GFP+ cells by FACS as also confirmed in parallel the titer by Q-PCR on these same samples (see below).

#### 2. Titration by Q-PCR

Genomic DNA was extracted from the 293T cells (kept in culture for fourteen days after transduction) using the genomic DNA purification kit (Nucleospin Tissue XS, Macherey-Nagel, Hoerdt, France). Q-PCR to determine the titer was performed using Taqman gene expression master mix (Life Technologies, St Aubin, France) and following primer pairs and Taqman probes to amplify the lentiviral vector genome:

Lenti-F : 5'-TGT GTG CCC GTC TGT TGT GT-3'

Lenti-R : 5'-GAG TCC TGC GTC GAG AGA GC-3'

Lenti-Probe : 5'-CAG TGG CGC CCG AAC AGG GA-3'

Results were compared with those obtained after serial dilutions of genomic DNA from a 293T cell line containing one copy of the integrated lentiviral vector per haploid genome.

#### 3. Titration for physical particles (HIV p24gag content)

Vectors were titered for physical particles by measuring p24 antigen using an enzyme-linked immunoabsorbant assay (ELISA) following manufacturer's instructions (RetroTek- ZeptoMetrix, Buffalo, NY)

#### Sample collection and isolation of CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells

Cord blood (CB) samples and mobilized blood were collected in sterile tubes containing the anti-coagulant, citrate-dextrose (ACD, Sigma, France) after informed consent and approval was obtained by the institutional review according to the Helsinki declaration. Human and macaque CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were isolated as previously described.<sup>36,37</sup>

#### Transduction of human and macaque CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells

Human and macaque CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were incubated for 14h or 18-24h (as indicated) in 24-well plates in serum-free medium (CellGro, CellGenix, Germany) supplemented with human recombinant cytokines (as indicated): SCF (100ng/ml), TPO, (20ng/ml), Flt3-L, (100ng/ml), IL-6 (20ng/ml) and IL-3 (20ng/ml) (Preprotech, France). 5x10<sup>4</sup> prestimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced in 48-well plates with concentrated LVs at indicated MOIs in serum-free medium. Cells were replenished with cytokines every three days. Three, six and fourteen days after transduction, the % of GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells was determined by FACS. Alternatively, CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were freshly isolated and transduced immediately in absence of cytokines. Where indicated, transductions were performed on Retronectin® coated plates according to manufacturer's instructions (Takara, Japan). For myeloid differentiation of CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells see Supplementary methods.

#### Receptor blocking assay.

CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were seeded in 96-well plates and incubated for 2 h with anti-CD46 (clone 13/42; gift from R. Buckland, CIRI, Lyon, France), anti-SLAM (IPO-3; eBioscience, France) or anti-Nectin-4 (R and D System, Mineapolis USA) antibodies prior to infection. Concentrated viral supernatants were added to the cells at an MOI of 10, and three days after infection, transduction efficiency was analyzed by FACS.

#### Conditioning and reconstitution of NSG mice

NSG mice used were housed in our animal facility (PBES-Lyon, France). Experiments were performed in accordance with the EU guidelines upon approval of the protocols by the local ethical committee (Autorization agreement N° C2EA -15: CECCAPP, Lyon, France).

Two to 3-day-old newborn NSG mice were subjected to 1 Gy irradiation and 2x10<sup>5</sup> transduced prestimulated CB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were injected intra-hepatically. Unstimulated freshly isolated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced for 24h and 3x10<sup>5</sup> transduced CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were injected into NSG mice as above. After 12 weeks of reconstitution, extensive cell phenotyping in the different hematopoietic tissues by flow cytometry (BM, spleen, thymus, blood) of these mice was performed (see Supplementary methods).

For secondary engraftments, the CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were isolated from the BM of primary engrafted mice as above and 4-5x10<sup>5</sup> isolated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were injected into newborn NSG mice following the same procedure and phenotypic analysis as above.

#### **DNA extraction and Quantitative PCR**

Estimation of the mean vector copy number per transduced cell was obtained by qPCR performed on human CB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells ten days after transduction.

Genomic DNA was prepared using NucleoSpin Tissue XS kits (Macherey Nagel, Hoerdt, France). Average vector copy number were determined by qPCR with primers amplifying the packaging signal (Primers: Fwd: TGT GTG CCC GTC TGT TGT GT, Rev: GAG TCC TGC GTC GAG AGA GC, Probe: CAG TGG CGC CCG AAC AGG GA) after normalization for endogenous □-actin genes (Primers: Fwd: TCC GTG TGG ATC GGC GGC TCC, Rev: CTG CTT GCT GAT CCA CAT CTG, Probe: CCT GGC CTC GCT GTC CAC CTT CCA). Results were compared with those obtained after serial dilutions of genomic DNA from a cell line containing one copy of the integrated lentiviral vector per haploid genome.

#### Cell cycle analysis

Performed by staining DNA and RNA with 7-amino-actinomycin-D (7AAD) and pyronin-Y as previously described.<sup>16</sup>

#### FACS analysis

Receptor surface expression was detected with anti-CD46-PE, anti-SLAM-PE (BD Biosciences) and anti-Nectin-4-PE (R and D Systems, Mineapolis, USA ).

In vitro transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells was detected by APC-coupled anti-CD34 antibody. Transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were also stained with anti-CD34-Pacific blue, anti-CD90-APC and anti CD38PE. Cells dissociated from the CFC colonies were washed once in PBS and stained with anti-GlyA-PE, anti-CD14APC, anti-CD15PECy7, antiCD71PE. All these antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences.

For the detection of LV transduction of the engrafted human cells in NSG mice flow cytometry analysis was performed using APC-conjugated anti-hCD45 antibody for the detection of total human cell engraftment in the bone marrow, thymus, peripheral blood and spleen. APC-coupled antibodies were used for the detection of hCD4, hCD56, hCD19, hCD14, and hCD13. Staining of progenitors and early B-cell population in spleen and BM was performed using anti-hCD34-APC, anti-hCD19-PECy7, anti-CD10PE. Staining of thymocytes with anti-hCD3-PE, anti-hCD8-PECy7 and anti-hCD4-APC was performed to screen for thymic subpopulations. Blood samples were stained using anti-CD3APC, anti-hCD19-PECy7, CD14-APC. All antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences.

Secondary recipient NSG mice for BAEVTR-LV transduction were analysed for % of GFP<sup>+</sup> hB cells (hCD19<sup>+</sup>), human immature progenitor cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>) and myoloid progenitor cells (CD13<sup>+</sup>) by FACS.

#### Results

## HF-LVs outperform VSV-G-LVs for the transduction of immature hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells upon mild cytokine-prestimulation and at low vector doses.

HSCs are important gene therapy targets since upon correction they can reconstitute and correct the entire hematopoietic system.<sup>1-4</sup> Since the lentiviral vectors displaying the measles virus glycoprotein (HF-LVs) developed in our lab were successful in transducing multiple other hematopoietic cells, we tested these vectors for early progenitor hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell transduction. We pre-stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells with multiple cytokines (SCF/TPO/FIt3-L) and transduced them with VSV-G- and HF-LVs at a MOI of 10 (in addition MOI of 100 for VSV-G-LVs was used) in the presence or

absence of the transduction facilitating agent, Retronectin. The HF-LVs outperformed the other pseudotypes for the transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, in the presence of Retronectin (Figure 1A). Importantly, under these conditions up to 100% of the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced by a single exposure to the HF-LVs. Since it is difficult to compare different pseudotypes using their infectious titers, we also transduced stimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells with equivalent amounts of physical particles (HIV p24). Previously, we verified that p24 levels (ng/ml) were equivalent for HF-LVs and VSV-G-LVs.<sup>38</sup> Significantly higher transduction of CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells for HF-LVs as compared to VSV-G-LVs was confirmed (Supplementary Figure 1).

Strong stimulation with a cytokine-cocktail can induce HSC-differentiation and loss of self-renewal and homing capacity. Thus, the less the cells are prestimulated, the more they keep their 'stem cell' characteristics.<sup>12,13,36,37,39</sup> Therefore, we performed LV transductions of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells using different cytokine-prestimulation conditions: 1) stimulation with a single cytokine (rSCF or rTPO); 2) rSCF+rTPO; 3) rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L (Figure 1B). Remarkably, TPO-stimulation is sufficient to transduce hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells up to 75% using HF-LVs, while VSVG-LVs transduced on average only 5 % of the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells at low vector doses (MOI 10). A single SCFprestimulation permitted up 90% HF-LV mediated transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, while VSVG-LVs reached maximum transduction levels of 10% at MOI of 10. A combination of TPO+SCF prestimulation and a single hit with HF-LV resulted in up to 98% hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell transduction, while VSVG-LVs, at same MOI, achieved on average 10% transduction. The triple cytokine-cocktail (TPO+SCF+Flt-3L) resulted still similar transduction levels for the HF-LVs (up to 100 %), while at the same vector doses (MOI =10), VSV-G-LVs did not even transduce 10% of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells. Even when VSV-G-LVs were employed at MOI of 100, HV-LVs gene transfer efficiencies were still significantly higher at MOI of 10 and this for all the different stimulation protocols (Figure 1B).

For both rSCF+rTPO and rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L stimulations, stable transduction was demonstrated by differentiation of the transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells into myeloid lineages (Figure 1C and D).

Since a lower vector copy number/cell might reduce the risk of genotoxicity, we tested different vector doses under rSCF+rTPO and rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L

stimulation conditions. HF-LVs transduced significantly higher levels of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells at low vector doses than the VSV-G-LVs. They reached 90% transduction for both cytokine stimulation conditions at an MOI of 5, while VSV-G-LVs did not even reach 5% transduction (Figure 1E and F). Only at MOI of 100, the VSV-G-LVs allowed efficient hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell transduction rates (60%), equivalent to the performance of HF-LVs at a MOI of 1 (Figure 1 E and F). For as well rSCF+rTPO and rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L cytokine-stimulations, HF-LV transduction reached a plateau at 90-100 % for a MOI of 5. As expected, increasing vector doses coincided with increasing vector copy number/cell (Supplementary Figure 2).

Mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells are readily accessible valuable target cells for gene therapy in the clinic. Similar to CB hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, HF-LVs allowed > 95 % transduction of mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells and this transduction level persisted in colony forming cells (CFCs) derived from these cells indicating that short-term progenitors were stably transduced (Supplementary Figure 3).

Since MV can infect non human primates, an important preclinical animal model, we confirmed that BM CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were efficiently transduction by simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) derived vectors pseudotyped with H and F MV gps (up to 90% transduction, Supplementary Figure 4).

Concluding, HF-LVs outperformed VSV-G-LVs by far for gene tranfer in hCD34<sup>+</sup>- cells, even when using low cytokine-stimulation combined with low vector doses.

### HF-LV pseudotypes permit high-level transduction of resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells

Since HF-LVs permitted efficient transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells upon stimulation with a single cytokine (e.g TPO or SCF; Figure 1B), we hypothesized that their binding and signaling through the MV receptors might be sufficient to transduce unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells as demonstrated previously for T and B cells.<sup>16,17</sup> Omitting cytokine stimulation in the transduction protocol might avoid differentiation and loss of the HSC subpopulation.<sup>12,13</sup>

Freshly isolated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were therefore transduced with HF- and VSV-G-LVs in the absence of exogenous stimuli. Importantly, the HF-LVs were able to efficiently transduce resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells at levels not reported before (40-70%) in the absence of any stimulus following a single exposure at low vector doses (MOI= 10; Figure 2A). In agreement with our previous reports<sup>11,40,41</sup>, the VSV-G-LVs were unable to transduce efficiently resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, even when applied at high vector doses (Figure 2A; MOI 100). In contrast to cytokine prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, their resting counterparts require at least an MOI of 10 for efficient MV-LV gene transfer. Lower vector doses (MOI=5) resulted in a sharp drop of transduction reaching 10% on average (Figure 1E, F versus 2B).

We next verified if HF-LV mediated transduction did not skew the CD34<sup>+</sup>-cell population. Upon HF-LV transduction of resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells we gated on gene modified (GFP<sup>+</sup>) and untransduced cells (GFP<sup>-</sup>). We demonstrated that the most immature population enriched in HSCs, which is characterized by surface markers CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup>, was equivalent for both subpopulations indicating that HF-LV transduction did not induce skewing. Importantly, this suggest that this HSC-enriched population was efficiently transduced by the MV-LVs (Figure 2C and data not shown).

As efficient transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells with classical VSV-G-LVs requires cytokine-pre-stimulation<sup>11</sup>, which leads to cell cycle entry (Figure 2D) and probably differentiation, we wanted to exclude that HF-LV binding to the MV receptors induced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell cycle entry. Using a method that allows simultaneous visualization of DNA and RNA<sup>42</sup>, we evaluated cell cycle entry upon transduction with the different pseudotypes (Figure 2D). As controls, hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were incubated without vector in the absence or presence of cytokine stimulation. Although HF-LVs resulted in high-level hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell transduction (Figure 2A), these cells did not actively enter into the cell cycle but resided into the G0/G1a cell cycle phase. This is essential since the majority of the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells with SCID repopulating potential reside in the G0 phase of the cell cycle.<sup>43,44</sup> A low vector copy number/cell was revealed for the HF-LV transduction of CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells (Supplementary Figure 2).

Measles virus infections are characterized by a generalized immune suppression, which involves inadequate activation and maturation of antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells; also transient lymphopenia is a hallmark of

MV-induced immunosuppression. Reports on the effect of MV on bone marrow cells in vivo and its consequence on hematopoiesis leading to immunosuppression are still contradictory.<sup>30,32</sup> Since Boussaad et al.<sup>32</sup> reported a suppressing effect of MV-LVs on de the development of hCD34<sup>+</sup> derived short-term progenitors, we wanted to verify if HF-LVs did not interfere with the differentiation of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells into myeloid lineages. HF-LV transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were plated into cytokine-enriched methyl cellulose and GFP expression was detected after fourteen days. The HF-LV hCD34<sup>+</sup> gene transfer levels persisted in the myeloid colonies (CFCs) confirming that shortterm progenitors were stably transduced (Figure 2E). Equivalent numbers of CFCs for HF-LV transduced and untransduced cells were obtained and FACS analysis of the bulk CFC colonies showed the presence of the different myeloid lineages all transduced to the same extent: erythrocytes, granulocytes, monocytes and macrophages, as also immature proliferating progenitors (Figure 2F). Moreover, the frequencies of BFU-E, CFU-GM, CFU-granulocyte erythroid macrophage megakaryocyte colonies observed for HF-LV transduced cells did not significantly differ from un-transduced counterparts (data not shown).

Thus, HF-LVs allow for the first time very high-level transduction of resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>- cells without skewing this cell population, nor affecting their short term myeloid differentiation capacity.

## MV-LV gene transfer to high levels of resting and cytokine-activated CD34<sup>+</sup>- cells due to binding and entry through the CD46 receptor

Since these H/F-LVs are able to transduce early-cytokine stimulated and quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells it was important to elucidate the roles of the MV receptors, CD46, SLAM and Nectin-4, in the transduction process of MV-LVs in these primary gene therapy target cells. Previously, we have shown that both SLAM and CD46, are required for MV-LV entry into lymphocytes and dendritic cells.<sup>19,38</sup> Therefore, initially the expression levels of the MV receptors were quantified by FACS analysis on hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell surface (Fig 3A). CD46 was expressed on the vast majority of cytokine-stimulated and resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells (98% and 99% respectively). Of note, CD46 expression levels were enhanced on cytokine stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, and marked by 2-fold increase in MFI as compared to resting cells (Figure 3A). In contrast, SLAM was almost undetectable at the surface of as well quiescent as stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-

cells in agreement with a previous reports<sup>30,32</sup>, which confirmed that SLAM, a valid surface marker for murine HSCs is not applicable for human HSCs (Figure 3A and <sup>29</sup>). Nectin-4 was also barely present in agreement with its targeted expression on endothelial cells<sup>24</sup>. When CD46 expression was evaluated after different timepoints of early-acting-cytokine stimulation, a gradual upregulation of CD46 density was detected at hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell surface (Figure 3B). In order to establish a link between CD46 expression and hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, as well resting as stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were sorted into two subpopulations, one with high and one with low CD46 surface density and subsequently transduced with HF-LVs. The lowest transduction levels perfectly coincided with the lowest CD46 surface density on these cells (Figure 3C). In order to get a better insight into the roles of the MV receptors in H/F-LV transduction, hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell were isolated and immediately incubated with specific mAbs against CD46, SLAM or Nectin-4 receptors before transduction with H/F-LVs. The blocking of the CD46 receptor on stimulated and guiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells completely abrogated H/F-LV-transduction while blocking the SLAM or Nectin 4 receptors had no significant effect (Fig 3D and 3E). Moreover, we already demonstrated before that HF-LVs efficiently bind to as well resting as cytokine-activated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells.<sup>11</sup>

In order to study the roles of SLAM and CD46 in the transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup>cells, we employed a series of LVs pseudotyped with different H envelope glycoproteins (gps) (Figure 3F): 1) Hgp that contains both binding residues to SLAM and CD46 (H;<sup>17,35</sup>); 2) a CD46-tropic H mutant in which one residue (R533A) of Edm-Hgp responsible for binding/fusing through SLAM was ablated (H533) <sup>45</sup>; 3) SLAMtropic Hgps derived from clinical strains (H-D4)<sup>46,47 48</sup>; 4) a SLAM/CD46 binding mutant was engineered by adding the mutation N481Y (responsible for binding to CD46) to the clinical strain H-D4. The mutation E492G present in Edm strain Hgp was included in addition as it has been shown to stabilize CD46 binding and the mutant was named H-D4-YG<sup>49,50</sup> (Figure 3F).

H533/F-LVs which do not recognize SLAM receptor was capable of transducing cytokine prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells while H-D4/F-LVs which do not recognize CD46 receptor were refractory for transduction of these cells. Introduction of the CD46 binding sites in HD4-YG/F-LVs restored transduction. Results showed

that transduction was impossible when CD46 binding sites in H were absent whereas presence of CD46 binding residues permitted efficient transduction.

These results showed that CD46 was the only MV receptor involved in HF-LVs entry into hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells and that the level of transduction was highly correlated with CD46 surface density.

## HF-LVs promote high-level transduction of prestimulated and resting SCID repopulating cells in primary recipient NSG mice.

Since the NOD/SCID  $\gamma c^{--}$  mice (NSG<sup>51,52</sup>) model allowed high level human cell engraftment is was our model of choice to evaluate the long-term reconstitution capacity of HF-LV-transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells *in vivo*. To address this question we transplanted prestimulated CB hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells transduced with HF- and VSVG-LVs into irradiated NSG mice. A comparable high level and variability of engraftment with human cells was detected for both pseudotypes (Figure 4A), indicating that the migration and engraftment of these transduced early progenitors was not impaired.

Overall, VSVG-LVs allowed a much lower transduction of SCID repopulating cells (SRCs) as compared to HF-LVs. HF-LVs transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells resulted in the highest transduction levels of engrafted human cells in the BM (up to 100 % CD45<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells). These high transduction levels were sustained in the primary recipient mice in all hematopoietic tissues (BM, spleen and thymus; Figure 4B). Detailed flow cytometry analysis of the BM revealed equivalent high level transduction for the different B cell subpopulations (CD19<sup>+</sup> preB/proB, proB and immature/mature B cells), CD13<sup>+</sup> myeloid progenitors and CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes (Figure 5A). Importantly, for the HF-LVs equivalent high levels of GFP<sup>+</sup> early progenitors (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>) were detected. In contrast, we observed for VSV-G-LVs a high transduction variability between different tissues and the different cell lineages in the BM (Figure 5A). Consistent with these results, detailed phenotyping of the splenocytes revealed a similar transduction profile (Figure 5B) and also the thymocytes and all thymic subpopulations were transduced to the same extent (Supplementary Figure 5).

In order to evaluate if HF-LVs transduced long-term reconstituting HSCs in the resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell population, we applied a short transduction protocol (18-24h) at low vector doses (MOI=10) without any addition of cytokines before injection into NSG newborn mice. High-level reconstitution with human cells was detected for HF-LV transduced G0 hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, indicating that the homing, engraftment and differentiation capacity of these cells was not affected (Figure 4C). Moreover, the human cell engraftment for HF-LV transduced G0 hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells was as high as for their pre-stimulated counterparts (Figure 4A versus 4C). Interestingly, two groups of mice could be identified: the low transduction group (up to 50%) and the group with high (>80%) transduction efficiencies. For the high transduction groups equivalent high transduction rates in the BM and the spleen were revealed (Figure 4D), while the low transduction group repetitively showed lower thymocyte transduction. As for the prestimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, detailed flow cytometry analysis of the BM revealed equivalent high level transduction for the different B cell subpopulations (CD19<sup>+</sup> preB/proB, proB and immature/mature B cells), CD13<sup>+</sup> myeloid progenitors and CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes (Figure 5C). Importantly, for the HF-LVs equivalent high levels of GFP<sup>+</sup> early progenitors (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>) were detected. Consistent with these results, detailed phenotyping of the splenocytes revealed a similar transduction profile (Figure 5D).

#### H/F-LVs promote high-level transduction of prestimulated and resting HSCs

To confirm that true HSCs were gene-modified, secondary reconstitutions of NSG mice were performed with hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells isolated from primary NSG mice previously reconstituted with HF-LV transduced prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells (Figure 6A and B). To improve engraftment into secondary recipients the primary NSG BM hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were cultured before injection in SCF and IL-6 to maintain their homing capacity.<sup>53</sup> At 12 weeks post-transplantation, the BM and spleen of the secondary recipient mice were analyzed for the percentage of hCD45<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells (Figure 6A). In the spleen and BM the % of CD45<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells was maintained or even increased in the secondary NSG recipients. Importantly, for HF-LVs high levels of CD34<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup> early progenitors, lymphoid (CD19<sup>+</sup>) and myeloid (CD13<sup>+</sup> and CD14<sup>+</sup>) cells were detected in the BM of these secondary recipient mice and equivalent percentages of

GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells were detected in the different lymphoid and myeloid lineages in BM (data not shown).

Secondary reconstitutions of NSG mice were also performed for the HF-LV transduced resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells. The percentage of CD45<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells in the BM was increased in four secondary recipient mice as compared to primary NSG mice (Figure B). Importantly, for HF-LVs high levels of transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitors, lymphoid (CD19<sup>+</sup>) and myeloid (CD13<sup>+</sup> and CD14<sup>+</sup>) cells were detected in the BM of these secondary recipient mice (Figure 6C). In the spleen of these secondary recipient mice, equivalent percentages of GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells were detected in myeloid cells (CD14<sup>+</sup>) and lymphoid cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>) (Figure 6D).

In summary, these HF-LVs allowed high-level genetic modification of very early progenitor repopulating cells, so-called hHSC in the prestimulated and unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell population, able to home, engraft and differentiate into all the different lineages in primary and secondary NSG mice.

Overall, these data strongly suggest that HF-LVs allowed genetic modification of very early progenitor cells, hHSCs, allowing long-term engraftment and differentiation into all the different cell lineages in vivo.

#### Discussion

Highly efficient gene delivery without compromising stem cell function is a holy grail in HSC gene therapy. Here we show that measles virus glycoprotein pseudotyped LVs (H/F-LVs) permit to transduce HSCs, not exposed to any exogenous stimulation agent, to an extent not reported before (50-70% transduction). This results were strengthened by the conservation of high transduction levels in lymphoid and myeloid lineages in all hematopoietic tissues of primary recipient NSG mice. Secondary engraftment showed a remarkable enhancement of transduction in the whole hematopoietic lineage in 100% of the NSG mice without any exception. This suggest that, although HF-LVs transduce efficiently very primitive and progenitor hematopoietic cells in the quiescent state, the effect is more pronounced in the primitive HSCs and points toward a preservation of the primitive HSCs. Note that transduction in mildly cytokine stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells still increased transduction

(up to 100%). This means that the HF-LVs overcome an important barrier for clinical gene therapy using the classical VSVG-LVs, which demonstrate limited efficiency in particular in resting HSCs<sup>11,40,41</sup>.

It it essential to transduce the HSCs without changing their capacity to selfrenewal, homing and differentiation capacity in the whole hematopoietic lineage, which is supported by minimal or no stimulation of these targets. Indeed, culture of HSCs in cytokines leads to loss of engraftment potential in immunodeficient mice while VSV-G-LV transduction remains limited. Thus, there is a trade-off between transduction efficiently and engraftment potential for classical VSV-G-LVs but not for HF-LV mediated resting HSC transduction.

Wang and colleagues<sup>54</sup> showed that rapamycin, an inhibitor of mTOR complexes, strongly facilitated efficient VSV-G-LV transduction in pre-stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells also reaching 100% and enhanced marking frequency of longterm engrafting SCID repopulating cells. However, the effect of VSV-G-LV transduction on resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells was not enhanced at all by the addition of this drug<sup>54</sup>. This is according to our recent data due to the absence of the VSV receptor, LDL-R, on resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells whereas we demonstrated a clear upregulation by early acting cytokine stimulation of LDL-R<sup>11</sup>. This was in agreement with an increased binding of VSV-G-LVs to cytokine stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells as compared to resting cells. Note that rapamycin treatment does not influence LDL receptor levels at the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell surface. These authors suggest that rapamycin enhances post-binding events, leading to increased levels of LV cytoplasmic entry, reverse transcription and genomic integration. Thus, it is tempting to speculate that HF-LV transduction of resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells at low vector doses (MOI 1-3) might still be increased by addition of rapamycin through release of post-entry blocks in resting CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells. Especially, Wang et al. confirmed that the rapamycin transduction enhancing effect was also valid for LV pseudotyped with Lassa virus envelope. However, caution in use of this drug is warranted because of the known block in cell cycle progression that it induces<sup>54</sup>.

Importantly for clinical application, although transient immune suppression is a hallmark of MV infection or vaccination<sup>30,32</sup> we established here that HF-LV

transduction did not affect hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell short-term differentiation in contrast with wt MV<sup>32</sup>. HF-LVs did also not adversely affect the engraftment ability of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells and resulted in normal hematopoiesis *in vivo* upon engraftment in NSG mice. Of importance, we identified the CD46 as the measles virus receptor allowing this spectacular HF-LV transduction efficiency for as well quiescent as cytokine stimulated HSCs.

Several foundings pointed toward CD46 as HF-LV entry receptor on hCD34+ cells: 1) the SLAM receptor co-responsible with CD46 for efficient resting T and B cell transduction<sup>16,17,19</sup> was absent from the surface of as well resting as stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells; 2) an antibody interfering with binding of HF-LVs to the cell surface on hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells abolished transduction completely; 3) HF-LVs blind for CD46 attachment<sup>19,33</sup> were unable to transduce hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells; 4) cytokine-stimulation increased the CD46 density on the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell surface perfectly coinciding with increased transduction efficiency; 5) addition of retronectin, a component of fibronectin approaching vector to the cell surface allowed a significant gain in transduction of quiescent cells probably because this still augmented HF-LV binding to the CD46 complement receptor. Indeed, in the absence of retronectin we obtained equivalent binding of HF-LVs to resting and stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells<sup>11</sup>. The mechanism explaining this high-level HF-LV entry and productive transduction needs to be investigated but as for T and B cells CD46 binding might induce an alternative cell entry using macropinocytosis.<sup>19</sup>

During engraftment, transplanted HSCs home to the BM niche, where they initiate both differentiation and self-renewal. There, they reside in a hypoxic niche, where they acquire dormancy and maintain stemness.<sup>52,55</sup> It might be, therefore, crucial to not over-expose the hCD34<sup>+</sup> HSCs to cytokines, currently required for high-level transduction with VSV-G-LVs.<sup>12,13</sup> Indeed, recent clinical trials<sup>1-4</sup> still use strong cytokine-cocktails, although this can affect the cell cycle status and the integrity of the HSC pool.<sup>56-58</sup> Importantly, compared with hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells in G0, cells in G1 or SG2M phases of the cell cycle demonstrated diminished engraftment.<sup>43,57,59,60</sup>. Very recently we demonstrated that a new lentiviral vector pseudotype carrying the Baboon envelopes at their surface (BaEV-LVs) outperformed by far VSV-G-LVs for human HSC transduction<sup>41</sup>. This new LV-pseudotype that conferred high-level

transduction of the HSC subset in the prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell population. Both BaEV- and H/F LVs succeed in transducing efficiently hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells upon mild cytokine stimulation.

Most interestingly, BaEV- and H/F-LVs manage to transduce up to 30% and 70% respectively of resting HSCs. The latter represents a transduction level never reached before in these resting targets. The clinical interest of transducing resting HSCs are multiple as stated above. H/F-LVs are superior to BaEV-LVs for transducing resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells due to the differential expression of their receptors. Indeed, the expression of both ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 BaEV-LV receptors are upregulated by more than 2- and 6-fold respectively when hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells are stimulated with early acting cytokines. On the other hand, we report here that resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells already express the human complement receptor CD46 at high density at the their cell surface and that this receptor is used for H/F-LV entry. This gain of H/F-LV as compared to BaEV/LVs in transducing unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, might be important in a clinical setting. Thus, the former vectors still improve HSCtransduction and conserve HSC-potential, a combination needed for successful treatment of diseases in which gene-corrected repopulating cells have no selective advantage (eg hemoglobinopathies). Although, a higher level of HSC correction and conservation is of benefit for all monogenetic diseases, Fanconi Anemia (FA) patients would in particular benefit of resting hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell transduction. Indeed, the FA genetic defect causes fragility of the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, which are strongly reduced in number in the patients.<sup>61</sup> Moreover, cytokine-stimulation induces FA hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells into apoptosis. Therefore, minimizing hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell stimulation combined with efficient gene transfer would be invaluable for FA gene therapy.<sup>6,62,63</sup>

One important question that needs attention is to verify if the genomic accessibility for HF-LV integration differs between resting and stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>- cells. Indeed, chromosomal accessibility for LV integration might be altered by cytokine stimulation, inducing mRNA transcription and cell cycle entry. Therefore, the genomic integration profile of HF-LVs such as integrations in or close to oncogenes, in actively transcribed region or in methylated genomic sites in unstimulated resting and cytokine-stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells awaits detailed future examination to estimate the long-term safety of the these vectors.

Taken together, the efficient transduction of resting HSCs by HF-LVs have major translational implications giving hope for more complex disease such as Fanconi anemia but also for many other inherited or acquired diseases. These HF-LVs have the potential to significantly improve clinical efficacy of gene delivery to HSCs, allowing to use low vector doses, short exposure and omitting cytokine stimulation but nevertheless allowing high enough LV copy numbers per cell. HF-LVs could open the door to for future research in hematopoiesis and clinical applications still out of reach today.

#### Aknowledgement

We would like to thank the staff of the animal care facility (PBES) at the ENS de Lyon, the flow cytometry and vectorology platform (UMS3444/US8, Lyon, France) and in particular Ornélie Bernadin for technical assistance. We would like to acknowledge the support by the following grants: AFM, ANRS, ARC and the European Community (FP7-HEALTH-2007-B/222878 "PERSIST", E-RARE-06-01 "GETHERTHAL".

# Figure 1: HF-LVs allow close to 100% transduction of prestimulated human CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells.

(A) hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were pre-stimulated with a cytokine cocktail (TPO,SCF, Flt3) and transduced with H/F- or VSV-G-LVs at indicated MOIs in the presence or absence of retronectin. Six days post-transduction the cells were analyzed for the % of GFP<sup>+</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells by FACS (means +/- SD; n=6). (B). hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated for 18h as followed: 1) SCF or TPO alone, 2) SCF+TPO; 3) SCF+TPO+Flk-3L. Subsequently they were transduced with H/F- or VSV-G-LVs at indicated MOIs in the presence of retronectin. Six days post-infection the cells were evaluated for the % of hCD34<sup>+</sup> GFP<sup>+</sup> cells by FACS. (means +/- SD; n=5). (C) and (D) show the comparison between the transduction level of CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells and the myeloid colonies drived from these cells (GFP<sup>+</sup>CFCs) for CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells prestimulated with SCF+TPO (C) or SCF+TPO+Flk-3L (D). Transductions were performed at MOI 100 for VSV-G-LVs and MOI=10 for HF-LVs. (E, F) hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated with SCF+TPO (D) or SCF+TPO+Flk-3L (E). Subsequently, they were transduced with H/F- or VSV-G-LVs at decreasing MOIs in the presence of retronectin. Six days post-infection the cells were prestimulated with H/F- or VSV-G-LVs and MOI=10 for HF-LVs. (E, F) hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells by FACS.

## Figure 2. HF-LVs allow high-level transduction of unstimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells without altering their immature phenotype

(A) Freshly isolated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced with H/F- or VSV-G-LVs at indicated MOIs in the presence or absence of retronectin. Three days post-infection the cells were evaluated for the % of hCD34<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells by FACS (means +/- SD; n=6). (B) Unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced with H/F-LVs at increasing MOIs in the presence of retronectin. Three days post-infection the cells were analyzed for the % of hCD34<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells by FACS (means +/- SD; n=6). (C). Surface marking of very immature progenitors (CD34<sup>+</sup>/CD38<sup>-</sup>/CD90<sup>+</sup>) for the transduced (GFP<sup>+</sup>) and untransduced (GFP<sup>-</sup>) cells. The arrows indicate the gated area. (D) Cell cycle progression was monitored by simultaneously visualizing the RNA (Pyronine-Y) and DNA (7-AAD) content of the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells three days after transduction. The percentages of cells in the G0/G1a, G1b, S/G2/M phase of the cell cycle are indicated in the dot blots. (E) Comparison between the % GFP<sup>+</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup> quiescent cells

and the % GFP<sup>+</sup> myeloid colonies (CFCs) derived from these transduced CD34<sup>+</sup>- cells. (**F**) Surface staining of the different tranduced myeloid colonies derived from quiescent transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells (glyA for erythrocytes; CD15 and CD14 for granulocytes, monocytes and macrophages, CD71 for immature proliferating progenitors.

# Figure 3. HF-LVs utilize exclusively the CD46 measles virus receptor for high level transduction of stimulated and quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells

(A) Surface staining for the measles receptors (SLAM, CD46 and Nectin-4) on resting or pre-stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells. (B) Quantification of CD46 surface expression (Mean Fluorescence intensity) of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells at different timepoints of cytokine stimulation (TPO+SCF+ Flk-3L). (C) Prestimulated and resting CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were stained for CD46 and each sorted for low and high CD46 expression. Obtained subpopulations were tranduced with H/F-LVs in the presence of retronectin and transduction efficiency was analyzed by FACS three days later. (D, E) Prestimulated (D) and resting (E) hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced with H/F-LVs (MOI 10) in the absence or presence of anti-CD46, anti-SLAM or anti-nectin-4 blocking antibodies (Ab). Three days post-transduction, GFP expression in these cells was determined by FACS. Transduction levels are presented as GFP expression relative to the H/F-LV transduction in the absence of antibody, set to 100% (means +/- SD; n=3). (F). Schematic representation of the different MV hemagglutinin gp's (Hgps). The MV vaccinal Edmonston strain Hgp contains binding residues for both SLAM and CD46 (H). CD46-tropic mutant Hgp were engineered by mutating one residue of Edm Hgp responsible for binding/fusion through SLAM (R533A; Ha533). SLAM-tropic Hgp was derived from the clinical strain D4 (H-D4). H-D4-YG was obtained by introducing CD46 binding residus (481Y and 492G) into the H-D4 envelope. Prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were tranduced with H/F-, H-D4/F-, H533/F- or H-D4-YG/F-LVs and GFP expression was analyzed by FACS six days later (mean +/- SD, n=4).

# Figure 4: H/F-LVs transduced stimulated and resting hCD34 maintain high-level gene marking upon NSG mice reconstitution.

hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated with a cytokine cocktail (TPO+SCF+Flk-3L) for 16 h (A,B) or not (C,D) and transduced with HF-LVs at MOI=10 or VSV-G at MOI=100 in presence of retronectin for 36 h. Subsequently the cells (2E5) were injected into the

liver of irradiated newborn NOD/SCID gammac<sup>-/-</sup> mice (NSG mice). Upon reconstitution for 12 weeks, the bone marrow, spleen and thymus of these primary engrafted mice were analyzed. (**A**, **C**) Total human cell engraftment analyzed by anti-hCD45 staining using FACS. (**B**, **D**) The percentage of transduction human cells (GFP<sup>+</sup>hCD45<sup>+</sup> cells) was analyzed by FACS in the different hematopoietic tissues (bone marrow, spleen and thymus).

## Figure 5. H/F-LV transduced stimulated and resting hCD34 maintain equivalent high gene marking in myeloid and lymphoid lineages in vivo

hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated with a cytokine cocktail (TPO+SCF+Flk-3L) for 16 h (A,B) or not (C,D) and transduced with HF-LVs at MOI=10 or VSV-G at MOI=100 in presence of retronectin for 36 h. Subsequently the cells (2E5) were injected into the liver of irradiated newborn NOD/SCID gammac<sup>-/-</sup> mice (NSG mice). Upon reconstitution for 12 weeks, the bone marrow, spleen and thymus of these primary engrafted mice were analyzed. **(A, C)** Transduction levels of the different hematopietic cell lineages in the BM of NSG reconstituted mice. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> immature early progenitor cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pre/pro B cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pre/pro B cells (CD34<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>) and myeloid progenitors (CD13<sup>+</sup>) are shown. **(B, D)** Transduction levels of different cell lineages in the spleen of NSG reconstituted mice. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> pre/pro B cells (CD34+CD19+CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro B cells (CD34+CD19+CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro B cells (CD34+CD19+CD10<sup>-</sup>), and myeloid progenitors (CD13<sup>+</sup>) are shown. **(B, D)** Transduction levels of different cell lineages in the spleen of NSG reconstituted mice. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> pre/pro B cells (CD34+CD19+CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro B cells (CD34+CD19+CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro B cells (CD34+CD19+CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>-</sup>), pro B cells (CD34<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup>CD10<sup>+</sup>), monocytes and granulocytes (CD14<sup>+</sup>) are shown.

## Figure 6. H/F-LVs transduce long-term reconstituting HSCs at levels approaching 100%.

Transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were injected into the liver of irradiated newborn NSG mice. Upon reconstitution, the bone marrow and spleen of these primary engrafted mice (1st transplantation) were analysed for transduced human cell engraftment (GFP<sup>+</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup>) in the BM and the spleen. Subsequently, the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, isolated from the BM of these mice, were injected following the same procedure as for the primary NSG engraftments. Eight weeks upon engraftment these secondary engrafted mice were analysed for the % of transduced human cells (hCD45<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>) in the BM and spleen. **(A, C)** Analysis of engraftment of transduced human cells (hCD45<sup>+</sup>GFP<sup>+</sup>) in the BM and spleen of primary and secondary transplanted mice

reconstituted with hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells prestimulated (**A**) with a cytokine cocktail (TPO+SCF+Flk-3L) or unstimulated (**C**) and transduced with H/F-LVs. (**B**, **D**) Detailed phenotypic analysis of transduced human cells in the BM of secondary transplanted mice reconstituted with pre-stimulated (B) or unstimulated (D) H/F-LV transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells. Analysis of transduced human cells (GFP<sup>+</sup>) in the myeloid progenitors (CD13<sup>+</sup>), monocytes (CD14), progenitors cells (CD34) and B cells (CD19) in secondary recipient mice.

### References

1. Cartier N, Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Bartholomae CC, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy with a lentiviral vector in X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy. Science. 2009;326(5954):818-823.

2. Cavazzana-Calvo M, Payen E, Negre O, et al. Transfusion independence and HMGA2 activation after gene therapy of human beta-thalassaemia. Nature. 2010;467(7313):318-322.

3. Biffi A, Montini E, Lorioli L, et al. Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy benefits metachromatic leukodystrophy. Science. 2013;341(6148):1233158.

4. Aiuti A, Biasco L, Scaramuzza S, et al. Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy in patients with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Science. 2013;341(6148):1233151.

5. Mukherjee S, Thrasher AJ. Gene therapy for PIDs: progress, pitfalls and prospects. Gene. 2013;525(2):174-181.

6. Tolar J, Becker PS, Clapp DW, et al. Gene therapy for Fanconi anemia: one step closer to the clinic. Hum Gene Ther. 2012;23(2):141-144.

7. Sutton RE, Reitsma MJ, Uchida N, Brown PO. Transduction of human progenitor hematopoietic stem cells by human immunodeficiency virus type 1-based vectors is cell cycle dependent. J Virol. 1999;73(5):3649-3660.

8. Case SS, Price MA, Jordan CT, et al. Stable transduction of quiescent CD34(+)CD38(-) human hematopoietic cells by HIV-1-based lentiviral vectors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(6):2988-2993.

9. Uchida N, Sutton RE, Friera AM, et al. HIV, but not murine leukemia virus, vectors mediate high efficiency gene transfer into freshly isolated G0/G1 human hematopoietic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(20):11939-11944.

10. Finkelshtein D, Werman A, Novick D, Barak S, Rubinstein M. LDL receptor and its family members serve as the cellular receptors for vesicular stomatitis virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(18):7306-7311.

11. Amirache F, Levy C, Costa C, et al. Mystery solved: VSV-G-LVs do not allow efficient gene transfer into unstimulated T cells, B cells, and HSCs because they lack the LDL receptor. Blood. 2014;123(9):1422-1424.

12. Ahmed F, Ings SJ, Pizzey AR, et al. Impaired bone marrow homing of cytokine-activated CD34+ cells in the NOD/SCID model. Blood. 2004;103(6):2079-2087.

13. Peled A, Petit I, Kollet O, et al. Dependence of human stem cell engraftment and repopulation of NOD/SCID mice on CXCR4. Science. 1999;283(5403):845-848.

14. Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Garrigue A, Wang GP, et al. Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. J Clin Invest. 2008;118(9):3132-3142.

15. Hacein-Bey-Abina S, von Kalle C, Schmidt M, et al. A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(3):255-256.

16. Frecha C, Costa C, Levy C, et al. Efficient and stable transduction of resting B lymphocytes and primary chronic lymphocyte leukemia cells using measles virus gp displaying lentiviral vectors. Blood. 2009;114(15):3173-3180.

17. Frecha C, Costa C, Negre D, et al. Stable transduction of quiescent T cells without induction of cycle progression by a novel lentiviral vector pseudotyped with measles virus glycoproteins. Blood. 2008;112(13):4843-4852.

18. Levy C, Frecha C, Costa C, et al. Lentiviral vectors and transduction of human cancer B cells. Blood. 2010;116(3):498-500; author reply 500.

19. Frecha C, Levy C, Costa C, et al. Measles virus glycoprotein-pseudotyped lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer into quiescent lymphocytes requires binding to both SLAM and CD46 entry receptors. J Virol. 2011;85(12):5975-5985.

20. Liszewski MK, Post TW, Atkinson JP. Membrane cofactor protein (MCP or CD46): newest member of the regulators of complement activation gene cluster. Annu Rev Immunol. 1991;9:431-455.

21. Aversa G, Carballido J, Punnonen J, et al. SLAM and its role in T cell activation and Th cell responses. Immunol Cell Biol. 1997;75(2):202-205.

22. Cocks BG, Chang CC, Carballido JM, Yssel H, de Vries JE, Aversa G. A novel receptor involved in T-cell activation. Nature. 1995;376(6537):260-263.

23. Frecha C, Levy C, Costa C, et al. Measles virus glycoprotein-pseudotyped lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer into quiescent lymphocytes requires binding to both SLAM and CD46 entry receptors. J Virol;85(12):5975-5985.

24. Muhlebach MD, Mateo M, Sinn PL, et al. Adherens junction protein nectin-4 is the epithelial receptor for measles virus. Nature. 2011;480(7378):530-533.

25. de Swart RL, Ludlow M, de Witte L, et al. Predominant infection of CD150+ lymphocytes and dendritic cells during measles virus infection of macaques. PLoS Pathog. 2007;3(11):e178.

26. de Vries RD, Lemon K, Ludlow M, et al. In vivo tropism of attenuated and pathogenic measles virus expressing green fluorescent protein in macaques. J Virol. 2010;84(9):4714-4724.

27. Kiel MJ, Yilmaz OH, Iwashita T, Yilmaz OH, Terhorst C, Morrison SJ. SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell. 2005;121(7):1109-1121.

28. Yilmaz OH, Kiel MJ, Morrison SJ. SLAM family markers are conserved among hematopoietic stem cells from old and reconstituted mice and markedly increase their purity. Blood. 2006;107(3):924-930.

29. Larochelle A, Savona M, Wiggins M, et al. Human and rhesus macaque hematopoietic stem cells cannot be purified based only on SLAM family markers. Blood. 2011;117(5):1550-1554.

30. Manchester M, Smith KA, Eto DS, Perkin HB, Torbett BE. Targeting and hematopoietic suppression of human CD34+ cells by measles virus. J Virol. 2002;76(13):6636-6642.

31. Sintes J, Romero X, Marin P, Terhorst C, Engel P. Differential expression of CD150 (SLAM) family receptors by human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Exp Hematol. 2008;36(9):1199-1204.

32. Boussaad I, Varagnolo L, Hornich V, et al. Wild-type measles virus interferes with short-term engraftment of human CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells. J Virol. 2011;85(15):7710-7718.

33. Levy C, Amirache F, Costa C, et al. Lentiviral vectors displaying modified measles virus gp overcome pre-existing immunity in in vivo-like transduction of human T and B cells. Mol Ther. 2012;20(9):1699-1712.

34. Maurice M, Verhoeyen E, Salmon P, Trono D, Russell SJ, Cosset FL. Efficient gene transfer into human primary blood lymphocytes by surface-engineered lentiviral vectors that display a T cell-activating polypeptide. Blood. 2002;99(7):2342-2350.

35. Frecha C, Fusil F, Cosset FL, Verhoeyen E. In vivo gene delivery into hCD34+ cells in a humanized mouse model. Methods Mol Biol. 2011;737:367-390.

36. Verhoeyen E, Wiznerowicz M, Olivier D, et al. Novel lentiviral vectors displaying "early-acting cytokines" selectively promote survival and transduction of NOD/SCID repopulating human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2005;106(10):3386-3395.
37. Verhoeyen E, Relouzat F, Cambot M, et al. Stem cell factor-displaying simian immunodeficiency viral vectors together with a low conditioning regimen allow for long-term engraftment of gene-marked autologous hematopoietic stem cells in macaques. Hum Gene Ther. 2012;23(7):754-768.

38. Humbert JM, Frecha C, Amirache Bouafia F, et al. Measles virus glycoproteinpseudotyped lentiviral vectors are highly superior to vesicular stomatitis virus G pseudotypes for genetic modification of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Virol. 2012;86(9):5192-5203.

39. Horn PA, Morris JC, Bukovsky AA, et al. Lentivirus-mediated gene transfer into hematopoietic repopulating cells in baboons. Gene Ther. 2002;9(21):1464-1471.

40. Frecha C, Costa C, Negre D, et al. A novel lentiviral vector targets gene transfer into human hematopoietic stem cells in marrow from patients with bone marrow failure syndrome and in vivo in humanized mice. Blood. 2012;119(5):1139-1150.

41. Girard-Gagnepain A, Amirache F, Costa C, et al. Baboon envelope pseudotyped lentiviral vectors outperform VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors for gene transfer into cytokine-stimulated and resting hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2014.

42. Verhoeyen E, Dardalhon V, Ducrey-Rundquist O, Trono D, Taylor N, Cosset FL. IL-7 surface-engineered lentiviral vectors promote survival and efficient gene transfer in resting primary T lymphocytes. Blood. 2003;101(6):2167-2174.

43. Gothot A, van der Loo JC, Clapp DW, Srour EF. Cell cycle-related changes in repopulating capacity of human mobilized peripheral blood CD34(+) cells in non-obese diabetic/severe combined immune-deficient mice. Blood. 1998;92(8):2641-2649.

44. Passegue E, Wagers AJ. Regulating quiescence: new insights into hematopoietic stem cell biology. Dev Cell. 2006;10(4):415-417.

45. Leonard VH, Hodge G, Reyes-Del Valle J, McChesney MB, Cattaneo R. Measles virus selectively blind to signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (SLAM; CD150) is attenuated and induces strong adaptive immune responses in rhesus monkeys. J Virol;84(7):3413-3420.

46. Kremer JR, Brown KE, Jin L, et al. High genetic diversity of measles virus, World Health Organization European Region et al. 2005-2006. Emerg Infect Dis. 2008;14(1):107-114.

47. Rogalska J, Santibanez S, Mankertz A, Makowka A, Szenborn L, Stefanoff P. Spotlight on measles 2010: An epidemiological overview of measles outbreaks in Poland in relation to the measles elimination goal. Euro Surveill;15(17).

48. Vongpunsawad S, Oezgun N, Braun W, Cattaneo R. Selectively receptor-blind measles viruses: Identification of residues necessary for SLAM- or CD46-induced fusion and their localization on a new hemagglutinin structural model. J Virol. 2004;78(1):302-313.

49. Seki F, Takeda M, Minagawa H, Yanagi Y. Recombinant wild-type measles virus containing a single N481Y substitution in its haemagglutinin cannot use receptor CD46 as efficiently as that having the haemagglutinin of the Edmonston laboratory strain. J Gen Virol. 2006;87(Pt 6):1643-1648.

50. Tahara M, Takeda M, Seki F, Hashiguchi T, Yanagi Y. Multiple amino acid substitutions in hemagglutinin are necessary for wild-type measles virus to acquire the ability to use receptor CD46 efficiently. J Virol. 2007;81(6):2564-2572.

51. Ito M, Kobayashi K, Nakahata T. NOD/Shi-scid IL2rgamma(null) (NOG) mice more appropriate for humanized mouse models. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2008;324:53-76.

52. Shima H, Takubo K, Iwasaki H, et al. Reconstitution activity of hypoxic cultured human cord blood CD34-positive cells in NOG mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2009;378(3):467-472.

53. Cai S, Wang H, Bailey B, et al. Differential Secondary Reconstitution of In Vivo-Selected Human SCID-Repopulating Cells in NOD/SCID versus NOD/SCID/gamma chain Mice. Bone Marrow Res. 2011;2011:252953.

54. Wang CX, Sather BD, Wang X, et al. Rapamycin relieves lentiviral vector transduction resistance in human and mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2014;124(6):913-923.

55. Shima H, Takubo K, Tago N, et al. Acquisition of G(0) state by CD34-positive cord blood cells after bone marrow transplantation. Exp Hematol. 2010;38(12):1231-1240.

56. Tisdale JF, Hanazono Y, Sellers SE, et al. Ex vivo expansion of genetically marked rhesus peripheral blood progenitor cells results in diminished long-term repopulating ability. Blood. 1998;92(4):1131-1141.

57. Jetmore A, Plett PA, Tong X, et al. Homing efficiency, cell cycle kinetics, and survival of quiescent and cycling human CD34(+) cells transplanted into conditioned NOD/SCID recipients. Blood. 2002;99(5):1585-1593.

58. Glimm H, Oh IH, Eaves CJ. Human hematopoietic stem cells stimulated to proliferate in vitro lose engraftment potential during their S/G(2)/M transit and do not reenter G(0). Blood. 2000;96(13):4185-4193.

59. Gothot A, Pyatt R, McMahel J, Rice S, Srour EF. Functional heterogeneity of human CD34(+) cells isolated in subcompartments of the G0 /G1 phase of the cell cycle. Blood. 1997;90(11):4384-4393.

60. Habibian HK, Peters SO, Hsieh CC, et al. The fluctuating phenotype of the lymphohematopoietic stem cell with cell cycle transit. J Exp Med. 1998;188(2):393-398.

61. Tolar J, Adair JE, Antoniou M, et al. Stem cell gene therapy for fanconi anemia: report from the 1st international Fanconi anemia gene therapy working group meeting. Mol Ther. 2011;19(7):1193-1198.

62. Jacome A, Navarro S, Rio P, et al. Lentiviral-mediated genetic correction of hematopoietic and mesenchymal progenitor cells from Fanconi anemia patients. Mol Ther. 2009;17(6):1083-1092.

63. Muller LU, Milsom MD, Kim MO, Schambach A, Schuesler T, Williams DA. Rapid lentiviral transduction preserves the engraftment potential of Fanca(-/-) hematopoietic stem cells. Mol Ther. 2008;16(6):1154-1160.



B 100 80 SCF SCF/TPO SCF/TPO/Flt3-L 40 20 0 VSV-G VSV-G MOI 10 MOI 100 MOI 100



Figure 1







0

0.2





Figure 2.



Figure 3.











Supplementary Figure 1: hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell transduction with different LV pseudotypes at equivalent physical particle doses.

(A) CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated for 24h (SCF (100ng/ml), TPO, (20ng/ml), Flt3-L, (100ng/ml)) and transduced at the indicated HIV p24 levels with VSV-G-LVs or HF-LVs. After 24h transduction, cells were washed and cultured in the presence of the same cytokine cocktail for 6 more days. The % of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells was determined by FACS analysis.

(B) Same transduction protocol as in (A) but using unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells.



Supplementary figure 2: Copy number detection in HF-LV transduced CD34+ cells.

hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were pre-stimulated with a cytokine cocktail (TPO,SCF, Flt3) or left unstimulated (G0 CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells) and transduced with H/F-LVs at indicated MOIs in the presence of retronectin. 10 days post-transduction genomic DNA was isolated from these cells and the copy number of integrated vecto / cell was determined by Q-PCR.



#### Supplementary Figure 3: HF-LVs transduce efficiently mobilized hCD34+cells.

Mobilized hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated with SCF+TPO+Flt3-L+IL-3 and transduced with the indicated LV pseudotypes in the presence of Retronectin. An MOI of 10 was applied except for VSV-G LVs for which in addition an MOI of 100 was used. Three days after transduction, the cells were seeded in myeloid differentiation medium for 14 days. The % of GFP<sup>+</sup> CD34+-cells 3 days post transduction and the GFP<sup>+</sup> colony forming cells (CFCs) at day 14 of differentiation were determined by FACS (means±SD, n=3; p<0.01 when comparing CFC transduction levels of HF-LVs to the VSVG pseudotype).



Supplementary Figure 4: SIV derived LVs pseudotyped with H and F MV gps, allow efficient transduction of macaque BM CD34+-cells (A) Cynomolgus macaque BM CD34+-cells were prestimulated with rSCF, rTPO, rFlt3-L and IL-3 for 24h and were transduced with SIV-derived LVs pseudotyped with HF measles virus envelope glycoproteins or VSV-G-LVs at the indicated vector dosis (MOI). All transduction were performed in the presence of retronectin®. GFP expression of the cells was analyzed 6 days after transduction by FACS.



Supplementary Figure 5: High-level transduction in human thymocytes after engraftment in recipient NSG mice of transduced cytokine-stimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells

hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were prestimulated with a cytokine cocktail (TPO+SCF+Flk-3L) for 16 h and transduced with HF-LVs at MOI=10 in presence of retronectin for 36 h. Subsequently the cells (2E5) were injected into the liver of irradiated newborn NSG mice. Upon reconstitution for 12 weeks, thymus of these primary engrafted mice were analyzed. The transduced cells in the thymic subpopulations are shown (SP-4 (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>), SP-8 (CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>) and DP (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>). The FACS profiles are representative of 5 independent experiments.

# PART 2 – BAEV PSEUDOTYPED LENTIVIRAL VECTORS ALLOW EFFICIENT TRANSDUCTION OF PROGENITOR T CELLS, THYMOCYTES AND MATURE T CELLS

### 1) EARLY T CELL PROGENITORS AND NAÏVE T CELLS, INTERESTING TARGETS OF BAEV-LVS FOR T CELL BASED GENE THERAPY AND IMMUNOTHERAPY

Efficient gene transfer into quiescent T and B lymphocytes for gene therapy or immunotherapy purposes may allow the treatment of several genetic dysfunctions of the hematopoietic system, such as immunodeficiencies, and the development of novel therapeutic strategies for cancers and acquired diseases.

In T cells, completion of reverse transcription, nuclear import and subsequent integration of the VSVG-LV genome do not occur efficiently unless they are activated via the T-cell receptor or by survival-cytokines inducing them to enter into the G<sub>1b</sub> phase of the cell cycle and inducing a skewing in the T cell repertoire generation (Verhoeyen et al. 2003), (Korin et al. 1998), (Unutmaz et al. 1999). Moreover, our group have recently reported that VSV-G-LVs cannot enter into resting T cells because they do not express the LDL receptor on their surface (Amirache et al. 2014). Thus, our group have engineered H/F-LVs that efficiently deliver genes into resting and IL-7 stimulated T cells (Frecha et al. 2008). IL-7 stimulation of T cells appears to be more attractive than TCR activation because of its role in supporting T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation (Fry et al. 2001), (Rathmell et al. 2001).

Although H/F-LVs were an interesting advance in the field of T cell gene transfer, they cannot highly transduce the naïve immature UCB T cell population. These naïve immature T cells only express CD46 on their surface without the necessary co-expression of the SLAM receptor. Indeed, our group have suggested that H/F-LVs enter in unstimulated T cells by a sequential engagement of CD46/SLAM that mediates H/F-LVs entry by macropinocytosis (Frecha et al. 2011) which is not possible in this T cell subset. Moreover, H/F-LVs preferentially transduce mature memory cells while naïve T cells are an attractive target because they are

able to induce a response to a novel antigen, have a long-term life span, persist a long-time and are able to generate stable T cell memory populations.

Here, we demonstrate that the new engineered BaEV-LVs are able to transduce IL-7 stimulated immature and naïve T cell subpopulations. The low mRNA expression of both ASCT1 and ASCT2 receptors of BaEV-LVs explain that they cannot transduce resting T cells. Nevertheless, they outperform H/F-LVs allowing a higher transduction of UCB immature naïve T cell, early thymic progenitors and mature naïve T cells. We also propose to develop the co-transplantation of genetically modified HSCs with transduced T cell progenitors from the same donor. This was allowed by the differentiation of CB CD34+ cells in early T progenitors using the promising Notch Ligand DL-4 culture system developed by Reimann and colleagues (Reimann et al. 2012). This is interesting for the development of gene therapy HSCT with an accelerated recovery of the adaptive immune response.

2) NEW BABOON ENVELOPE PSEUDOTYPED LVS EFFICIENTLY TRANSDUCE ADULT AND CB T CELLS, THYMOCYTE PROGENITORS AND IN VITRO DERIVED T CELL PROGENITORS THAT RECONSTITUTE T CELL LINEAGE IN NSG MICE

## Title

New Baboon envelope pseudotyped LVs efficiently transduce adult and cord blood T cells, thymocyte progenitors and in vitro derived T cell progenitors that reconstitute T cell lineage in NOD/SCID/ $\gamma$ C<sup>-/-</sup> mice (*Manuscript in preparation*)

Fouzia Amirache<sup>1-6,\*</sup>, Anais Girard-Gagnepain<sup>1-6,\*</sup>, Caroline Costa<sup>1-6</sup>, Camille Lévy<sup>1-6</sup>, Didier Nègre<sup>1-6</sup>, Christian Reimann<sup>7,8</sup>, Isabelle André-Schmutz<sup>7</sup>, David Fenard<sup>9</sup>, Vahid Asnafi<sup>10</sup>, François-Loïc Cosset<sup>1-6</sup> and Els Verhoeyen<sup>1-6,11</sup>

## \* equal contribution, names listed in alphabetical order

<sup>1</sup>CIRI – International Center for Infectiology Research, Team EVIR, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France.

<sup>2</sup>Inserm, U1111, Lyon, France.

<sup>3</sup>Ecole Normale Supérieure de Lyon, Lyon, France.

<sup>4</sup>Université Lyon 1, Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Lyon, France. <sup>5</sup>CNRS, UMR5308, Lyon, France.

<sup>6</sup>LabEx Ecofect, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France.

<sup>7</sup> Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), U768, Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Institut Imagine

<sup>8</sup>Center for Pedratrics and Adolescent Medicine, University Medical Center Freiburg, Germany

<sup>9</sup>Genethon, Evry, France, Genethon, Inserm UMR\_S951, Evry, France, Université Evry Val d'Essonne, Inserm UMR\_S951, Evry, France ;

<sup>10</sup>Université Paris Descartes, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique UMR, France.

<sup>11</sup> Inserm, U1065, Centre Méditerranéen de Médecine Moléculaire (C3M), équipe "contrôle métabolique des morts cellulaires", Nice, 06204, France

Running title: Baboon LVs transduce the complete T cell lineages.

**Keywords**: lentiviral vectors, adult T cells, cord blood T cells, thymocytes, T cell progenitors, gene therapy, baboon retrovirus, immunotherapy

#### Personal contribution:

I designed and performed experiments except for the results presented Figure 3 on human thymocytes, I analyzed and discussed the data, designed the figures and contribute in writing the manuscript.

#### ABSTRACT

T cells represent valuable tools for treatment of cancers, infectious diseases and inherited diseases. Remarkable progress has been achieved in cancer treatment by: 1) use of tumor-specific chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) modified T cells with a high success rate; 2) marking of allogenic T cells with a suicide gene conserving their anti-leukemic effect upon transplant but allowing to eradicate them when rejection occurs.

Today, T cell receptor stimulation is still mostly used to allow efficient retroviral vector gene transfer, resulting in skewing of T cells towards a memory phenotype and compromising the longevity of these cells. However, T cell based therapies would strongly benefit from gene transfer into live-long persisting T cells. Several studies indicate that *in vivo* persistence or gene modified T cells correlates with a less differentiated T cell phenotype and suggests that naïve T cells may be optimal in this setting. Therefore, we compared the gene transfer efficiency into more immature naïve T cell with a new lentiviral vector (LV) pseudotyped with the baboon retrovirus envelope (BaEV) to other existing pseudotypes: VSV-G-LVs which is commonly used, RDTR-LVs, carrying the cat retroviral envelope and HF-LVs, displaying the measles virus envelopes.

These BaEV-LVs outperformed the other LV pseudotypes by far for transduction (up to 70%) of naïve adult T cells and cord blood recent thymic emigrants when stimulated by IL-7, which allowed to conserve the naïve phenotype of these target cells. Equivalent transduction levels were revealed for BaEV-LVs in freshly isolated early thymocytes (early thymic progenitors (ETP), progenitors and pre T cells) reaching again 80% transduction whereas the other pseudotypes performed poorly, except for HF-LVs. In agreement, BaEV-LV and HF-LVs transduced ETP and progenitor T cells, differentiated from CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells by culture on DL-4, to the same extent. Of utmost importance, these transduced ETPs and T progenitors allowed efficient reconstitution of NOD/SCID,  $\gamma c^{-/-}$  mice in vivo,

maintaining these high transduction levels in all derived T cell lineages and permitted an accelerated T-cell lineage reconstitution as compared to CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cell engraftment into this mouse model.

These results indicate that BaEV-LVs are valuable tools for genetic modification of naïve and early T cell lineages, essential targets for gene therapy application where long-lived T cell persistence is important for durable treatment of patients. Additionally, coinjection of LV-corrected autologous T cell progenitors and HSCs might accelerate T cell reconstitution in patients as compared to solely injecting HSCs avoiding a gap in immune reconstitution.

#### Introduction

Gene transfer into T lymphocytes is a crucial step in the development of therapeutic strategies for the treatment of several genetic dysfunctions of the hematopoietic system, such as severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID,<sup>1,2</sup>) and the development of novel therapeutic strategies for diseases such as cancers<sup>3,4</sup> and for acquired diseases<sup>5</sup>.

Twenty years ago now, children suffering from the monogenetic disease Adenosine deaminase (ADA)-SCID were treated successfully by T cell gene therapy<sup>6</sup>. Also for HIV infected patients, who are in demand of novels therapies, T cell gene therapy might become an important option in the future since several new combinatorial strategies are proposed<sup>7-9</sup> More recently, T cells gained field in the treatment of several blood cancers. Firstly, T cell gene therapy has now proven to correct severe side affects of bone marrow transplantation (Allo-BMT). Allogenic T cells as part of the BMT induce a graft versus leukemia effect (GVL), which is unfortunately often accompanied by graft versus host disease (GVHD). To avoid GVHD, retroviral T cell marking with a suicide gene is performed. These genemarked T cells can then be induced into apoptosis by administration of a specific drug when needed. This strategy has been proven effective in the treatment of GVHD in clinical trials<sup>3,10-12</sup>. Another promising anti-cancer strategy is based on engineering T cells to express an appropriate tumor-specific TCR or a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)<sup>13-15</sup>. Recent case reports from on-going clinical trials have described durable rejection of previously refractory B-cell malignancies in patients after CD19-directed CAR therapy<sup>4,16-19</sup> with up to an 86% complete response rate in leukemia that is otherwise incurable. Other CARs are directed against :1) CD22 or CD20 for treatment of B cell acute lymphocyte leukemia<sup>20</sup>, 2) CD70 for treatment of glioblastoma<sup>21</sup> 3) GD2 antigen for treatment of neuroblastoma<sup>22</sup>, 4) NY-ESO-1 epitope for melanoma<sup>23</sup>. Concluding, CAR T-cell based therapy offers a valuable alternative for treating cancer patients.

The population of mature adult T cells can be divided into two different subsets, namely, memory and naïve T cells. The clinical efficacy of adoptively transferred T lymphocytes correlates with their ability to persist *in vivo*<sup>24</sup>. Several

studies indicate that *in vivo* persistence correlates with a less differentiated T cell phenotype<sup>13,15,25</sup> and suggests that naïve T cells may be optimal in this setting. Naïve T cells are especially important as gene therapy target cells since they maintain the capacity to respond to novel antigens, are endowed with the highest developmental plasticity and are unique in the sense that they can generate the entire spectrum of immunologic memory. Less differentiated naïve and central memory T cell subsets display superior proliferation, persistence and antitumor responses following infusion when compared to the more differentiated effector memory subset<sup>13,26,27</sup> Therefore they might be the best T cell population to target for gene therapy when long-live cure is envisaged.

Human umbilical CB T cells, unlike adult-derived PB lymphocytes, are mostly naïve. It is therefore reasonable to speculate whether CB might be an alternative source of T-lymphocytes for genetic engineering. CB T cells differ from their adult counterpart in that the former represent mainly recent thymocyte emigrants<sup>28</sup>. Compared with naïve adult T cells, they are immature with respect to alloantigen recognition, lymphokine production, and T-cell activation profile<sup>29</sup>. Human naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have recently been shown to contain two subpopulations distinguished by the expression of CD31. The CD31<sup>+</sup> subset is thought to incorporate the population of cells recently emigrated from the thymus, whereas the CD31<sup>-</sup> naïve T cell subset is more mature<sup>30,31</sup>. Interestingly, IL-7 may play a preferential role in the maintenance of CD31<sup>+</sup> naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells during adult life<sup>32</sup>. IL-7 seems to exert a preferential effect on umbilical cord blood (CB) naïve T cells that proliferate significantly more than adult peripheral blood naïve T cells in response to IL-7<sup>33,34</sup>. These charateristics led to the first CAR CB T strategies for treatment of cancer and infectious diseases<sup>35-38</sup>

The thymus is the primary site of T cell development and thymocytes are important for treatment of auto-immune disorders since they play a key role in the induction of self tolerance. Targeting the thymus with an antigen of interest can result in the induction of tolerance. This has been achieved by the direct injection of soluble antigen or viral vectors harboring an antigen of interest<sup>39-41</sup>. Moreover, in situ correction of a genetic immunodeficiency (ZAP-70) by intrathymic injection of a lentiviral vector expressing the correcting gene was demonstrated<sup>42</sup>. Early T cell

development depends on the interaction of thymocytes with its microenvironment through Notch-Ligand signaling pathways. DL-4 was identified as the essential Notch 1 activator in the T-cell engagement of hematopoietic stem cells<sup>43-45</sup>. By extending this approach, Reimann et al.<sup>46</sup> confirmed that immobilized DL-4 supported the in vitro generation of T-cell progenitor cells from CB CD34<sup>+</sup> cells in a feeder-cell-free culture system. These DL-4 generated T-cell progenitors displayed the phenotypic and molecular signatures of very immature thymic precursors. Upon transfer in NOD/SCID/gc-/- (NSG) mice, these progenitors were capable of migrating to the thymus and differentiating into mature polyclonal T cells and of accelerating T-cell reconstitution in vivo as compared to HSCs<sup>46</sup>. Therefore, transfer of in vitro-generated T-cell progenitors has emerged as a promising strategy for accelerating T-cell reconstitution when coinjected with autologous HSCs.

It is now generally accepted that resting T cells cannot be readily transduced by classical VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors (LVs)<sup>47-49</sup>. In addition, we revealed that this is due to the absence of the low density lipid VSV receptor (LDL-R) on resting T cells<sup>50</sup>. It is though also of the utmost importance that the responses of T cells to antigens are not dramatically altered by the gene transfer protocol. We and others have reported that inducing cell cycle entry into G<sub>1b</sub> via stimulation through the TCR allows efficient transduction of adult naïve T cells by VSV-G-LVs<sup>48,49,51</sup> (Verhoeven 2003, Korin and Zack, Maurice). Note that TCR-stimulation remarkably up-regulated the LDL-R surface expression coinciding with high level VSV-G-LV transduction<sup>50</sup>. However, TCR-stimulation of T cells alters their half-life and immunecompetence, results in an inversion of the CD4/CD8 ratio, and is associated with loss of naïve T cell subsets and a skewed TCR repertoire<sup>52,53</sup>. In this regard, it is interesting to note that exposure of adult T cells to cytokines such as interleukin-2 (IL-2), IL-15, and IL-7 renders them permissive to VSV-G LV transduction<sup>47,49,54-56</sup>. Clearly, IL-7 stimulation allowing lentiviral T-cell transduction could preserve a functional T-cell repertoire and maintain an appropriate proportion of naïve and memory CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>49,54</sup>. Naïve and memory T cells respond differently to rIL-7 stimulation. In agreement with this, naïve adult T cells need longer IL-7 stimulation than memory cells to allow efficient LV transduction<sup>34</sup>

In conclusion, LV transduction of IL-2, IL-15 or IL-7 stimulated T cells

overcomes the limitation of TCR-mediated LV gene transfer since they avoid skewing of the T cell populations.

As mentioned, efficient transduction of early naïve T cells would mean a step forward in the field since this might guarantee long-term engraftment. However, classical VSV-G-LVs do not allow high-level transduction of these valuable naïve T cell targets under stimulation conditions (e.g IL-7) that conserve their naïve phenotype<sup>47,49,55</sup>. Clearly, to reach this objective alternatives to VSV-G-LV pseudotypes are urgently needed. We previously engineered LVs carrying the measles virus (MV) envelope glycoproteins, H and F, from a vaccinal strain at their surface (H/F-LVs), which conserved the original MV tropism through the complement receptor, CD46, and SLAM (signaling lymphocytes activating molecule) receptor. These were the first LVs to allow efficient transduction of quiescent human memory and naïve T and B cells without inducing entry into the cell cycle while conserving T and B cell phenotype<sup>57-59</sup>. Some time ago, we engineered LVs displaying the feline retrovirus envelope glycoprotein, RD114/TR, which confer efficient transduction of human T cells, however, only upon TCR stimulation<sup>60</sup>. RD114 belongs to the betaretroviruses, also including the baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV). They both use the neutral amino acid (aa) transporter 2 (ASCT-2), present on T cells<sup>61,62</sup>. Interestingly, BaEV also recognizes another aa transporter, ASCT-1, not recognised by RD114.63 Since BaEV uses in addition to ASCT-2 also ASCT-1, it demonstrated a broader tropism than RD114.<sup>64</sup> Very recently we demonstrated that BaEV-LVs outperformed by far VSV-G-, RD114/TR-, H/F-LVs for human HSC transduction<sup>17</sup>. Therefore, we hypothesized that BaEV-LVs might be an excellent candidate for naïve T cell and T-cell progenitor transduction. Thus, we carefully compared these new pseudotypes here for the transduction of naïve adult and cord blood RTE cells, thymocytes and early T cells progenitor generated in vitro with the classically used VSV-G-LVs and the HF- and RD114/TR-LVs to identify the best candidate for transduction of the long-lived naïve and progenitor T cell, both invaluable targets for gene or immunotherapy applications.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Plasmids

RDTR, BAEVTR and BAEVRless envelope glycoproteins were previously described<sup>17,60</sup>. Briefly, the cytoplasmic tail of BaEVwt and RD114wt was replaced by the one of MLV-A resulting in BaEVTR and RDTR, respectively. The BaEVRless-gp was constructed by deletion of the R-peptide sequence from BaEVwt-gp. H $\Delta$ 24 and F $\Delta$ 30 code for cytoplasmic-tail deletion mutants of the Edmonston measles virus glycoproteins, H and F described earlier<sup>58</sup> (Supplementary Figure 1). All chimeric envelope gps were expressed in the phCMV-G expression plasmid<sup>51</sup>.

#### **Production of lentiviral vectors**

Self-inactivating HIV-1-derived vectors encoding green fluorescent protein (GFP) or mcherry under the control of a spleen focus foamy virus promoter were generated by transfection of 293T cells described in detail elsewhere<sup>17</sup>. Briefly, for display of RDTR, BaEVTR or BaEVRless-gps on LVs, 7  $\mu$ g of the respective envelope gp encoding plasmids were transfected with gagpol and the SIN transfer vector; 3  $\mu$ g of VSV-Ggp encoding plasmid was used for VSV-G-LV production, for co-display of H and F measles virus mutant gps on LVs, 2.75  $\mu$ g of each envelope encoding plasmid was co-transfected.

#### **Titration of lentiviral vectors**

To determine the infectious titers of the HIV vectors, 293T cells were incubated with serial dilutions of the vector supernatants overnight. Medium on the cells is replaced with 2 ml fresh DMEM and cells are incubated for further 72h. The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells is determined by FACS. To exclude GFP pseudo-transduction and thus verify that expression was only due to integrated vector copies we continued the culture of these 293T cells for ten more days (4 passages) and determined again the percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells by FACS as also confirmed in parallel the titer by Q-PCR on these same samples.

For titration by Q-PCR genomic DNA was extracted from the 293T cells (kept in culture for fourteen days after transduction) using the genomic DNA purification kit (Nucleospin Tissue XS, Macherey-Nagel, Hoerdt, France). Q-PCR to determine the titer was performed using Taqman gene expression master mix (Life Technologies, St Aubin, France) and following primer pairs and Taqman probes to amplify the lentiviral vector genome:

Lenti-F : 5'-TGT GTG CCC GTC TGT TGT GT-3' Lenti-R : 5'-GAG TCC TGC GTC GAG AGA GC-3' Lenti-Probe : 5'-CAG TGG CGC CCG AAC AGG GA-3'

Results were compared with those obtained after serial dilutions of genomic DNA from a 293T cell line containing one copy of the integrated lentiviral vector per haploid genome.

#### Isolation of human primary T cells, thymocytes and CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells

Cord blood (CB) from full-term pregnancies and adult blood samples were collected in sterile tubes containing the anti-coagulant, citrate-dextrose (ACD, Sigma, France). Blood samples and thymus resections were obtained after informed consent according to the Helsinki declaration.

Adult peripheral blood (PB) CD3<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes and CB CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes were isolated by negative selection using the Rosette Sep T-cell and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell isolation kits (Stem Cell Technologies, Grenoble, France) to avoid cell activation. The purity of T cell isolation was monitored by FACS using anti-CD3 and anti-CD4 antibodies.

Thymocytes were isolated by crushing the thymic lob in RPMI medium and centrifugation over a ficoll gradient to isolate the white mononucleated cells. Subsequently, they were put into cell culture for transduction or CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells enrichment was performed by means of positive selection using magnetic cell separation beads and columns according to the manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Since CD34<sup>+</sup> enrichment was envisaged only one passage through a magnetized column was performed. Human CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were isolated from CB as previously described.<sup>17</sup> PBMC were isolated from human peripheral blood by a ficol gradient.

205

Freshly isolated lymphocytes and thymocytes were immediately seeded in RPMI 1640 medium (Gibco, Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum and penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, Invitrogen).

#### **Transduction of primary cells**

PB T lymphocytes were prestimulated for 24h with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies (1  $\mu$ g/mL, BD Pharmingen) in presence of hIL-2 (1 ng/mL) and CB and PB T cells were pre-stimulated for two and three days, respectively with rIL-7 (10 ng/mL; BD Biosciences)<sup>49</sup>.

5E4 CB or PB T cells were seeded in 48-well plates upon TCR- or cytokine stimulation and transduced with concentrated LVs at indicated MOIs. Cells were replenished with cytokines every three days. Three and six days after transduction, the percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells was determined by FACS. Where indicated, transductions were performed on Retronectin® coated plates according to manufacturer's instructions (Takara, Japan).

5E5 freshly isolated thymocytes or CD34<sup>+</sup> enriched thymocytes were seeded in Retronectin® coated 48-well plates in RPMI/10%FCS in the presence of rIL-7 (20 ng/mL) with concentrated LVs at indicated MOIs. Cells were replenished with cytokines after three days. Four days after transduction, the percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup>cells was determined in the thymocyte subpopulations by FACS.

#### Transduction of early T cell lineages during CB hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell exposure to Delta-4

CB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were cultured in 48-well plates previously coated with DL-4 Fc fusion protein (5  $\mu$ g/ml, 4°C overnight; <sup>46</sup>) Cultures were initiated at concentration of 1E4 CD34+-cells per well in X-vivo 20 medium (BioWhittaker, Walksersville, MD), supplemented with 20% defined fetal calf serum (Hyclone, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Illkirch, France) and human cytokines IL-7, Flt3-L, SCF and TPO (all at 100 ng/ml; Myltenyi). After 24 h of culture, the LVs were added to the cells at the indicated MOIs. Before LV addition to the cells, the vectors were pre-incubated with the transduction facilitating agent Vectofusin (12  $\mu$ g/ml) for 10 min. After seven days of culture on DL-4, cells were transferred to freshly DL-4 coated 24-wells at a concentration of 1E5 cells/well for further differentiation and transduction evaluation. The % of GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells was determined in the thymocyte subpopulation by FACS at day three, day seven and day fourteen of differentiation.

#### **FACS** analysis

For the detection of LV transduction of different adult and cord blood T cell subpopulations flow cytometry analysis was performed using anti-CD3-APC, CD62L-PECy7, CCR7-PE, CD4- or CD8-Vioblue, CD45RA-APC, CD45RO-PE and CD31-Pacific Blue antibodies. Staining of total thymocytes with anti-hCD3-PE, anti-hCD8-PECy7 and anti-hCD4-APC is performed to evaluated transduction of thymic subpopulations. Staining of ELP, ETP, Pro T and Pre T thymocyte populations in as well CD34+-enriched as in hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cell differentiation toward T cell lineage was evaluated by FACS using anti-CD34-APC, -CD7-PECy7, -CD5-PE and -CD1a-Vioblue.

For FACS analysis of the NSG reconstituted mice with progenitor T cells we used APC-conjugated anti-hCD45 antibody for the detection of total human cell engraftment in the bone marrow, thymus, peripheral blood and spleen. Thymocytes and peripheral T cell subpopulations are evaluated by anti-hCD3-PE, anti-hCD8-PECy7 and anti-hCD4-APC. Staining of ELP, ETP, Pro T and Pre T early thymocyte population was evaluated by FACS using anti anti-CD34-APC, -CD7PECy7, -CD5PE and -CD1a-Vioblue. Maturation of T cells was detected by CD3APC, TCR $\alpha/\beta$ -PE or TCRgd-PE in the thymus, blood and spleen. For co-injection of T cell progenitors and CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, antiCD3-PE, antiCD19PECy7, antiCD14APC, antiCD13-APC antibodies are used for phenotyping of the BM. Staining of progenitors and early B-cell population in spleen and BM is performed using anti-hCD34-APC, anti-hCD19-PECy7, anti-hCD4-APC is performed to screen for thymic subpopulations. Blood samples are stained using anti-CD3APC, anti-hCD19-PECy7, CD14-APC.

#### ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 mRNA detection by quantitative RT-PCR

To quantify ASCT1 and ASCT2 gene expression, we used reversed transcription combined

with the PCR. Total RNA was isolated from purified unstimulated, IL-7 and TCR stimulated adult peripheral blood T cells by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction.

 $0.5\ \mu\text{g}$  of the total RNA from each sample was reverse transcribed into cDNA using the

207

iScriptTM cDNA synthesis kit (BIO-RAD, Marnes-la-Coquette). The amount of ASCT1,

ASCT2 and GAPDH mRNA was determined using the Fast Start universal SYBR Green

Master MIX (Rox, Roche, France) and the following primers:

- ASCT1 F: 5'- ATT GGT CCT GTT TGC TCT GG - 3'

- ASCT1 R: 5' – TGG GGA GAA TAA ACC TGC TG - 3'

- ASCT2 F: 5'- TAC ATT CTG TGC TGC CTG CT - 3'

- ASCT2 R: 5' – ATG AAA CGG CTG ATG TGC TT – 3'

- GAPDH F: 5' – AAG GTG AAG GTC GGA GTC AA – 3'

- GAPDH R: 5' – AAT GAA GGG GTC ATT GAT GG – 3'

The ASCT1 and ASCT2 mRNA levels were calculated relative to the GAPDH housekeeping

gene and normalized to control conditions by using the 2-delta-Ct method.

### Conditioning and reconstitution of NSG mice

NSG mice were housed in our animal facility (PBES-Lyon, France). Experiments were performed in accordance with the EU guidelines upon approval of the protocols by the local ethical committee. Two to 3-day-old newborn NSG mice were subjected to 1 Gy irradiation and 5x10<sup>5</sup> transduced progenitor T cells derived from hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were injected intra-hepatically. Pre-stimulated freshly isolated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells from the same donor were transduced with an mcherry coding vector for 24h and 2x10<sup>5</sup> transduced CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were co-injected with 5x10<sup>5</sup> autologous human progenitor T cells transduced with a GFP encoding vector into NSG mice as above.

After four, six and eight to twelve weeks of reconstitution, extensive cell phenotyping in the different hematopoietic tissues (BM, spleen, thymus, blood) of these mice was performed (see FACS analysis).

### **Statistical analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using student *t* test.

#### Results

The new baboon gp LV pseudotypes engineered recently by us (BaEVTR- and BaEVRLess-LVs<sup>17</sup>) were compared to other reported LV peudotypes that allow T cell transduction: 1) Measles virus gp (HF-LVs<sup>58</sup>), 2) RD114 cat retrovirus gp (RDTR-LVs<sup>60</sup>) and 3) the generally used VSV-G gp (VSV-G-LVs<sup>49</sup>). The different gps are depicted in supplementary figure 1.

Up to date the majority of the clinical trials including those using CAR modified T cells<sup>4</sup> employ T cell receptor (TCR) stimulation to allow efficient gene transfer into the target T cells. The BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LVs (BaEV-LVs) reached 80-90 % T cell gene transfer after TCR (anti-CD3+antiCD28) stimulation at low vector doses (MOI = 10) and thus reached a transduction levels slightly higher that obtained with VSV-G- and RDTR-LVs (Figure 1A). Importantly, these BaEV pseudotypes are dependent on the facilitating agent retronectin for high T cell transduction (Figure 1A). HF-LVs reached similar transduction levels as the BaEV-LVs in the presence of retronectin, which allowed still an increase in HF-LV T cell transduction as compared to no retronectin addition (Figure 1A and <sup>58</sup>). As mentioned above this strong signalling through the TCR changes T cell phenotype and thus a milder stimulation protocol might be warranted allowing conservation of naïve T cells which are the long-living cells that, when corrected, might persist over years. Since IL-7 stimulation does not skew the T cell population we tested the performance of the BaEV-LVs as compared to the other LV pseudotypes on IL-7 stimulated adult T cells.

Both BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LVs allow efficient transduction of rIL-7 prestimulated total human T cells and were superior over VSV-G-LVs at the same (MOI=10) or at 10-fold higher (MOI=100) vector doses in the presence of retronectin (% transduction, BaEVTR-LV=29-43%, BaEVRless = 35-60%, VSV-G-LV= 2-12% (MOI 10); Figure 1B). These BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LVs allowed an efficient high transduction level of both naïve and memory IL-7 prestimulated T cells (Figure 1B). HF-LVs resulted in over 80% transduction of IL-7 stimulated T cell in presence of retronectin. In this case the HF-LVs target primarily memory T cells for transduction confirming our previous results (Figure 1B and <sup>58</sup>). Strict gating on CD45RA, CD62L and CCR7 expressing naïve T cells confirmed high-level BaEV-LV transduction in these CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> subpopulations (Figure 1C). Surprisingly, the RDTR-LVs allowed much lower transduction efficiency of rIL-7 prestimulated naïve and memory T cells as compared to BaEV-LVs (RDTR-LV= 5-15%). As expected, BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LVs allowed high-level transduction of IL-7 stimulated T cells without compromising their naïve phenotype or skewing CD4/CD8 T cell population (data not shown).

Previously, we have shown that HF-LVs allow gene transfer into resting T cells<sup>58,65</sup> but we confirmed here that as well RDTR- as BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LVs perform poorly on these quiescent target cells (Supplementary Figure 2). This might be explained by a distinct receptor usage for these pseudotypes. RDTR-LVs only bind to the hASCT-2 receptor for cell entry while the BaEV-LVs additionally bind to the amino acid transporter, hASCT-1. Importantly, both ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 mRNA levels are upregulated upon IL-7 cytokine-stimulation and this upregulation is even more pronounced upon TCR activation of T cells. Upregulation might strongly increase the affinity of BaEV-LVs to T cells and explain the significantly higher transduction levels in these stimulated cells as compared to their resting counterparts (Figure 1D and 1A and B).

Overall, the novel BaEV/TR- and BaEVRless-LVs are promising gene transfer tools for adult T cell gene therapy. Indeed, if one considers the need for a life time correction, we need to transduce the long-lived naïve T cells which are shown here to be highly susceptible to BaEVTR- and BaEVRless-LV mediated gene transfer.

#### BAEVgp-LVs allow high-level transduction of recent thymocyte emigrants

It might be of high interest for T cell gene therapy or immunotherapy to genetically modify T cells at an as early stage as possible, at a stage where the cells will persist for the entire life-span of an individual. Therefore, we focused on cord blood (CB) T cells since they contain for the majority highly immature naïve T cells. The majority of CB CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (70-80%) are identified by CD31, CD62L and CD45RA positive staining which have the features of recent thymocyte emigrants

(RTEs). Genetic modification of these cells in the context of allogenic transplantation to increase their graft-versus-leukemia effect without increasing GVHD would be beneficial. Therefore, we tested several lentiviral vector pseudotypes for their transduction efficiency of CB RTEs.

To conserve the T cell naïve phenotype we prestimulated freshly isolated total CB T cells with the T cell survival cytokine, IL-7, for 24 h and subsequently transduced them with the different vectors: VSV-G-, RDTR-, BAEVTR-, BAEVRlessand HF-LVs coding for the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10 or 20, except for VSV-G-LVs, for which a higher vector dose (MOI of 50) was applied. BAEVTR-, and BAEVRless-LVs permitted 40-55% transduction at an MOI =10, outperforming VSV-G- (< 20%) or RDTR-LVs (<10%; Figure 2A). HF-LVs barely achieved 20% transduction in the presence of retronectin, signifying that RTEs and mature naïve CB T cells are poorly permissive for HF-LVs confirming our previous results (Frecha et al. et al. 2008). Importantly, BAEVTR- and BAEVRless-LVs reached easily 60 to 70 % transduction when the vector dose increased 2-fold (MOI = 20; Figure 2B). In all cases, the immature naïve recent thymocyte emigrants (CD69L<sup>+</sup>CD45RA<sup>+</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>) were transduced to the same extent as the more mature naïve CB CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (CD69L<sup>+</sup>CD45RA<sup>+</sup>CD31; figure 2B). Transductions had no effect on the distribution of these two naïve CB T cell populations as compared to untransduced control cells (Figure 2C).

# BAEV-LVs promote high-level transduction of thymocytes in early stages of differentiation.

If would be of major interest to correct T cells or genetically change T cell functions as early in T cell differentiation as possible to assure a live long benefit to patients and allow longterm in vivo expansion of these cells.

Thymocyte differentation is a highly regulated process that occurs via the interaction with the thymic stroma cells and cytokine stimulation (Figure 3 A). Hematopoietic stem cells (CD34<sup>+</sup> CD1a<sup>-</sup>) are migrating from the BM to the thymus where they lack the expression of CD8 and CD4 markers (CD8<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup> double negative (DN) stage; 2-5% of total thymocytes). The DN cells subsequently gain expression of

the pre-T cell receptor (pre-T) and develop into immature CD4 single positive cells (ISP) (Figure 3A). The appearance of the CD8 surface marker together with CD4 and maturation of the TCR is called the double positive (DP) stage of thymocyte development (80-90%). Upon selection in the thymus, DP thymocytes develop into CD8<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>-</sup> (SP8) and CD8<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> (SP4) thymocytes.

Because of the potential value of thymocyte gene transfer for immune modulation and gene therapy, we evaluated the performance of BAEVgp LVs for the transduction of all these different thymocyte subpopulations. Upon isolation of mononuclear cells from human thymus, we transduced them in the presence of the survival cytokine IL-7 with RDTR-, BAEVTR-, BAEVRless- and HF-LVs encoding the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10. VSV-G-LVs were used at higher vector doses (MOI 50). For all transduction experiments retronectin coated plates were used. Three days later we determined the transduction levels by FACS in the different thymic subpopulations using CD4/CD8/CD3 multiple staining. VSV-G-LVs do not allow efficient transduction of all these different subpopulations reaching between 10 and 20 % of transduced cells (Figure 3B). RD114/TR-LV, BAEVTR-LVs and BAEVRless-LVs though allow preferential transduction of the thymocytes in the early stages of development (DN and ISP; Figure 3A). They transduce the more mature thymocytes but to a much lower extent (Figure 3B). As already detected for adult human T cells, RDTR-LVs transduction of all different thymocyte subpopulations was significantly lower as compared to BaEV-gp-LVs (p<0.05). Interestingly, HF-LVs did not show a preference for the most immature thymocytes but assured an efficient transduction of all the different thymocyte populations (Figure 3B). Of importance, the transduction with the different LV pseudotypes had no effect on the distribution of different thymocyte subpopulations (Supplementary Figure 3).

The DN population can still be subdivided in early lymphoid progenitors (ELP), followed the early thymocyte (ETP) progenitor stage, which then differentiate into pro T and pre T cells. These distinct DN thymocyte stages can be identified by CD34, CD7, CD4 and CD1a surface markers as indicated in Figure 3A.

Since the DN stage is only a very small fraction of the total thymocytes, we enriched the thymocytes for the CD34<sup>+</sup> marker to obtain enough ELP, ETP and Pro T

and Pre T cells for transduction experiments. The gating strategy of these different thymic fractions is depicted in Figure 3C (Upper blot). Again the BaEVgp-LVs target transduction to the most immature DN thymocytes, with BaEVRless-LVs reaching 100 and 90% of transduced ETP and Pro T cells, respectively (Figure 3D). A representative experiment is shown in Figure 3C for BaEVTR-LVs. The VSV-G and RDTR pseudotypes result in transduction levels way below that. HF-LVs, on the contrary mediate intermediate transduction levels, equivalent in ETP, proT, Pre T and ISP cells (Figure 3D).

This indicates that BAEV-LVs are excellent tools for transduction of thymocytes and that they are higly superior over VSV-G- and RDTR-LVs for the transduction of ETP and pro T and ISP thymocytes. Moreover, they allowed high-level transduction upon mild IL-7 stimulation avoiding skewing of these populations.

# BAEV-LVs mediates efficient transduction in human T lymphoid progenitors generated in vitro

Here we will make use of a new culture system based on immobilized Notch Ligand Delta-like-4 (DL-4) that we described earlier<sup>46</sup>. Culture of human CD34<sup>+</sup> CB progenitors in this system enabled in vitro generation of large amounts of T cell progenitors, displaying the same characteristics as ETPs. Since the co-injection of LV-corrected autologous T cell progenitors and HSCs might accelerate T cell reconstitution in the patients as compared to solely injecting HSCs, we evaluated the BaEV-LVs for their capacity to confer gene transfer into *in vitro* generated ETP and Pro T cells.

Purified CB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were cultured on DL-4 coated plates in the presence of a cytokine cocktail (IL-7, TPO, SCF and Flt3-L) inducing T cell differentiation. After 24h incubation, the different vector pseudotypes were added to these cell cultures at an MOI of 3. At day three of differentiation, the CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells began to express CD7 allowing to distinguish the ELP and ETP thymocyte-like populations (Figure 4A). In perfect agreement with the results obtained for freshly isolated human ETP cells, BaEV-LVs transduced at high level ELPs (65-75%) and ETPs (70-80%) (Figure 4C *vs* Figure 3D). Accordingly, VSV-G- and RD114TR-LVs permitted only poor transduction of ELPs (15-20 % on average) and ETPs (8-10% on average), whereas HF-LVs achieved intermediate transduction levels of 30-50% (Figure 4A and C).

In accordance with our previous results<sup>46</sup>, the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD7<sup>+</sup> ETP population further increased and a new population of CD7<sup>+</sup>CD34<sup>-</sup> pro T cells appeared by day seven of differentiation (Figure 4B). We obtained the same picture as for day three of differentiation: BaEV-LVs conferred high-level gene transfer into as well ELP and ETP and now also into proT cells while VSV-G and RDTR-LVs were much less efficient for transduction of these cell populations (Figure 4D). In contrast, the HF-LV transduction levels at day seven of T cell differentiation were similar to the BaEV-LVs (Figure 4D). Representative results for day seven are shown in Figure 4B. Importantly, differentiation into ETP and pro T cells was not perturbed by any of the LV pseudotypes as compared to untransduced cells (Supplementary Figure 4). By day 14, a subset of CD34<sup>-</sup>CD7<sup>++</sup> starts to express CD5, which allows to distinguish ProT1 (CD7<sup>++</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup>) and ProT2 (CD7<sup>++</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup>). When the latter population

distinguish ProT1 (CD7<sup>++</sup>/CD5<sup>-</sup>) and ProT2 (CD7<sup>++</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup>). When the latter population gains expression of CD1a we can identify newly developped pre T cells (Figure 4E). As expected, the high-level transductions obtained for BaEV-LVs at day three and seven persisted at day fourteen for the ELP, ETP and pro T1 and T2 thymic populations but was also detected in the newly differentiated pre T cell stage (Figure 4E). Since the original CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells have undergone 50-fold expansion after 14d of T cell differentiation, stable transduction in the different populations was confirmed.

# H/F-LV transduced progenitor T cells seed the thymus and allowed accelerated thymopoiesis in vivo in NSG mice

To evaluate the T cell differentiation potential of LV transduced progenitor T cells we used the immunodeficient NSG mice model since it supports efficiently T cell lineage differentiation. We choose to engraft the cells into newborns NSG mice since it was reported to support better human cell engraftment<sup>46</sup>.

CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells isolated from one single CB donor were divided into two. Half of these cells were plated on DL-4 coated culture wells in presence of a T cell differentiation cytokine cocktail (IL7, TPO, Flt3-L) for 24h. They were subsequently transduced with HF-LVs at a MOI of 10 in the presence of Vectofusin. The other half

of the CD34<sup>+</sup> cells was defrosted eight days later and these cells were stimulated by a cocktail of early acting cytokines (SCF, TPO, Flt3-L) for 24h and they were subsequently transduced with HF-LVs at a MOI of 10 in the presence of retronectin. HF-LV transduced T cell progenitors and HF-LV transduced CD34<sup>+</sup>cells were separately injected into sub-lethally irradiated newborn NSG mice after 10 days of differentiation and 24hours of cytokine stimulation, respectively. For both conditions untransduced control cells were injected in parallel. Human thymocyte reconstitution was assessed six weeks after injection into NSG mice by flow cytometry. We found efficient thymic engraftment in for both T cell progenitors and CD34+ cells independent of transduction or not. Intrathymic T cell development was accelerated in DL-4 treated compared to hCD34+ cell recipient mice as suggested by higher percentage of mature CD3+/TCR $\alpha/\beta$  cells (Figure 5A; 10-fold increase) and CD4 and CD8 single positive cells coinciding with decreased DP thymocyte numbers (Figure 5B). Of high importance, this was true for as well untransduced as HF-LVs transduced progenitor T cells underlining that transduction did not affect T cell potential in vivo. To evaluate the proportion of the DN thymic subpopulations CD34/CD7/CD5/CD1a labeling was performed of human thymocytes. We distinguish a much higher proportion of ProT2 (CD7<sup>++</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup>) than ProT1 (CD7<sup>++</sup>/CD5<sup>-</sup>) cell for injected T cell progenitors as compared to hCD34+ cells (Figure 5 C and D). The pre T cells expressing, CD1a at the surface next to CD7 and CD5 was highly enriched in the mice injected with T cells progenitors (Figure 5 C and D). Of importance, high level HF-LV transduction detected ex vivo in the T cell progenitors persisted in all the thymic subpopulations in vivo.

In conclusion, high level gene marked T cell progenitors generated in vitro, efficiently repopulate the thymus of NSG mice, allow efficient thymopoiesis and speed up T cell reconstitution.

REMARK: For the moment only the first HF-LV transduction data are available since these experiments in newborn NSG mice are timeconsuming and difficult to plan. New NSG reconstitution experiments are ongoing for HF-LV and BaEV-LV progenitor T cells. Finally, we will co-inject HF-LV and BaEV-LV transduced progenitor T cells gene-marked by the GFP reporter and hCD34+ cells marked by mcherry to evaluate
carefully the reconstitution of the T cell lineages in a single experiment mimicking a preclinical setting for gene therapy.

#### Discussion

Here we highlight the exceptional capacity of the engineered Baboon envelope pseudotyped LVs (BaEV-LVs) to efficiently transduce naïve adult and cord blood T cells and early T cell thymic subpopulations. Of note, we recently demonstrated that these new BaEV-LVs outperformed VSV-G- and RD114/TR-LVs by far for gene delivery into HSCs.<sup>17</sup> Here, we report that these BaEV-LVs succeeded in transducing up to 70% of IL-7 stimulated naïve adult T cells and CB recent thymic emigrants. Remarkably, they transduced up to 80% of early thymocytes such as ETP, proT and preT cell lineages differentiated from CD34<sup>+</sup> cells using a feeder-cell free DL-4 culture system<sup>46</sup>. In contrast, as well for cord blood RTEs as early thymic populations, transduction levels using VSV-G-LVs or RDTR-LVs were very poor. Of note, although we reported that H/F-LVs were the first vectors to allow efficient gene delivery in resting adult T cells<sup>58,59</sup>, they were unable to high-level transduction of naïve immature CB T cells and conferred preferential transduction of memory over naïve T cells<sup>58,59</sup>. In comparison with H/F-LVs, BaEV-LVs appeared a promising tool for the transduction of naïve and early progenitor T cells while H/F-LVs is complementary in its capacity to efficiently transduce memory T cells and late stage thymocytes: CD4/CD8 double positive and CD4 or CD8 single positive cells. Surprisingly, BaEV-LVs do not, in contrast to H/F-LVs, permit efficient transduction of resting T cells probably due to a low mRNA expression profile of ASCT-1 and ASCT2, the two receptors used for BaEV-LV cell entry<sup>63,66</sup>. In agreement, we confirmed an important upregulation of both receptors upon IL-7 and TCR stimulation of T cells coinciding with increased BaEV-LV mediated gene transfer.

A T-cell immunotherapy that currently deserves attention consists of engineering autologous of allogenic T cells to express chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) specific for: 1)viruses to induce an antiviral response in vivo or 2) tumor antigens to allow successful treatment of cancers such as melanoma, B-cell lymphoma or B-cell leukemia<sup>20-23</sup>. Although these CAR T cell strategies were using initially autologous adult T cell modification, recently this has been translated to

216

immature naïve cells from cord blood<sup>35,36,38</sup>. Micklethewate et al.<sup>14</sup> transduced CB T cells with a CAR against CD19, which also co-expressed TCRs specific for three different viruses that can affect patients after a cord blood transplant (CMV, EBV and adenovirus).

Naïve CB T cells as compared to adult T cell show a greater tolerance to HLA disparity <sup>67,68</sup> and thus induce less graft-versus-host-disease. Therefore, they could be considered as a convenient alternative source of allogenic lymphocytes for adoptive cellular therapy against viral infection or/and cancer. In particular, for example, when cancer patients do not have enough autologous T cells. Although the advantages of LVs as compared to retroviral vectors are clearly recognized, the absence of adapted tools for transducing naïve CB T cells incited people to continue using retroviral vector gene delivery in TCR stimulated CB T cells<sup>18</sup>. The development of CAR CB T cell strategies based on the genetic modification of IL-7 mildly stimulated CB T cells by the use of BaEV-LVs could answer to numerous current issues. Indeed, since BaEV-LVs provide next to 70% of gene delivery in IL-7 stimulated CB T cells, they could allow to compensate the low number of modified effector T cells derived from CB.<sup>69</sup> This might represent a huge advantage for CAR therapy since naïve CB T cell subsets show high capacity to expand, and could provided longer persisting anti-tumor responses in vivo than adult T cells, allowing to protect against relapse after transplant<sup>32,34</sup>

Upon the infusion of allogenic cord blood or bone marrow HSC engraftment, very often serious infections are detected in patients as a side-effect that can become fatal. This is undoubtedly related to delayed T cell immune reconstitution and impaired de novo thymopoïesis<sup>70,71</sup>. The same is detected upon engraftment of autologous gene therapy corrected HSCs, where T cell reconstitution can take months. Moreover, complete restoration of the T cell compartment with the polyclonal T cell repertoire takes even longer, which fragilizes the patients for more than a year<sup>70,72</sup>.

A promising approach for accelerating de novo T cell development consists in adoptive transfer of high numbers of in vitro generated T cell progenitors. In the case of gene therapy, autologous gene-corrected T cell progenitor administration might be

an option. We showed here that we can genetically modify these T cell progenitors derived from CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells at high levels (80%) using the BaEV–LVs or HF-LVs. Combining transduction with DL-4 culture of hCD34+ cells, resulted in expansion of highly gene marked ETPs and ProT1 cells, the most primitive T cell lineages. Moreover, these cells retained in vivo intra-thymic T cell differentiation and displayed a conventional polyclonal CD4, CD8 and TCR $\alpha/\beta$  repertoire and T cell reconstitution was accelerated as compared to hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell engraftment in NSG mice<sup>46</sup>.

This might allow treatment of severe combined immunodeficiencies e.g. ZAP70<sup>-/-</sup> or also viral infections like HIV where the thymic environment is not ideal for HSC differentiation into T cell lineage. Indeed, infusion of autologous corrected DL-4 induced T cell progenitors together with corrected HSCs could accelerate immune reconstitution and offer a safe way to reduce the long phase of immune system recovery, which might reduce post-transplant complications such as infections. In this context, we have recently shown that BAEV-LVs not only allow high-level transduction of ETPs and proT cells but also of prestimulated and even unstimulated human HSCs<sup>17</sup>. Indeed, we demonstrated that NSG mice T cell lineage differentiation of injected genetically modified progenitor T cells was accelerated as compared to injection of transduced early immature progenitor hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells.

In conclusion, BaEV-LVs and HF-LVs represent very useful new tools for T cell gene therapy and immunotherapy applications because of their unique quality to complementary transduce efficiently naïve adult and cord blood T cells under conditions that avoid skewing of T cell phenotype.

Moreover, a strategy could be proposed based on the co-injection of BaEV-LV corrected autologous HSCs and corrected T progenitors to allow short term T cell immune response recovery combined with longterm correction in the patients.

#### Acknowledgement

We would like to thank the staff of the animal care facility (PBES) at the ENS de Lyon, the flow cytometry and vectorology platform (UMS3444/US8, Lyon, France) and in particular Ornélie Bernadin for technical assistance. We would like to acknowledge the support by the following grants: AFM, ANRS, ARC and the

European Community (FP7-HEALTH-2007-B/222878 "PERSIST", E-RARE-06-01 "GETHERTHAL".

#### **Figure Legends**

# Figure 1 BAEV-LVs allow high level transduction of as well naïve as memory adult human T cells

(A) Fresh peripheral blood T cells isolated by negative selection were pre-activated through the TCR (anti-CD3+ anti-CD28 antibodies + IL-2) for 24 h and transduced in the absence and presence of retronectin with the different LV pseudotypes at indicated MOIs. Three days after transduction the % of GFP<sup>+</sup> T cells was analyzed by FACS (means +/- SD; n=4).

(**B**) and (**C**) Freshly isolated T cells were pre-activated for three days with IL-7 and transduced in the presence of retronectin with the different LV pseudotypes at an MOI 10 or 100 as indicated. Three days after transduction the % of GFP<sup>+</sup> T-cells was analyzed by FACS for total T cells (anti-CD3) and the naïve (CD45RA<sup>+</sup>) or memory (anti-CD45RO<sup>+</sup>) T cells subsets in (B). More detailed phenotyping of these cells (C) shows the % GFP<sup>+</sup> naïve (CD45RA<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>+</sup>) CD4 T cells and CD8 T cells (means +/- SD; n=3).

(D) ASCT-1 and -2 expression levels in unstimulated and TCR- or IL-7-activated total T cells (as in A and B, respectively). Relative fold increase in ASCT-1 or ASCT-2 mRNA levels in stimulated T cells as compared to unstimulated T cells, for which mRNA levels were normalized to 1 (means +/- SD; n=3).

# Figure 2: BAEVgp-LVs allow efficient transduction of immature naïve cord blood T cells.

Freshly isolated total CB CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were pre-stimulated with IL-7 for 48 h and subsequently transduced in the presence of retronectin with the LV pseudotypes, VSV-G-, RDTR-, BAEVTR-, BAEVRless- and HF-LVs, encoding the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10 (A) or 20 (B), except for VSV-G-LVs for which a higher vector dose was applied as indicated. Three days after transduction cells were stained for human surface markers: CD45RA, CD62L, CD31 and the % of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells in the recent thymocyte emigrants (CD45RA<sup>+</sup>/CD62L<sup>+</sup>/CD31<sup>+</sup>) and more mature naïve CB CD4<sup>+</sup> T

cells (CD45RA<sup>+</sup>/CD62L<sup>+</sup>/CD31<sup>-</sup>) were determined by FACS analysis (means +/- SD; n=3).

(C) Distribution of the recent thymocyte emigrants (CD45RA<sup>+</sup>/CD62L<sup>+</sup>/CD31<sup>+</sup>) and more mature naïve CB (CD45RA<sup>+</sup>/CD62L<sup>+</sup>/CD31<sup>-</sup>) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell subpopulations upon incubation of CB T cells with the different vector pseudotypes as compared to untransduced T cells (means +/- SD; n=4).

## Figure 3. BAEVgp-LVs confer high-level transduction of human immature thymocyte populations

(A) Schematic representation of human stem cell migration to the thymus and thymocyte development. For each differentiation stage phenotypic surface markers are indicated. HSPC= human stem progenitor cells; ELP = early lymphocyte progenitor, ETP= early thymocye progenitor, ISP= immature single positive T cell, DP = double positive, SP = mature single positive T cell.

(B) Freshly isolated human thymocytes were transduced in the presence of IL-7 on retronectin coated culture plates with the indicated LV pseudotypes at an MOI of 10 except for VSV-G-LVs, for which an MOI 50 was applied. Four days post-transduction the thymocytes were stained for human surface markers (CD3, CD4 and CD8) and the % of GFP<sup>+</sup>-cells in the different thymocyte subpopulations analyzed by FACS (means +/- SD; n=5; CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> =DN; CD4<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> = SP-CD4; CD4<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> = SP-CD8; CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> =DP; CD4<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> =ISP).

(C,D) Freshly isolated human thymocytes were enriched for CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells to increase the DN thymocyte population and they were transduced as in (B). (D) Four days post-transduction the thymocytes were stained for human surface markers (CD34, CD7, CD1a and CD5) and the % of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells in the different thymocyte subpopulations were determined (means +/- SD, n=4). Gating strategies for FACS analysis are shown in (C) for a representative result of BAEVRless-LV transduction of CD34+ enriched thymocytes

# Figure 4. BAEVgp-LVs confer efficient gene transfer into in vitro generated early T cell progenitors

CB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were plated on DL-4 coated culture wells in presence of a cytokine cocktail (IL7, TPO, Flt3-L) for 24h and they were subsequently transduced with VSV-G-, RDTR-, BAEVTR-, BAEVRless- and HF-LVs encoding the GFP reporter at an

MOI of 10, except for VSV-G-LVs for which a higher vector dose (MOI of 50) was applied. At day three (A,C) and seven (B,D) of culture, the cells were analysed by FACS for surface expression of CD34, CD7, and CD5. The gating strategy to determin GFP expression in the subpopulations ELP, ETP and Pro T and are shown in (A) and (B) for a representative experiment. The transduction levels for day three and seven of differentiation towards T cell lineage in these subpopulations are summarized in the histograms in (C) and (D) respectively. (E) At day fourteen of culture, the cells were analysed by FACS for surface expression of CD34, CD7, CD5 and CD1a; GFP expression in the subpopulations ELP, ETP, Pro T1, T2 and pre T cells at day fourteen of differentiation towards T cell lineage is shown for the different pseudotypes.

# Figure 5. H/F-LV transduced progenitor T cells allowed accelerated thymopoiesis in vivo in NSG mice as compared to HF-LV transduced CD34+ cells

CB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells from the same donor were subdivided in two parts. One part of these cells was plated on DL-4 coated culture wells in presence of a cytokine cocktail (IL7, TPO, Flt3-L) for 24h and they were subsequently transduced with HF-LVs in the presence of Vectofusin encoding the GFP reporter at a MOI of 10. At day six of differentiation, the other part of the CD34+ cells was defrosted and these cells were stimulated by a cytokine cocktail (SCF, TPO, Flt3-L) for 24h and they were subsequently transduced with HF-LVs encoding the GFP reporter at a MOI of 10 in the presence of retronectin. HF-LV transduced T cell progenitors and CD34+ cells were injected intrahepatically into separate sub-lethally irradiated newborn NSG mice after ten days of differentiation and 24h transduction, respectively. For both conditions untransduced control cells were injected in parallel. Human thymocyte reconstitution was assessed six weeks after injection into NSG mice by flow cytometry. CD3/TCR $\alpha/\beta$  a/b (A), CD4/CD8 (B), CD34/CD7/CD5/CD1a (C, D) labeling was performed for humanized thymus and compared between untransduced and H/F-LV transduction conditions.

#### References

1. Blaese RM, Culver KW, Miller AD, et al. T lymphocyte-directed gene therapy for ADA- SCID: initial trial results after 4 years. Science. 1995;270(5235):475-480.

2. Bordignon C, Notarangelo LD, Nobili N, et al. Gene therapy in peripheral blood lymphocytes and bone marrow for ADA- immunodeficient patients. Science. 1995;270(5235):470-475.

3. Bonini C, Ferrari G, Verzeletti S, et al. HSV-TK gene transfer into donor lymphocytes for control of allogeneic graft-versus-leukemia. Science. 1997;276(5319):1719-1724.

4. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, et al. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3(95):95ra73.

5. Buchschacher GL, Jr., Wong-Staal F. Approaches to gene therapy for human immunodeficiency virus infection. Hum Gene Ther. 2001;12(9):1013-1019.

6. Aiuti A, Vai S, Mortellaro A, et al. Immune reconstitution in ADA-SCID after PBL gene therapy and discontinuation of enzyme replacement. Nat Med. 2002;8(5):423-425.

7. Centlivre M, Legrand N, Klamer S, et al. Preclinical in vivo evaluation of the safety of a multi-shRNA-based gene therapy against HIV-1. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids. 2013;2:e120.

8. Chung J, Zhang J, Li H, Ouellet DL, DiGiusto DL, Rossi JJ. Endogenous MCM7 microRNA cluster as a novel platform to multiplex small interfering and nucleolar RNAs for combinational HIV-1 gene therapy. Hum Gene Ther. 2012;23(11):1200-1208.

9. Tebas P, Stein D, Tang WW, et al. Gene editing of CCR5 in autologous CD4 T cells of persons infected with HIV. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(10):901-910.

10. Bondanza A, Valtolina V, Magnani Z, et al. Suicide gene therapy of graftversus-host disease induced by central memory human T lymphocytes. Blood. 2006;107(5):1828-1836.

11. Cieri N, Mastaglio S, Oliveira G, Casucci M, Bondanza A, Bonini C. Adoptive immunotherapy with genetically modified lymphocytes in allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Immunol Rev. 2014;257(1):165-180.

12. Marin V, Cribioli E, Philip B, et al. Comparison of different suicide-gene strategies for the safety improvement of genetically manipulated T cells. Hum Gene Ther Methods. 2012;23(6):376-386.

13. Gattinoni L, Klebanoff CA, Palmer DC, et al. Acquisition of full effector function in vitro paradoxically impairs the in vivo antitumor efficacy of adoptively transferred CD8+ T cells. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(6):1616-1626.

14. Micklethwaite KP, Savoldo B, Hanley PJ, et al. Derivation of human T lymphocytes from cord blood and peripheral blood with antiviral and antileukemic specificity from a single culture as protection against infection and relapse after stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2010;115(13):2695-2703.

15. Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. Science. 2006;314(5796):126-129.

16. Brentjens RJ, Davila ML, Riviere I, et al. CD19-targeted T cells rapidly induce molecular remissions in adults with chemotherapy-refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(177):177ra138.

17. Girard-Gagnepain A, Amirache F, Costa C, et al. Baboon envelope pseudotyped lentiviral vectors outperform VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors for gene transfer into cytokine-stimulated and resting hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2014.

18. Kochenderfer JN, Wilson WH, Janik JE, et al. Eradication of B-lineage cells and regression of lymphoma in a patient treated with autologous T cells genetically engineered to recognize CD19. Blood. 2010;116(20):4099-4102.

19. Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptormodified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(8):725-733.

20. Haso W, Lee DW, Shah NN, et al. Anti-CD22-chimeric antigen receptors targeting B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2013;121(7):1165-1174.

21. Shaffer DR, Savoldo B, Yi Z, et al. T cells redirected against CD70 for the immunotherapy of CD70-positive malignancies. Blood. 2011;117(16):4304-4314.

22. Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dotti G, et al. Antitumor activity and long-term fate of chimeric antigen receptor-positive T cells in patients with neuroblastoma. Blood. 2011;118(23):6050-6056.

23. Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, et al. Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(7):917-924.

24. Robbins PF, Dudley ME, Wunderlich J, et al. Cutting edge: persistence of transferred lymphocyte clonotypes correlates with cancer regression in patients receiving cell transfer therapy. J Immunol. 2004;173(12):7125-7130.

25. Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(13):4550-4557.

26. Berger C, Jensen MC, Lansdorp PM, Gough M, Elliott C, Riddell SR. Adoptive transfer of effector CD8+ T cells derived from central memory cells establishes persistent T cell memory in primates. J Clin Invest. 2008;118(1):294-305.

27. Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Torabi-Parizi P, et al. Central memory self/tumorreactive CD8+ T cells confer superior antitumor immunity compared with effector memory T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(27):9571-9576.

28. Hassan J, Reen DJ. Human recent thymic emigrants--identification, expansion, and survival characteristics. J Immunol. 2001;167(4):1970-1976.

29. Marshall-Clarke S, Reen D, Tasker L, Hassan J. Neonatal immunity: how well has it grown up? Immunol Today. 2000;21(1):35-41.

30. Assing K, Nielsen C, Kirchhoff M, Madsen HO, Ryder LP, Fisker N. CD4+ CD31+ recent thymic emigrants in CHD7 haploinsufficiency (CHARGE syndrome): a case. Hum Immunol. 2013;74(9):1047-1050.

31. Kimmig S, Przybylski GK, Schmidt CA, et al. Two subsets of naïve T helper cells with distinct T cell receptor excision circle content in human adult peripheral blood. J Exp Med. 2002;195(6):789-794.

32. Azevedo RI, Soares MV, Barata JT, et al. IL-7 sustains CD31 expression in human naïve CD4+ T cells and preferentially expands the CD31+ subset in a PI3K-dependent manner. Blood. 2009;113(13):2999-3007.

33. Soares MV, Borthwick NJ, Maini MK, Janossy G, Salmon M, Akbar AN. IL-7dependent extrathymic expansion of CD45RA+ T cells enables preservation of a naïve repertoire. J Immunol. 1998;161(11):5909-5917.

34. Swainson L, Verhoeyen E, Cosset FL, Taylor N. IL-7R alpha gene expression is inversely correlated with cell cycle progression in IL-7-stimulated T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2006;176(11):6702-6708.

35. Frumento G, Zheng Y, Aubert G, et al. Cord blood T cells retain early differentiation phenotype suitable for immunotherapy after TCR gene transfer to confer EBV specificity. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(1):45-55.

36. Huang X, Guo H, Kang J, et al. Sleeping Beauty transposon-mediated engineering of human primary T cells for therapy of CD19+ lymphoid malignancies. Mol Ther. 2008;16(3):580-589.

37. Merindol N, Grenier AJ, Caty M, et al. Umbilical cord blood T cells respond against the Melan-A/MART-1 tumor antigen and exhibit reduced alloreactivity as compared with adult blood-derived T cells. J Immunol. 2010;185(2):856-866.

38. Serrano LM, Pfeiffer T, Olivares S, et al. Differentiation of naïve cord-blood T cells into CD19-specific cytolytic effectors for posttransplantation adoptive immunotherapy. Blood. 2006;107(7):2643-2652.

39. Khoury SJ, Sayegh MH, Hancock WW, Gallon L, Carpenter CB, Weiner HL. Acquired tolerance to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by intrathymic injection of myelin basic protein or its major encephalitogenic peptide. J Exp Med. 1993;178(2):559-566.

40. Marodon G, Fisson S, Levacher B, Fabre M, Salomon BL, Klatzmann D. Induction of antigen-specific tolerance by intrathymic injection of lentiviral vectors. Blood. 2006;108(9):2972-2978.

41. Posselt AM, Barker CF, Friedman AL, Naji A. Prevention of autoimmune diabetes in the BB rat by intrathymic islet transplantation at birth. Science. 1992;256(5061):1321-1324.

42. Adjali O, Marodon G, Steinberg M, et al. In vivo correction of ZAP-70 immunodeficiency by intrathymic gene transfer. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(8):2287-2295.

43. Hozumi K, Mailhos C, Negishi N, et al. Delta-like 4 is indispensable in thymic environment specific for T cell development. J Exp Med. 2008;205(11):2507-2513.

44. Koch U, Fiorini E, Benedito R, et al. Delta-like 4 is the essential, nonredundant ligand for Notch1 during thymic T cell lineage commitment. J Exp Med. 2008;205(11):2515-2523.

45. Lefort N, Benne C, Lelievre JD, et al. Short exposure to Notch ligand Delta-4 is sufficient to induce T-cell differentiation program and to increase the T cell potential of primary human CD34+ cells. Exp Hematol. 2006;34(12):1720-1729.

46. Reimann C, Six E, Dal-Cortivo L, et al. Human T-lymphoid progenitors generated in a feeder-cell-free Delta-like-4 culture system promote T-cell reconstitution in NOD/SCID/gammac(-/-) mice. Stem Cells. 2012;30(8):1771-1780.

47. Dardalhon V, Jaleco S, Kinet S, et al. IL-7 differentially regulates cell cycle progression and HIV-1-based vector infection in neonatal and adult CD4+ T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(16):9277-9282.

48. Korin YD, Zack JA. Progression to the G1b phase of the cell cycle is required for completion of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription in T cells. J Virol. 1998;72(4):3161-3168.

49. Verhoeyen E, Dardalhon V, Ducrey-Rundquist O, Trono D, Taylor N, Cosset FL. IL-7 surface-engineered lentiviral vectors promote survival and efficient gene transfer in resting primary T lymphocytes. Blood. 2003;101(6):2167-2174.

50. Amirache F, Levy C, Costa C, et al. Mystery solved: VSV-G-LVs do not allow efficient gene transfer into unstimulated T cells, B cells, and HSCs because they lack the LDL receptor. Blood. 2014;123(9):1422-1424.

51. Maurice M, Verhoeyen E, Salmon P, Trono D, Russell SJ, Cosset FL. Efficient gene transfer into human primary blood lymphocytes by surface-engineered lentiviral vectors that display a T cell-activating polypeptide. Blood. 2002;99(7):2342-2350.

52. Ferrand C, Robinet E, Contassot E, et al. Retrovirus-mediated gene transfer in primary T lymphocytes: influence of the transduction/selection process and of ex vivo expansion on the T cell receptor beta chain hypervariable region repertoire. Hum Gene Ther. 2000;11(8):1151-1164.

53. Marktel S, Magnani Z, Ciceri F, et al. Immunologic potential of donor lymphocytes expressing a suicide gene for early immune reconstitution after hematopoietic T-cell-depleted stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2003;101(4):1290-1298.

54. Cavalieri S, Cazzaniga S, Geuna M, et al. Human T lymphocytes transduced by lentiviral vectors in the absence of TCR activation maintain an intact immune competence. Blood. 2003;102(2):497-505.

55. Ducrey-Rundquist O, Guyader M, Trono D. Modalities of interleukin-7-induced human immunodeficiency virus permissiveness in quiescent T lymphocytes. J Virol. 2002;76(18):9103-9111.

56. Unutmaz D, KewalRamani VN, Marmon S, Littman DR. Cytokine signals are sufficient for HIV-1 infection of resting human T lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1999;189(11):1735-1746.

57. Frecha C, Costa C, Levy C, et al. Efficient and stable transduction of resting B lymphocytes and primary chronic lymphocyte leukemia cells using measles virus gp displaying lentiviral vectors. Blood. 2009;114(15):3173-3180.

58. Frecha C, Costa C, Negre D, et al. Stable transduction of quiescent T cells without induction of cycle progression by a novel lentiviral vector pseudotyped with measles virus glycoproteins. Blood. 2008;112(13):4843-4852.

59. Frecha C, Levy C, Cosset FL, Verhoeyen E. Advances in the field of lentivector-based transduction of T and B lymphocytes for gene therapy. Mol Ther. 2010;18(10):1748-1757.

60. Sandrin V, Boson B, Salmon P, et al. Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with a modified RD114 envelope glycoprotein show increased stability in sera and augmented transduction of primary lymphocytes and CD34+ cells derived from human and nonhuman primates. Blood. 2002;100(3):823-832.

61. Rasko JE, Battini JL, Gottschalk RJ, Mazo I, Miller AD. The RD114/simian type D retrovirus receptor is a neutral amino acid transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(5):2129-2134.

62. Tailor CS, Marin M, Nouri A, Kavanaugh MP, Kabat D. Truncated forms of the dual function human ASCT2 neutral amino acid transporter/retroviral receptor are translationally initiated at multiple alternative CUG and GUG codons. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(29):27221-27230.

63. Marin M, Tailor CS, Nouri A, Kabat D. Sodium-dependent neutral amino acid transporter type 1 is an auxiliary receptor for baboon endogenous retrovirus. J Virol. 2000;74(17):8085-8093.

64. Koo HM, Parthasarathi S, Ron Y, Dougherty JP. Pseudotyped REV/SRV retroviruses reveal restrictions to infection and host range within members of the same receptor interference group. Virology. 1994;205(1):345-351.

65. Frecha C, Levy C, Costa C, et al. Measles virus glycoprotein-pseudotyped lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer into quiescent lymphocytes requires binding to both SLAM and CD46 entry receptors. J Virol. 2011;85(12):5975-5985.

66. Marin M, Lavillette D, Kelly SM, Kabat D. N-linked glycosylation and sequence changes in a critical negative control region of the ASCT1 and ASCT2 neutral amino acid transporters determine their retroviral receptor functions. J Virol. 2003;77(5):2936-2945.

67. Laughlin MJ, Barker J, Bambach B, et al. Hematopoietic engraftment and survival in adult recipients of umbilical-cord blood from unrelated donors. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(24):1815-1822.

68. Rocha V, Labopin M, Sanz G, et al. Transplants of umbilical-cord blood or bone marrow from unrelated donors in adults with acute leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(22):2276-2285.

69. Pegram HJ, Purdon TJ, van Leeuwen DG, et al. IL-12-secreting CD19targeted cord blood-derived T cells for the immunotherapy of B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2014.

70. Komanduri KV, St John LS, de Lima M, et al. Delayed immune reconstitution after cord blood transplantation is characterized by impaired thymopoiesis and late memory T-cell skewing. Blood. 2007;110(13):4543-4551.

71. Thomson BG, Robertson KA, Gowan D, et al. Analysis of engraftment, graft-versus-host disease, and immune recovery following unrelated donor cord blood transplantation. Blood. 2000;96(8):2703-2711.

72. Parkman R, Weinberg KI. Immunological reconstitution following bone marrow transplantation. Immunol Rev. 1997;157:73-78.



Figure 1



Figure 2









Figure 4



Figure 4





Figure 5



Supplementary Figure 1. Schematic representation of the envelope glycoprotein constructs. CT: cytoplasmic tail, TM: transmembrane. (A) Schematic representation of the wt (BaEVwt) and mutant BaEV (BaEV/TR, BaEVRless), RD114/TR- and MLV-A-glycoproteins (gps). The 17 amino acid long cytoplasmic domain of the cat and baboon retroviral gps, RD114 and BaEVwt, respectively, was exchanged for the one of the MLV-A glycoprotein resulting in the chimeric RD114/TR- and BaEV/TR-gps, respectively. The R-peptide of the cytoplasmic tail of BaEVwt was deleted resulting in the BaEVRLess mutant gp. (B) Schematic presentation of wild-type or mutant F and H gps from the Edmonston MV strain. H $\Delta$ 24 is a H mutant with deletion of the cytoplasmic tail. F $\Delta$ 30 contains only 3 residual amino acids of the F wt cytoplasmic tail.



Supplementary Figure 2. BAEV-LVs poorly transduce resting T cells as compared to H/F-LVs. Highly purified resting adult T cells were isolated by negative antibody-mediated selection to avoid cell activation and then transduced with RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR-, BaEVRLess-, H/F- or VSV-G-pseudotyped GFP encoding lentiviral vectors at an MOI of 20 or 100 in the absence of exogenous stimuli. After 3 days, the transduced cell cultures were washed and continued in the presence of human rIL-7 for 3 more days to verify stable GFP expression and the % of GFP+T cells was analyzed by FACS for total T cells (means ± SD; n = 4).



Supplementary Figure 3. Distribution of the thymocyte subsets upon incubation with LVs as compared to untransduced thymocytes. Freshly isolated human thymocytes were transduced in the presence of IL-7 on retronectin coated culture plates with the indicated LV pseudotypes at an MOI of 10 except for VSV-G-LVs, for which an MOI 50 was applied. Four days post-transduction the thymocytes were stained for human surface markers (CD3, CD4 and CD8) (means +/- SD; n=5; CD4-CD8<sup>-</sup> =DN; CD4<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> = SP-CD4; CD4<sup>-</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> = SP-CD8; CD4<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> =DP; CD4<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>=ISP).



Supplementary Figure 4. Distribution of the CB CD34 differentiated subsets upon incubation with LVs as compared to untransduced cells. CB CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells were plated on DL-4 coated culture wells in presence of a cytokine cocktail (IL7, TPO, Flt3-L) for 24h and they were subsequently transduced with VSV-G-, RDTR-, BAEVTR-, BAEVRless- and HF-LVs encoding the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10, except for VSV-G-LVs for which a higher vector dose (MOI of 50) was applied. At day 14 of culture, the cells were analyzed by FACS for surface expression of CD34, CD7, CD5 and CD1a.

### PART3 – SUPPLEMENTARY RESULTS: BAEV PSEUDOTYPED LENTIVIRAL VECTORS ALLOW EFFICIENT TRANSDUCTION OF ADULT B CELLS

#### 1) INTRODUCING LV MEDIATED GENE DELIVERY INTO B CELLS

As compared T cells LV, which are highly transduced with LVs upon a proliferating stimulus, transduction of B cells is another matter since even under conditions inducing B cell proliferation, only very low transduction with classical VSV-G-LVs is detected (Frecha 2009), (Serafini 2004), (Levy 2010). Indeed, different B-cell activation/stimulation protocols have been set up in order to achieve stable gene transfer into human B-cells. One method used addition of antiCD40-crosslinking antibodies and IL-4 that induces proliferation and entry into S/G<sub>2</sub>/M phase of the cell cycle. However, even under these conditions VSVG-LVs allow only very poor transduction of B-cells (Serafini et al. 2004).

VSVG-LVs allow efficient transduction of human B cells only upon cytokine stimulation and proliferation in a complex co-culture system using murine thymoma cells in the presence of a cocktail of cytokines (Bovia et al. 2003). However, this system did not only led to proliferation but subsequent plasmoid differentiation of all naïve and memory human B cell subsets (Bovia et al. 2003).

More elaborated approaches have been developed using LVs that display an anti-CD20 scFv to target gene transfer to B cells (Ziegler et al. 2008) but binding of anti-CD20-targeting vectors to B cells can result in a proliferative stimulus by BCR activation (Buchholz et al. 2009). It is essential that the initial characteristics of the target B-cell remain as intact as possible upon transduction and that the vector does not induce any activation and/or differentiation as a secondary effect for further clinical applications.

Our group recently showed that H/F-LVs allow high and stable gene transfer of primary quiescent B-cells and cancer B-cells, which now makes it possible to study with ease gene functions in these cells (Frecha et al. 2009), (Lévy et al. 2010). Nevertheless, H/F-LVs are difficult to produce at very high titers and these LVs are neutralized by circulating MV antibodies due to vaccination. As a consequence it is currently not possible to use these vector for direct *in vivo* gene delivery in B cells. Therefore, we decided to evaluate the novel BaEV LV pseudotypes for the transduction of B cells

#### 2) ADDITIONAL MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### 2.1) B CELLS ISOLATION

Adult peripheral blood samples, obtained from healthy adult donors after informed consent, were collected in acid citrate dextrose (ACD) contaning tubes. CD19+ B cells were purified by negative selection to avoid B cell activation using the Rosette tetrameric complex system (StemSep Technologies, Vancouver, Canada). Purity of isolated B cells was monitored using anti-hCD19APC antibody, and was analyzed by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS CANTOII; BD Biosciences). B lymphocytes were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% FCS and penicillin/streptomycin.

#### 2.2) TRANSDUCTION OF B CELLS

Freshly isolated B cells were immediately seeded for transduction or prestimulated through the B-cell receptor (BCR) during 24h with 0.001% of Staphylococcus Aureus Cowan (SAC) (Calbiochem) and 1ng/ml rhIL-2 (SIGMA). Briefly, 1x10<sup>5</sup> cells were seeded in 48-well-plates and concentrated vector was added at indicated doses. At two days after the transduction, B-cells were washed twice and transferred to an MS5 cell monolayer in RPMI supplemented with 10ng/ml rhIL-15 and 5ng/ml rhIL-2 (SIGMA). The percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells was determined by flow cytometry two days and six days post-transduction.

#### 3) BAEV-LVS EFFICIENTLY TRANSDUCE STIMULATED AND RESTING B CELLS

#### 3.1) BAEV PSEUDOTYPED VECTORS MANAGE TO TRANSDUCE QUIESCENT B CELLS

We evaluated the ability of BaEV-LVs to transduce unstimulated B cells. Two days after the transduction, unstimulated B cells were cultured on a monolayer of MS5 cells in order to allow their survival for six days. We analyzed the GFP expression six days after the transduction. In absence of retronectin, BaEV/TR LVs do not transduce B cells and BaEVRLess-LVs present a low rate of transduction. Because of its positive effect on the transduction of CD34+ cells, we tempted to transduce B cells in presence of retronectin (Figure 24 A). All vectors were applied at a MOI of 10 except for VSV-G-LVs (MOI of 10 and 100).

BaEV-LVs transduced up to 20% of unstimulated B cells and the transduction by BaEVRLess-LVs appeared less donor dependent than observed for H/F-LVs (p<0.03). As expected, we shown that under these culture conditions, VSV-G-LVs did not transduce unstimulated B cells at all.

As it has been shown above for unstimulated CD34+ cells, it was important to check if BaEV-LVs can transduce truly quiescent B cells and that they did not involve cell cycle entry. Unstimulated B cells were incubated for two days with VSV-G-, H/F-, BaEV/TR-, BaEVRLess-LVs (MOI=100 and 10 for VSV-G-LVs and MOI=10 for other LV pseudotypes). As a positive control of cell-cycle progression, cells were incubated with no vector in absence or in presence of a SACI/IL-2 stimulation (BCR stimulation). Using 7-AAD(DNA)/PY staining(RNA), we observed that unstimulated B cells were in G0/G1a phase before transduction and that transduction with both BaEV-LVs did not induce cell cycle entry into the G1b phase (Figure 24 B).

The conservation after transduction of the initial phenotype of the cell is essential for therapeutic applications. Therefore, two days after transduction, we evaluated the expression of two activation markers of B cells, hCD69 and hCD71. In view of the importance of CD86 (B-7 molecule) for interaction with T cells we also

checked the rate of expression of this costimulatory molecule (Figure 24 D). Both BaEV-LVs did not induce up-regulation of activation markers of B cells but induce a slight increase of CD86 expression. No major phenotypic change was observed after transduction by both BaEV/LVs although we will need to confirm that the increase in CD86 expression could not have negative effect in T to B cell interaction.

Remarkably, both BaEV-LVs transduced up to 20% of quiescent B cells without inducing major phenotypic changes and cell cycle entry. The ability of BaEVRLess-LVs to transduce quiescent B cells was donor independent in contrast with H/F-LVs and BaEV/TR transduction of quiescent B cells was not statistically different than the one of H/F-LVs.

#### 3.2) BOTH BAEV LV PSEUDOTYPES ALLOW EFFICIENT TRANSDUCTION OF BCR STIMULATED AND LEUKEMIC HUMAN B CELLS

Since quiescent B cells were efficiently transduced by BaEV-LVs, we evaluated subsequently their ability to transduce BCR stimulated cells to check if thire transduction rate could be increased. Adult B cells were prestimulated by SACI/IL-2 for 24hours and two days after transduction, B cells were cultured on a monolayer of MS5 cells in order to allow their survival for six days. We analyzed the GFP expression six days after the transduction. All vectors were applied at a MOI of 10 except for VSV-G-LVs (MOI=100 and 10) and transduction was performed in the presence of retronectin (Figure 25 A). Under these culture conditions, VSV-G-LVs did not manage to transduce BCR-stimulated B cells whereas BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs transduced these cells up to 30% and 40% respectively. Importantly, there were no significant difference between BaEV-LVs and H/F-LV transduction levels using this B cell stimulation protocol.

Gene transfer into cancer B cells need new efficient tools, in particular for basic research on cancer physiopathology. Firstly, we evaluated BaEV-LVs in primary marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) B cells (Figure 25 B). MZL is an indolent B-cell lymphoma and can be subdivided in three types based on its site impact in spleen, lymph nodes and extranodal mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. Few trials are available for the treatment of this lymphoma lacking standard guidelines and also

a precise description of its physiopathology (Joshi et al. 2012). Transduction was realized in the presence of retronectin at an MOI of 10 for each LV pseudotype except for VSV-G-LVs (MOI=100 and 10). H/F-LVs transduced 50% of MZL B cells and BaEVRLess-LVs 60%, thus, both vectors did not present significant difference in transducing these cells. However, BaEV/TR LV pseudotype appeared to be superior for MZL B cells transduction with 70% of transduced cells. Secondly, we tested BaEV-LVs on primary chronic lymphocyte leukemia B cells (B-CLL) (Figure 25 C). In this cancer, B cells are blocked in G0/early G1 phase of the cell cycle. They do not well respond to proliferating stimuli such as BCR stimulation. We used the same transduction conditions as employed for MZL B cells. The transduction of these B cells by H/F-LVs reaches 25% and is clearly dependent on the expression of the signaling-activating-molecule (SLAM) (Lévy et al. 2010) and consequently transduction varies between donors. BaEV-LVs transduced less than 10% of these cells and were thus less suited for B-CLL transduction than H/F-LVs.

BaEV-LVs appeared to be a good alternative to H/F-LVs for BCR stimulated B cells and MZL B cells. In B-CLL cells, they could be interesting in case of donor presenting a very low expression of SLAM and thus that cannot be transduced by H/F-LVs.

#### 3.3) BAEV/TR LV PSEUDOTYPE HIGHLY TRANSDUCE MEMORY B CELLS

For therapeutic purposes, it could be important that BaEV-LVs transduce as well naïve and memory cells in order to use them for various applications. We applied the same transduction protocol as related before and we analyzed six days after the transduction the levels of GFP+ memory (CD27+) and naïve (CD27-) B cells. For resting (Figure 24 C) and stimulated B cells (Figure 25 A), we showed that BaEVRLess-LVs transduce as well naïve as memory B cells similarly to H/F-LVs.

#### 4) TRANSDUCTION OF B CELLS BY BAEV-LVS, ENCOURAGING PRELIMINARY RESULTS

BaEVTR- and BaEVRLess-LVs allow high-level stable gene transfer of primary quiescent B cells that now makes it possible to study with ease gene function and therapeutic gene transfer in these cells. These vectors transduce B cells without changing their phenotype except for CD86 expression which increased slightly after transduction with BaEV-LVs. It will be important to evaluate the true effect in T to B cell interactions and to take this into account for further applications. It was also interesting to study the mechanisms of entry of BaEV-LVs in B cells as proposed for CD34+ cells. Regarding their ability to transduce BCR-stimulated B cells and leukemic B cells such as MZL B cells and B-CLL cells and to transduce both naïve and memory B cells, these novel vectors hold promise for multiple clinical research applications. They may allow expression of co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40L or B7 molecules in non-dividing tumor B-cells such as B-CLLs in order to elicit immune responses against gene modified and unmodified cells.

Although we need to evaluate extensively the impact of the transduction of B cells by BaEV-LVs and by adoptive transfer in mouse, these first results suggest that BaEV-LVs might open the way to improved genetic vaccination strategies against cancer, infectious or autoimmune diseases as well as gene therapy of genetic diseases. For instance, in case of the recent B cell based anti-HIV strategy proposed by Luo and collegues (Luo et al. 2009), LVs were used to transduce HSC which were subsequently differentiated into antibody-secreting autologous B cells. Alternatively, direct lentiviral transduction of memory B cells and reinfusion of autologous B-cells would allow a quick and continuous supply of HIV neutralizing antibodies *in vivo*. We could also envisage the use of BaEV LV pseudotypes as shRNAs in fundamental research in order to understand the cellular mechanisms of B or cancerous B cells such as MZL B cells.



## Figure 24. BaEV lentiviral vector pseudotypes transduce quiescent B cells conserving their phenotype.

(A) Adult B cells were transduced in presence of retronectin by different LV pseudotypes at a MOI of 10 (and 100 for VSV-G LV pseudotype) (n>4). At day 2 after transduction, part of the B cells was continued on a monolayer of MS5 cells. Analysis for GFP expressing total B cells (A), CD27- naïve B cells and CD27+ memory B cells (C) were performed 6 days after transduction. (B) Cell cycle progression was monitored by simultaneous vizualisation of RNA (Pyronin-Y) and DNA content (7-AAD) at 2 days after transduction of unstimulated B cells by different LV pseudotypes. As a control, B cells were stimulated by overnight incubation with SAC/IL-2. (Representative data of 2 experiments) (D) Resting B cells were transduced with H/F-LVs , BaEV/TR-LVs, BaEVRLess-LVs at an MOI of 10 and VSVG-LVs at an MOI of 100 respectively, or incubated without vector. Surface staining of activation markers (CD69, CD71) and of CD86 2 days after transduction is shown (n=3).



## Figure 25. Efficient transduction of human stimulated and leukemic B cells by BaEV/TR and BaEVRless pseudotyped LVs.

B cells were transduced in presence of retronectin with VSV-G-, HF-, BaEV/TR- and BaEVRlesspseudotyped LVs at MOI of 10 and 100 for VSV-G-LV pseudotypes. At day 2 after transduction, part of the B cells was continued on a monolayer of MS5 cells. Analysis for GFP expressing cells was performed 6 days after transduction. (A) Freshly isolated B cells prestimulated 24h with SACI/IL-2 were transduced as indicated (n>5) and naïve and memory B cells were phenotyped (B) MZL B cells from 3 different donors were transduced as indicated (n>5). (C) B-CLL cells from 3 different donors were transduced as indicated (n>4).

## DISCUSSION

Few efficient tools are available for the transduction of hematopoietic cells, this thesis describes two major lentiviral vector pseudotypes and their capacity to transfer genes into hematopoietic cells such as HSCs, T cell lineages and B cells.

#### 1.1) BAEV- AND H/F-LVS EFFICIENTLY TRANSDUCE HSCS

Although classical VSV-G-LVs are reported to be able to transduce nondividing cells, fully quiescent G<sub>0</sub> cells are not efficiently transduced (Frecha et al. 2008), (Korin et al. 1998), (Sutton et al. 1999), (Verhoeyen et al. 2003). Therefore, HSCs are poorly permissive for classical VSV-G-LV transduction because 75% of them reside in G<sub>0</sub> (Sutton et al. 1999). Moreover, our group confirmed a very low expression of the VSV receptor, the low density lipid-receptor (LDL-R) (Finkelshtein et al. 2013) (Amirache et al. 2014) in unstimulated CD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, perfectly coinciding with their poor VSV-G-LV-mediated transduction (Amirache et al. 2014). Only 'earlyacting-cytokine' stimulation of hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells, upregulating the LDL-R, permitted highlevel VSV-G-LV transduction (Amirache et al. 2014). However, intense exposure of HSCs to cytokines might affect their homing, extravasation ability and promote differentiation rather than expansion of the HSC pool (Ahmed et al. 2004), (Peled et al. 1999). Moreover, when combining high vector doses with strong cytokinestimulation, the risk for multicopy integration and insertional mutagenesis cannot be neglected (Hacein-Bey-Abina et al. 2008), (Hacein-Bey-Abina et al. 2003).

In this thesis, we present two new LV-pseudotypes that confer high-level transduction on the HSC subset in the CD34+ cell population. Both BaEV- and H/F LVs succeed in transducing up to 90% of CD34+ upon mild cytokine stimulation. We decided to stimulate here CD34+ cells only with SCF, TPO and Flt-3-L, since IL-3 commonly added in the CD34+ cytokine cocktails used in the clinic was thought to increase CD34+ cell differentiation (Millington et al. 2009).

Most interestingly, BaEV- and H/F-LVs transduce up to 30% and 70% respectively of resting HSCs, a transduction level never reached before in these targets. The clinical interest of transducing resting HSCs are multiple and extensively discussed below.

Considering HSC transduction levels, BaEV- and H/F-LVs are equally efficient for CD34+ cells stimulated with a mild cytokine coctail. H/F-LVs are superior to BaEV-LVs for transducing resting CD34+ cells due to the differential expression of their receptors. Indeed, the expression of both ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 receptors for BaEV-LV are upregulated by more than 2- and 6-fold respectively when CD34+ cells are stimulated with early acting cytokines. In conclusion, both ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 receptors are needed in sufficient levels at the hCD34+ cell surface to allow vector transduction. On the other hand, we reported that resting CD34+ already express CD46 at high density at their cell surface and that this receptor is used for H/F-LV entry as also for the vaccinal strain of measles virus; This superiority of H/F-LV in transducing unstimulated CD34+ cells gives advantages as compared to BaEV/LVs.

In order to confirm that both BaEV-LVs and H/F-LVs transduce the stem cell subset in the CD34+ cell population, we performed highly specific secondary engraftments in NSG mice. Indeed, for each primary transplanted mice, we isolated bone marrow human CD34+ cells and we transplant them into a secondary mouse without mixing CD34+ isolated from several primary mice. This protocol allow us to show that even for quiescent cells BaEV and H/F-LVs transduce HSCs. This was evidenced by the important increase of the GFP+ proportion in the human CD45+ engrafted cells in secondary recipient mice as compared to the first engraftment. For instance, we showed that although BaEV-LVs transduce less than 30% of resting CD34+ cells, we obtain up to 65% of CD45+ GFP+ cells in secondary transplanted mice suggesting that BaEV-LVs preferentially transduce the HSC sub-population in the CD34+ cell subset.

#### 1.2) BAEV- AND H/F-LVS ARE COMPLEMENTARY PARTNERS FOR THE TRANSDUCTION OF THE T CELL LINEAGE

Our group has developed H/F-LVs for the transduction of resting and IL-7 stimulated T cells with an advantageous transduction of adult memory T cells. Moreover, it appeared that H/F-LVs were not able to efficiently transduce the naïve immature UCB T cell population although they express CD46 on their surface (Frecha et al. 2008). This reduced transduction is due to the lack of SLAM receptor, another measles virus receptor on these naïve UCB T cells (Frecha et al. 2008). Thus, we decided to evaluate the capacity of the new BaEV-LV pseudotypes to

transduce the more naïve and immature T cell subpopulations following several objectives.

As developed above, the commonly used TCR stimulation of T cells in order to allow VSV-G-LV transduction induce an important skewing of T cell repertoire protocols (Verhoeyen et al. 2003), (Marktel et al. 2003). Therefore, we focused on IL-7 mild stimulation notably because of its role in supporting T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation (Fry et al. 2001), (Rathmell et al. 2001) without inducing alteration of T cell populations.

BaEV-LVs cannot transduce unstimulated T cells probably due to a very low mRNA expression of both ASCT1 and ASCT2 receptor of BaEV-LV in resting T cells. Of interest, both ASCT1 and ASCT2 are strongly upregulated on adult T cells upon TCR and IL-7 stimulation, perfectly in agreement with increasing transduction levels obtained with the BaEV-LVs.

H/F-LVs maintain their advantage for the resting T cell population reaching more than 50% of transduction in presence of retronectin. Our group suggested that H/F-LVs enter into resting T cells by a concerted or sequential SLAM/CD46 engagement that may induce macropinocytosis and LV entry.

Of interest for T cell based gene therapy and immunotherapy, BaEV-LVs transduce as well naïve and memory T cells as compared to H/F-LVs which better transduce memory T cells. Our group previously explained the preference of H/F-LVs for memory cells because naïve cells express less SLAM than memory cells (Frecha et al. 2011). Since BaEV-LVs transduce as well naïve and memory IL7 stimulated T cells, we could hypothesize that IL-7 stimulation induce ASCT1 and ASCT2 upregulation in both naïve and memory T cells.

As previously detailed, naïve T cells are especially important as gene therapy target cells since they are able to respond to novel antigens and are essential in immunologic memory generation. Moreover, BaEV-LVs are highly superior to H/F-LVs in transducing UCB immature naïve recent thymic emigrants and more mature naïve CB CD4+ T cells reaching more than 50% of transduction. This is very promising for gene therapy and immunotherapy application. Indeed, the early immature naïve T cell subsets are characterized by their high capacity to proliferate,

251
to persist during the individual lifespan and to differentiate in long lived memory T cells (Szabolcs et al. 2003).

Because of the interest of correcting T cells at the earliest stages of differentiation for immune modulation and gene therapy, we also evaluate and compare BaEV- and H/F-LVs in mediating gene transfer in thymocytes. BaEV/TR-and BaEVRLess-LVs resulted in a preferential transduction of early thymic progenitors and Pro T subsets while H/F-LVs transduce at the same level of above 60% all thymic subsets. Nevertheless, the transduction level of thymocytes by H/F-LVs depends on the donor, probably in connection with the cell activation state and expression of its CD46 and SLAM receptors.

Using the Notch Ligand DL-4 culture system (Reimann et al. 2012), we showed that BaEV- and H/F-LVs transduced HSCs during differentiation into lymphoid progenitors without alterating the T cell differentiation process, allowing us to have a 10-fold expansion of the cells.

As developed below, it could be of particular interest to develop a cotransplantation protocol using HSC and T progenitors to accelerate the recovery of the adaptative immune response after gene therapy HSCT.

To conclude, BaEV-LV seems to be an interesting tool for the transduction of naïve and early progenitor T cells while H/F-LVs present a complementary capacity by efficiently transducing memory cells and the latest stages of thymic differentiation. Of importance, H/F-LV remains the only LV pseudotype allowing efficient transduction of resting T cells.

# 1.3) CAN THE PRODUCTION OF BAEV- AND H/F-LVS, GO BOTH TOWARDS THE CLINIC?

Although we demonstrated that BaEV- and H/F-LVs are powerful tools for the transduction of HSCs and T cells, their potential development for clinical purposes differs according to their own characteristics.

## 1.3.1) ARE THEY EASY TO PRODUCE AT HIGH INFECTIOUS TITERS?

The need of high infectious titer of lentiviral vector is essential in order to reduce the difficulty and the cost of production for laboratory and clinical applications. Despite its numerous disadvantages, the currently used VSV-G LV pseudotype can be produced on average at the high concentrated titer of  $1.10^9$  IU/ml and we reach titers of  $6.10^7$  IU/ml for RD114/T-LVs . Modifications in the cytoplasmic tail of the BaEV glycoprotein allows to obtain relatively high concentrated titers of  $5.10^7$  IU/ml and  $2.10^8$  IU/ml for the BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess constructs respectively. BaEV/TR-LVs present equivalent titers as obtained for RD114/TR LVs. For H/F-LVs, the H $\Delta$ 24/F $\Delta$ 30 truncated envelopes improved their incorporation on LV and allowed to produce an average of  $1.3.10^7$  UI/ml (Frecha et al. 2011 et al. 2008).

As a consequence, BaEV-LVs and especially BaEVRless-LVs can be produced at significantly higher titers as compared to H/F-LVs. They approach the titers of the currently used VSV-G-LVs. In addition they allow high level of transduction of naïve and immature T cell, thymocytes and HSCs, they might be interesting candidates for the use in the clinic and for LV production at large scale.

# 1.3.2) IS STABLE PRODUCTION POSSIBLE?

As we previously explained, stable vector producing cell lines (VCL) have been developed in order to ensure a safer and less expansive LV production.

Although, this stable production is essential for clinical use, the cytotoxicity of numerous viral proteins prevent this potential development. For example, when VSV-G is stably expressed, the fusogenicity of this glycoprotein induces strong toxicity, which prevents its use in continuous HIV vector-producing cells (Ikeda et al. 2003).

Analyzing the cytotoxicity of our new LV pseudotypes, the BaEV/TR glycoprotein is the only one that could be stably produced considering the important fusogenicity induced by both BaEVRLess and H/F glycoproteins. Thus, we can imagine that similarly to RD114/TR-LVs, a stable producing cell line would allow a stable production of BaEV/TR LV pseudotypes (Ikeda et al. 2003), (Strang et al. 2004), (Stornaiuolo et al. 2013) which is not the case for H/F and BaEVRLess-LVs.

Finally, BaEV-LVs appear to be superior to H/F-LVs considering their potential adaptation for a clinical use notably in the context of LV production for the clinic. Compared to BaEVRLess-LVs, the BaEV/TR LV pseudotype constitutes a good compromise despite its slightly lower titer. Indeed, in comparison with the RD114/TR developed before (Sandrin et al. 2002) and optimizated for clinical applications (Stornaiuolo et al. 2013), BaEV/TR-LVs present similar infectious titers and their production does not induce cytotoxicity. Additionally, the BaEV/TR-LV could be considered a better candidate for clinical development because it transduces much better HSCs and moreover succeeds in transducing the whole T cell lineage including naïve and immature cells and B lymphocytes.

## 2) WHAT ABOUT A POTENTIAL IN VIVO USE OF BAEV- AND H/F-LVS?

*In vivo* gene delivery using LVs has been employed for direct and stable gene modification. Local injection of LVs in neuronal cells (Blomer et al. 1997), retina cells (Miyoshi et al. 1997), liver hepatocytes and cardiomyocytes (Kafri et al. 1997), airway epithelium (Johnson et al. 2000) and kidney cells (Gusella et al. 2002) have been realized without inducing specific pathology. Of interest, bone marrow *in situ* injections of VSV-G-LVs have been reported to allow transduction of mouse HSCs (Worsham et al. 2006). Moreover, LVs have been used as genetic vaccine against cancer cells and infectious diseases (Di Nunzio et al. 2012), (Hu et al. 2011). In order to prevent off-target cell gene transfer and to improve vaccine efficiency, a specific targeting of antigen-presenting cells is necessary either by using the natural tropism of a viral envelope glycoprotein or by engineering specific targeting pseudotypes (Cire et al. 2014).

Considering these major advances in the field of gene therapy and immunotherapy, it would be interesting to optimize our LV pseudotypes for *in vivo* gene delivery. To achieve this, we should have to take into account the two major following challenges: LVs have to resist to the host immune and complement systems and a specific targeting is needed to prevent off-target cell gene transfer after systemic administration (Frecha et al. 2011).

254

## 2.1) POTENTIALITIES OF BAEV- AND H/F- LVS FOR IN VIVO USE

As developed above, VSV-G-LVs are sensitive to the human complement system that restrict its *in vivo* use in humans (Cire et al. 2014), (Frecha et al. 2011) except by a PEGylation procedure (Croyle et al. 2004).

Likewise RD114/TR-LVs, we demonstrated that both BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs are also resistant to the human complement system. This give us an argument to develop *in vivo* gene delivery strategies using BaEV-LVs. Indeed, BaEV-LVs could survive in human because we have not developed immune response against the baboon endogenous retrovirus. Nevertheless, considering *in vivo* gene delivery safety, we need to design modified BaEV-LVs in order to prevent the transduction of non-targeted cells.

Concerning H/F-LVs, our group generated this pseudotype using the envelope glycoproteins of the vaccine Edmonston measles virus (MV) strain. According to the World Health Organization, about 84% of the world's children are vaccinated against MV, this constitute the major obstacle for the in vivo use of H/F-LVs. As the MV mediated humoral immune response is directed specificall against the H protein, our group (Lévy et al. 2012) tried to mutate the dominant epitopes on this protein. Although LVs pseudotyped with this H mutant protein escaped inactivation by monoclonal antibodies, they still are neutralized by human serum. Novel H mutants were designed on the basis of newly emerged MV-D genotypes which are less sensitive to MV vaccination. These H glycosylated mutants partially escape to blood MV neutralizing antibodies during in vitro assays. Nevertheless, these mutated H/F LV pseudotypes have not yet been evaluated in primate models which are the only models that can mimick neutralization of the H/F-LVs vectors upon MV vaccination (Lévy et al. 2012). Likewise, Kneissl and co-workers (Kneissl et al. 2012) designed an H protein dysplaying a single-chain antibody (scFv) specific for the targeted receptors (Funke et al. 2008). These targeting LVs escape to neutralizing monoclonal antibody against MV and  $\alpha$ -MV antibody positive human plasma (Kneissl et al. 2012). Again, none in vivo evaluation was performed until now. In both case, we might consider local injection an option to improve local transduction for example by intrathymic or intra marrow injection especially since target T cells and CD34+ cells respectively are highly permissive to these H/F-LVs.

In a nutshell, while BaEV-LVs would be easy to use *in vivo* regarding their resistance to the human complement system, it is not yet the case for H/F-LVs despite efforts of our team and other researchers.

# 2.2) ENGINEERING OF THE LV SURFACE FOR DIRECT TARGETING AND *IN VIVO* APPLICATIONS

# 2.2.1) ENGINEERING OF SPECIFIC CYTOKINE-DISPLAYING LVS FOR *IN VIVO* GENE TRANSFER

Our group designed several specific cytokine displaying LVs that could allow the specific targeting of HSCs, T and B lymphocytes (Verhoeyen et al. 2009), (Verhoeyen et al. 2008), (Szécsi et al. 2006), (Verhoeyen et al. 2005), (Verhoeyen et al. 2004), (Verhoeyen et al. 2003), (Maurice et al. 2002). Several strategies has been developed, firstly by fusing the surface subunit of the MLV envelope with a cytokine and codisplaying of an envelope glycoprotein on the LV surface (Verhoeyen et al. 2004), (Verhoeyen et al. 2003), (Maurice et al. 2002).

Of major interest for the *in* vivo targeting and activation of HSCs, our group designed the promising RDTR/SCFHA codisplaying vectors (Frecha et al. 2012). Indeed, SCF is a HSC-specific cytokine that has been shown to promote HSC survival without inducing loss of homing and engraftment. To achieve an efficient functional presentation on the vector surface, the cytokines were fused to the N-terminus of the haemaglutinin influenza glycoprotein HA (SCFHA) (Figure 26) (Szécsi; 2006). Thus, both cytokines needed to be displayed at the surface of LVs, together with an escorting fusion partner glycoprotein (Szécsi et al. 2006), (Verhoeyen et al. 2005). The fusion glycoprotein VSV-G in the VSV-G/SCF- co-displaying lentiviral vectors was firstly described (Verhoeyen et al. 2005) but it was unsuited for *in vivo* targeted gene delivery because of its complement sensitivity and its pantropic recognition of the LDL receptor (Amirache et al. 2012) (Figure 26). The resulting RDTR/SCF -displaying LVs were far more efficient in transducing hCD34<sup>+</sup>

cells (up to 40%) than RDTR vectors in presence of rSCF and this in the absence of retronectin. In addition, vector doses can be decreased with the concomitant decrease of the risk of insertional mutagenesis while maintaining high transduction efficiency. Furthermore, RDTR/SCF-displaying lentiviral vectors selectively targeted transduction to 30-40% of the hCD34<sup>+</sup>-cells in cord blood (CB) mononuclear cells and in unfractionated BM of healthy and Fanconi anemia donors (Frecha et al. 2012). Moreover, this new LV pseudotype are ninetyfive- fold more selective for CD34+ cells as compared to T cells. Interestingly, the capacity of these LVs to allow in vivo gene transfer into human HSCs has been evaluated using beforehand humanized BalbC  $rag2^{-/-}\gamma c^{-/-}$  mice. LVs were intrafemurally injected. Despite low level of transduced cells, mice analysis showed that RDTR/SCFHA-LVs specifically transduced bone marrow CD34+ cells which was not the case for RDTR-LVs. Since BaEV/TR-LVs allow recognition of both ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 receptors and confer 100% increase in transduction of stimulated CD34+ cells, it might be considered as a good candidate for co-display with SCFHA on LVs and might increase HSC targeted transduction level considerely as compared to the RDTR/SCFHA-LVs.

Following the same strategies, specific targeting of T and B cells could be imagined using for instance a codiplaying between BaEV/TR glycoprotein and IL-7HA or IL-2HA constructs respectively. Indeed, the superiority of BaEV-LVs as compared to RDTR-LVs for the transduction of HSCs, T and B cells, suggests that the cytokine co-displaying BaEV-LVs would have a really interesting potential for *in vivo* targeting of hematopoietic cells.

Of particular interest, the co-displaying of both H and F glycoprotein with a cytokine on the LV surface might be tried. Of note, the steric hindrance of the final structure may affect the infection capacity of the LV.



# Figure 26. Schematic representation of the LVs displaying the RD114 glycoprotein and SCF.

SCF was fused to the N-terminus of the influenza HA glycoprotein, which allowed efficient functional incorporation on LVs (SCFHA). Because this chimeric HA glycoprotein demonstrated a reduced infectivity, it has been needed to coexpress an additional fusion competent glycoprotein, RD114. The cytoplasmic tail of RD114 was exchanged for that of the MLV glycoprotein, resulting in a mutant RD114/TR, which allowed efficient incorporation on HIV vectors as described previously. Both SCF and RD114/TR recognize their receptors on the HSC surface, C-kit and ASCT2 respectively.

## 2.2.2) LIGAND FUSED GLYCOPROTEINS TO RETARGET H/F-LVS

Direct targeting is based on the principle that fusion activation of a chimeric envelope should be triggered by the interaction of the ligand displayed on the vector surface with its specific receptor on the target cell. With this objective, the addition of natural ligands or single chain antibodies, (specific for a surface receptor or molecule) on the N terminus domain of retroviral envelope glycoproteins has been developed.

introduction of single chain antibodies in the H protein has allowed specific targeting of endothelial cells ( $\alpha$ CD105), B cells ( $\alpha$ CD20 and  $\alpha$ CD19), neurons, T cells ( $\alpha$ CD8), hematopoietic stem cells ( $\alpha$ CD133) and dendritic cells ( $\alpha$ MHC class II). This emphasizes the flexibility of this strategy, which is characterized by high specificity

since background transduction of non-targeted cells is low or non-existing (Ciré et al. 2014), (Buchholz et al. 2009), (Funke et al. 2008), (Buchholz et al. 1998), (Munch et al. 2011).

It might be tempting to speculate that we could combine this direct targeting strategy with cytokine display by inserting SCF or TPO into the hemagluttinin and in this way target the H-SCF/F-LVs to the immature HSCs.

# 3) BIOSAFETY AND IMPROVEMENTS OF BAEV AND H/F LV PSEUDOTYPES FOR CLINICAL PROSPECTS

# 3.1) HOW TO REGULATE AND TARGET THE TRANSGENE INTEGRATION?

Numerous tools and LV designs are available in order to reduce the risk of insertional mutagenesis. Regarding the high level gene delivery into hematopoietic cells allowed by BaEV-LVs and H/F-LVs, we should try to target their integration into a specific genome site and reduce the mutual influence of both the integrated transgene and the chromatin regions.

First, the addition of insulators in the U3 deletion in the 3' LTR might increase the autonomy of the integrated transgene protecting both host cell genome and integrated transgene. Indeed, insulators can protect the transgene silencing or activation notably induced by the condensation state or the presence of enhancers in the adjacent chromatin. Moreover, insulators might prevent the background expression of the transgene notably by reducing the enhancer-related risk of insertional mutagenesis. Various design of insulators could be envisaged for optimizing BaEV- and H/F-LVs. For example, the HS4 core from the Beta-globin LCR has been used as an insulator resulting in longterm stable transgene expression in human hematopoietic targeted cells (Arumugam et al. 2007), The use of S/MARs (scaffold/matrix attachment regions) could also be considered because it resulted in increased transgene expression stability by mediating attachment of chromatin loops to viral matrix or scaffold proteins of the nuclear envelope (Park et al. 2001). Finally, we might improve LV design by introducing ubiquitously acting chromatin-opening elements (UCOEs); enhancer-less elements that appear to be very promising in ensuring stable long-term transgene expression (Zhang et al. 2001). The A2UCOE element for example confers stable transgene expression in HSCs by blocking DNA methylation mediated silencing of different promoters (Zhang et al. 2010). Nevertheless, we must be cautious because the effects of the addition of insulators in the U3 region of the 3'LTR of SIN LVs is still discussed in particular about their genetic instability or their interference with reverse transcription, RNA processing (Arumugam et al. 2009), (Hanawa et al. 2009). For example, the generation of the truncated HMGA2 transcript described above (See Introduction Part I. 4.2.3) in the context of the B-thalassemia clinical trial was induced by a rearranged insulator element (Cavazzana-Calvo et al. 2010). Therefore, further investigation is needed to allow us to choose the optimal insulator design for an improvement of both biosafety and transgene expression (Schambach et al. 2013).

Secondly, since the pattern of integration of LVs in specific "hotspots" appears to be related to at least the binding of the integrase by the LEDGF cellular protein and the passage of the PIC through nuclear pores, numerous groups have developed some integrase based optimization of LVs. We could hope to increase the level of specific integration of our BaEV- and H/F-LVs by producing IDLVs and targeting the integration by using either ZFN (Lombardo et al. 2007), TALEN (Holkers et al. 2013) technologies. Recently engineered RNA guided DNA endonuclease (CRISPR/Cas) allow a targeted gene delivery which offer interesting prospects for the development of LV with a targeted integration (Gaj et al. 2013), (Kabadi et al. 2014). Since BaEV- and H/F-LVs confer high levels of transduction into HSCs they might be excellent tools to pseudotype integration deficient lentiviral vectors (IDLVs) carrying the ZFN, TALEN and CRISPR/CAS components in order to target the integration to specific sites in the host genome of hCD34+ cells. These potential advances in the field of LV gene delivery need to be extensively studied for a potential use in the clinic.

## 3.2) OPTIMIZATION OF LV TARGETING BY SELECTIVE EXPRESSION

In this thesis, we focused on the development of LV tool for hematopoietic gene delivery without designing them for a specific kind of hematopoietic targeted cell. In addition to LV surface modifications, a second strategy has been developed in vector targeting. LVs can be engineered not only to control cell entry (transductional

targeting) or for integration targeting but also to control expression of the vector's transgene in the transduced cells (transcriptional targeting).

The classic strategy used is to include tissue-specific promoters and enhancers in the transfer vector to drive expression of the transgene and to reduce the risk of side-effects related to aberrant expression profiles. Moreover, except in vaccine strategies where APCs are targeted, another interesting benefit of this limited expression is to exclude antigen presenting cells (APCs) from transgene expression. Indeed, if these APCs express the transgene, this might result in an efficient antigen processing, a swift immune response followed by elimination of transgene expressing cells by the immune system. Many laboratories have developed tissue-specific expression LVs notably including hematopoietic specific promoters (Table 9).

Table 9. Overview of the major hematopoietic specific promoter developed for LVtranscriptional targeting

Target cell	Specific promoter	Ref.
Hematopoietic cells	WASp promoter	(Dupre et al. 2006), (Martin et al. 2005), (Charrier et al. 2007), (Frecha et al. 2008c)
B cell lineage	CD19 promoter, Ig kappa promoter	(Moreau et al. 2004), (Taher et al. 2008), (Laurie et al. 2007)
T cell lineage	CD4 promoter, CD40-L proximal promoter, Luria / Delta / Vβ5.1 / Vβ 6.7	(Marodon et al. 2003), (Romero et al. 2011), (Yang et al. 2011)
APCs	HLA-DR $\alpha$ promoter	(Lesniak et al. 2005)
Myeloid cell lineage	SP146.gp91 <sup>phox</sup> Myeloid specific promoter	(Chiriaco et al. 2014), (Santilli et al. 2011)
Erythroïd cell lineage	β-globin promoter	(May et al. 2000)
Megakaryocytes	Alpha IIB promoter	(Shi et al. 2004)

Of importance, a HSC specific promoter would represent a valuable tool since a part of these cells can give rise to non-hematopoietic cells such as neurons or endothelial, skeletal and heart muscle cells. Therefore, the use of hematopoieticspecific promoters is essential such as used in the Wiskott Aldrich Syndrome gene therapy (WAS) (Martin et al. 2005). For WAS gene therapy, authors used a hematopoietic-specific promoter because of the risk of toxicity when using a transgene non-restricted expression especially since the endogenous WAS protein is strictly detected in hematopoietic lineages (Toscano et al. 2008). Therefore, we should develop BaEV- and H/F-LVs carrying transgenes under the control of the adapted either hematopoietic, T lineage specific or B lineage specific promoters in order to increase tissue specificity expression and to prevent the expression of the transgene by off-target cells.

Although the control of lentiviral expression by tissue-specific promoters appears to be a good option, this is not the perfect solution since it is sometimes difficult to reconstitute a tissue-specific endogenous promoter. Secondly, once the vector is integrated, the genomic surroundings such as enhancers or neighbouring strong promoters can influence the performance of the internal LV promoter.

In order to increase tissue-specificity of gene expression, a new strategy has been developed combining the microRNA post-transcriptional regulation with the lentiviral vector technology. miRNA are 22nt regulatory RNAs that act post-transcriptionally and influence cellular functions. Although many of miRNAs are ubiquitously expressed, some of them have a tissue-specific pattern (Kelly et al. 2009). Therefore, in order to prevent the expression of a transgene in hematopoietic cells and especially in APCs, some groups introduced in the transgene's 3'UTR perfect complementary target sequences of microRNA miR-142, highly specific for hematopoietic cells (Gentner et al. 2012). In this way, hematopoietic cells were detargeted for transgene expression and thus no immune response against the transgene was generated (Figure 27). Of importance, the introduction of these new targets for cellular miR-142 does not seem to perturb its natural activity. In contrast to miR-142, miR233 can be used to obtain a lymphoid specific expression pattern, important for immunotherapy (Gentner et al. 2012).

This approach requires less than 100 bases of vector sequence and as a consequence can be developed for BaEV- and H/F-LVs without impacting and limiting the transgene design. This strategy could allow a highly controlled transgene expression in particular for instance for the specific targeting of the different stages of thymic differentiation. Nevertheless, more studies are required to evaluate the consequence of modifying the natural miRNA targeting in presence of the new targets carried by the vector. Indeed, even if the insertion of multiple target sequence have been reported to reduce the loss of miRNA regulation, mutations of the miRNA

target sequence inserted in the vector can occur and must be investigated (Brown et al. 2009).



#### Figure 27. Schematic representation of lentiviral vectors for RNA silencing.

(A) In non-target cells, an efficient de-targeting of expression is achieved because they contain cellspecific miRNAs which bind to their corresponding miRNA binding sites inserted in the LV mRNA transcripts. (B) In targeted cells, these same miRNAs are absent or are expressed at significant lower levels and therefore transgene expression from the same LV encoding transcripts is efficient in these cells.

# 4) IMPORTANCE OF MINIMIZING CD34+ STIMULATION AND HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL BASED GENE THERAPY

Although it has long been known that resting human CD34+ cells engraft better than cells in the SG2M phases of the cell cycle (Gothot et al. 1998), (Jetmore et al. 2002), (Ahmed et al. 2004), (Uchida et al. 2011), until now, VSV-G- and RD114/TR-LVs, two popular pseudotypes available for HSC gene delivery was not able to transduce CD34+ cells in the G0 phase. The work presented here proposes two novel LV pseudotypes that manage to transduce up to 70% of resting HSCs.

Therefore, the improved homing and renewal capacities of resting HSCs would make them better candidate for gene correction than stimulated HSCs. Also to study human hematopoiesis these BaEV- and H/F-LVs are valuable tool in order to study clonogenecity by the analysis of integration sites (LAM-PCR) or using barcode technology. Indeed, a complete follow-up of transduced unstimulated CD34+ cells could give us informations about their differentiation characteristics and their potential advantages for gene therapy applications.

The potentiality to increase transduced HSC engraftment using resting cells and the capacity of BaEV- and H/F-LVs to transduce next to 100% of mild cytokine stimulated CD34+ cells is an obvious advantage for gene therapy correction of multiple monogenetic diseases.

Moreover, the development of gene therapy trials using these new LV pseudotypes could be particularly interesting in the case of the Fanconi Anemia (FA). In this disease, patients develop severe congenital hematopoietic defects and cancers (Bagby et al. 2006), (D'Andrea et al. 2003). Current allogeneous HSCT treatment present limitations because it induce severe GVHD and FA-specific malignancies (Rosenberg et al. 2003), (Rosenberg et al. 2005). These complications could be prevented by autologous HSCT of patient's gene corrected cells (Tolar et al. 2011). However, cells from FA patients present numerous characteristics in disfavor of the commonly used VSV-G-LVs. First, a low number of CD34+ cells is available because of the disease physiopathology, then, these cells are very fragile and do not

survive to prolonged and strong cytokine stimulation transduction protocols (Haneline et al. 2003). Therefore, minimizing CD34+ cell stimulation combined with very efficient gene transfer allowed by BaEV- and H/F-LVs would be invaluable for FA gene therapy (Jacome et al. 2009), (Muller et al. 2008), (Tolar et al. 2012). Despite the H/F-LVs highest level of transduction, BaEV/TR-LVs would be more quickly and more effectively to the GMP requests due to their higher infectious titers and the low toxicity of the BaEV glycoprotein.

# 5) PERSPECTIVE TOWARDS TRANSPLANTATION OF PROGENITOR T CELLS AND CD34 CELLS FROM THE SAME DONOR IN GENE THERAPY

As developed by Reimann and co-workers, the DL-4 culture system of CD34+ cells induces their differentiation in T progenitors. This could allow the co-transplantation of HSCs and early T progenitors offering an apparently safe way to reduce the long phase of immune system recovery detected when solely HSCs are transplanted (Reimann et al. 2012).

The application of this cotransplantation protocol in gene therapy procedures could allow a better adaptive immune system recovery. Indeed, autologous HSCT or T cell based gene therapy and immunotherapy in which gene correction provides a selective advantage for corrected cells is rare (Bigger et al. 2014). Thus, conditioning regimens are applied in order to suppress myeloid cells and the host immune response to allow a long-time adaptive immune system recovery.

The co-transplantation of corrected HSCs and T progenitors could accelerate the enhancing of T cell lineage reconstitution and thus it could prevent the infection related post transplantation morbidity. In case of allogenic HSCT, induced GVHD is a major concern, it consists in the targeting of host organs by donor T cells. Zakrzewski and colleagues (Zakrzewski et al. 2006), (Zakrzewski et al. 2008) demonstrated that the co-transplanted T progenitors derived from the CD34+ donor cells do not cause GVHD because they pass through the host tolerance selection process by engrafting in the thymus. Of importance, they showed that these cells offer to the host recipient an increased antimicrobial resistance and a Graft-versus-Tumor (GVT) in cancer immunotherapy.

As a consequence, by developing co-transplantation of BaEV- or H/F-LV corrected HSC and derived T progenitors, we could propose safer gene therapy and immunotherapy procedures. Moreover, some co-transplantation assays such as we developed in NSG mice could allow to better understand the mechanisms of co-transplanted cell engraftment. Indeed, as we suggested with our preliminary results in NSG mice, we could follow separately the fates of transplanted CD34+ cells and T progenitor cells for instance by using different fluorescent proteins encoded by the vector pseudotyped either with BaEV- or H/F glycoproteins.

# 6) B CELL GENE DELIVERY BY BAEV-LVS AND IMMUNOTHERAPY EXPECTATIONS

Transgene expression in B cells is of particular interest as B cells have the potential to induce specific immune activation and tolerance, which could improve genetic vaccination against cancer or autoimmune diseases (Lei et al. 2005), (Melo et al. 2002), (Stripecke et al. 2000).

One of the major goals of cancer immunotherapy is to increase the immunogenicity of tumor cells. Thus, vaccination strategies using autologous tumor cells manipulated *ex vivo* might be considered as a new approach for patients with B-cell malignancies, especially for those patients who are not responding to current treatment regimens (Moskowitz et al. 2006).

Autoimmune diseases represent failure of self-tolerance in populations of circulating B and T cells (Melo et al. 2002), (Lei et al. 2005b). Current treatments are based on immunosuppression and do not induce the cure of patients. Thus, novel approaches that can induce tolerance are required. B-cell gene therapy is an important option for induction of potent tolerogenic APCs (El-Amine et al. 2000), (Gourley et al. 2002), (Xu et al. 2004). The clinical relevance of this B-cell gene therapy approach has been demonstrated by tolerance induction for targeted antigens in experimental models of several autoimmune disease (Xu et al. 2004),

(Agarwal et al. 2000), (Song et al. 2004). In these models, this gene therapy induced protection, delayed the onset of the disease or even reversed the ongoing clinical course.

Of importance, primary B cells are the most potent antibody producing cells. Indeed, the programming of B cells to make a predefined protective antibody would provide a continuous supply of antibodies *in vivo* that might reduce the viral load in patients (Luo et al. 2005). A novel strategy requiring efficient B-cell gene transfer may facilitate production and the identification of monoclonal neutralizing antibodies by allowing efficient transduction of primary patient memory B cells with BCL6 and BCL-XL genes inducing immortalization (Kwakkenbos et al. 2010).

Stable gene transfer in human B cells may thus allow the engineering of improved genetic vaccination strategies against cancer, infectious or autoimmune diseases (Li et al. 2006), (White et al. 2000). As we developed above, BaEV-LVs display interesting characteristics and could be optimize in order to be employed for clinical applications. Furthermore, the ability of BaEV-LVs to efficiently and stably transduce B cells allow a current development to our group to develop HCV immunotherapy (Fusil et al. work in progress).

To conclude, although numerous step of optimization are needed to allow the use of both BaEV-LVs in the clinic, this work proposes an extensive characterization of a new promising tool for delivering genes into the major hematopoietic cell populations.

# 7) VIRAL VECTORS AND GENE THERAPY

In this work, we focused on lentiviral vectors, nevertheless, a lot of other viral vectors have been developed. Each viral vector has a precise scope, for instance, Herpesvirus derived vectors present the best transgene capacity reaching 150kb versus 8kb with lentiviral vectors. However, their transgene expression appears not very stable. Adenovirus derived vectors are non-integrative and are easy to produce at high titers, they can infect most of cell types but their high immunogenicity can induce a severe humoral immune response. Such as lentiviral vector, adeno-

associated viral vectors AAV are integrative and present a low immunogenicity. Although they are easy to produce and they allow a long term gene expression, they present a limited transgen capacity. All these vectors constitute a pool of interesting tools for developing new therapies in order to improve human health.

# EPILOGUE

Cette thèse propose de nouveaux outils, prometteurs à mes yeux pour la mise en place de nouveaux protocoles de thérapie génique et d'immunothérapie. Ce travail propose ici de détailler ces outils, depuis leur optimisation jusqu'à leurs champs d'applications. Ce n'est peut-être pas l'étape la plus glorieuse mais pourtant...

Pourtant il me semble que ce travail apporte une pierre à l'édifice du transfert de gènes et des thérapies qui y sont liées. L'émulation ressentie lors des congrés et depuis la publication du brevet et de l'article dans Blood me montrent que cette étape était nécessaire et que ces vecteurs répondent à un besoin dans le domaine. Tel un entraîneur envers ses compétiteurs, je nourris beaucoup d'espoir envers ces nouveaux vecteurs, j'espère qu'ils franchiront chaque étape vers leur usage clinique et surtout qu'ils contribueront à la guérison de certains. Si cela venait à échouer, ils constitueront au moins une base à la réflexion et permettront le développement de nouveaux outils encore plus performants.

Certes, j'aurai aimé pouvoir développer ces vecteurs jusqu'à leur utilisation thérapeutique, aboutissement plein et entier de ce travail. Néanmoins, j'ai ressenti un réel plaisir à développer des outils globaux que plusieurs spécialistes pourront adapter aux pathologies qui les concerne.

Cet épilogue ne constitue pas une page de publicité à laquelle seuls ceux qui se seront attachés à lire cette thèse jusqu'à la fin auront accès. Il faut garder en tête les quelques mots d'Albert Einstein : « *L'homme et sa sécurité doivent constituer la première préoccupation de toute aventure technologique »,* par conséquent il me semble que dans cette aventure nous n'en sommes qu'au début.

Enfin, pour tout avouer, toujours dans cette métaphore de l'entraîneur, j'ai un favori, un poulain que j'aimerai par-dessus tout voir réussir, pour des raisons scientifiques mais aussi pour un attachement personnel purement irrationel, bon vent BaEV/TR...

# APPENDIX

# 1) ENVELOPE, PLEASE; AND THE AWARD GOES TO... INSIDE BLOOD COMMENTARY BY D.B. KOHN



#### • • • GENE THERAPY

Comment on Girard-Gagnepain et al, page 1221

# Envelope, please. And the award goes to...

Donald B. Kohn and Roger P. Hollis UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, LOS ANGELES

In this issue of *Blood*, Girard-Gagnepain et al report a potentially important discovery for improved gene transfer to human hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) for gene therapy of blood cell diseases: a novel retroviral envelope to package (pseudotype) vectors for enhanced gene delivery to human HSCs.<sup>1</sup>

A utologous transplantation using genecorrected HSCs is achieving a growing number of clinical successes for the treatment of primary immune deficiencies, lysosomal storage and metabolic disorders, and hemoglobinopathies.<sup>2,3</sup> Despite the gratifying progress, it remains challenging to achieve optimal gene transfer to human HSCs, and 10- to 100-fold higher amounts of vectors are typically needed for their gene modification



Transduction of human CD34<sup>+</sup> HSCs by pseudotyped vectors. Resting CD34<sup>+</sup> cells display the ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 proteins that serve as receptors for the BaEV envelope glycoprotein, and retroviral or lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with the BaEV envelope can bind to the receptors and transduce the cells. Resting CD34<sup>+</sup> cells lack expression of the LDL-R that serves as the receptor for VSV-G-pseudotyped vectors and thus are not effectively transduced by them. Activated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, prestimulated with HGFs, such as ckit ligand, fit-3-ligand, and thrombopoietin, express the LDL-R and can bind and be transduced by VSV-G-pseudotyped vectors. The levels of the ASCT-1 and ASCT-2 receptors increase further in activated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, and transduction by the BaEV-pseudotyped vectors also increases.

compared with transduction of cell lines, mesenchymal stem cells, and many other target cell types. This is perhaps most relevant to efforts toward gene therapy of hemoglobinopathies, where the large, complex human  $\beta$ -globin gene cassettes needed for high-level, erythroidspecific expression lead to lower vector titers and limit gene transfer efficacy, in contrast to what can be achieved with vectors carrying simple cDNA and small promoter elements.

The relative restriction of gene transfer to human HSCs has been known for a long time, requiring activation of HSCs for effective transduction,<sup>4</sup> typically achieved by a prestimulation culture period of 24 to 48 hours in medium with a mixture of earlyacting hematopoietic growth factors (HGFs), such as ckit ligand, flt-3 ligand, and thrombopoietin, prior to vector exposure. The mechanisms by which prestimulation increases gene transfer have been attributed to moving the largely quiescent, G<sub>0</sub> phase HSCs to more active states, allowing higher levels of vector genome reverse transcription. Prestimulation induces stem cell mitosis to allow y-retroviral vectors to access the chromosomes, because they lack the nuclear import signals present in lentiviral vectors, which lets the latter transduce nondividing cells and largely supplant the use of  $\gamma$ -retroviral vectors. More recently, blocks to transduction by retroviral restriction factors, innate intracellular inflammatory response pathways, or endosomal trapping have been identified as potential roadblocks, with reports suggesting they may be at least partially surmounted with proteasome inhibitors, rapamycin, or other small molecules. Always, the manipulations used to augment gene transfer efficiency (eg, extended culture with HGFs) need to be balanced with the potentially adverse effects from these approaches on HSC capacity, with induction of differentiation likely to limit the longevity of engraftment of the gene-corrected cells.

Part of the search for methods for improved transduction has involved assessments of

different envelopes to pseudotype the vectors for optimal target HSC binding and entry. Initially, envelopes from retroviruses were used that conferred tropism to human cells, such as the murine retrovirus amphotropic envelope, the gibbon ape leukemia virus envelope, or the feline leukemia virus RD114 envelope. The envelope glycoproteins are essentially nontoxic, which allows them to be incorporated into stable "packaging cell lines," and these pseudotypes have been most commonly used for y-retroviral vectors in clinical trials. However, the use of vectors with these envelope pseudotypes requires surface expression of the specific cellular protein(s) that they exploit as receptors on target cells, typically amino acid or mineral transporters that may require cell activation to be induced.

The vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV-G) protein was identified as having some advantages over retroviral envelopes for pseudotyping retroviral and lentiviral vectors, including the wide species tropism it confers (from human down to zebrafish). The physical hardiness of VSV-G-pseudotyped virion allows vector concentration to high titers without significant loss of biological activity (in contrast to retroviral envelope proteins that are thought to be more fragile, leading to their loss during ultracentrifugation).<sup>5</sup> However, there has been a love-hate relationship with the VSV-G envelope, as it is moderately fusogenic; this causes cytotoxicity and makes it difficult to derive stable packaging lines that produce VSV-G pseudotyped virion, necessitating vector production by cumbersome transient transfection methods (although a first vector produced from a stable VSV-G packaging cell line has entered clinical trials).<sup>6</sup> Also, VSV-G-pseudotyped vectors can be cytotoxic to their target cells, such as HSCs, especially when used at high concentrations or with impure preparations.

Investigators in Lyon, France, reported earlier this year that the VSV-G cellular receptor, only recently identified as the lowdensity lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R),<sup>7</sup> is minimally expressed on human HSCs; induction of LDL-R expression turns out to be one of the major mechanisms by which prestimulation with growth factors augments HSC transduction.<sup>8</sup> They now report studies using a novel envelope pseudotype derived from the baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV) that appears to present an important advance for the production of vectors for gene transfer to human HSCs.<sup>1</sup> Vectors packaged with the BaEV envelope were shown to use 2 cellular proteins, the neutral amino acid transporters ASCT-1 and ASCT-2, as receptors, and basal expression of these receptors on freshly isolated human HSCs allowed moderately effective gene transfer without prestimulation, in contrast to the strict requirement for prestimulation for transduction by VSV-G-pseudotyped vectors (see figure). Although the titers measured for the BaEV-pseudotyped vectors were  $\sim$  20-fold lower than the VSV-G pseudotypes, they were more effective when used at equivalent amounts (adjusted for virion p24 content). Using both in vitro and in vivo serial xenografts in NOD/SCID/gammaC(null) (NSG) mice as assays of human HSC transduction, the BaEVpseudotyped vectors led to significantly higher levels of gene transfer to human HSC than VSV-G-pseudotyped vectors: up to 30% of NSG-engrafting cells without prestimulation and up to 90% with prestimulation, with vector present in all lineages of human blood cells produced. Effective transduction could be achieved using fewer HGFs than are typically used, which may contribute to better preservation of stem cell function.

Of course, the xenograft models are still surrogates for the long-term reconstituting HSCs in clinical transplants, and additional studies will need to be performed to verify and extend these findings, both in nonhuman primate models (the BaEV packaged vectors were shown to effectively transduce macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells) and eventually in clinical trials. However, the identification of the unique properties of the BaEV envelope holds the prospect of improving gene production methods, by allowing the development of stable packaging cell lines, as well as increasing the efficiency of gene transfer to stem cells while better preserving their function by minimizing ex vivo manipulation. This newly characterized envelope may be the award winner for Best Envelope in a Pseudotyping Role needed to take HSC gene therapy to the next level of effectiveness.

Conflict-of-interest disclosure: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

#### REFERENCES

 Girard-Gagnepain A, Amirache F, Costa C, et al. Baboon envelope pseudotyped LVs outperform VSV-G-LVs for gene transfer into early-cytokine-stimulated and resting HSCs. *Blood.* 2014;124(8):1221-1231.

2. Kohn DB, Pai SY, Sadelain M. Gene therapy through autologous transplantation of gene-modified hematopoietic stem cells. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. 2013;19(1 Suppl):S64-S69.

 Williams DA, Thrasher AJ. Concise review: lessons learned from clinical trials of gene therapy in monogenic immunodeficiency diseases. *Stem Cells Transl Med.* 2014; 3(5):636–642.

 Nolta JA, Kohn DB. Comparison of the effects of growth factors on retroviral vector-mediated gene transfer and the proliferative status of human hematopoietic progenitor cells. *Hum Gene Ther.* 1990;1(3):257-268.

 Emi N, Friedmann T, Yee JK. Pseudotype formation of murine leukemia virus with the G protein of vesicular stomatitis virus. *J Virol.* 1991;65(3):1202-1207.

6. Throm RE, Ouma AA, Zhou S, et al. Efficient construction of producer cell lines for a SIN lentiviral vector for SCID-X1 gene therapy by concatemeric array transfection. *Blood.* 2009;113(21):5104–5110.

 Finkelshtein D, Werman A, Novick D, Barak S, Rubinstein M, LDL receptor and its family members serve as the cellular receptors for vesicular stomatitis virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2013;110(18):7306-7311.
Amirache F, Lévy C, Costa C, et al. Mystery solved: VSV-G-LVs do not allow efficient gene transfer into unstimulated T cells, B cells, and HSCs because they lack the LDL receptor. *Blood*. 2014;123(9):1422-1424.

© 2014 by The American Society of Hematology

#### ● ● HEMATOPOIESIS & STEM CELLS

Comment on Lopez et al, page 1232

# Hematopoietic ontogeny in the axolotl

David L. Stachura and David Traver UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

In this issue of *Blood*, Lopez et al undertake the heroic task of characterizing the blood-forming system of the axolotl (*Ambystoma mexicanum*), an aquatic salamander that provides an excellent model for tissue regeneration and scar-free wound healing.<sup>1</sup> Commonly referred to as the "Mexican walking fish," axolotls are not fish at all, but rather neotenic salamanders that retain many larval traits throughout their lifespan because they do not undergo a typical juvenile to adult metamorphosis. This retention of larval traits is associated with the profound ability of the axolotl to regenerate many of its tissues, including limbs, spinal cord, heart, and even parts of its brain.<sup>2-6</sup>

# 2) CHAPTER LENTIVIRAL VECTORS (TAYLOR AND FRANCIS GROUP): DESIGN AND APPLICATIONS. GENE AND CELL THERAPY: THERAPEUTIC MECHANISMS AND STRATEGIES

# 1 Lentiviral Vectors Design and Applications

Anais Girard and Els Verhoeyen

# CONTENTS

1.1	Lentiv	entiviral Vector Features		
	1.1.1	Basics i	n Lentivirology and HIV-1	4
		1.1.1.1	Lentiviral Genomic Structure and Proteins	4
		1.1.1.2	Lentiviral Life Cycle	6
	1.1.2	From L	entiviruses to HIV-1 Lentiviral Vectors	6
		1.1.2.1	Self-Inactivating Lentiviral Vectors: An Important Safety Measure	7
		1.1.2.2	First Generation of HIV-1 Vectors	8
		1.1.2.3	Second Generation of HIV-1 Vectors	8
		1.1.2.4	Third Generation of HIV-1 Vectors	8
	1.1.3	Modific	ations that Enhance Transfer Vector Performance	8
		1.1.3.1	Modifications to Improve Transduction	8
		1.1.3.2	Modifications to Increase Transgene Expression	8
		1.1.3.3	Modifications to Prevent Silencing of the Transgene	9
		1.1.3.4	Lentiviral Vectors Encoding for Multiple Genes	9
1.2	Optim	ization o	f Lentiviral Vector Targeting by Surface Modifications and Pseudotyping	9
	1.2.1	Obtaini	ng LVs at a High Infectious Titer with an Expanded Tropism	9
	1.2.2	Use of I	Natural Tropism of Glycoproteins	10
		1.2.2.1	Natural Tropism of Parental Viruses and Pseudotyping	10
		1.2.2.2	Glycoprotein Optimization for Pseudotyping of Lentiviral Vectors	11
	1.2.3	Ligand-	Fused Glycoproteins to Retarget Lentiviral Vectors	11
		1.2.3.1	Direct Targeting Strategy	11
		1.2.3.2	Indirect Targeting Strategies by Host Range Restriction	11
		1.2.3.3	Strategies for Selective Targeting of Tissues	13
1.3	Optim	ization o	f Lentiviral Vector Targeting by Selective Expression	13
	1.3.1	Control	of Transgene Expression with Tissue-Specific Promoters	13
	1.3.2	Control	of Transgene Expression through miRNA-Mediated Silencing	13
1.4	Lentiv	iral Vect	or Designs for Regulated Integration and Regulated Expression	14
	1.4.1	Regulat	ion of Integration of Lentiviral Vectors	14
		1.4.1.1	Integration-Deficient Lentiviral Vectors for Nonproliferating Cells	15
		1.4.1.2	Site-Directed Integration of IDLVs	15
	1.4.2	Regulat	able Lentiviral Vectors	16
		1.4.2.1	Self-Deleting Vectors	16
		1.4.2.2	Inducible Vector Systems	16
1.5	Practi	cal Aspec	ts of Lentiviral Vector Production	18
	1.5.1	Product	ion of Lentiviral Vectors	18
		1.5.1.1	Transient Vector Production	18
		1.5.1.2	Production by Stable Packaging Cell Lines	18
	1.5.2	Concent	tration and Purification of Lentiviral Vectors	20
	1.5.3	Titratio	n of Lentiviral Vectors	21
		1.5.3.1	Titration by Measuring the Quantity of Vector Particle Components	21
		1.5.3.2	Titration by Functional Assays	21
	1.5.4	LV Bios	afety Determination	21

۲

4

1.6	6 Lentiviral Vector Applications in Basic Research and Gene Therapy			
	1.6.1	Lentiviral Vector Applications in Fundamental Research		
		1.6.1.1	Gene Silencing Vectors	
		1.6.1.2	Lentiviral Vector-Mediated Transgenesis and In Vivo Cell Lineage Tracking	
		1.6.1.3	Cellular Reprogramming	
		1.6.1.4	Lentiviral Vector-Mediated Immune Modulation	
	1.6.2	Lentiviral Vectors in Gene Therapy: State of the Art		
Refe	rences.			

#### 1.1 LENTIVIRAL VECTOR FEATURES

In order to accomplish efficient gene transfer, numerous tools have been developed. Indeed, the simple addition of naked or complexed DNA on certain cell types results in extremely poor gene transfer. Some vehicles have been developed on the basis of existing viruses such as retrovirus, herpes virus, adenovirus, and adeno-associated virus. Retroviral vectors allow a stable integration into the host genome and therefore allow long-term expression via the use of their viral reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN) [1]. Moreover, these vectors allow this long-term gene transfer without transferring any viral genes. The absence or the poor preexisting immunity in the recipients in vivo is also an essential feature of retroviral vectors. These murine leu-

AQ1

kemia virus (MLV)-based vectors transduce only actively dividing cells, and therefore important gene therapy targets including liver, brain, heart, hematopoietic progenitors, or skeletal muscles cannot be transduced unless they are induced to proliferate.

However, nondividing cells are important targets for gene therapy and for resolving questions in basic research. Lentiviral vectors (LVs), which are derived from immunodeficiency viruses, appeared to be the better candidates because they are able to infect nonproliferating lymphocytes and macrophages. Indeed, in contrast to the oncoretroviruses, lentiviruses contain a preintegration complex (PIC) (Gag, Vpr, IN) with nuclear localization signals that allow its transport into the nucleus during interphase [2–4]. The aim of this chapter is to provide an overview of the LVs starting from the understanding of basic virology of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), of which they are derived, through to the many applications of these powerful tools. The provided references give examples or more detailed explanation/information.

Lentiviruses are complex retroviruses studied since the early 1980s, when the AIDS pandemic emerged due to the current well-known HIV type 1 (HIV-1). *Lentivirus* is a genus of the family Retroviridae that cause slow (lentus, slow in Latin) progressive human and animal diseases. They are enveloped RNA viruses. Five serogroups were identified: bovine, equine, feline, ovine/caprine lentiviruses, and the primate lentiviruses, HIV and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV). Most of the LVs are derived from the primate lentivirus group, which includes the HIV types 1 to 3, the SIV, and the simian AIDS retrovirus SRV-1. Because the majority of the LVs are based on HIV-1, we will use it as an example for the following reasons: (1) similar features are present in the vector systems derived from other lentiviruses and (2) the HIV-1-derived vector design is the most advanced.

#### 1.1.1 BASICS IN LENTIVIROLOGY AND HIV-1 [4]

AQ3 AQ4

In order to understand the manipulation of LVs, having a good comprehension of the viral components is important.

#### 1.1.1.1 Lentiviral Genomic Structure and Proteins

HIV-1 has a single-stranded positive RNA genome of approximately 9 kb and encodes at least nine viral proteins. It is important to distinguish the *cis*- and *trans*-acting components of the HIV genome. The *trans*-acting components are composed of nine open reading frames (ORFs). The three major ORFs encode the gag, pol, and env polypeptides and are also characteristic for MLV-based vectors. The six others encode lentivirus-specific genes such as *Tat* and *Rev*, the viral regulatory proteins, and the four accessory proteins: Vpr, Vpu, Nef, and Vif. The *cis*-acting elements consist of the long terminal repeats (LTRs), the Rev responsive elements (RRE), the splicing sites, and the packaging signal ( $\Psi$ ) (Figure 1.1a).

#### 1.1.1.1.1 Gag, Pol, and Env Are the Three Major Structural Proteins of HIV-1

The gag precursor protein (p55) is involved in budding of the viral particle from the infected cell membrane by recruiting two copies of viral genomic RNA and other viral components. During the viral maturation, p55 is cleaved by the viral protease into matrix (MA) (p17), capsid (CA) (p24), nucleo-capsid (NC) (p9), and P6 (Figure 1.1a). The MA protein stabilizes the viral particle and facilitates the nuclear import of the viral genome, allowing HIV-1 to infect nondividing cells. The CA protein interacts with p55, which favors viral replication. The NC protein recognizes the packaging signal of HIV and also facilitates reverse transcription. The p6 polypeptide allows the incorporation of Vpr into viral particles due to its interactions with p55 and Vpr. In addition, it is required for the efficient release of viruses from the cell.

The gag–pol fusion (F) protein (p160) is produced by a ribosomal frame shifting event. During viral maturation, the pol polypeptide is digested in protease (PRO, p10), RT (p50), RNase H (p15), and IN (p31) (Figure 1.1a). The protease is required during viral maturation for Gag and Gag–pol precursors' cleavage. The RT allows the polymerization of a double-stranded

AQ2

**Lentiviral Vectors** 



AQ6 **FIGURE 1.1** Schematic representation of the HIV-1 viral genome, virion structure, and viral life cycle. (a) The HIV-1 viral genome encodes structural (gag, pol, env), regulatory (tat, rev), and accessory (vpr, vif, vpu, nef) genes flanked by two LTRs. (b) Inner and outer viral membranes are coated with MA and envelope (Env) proteins, respectively. The two viral ssRNAs, the RT, the IN, and protease (PR) and the accessory proteins are surrounded by CA. (c) During cell entry, CA proteins are uncoated and the two ssRNA viral genomic strands (marked in green) and viral enzymes are released into the cytoplasm. Viral RNA is converted by RT into proviral dsDNA (marked in red) and imported into the nucleus. Then the IN inserts the dsDNA into the host genome. During the early infection phase, only spliced viral mRNAs encoding tat, nef, and rev are exported to the cytoplasm. Then, the Rev protein allows the export of unspliced or singly spliced (vif, vpr, vpu, env) mRNA. Once every viral component is synthesized, viral genome and proteins are assembled at the plasma membrane and new HIV particles are released from the host cell. Just after the virus budding, the PR induces virus maturation, which renders the viral particles infectious.

DNA (dsDNA) copy of the HIV-1 genome with the help of the RNase H that removes the original RNA template from the first retrotranscribed DNA strand. The IN allows the integration of the proviral DNA into the host genomic DNA via its exonuclease, endonuclease, and ligase activities.

The Env polypeptide (gp 160) is cleaved after glycosylation in gp41 that contains the transmembrane domain (TMd) and in gp120 the surface (SU) domain, which is linked to gp41 by noncovalent interactions [5].

#### 1.1.1.1.2 Tat and Rev: The Viral Regulatory Proteins of HIV-1

Tat is a transcriptional transactivator essential for viral replication. It is an RNA binding protein that recognizes

5

AQ7 the transactivation response element (TRE) at the 5' end of HIV-1 RNA and strongly activates transcription from the HIV LTR.

6

Rev is also a RNA binding protein that recognizes the RRE allowing the transition from the early to the late phase in HIV infection. Of note, this binding facilitates the export of unspliced viral RNA to the cytoplasm using snRNAs and the ribosomal 5s RNA.

#### 1.1.1.1.3 Vpr, Vpu, Nef, and Vif: The Viral Accessory Proteins of HIV-1

Vpr is a member of the PIC and plays a role in the infection of nondividing cells by HIV-1 by facilitating the nuclear localization of this PIC. Vpu facilitates the particle assembly by triggering the degradation of intracellular Env–CD4 complexes. It also enhances virus release from the infected cell surface. Vif is necessary for the viral replication in peripheral blood lymphocytes and macrophages by inactivating the host antiviral factor APOBEC3G [6]. Nef has three major activities: (1) it decreases the cell surface expression of CD4 and thus (2) facilitates viral budding, and (3) it perturbs T cell activation and stimulates the HIV-1 virus infectivity [7].

#### 1.1.1.1.4 cis-Acting Elements

The LTRs contain three elements: U3, R, and U5. The U3 region, at the 5' end of each LTR, has binding sites for multiple transcription factors and includes most of the *cis*-acting DNA elements. The central region, R, contains a specific sequence (100 bp) where transcription starts, whereas polyadenylation occurs just at the end of this region. The U5 region contains the Tat binding site. HIV genome transcription is allowed by a single promoter in the 5' LTR. The 3' LTR mediates the polyadenylation that stabilizes the transcripts. Duplication of LTR elements occurs during reverse transcription just before integration when the copied 3' LTR U3 subregion is transferred to the 5' LTR.

The packaging element ( $\Psi$ ) is an important feature, consisting of two short sequences flanked at each side of the major splice donor site, which provides a structured RNA element and allows the recognition and packaging of genomic RNA into the CA just before assembly. As discussed previously, RRE plays a role in the export of unspliced RNA from the nucleus.

#### 1.1.1.1.5 Nonhuman Lentiviruses

The nonhuman lentiviruses used for vectorization are bovine lentiviruses [8], equine lentiviruses [9], feline lentiviruses [10], ovine/caprine lentiviruses [11], and the primate SIV lentiviruses [12]. Of importance, most of the proteins of these lentiviruses are conserved, except for some variations in the accessory proteins (e.g., Vif and Tat). Additional genes have been discovered in these viruses; however, the function of some of these other accessory proteins has not been elucidated. Furthermore, these accessory proteins are not required for in vitro replication and gene delivery and are thus not included in the LV design. These alternative LV systems are considered safer by the public because they are not derived from a human pathogen; however, this issue is still under debate. Nonhuman primate models have been invaluable for developing hematopoietic gene therapy strategies in humans because they closely mimic human biology. HIV-based lentiviral gene transfer into macaque cells is inefficient due to the presence of restriction factors in simian cells causing an intracellular block [13]. Because SIVderived vectors are not subjected to this restriction [14], the latest generation self-inactivating (SIN) SIV vectors have been developed for preclinical testing in nonhuman primate models [15].

#### 1.1.1.2 Lentiviral Life Cycle (Figure 1.1b)

The global mechanisms involved in the HIV-1 infection cycle are reiterated in this paragraph in order to appreciate the essential differences between lentiviruses and LVs. The natural HIV infection cycle begins by the attachment of the SU (gp120) part of its envelope glycoprotein to its primary receptor CD4 and its co-receptor CXCR4 on T lymphocytes or CCR5 on activated T lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs). A conformational change of TM follows this event and leads to viral and host cell membrane fusion. Upon cell entry, CA proteins are uncoated resulting in the release of the viral RNA genome and the MA, RT, IN, and Vpr proteins. The viral RT converts the positive ssRNA into dsDNA, then the proviral DNA is imported into the nucleus and integrated into the host genome by use of its viral IN. During the early phase of infection, only spliced mRNAs encoding tat, rev, and nef can be produced and exported to the cytoplasm. Then, the late phase of infection is initiated by the action of Tat, Rev, and accessory protein. The complete viral genome is exported by rev into the cytoplasm and proteins are assembled at the plasma membrane. Just after viral budding, the multimerization of Gag and GagPol activates the protease that induces the maturation of the virus by structural rearrangements.

#### 1.1.2 FROM LENTIVIRUSES TO HIV-1 LENTIVIRAL VECTORS (FIGURE 1.2)

The first LVs were developed to better understand viral replication, and they were used as a tool for anti-HIV-1 drug screening. These early HIV-1 LVs were replicationcompetent viruses that carried transgenes. However, the current and main goal of LV use is to deliver a gene or a set of genes into a target cell in the absence of replication. Because nonreplicating LVs were considered safer, their design was achieved by separation of viral sequences on several expression units and identification of the minimal viral components to engineer an efficient gene transfer vector. The first LVs consisted of a plasmid coding for the proviral DNA deleted for the env gene and another plasmid encoding the env gene. LVs could be produced by transcomplementation without inducing a second round of infection simply because they lacked the env gene. In these first LVs, transgenes replaced env or nef sequences and thus their expression was under the control of the promoter in the 5' LTR.

#### Lentiviral Vectors



**FIGURE 1.2** Schematic representations of HIV-1 derived vectors. The first generation of HIV-1 vectors is composed of (1) a packaging plasmid containing all the viral protein encoding genes except for the envelope, (2) an envelope plasmid that encodes a heterologous envelope glycoprotein, and (3) a transfer vector encoding the 5' and 3' LTRs, the packaging signal ( $\Psi$ ), and RRE sequences and the transgene driven by an internal promoter. In the second generation of LVs, all the accessory proteins are excluded from the packaging plasmid. In the third generation of LVs, regulatory proteins (tat and rev) are excluded from the packaging plasmid and an additional fourth plasmid encoding Rev is added. In SIN LTR transfer vectors, the 5' LTR U3 subregion is replaced by a strong promoter. The integrated transfer vector lacks the complete U3 sequence, which reduces the risk of RCL generation or the activation of proto-oncogenes after vector integration since this U3 region contains enhancer sequences.

#### 1.1.2.1 Self-Inactivating Lentiviral Vectors: An Important Safety Measure [16,17]

HIV-derived LVs integrate a transgene into the host genome flanked by the two HIV-1 LTRs. This implies that, if replication-competent lentiviruses (RCLs) are produced or if transduced cells are coinfected by a wild-type virus, new infectious viral particles can be produced. Moreover, cellular genes might be activated by the enhancer and promoter activity of integrated LTR. If this integration occurs near to a proto-oncogene, this can have a dramatic result in the induction of oncogenesis. Highly relevant in this context is that if a part of the 3' LTR U3 subregion is deleted, the same deletion is transferred into the 5' LTR during LTR duplication, and this event results in elimination of its promoter/ enhancer function. As a consequence, the SIN approach was applied to LVs by deletion of the 3' LTR TATA box, SP1, NF-kB, and NFAT binding sites. This SIN modification is still currently maintained in all LV generations because it strongly reduces or even ablates the risk of RCL propagation. It also avoids the mobilization of integrated vectors by

7

a wild-type helper virus and diminishes insertional activation of cellular oncogenes and transcriptional modifications induced by intact LTRs.

#### 1.1.2.2 First Generation of HIV-1 Vectors

8

In order to reduce the risk of generating RCLs with pathogenic abilities, Naldini et al. [18] introduced a first-generation packaging vector with three separated plasmids. The first plasmid contained a packaging construct expressing HIV-1 gag, pol, Tat, Rev, and accessory proteins under the control of a strong mammalian promoter. The Env plasmid encodes a viral glycoprotein that allows the host cell recognition by the LV, virus–cell membrane fusion, and LV cell entry. The process of displaying a heterologous viral envelope glycoprotein at the LV surface is called pseudotyping. Several existing strategies for LV pseudotyping will be developed separately in this chapter.

Both packaging and env encoding plasmids do not contain the packaging signal and LTRs in order to prevent their assembly into the particle and to reduce RCL production resulting from recombination between homologous sequences on the different plasmids. The third plasmid also called the transfer vector contains the transgene cassette and all of the essential *cis*-acting elements such as LTR,  $\Psi$ , and RRE without encoding the HIV-1 proteins. An internal promoter was added to control transgene expression in the host cell (Figure 1.2).

The separation of the different LV functions on three plasmids reduces the risk of RCL formation because this requires at least two recombination events. Moreover, the use of an ectopic envelope glycoprotein rather than the HIV-1 env by eliminating homologous sequences between the env and the transfer vector plasmids also decreases the risk of recombination.

#### 1.1.2.3 Second Generation of HIV-1 Vectors

In order to increase the LV safety, a second generation of LVs was developed by deleting the accessory proteins. Indeed, although these proteins are essential for HIV-1 virulence, they can be deleted without affecting the gene transfer role of LVs. Therefore, in this second generation of LVs, the packaging vector encoding plasmid only contained gag, pol, tat, and rev and was devoid of all other HIV-1 genes [1,19].

#### 1.1.2.4 Third Generation of HIV-1 Vectors [20]

This third generation of LVs was developed in 1998 in order to increase LV safety by preventing the role of HIV regulatory genes. The independence for Tat regulation was obtained by replacing the 5' LTR U3 subregion with a strong viral promoter from the human cytomegalovirus (CMV). Since then, other promoters are also in use. The envelope encoding plasmid relies on the same design used for the second LV generation. Tat and rev sequences have been removed from the packaging plasmid; thus, they carry only the gag and pol sequences. The transfer vector has adapted a SIN configuration, and therefore, the transgene is driven by an internal heterologous promoter (Figure 1.2). Moreover, a fourth plasmid expressing Rev was introduced to conserve its functions including the nuclear export of unspliced RNAs and the transcript stability. With this third generation of LVs, at least three recombination events are necessary to generate an RCL. Even if an RCL would be produced, Tat, accessory proteins, and active LTRs would not be present in the resulting viruses. Because of their high infectious titer, high-level transduction, and important biosafety features, these third-generation vectors are currently predominant. Nevertheless, a fourth generation of LVs has been developed to further improve biosafety for clinical applications. Several approaches have been evaluated such as the development of Rev-independent vectors by replacing the RRE with heterologous viral sequences known to facilitate the export and stability of unspliced viral RNAs. However, the titer decrease induced in these vectors is one of their great disadvantages [21]. Gag-pol "codon optimization" has been performed in order to eliminate HIV-1 gag-pol homologous regions between the packaging plasmid and the transfer vector. This approach consists of introducing a mutation in the wobble codon position into most of the gag-pol codons in the packaging construct thereby conserving the primary amino acid sequence [22]. Despite these numerous improvements in terms of biosafety, most laboratories still use the third generation of LVs, except when clinical use is envisaged.

#### 1.1.3 MODIFICATIONS THAT ENHANCE TRANSFER VECTOR PERFORMANCE

In addition to the biosafety modifications, optimizations of transfer vector performance in terms of expression level and stability have been evaluated through the modification of *cis*-acting elements.

#### 1.1.3.1 Modifications to Improve Transduction

During HIV-1 RT, the DNA synthesis starts from the polypurine tract (PPT) and the central PPT (cPPT). The plus strand overlap obtained is called the central DNA flap (99 nucleotides), which is known to play a role in enhancing HIV-1 provirus nuclear import. In the field of lentivector technology, it is now common knowledge that the introduction of this *cis*-acting cPPT element in the transfer vector plasmid highly increases the vector transduction efficiency in certain cell types [23–25] notably in hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs).

#### 1.1.3.2 Modifications to Increase Transgene Expression

Transcriptional and posttranscriptional steps are vital for gene expression regulation. It appeared very useful to interfere with the posttranscriptional step in order to optimize transgene expression. The woodchuck hepatitis virus posttranscriptional regulatory element (WPRE), a *cis*-acting element known for its ability to increase by two- to fivefold the amount of unspliced RNA, was included in the transfer vector design. As expected, the introduction of WPRE in LVs significantly increases transgene expression in host cells [26,27]. However, biosafety modifications such as a mutation of the ORF of the WHV X gene in the WPRE sequence proved necessary because of its involvement in oncogenesis [28]. Posttranscriptional regulatory elements from other viruses also proved interesting to improve vector design.

#### 1.1.3.3 Modifications to Prevent Silencing of the Transgene

MLV-based retroviral vectors revealed an unwanted property: transgenes can be transcriptionally silenced. Although the LVs contain less CpG islands than the MLV vectors, this silencing was also observed. The use of SIN vectors had largely contributed to reduce this unwanted feature. However, in certain cases, the addition of some positive regulatory elements that isolated the proviral expression cassette from the chromatin and made the transgene more accessible to transcription factors proved useful. For this purpose, DNase hypersensitive regions could be used with the well-known example of the incorporation of the beta-globin locus control region (LCR) to prevent the betaglobin transgene silencing in hematopoietic host cells [29]. Moreover, some insulators protected the transgene from the activation or the silencing of adjacent chromatin. The HS4 core from the beta-globin LCR has been used as an insulator resulting in long-term stable transgene expression in human hematopoietic targeted cells [30]. The use of scaffold/MA attachment regions (S/MARs) also resulted in increased transgene expression stability by mediating attachment of chromatin loops to MA or scaffold proteins of the nuclear envelope [25]. Finally, ubiquitously acting chromatin opening elements (UCOEs) are enhancerless elements that appear to be very promising in ensuring stable long-term transgene expression [31]. For example, the A2UCOE element confers stable transgene expression in HSCs by blocking DNA methylation-mediated silencing of different promoters [32]. An example of an advanced gene transfer vector design is depicted in Figure 1.3.

#### 1.1.3.4 Lentiviral Vectors Encoding for Multiple Genes

It may be necessary to express multicistronic vectors notably for expressing both a transgene of interest and a resistance gene or a reporter gene such as green fluorescent protein (GFP) to sort out the transduced cells. Two strategies have been developed to express multiple transgenes. In order to understand these methods, it is important to understand that the packaging capacity of LVs is limited to approximately 9–10 kb. Larger inserts have been introduced but this was at a cost to vector stability and titer.

The introduction of multiple expression cassettes in LVs has proven possible. Firstly, independent gene expression was achieved using different promoters or a central bidirectional promoter located between two transgenes in opposite orientation [33,34]. Secondly, it is possible to express multiple genes from a single expression cassette encoding a polycistronic transcript by use of internal ribosome entry sites (IRES) that link several cDNA sequences [35,36]. Nevertheless, often, a difference in expression level is induced with a stronger expression of the first gene in certain cell types. However, this phenomenon depends on the two cDNAs that are introduced. The use of picornaviral self-cleaving 2A peptides that link multiple genes is a valid alternative and is now widely used [37,38]. Nevertheless, the protein from the cDNA placed in front of the 2A peptide obtained from the polycistronic transcript retains a few amino acids encoded by the 2A peptide, which might affect protein stability and function in some cases.

9

### 1.2 OPTIMIZATION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTOR TARGETING BY SURFACE MODIFICATIONS AND PSEUDOTYPING

LV biosafety, change in tropism (more cell-specific or expanded tropism), and stability were obtained by replacing the HIV-1 envelope on the LV surface by a heterologous viral envelope glycoprotein, a process called pseudotyping. The molecular basis of envelope glycoproteins is shown in Figure 1.4a.

#### 1.2.1 Obtaining LVs at a High Infectious Titer with an Expanded Tropism

It is clear that the HIV-1 envelope only recognizes the human CD4 molecule on the cell surface; therefore, its display on the LV surface will limit gene transfer to very restricted cell types (CD4+ T cell and macrophages). Since it was used for MLV retroviral vector pseudotyping with success, the vesicular stomatitis virus envelope glycoprotein G (VSV-G) was an attractive candidate for LV pseudotyping. The VSV-G-LV pseudotype proved stable, and by using ultracentrifugation, concentration could be produced at higher titers than those obtained with other envelopes. However, only very recently, the receptor of VSV-G has been elucidated. The attachment of the VSV-G glycoprotein to the ubiquitously expressed low-density lipid (LDL) receptor provides the VSV-G pseudotyped LVs with a "pantropic" cell recognition





AQ8

AO9



FIGURE 1.4 Structure and optimization of envelope glycoproteins. (a) The sequence encoding the viral envelope glycoprotein is composed of two entities: (1) the SU (surface) subunit contains the signal peptide (SP), the receptor binding domain (RBD), and the SU carboxy terminal domain (C); (2) the TM (transmembrane) subunit contains the ectodomain (F peptide [FP] and heptad repeat [HR]), an anchor domain, and a cytoplasmic tail containing the fusion inhibitory peptide R. (b) Mutations of the cytoplasmic tail of the TM subunit can improve envelope glycoprotein incorporation on the LV resulting in increased LV titer. The replacement of the cytoplasmic tail of the BaEV wild-type glycoprotein by the one of the MLV glycoprotein allowed a 250-fold increased titer, and the deletion of the R fusion inhibitory peptide of the BaEV wt glycoprotein improved the infectious titer by 500-fold.

ability [39]. Thanks to this envelope, numerous cell types have been transduced from human HSCs to rat neurons and other nondividing cells. Currently, most LVs are pseudotyped with this envelope. Nevertheless, its sensitivity to the human complement system prevents its potential use in vivo. Moreover, cytotoxicity can be observed with high concentrations of VSV-G pseudotyped LVs. Due to their pantropic cell recognition, safety concerns exist for the in vivo use of this pseudotype in the clinic because it can easily transduce antigen presenting cells (APCs), which might induce a strong immune response in the recipient patient [40].

#### 1.2.2 Use of Natural Tropism of Glycoproteins

#### 1.2.2.1 Natural Tropism of Parental Viruses and Pseudotyping

Due to the limitations of VSV-G pseudotyped LVs detailed previously, more selective tropisms were achieved by using glycoproteins from other enveloped viruses characterized by their own tropism. Many heterologous viral gps can be incorporated into lentiviral or MLV retroviral particles and mediate infectivity. These include viral surface glycoproteins derived from lyssaviruses [41], arenaviruses [42], hepadnaviridae [43], paramyxoviridae [44], orthomyxoviruses [45], filoviruses [46], and alphaviruses [47]. For instance, human airway targeting is possible by LVs pseudotyped with surface glycoproteins derived from the Ebola or the influenza viruses. In contrast, LVs pseudotyped with glycoproteins from hepatitis C virus (HCV), baculovirus, or Sendai virus can target hepatocytes, while LVs pseudotyped with rabies glycoproteins target neurons [40] (Table 1.1). Likewise, the cat endogenous retroviral glycoprotein (RD114) [14] and more recently the baboon endogenous retroviral (BaEV) glycoprotein were shown to be very attractive candidates for hematopoietic progenitor cell targeting. LVs have recently been pseudotyped with the hemagglutinin (HA) protein and the F protein from AQ11 the Edmonston vaccinal strain of measles virus (MV-LVs). This particular pseudotype has acquired remarkable properties for immune cell transduction. These newly developed MV-LVs conserved the parental MV tropism because they allowed transduction of T cells, B cells, and DCs, the primary targets of MV. Importantly, they allowed transduction AQ12

10

#### TABLE 1.1

#### Pseudotyping of LVs with Heterologous Envelope Glycoproteins Relying on the Natural Tropism of These Glycoproteins

Vector Pseudotypes	Targeted Cells/Tissues	References	
Rabies virus	Neurons	[126–128]	
Mokola virus	Neurons/retinal pigment epithelium	[126,129]	
LCMV	Glioma/neuronal stem cells	[130,131]	
Ross river virus	Glial cells	[132]	
Ebola virus	Airway epithelium/skin	[133–135]	
MuLV	Skin	[135]	
Baculovirus GP64	Hepatocytes	[136]	
HCV	Hepatocytes	[137]	
Sendai virus F protein	Hepatocytes	[138]	
HA influenza	Retinal epithelium	[139]	
GALV (modified)	Hematopoietic cells	[14,140,141]	
RD114 (modified)	Hematopoietic cells	[14,66]	
MV (modified)	B and T lymphocytes	[44,48,56,58]	
BaEV (modified)	Hematopoietic cells	Unpublished data	

of resting T and B cells, which are not permissive for the polytropic VSV-G pseudotyped vectors, and this happens without changing the T and B cell phenotype [44,48,49] (Figure 1.5). Moreover, MV-LVs allow efficient gene transfer in both patient and healthy plasma cells [50] and other malignant B cells such as B-CLL and MZL, for which classical VSV-G-LVs performed very poorly [51]. In addition, an improved transduction of immature DCs could be established without inducing maturation [44,48,52,53] (Figure 1.5).

#### 1.2.2.2 **Glycoprotein Optimization** for Pseudotyping of Lentiviral Vectors

Although the use of the natural tropism of heterologous surface glycoprotein is very interesting for cell targeting, the surface display of certain wild-type glycoproteins with a heterologous LV vector core was very inefficient. For instance, this is the case for the gibbon ape leukemia virus (GALV) glycoprotein, the cat endogenous retroviral envelope, RD114, and the baboon retroviral envelope (BaEV) LV pseudotypes. When LVs are produced with these wild-type glycoproteins, the resulting viral particles are not highly infectious due to a defect of glycoprotein incorporation on the lentiviral core. The replacement of the cytoplasmic tail of these glycoproteins by one of the MLV gp (which incorporate very well on the lentiviral core) resulted in a stronger incorporation on the LV surface with up to 500fold increased infectious titer [14,54,55]. Other cytoplasmic tail modifications can be performed such as the deletion of the R fusion inhibitory peptide from the cytoplasmic tail of the BaEV glycoprotein, which allowed a comparable increased infectious titer (Figure 1.4b). Furthermore, co-incorporation of H and F glycoproteins from MV on the LV surface required deletions in the cytoplasmic tails of these glycoproteins [44]. Importantly, these cytoplasmic tail modifications do not impair the host cell AQ13 range of the initial viral glycoprotein (Table 1.2).



#### 1.2.3 LIGAND-FUSED GLYCOPROTEINS TO RETARGET LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

#### 1.2.3.1 Direct Targeting Strategy

Direct targeting is based on the principle that fusion activation of a chimeric envelope should be triggered by the interaction of the ligand displayed on the vector surface with its specific receptor on the target cell. Therefore, the addition of natural ligands or single chain antibodies (specific for a surface receptor or molecule) on the N terminal domain of retroviral envelope glycoproteins has been evaluated. Unfortunately, although specific binding was achieved, the vector-cell membrane fusion was perturbed. As a consequence, a novel strategy has been designed based on the separation of the two functions, cell binding and virus-cell fusion, into two separate glycoproteins [56]. In this case, redirection of the glycoprotein, which confers binding to the target cell, renders the fusion gp "untouched" and functional. For instance, Morizono and Chen [57] designed an LV pseudotype able to transduce melanoma tumor cells using this principle. Indeed, they copseudotyped LVs with the Sindbis virus env F protein E1 and a mutated E2 noncovalently linked to a specific monoclonal antibody directed against melanoma antigen. However, an endocytic uptake of the LV particles is required with this system to activate the membrane fusion with the E1-E2 proteins.

A similar strategy was applied using the H and F MV envelope proteins, which confer receptor binding and membrane fusion, respectively. The modifications of the cytoplasmic tail of the H and F proteins were necessary to allow an efficient co-incorporation on the LV surface as previously mentioned. In order to accomplish retargeting, the natural CD46 and signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM) receptor binding residues of the H protein were mutated and H was fused to targeting ligands such as epidermal growth factor (EGF) or single chain antibodies specific for antigens expressed on the target cell surface [58]. This direct targeting strategy proved very successful. Meanwhile, introduction of single chain antibodies in the H protein has allowed specific targeting of endothelial cells (aCD105), B cells (aCD20 and aCD19), neurons, T cells (aCD8), and HSCs (aCD133). This emphasizes the flexibility of this strategy, which is characterized by high specificity since background transduction of nontargeted cells is low to nonexisting [56,58-61].

#### **Indirect Targeting Strategies** 1.2.3.2 by Host Range Restriction

For a particular subset of targeted cells, indirect targeting strategies could be used. The basis for host range restriction is the introduction of modifications into the envelope glycoproteins to prevent them from infecting nontargeted cells. The first strategy is based on inverse targeting that exploits receptor-mediated virus neutralization. This is possible by displaying several ligands at the N terminus of the retroviral envelope glycoprotein in order to inhibit infectivity on cells expressing the targeted receptor. For instance, it was shown that amphotropic vectors displaying EGF or
Gene and Cell Therapy: Therapeutic Mechanisms and Strategies



۲

**FIGURE 1.5** Infectivity of VSV-G and MV gp pseudotyped LV pseudotypes for resting hematopoietic cells. (a) VSV-G-LVs are not able to enter efficiently into quiescent T or B cells through their recently identified LDL receptor. And even upon entry, the RT activity and nuclear import is inefficient resulting in very low proviral integration efficiency. These hurdles can only partially be overcome by addition of nucleosides and exogenous ATP. (b) MV gp-LVs manage to enter into quiescent T and B cells and RT activity is detected without activating these cells, followed by efficient nuclear import of the proviral DNA. This results in proviral DNA integration into the resting T and B cell host genome. (c) Comparison of transduction efficiencies in unstimulated T cells, B cells, and DCs for VSV-G-LVs and MV-LVs. The transfer vector encodes for the GFP reporter gene, which allows detection of transduction efficiency (% GFP+ cells) in T and B cells and DCs by flow cytometry analysis.

# TABLE 1.2

# Differences between VSV-G and MV gp Pseudotyped LVs for Hematopoietic Cell Transduction

			LV Pseudotype				
			VSV-G		ΗΔ24/FΔ30		
Target Cell Type	References	Prestimulation/Activation	Transduction Performance	Vector Dose	Transduction Performance	tion ance Vector Dose	
T cells	[44,52]	aCD3/aCD28	Efficient	Low	Efficient	Low	
		rIL7	Efficient	High	Efficient	Low	
		None	Very poor	High	Efficient	Low	
B cells	[48,52]	CD40L/IL-2 +stroma	Efficient	High	Efficient	Low	
		SAC/IL-2	Not detected	High	Efficient	Low	
		None	Not detected	High	Efficient	Low	
DCs	[53]	Immature monocytes-derived DCs (MDDCs)	Poor	High	Efficient	Low	
		LPS matured MDDCs	Very poor	High	Poor	Low	

stem cell factor (SCF) could efficiently bind to EGF or c-kit receptor (SCF receptor)-positive target cells, respectively, without infecting them. Inverse targeting could be very interesting in order to minimize the risk of inadvertent transduction of cancer or other contaminating cells such as APCs [40].

## 1.2.3.3 Strategies for Selective Targeting of Tissues

Pseudotyping strategies for specific vector-mediated target cell activation have been developed. They consist of an interaction of a specific ligand displayed on the LV surface with its specific receptor thereby inducing the stimulation of the target cells. It was shown that gene transfer into stimulated target cells is specifically enhanced. Initially, MLV retroviral vectors in which the MLV glycoprotein was designed to display the hepatocyte growth factor [62] or the interleukin-2 [63] proved to confer selective targeting.

Importantly, although LVs are able to transduce nondividing cells, some important targets of gene therapy such as resting HSCs, monocytes, and resting T lymphocytes resist gene transfer by classical LVs. In response to this problem, new LV pseudotypes have been engineered. A T cell activating polypeptide consisting of a single chain antibody variable fragment derived from the anti-CD3 OKT3 antibody, which is known to activate the T cell receptor (TCR), was fused to the SU subunit of the MLV envelope glycoprotein [64]. Although the LVs displaying anti-CD3 were able to activate T cells, they did not induce a significant transduction level. Therefore, an "escorting" VSV-G glycoprotein was coexpressed on the LV surface and these codisplaying vectors allowed 100-fold higher gene transfer than in nonactivated T cells. Because a phenotypic shift to memory cells was observed in these anti-CD3-LV activated T cells, other ligands have been evaluated such as interleukin-7 (IL-7), allowing conservation of the T cell phenotype while activating them transiently to allow efficient gene transfer [65].

The difficulty in transducing unstimulated HSCs with classical LVs is well established in the field. To overcome this hurdle, thrombopoietin (TPO) or SCF, two early-acting cytokines that stimulate HSCs, were fused to the N terminus of the influenza HA glycoprotein [55,66,67]. These constructs allowed a better co-incorporation of the VSV-G or RDTR envelope F glycoproteins and the cytokine-displaying glycoproteins on the LV surface. These LVs are very promising for selective targeting. In complete human cord blood, the RDTR/SCF codisplaying LVs transduced hematopoietic progenitor cells (CD34+ cells) at low vector doses with a 95-fold selectivity compared to T cells. Moreover, a selective long-term transduction of c-kit+ HSCs in vivo was observed in humanized mice [66].

# 1.3 OPTIMIZATION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTOR TARGETING BY SELECTIVE EXPRESSION

In addition to LV surface modifications, a second strategy has been developed in vector targeting. LVs have been engineered not only to control cell entry (transductional targeting) but also to control expression of the vector's transgene in the transduced cells (transcriptional targeting).

# 1.3.1 CONTROL OF TRANSGENE EXPRESSION WITH TISSUE-SPECIFIC PROMOTERS

The classic strategy used is to include tissue-specific promoters and enhancers in the transfer vector to drive expression of the transgene and to reduce the risk of side effects related to aberrant expression profiles. Moreover, another interesting benefit of this limited expression is to exclude APCs from transgene expression. Indeed, transgene expression by transduced APCs may result in efficient antigen processing and a swift immune response followed by elimination of transgene expressing cells by the immune system.

Many laboratories have developed tissue-specific expression vectors including neuro-specific, DC-specific, angiogenesis-specific, hepatocyte-specific, and hematopoietic-specific promoters [40]. For instance, a hepatocytespecific expression had been obtained by replacing the constitutively active CMV promoter by the albumin gene promoter (ALB) [68]. After a systemic administration in immunocompetent mice of this type of liver-specific LV, the expression of the transgene was limited to hepatocytes with a reduced immune response. Furthermore, although HSCs appear to be an attractive target for correcting immune disorders, the real human HSCs have not been perfectly identified and are a subset of the hCD34+ cells present in the bone marrow. Some of these cells can give rise to nonhematopoietic cells such as neurons or endothelial, skeletal, and heart muscle cells. Therefore, the use of hematopoietic-specific promoters seems to be essential such as those used in the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome (WAS) gene therapy [69]. In this study, investigators used a hematopoietic-specific promoter due to the risk of toxicity when using a transgene nonrestricted expression because the endogenous WAS protein is strictly detected in hematopoietic lineage [70].

# 1.3.2 CONTROL OF TRANSGENE EXPRESSION THROUGH MIRNA-MEDIATED SILENCING

Although the control of lentiviral expression by tissuespecific promoters appears to be a good option, this is not the perfect solution because it is sometimes difficult to reconstitute a tissue-specific endogenous promoter. Secondly, once the vector is integrated, the genomic surroundings such as enhancers or neighboring strong promoters can influence the performance of the internal LV promoter.

In order to increase tissue specificity of gene expression, a new strategy has been developed combining the microRNA posttranscriptional regulation with the LV technology. miR-NAs are 22nt regulatory RNAs that act posttranscriptionally and influence cellular functions. Although many of miRNAs are ubiquitously expressed, some of them have a tissuespecific pattern [71]. Therefore, in order to prevent the expression of a transgene in hematopoietic cells and especially in APCs, some groups introduced in the transgene's 3'UTR perfect complementary target sequences of microRNA miR-142, highly specific for hematopoietic cells [72]. In this manner, hematopoietic cells were detargeted for transgene expression and thus no immune response against the transgene was generated (Figure 1.6a). Of importance, the introduction of these new targets for cellular miR-142 does not seem to perturb its natural activity. In contrast to miR-142, miR233 can be used to obtain a lymphoid-specific expression pattern important for immunotherapy [72].

A potential concern using this method is that miRNA regulation could be lost upon mutation of the miRNA target sequence inserted in the vector. Nevertheless, the insertion of multiple target sequences reduces this risk. Moreover, more studies are required to evaluate the consequence of modifying the natural miRNA targeting in presence of the new targets carried by the vector.

This approach requires less than 100 bases of vector sequence and as a consequence can be developed for LVs and other viral vectors without impacting and limiting the transgene design. This strategy could allow a highly controlled transgene expression in different cells or even according to the differentiation state of the cell.

# 1.4 LENTIVIRAL VECTOR DESIGNS FOR REGULATED INTEGRATION AND REGULATED EXPRESSION

# 1.4.1 REGULATION OF INTEGRATION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

Many genomic integration regulation strategies have been developed since the concerns raised by the clinical trial that used MLV retroviral vector for X-linked severe combined



۲

**FIGURE 1.6** Schematic representation of LVs for RNA silencing. (a) In nontarget cells, an efficient detargeting of expression is achieved because they contain cell-specific miRNAs that bind to their corresponding miRNA binding sites inserted in the LV mRNA transcripts. In targeted cells, these same miRNAs are absent or are expressed at significant lower levels, and therefore transgene expression from the same LV encoding transcripts is efficient in these cells. (b) The lentiviral transfer vector codes for shRNA, specific for a gene of interest, under the control of a Pol II promoter. Upon expression, the shRNA recognizes a particular sequence of a host cell mRNA and will silence its expression. To identify the transduced cells, these LVs often carry a reporter gene such as GFP.

#### Lentiviral Vectors

immunodeficiency (X-SCID) [73,74]. Although this work demonstrated a successful gene therapy in humans, some of the patients developed leukemia due to insertion into a protooncogene. Later, it was elucidated that this was caused by the MLV vector integration profile [73,74]. Today, the knowledge of LV integration tropism has advanced enormously and pointed out the preferential insertion of the provirus in transcriptionally active sites of the cell genome. Indeed, for instance, in hematopoietic cells, the insertion pattern of LVs appeared to be quite different than that obtained with MLV retroviral vectors. It is not surprising that the latter one resulted in cell transformation because it integrates in and around transcriptional start sites. Nevertheless, both MLV retroviruses and lentiviruses integrate semirandomly into the genome, and thus insertional mutagenesis cannot be excluded. This justifies the numerous strategies that have been evaluated to target gene transfer in a specific "safe harbor" in the cell genome and of which some are described in the succeeding texts.

AQ14

Of importance are the major interest of SIN vector design in reducing potential risks of insertional mutagenesis and the role of insulators in case of integration in condensed chromatin regions as discussed previously. Therefore, we will focus on the other strategies that have been developed in order to decrease the risks induced by random integration of LVs.

# 1.4.1.1 Integration-Deficient Lentiviral Vectors for Nonproliferating Cells

For nondividing target cells, integration of deficient LVs could represent an alternative approach to reduce insertional mutagenesis [75,76]. The product of reverse transcription of LV is a linear dsDNA with LTRs at both ends. Classic LVs with a functional IN usually can be integrated into the cell genome as proviruses. But the proviral linear DNA can also be circularized by nonhomologous end joining that produces 2-LTR circles and by homologous recombination between the LTR or by ligation of RT products that gives 1-LTR circles. In order to exclusively obtain these episomal forms, some mutations are performed in the IN encoding gene. Because IN has a pleiotropic function in the viral cycle, such as in virion morphogenesis, RT, nuclear translocation, and integration, only one type of mutation can specifically affect the cleavage and integration functions. These class I mutations are created by substituting one of the three amino acids of the catalytic triad (D64, D116, and E152 for HIV-1 IN), and most investigators use the well-described D64V mutant. Some groups tried to mute the attachment sites at the end of the provirus but these mutations appeared less efficient than those obtained with IN class I mutations. In order to optimize the action of these mutations, a pharmacological treatment against IN or its cofactors is possible by using raltegravir or elvitegravir, which are strand-transfer inhibitors [77].

Integrase-deficient lentiviral vectors (IDLVs) are far more developed for clinical applications such as retinal dystrophy gene therapy with interesting results obtained in rodents and dogs [78,79] or immunization against HIV and tumors. Although these IDLV vectors appear to be attractive candidates for transgene delivery into quiescent tissues and for gene repair, their interest for long-term transgene expression must be confirmed. Moreover, the high level of nonreplicative episomal molecules in transduced cells could assure a high level of transgene expression while preventing insertional mutagenesis and RCL generation. Many investigators are currently trying to develop IDLVs with replicating episomes that may provide a stable transgenesis in proliferating tissues while maintaining their biosafety characteristics.

15

#### 1.4.1.2 Site-Directed Integration of IDLVs

The targeted integration of LVs can be performed by using specific nucleases and nonintegrating LVs.

#### 1.4.1.2.1 Zinc Finger Nuclease Strategy

The zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs) are hybrid restriction enzymes that link the cleavage domain of FokI to a designed zinc finger protein (ZFP) [80–82]. They are used to modify the eukaryotic genome from simple sequence editions to targeted integration of entire genes. ZFNs introduce a doublestrand break at the chosen site in the host genome, and if an exogenous repair template is available, it may be incorporated into the genome by homology directed repair (HDR). The targeting of the cleavage event is mediated by the ZFP domain that can be engineered to recognize a wide range of DNA sequences (Figure 1.7).

To introduce the ZFN technology into a target cell, Naldini and colleagues used IDLVs successfully [82]. The IDLV episomal accumulating proviral DNA is competent for both transient expression of the ZFNs and a transgene substrate for homologous recombination. A 10- to 100-fold increase in site-specific integration was observed when the ZFNs are co-delivered. In this study, authors managed to correct specifically the IL2RG gene mutation, involved in the X-SCID disease, at its endogenous genomic site.

The choice of the integration locus appears to be very important because it may influence the ZFN accessibility, the permissiveness to HDR, and the maintenance of transgene expression. Although these results are very promising and have provided a large step forward toward improved biosafety by reducing the risks of insertional mutagenesis, a careful safety assessment is required to validate potential off-target effects of ZFNs.

# 1.4.1.2.2 TALE Nucleases Strategy

In parallel to ZFNs engineering, many studies are focused on artificial enzymes able to generate dsDNA breaks at predefined genomic sequences. Indeed, since the recent discovery of the potential of bacterial transcription activator-like type III effectors (TALEs) to recognize specific DNA sequences, many groups have developed some specific TALEs [83]. The DNA binding domain of TALEs displays a tandem array of 15.5–19.5 repeat units with 34 residues each. A 2-amino acid hypervariable polymorphism at position 12 and 13 is often the only feature difference among the repeats. The TALE nucleases (TALENs) operate similarly to ZFNs by assembly of a pair of TALENs at a given



**FIGURE 1.7** Gene editing using designed ZFNs. (a) Schematic representation of a ZFN with three specific DNA binding domains linked to the Fok1 nuclease. (b) Targeted endogenous gene correction or (c) transgene addition in a well-defined genomic locus, which is driven by the activation of the ZFN nucleases encoded by LVs by ZFN dimerization, cleavage, and then homologous directed repair (HDR) with the corresponding homologous sequences flanking the correcting transgene encoded by a second LV.

DNA sequence consisting of two half target sites separated by a spacer sequence. Nevertheless, the integration seems to be more independent from the chromatin context, and the simple DNA binding code used suggests that TALENs could bind a wider range of DNA sequence with a more predictable manner than obtained with ZFNs that might reduce the offtarget effects.

HIV-1-based LVs or IDLVs bearing TALEN sequences could serve as TALEN delivery platforms and could be safer than the ZFNs sequences. However, extensive comparisons between the two systems are required to make definite conclusions.

Interestingly, another genomic targeting system made its appearance based on the bacterial CRISPR/CAS system, which is popular because of its easy design.

### 1.4.2 **REGULATABLE LENTIVIRAL VECTORS**

## 1.4.2.1 Self-Deleting Vectors

For a toxic gene of interest, a transient expression of the transgene might be necessary. For instance, it had been shown that LVs that deliver the Cre recombinase induced a reduction in cell proliferation due to an accumulation in the G2/M cell cycle phase of the transduced cells. Indeed, some "pseudo" lox sites are present in the human and mouse genomes and were shown to be Cre-mediated recombination substrates. In order to limit this side effect, Verma and colleagues [84] generated LVs that carry the Cre recombinase, which is itself subject to the Cre-mediated excision. As a consequence, the Cre expression remains transient and is restricted only during the time needed for recombination. They designed an LV that carries the Cre cDNA and 2 loxP sites flanking the transgene. After integration and Cre expression, Cre-mediated recombination of the two loxP sites leads to the deletion of the integrated transgene sequence except for the flanking LTR sequences and one loxP site (Figure 1.8). These investigators showed an efficient recombination of loxP sites in neurons, hepatocytes, and hematopoietic progenitors avoiding the Cre cytotoxicity by this self-deleting mechanism.

This concept of self-excising LVs can be used for the short-term expression of toxic genes by designing a vector containing both the toxic gene of interest and Cre [85], for instance, in a bicistronic Cre self-deleting vector [85].

### 1.4.2.2 Inducible Vector Systems

For numerous applications, a controlled transgene expression is preferred or needed. The reverse tetracycline-controlled transactivator (rtTA)-regulated system has been widely used AQ15

#### Lentiviral Vectors



**FIGURE 1.8** Self-deleting LVs using a tissue-specific Cre/loxP excision system. (a) Schematic representation of two possible transfer plasmids. The Cre recombinase expression depends from a tissue-specific promoter A and the transgene sequence is flanked at both ends with LoxP sequences. (b) After integration of both proviral sequences, the Cre recombinase expression induces the transgene excision in the tissue A in which the promoter A is active. The absence of Cre expression in the nontarget tissue B prevents transgene excision and thus allows stable expression of the transgene.

for inducible gene expression. This system is based on an F protein between the bacterial Tet repressor (TetR) with the activating domain of herpes simplex virus VP16 resulting in a chimeric transcription factor, the transactivator, tTA. This tTA can interact with a TetO-binding site containing promoter for tetracycline-induced gene silencing (Tet-Off system) or activation (Tet-On system).

LVs have been converted in inducible LVs by inserting an inducible expression cassette between the first promoter (e.g., the constitutively active CMV promoter) and the gene of interest. The inducible cassette contains the tTA at its 5' end and an inducible promoter containing a minimal promoter and seven copies of the Tet operon (TetO) at its 3' end. The tTA gene expression is driven by the first promoter (e.g., CMV promoter). After the transduction, the constitutively expressed tTA binds to the inducible promoter and induces a high level of transcription of the gene of interest. In contrast, the addition of tetracycline or its more stable variant doxycycline induces conformational changes that prevents tTA binding to the tetO and represses the transgene expression. Many improvements in inducible LV design discussed previously were introduced, notably the use of SIN LVs, specific promoters, or insulators in order to reduce the background expression of the transgene because some leakage of expression is detected in the repressed state. A binary vector system, consisting of a gene transfer vector encoding the tTA and an additional vector encoding for a tetracycline responsive element (TRE) and the transgene, allowed tight regulation of transgene expression. However, for gene therapy purposes, a single vector approach is much better adapted; therefore, a self-regulating single transfer vector has been developed with the insertion of TRE in both LTRs [3].



FIGURE 1.9 Example of a doxycycline-regulatable LV system using the tTR-KRAB F protein. (a) Schematic representation of the Tet-On vector design. The KRAB-based repressor, the tetO sequences, the SIN LTR, the IRES, and WPRE elements are represented. (B+C) Mode of action of the Tet-On vector. (b) In the absence of doxycycline/tetracycline, the tTR-KRAB F protein binds to tetO and inhibits high transgene expression. (c) In the presence of doxycycline, tTR-KRAB does not bind to tetO allowing transgene expression to occur.

In order to reduce the background expression of the transgene, Szulc et al. [86] have designed an F protein between AQ16 the tetR and KRAB known to lead to heterochromatin formation. The chimeric protein tetR-KRAB epigenetically silences 2-3 kb of surrounding sequence when it is recruited by a tetO site. This configuration prevents most of the background expression observed in the initial inducible vector design [87] (Figure 1.9).

> In addition, the importance of inducible lentivectors for the field led to further improvements of LV design [88]. All of the improvements in LV design are summarized in Figure 1.10.

#### 1.5 PRACTICAL ASPECTS OF LENTIVIRAL **VECTOR PRODUCTION**

Because the theoretical aspects of lentivectorology are detailed earlier, the following section is dedicated to reviewing methods available for producing and characterizing LVs. Figure 1.12 shows the entire LV production process.

#### 1.5.1 **PRODUCTION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTORS**

#### 1.5.1.1 **Transient Vector Production**

Transient production of LVs is the most commonly used method because it allows production of LVs quickly with suitable titers for numerous laboratory applications. The human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293T cells or its derived clones are the preferred producing cells. Separate plasmids classically encoding for the packaging sequence, the transfer vector, and the envelope (Figure 1.11) are introduced in the producer 293T cells by different transfection methods. Because of the cytotoxicity of the transfection process during LV production, it became clear that the less the plasmid is transfected, the more the production is efficient. Moreover, a silencing of certain tissue-specific promoters can be observed, and in this case, the choice of the cell line used for titer determination is very important. Once plasmids are in the producer cell, vector RNA and proteins can be produced and assembled followed by budding of the viral particles from the cell (Figure 1.11). This production process is called transient because of the restricted time (2-3 days) of vector production (Figure 1.12). Indeed, after this time AO17 point, producer cells suffer from the toxicity of certain viral proteins (e.g., gagpol, VSV-G) and cannot produce LVs efficiently [1]. The transient transfection method is still the most utilized method for vector production for lab use and even for clinical trials.

# 1.5.1.2 Production by Stable Packaging Cell Lines

To better guarantee safe LV production, needed for clinical applications, stable vector producing cell lines (VCLs) have been developed. They are engineered to stably express the different vector components (packaging, transfer, and envelope sequences) by using transfection or transduction methods to introduce them into the producer cell. In addition to

# Lentiviral Vectors



FIGURE 1.10 Several improvement steps in LV design.



**FIGURE 1.11** Transient production of LVs. For transient transfection, plasmids encoding for the packaging sequence, the transfer vector, and the envelope glycoprotein (+/- the rev protein depending on the LV generation) are transfected into 293T cells using a transfection reagent. These 293T cells efficiently produce vector particles at 36 until 72 h after the transfection. After 72 h, a severe drop in infectious titer is detected.

۲



FIGURE 1.12 LV production process for clinical applications.

being a reproducible source of LVs, stable production prevents plasmid DNA contaminations and homologous recombination of transient transfected plasmids, which reduces the risk of RCL formation. Because of these advantages of stable LV production, many groups have invested in the pro-

AQ18 duction of stable VCLs but with moderate success. Although this stable production is essential for clinical use, the cytotoxicity of numerous viral proteins and the fusogenicity of viral envelopes such as the VSV-G glycoprotein prevented the development of these stable VCLs or induced a strong titer reduction, too low for clinical use. Moreover, production of a stable cell line is cumbersome because a new cell line for each therapeutic vector must be established, and before moving the vector into the clinic, an extensive evaluation to prove absence of RCLs is required. The STAR cell line has been created by the Collins' group [89,90] by transduction of the necessary sequences, and this cell line is able to produce high titer of retrovirus glycoprotein pseudotyped LVs for more than 3 months. Although this advance does not solve the VSV-G stable production concerns, it holds great promise for LV stable production notably for RD114 envelope pseudotyped LVs [91].

# 1.5.2 CONCENTRATION AND PURIFICATION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

After production, there are numerous protocols that allow concentration and purification of LVs. The producer cell supernatant is collected and filtrated to remove cellular debris. Subsequently, the vector containing supernatants are concentrated.

The most commonly used method is the ultracentrifugation of the viral supernatant at  $1-3 \times 10^5 g$  for 1-4 h at 4°C. Then, the viral pellet is resuspended in an isotonic buffer over several hours. Another step of ultracentrifugation can be applied through a sucrose cushion to remove soluble protein contamination. A 10- to 100-fold titer increase is noted after this concentration and purification step. The purity of these preparations is sufficient for most uses in the laboratory.

Nevertheless, several LV pseudotypes do not tolerate these high ultracentrifugation forces. In addition, the pelleting of cellular vesicles and debris is a side effect of this method and is a concern in terms of immune response induction. As a consequence, other methods have been developed such as high-speed long-term centrifugation at  $10^4g$  for 8–12 h at

AQ19

4°C, precipitation with calcium phosphate, or ultrafiltration by using a 100 kDa molecular mass cutoff filter [1].

For the production of LVs used in the clinic, the purification process is well established according to the rules of good manufacturing practice (GMP) [92,93]. Directly following the supernatant harvest, the supernatant is first clarified by filtration. The benzonase nuclease is added in the presence of Mg for 6 h at 37°C in order to degrade most of residual nucleic acids. The clarified and benzonase-treated supernatant is ultrafiltrated and diafiltered (by a diafiltering [DF] buffer filtration) and centrifugated for 16-20 h at 6000g. Then, the resulting viral pellet is reconstituted in DF buffer and centrifuged for 1-2 min for removal insoluble material. The majority of the LV production is aliquoted and stored at -80°C; however, some samples are tested for sterility and titration and undergo quality-safety control. The overall yield of this type of manufacturing production is approximately 30%.

### **1.5.3** TITRATION OF LENTIVIRAL VECTORS

It is essential to determine the infectious titer of a vector preparation. Many methods have been developed, but unfortunately, a standard protocol in titration does not exist [94]. We provide an overview of possible methods and their limitations below.

## 1.5.3.1 Titration by Measuring the Quantity of Vector Particle Components

This type of titration is based on a nonfunctional assay by quantifying the content of a vector preparation by measuring the lentiviral CA antigen (p24 for HIV-1 LVs) by ELISA or the vector genomic RNA content by real-time reversetranscription PCR (qRT-PCR). Finally, some users measure the RT activity using real-time PCR (qPCR) quantification. The major concern with these methods is that they detect both infectious and noninfectious vector particles and largely overestimate the LV titer. Moreover, the titer obtained with these methods does not take into account the nature of the vector construct with the addition of *cis*-acting sequences or the use of a tissue-specific promoter, a certain envelope gp, and the targeted cell type, which all can influence the titer.

### 1.5.3.2 Titration by Functional Assays

Different methods for functional titration are available. The first assay involves the isolation of genomic DNA from the target cells after their transduction. Then the total number of integrated vector copy numbers (VCN) per cell is determined by qPCR, which is normalized to the number of target cells (determined by an endogenous cellular gene used as a reference). However, the VCN does not provide information for the transgene expression in the target cell, which might vary according to the genomic integration sites of the provirus.

When a reporter gene is included in the transfer vector (GFP, antibiotic resistance, surface display of ligands at the target cell surface), the direct measurement of transgene expression by transduced cells appears to be the more suitable method to determine the "true" infectious LV titer. In absence of reporter elements to measure the transgene expression, qRT-PCR on transgene mRNA in transduced cells is reported to correlate to titers obtained using reported genes in most cases. Of note, if a tissue- or cell-specific internal promoter is used, the cells used for titering should support expression driven by this specific promoter.

#### 1.5.4 LV BIOSAFETY DETERMINATION

In pursuit of biosafety, the detection of RCLs is a necessary step in the testing of LV preparations, and many assays for RCL detection have been developed.

RCL detection is performed on the supernatant of LV-infected target cells that have been cultured for 2 weeks to avoid contamination of the original LV used for the infection. The product-enhanced reverse transcription assay (PERT), a PCR-based method, is known for its high sensitivity. It consists of using an RNA template as a substrate for RT activity. If a reverse transcript is identified by qPCR, it means that RT is present in a sample contaminated by RCL. Every RCL that presents a functional RT can be detected by this method [95,96]. Another frequently used method consists in detecting and measuring CA amounts by detection of p24 using ELISA. Absence of RCLs is shown when serial passaging of supernatant from infected cells is devoid of p24 [97]. However, these methods are based on the principle that RCLs have a usual viral form. As a consequence, there is no current standard for RCL determination and the methods are evaluated case by case in the context of clinical trials. However, of note, if a third or fourth LV vector generation was used, RCLs were seldom or not detected using the available methods.

# 1.6 LENTIVIRAL VECTOR APPLICATIONS IN BASIC RESEARCH AND GENE THERAPY

LVs are able to transduce a wide range of host cells including both dividing and nondividing cells. Their success in preclinical and clinical studies makes them popular tools for gene transfer. Several possible applications for LVs in fundamental research and in the clinic are reported in the following texts; however, of course, this list is not exhaustive.

# 1.6.1 LENTIVIRAL VECTOR APPLICATIONS IN FUNDAMENTAL RESEARCH

#### 1.6.1.1 Gene Silencing Vectors

RNA interference (RNAi)-mediated gene silencing is an interesting technology to study gene functions or to restrict overexpressed or aberrantly expressed genes in specific cell types in some diseases. In mammalian systems, small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) can be expressed endogenously from pol III promoters as small hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) or AQ20 from pol II promoters as a part of a microRNA molecule [98.99].

Gene and Cell Therapy: Therapeutic Mechanisms and Strategies

Ideally, a gene silencing lentivector would contain both a reporter gene and the shRNA silencing cassette driven by a pol III promoter (e.g., H1, U6). The interfering RNA target sequence should be ideally 19–23 bases long and several different shRNAs must be evaluated in order to identify the most effective one (Figure 1.6b). Indeed, if the objective is to knockdown a certain gene, only the sequences showing the highest efficiency should be selected. Since overexpression of shRNAs can result in off-target effects, a control shRNA in the context of the same LV backbone and reporter gene should be included. For instance, scrambled sequences, nontarget sequences, or mutated sequences are used as a shRNA control.

22

Because LVs have a large packaging capacity, they can harbor the shRNA combined with a regulated expression system. For instance, a Tet-regulatable shRNA cassette in addition to the TtA sequence was included in the same LV and proved functional [100]. This gene silencing LV technology can lead to better understanding of cellular biology (e.g., in cancer cells) as it provides a clear knockdown phenotype for cells and transgenic animals.

# 1.6.1.2 Lentiviral Vector-Mediated Transgenesis and In Vivo Cell Lineage Tracking

Many investigators have shown that LVs can efficiently transduce embryonic stem (ES) cells. Verma and colleagues [84] already showed that in contrast to MLV retroviral vectors, for which expression is silenced in ES cells, LV expression is maintained in human and murine ES cells. Moreover, embryos at the morula stage can be transduced and the resulting progeny expresses the transgene. Likewise, transgenes introduced by LVs in ES cells are transmitted to the germ line. Therefore, authors concluded that LVs are very attractive tools for generating transgenic animals. Many transgenic animals have been generated using LVs including mice [101], rats [102], cats [103], rabbits [104], pigs [105], and even chickens [106] (Figure 1.13). These transgenic animals can either harbor a specific tissue reporter gene such as GFP or can present a specific knockdown in order to study gene function or to produce a disease preclinical model [107].

Moreover, LV-mediated stable gene transduction can be exploited in vivo in order to follow targeted cells. For instance,



(b)

**FIGURE 1.13** (See color insert.) Generation of transgenic mice by LV injection into fertilized oocytes. (a) LV perivitelline injection of fertilized oocytes. (b) The injection of the fertilized oocytes with LVs encoding for GFP under an ubiquitous promoter resulted after transfer into a recipient female in newborn mice expression GFP in all tissues (upper left); wild-type mice are shown for comparison (upper right).

Gallo et al. [108] developed an LV for tracking cardiomyocyte differentiation from human ES cells in order to better understand cardiac muscle differentiation.

### 1.6.1.3 Cellular Reprogramming

The induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cell generation relies on the introduction of defined pluripotency-associated factors such as OCT4, SOX2, KLF4, and cMyc in somatic cells [109]. LVs have been used in order to introduce these multiple factors in fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and HSCs in order to reprogram them [1]. After reprogramming, the MLV retroviral vector encoding the factors mentioned earlier was spontaneously silenced. Nevertheless, the risks of reactivation of the pluripotency-associated factors once integrated into the genome of these iPS cells led laboratories to develop other technologies such as protein transfer or privileged IDLVs for gene transfer of these factors [110].

## 1.6.1.4 Lentiviral Vector-Mediated Immune Modulation

LVs can efficiently transduce APCs including macrophages or DCs. These properties can be used for vaccines against infectious diseases and tumors.

The LV-mediated expression of specific antigens in DCs induce both CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses leading to cellular immunity and humoral response [111,112].

In order to efficiently present transduced antigens on DCs and generate an antigen-specific immune response, LVs must transduce but also stimulate DCs. Both cell entry and reverse transcription were shown to affect the activation of DCs in vitro and in vivo. Contrary to adenoviruses, LVs are able to transduce DCs in a persistent, nontoxic, and nonimmunogenic manner. Positive results have been obtained in LV-transduced DCs for use as immunity boosting vaccines, and numerous researchers are focused on the development of an HIV-1 vaccine using LV immunization. Unfortunately, until now, the extreme ability of HIV-1 to escape the immune system prevented the production of an efficient vaccine [113]. Of interest, DCs transduced by LVs expressing tumorassociated antigens such as melanoma antigens or ovalbumin are able to activate cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses and provide protection against tumor challenges. This strategy can efficiently lead to tumor regression [114].

IDLVs are also attractive candidates for immunization because of their ability to maintain durable gene expression in nonproliferating or slowly proliferative cells such as certain DC subtypes [115].

23

An important anticancer strategy based on the transfer of tumor-specific TCR genes into patient T cells has been proven successful in the clinic. More recently, a radically different strategy consisting of introducing a coding sequence for a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) conferred the desired specificity for a cancer antigen to T cells. Indeed, ongoing clinical trials have described durable rejection of previously refractory B cell malignancy in patients after CD19-directed CAR gene therapy of autologous T cells [116].

# **1.6.2 LENTIVIRAL VECTORS IN GENE** THERAPY: STATE OF THE ART

For the moment, ex vivo gene therapy strategies using the correction of autologous target cells in vitro followed by reinfusion into the patient is favored [117]. Although numerous gene therapy trials have been performed using MLV retroviral vectors, the first LV-based clinical trial was initiated only 10 years ago. Indeed, Levine et al. [118] performed a phase I clinical trial for HIV therapy using a conditional replicating VSV-G pseudotyped LV coding for an antisense sequence complementary to the HIV envelope. Five subjects with chronic HIV-1 infection were enrolled in the trial and autologous CD4+ T cells were transduced with the anti-HIV therapeutic vector and reinfused back into the patients. An increase of CD4+ T cells, normally depleted in AIDS patients, and a decrease of viral load were observed, and until now, insertional mutagenesis was not detected. Further follow-up is required to generate conclusions concerning the safety and the efficacy of this therapy; however, these initial results were promising for further clinical applications of LVs.

Although the MLV-based retroviral vectors were successful for HSC-based gene therapy, the "safer" LVs are gaining interest in the gene therapy field (Table 1.3). For instance, Cartier et al. [119–121] obtained promising results for treating X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy (ALD) by ex vivo correction of autologous HSCs employing LVs encoding the wild-type *ABCD1* gene. This disease is indeed characterized

# TABLE 1.3

# Gene Therapy Clinical Trials Using LVs

Number of									
Disease	Gene to Correct	LV	<b>Treated Patients</b>	Benefits for the Patient	References	AQ21			
X-linked ALD	ABCD1	Third-generation LV	2	Cerebral demyelination ceased	[119–121]				
β-Thalassemia	β-globin		1	Transfusion independence—hemoglobin level stabilized (8.5–9 g/dL)	[122,123,142]				
Metachromic leukodystrophy	ARSA	VSV-G	3	Neurodegeneration ceased	[124]				
WAS	WASP	HIV-1 pseudotype	3	Protection from bleeding and severe infections—eczema resolution	[125]				

by a deficiency in the ALD protein, an adenosine triphosphate binding cassette transporter encoded by the *ABCD1* gene. This defect in ALD protein causes a severe brain demyelination in boys, and the only currently available treatment to halt the neurodegeneration is an allogeneic HSC transplantation. In this trial, 14–16 months after infusion of autologous corrected cells into the patients, the progressive cerebral demyelination ceased as compared to patient that did not undergo transplant (Table 1.3).

The phase I/II clinical trial of  $\beta$ -globin gene therapy for β-thalassemia major that was initiated in 2007 also showed very promising results [122,123]. β-Thalassemia major is characterized by absence or strong decrease in  $\beta$ -globin chains of hemoglobin, which triggers the precipitation of unpaired  $\alpha$ -globin chains in erythroid precursor cells. This phenomenon leads to a perturbed erythropoiesis, and thus a decreased production of red blood cells and a decrease of the hemoglobin levels. In this trial, a SIN-LV containing large elements of the β-globin LCR and chromatin insulators in the LTRs was designed and used to transduce autologous HSCs of one patient. Three years after starting this treatment, β-globin-corrected cells are still detected, and the patient is transfusion independent and his or her blood hemoglobin level stabilized. However, of note, a dominant integration clone appeared but this did not lead to leukemia to date.

Very recently, Biffi et al. [124] and Aiuti et al. [124,125] provide very encouraging results on the HSC-based gene therapy for the correction of metachromatic leukodystrophy or WAS. Metachromatic leukodystrophy is an autosomal recessive lysosomal storage disease caused by mutations of the *ARSA* gene encoding for the arylsulfatase enzyme. This enzyme deficiency leads to an accumulation of the enzyme substrate in oligodendrocytes, microglia, Schwann cells, and macrophages and in certain neurons of the central nervous system. This results in a widespread demyelination and neurodegeneration. Today, no efficient treatment for this disease exists.

The WAS is caused by a mutation in the WAS gene encoding for the WASP protein, which regulates the cytoskeletal architecture. A deficit in WASP induces an X-linked primary immunodeficiency characterized by infections, thrombocytopenia, eczema, autoimmunity, and lymphoma. Currently, the only treatment for patients is allogeneic HSC transplantation. In 2010, clinical trials were initiated using LVs encoding ARSA (6 patients) and WASP (10 patients). In both clinical trials, no clonal dominance or preferential integration pattern was observed. Although a long-term followup of these patients is required, the initial results in three patients for each of these two trials are very encouraging with regard to efficacy.

Because LVs integrate into the host cell genome, they can still perturb endogenous gene expression. Therefore, a careful biosafety assessment must be performed. However, their ability to stably introduce a therapeutic gene in multiple different target cells and their favorable integration pattern predict that they might become powerful gene therapy tools in the near future. In parallel, safer LV vectors are being designed that will extend their applications to other genetic diseases and give hope to many patients suffering from these incurable diseases.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Sakuma, T., M.A. Barry, and Y. Ikeda, Lentiviral vectors: Basic to translational. *Biochem J*, 2012. **443**(3): 603–618.
- Naldini, L., Lentiviruses as gene transfer agents for delivery to non-dividing cells. *Curr Opin Biotechnol*, 1998. 9(5): 457–463.
- Vigna, E. et al., Robust and efficient regulation of transgene expression in vivo by improved tetracycline-dependent lentiviral vectors. *Mol Ther*, 2002. 5(3): 252–261.
- Coiras, M. et al., Understanding HIV-1 latency provides clues for the eradication of long-term reservoirs. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 2009. 7(11): 798–812.
- Frankel, A.D. and J.A. Young, HIV-1: Fifteen proteins and an RNA. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 1998. 67: 1–25.
- Vicenzi, E. and G. Poli, Novel factors interfering with human immunodeficiency virus-type 1 replication in vivo and in vitro. *Tissue Antigens*, 2013. 81(2): 61–71.
- Harris, R.S., J.F. Hultquist, and D.T. Evans, The restriction factors of human immunodeficiency virus. *J Biol Chem*, 2012. 287(49): 40875–40883.
- Metharom, P. et al., Novel bovine lentiviral vectors based on Jembrana disease virus. J Gene Med, 2000. 2(3): 176–185.
- Farley, D.C. et al., Development of an equine-tropic replication-competent lentivirus assay for equine infectious anemia virus-based lentiviral vectors. *Hum Gene Ther Methods*, 2012. 23(5): 309–323.
- Mendenhall, A. et al., Packaging HIV- or FIV-based lentivector expression constructs and transduction of VSV-G pseudotyped viral particles. *J Vis Exp*, 2012. (62): e3171.
- Davey, M.G. et al., Jaagsiekte sheep retrovirus pseudotyped lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer to fetal ovine lung. *Gene Ther*, 2012. **19**(2): 201–209.
- Negre, D. and F.L. Cosset, Vectors derived from simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV). *Biochimie*, 2002. 84(11): 1161–1171.
- Trobridge, G.D. et al., Efficient transduction of pigtailed macaque hematopoietic repopulating cells with HIV-based lentiviral vectors. *Blood*, 2008. **111**(12): 5537–5543.
- Sandrin, V. et al., Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with a modified RD114 envelope glycoprotein show increased stability in sera and augmented transduction of primary lymphocytes and CD34+ cells derived from human and nonhuman primates. *Blood*, 2002. **100**(3): 823–832.
- Verhoeyen, E. et al., Stem cell factor-displaying simian immunodeficiency viral vectors together with a low conditioning regimen allow for long-term engraftment of gene-marked autologous hematopoietic stem cells in macaques. *Hum Gene Ther*, 2012. 23(7): 754–768.
- Miyoshi, H. et al., Development of a self-inactivating lentivirus vector. J Virol, 1998. 72(10): 8150–8157.
- Zufferey, R. et al., Self-inactivating lentivirus vector for safe and efficient in vivo gene delivery. *J Virol*, 1998. **72**(12): 9873–9880.
- Naldini, L. et al., *In vivo* gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector. *Science*, 1996. 272(5259): 263–267.
- Zufferey, R. et al., Multiply attenuated lentiviral vector achieves efficient gene delivery in vivo. *Nat Biotechnol*, 1997. 15(9): 871–875.

#### Lentiviral Vectors

- Dull, T. et al., A third-generation lentivirus vector with a conditional packaging system. J Virol, 1998. 72(11): 8463–8471.
- Yilmaz, A. et al., Coordinate enhancement of transgene transcription and translation in a lentiviral vector. *Retrovirology*, 2006. 3: 13.
- Kotsopoulou, E. et al., A Rev-independent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-based vector that exploits a codon-optimized HIV-1 gag-pol gene. J Virol, 2000. 74(10): 4839–4852.
- Van Maele, B. et al., Impact of the central polypurine tract on the kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vector transduction. *J Virol*, 2003. 77(8): 4685–4694.
- 24. Demaison, C. et al., High-level transduction and gene expression in hematopoietic repopulating cells using a human immunodeficiency [correction of immunodeficiency] virus type 1-based lentiviral vector containing an internal spleen focus forming virus promoter. *Hum Gene Ther*, 2002. **13**(7): 803–813.
- Park, F. and M.A. Kay, Modified HIV-1 based lentiviral vectors have an effect on viral transduction efficiency and gene expression in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Ther*, 2001. 4(3): 164–173.
- Zufferey, R. et al., Woodchuck hepatitis virus posttranscriptional regulatory element enhances expression of transgenes delivered by retroviral vectors. *J Virol*, 1999. **73**(4): 2886–2892.
- Ramezani, A., T.S. Hawley, and R.G. Hawley, Lentiviral vectors for enhanced gene expression in human hematopoietic cells. *Mol Ther*, 2000. 2(5): 458–469.
- Zanta-Boussif, M.A. et al., Validation of a mutated PRE sequence allowing high and sustained transgene expression while abrogating WHV-X protein synthesis: Application to the gene therapy of WAS. *Gene Ther*, 2009. 16(5): 605–619.
- Burgess-Beusse, B. et al., The insulation of genes from external enhancers and silencing chromatin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 2002. 99 Suppl 4: 16433–16437.
- Arumugam, P.I. et al., Improved human beta-globin expression from self-inactivating lentiviral vectors carrying the chicken hypersensitive site-4 (cHS4) insulator element. *Mol Ther*, 2007. 15(10): 1863–1871.
- 31. Zhang, F. et al., Lentiviral vectors containing an enhancer-less ubiquitously acting chromatin opening element (UCOE) provide highly reproducible and stable transgene expression in hematopoietic cells. *Blood*, 2007. **110**(5): 1448–1457.
- 32. Zhang, F. et al., A ubiquitous chromatin opening element (UCOE) confers resistance to DNA methylation-mediated silencing of lentiviral vectors. *Mol Ther*, 2010. 18(9): 1640–1649.
- Amendola, M. et al., Coordinate dual-gene transgenesis by lentiviral vectors carrying synthetic bidirectional promoters. *Nat Biotechnol*, 2005. 23(1): 108–116.
- 34. Yu, X. et al., Lentiviral vectors with two independent internal promoters transfer high-level expression of multiple transgenes to human hematopoietic stem-progenitor cells. *Mol Ther*, 2003. 7(6): 827–838.
- Licursi, M. et al., *In vitro* and *in vivo* comparison of viral and cellular internal ribosome entry sites for bicistronic vector expression. *Gene Ther*, 2011. 18(6): 631–636.
- Zhu, Y. et al., Multigene lentiviral vectors based on differential splicing and translational control. *Mol Ther*, 2001. 4(4): 375–382.
- Ibrahimi, A. et al., Highly efficient multicistronic lentiviral vectors with peptide 2A sequences. *Hum Gene Ther*, 2009. 20(8): 845–860.

- Szymczak, A.L. et al., Correction of multi-gene deficiency in vivo using a single 'self-cleaving' 2A peptide-based retroviral vector. *Nat Biotechnol*, 2004. 22(5): 589–594.
- Finkelshtein, D. et al., LDL receptor and its family members serve as the cellular receptors for vesicular stomatitis virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 2013. **110**(18): 7306–7311.
- Frecha, C. et al., Strategies for targeting lentiviral vectors. Curr Gene Ther, 2008. 8(6): 449–460.
- Desmaris, N. et al., Production and neurotropism of lentivirus vectors pseudotyped with lyssavirus envelope glycoproteins. *Mol Ther*, 2001. 4(2): 149–156.
- 42. Miletic, H. et al., Retroviral vectors pseudotyped with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. *J Virol*, 1999. **73**(7): 6114–6116.
- 43. Sung, V.M. and M.M. Lai, Murine retroviral pseudotype virus containing hepatitis B virus large and small surface antigens confers specific tropism for primary human hepatocytes: A potential liver-specific targeting system. *J Virol*, 2002. **76**(2): 912–917.
- Frecha, C. et al., Stable transduction of quiescent T cells without induction of cycle progression by a novel lentiviral vector pseudotyped with measles virus glycoproteins. *Blood*, 2008. 112(13): 4843–4852.
- 45. Hatziioannou, T. et al., Incorporation of fowl plague virus hemagglutinin into murine leukemia virus particles and analysis of the infectivity of the pseudotyped retroviruses. *J Virol*, 1998. **72**(6): 5313–5317.
- Kobinger, G.P. et al., Filovirus-pseudotyped lentiviral vector can efficiently and stably transduce airway epithelia in vivo. *Nat Biotechnol*, 2001. **19**(3): 225–230.
- Suerth, J.D. et al., Alpharetroviral self-inactivating vectors: Long-term transgene expression in murine hematopoietic cells and low genotoxicity. *Mol Ther*, 2012. 20(5): 1022–1032.
- Frecha, C. et al., Efficient and stable transduction of resting B lymphocytes and primary chronic lymphocyte leukemia cells using measles virus gp displaying lentiviral vectors. *Blood*, 2009. **114**(15): 3173–3180.
- Frecha, C. et al., Measles virus glycoprotein-pseudotyped lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer into quiescent lymphocytes requires binding to both SLAM and CD46 entry receptors. *J Virol*, 2011. 85(12): 5975–5985.
- Schoenhals, M. et al., Efficient transduction of healthy and malignant plasma cells by lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with measles virus glycoproteins. *Leukemia*, 2012. 26(7): 1663–1670.
- Levy, C. et al., Lentiviral vectors and transduction of human cancer B cells. *Blood*, 2010. 116(3): 498–500; author reply 500.
- Frecha, C. et al., Advances in the field of lentivector-based transduction of T and B lymphocytes for gene therapy. *Mol Ther*, 2010. 18(10): 1748–1757.
- Humbert, J.M. et al., Measles virus glycoproteinpseudotyped lentiviral vectors are highly superior to vesicular stomatitis virus G pseudotypes for genetic modification of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *J Virol*, 2012. 86(9): 5192–5203.
- Verhoeyen, E. and F.L. Cosset, Surface-engineering of lentiviral vectors. J Gene Med, 2004. 6 Suppl 1: S83–S94.
- Verhoeyen, E. and F.L. Cosset, Hematopoietic stem cell targeting with surface-engineered lentiviral vectors. *Cold Spring Harb Protoc*, 2009. 2009(8): pdb prot5276.
- Buchholz, C.J., M.D. Muhlebach, and K. Cichutek, Lentiviral vectors with measles virus glycoproteins - Dream team for gene transfer? *Trends Biotechnol*, 2009. 27(5): 259–265.

Gene and Cell Therapy: Therapeutic Mechanisms and Strategies

- Morizono, K. and I.S. Chen, Targeted gene delivery by intravenous injection of retroviral vectors. *Cell Cycle*, 2005. 4(7): 854–856.
- Funke, S. et al., Targeted cell entry of lentiviral vectors. *Mol Ther*, 2008. 16(8): 1427–1436.
- Buchholz, C.J. et al., *In vivo* selection of protease cleavage sites from retrovirus display libraries. *Nat Biotechnol*, 1998. 16(10): 951–954.
- Munch, R.C. et al., DARPins: An efficient targeting domain for lentiviral vectors. *Mol Ther*, 2011. 19(4): 686–693.
- Zhou, Q. et al., T-cell receptor gene transfer exclusively to human CD8(+) cells enhances tumor cell killing. *Blood*, 2012. 120(22): 4334–4342.
- Nguyen, T.H. et al., Amphotropic retroviral vectors displaying hepatocyte growth factor-envelope fusion proteins improve transduction efficiency of primary hepatocytes. *Hum Gene Ther*, 1998. 9(17): 2469–2479.
- Maurice, M. et al., Efficient gene delivery to quiescent interleukin-2 (IL-2)-dependent cells by murine leukemia virus-derived vectors harboring IL-2 chimeric envelope glycoproteins. *Blood*, 1999. **94**(2): 401–410.
- Maurice, M. et al., Efficient gene transfer into human primary blood lymphocytes by surface-engineered lentiviral vectors that display a T cell-activating polypeptide. *Blood*, 2002. 99(7): 2342–2350.
- Verhoeyen, E. et al., IL-7 surface-engineered lentiviral vectors promote survival and efficient gene transfer in resting primary T lymphocytes. *Blood*, 2003. **101**(6): 2167–2174.
- 66. Frecha, C. et al., A novel lentiviral vector targets gene transfer into human hematopoietic stem cells in marrow from patients with bone marrow failure syndrome and in vivo in humanized mice. *Blood*, 2012. **119**(5): 1139–1150.
- Verhoeyen, E., D. Negre, and F.L. Cosset, Production of lentiviruses displaying "early-acting" cytokines for selective gene transfer into hematopoietic stem cells. *Methods Mol Biol*, 2008. 434: 99–112.
- Follenzi, A. et al., Targeting lentiviral vector expression to hepatocytes limits transgene-specific immune response and establishes long-term expression of human antihemophilic factor IX in mice. *Blood*, 2004. **103**(10): 3700–3709.
- Martin, F. et al., Lentiviral vectors transcriptionally targeted to hematopoietic cells by WASP gene proximal promoter sequences. *Gene Ther*, 2005. 12(8): 715–723.
- Toscano, M.G. et al., Hematopoietic-specific lentiviral vectors circumvent cellular toxicity due to ectopic expression of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein. *Hum Gene Ther*, 2008. 19(2): 179–197.
- Kelly, E.J. and S.J. Russell, MicroRNAs and the regulation of vector tropism. *Mol Ther*, 2009. 17(3): 409–416.
- Gentner, B. and L. Naldini, Exploiting microRNA regulation for genetic engineering. *Tissue Antigens*, 2012. 80(5): 393–403.
- Hacein-Bey-Abina, S. et al., Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. *J Clin Invest*, 2008. 118(9): 3132–3142.
- Hacein-Bey-Abina, S. et al., A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. *N Engl J Med*, 2003. 348(3): 255–256.
- Philpott, N.J. and A.J. Thrasher, Use of nonintegrating lentiviral vectors for gene therapy. *Hum Gene Ther*, 2007. 18(6): 483–489.
- Wanisch, K. and R.J. Yanez-Munoz, Integration-deficient lentiviral vectors: A slow coming of age. *Mol Ther*, 2009. 17(8): 1316–1332.

- Cornu, T.I. and T. Cathomen, Targeted genome modifications using integrase-deficient lentiviral vectors. *Mol Ther*, 2007. 15(12): 2107–2113.
- Yanez-Munoz, R.J. et al., Effective gene therapy with nonintegrating lentiviral vectors. *Nat Med*, 2006. 12(3): 348–353.
- Philippe, S. et al., Lentiviral vectors with a defective integrase allow efficient and sustained transgene expression in vitro and in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 2006. **103**(47): 17684–17689.
- Naldini, L., *Ex vivo* gene transfer and correction for cell-based therapies. *Nat Rev Genet*, 2011. 12(5): 301–315.
- Miller, J.C. et al., An improved zinc-finger nuclease architecture for highly specific genome editing. *Nat Biotechnol*, 2007. 25(7): 778–785.
- Lombardo, A. et al., Gene editing in human stem cells using zinc finger nucleases and integrase-defective lentiviral vector delivery. *Nat Biotechnol*, 2007. 25(11): 1298–1306.
- Holkers, M. et al., Differential integrity of TALE nuclease genes following adenoviral and lentiviral vector gene transfer into human cells. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 2013. 41(5): e63.
- Pfeifer, A. et al., Transgenesis by lentiviral vectors: Lack of gene silencing in mammalian embryonic stem cells and preimplantation embryos. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 2002. 99(4): 2140–2145.
- Ventura, A. et al., Cre-lox-regulated conditional RNA interference from transgenes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 2004. 101(28): 10380–10385.
- Szulc, J. et al., A versatile tool for conditional gene expression and knockdown. *Nat Methods*, 2006. 3(2): 109–116.
- Laurenti, E. et al., Inducible gene and shRNA expression in resident hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. *Stem Cells*, 2010. 28(8): 1390–1398.
- Benabdellah, K. et al., Development of an all-in-one lentiviral vector system based on the original TetR for the easy generation of Tet-ON cell lines. *PLoS One*, 2011. 6(8): e23734.
- Ikeda, Y. et al., Continuous high-titer HIV-1 vector production. *Nat Biotechnol*, 2003. 21(5): 569–572.
- Strang, B.L. et al., Characterization of HIV-1 vectors with gammaretrovirus envelope glycoproteins produced from stable packaging cells. *Gene Ther*, 2004. 11(7): 591–598.
- Stornaiuolo, A. et al., RD2-MolPack-Chim3, a packaging cell line for stable production of lentiviral vectors for anti-HIV gene therapy. *Hum Gene Ther Methods*, 2013. 24(4): 228–240.
- Ausubel, L.J. et al., Production of CGMP-grade lentiviral vectors. *Bioprocess Int*, 2012. 10(2): 32–43.
- Merten, O.W. et al., Large-scale manufacture and characterization of a lentiviral vector produced for clinical *ex vivo* gene therapy application. *Hum Gene Ther*, 2011. 22(3): 343–356.
- 94. Geraerts, M. et al., Comparison of lentiviral vector titration methods. *BMC Biotechnol*, 2006. **6**: 34.
- Rohll, J.B. et al., Design, production, safety, evaluation, and clinical applications of nonprimate lentiviral vectors. *Methods Enzymol*, 2002. 346: 466–500.
- Pyra, H., J. Boni, and J. Schupbach, Ultrasensitive retrovirus detection by a reverse transcriptase assay based on product enhancement. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 1994. **91**(4): 1544–1548.
- Escarpe, P. et al., Development of a sensitive assay for detection of replication-competent recombinant lentivirus in large-scale HIV-based vector preparations. *Mol Ther*, 2003. 8(2): 332–341.

## Lentiviral Vectors

- Singer, O. and I.M. Verma, Applications of lentiviral vectors for shRNA delivery and transgenesis. *Curr Gene Ther*, 2008. 8(6): 483–488.
- Stewart, S.A. et al., Lentivirus-delivered stable gene silencing by RNAi in primary cells. *RNA*, 2003. 9(4): 493–501.
- Stegmeier, F. et al., A lentiviral microRNA-based system for single-copy polymerase II-regulated RNA interference in mammalian cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 2005. **102**(37): 13212–13217.
- 101. Lois, C. et al., Germline transmission and tissue-specific expression of transgenes delivered by lentiviral vectors. *Science*, 2002. 295(5556): 868–872.
- 102. van den Brandt, J. et al., Lentivirally generated eGFP-transgenic rats allow efficient cell tracking in vivo. *Genesis*, 2004. **39**(2): 94–99.
- Wongsrikeao, P. et al., Antiviral restriction factor transgenesis in the domestic cat. *Nat Methods*, 2011. 8(10): 853–859.
- 104. Hiripi, L. et al., Transgenic rabbit production with simian immunodeficiency virus-derived lentiviral vector. *Transgenic Res*, 2010. **19**(5): 799–808.
- Hofmann, A. et al., Efficient transgenesis in farm animals by lentiviral vectors. *EMBO Rep*, 2003. 4(11): 1054–1060.
- McGrew, M.J. et al., Efficient production of germline transgenic chickens using lentiviral vectors. *EMBO Rep*, 2004. 5(7): 728–733.
- 107. Tiscornia, G. et al., A general method for gene knockdown in mice by using lentiviral vectors expressing small interfering RNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 2003. **100**(4): 1844–1848.
- 108. Gallo, P. et al., A lentiviral vector with a short troponin-I promoter for tracking cardiomyocyte differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. *Gene Ther*, 2008. **15**(3): 161–170.
- Takahashi, K. et al., Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. *Cell*, 2007. 131(5): 861–872.
- 110. Mali, P. et al., Improved efficiency and pace of generating induced pluripotent stem cells from human adult and fetal fibroblasts. *Stem Cells*, 2008. **26**(8): 1998–2005.
- 111. Breckpot, K., P.U. Emeagi, and K. Thielemans, Lentiviral vectors for anti-tumor immunotherapy. *Curr Gene Ther*, 2008. **8**(6): 438–448.
- 112. Hu, B., A. Tai, and P. Wang, Immunization delivered by lentiviral vectors for cancer and infectious diseases. *Immunol Rev*, 2011. 239(1): 45–61.
- De Feo, C.J. and C.D. Weiss, Escape from human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) entry inhibitors. *Viruses*, 2012. 4(12): 3859–3911.
- 114. Yang, H.G. et al., Dendritic cell-directed lentivector vaccine induces antigen-specific immune responses against murine melanoma. *Cancer Gene Ther*, 2011. **18**(5): 370–380.
- 115. Negri, D.R. et al., Integrase-defective lentiviral-vector-based vaccine: A new vector for induction of T cell immunity. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*, 2011. **11**(6): 739–750.
- Scholler, J. et al., Decade-long safety and function of retroviral-modified chimeric antigen receptor T cells. *Sci Transl Med*, 2012. 4(132): 132ra53.
- Verma, I.M., Medicine. Gene therapy that works. *Science*, 2013. **341**(6148): 853–855.
- Levine, B.L. et al., Gene transfer in humans using a conditionally replicating lentiviral vector. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 2006. **103**(46): 17372–17377.
- Cartier, N. et al., Lentiviral hematopoietic cell gene therapy for X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy. *Methods Enzymol*, 2012. 507: 187–198.

- Cartier, N. et al., Gene therapy of x-linked adrenoleukodystrophy using hematopoietic stem cells and a lentiviral vector. *Bull Acad Natl Med*, 2010. **194**(2): 255–264; discussion 264–268.
- 121. Cartier, N. et al., Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy with a lentiviral vector in X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy. *Science*, 2009. **326**(5954): 818–823.
- 122. Bank, A., R. Dorazio, and P. Leboulch, A phase I/II clinical trial of beta-globin gene therapy for beta-thalassemia. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 2005. **1054**: 308–316.
- 123. Cavazzana-Calvo, M. et al., Transfusion independence and HMGA2 activation after gene therapy of human betathalassaemia. *Nature*, 2010. **467**(7313): 318–322.
- Biffi, A. et al., Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy benefits metachromatic leukodystrophy. *Science*, 2013. 341(6148): 1233158.
- 125. Aiuti, A. et al., Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy in patients with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. *Science*, 2013. **341**(6148): 1233151.
- 126. Wong, L.F. et al., Transduction patterns of pseudotyped lentiviral vectors in the nervous system. *Mol Ther*, 2004. 9(1): 101–111.
- 127. Mazarakis, N.D. et al., Rabies virus glycoprotein pseudotyping of lentiviral vectors enables retrograde axonal transport and access to the nervous system after peripheral delivery. *Hum Mol Genet*, 2001. **10**(19): 2109–2121.
- Azzouz, M. et al., Lentivector-mediated SMN replacement in a mouse model of spinal muscular atrophy. *J Clin Invest*, 2004. **114**(12): 1726–1731.
- 129. Watson, D.J. et al., Targeted transduction patterns in the mouse brain by lentivirus vectors pseudotyped with VSV, Ebola, Mokola, LCMV, or MuLV envelope proteins. *Mol Ther*, 2002. **5**(5 Pt 1): 528–537.
- Miletic, H. et al., Selective transduction of malignant glioma by lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus glycoproteins. *Hum Gene Ther*, 2004. 15(11): 1091–1100.
- 131. Stein, C.S., I. Martins, and B.L. Davidson, The lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus envelope glycoprotein targets lentiviral gene transfer vector to neural progenitors in the murine brain. *Mol Ther*, 2005. **11**(3): 382–389.
- 132. Kang, Y. et al., *In vivo* gene transfer using a nonprimate lentiviral vector pseudotyped with Ross River Virus glycoproteins. *J Virol*, 2002. **76**(18): 9378–9388.
- 133. Medina, M.F. et al., Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with minimal filovirus envelopes increased gene transfer in murine lung. *Mol Ther*, 2003. 8(5): 777–789.
- 134. Silvertown, J.D. et al., Functional expression of mouse relaxin and mouse relaxin-3 in the lung from an Ebola virus glycoprotein-pseudotyped lentivirus via tracheal delivery. *Endocrinology*, 2006. **147**(8): 3797–3808.
- Hachiya, A. et al., Gene transfer in human skin with different pseudotyped HIV-based vectors. *Gene Ther*, 2007. 14(8): 648–656.
- Kang, Y. et al., Persistent expression of factor VIII in vivo following nonprimate lentiviral gene transfer. *Blood*, 2005. 106(5): 1552–1558.
- Bartosch, B., J. Dubuisson, and F.L. Cosset, Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes. *J Exp Med*, 2003. **197**(5): 633–642.
- 138. Kowolik, C.M. and J.K. Yee, Preferential transduction of human hepatocytes with lentiviral vectors pseudotyped by Sendai virus F protein. *Mol Ther*, 2002. 5(6): 762–769.

# 3) UNITED STATES PATENT APPLICATION PUBLICATION: LENTIVIRAL VECTORS PSEUDOTYPED WITH MUTANT BAEV GLYCOPROTEINS



US 20140235700A1

# (19) United States

# (12) Patent Application Publication

# Girard-Gagnepain et al.

#### (54) LENTIVIRAL VECTORS PSEUDOTYPED WITH MUTANT BAEV GLYCOPROTEINS

- (71) Applicants: ECOLE NORMALE SUPERIEURE DE LYON, Lyon (FR); INSTITUT NATIONAL DELA SANTE ET DE LA RECHERCHE MEDICALE (INSERM), Paris (FR)
- (72) Inventors: Anais Girard-Gagnepain, Lyon (FR); Els Verhoeyen, Lyon (FR); Dimitri Lavillette, Lyon (FR); François-Loïc Cosset, Lyon (FR)
- (21) Appl. No.: 14/346,357
- (22) PCT Filed: Sep. 28, 2012
- (86) PCT No.: PCT/EP2012/069230
  § 371 (c)(1),
  (2), (4) Date: Mar. 21, 2014

#### (30) Foreign Application Priority Data

Sep. 29, 2011 (EP) ..... 11306247.5

# (10) Pub. No.: US 2014/0235700 A1 (43) Pub. Date: Aug. 21, 2014

#### **Publication Classification**

- (51) Int. Cl. *C12N 15/86* (2006.01)
- (52) U.S. Cl. CPC ...... C12N 15/86 (2013.01) USPC ..... 514/44 R; 435/320.1; 435/456; 435/369; 435/348; 435/366

#### (57) ABSTRACT

The present invention concerns a pseudotyped viral vector particle for transferring biological material into cells, wherein said vector particle comprises at least:—a chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV) envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a murine leukemia virus (MLV) envelope glycoprotein; or—a modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide.





FIG.2



























FIG.15









Β.



GFP





#### LENTIVIRAL VECTORS PSEUDOTYPED WITH MUTANT BAEV GLYCOPROTEINS

**[0001]** The present invention concerns pseudotyped lentiviral vectors enabling efficient gene transfer of hematopoietic cells.

[0002] Gene therapy holds promise for the cure of many inherited and acquired diseases as evidenced by the success in treatment of X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID-X1), adenosine desaminase (ADA) deficiency and chronic granulomatous disease. Recently, the successful treatment of patients suffering from X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy (ALD) using lentiviral vectors was reported. In this trial, hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) based gene therapy was able to stop progression of the disease in two patients suffering from this fatal demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. Importantly, for the correction of all these defects of the hematopoietic system, the therapeutic gene must be delivered to cells able both to self-renew and to differentiate into all hematopoietic lineages. Since HSCs answer to these criteria they represent 'the' attractive candidates for gene therapy applications.

[0003] However, a major barrier in lentiviral vector transduction of HSC is that 75% of HSC are residing into the  $G_0$ phase of the cell cycle and are not very permissive for classical lentiviral vector transduction. This limitation hampers the application of conventional lentiviral vectors for HSC gene therapy, as they do not allow efficient gene transfer into a subpopulation of quiescent ( $G_0$ ) HSCs (Sutton et al. (1999) J. Virol. 73:3649-3660). To overcome this limitation, many studies using lentiviral vectors for hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction employed a high vector input and the presence of very strong cytokine cocktails (TPO, SCF, Flk-3, IL-6, IL-3) in order to induce HSC cycle entry. Very often, retronectin, a fragment of fibronectin, is used to colocalize vector particles and targeted cells or multiple administrations of vector are applied to achieve high gene transfer rates in HSCs. However, an undesirable effect of extended cytokine stimulation is a decrease of the multi-potentiality and long-term engraftment of human HSCs. Moreover, a too high vector dose poses the risk for multi-copy integration, and in particular for insertional mutagenesis.

**[0004]** There is therefore a need for viral vectors enabling transduction of quiescent HSCs and limiting the risk of multicopy integration.

[0005] Efficient gene transfer into quiescent T and B lymphocytes for gene therapy or immunotherapy purposes may allow the treatment of several genetic dysfunctions of the hematopoietic system, such as immunodeficiencies, and the development of novel therapeutic strategies for cancers and acquired diseases. Lentiviral vectors (LV) are not able to transduce some particular quiescent cell types such as resting T and B cells (Bovia et al. (2003) Blood 101:1727-1733; Verhoeven et al. (2003) Blood 101:2167-2174). In T cells, completion of reverse transcription, nuclear import and subsequent integration of the genome of lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with the envelope glycoprotein of the vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV-G) do not occur efficiently unless they are activated via the T-cell receptor or by survival-cytokines inducing them to enter into the  $G_{1b}$  phase of the cell cycle. Lentiviral transduction of B cells is another matter since even B-cell receptor (BCR)-stimulation inducing proliferation is not sufficient to allow efficient transduction with VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors (VSV-G-LVs).

**[0006]** There is therefore an important need for viral vectors enabling transduction of resting T and B cells.

[0007] In order to deliver genes by a lentiviral vector in hematopoietic cells, an "entry" envelope protein allowing an efficient vector-cell fusion needs to be presented at its surface. The process of incorporating a heterologous envelope glycoprotein on the core of a lentiviral vector is called "peudotyping". For a long time, VSV-G associated with viral cores derived from HIV-1 has been used. Nevertheless, there are disadvantages in using VSV-G-LVs. Toxicity is associated with long-term expression of VSV-G which makes generation of stable cell lines difficult. In addition, VSV-G-LVs are sensitive to human complement, which makes them unsuited for in vivo use. Only high VSV-G-LVs doses (multiplicity of infection=MOI of 50-100) allow efficient hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction increasing the risk of multi-copy integration and thus genotoxicity (Di Nunzio et al. (2007) Hum. Gene Ther. 18:811-820). Human beings may also develop strong immune responses against VSV-G which may reduce the efficacy of a second administration of VSV-G-LVs. All these evidences limit ex vivo and in vivo use of VSV-G-LVs.

[0008] The chimeric envelope glycoprotein comprising the extracellular and transmembrane domains of the RD114 feline leukemia virus envelope glycoprotein fused to the cytoplasmic tail (designated TR) of the murine leukemia virus A (MLV-A) envelope glycoprotein, called herein after RD114/ TR and described in the international application WO 03/091442) appeared to be a quite good alternative envelope. Indeed, this pseudotype is not sensitive to the human complement system which makes it attractive for in vivo applications. RD114/TR-LVs allow efficient transduction of human and macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells. However, transduction levels stay way below those of VSV-G-LVs and titers of RD114 are much lower than for VSV-G-LVs. Additionally, RD114/TR glycoprotein cannot enter efficiently into murine cells. So this receptor specificity limits the potentialities of work with this LV since the majority of preclinical disease models eligible for gene therapy are mice models.

[0009] The present invention arises from the unexpected finding by the inventors that lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with either a chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV) envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a murine leukemia virus (MLV) envelope glycoprotein; or a modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide, display transduction properties particularly suitable for gene transfer into hematopoietic cells, including HSC and resting T and B cells. Indeed, these new LV pseudotypes can transduce very efficiently and stably hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells up to 70% at low vector doses and upon mild cytokine stimulation. BaEV-LVs outperformed by far VSV-G and RD114/TR-LVs for the transduction of macaque and human CD34+ cells. Additionally, the inventors showed that BaEV-LVs transduced very early progenitor hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells including HSCs since these cells were able to reconstitute an immunodeficient mice model and high level of transduced blood cells were found in several hematopoietic tissues and in those tissues in the different blood cell lineages. Importantly BaEV-LVs were able to transduce IL-7 prestimulated memory and naive T cells at high levels. Moreover, in contrast to VSV-G-LVs and RD114/

TR-LVs, these BaEV-LVs also allowed high level transduction of resting and BCR stimulated B cells without induction of a phenotypic switch.

**[0010]** The present invention thus concerns a pseudotyped viral vector particle for transferring biological material into cells, wherein said vector particle comprises at least:

- [0011] a chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV) envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a murine leukemia virus (MLV) envelope glycoprotein; or
- **[0012]** a modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide.

**[0013]** The present invention also concerns the pseudotyped viral vector particle according to the invention for use in the treatment of a hematopoietic disorder.

**[0014]** Another object of the invention concerns a medicament comprising a pseudotyped viral vector particle according to the invention as active ingredient.

**[0015]** The invention also relates to the use of a pseudotyped viral vector particle according to the invention for transferring the biological material into hematopoietic cells ex vivo.

**[0016]** Another object of the invention concerns a method for transducing a hematopoietic cell comprising contacting the hematopoietic cell with a pseudotyped viral vector particle according to the invention under conditions to effect the transduction of the hematopoietic cell by the pseudotyped viral vector particle.

**[0017]** The invention also concerns a stable virus packaging cell line producing the pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above.

#### DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE INVENTION

#### Pseudotyped Viral Vector Particle

**[0018]** The present invention concerns a pseudotyped viral vector particle for transferring biological material into cells, wherein said vector particle comprises at least:

- **[0019]** a chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV) envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a murine leukemia virus (MLV) envelope glycoprotein; or
- **[0020]** a modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide.

**[0021]** As intended herein, the term "vector particle" denotes any particle liable to display the chimeric envelope glycoprotein or the modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein at its surface and to reversibly bind to a biological material. It is preferred that such a vector particle is a viral vector particle, in particular a retroviral vector particle. Preferably, said retroviral vector particle is selected from the group consisting of an oncoviral vector particle, including murine leukemia virus (MLV), avian leukosis virus (ALV), respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) or Mason-Pfizer monkey virus (MPMV) vector particles, a lentiviral vector particle, such as Human Immunodeficiency Virus (SIV), feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV), equine infectious anemia virus (EIAV) and

caprine arthritis encephalitis virus (CAEV) vector particles, and a spumaviral vector particle such as human foamy virus (HFV) vector particle.

**[0022]** Lentiviral vector particles are well-known to the skilled person and are notably described in Naldini et al. (2000) *Adv. Virus. Res.* 55:599-609 and Negre et al. (2002) *Biochimie* 84:1161-1171. Usually, lentiviral vector particles according to the invention comprise at least the following components: (i) an envelope component, which is constituted of a phospholipidic bilayer associated to envelope proteins, wherein the envelope proteins comprise at least the above-defined chimeric or modified glycoproteins, said envelope surrounding (ii) a core component, constituted of the association of a gag protein, said core itself surrounding (iii) genome components, usually constituted of ribonucleic acids (RNA), and (iv) an enzyme component (pol). The biological material can be present within the envelope, within the core and/or within the genome components.

**[0023]** Lentiviral vector particles can be readily prepared by the skilled person, for example by following the general guidance provided by Sandrin et al. (2002) *Blood* 100:823-832. Briefly, the lentiviral vector particles may be generated by co-expressing the packaging elements (i.e. the core and enzyme components), the genome component and the envelope component in a so-called producer cell, e.g. 293T human embryonic kidney cells. Typically from three to four plasmids may be employed, but the number may be greater depending upon the degree to which the lentiviral components are broken up into separate units.

**[0024]** As used herein, the term "pseudotyped viral vector" refers to a viral vector comprising foreign viral envelope glycoproteins. Typically, the viral vectors according to the invention are pseudotyped with the above defined chimeric or modified glycoproteins.

**[0025]** The Baboon endogenous retrovirus or BaEV is a type C retrovirus present in multiple proviral copies in the DNA of baboons. The BaEV envelope glycoprotein is notably described in Benveniste et al. (1974) *Nature* 248:17-20 and Todaro et al. (1974) *Cell* 2:55-61.

**[0026]** In the context of the invention, the term "BaEV envelope glycoprotein" refers to the wild-type form of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein or to a mutant of said wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein which is at least 80%, preferably at least 85%, still preferably at least 90%, more preferably at least 95%, still more preferably at least 99% identical to said wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein, provided that said mutant glycoprotein retains the capacity of the wild-type glycoprotein of binding to and fusing with hematopoietic cells membrane.

**[0027]** Typically, the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein is encoded by the nucleic acid sequence SEQ ID NO: 1. Preferably, it consists of the sequence SEQ ID NO: 2. As known from the skilled person, the BaEV envelope glycoprotein is constituted by a cytoplasmic tail domain, a transmembrane domain and an extracellular domain. The regions corresponding to the cytoplasmic tail domain in the envelope glycoprotein sequence can be easily determined by the skilled person. Typically, the cytoplasmic tail domain is located between amino acids 530 to 564 of the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein. Preferably, the wild-type cytoplasmic tail domain of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein comprises or consists in the amino acid sequence SEQ ID NO: 3. Typically, the transmembrane domain is located between
amino acids 507 to 529 of the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein. Preferably, the wild-type transmembrane domain of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein comprises or consists in the amino acid sequence SEQ ID NO: 4. Typically, the extracellular domain is located between amino acids 1 to 506 of the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein. Preferably, the wild-type extracellular domain of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein comprises or consists in the amino acid sequence SEQ ID NO: 5.

**[0028]** In a particular embodiment of the invention, the cytoplasmic tail domain of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide.

**[0029]** In the context of the invention, the expression "fusion inhibitory R peptide" refers to the C-terminal portion of the cytoplasmic tail domain of the envelope glycoprotein which harbours a tyrosine endocytosis signal—YXXL—and which is cleaved by viral protease during virion maturation, thus enhancing membrane fusion of the envelope glycoprotein. The fusion inhibitory R peptide of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein is typically located between amino acids 547 and 564 of the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein. Preferably, the fusion inhibitory R peptide of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein comprises or consists in the amino acid sequence SEQ ID NO: 6.

**[0030]** Therefore, in a particularly preferred embodiment, the modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide comprises or consists in the amino acid sequence SEQ ID NO: 7. Such a modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein is called herein after "BaEVRLess".

**[0031]** In another particular embodiment, the cytoplasmic tail domain of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein is replaced by the cytoplasmic tail domain of a murine leukemia virus (MLV) envelope glycoprotein.

**[0032]** The Murine Leukemia Virus envelope glycoprotein is notably described in Ott et al. (1990) *J. Virol.* 64:757-766. The Murine Leukemia Virus envelope glycoprotein is preferably that of strain 4070A.

**[0033]** In the context of the invention, the term "MLV envelope glycoprotein" refers to the wild-type form of the MLV envelope glycoprotein or to a mutant of said wild-type MLV envelope glycoprotein which is at least 80%, preferably at least 85%, still preferably at least 90%, more preferably at least 95%, still more preferably at least 99% identical to said wild-type MLV envelope glycoprotein, provided that said mutant glycoprotein retains the capacity of the wild-type envelope glycoprotein of interacting with viral core proteins, in particular with lentiviral core proteins.

**[0034]** The region corresponding to the cytoplasmic tail domain in the envelope glycoprotein sequence can be easily determined by the skilled person. Typically, the cytoplasmic tail domain of the MLV envelope glycoprotein is located between amino acids 622 and 654 of the wild-type MLV envelope glycoprotein. Preferably, the wild-type cytoplasmic tail domain of the MLV envelope glycoprotein comprises or consists in the amino acid sequence SEQ ID NO: 8.

**[0035]** Therefore, in a particularly preferred embodiment, the chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a BaEV envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a MLV envelope glycoprotein comprises or consists in the amino acid sequence SEQ ID NO: 9. Such a chimeric envelope glycoprotein is called herein after "BaEV/TR".

**[0036]** The inventors demonstrated that BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess glycoproteins were incorporated at a higher level on the lentiviral surface than the wild-type BaEV glycoprotein.

**[0037]** The inventors further demonstrated that the co-display of specific cytokines on the viral vector particles enabled enhancing the targeted transduction of cells of interest.

**[0038]** Therefore, in a particular embodiment, the viral vector particle according to the invention may further display, preferably at its surface, at least one cytokine selected from the group consisting of stem cell factor (SCF), thrombopoietin (TPO), IL-2, IL-15 and IL-7.

**[0039]** Preferably, said at least one cytokine is selected from the group consisting of human SCF, human TPO, human IL-2, human IL-15 and human IL-7.

**[0040]** In the context of the invention, the cytokine may be a wild-type cytokine or any mutant of said wild-type cytokine which is at least 80%, preferably at least 85%, still preferably at least 90%, more preferably at least 95%, still more preferably at least 99% identical to said wild-type cytokine, provided that said mutant cytokine presents essentially the same properties as the wild-type cytokine from which it derives.

**[0041]** The wild-type SCF cytokine preferably comprises or consists in the sequence SEQ ID NO: 10. The wild-type TPO preferably comprises or consists in the sequence SEQ ID NO: 11. The wild-type IL-2 preferably comprises or consists in the sequence SEQ ID NO: 12. The wild-type IL-7 preferably comprises or consists in the sequence SEQ ID NO: 13. The wild-type IL-15 preferably comprises or consists in the sequence SEQ ID NO: 14.

**[0042]** The percentage of identity may be calculated by performing a pairwise global alignment based on the Needleman-Wunsch alignment algorithm to find the optimum alignment (including gaps) of two sequences along their entire length, for instance using Needle, and using the BLOSUM62 matrix with a gap opening penalty of 10 and a gap extension penalty of 0.5.

**[0043]** In a particularly preferred embodiment, the pseudotyped viral vector particle according to the invention is obtainable or obtained by the method of production described in the section "Method for producing a pseudotyped viral vector particle" herein below.

#### **Biological Material**

**[0044]** The pseudotyped viral vector particles of the invention are of particular interest for transferring biological materials into cells, in particular into hematopoietic cells.

**[0045]** Accordingly, in a preferred embodiment, the pseudotyped viral vector particles as defined above further comprise a biological material.

**[0046]** As intended herein the expression "biological material" relates to one or more compounds liable to alter the structure and/or the function of a cell. Within the context of the present invention, it is preferred that the biological material is one or more nucleic acids, which in the case of lentiviral vector particles may be comprised within the genome of the vector particle. The genome typically comprises the one or more nucleic acids, preferably linked to genetic elements necessary for their expression in the target cell, such as promoters and terminators, flanked by cis-acting elements necessary for the inclusion of the genome in the core element, its reverse transcription into deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), the import of the retrotranscribed genome into the nucleus of the target cell and the integration of the retrotranscribed genome within the genome of the target cell.

[0047] Examples of nucleic acids of interest include globin genes, hematopoietic growth factors, which include erythropoietin (EPO), the interleukins (especially Interleukin-1, Interleukin-2, Interleukin-3, Interleukin-6, Interleukin-12, etc.) and the colony-stimulating factors (such as granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor, or stem-cell colony-stimulating factor), the platelet-specific integrin  $\alpha$ IIb $\beta$ , multidrug resistance genes, the gp91 or gp 47 genes which are defective in patients with chronic granulomatous disease (CGD), antiviral genes rendering cells resistant to infections with pathogens such as human immunodeficiency virus, genes coding for blood coagulation factors VIII or IX which are mutated in hemophilia's, ligands involved in T cell-mediated immune responses such as T cell antigen receptors, B cell antigen receptors (immunoglobulins), the interleukin receptor common  $\gamma$  chain, a combination of both T and B cell antigen receptors alone and/or in combination with single chain antibodies (ScFv), IL2, IL12, TNF, gamma interferon, CTLA4, B7 and the like, genes expressed in tumor cells such as Melana, MAGE genes (such as MAGE-1, MAGE-3), P198, P1A, gp100 etc.

**[0048]** As intended herein "transferring" relates to the capacity of the vector particle to initially deliver the biological material to the membrane or the cytoplasm of the target cell, upon being bound to the target cell. After delivery, the biological material can be translocated to other compartment of the cell.

**[0049]** As intended herein the recipient cells for the biological material to be transferred, or target cells, relate to any cell liable to be bound by the above-defined vector particle. Where the vector particle is a lentiviral vector particle, the target cell relates to any cell liable to be transduced by the vector particle. These cells are preferably hematopoietic cells, in particular human hematopoietic cells.

#### Hematopoietic Cells

**[0050]** As used herein, the term "hematopoietic cell" refers generally to blood cells, both from the myeloid and the lymphoid lineage. In particular, the term "hematopoietic cell" includes both undifferentiated or poorly differentiated cells such as hematopoietic stem cells and progenitor cells, and differentiated cells such as T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes or dendritic cells. Preferably, the hematopoietic cell is selected from the group consisting of hematopoietic stem cells, CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells, in particular peripheral blood CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, very early progenitor CD13<sup>+</sup> cells, B-cell CD19<sup>+</sup> progenitors, myeloid progenitor CD13<sup>+</sup> cells, T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, monocytes, dendritic cells, cancer B cells in particular B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (BOLL) cells and marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) B cells, and thymocytes.

**[0051]** As known from the skilled person, every hematopoietic cell is produced from bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells.

**[0052]** As used herein, the term "hematopoietic stem cell" or "HSC" refers to cells able to replenish all blood cell types and to self-renew. Hematopoietic stem cells may be in particular defined as cells that keep the levels of myeloid, T and B cells at robustly detectable levels (typically more than 1% of peripheral blood cells) for 16 weeks when injected into the

circulation of a recipient mouse with a depleted hematopoietic system (Schroeder (2010) *Cell Stem Cell* 6:203-207).

[0053] As used herein, the term "CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cell" refers to a heterogeneous cell population that includes a subpopulation of HSCs, pluripotent stem cells and cells in the early stages of lineage commitment. CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells continuously migrate to and from the bone marrow in normal adult animals. They can differentiate to produce all hematopoietic cell lineages found in the circulation. The expression "peripheral blood CD34<sup>+</sup> cell" refers more particularly to CD34<sup>+</sup> cells present in the blood.

**[0054]** The inventors prestimulated human CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitor cells with a strong cytokine cocktail (SCF, TPO and Flt3-L) and transduced them BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles. They demonstrated that the pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles could efficiently transduce human CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitor cells, in particular at more than 70% in presence of retronectin.

**[0055]** The inventors further demonstrated that the high human CD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction obtained with BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles was due to stable transduction of short term progenitors. Indeed, there was no significant difference between the proportion of BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess lentiviral vector particles transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> cells after a SCF/TPO prestimulation and the clonogenic progenitors derived from them. In contrast, for lentiviral vector particles pseudotyped with VSV-G, the proportion of transduced clonogenic progenitors was significantly lower than the rate of transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> cells they were derived from.

**[0056]** As used herein, the term "very early progenitor CD34<sup>+</sup> cell" refers to a subgroup of CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells which is enriched in HSCs.

**[0057]** As used herein, the term "B-cell CD19<sup>+</sup> progenitor" refers to a population of B-lineage cells that express cell surface CD10, CD34 and CD19.

**[0058]** As used herein, the term "myeloid progenitor CD13<sup>+</sup> cell" refers to a population of myeloid lineage cells that express cell surface CD34 and CD13 and optionally CD33.

[0059] The inventors demonstrated that BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles were able to transduce at high efficiency hematopoietic progenitors capable of repopulating immunodeficient mice. They evaluated the long-term reconstitution capacity of these pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles transduced human CD34+ cells in the Rag2<sup>-/-</sup>  $\gamma^{-/-}$  Balbc immunodeficient mice model and the NOD/SCID/ $\gamma$ c-/- (NSG) mice model. They demonstrated that very early progenitor CD34+ cells, as well as B-cell CD19<sup>+</sup> progenitors and myeloid CD13<sup>+</sup> cells were transduced to the same extent by BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles of the invention at low infectious vector particle doses. Moreover, BaEV/TR-LVs and BaEVRLess-LVs transduced hCD34+ cells resulted in high reconstitution levels in the bone marrow and the highest transduction levels of SCID repopulating cells (up to 90% CD45+GFP+ cells) in the bone marrow. They also demonstrated that these high transduction levels were sustained in the primary recipient mice in all hematopoietic tissues (bone marrow, thymus and spleen). Equivalent high level transduction was detected for immature progenitors (hCD34+ cells), lymphoid cells (CD19+) and myeloid cells (CD13+ and CD14+) in the bone marrow. On the contrary, lentiviral vector particles pseudotyped with VSV-G transduced early CD34+

progenitors, CD13+ myeloid progenitors and monocytes to much lower levels. For lentiviral vector particles pseudotyped with RD114/TR, also low transduction of all the different bone marrow cell lineages was detected. An identical picture was found for T- and B-cells and monocytes in the spleen. RD114/TR-LVs demonstrated variable transduction levels of SCID repopulating cells (ranging from 3.2-76% of GFP+ CD45+ cells).

**[0060]** The inventors also showed that in the spleen and bone marrow the percentage of GFP+ hCD45+ cells was maintained or increased after secondary engraftment of the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells isolated from primary recipients in immunodeficient mice. Moreover, for both BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs, high levels of GFP+ hCD34+ early progenitor, lymphoid (CD19+) and myeloid (CD13+) cells were detected in the bone marrow of these secondary recipient mice and equivalent percentages of GFP+ cells were detected in these different lineages. The inventors thus showed that the secondary reconstituting SCID repopulating cells were capable of multilineage differentiation and that true human HSC were genetically modified to high levels by BaEV/TR- and BaE-VRLess-LVs.

**[0061]** The inventors also showed that BaEV/TR and BaE-VRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles allowed efficient transduction of human T cells, in particular of IL-7 prestimulated human T cells. These pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles were superior over lentiviral vector particles pseudotyped with VSV-G for the same vector doses in the presence of retronectin. Importantly, the BaEV/TR and BaE-VRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles allowed an efficient transduction of both naïve and memory IL-7 prestimulated T cells. Indeed, they allowed transduction of IL-7 stimulated T-cells without compromising their naive phenotype. Of high interest, they also permitted close to 100% T cell gene transfer upon T-cell receptor (TCR) stimulation at an MOI of 10.

**[0062]** Therefore, in a particular embodiment, the targeted hematopoietic cell is a T cell, preferably a naive or a memory T cell.

**[0063]** The BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles also permitted highly efficient transduction of 20-30% of resting B cells and thus outperformed by far the lentiviral vector particles pseudotyped with VSV-G or RD114/TR which enabled no transduction or very low transduction of resting human B cells. Furthermore, upon B cell receptor (BCR) stimulation, BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles transduced up to 70% of the B cells while lentiviral vector particles pseudotyped with VSV-G transduction efficiency did not exceed 5%. Of importance, as well memory as naïve B cells were efficiently transduced by BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles.

**[0064]** Therefore, in a particular embodiment, the targeted hematopoietic cell is a B cell, in particular a resting B cell, preferably a naive or a memory B cell. It may also be a cancer B cell, in particular a B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (BOLL) cell or a marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) B cell.

**[0065]** Because of the potential value of thymocyte gene transfer for immune modulation, the inventors evaluated the performance of BaEVgp-LVs compared to the other LV pseudotypes for the transduction of different thymocyte sub-populations. Upon isolation of thymocytes from a human thymus, they transduced them in the presence of the survival cytokine IL-7 with VSV-G-, RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR-, and

BaEVRLess-LVs encoding for the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10. The inventors showed that RD114/TR-LV, BaEV/TR-LVs and BaEVRLess-LVs allow preferential transduction of the thymocytes in the early stages of development (double negative and immature CD4 single positive cells) while they still transduce the more mature to a lower level. As already detected for adult human T cells, BaEVgp LVs transduced all different thymocyte subpopulations more efficiently than the RD114/TR-LVs. Moreover, transduction with the different lentiviral vector pseudotypes had no effect on the distribution of different thymocyte subpopulations. The inventors thus demonstrated that BaEVgp-LVs are excellent tools for transduction of thymocytes and that they are especially superior over VSV-G- and RD114/TR-LVs for the transduction of the immature double negative (DN) and immature CD4 single positive cells (ISP) thymocyte subpopulations.

**[0066]** Therefore, in a particular embodiment, the targeted hematopoietic cell is a thymocyte.

[0067] Finally, the inventors prestimulated freshly isolated total CB T cells with the T cell survivial cytokine IL-7 to conserve the T cell naive phenotype, and subsequently transduced them with the different vectors: VSV-G-, RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR-, and BaEVRLess-LVs encoding the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10 or 20, or at an MOI of 50 for VSV-G-LVs. They showed that BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs present a transduction efficiency highly superior (40-50% transduction) at an MOI=10 as compared to VSV-G or RD114/TR-LVs. Importantly, BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs reached easily 65% transduction when the vector dose was 2-fold increased (MOI=20). In all cases the naive recent thymocyte emigrants (CD69L+ CD45RA+ CD31+) were transduced to the same extent as the more mature naive CB T cells (CD69L+ CD45RA+ CD31-). Moreover, transduction had no effect on the distribution of these two naive CB T cell populations.

[0068] Therefore, in a particular embodiment, the targeted hematopoietic cell is a naïve cell. As used herein, the term "naïve cell" refers to a cell that has not yet undergone cell activation in response to a stimulus. In particular, a "naïve cell" may be a cell that has not yet been exposed to an antigen. [0069] Since a strong stimulation with a cytokine cocktail induces HSC differentiation and their loss of self renewal capacity, it is of particular interest to prestimulate the cells as less as possible, to avoid their differentiation as much as possible and to keep the more their "stem-cell features".

[0070] The inventors applied the pseudotyped viral vectors of the invention at a fixed MOI (number of infectious particles per cell) of 10 and different cytokine prestimulation protocols on human CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitor cells: 1) no stimulation; 2) stimulation with a SCF or TPO; 3) stimulation with SCF and TPO; 4) stimulation with SCF, TPO and Flt3-L. Important, the strongest cytokine prestimulation cocktail used was lower than prestimulation cocktails currently used in clinical setting with the objective to limit cell differentiation. The inventors demonstrated that BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess lentiviral vector particles were able to transduce 10-20% of unstimulated human CD34+ early progenitor cells, whereas lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with VSV-G or RD114/TR (as described in international application WO2009/013324) were unable to transduce unstimulated quiescent human CD34+ early progenitor cells efficiently at the same vector doses. Furthermore a single TPO stimulation was sufficient for a transduction of human CD34+ early progenitor cells of up to 60% for BaEV/ TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vectors, while

lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with VSV-G or RD114/TR only transduced 8 to 20% of human CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitor cells under these conditions. SCF single prestimulation permitted up to 30-50% of transduction of human CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitor cells with BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudot-yped lentiviral vectors, whereas lentiviral vectors pseudot-yped with VSV-G or RD114/TR only reached transduction levels of 10% Finally, a combination of TPO and SCF or of TPO, SCF and Flt3-L prestimulation with a single BaEV/TR or BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector incubation resulted in up to 75% transduction of human CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitor cells, while lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with RD114/TR only achieved 40% of transduction.

**[0071]** Accordingly, in a preferred embodiment, the targeted hematopoietic cell is not prestimulated with at least one cytokine. In particular it is not prestimulated with SCF, TPO and/or Flt3-L.

**[0072]** In another preferred embodiment, the targeted hematopoietic cell is only prestimulated with SCF or TPO. In still another preferred embodiment, the targeted hematopoietic cell is only prestimulated with SCF and TPO.

**[0073]** As used herein, the term "prestimulation" or "prestimulated" means that the hematopoietic cell is contacted with at least one cytokine at a concentration or for a period suitable to induce a specific activation of the hematopoietic cell.

**[0074]** As used herein, the term "fms-like tyrosine kinase receptor-3 ligand", "Flt3 ligand" or "Flt3-L" refers to a cytokine that increases the number of immune cells by activating the hematopoietic progenitors. Flt3-L is preferably human Flt3-L and more preferably comprises or consists in the sequence SEQ ID NO: 15.

#### Method for Producing a Pseudotyped Viral Vector Particle

[0075] The present invention also relates to a method for producing a pseudotyped viral vector particle comprising: [0076] a) transfecting a cell with:

- [0077] (i) at least one first nucleic acid sequence comprising a packaging competent retroviral derived genome:
- **[0078]** (ii) at least one second nucleic acid sequence comprising a cDNA encoding core proteins from said retrovirus, and
- **[0079]** (iii) at least one third nucleic acid sequence comprising a cDNA encoding:
  - [0080] a chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV) envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a murine leukemia virus (MLV) envelope glycoprotein, as defined above; or
  - **[0081]** a modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide, as defined above;
- [0082] to yield a producer cell;

**[0083]** b) maintaining the producer cell in culture for sufficient time to allow expression of the cDNAs to produce the encoded proteins; and

**[0084]** c) allowing the encoded proteins to form viral vector particles of the invention.

**[0085]** By "retrovirus" is meant a virus whose genome consists of a RNA molecule and that comprises a reverse-transcriptase, i.e. a member of the Retroviridae family. Ret-

roviruses are divided into Oncovirus, Lentivirus and Spumavirus. Preferably said retrovirus is an oncovirus, e.g. MLV, ALV, RSV, or MPMV, a lentivirus, e.g. HIV-1, HIV-2, SIV, EIAV, or CAEV, or a spumavirus such as HFV. Genomes of these retroviruses are readily available in databanks. More preferably said retrovirus is a lentivirus, in particular HIV-1, HIV-2 or SIV.

**[0086]** In the context of the invention "a nucleic sequence comprising a packaging competent retrovirus-derived genome" is intended for a sequence that comprises the retroviral nucleic acid sequences known as "cis-acting" sequences. These include the Long Terminal Repeats (LTRs) for the control of transcription and integration, the psi sequence necessary for encapsidation, and the Primer Binding site (PBS) and polypurine track (PPT) sequences necessary for reverse transcription of the retroviral genome. Advantageously, said nucleic acid sequence comprising a packaging competent retrovirus-derived genome further comprises a transgene.

**[0087]** Said retroviral genome may be replication-defective or replication-competent, in the absence of any trans-complementing function. A replication-competent genome would further comprise the gag, pol, and env retroviral genes. In a replication-defective genome, the viral genes gag, pol, and env are deleted. However, assembly of the viral vector particles of the invention may be achieved by providing in trans another plasmid that encodes gag, pol and/or env glycoprotein but that is defective for the "cis" sequences. Their expression allows the encapsidation of the transgene, excluding the genes necessary for the multiplication of the viral genome and for the formation of complete viral particles.

**[0088]** The "core protein from a retrovirus" refers to proteins encoded by the gag and pol genes. The gag gene encodes a polyprotein which is further processed by the retroviral protease into structural proteins that comprise the core. The pol gene encodes the retroviral protease, reverse-transcriptase, and integrase.

**[0089]** For the purpose of transfection, said first, second and third nucleic acid sequences may be carried on a same vector, or on two or three separated vectors. Generally, one plasmid encodes the core retroviral component of the viral vector particle. The origin of the gag and pol genes gives its name to the viral vector particle. For instance the expression "HIV-1-derived vector particle" usually indicates that the gag and pol genes of the vector particle are those of HIV-1.

**[0090]** The term "transfection" means the introduction of a foreign nucleic acid (DNA, cDNA or RNA) into a cell so that the host cell will express the introduced gene or sequence to produce a desired substance, typically a protein coded by the introduced gene or sequence. The introduced gene may include regulatory or control sequences, such as start, stop, promoter, signal, secretion, or other sequences used by a cell's genetic machinery. A host cell that receives and expresses introduced DNA or RNA has been "transfected".

**[0091]** For the production of vector particles, one may employ any cell that is compatible with the expression of lentiviral Gag and Pol genes, or any cell that can be engineered to support such expression. For example, producer cells such as 293T cells and insect cells (in particular for HIV derived vectors), TE 671 and HT1080 cells (in particular for MLV derived vectors) may be used.

## Therapeutical Applications

**[0092]** The present invention also relates to a medicament comprising a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above as active ingredient, in particular a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above further comprising a biological material which is preferably one or more nucleic acids.

**[0093]** It also relates to a pharmaceutical composition comprising a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above, in particular a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above further comprising a biological material which is preferably one or more nucleic acids, and a pharmaceutically acceptable carrier.

**[0094]** The present invention also concerns a method for treating a subject in need thereof comprising administering a therapeutically effective amount of a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above, in particular a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above further comprising a biological material which is preferably one or more nucleic acids, to the subject in need thereof.

**[0095]** In the context of the present invention, a "subject" denotes a human or non-human mammal, such as a rodent (rat, mouse, rabbit), a primate (chimpanzee), a feline (cat), a canine (dog). Preferably, the subject is human.

**[0096]** As used herein, the term "pharmaceutically acceptable carrier" refers to a carrier that may be administered to a patient, together with a viral vector of this invention, and does not destroy the pharmacological activity thereof and is non-toxic when administered in doses sufficient to deliver a pharmaceutically effective amount of the viral vector.

[0097] Pharmaceutically acceptable carriers and vehicles that may be used in the pharmaceutical compositions of this invention include, but are not limited to, ion exchangers, alumina, aluminium stearate, lecithin, self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS) such as d-a-tocopherol polyethyleneglycol 1000 succinate, surfactants used in pharmaceutical dosage forms such as Tweens or other similar polymeric delivery matrices, serum proteins, such as human serum albumin, buffer substances such as phosphates, glycine, sorbic acid, potassium sorbate, partial glyceride mixtures of saturated vegetable fatty acids, water, salts or electrolytes, such as protamine sulfate, disodium hydrogen phosphate, potassium hydrogen phosphate, sodium chloride, zinc salts, colloidal silica, magnesium trisilicate, polyvinyl pyrrolidone, cellulose-based substances, polyethylene glycol, sodium carboxymethylcellulose, polyacrylates, waxes, polyethylenepolyoxypropylene-block polymers, polyethylene glycol and wool fat. Cyclodextrins such as  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -, and  $\gamma$ -cyclodextrin, or chemically modified derivatives such as hydroxyalkylcyclodextrins, including 2- and 3-hydroxypropyl-\beta-cyclodextrins, or other solubilized derivatives may also be advantageously used to enhance delivery of compositions according to the invention.

**[0098]** Any suitable method of administration known from one skilled in the art may be used. In particular, the pseudotyped viral vector particle according to the invention may be administered for example by the oral route or by the parenteral route (in particular by intravenous injection and intra-femur (bone marrow cavity) injection). When the parenteral route is selected, the pseudotyped viral vector particles may be in the form of injectable solutions and suspensions, conditioned in ampoules or flasks. The forms for parenteral delivery are conventionally obtained by mixing the pseudotyped viral vector particles according to the invention with buffers, stabilizers, preservatives, solubilizing agents, isotonic agents and slurrying agents. According to known techniques, these mixtures can then be sterilized and conditioned in the form of intravenous injections. One of skill in the art may use organic phosphate salts-based buffers as buffer. Examples of slurrying agents include methylcellulose, acacia and sodium carboxymethylcellulose. Examples of stabilizers include sodium sulphite and sodium metasulphite, and examples of preservatives include sodium p-hydroxybenzoate, sorbic acid, cresol and chlorocresol.

**[0099]** A "therapeutically effective amount" refers to a quantity of a viral vector that confers a therapeutic effect on the treated subject. The therapeutic effect may be objective (i.e., measurable by some test or marker) or subjective (i.e., subject gives an indication of or feels an effect). As known from the skilled person, effective doses will vary depending on route of administration, the size and/or weight of the subject, as well as the possibility of co-usage with other agents.

**[0100]** Where the pseudotyped viral vector particle is used as a medicament and is administered to a subject in a therapeutic method, administration through the intravenous route or by the medullar route, in particular the femur or humerus medullar route, is preferred. For intravenous administration a unit dose from about  $5 \cdot 10^8$  to about  $10^9$  pseudotyped viral vector particles as defined above can be used, whereas for medullar administration a unit dose from about  $10^8$  to about  $5 \cdot 10^8$  pseudotyped viral vector particles as defined above can be used.

**[0101]** In a particular embodiment, the pseudotyped viral vector particle of the invention is for use in the treatment of a hematopoietic disorder or an autoimmune disease.

**[0102]** The present invention also relates to the use of a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above for the manufacture of medicament intended for the treatment of a hematopoietic disorder or an autoimmune disease. It also relates to a method for treating a hematopoietic disorder or an autoimmune disease, in a subject comprising administering a therapeutically efficient amount of a pseudotyped viral vector particle of the invention in a subject in need thereof.

**[0103]** As used herein, the expression "hematopoietic disorder" refers to a blood disease, in particular a disease involving hematopoietic cells. Preferably, said hematopoietic disorder is a monogenic hematopoietic disease.

**[0104]** As used herein, the expression "monogenic hematopoietic disease" refers to a genetic hematopoietic disease, which is due to the mutation of a single gene.

[0105] Examples of hematopoietic disorders include myelodysplasia, aplastic anemia, Fanconi anemia, paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria, Sickle cell disease, Diamond Blackfan anemia, Schachman Diamond disorder, Kostmann's syndrome, chronic granulomatous disease, adrenoleukodystrophy, leukocyte adhesion deficiency, hemophilia, thalassemia, beta-thalassemia, leukaemia such as acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL), acute myelogenous (myeloid) leukemia (AML), adult lymphoblastic leukaemia, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL), chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), juvenile chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML), and juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia (JMML), severe combined immunodeficiency disease (SCID), X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency, Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome (WAS), adenosine-deaminase (ADA) deficiency, chronic granulomatous disease, Chediak-Higashi syndrome, Hodgkin's lymphoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) and AIDS.

**[0106]** Preferably, the hematopoietic disorder is selected from the group consisting of Fanconi anemia, hemophilia, beta-thallasemia, Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome, X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency, adenosine-deaminase deficiency, chronic granulomatous disease and adrenoleukodystrophy.

**[0107]** As used herein, the expression "autoimmune disease" refers to a disease due to an overactive immune response of the body against substances and tissues normally present in the body. Accordingly, by specifically targeting immune (hematopoietic) cells involved in this overactive immune response, the vector particles of the invention could be useful tools in the treatment of autoimmune diseases.

[0108] Autoimmune diseases include in particular acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, acute hemorrhagic leukoencephalitis, Addison's disease, Agammaglobulinemia, Alopecia areata, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, ankylosing spondylitis, antiphospholipid syndrome, antisynthetase syndrome, atopic allergy, autoimmune aplastic anemia, autoimmune cardiomyopathy, autoimmune enteropathy, autoimmune hemolytic anemia, autoimmune hepatitis, autoimmune inner ear disease, autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome, autoimmune peripheral neuropathy, autoimmune pancreatitis, autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome, autoimmune progesterone dermatitis, autoimmune thrombocytopenic purpura, autoimmune urticaria, autoimmune uveitis, Balo disease, Balo concentric sclerosis, Bechets syndrome, Berger's disease, Bickerstaff's encephalitis, Blau syndrome, bullous pemphigoid, cancer, Castleman's disease, celiac disease, chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy, chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis, Churg-Strauss syndrome, cicatricial pemphigoid, Cogan syndrome, cold agglutinin disease, complement component 2 deficiency, cranial arteritis, CREST syndrome, Crohn's disease, Cushing's syndrome, cutaneous leukocytoclastic angiitis, Dego's disease, Dercum's disease, dermatitis herpetiformis, dermatomyositis, diabetes mellitus type 1, diffuse cutaneous systemic sclerosis, Dressler's syndrome, discoid lupus erythematosus, eczema, enthesitis-related arthritis, eosinophilic fasciitis, eosinophilic gastroenteritis, epidermolysis bullosa acquisita, erythema nodosum, essential mixed cryoglobulinemia, Evan's syndrome, firodysplasia ossificans progressiva, fibrosing aveolitis, gastritis, gastrointestinal pemphigoid, giant cell arteritis, glomerulonephritis, goodpasture's syndrome, Grave's disease, Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS), Hashimoto's encephalitis, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, hemolytic anaemia, Henoch-Schonlein purpura, herpes gestationis, hypogammaglobulinemia, idiopathic inflammatory demyelinating disease, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura, IgA nephropathy, inclusion body myositis, inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy, interstitial cystitis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis, juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, Kawasaki's disease, Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, lichen planus, lichen sclerosus, linear IgA disease (LAD), Lou Gehrig's disease, lupoid hepatitis, lupus erythematosus, Majeed syndrome, Ménière's disease, microscopic polyangiitis, Miller-Fisher syndrome, mixed connective tissue disease, morphea, Mucha-Habermann disease, multiple sclerosis, myasthenia gravis, myositis, neuropyelitis optica, neuromyotonia, ocular cicatricial pemphigoid, opsoclonus myoclonus syndrome, ord thyroiditis, palindromic rheumatism, paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration, paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria (PNH), Parry Romberg syndrome, Parsonnage-Turner syndrome, pars planitis, pemphigus, pempermicious phigus vulgaris, anemia. perivenous encephalomyelitis, POEMS syndrome, polyarteritis nodosa, polymyalgia rheumatica, polymyositis, primary biliary cirrhosis, primary sclerosing cholangitis, progressive inflammatory neuropathy, psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, pure red cell aplasia, Rasmussen's encephalitis, Raynaud phenomenon, relapsing polychondritis, Reiter's syndrome, restless leg syndrome, retroperitoneal fibrosis, rheumatoid arthritis, rheumatoid fever, sarcoidosis, Schmidt syndrome, Schnitzler syndrome, scleritis, scleroderma, Sjögren's syndrome, spondylarthropathy, Still's disease, stiff person syndrome, subacute bacterial endocarditis, Susac's syndrome, Sweet's syndrome, Sydenham chorea, sympathetic ophthalmia, Takayasu's arteritis, temporal arteritis, Tolosa-Hunt syndrome, transverse myelitis, ulcerative colitis, undifferentiated connective tissue disease, undifferentiated spondylarthropathy, vasculitis, vitiligo and Wegener's granulomatosis.

**[0109]** Preferably, the autoimmune disease is selected from cancer, diabetes, hemophilia, uveitis and encephalomyelitis.

**[0110]** As used herein, the term "cancer" encompasses any type of cancer but preferably includes cancers arising from hematopoietic cells, including leukemia, in particular B-CLL, CML or T cell based leukemia such as ALT, as well as melanoma.

#### Transducing Methods

**[0111]** The present invention also relates to the use of a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above, for transferring a biological material as defined in the section "Biological material" above, into hematopoietic cells as defined in the section "Hematopoietic cells" above, ex vivo.

**[0112]** Another object of the invention concerns a method for transducing a hematopoietic cell as defined in the section "Hematopoietic cells" above, comprising contacting the hematopoietic cell with a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above under conditions to effect the transduction of the hematopoietic cell by the pseudotyped viral vector particle.

**[0113]** As intended herein "transferring" or "transducing" relates to the capacity of the viral vector particle to initially deliver the biological material to the membrane or the cytoplasm of the target cell, upon being bound to the target cell. After delivery, the biological material can be translocated to other compartment of the cell.

**[0114]** Conditions to effect the transduction of the targeted cells are well-known from the skilled person and include typically incubating the cells to be transduced, preferably cultured in flasks, plates or dishes coated with retronectin, and optionally prestimulated with cytokine cocktails, with the pseudotyped viral vector particles of the invention, preferably at an MOI of 1, 5, 10 or 100, preferably in serum-free medium.

#### Packaging Cell Line

**[0115]** The invention also concerns a stable virus packaging cell line producing the pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined above, preferable producing the pseudotyped viral vector particle comprises at least a chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a BaEV envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a MLV envelope glycoprotein.

[0116] Indeed, the inventors demonstrated that the BaEV/ TR glycoprotein was not cytotoxic to the 293T producer cells. [0117] In the context of the invention, a stable virus packaging cell line refers to a cell line which stably expresses the different components of the pseudotyped viral vector particle of the invention. Typically, the nucleic acids encoding the different components of the pseudotyped viral vector particle of the invention are integrated in the genome of the cell line. [0118] In particular such stable virus packaging cell line may be any cell that is compatible with the expression of lentiviral Gag and Pol genes, or any cell that can be engineered to support such expression. For example, they can be 293T cells, and insect cells (in particular for HIV derived vectors), TE 671 and HT1080 cells (in particular for MLV derived vectors) may be used.

**[0119]** The present invention will be further illustrated by the following figures and example.

#### BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE FIGURES

**[0120]** FIG. **1** shows schematic representation of the BaEV wild-type glycoprotein, the RD114/TR and BaEV/TR chimeric glycoproteins and the BaEVRLess glycoprotein. The cytoplasmic domain of RD114 and BaEV wild-type glycoprotein was exchanged for the one of the MLV-A glycoprotein resulting in the chimeric RD114/TR and BaEV/TR glycoproteins respectively. The R peptide of the cytoplasmic tail of BaEV wild-type glycoprotein was deleted resulting in a BaEVRLess mutant glycoprotein.

**[0121]** FIG. **2** shows histograms representing the titers of the different pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles (VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEVwt (3), BaEV/TR (4) and BaEVR-Less (5) pseudotyped) coding for the GFP marker gene obtained by infection of HEK293T cells with serial dilutions of concentrated vector preparations. The percentage of GFP cells was determined by cytometry 3 days after infection. Infectious titers were calculated as GFP infectious units (IU)/ml. Averages are showed (n=7) except for BaEVwt (n=3).

**[0122]** FIG. **3** shows histograms representing the relative percentage of transduction of HEK293T cells by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudot-yped lentiviral vector particles which were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$  C. for 1 hour in heat inactivated human sera (white bars; the serum was heat-inactivated at  $56^{\circ}$  C. before incubation with the vectors to inactivate the complement where fresh serum contains active complement) or in fresh human sera (black bars) relative to the transduction of the same virions incubated in FCS. The values of vector incubations with sera of 3 different donors (A, B and C) are shown.

**[0123]** FIG. **4** shows histograms representing the percentage of transduction of unstimulated (white bars), SCF prestimulated (dashed bars), TPO prestimulated (vertical hatched bars), SCF+TPO prestimulated (horizontal hatched bars) or SCF+TPO+Flt3-L prestimulated (black bars) human CD34<sup>+</sup> cells by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOI of 10. Analysis for GFP expressing cells was performed 6 days after transduction.

**[0124]** FIG. **5** shows graphs representing the percentage of transduction of SCF/TPO prestimulated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells by VSV-G (x), RD114/TR ( $\bullet$ ), BaEV/TR ( $\blacktriangle$ ) or BaEVRLess ( $\blacksquare$ ) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs of 1, 5,

10, 20 (and 100 for VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles). Analysis of GFP expressing cells was performed 6 days after transduction by FACS.

**[0125]** FIG. **6** shows graphs representing the percentage of transduction of SCF+TPO+Flt3-L prestimulated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells by VSV-G (x), RD114/TR ( $\odot$ ), BaEV/TR ( $\Delta$ ) or BaEVRLess ( $\blacksquare$ ) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs of 1, 5, 10, 20 (and 100 for VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles). Analysis of GFP expressing cells was performed 6 days after transduction by FACS.

**[0126]** FIG. 7 shows histograms representing the percentage of erythrocyte, granulocyte and dendritic colony forming cells (CFCs) expressing GFP after transduction of SCF+TPO prestimulated (white bars) or SCF+TPO+Flt3-L prestimulated (black bars) cord blood-derived CD34<sup>+</sup> cells by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOI of 100 for VSV-G and 10 for other pseudotypes. 3 days after transduction the cells were seeded in a medium supplied with cytokines to induce myeloid differentiation. On day 14 of culture erythrocyte, granulocyte and dendritic colony forming cells (CFCs) were scored for GFP expression by fluorescence microscopy after seeding.

[0127] FIG. 8 shows histograms representing the percentage of erythrocyte, granulocyte and dendritic colony forming cells (CFCs) expressing GFP (black bars) and of CD34+ cells expressing GFP (white bars) after transduction of SCF+TPO prestimulated cord blood-derived CD34<sup>+</sup> cells by VSV-G(1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOI of 100 for VSV-G and 10 for other pseudotypes. 3 days after transduction the cells were seeded in a medium supplied with cytokines to induce myeloid differentiation. The percentage of GFP+ CD34+ cells was determined by FACS analysis 6 days after transduction. The percentage of GFP CFCs was determined by FACS analysis 17 days after transduction. Asterisk indicates that the proportion of GFP<sup>+</sup> CD34<sup>+</sup> cells differs statistically from the proportion of GFP colonies transduced cells (Student's T test: \*: p<0.05, NS: not significant).

[0128] FIG. 9 shows histograms representing the percentage of CD45<sup>+</sup> human cells (white bards), CD34<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>-</sup> immature progenitor cells (black bars), CD34<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>+</sup> B progenitors (dashed bars), CD20<sup>+</sup> B cells (vertical hatched bars), CD13<sup>+</sup> myeloid progenitors (horizontal hatched bars), and CD14<sup>+</sup> granulocytes and monocytes (diagonal hatched bars) in bone marrow expressing GFP after transduction of SCF+TPO prestimulated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells for 48 hours with VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) and BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets. Upon irradiation of newborn Rag2-/-; yc-Balbc mice, they were injected intrahepatically with 2.10<sup>5</sup> transduced human CD34+ cells. After 12 weeks of reconstitution, the mice were analyzed for human cell engraftment (CD45) in the bone marrow and the percentages of transduction (GFP+ cells) of different hematopoietic cell were analysed by FACS as indicated.

**[0129]** FIG. **10** shows histograms representing the percentage of CD45<sup>+</sup> human cells (white bards), CD34<sup>+</sup> CD10<sup>-</sup> CD19<sup>-</sup> very immature progenitor cells (black bars), CD34<sup>+</sup> CD10<sup>+</sup> CD10<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>-</sup> B pre/pro B cells (dashed bars), CD19<sup>+</sup> CD20<sup>-</sup> preB cells (vertical hatched bars), CD34<sup>+</sup> CD10<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>+</sup> immature B cells (horizontal hatched bars), CD20<sup>+</sup> mature B cells (diagonal hatched bars) and CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells (cross-hatched bars) in spleen expressing GFP after transduc-

tion of SCF/TPO prestimulated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells for 48 hours with VSV-G, RD114/TR, BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets. Upon irradiation of newborn Rag2<sup>-/-</sup>;  $\gamma c^{-/-}$  Balbc mice, they were injected intrahepatically with 2·10<sup>5</sup> transduced human CD34<sup>+</sup> cells. After 12 weeks of reconstitution, the mice were analyzed for human cell engraftment (CD45) in the spleen and the percentages of transduction (GFP<sup>+</sup> cells) of different hematopoietic cell were analysed by FACS as indicated.

**[0130]** FIG. **11** shows histograms representing the relative percentage of transduction of macaques bone marrow CD34<sup>+</sup> cells by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaE-VRLess (4) pseudotyped SIV vector particles which were incubated at 37° C. for 1 hour in heat inactivated macaque sera (white bars; the serum was heat-inactivated at 56° C. before incubation with the vectors to inactivate the complement where fresh serum contains active complement) or in fresh macaque sera (black bars) relative to the transduction of the same virions incubated in FCS. The values of vector incubations with sera of 2 different macaques (A and B) are shown.

**[0131]** FIG. **12** shows histograms representing the percentage of SCF+Flt3-L+IL-3+IL-6 prestimulated cynomolgus macaque bone marrow CD34<sup>+</sup> cells expressing GFP after transduction, in presence of retronectin, by VSV-G (1), BaEV/TR (2) or BaEVRLess (3) pseudotyped SIV vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets.

**[0132]** FIG. **13** shows histograms representing the percentage of SCF+Flt3-L+IL-3+IL-6 prestimulated rhesus macaque bone marrow CD34<sup>+</sup> cells expressing GFP after transduction, in presence of retronectin, by VSV-G (1), BaEV/TR (2) or BaEVRLess (3) pseudotyped SIV vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets.

**[0133]** FIG. **14** shows histograms representing the percentage of IL-7 prestimulated T cells expressing GFP after transduction, in presence of retronectin (black bars) or not (white bars), by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaE-VRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs of 10.

**[0134]** FIG. **15** shows histograms representing the percentage of IL-7 prestimulated memory T cells (white bars) and naïve T cells (black bars) expressing GFP after transduction by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets.

**[0135]** FIG. **16** shows histograms representing the percentage of TCR prestimulated T cells expressing GFP after transduction, in presence of retronectin (black bars) or not (white bars), by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaE-VRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs of 10.

[0136] FIG. 17 shows histograms representing the percentage of resting B cells expressing GFP after transduction, in presence of retronectin (black bars) or not (white bars), by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets.

**[0137]** FIG. **18** shows histograms representing the percentage of memory resting B cells (white bars) and naïve resting B cells (black bars) expressing GFP after transduction by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets.

**[0138]** FIG. **19** shows histograms representing the percentage of BCR prestimulated memory resting B cells (white bars) and naïve resting B cells (black bars) expressing GFP after transduction by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets.

**[0139]** FIG. **20** shows histograms representing the percentage of MZL B cells expressing GFP after transduction, in presence of retronectin (black bars) or not (white bars), by VSV-G (1), RD114/TR (2), BaEV/TR (3) or BaEVRLess (4) pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles at MOIs indicated into brackets.

[0140] FIG. 21A shows graphs representing the percentage of GFP+ hCD45+ cells detected by FACS after 1st and 2nd engraftments of mice. Cord blood hCD34+ cells were prestimulated with a cytokine cocktail (TPO+SCF+Flk-3L) for 16 h and transduced with BaEV/TR-LVs and BaEVRLess-LVs at an MOI=10 for 36 h. Subsequently the cells  $(2 \times 10^5)$ were injected into the liver of irradiated newborn NOD/SCID  $\gamma c$ -/- mice (NSG mice). Upon reconstitution for 8-9 weeks, the different hematopoietic tissues (bone marrow, spleen and thymus) of these primary mice engraftments (1st) were analysed for human cell engraftment by anti-hCD45 staining. The percentage of GFP+ hCD45+ cells detected by FACS is indicated for each vector type and each hematopoietic tissue. Subsequently, the hCD34+ cells were isolated from the bone marrow of each of these primary engrafted mice, and 1-2×105 isolated hCD34+ cells were injected in one or two mice following the same procedure as for the primary engraftments. 8-9 weeks upon engraftment, these secondary  $(2^{nd})$ engrafted mice were analysed for transduced human cell engraftment (hCD45+GFP+) in the bone marrow, spleen and thymus. The primary and corresponding secondary engraftments are indicated by the same symbol. FIG. 21B shows graphs representing the detection of GFP+ human B-cells (CD19+), human immature progenitor cells (CD34+) and myoloid progenitor cells (CD13+) by FACS in a bone marrow sample of a representative secondary recipient NSG mice for BaEV/TR-LV transduction.

**[0141]** FIG. **22**A shows the schematic presentation of thymocyte differentiation. HSC, hematopoietic stem cell; DN, double negative; ISP, immature CD4 single positive cells; DP, double positive; SP4, single positive CD4+; SP8, single positive CD8+; TCR, T cell receptor. FIG. **22**B shows histograms representing the percentage of freshly isolated thymocytes expressing GFP after transduction in the presence of IL-7 (20 ng/ml) with VSV-G-, RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR-, and BaEVR-Less-LVs encoding the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10. Upon multiple staining for CD3, CD4 and CD8 the transduction in the different thymocyte subpopulations were determined by FACS. FIG. **22**C shows histograms representing the distribution of the different thymocyte subpopulations upon incubation of the total thymocytes with the different vectors as compared to untransduced thymocytes.

**[0142]** FIG. **23**A shows histograms representing the percentage of freshly isolated total CB T cells expressing GFP after prestimulation with IL-7 for 48 h and subsequent transduction with the different vectors: VSV-G-, RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR-, and BaEVRLess-LVs encoding the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10 or 20, or VSV-G-LVs at an MOI of 50. At day 3 of transduction cells were stained for human surface marker: CD45RA, CD62L, CD31 and the transduction efficiencies in the recent thymocyte emigrants (RA+/62L+/31+) and more mature naive CB T cells (RA+/62L+/31-) were determined by FACS analysis. FIG. **23**B shows histograms representing the distribution of the different naïve CB T cell subpopulations upon incubation of CB T cells with the different vectors as compared to untransduced T cells.

#### EXAMPLE

**[0143]** The following example demonstrates the advantageous properties of BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess pseudotyped lentiviral vector particles for use as gene transfer vehicle as compared to previous pseudotyped lentiviral vectors.

Materials and Methods

Production of Lentiviral Vectors and Titering

[0144] Self-inactivating HIV-1-derived vectors were generated by transient transfection of HEK 293T cells, a human embryo kidney cell line (American Type Culture Collection, Rockville, Md., CRL-1573). 2.6 10<sup>6</sup> HEK 293T cells were seeded onto 10-cm<sup>2</sup> tissue culture dishes 24 h before transfection. 293T cells were grown in Dulbecco modified Eagle medium (DMEM, Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS). Cells were transfected by Ca-phosphate precipitation with 8.6 µg of the Gag-Pol packaging construct 8.91 and the GFP-encoding HIV-1 derived SIN transfer vector pHIV-SFFV-GFP-SIN and either 2.5 µg of pMD.G, encoding the VSV-G glycoprotein (GP), or 7 µg of phCMV-RD114/TR, phCMV-BaEVWT, phCMV-BaEV/TR or phCMV-BaEVRLess. At 16 h post-transfection, the DMEM medium was replaced by serum-free medium (Opti-MEM, Invitrogen) and 36 h after transfection, vectors were harvested, filtrated through 0.45 µm pore-sized membrane and concentrated using an ultra-filtration concentration system (Vivaspin, Satorius; 2 h at 3000 g (4° C.)) or by low-speed concentration by centrifugation of the viral supernatant at 3000 g at 4° C. overnight or by ultracentrifugation (4° C., 25000 rpm, 2 h). Subsequently, vectors were stored at -80° C. To determine transduction efficiency and infectious titers of HIV vectors, serial dilutions of vector preparations were added to 293T cells and percentage of GFP cells was determined by flow cytometry 3 days after transduction. The infectious titers are expressed as infectious vector particles per milliliter (Infectious unit IU/mL). Multiplicities of infection (MOIs) were determined on proliferating 293T cells and are indicated in all transduction experiments.

Stability of Pseudotyped Vectors in Human or Macaque Serum.

**[0145]** Infectious pseudotyped HIV or SIV-vector particles (150000 GFP infectious units in 50  $\mu$ l suspension buffer) were mixed with 50  $\mu$ l heat inactivated or fresh human sera. As a reference, virions were incubated at 37° C. for 1 h and then used to transduce HEK293T target cells. The relative percentage of transduction of human sera-incubated virions to the transduction of the same virions incubated in FCS was calculated.

Sample Collection and Isolation of Human CD34+ Cells

**[0146]** Umbilical cord blood (CB) samples from full-term pregnancies were collected in sterile tubes containing anticoagulant (SIGMA) after informed consent according to the Helsinki declaration. Low-density PBMC cells were separated by centrifugation over a Lymphoprep cushion (Axis shield). CD34<sup>+</sup> stem/progenitor cells were purified from the mononuclear cell fraction with a CD34 magnetic isolation kit (Miltenyi MACS, Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Purity of the selected CD34<sup>+</sup> fraction was assessed by FACS analysis with an APC-conjugated anti-CD34 antibody (BD Pharmingen) and exceeded 95% for all experiments. Subsequently, CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were frozen in FCS (Fetal calf serum, Lonza), 10% DMSO and stored at -80° C.

T Cell and B Cell Isolation and Lentiviral Transduction

[0147] Adult peripheral blood samples, obtained from healthy adult donors after informed consent, were collected in acid citrate dextrose (ACD) containing tubes. CD3+ T-cells and CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells were purified by negative selection using the Rosette tetrameric complex system (StemSep Technologies, Vancouver, Canada). Purity of isolated B- and T-cells was monitored using anti-hCD19APC and anti-hCD3APC antibodies, respectively, and was analyzed by fluorescenceactivated cell sorting (FACScalibur; BD). T and B lymphocytes were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (GibcoBRL Invitrogen, Auckland, New Zealand) supplemented with 10% FCS and penicillin/streptomycin. T cells were prestimulated with anti-CD3+anti-CD28 antibodies (1 µg/ml) in presence of hIL-2 (1 ng/ml) or were pre-stimulated for 3 days with rIL-7 as described in Verhoeyen et al. (2003) Blood 101:2167-2174 (10 ng/ml; BDBiosciences, Le Pont de Claix, France). B cells were immediately seeded for transduction or pre-stimulated with Staphylococcus Aureus Cowan (SAC; 0.001%; Calbiochem, San Diego, Calif.)+IL-2 (1 ng/ml; SIGMA) as described in Levy et al. (2010) Blood 116:498-500. Briefly, 1E5 cells were seeded in 48-well-plates and concentrated vector was added at indicated doses. The percentage of GFP+ cells was determined by FACS 72 h post-transduction. Transduced T-cell cultures were continued in RPMI supplemented with rhIL-7, replenished every 3 days and harvested for FACS analyses, qPCR and Alu-PCR. B-cells were transferred to MS5 cell monolayer in RPMI supplemented with 10% AB serum, 5% FCS, 50 ng/ml rhSCF, 10 ng/ml rhIL-15 and 5 ng/ml rhIL-2 and medium was refreshed every 4 days.

Isolation of Macaque Bone Marrow CD34+-Cells

**[0148]** Adult male cynomolgus macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*) 3-4.5 kg were imported from Mauritius and housed in single cages within level 2 biosafety animal facilities (CEA, Fontenay-aux Roses), in accordance with national guidelines. All experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with European guidelines for animal care. Studies were conducted under protocols approved by the regional committee for animal experimentation. All procedures and blood samplings were performed after animals had been anesthetized with ketamine 10 mg/kg (Imalgène 1000).

**[0149]** Bone marrow mononuclear cells were obtained from the humeri and iliac crest by aspiration and isolated by standard Ficoll density-gradient centrifugation. Cells were washed twice in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and resuspended in PBS/1% FCS. The fraction was then enriched in CD34<sup>+</sup> cells by positive immunomagnetic selection (clone 561; Dynabeads M-450 CD34; Dynal) accordingly to the manufacturer's instructions. Following immunoselection, the CD34<sup>+</sup> cell purified fraction was stained using an anti-CD34 monoclonal antibody (clone 563, BD-Pharmingen). Purity of the CD34<sup>+</sup> selected cells ranged from 85-95%.

## Transduction of Human and Macaque HSCs.

[0150] Human and macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were incubated overnight in 24-well plates in serum-free medium (CellGro, CellGenix) supplemented with antibiotics (PENSTREP, Invitrogen) and with human recombinant cytokines (as indicated): stem cell factor (rSCF, 100 ng/ml), Thrombopoietin (TPO, 20 ng/ml) and Flt3 ligand (Flt3-L, 100 ng/ml) (Preprotech) for human CB CD34<sup>+</sup> cells. For cynomolgus macaque bone marrow CD34+ cells, human recombinant interleukin (IL-6) (20 ng/ml) and interleukin (IL-3) (20 ng/ml) (Preprotech) were added to the previous cocktail. 5.10<sup>4</sup> prestimulated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were transduced in 48-well plates with concentrated lentiviral vector supernatant at MOIs of 1, 5, 10, 20 or 100 (as indicated) in serum-free medium (CellGro, CellGenix). Where indicated, transductions were performed on retronectin coated plates (recombinant human fibronectin fragment CH-296) (Takara). On day 3 after transduction, cells were replenished with cytokines. After 3 and 6 days of transduction, percentage of GFP+ cells was determined by flow cytometry.

#### Clonogenic Assay of CD34<sup>+</sup> Cells

**[0151]** CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were transduced as described herein above, washed in PBS (Invitrogen) and plated at a density of 1000 cells/ml in complete methylcellulose medium (1% methylcellulose, 15% FBS, 1% BSA, bovine pancreatic insulin [1  $\mu$ g/ml], iron-saturated transferrin [200 mg/ml], 10-4 M 2-mercaptoethanol, 2 mM L-glutamine, SCF [50 ng/ml], IL-3 [10 ng/ml], IL-6 [10 ng/ml], erythropoietin [3 U/ml]) (Stem Cell technologies). GFP<sup>+</sup> colonies were scored by light and fluorescence microscopy 14 days after seeding.

#### Western Blot Analysis

**[0152]** BaEVwt, BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped LVs were purified over a sucrose-cushion by ultracentrifugation (2 h, 25000 rpm,  $4^{\circ}$  C.) and were frozen after resuspension in PBS. The upper part of the membrane was stained with antibodies against the surface domain of BaEV glycoprotein, the lower part of the membrane was stained with antibodies against the p24 HIV-1 capsid to assess equivalent loading of purified vectors. The positions of the BaEV mutant glycoproteins and the HIV capsid were indicated.

#### Animals

**[0153]** BALB/c Rag2<sup>-/-</sup>,  $\gamma c^{-/-}$  immunodeficient mice were obtained from Dr Mamoro Ito, and Taconic (CIEA, Kawasaki, Japan). All mice used were housed in the animal facility of the Ecole Normale Superieure de Lyon, France (PBES). The animals were kept the whole time of the experiment under sterile conditions and all experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines of the Institutional animals care upon approval of protocols by the local ethical committee.

Conditioning and Reconstitution of Balb-c Rag2^-'-,  $\gamma c^{-\prime-}$  Mice

**[0154]** The 2- to 4-day-old newborn BALB/c Rag2<sup>-/-</sup>,  $\gamma c^{-/-}$  mice were subjected to a sublethal irradiation of 2×1.5Gy. For evaluation of reconstitution/differentiation capacity of transduced hCB-CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, the latter cells were transduced at an MOI of 10 with BaEV/TR-, BaEVRLess-, RD114/TR-, VSV-G-LVs and 48 h after transduction, 2.10<sup>5</sup> cells were injected intra-hepatically into newborn mice. At 10-12 weeks of

human cell engraftment, peripheral blood was taken from the facial vein to check the reconstitution efficiency by analyzing the percentage of human engraftment (hCD45<sup>+</sup> cells) by FACS.

#### FACS Analysis

**[0155]** The mice were sacrificed at 10-12 weeks of human cell engraftment in agreement with bioethical procedures and all hematopoietic tissues were harvested. Subsequently the cells from bone marrow, spleen, thymus and peripheral blood were extracted. For the detection of LV transduction of the engrafted cells, flow cytometry analysis was performed using APC-coupled anti-hCD45 antibody for the detection of total human cell engraftment in the bone marrow. APC-coupled antibodies (BD Pharmingen) were used for the detection of hCD19 (B cells), hCD34 (early progenitor cells) and hCD13 (myeloid progenitors).

#### Results

The Mutant BaEV/TR Glycoprotein and BaEVRLess Glycoprotein can Pseudotype HIV-1 Vector Efficiently

**[0156]** The BaEV/TR chimeric glycoprotein was engineered by the inventors by exchange of its cytoplasmic domain for the one of the MLV-A glycoprotein (FIG. 1). A second mutant was engineered by the deletion of the fusion inhibitory R peptide from the carboxy-terminal cytosolic domain resulting in BaEVRLess glycoprotein (FIG. 1). The inventors compared these different mutant BaEV glycoproteins in their ability to pseudotype lentiviral vectors derived from HIV-1 to VSV-G and RD114/TR glycoproteins.

[0157] RD114/TR, BaEV/TR, BaEVRLess and VSV-G pseudotyped HIV vectors were generated by transient transfection in HEK293T cells together with the gagpol packaging and HIV vector encoding for GFP. The vector supernatants were concentrated by low speed or ultracentrifugation (100fold). Infections assays on HEK293T cells indicated that titers higher than 1.107 IU/ml were obtained for BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped LVs resulting in a 40-fold titer increase as compared to BaEVwt-LVs. RD114/TR and VSV-G pseudotyped vectors gave titers of 6 107 IU/ml and  $1.10^9$  IU/ml (FIG. 2). The immunoblot confirmed a lower incorporation of the BaEVwt glycoprotein on the lentiviral vector surface as compared to BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess glycoproteins at equal amount of HIV-1 capsid. These data were in agreement with the increase in titers obtained for BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped LVs as compared to BaEVwt-LVs.

**[0158]** Infectious titers of BaEV mutant glycoproteins pseudotyped LVs (BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess) were similar to the ones of RD114/TR-LVs and were therefore further considered for transduction of human CD34<sup>+</sup> early progenitor cells and T and B cells.

Stability of BaEV Mutant Pseudotyped Vectors and Resistance to Human Serum Inactivation

**[0159]** In view of clinical in vivo application, BaEV mutant pseudotyped LVs must resist to the human complement system. This stability was determined by comparing infectious titers of LVs incubated in human sera 1 hour at 56° C. Heat is reported to destroy human complement, so heat inactivated human sera were used as control. Residual infectious titers obtained were reported to the infectivity of LVs incubated

with fetal calf serum (100%) (FIG. **3**). As expected the VSV-G pseudotyped LVs were inactivated by the 3 different human sera. BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped LVs remained stable in presence of complement containing sera since no reduction in transduction efficiency was detected upon incubation in the presence of human complement for the three different donors. Thus, the inventors concluded that BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess LVs were resistant to the human complement system to the same extent as RD114/TR-LVs. The stability of BaEV mutant pseudotyped LVs in human serum makes them better candidates than VSV-G LV pseudotypes for in vivo applications.

BaEV Pseudotyped LVs are Highly Superior Over VSV-Gand RD114/TR-LVs for the Transduction of Human CD34<sup>+</sup> Cells

[0160] Both BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped LVs bind to hASCT1 and hASCT2 on the cell membrane of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells while the RD114/TR LVs only bind to hASCT2. It was described previously that RD114/TR-LVs can only transduce hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells efficiently in the presence of retronectin. Indeed, retronectin is a fragment of fibronectin that is reported to allow binding of both cells and vectors and therefore increases transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells. To evaluate the role of retronectin in BaEV pseudotyped LVs transduction, the inventors initially prestimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells with a strong cytokine cocktail (rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L) and transduced them with VSV-G, RD114/TR, BaEV/TR, BaEVR-Less pseudotyped LVs at a MOI of 10 in wells coated or not with retronectin. The inventors observed that, in the presence of retronectin, both BaEV-LVs transduced hCD34+ cells at more than 70%.

**[0161]** As mentioned above, a strong stimulation with a cytokine cocktail will induce HSCs into differentiation and their loss of self renewal capacity. Indeed, the less the cells are prestimulated, the less they differentiate and the more they keep their 'stem cell' character. Moreover, the stronger the cytokine stimulation the higher the risk is that multiple vector integrations per cell will occur at high vector doses. This might increase the risk of genotoxicity in gene therapy applications. Therefore, the inventors tested if BaEV pseudotyped LVs could transduce efficiently hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells after a low cytokine prestimulation combined with low vector doses.

[0162] Firstly, they applied vectors at a fixed MOI (number of infectious particles per cells) of 10 and different cytokine prestimulation protocols for hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells (FIG. 4): 1) no stimulation; 2) stimulation with a single cytokine: rSCF or rTPO; 3) rSCF and rTPO; 4) rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L Importantly, the strongest cytokine pre-stimulation used here was lower than stimulation cocktails currently used in clinical setting with the objective to limit cell differentiation. The inventors observed that a single TPO stimulation was sufficient for a transduction of hCD34+ cells up to 60% for BaEV pseudotyped LVs, while VSV-G-LVs and RD114/TR-LVs transduced only 8-20% hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells upon TPO stimulation. SCF single prestimulation permitted up to 30-50% hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction while VSV-G-LVs and RD114/TR-LVs did only reach transduction levels of 10%. A combination of TPO+SCF or TPO+SCF+FLK-3 prestimulation with a single BaEV-LV incubation resulted in up to 75% hCD34+ cell transduction, while RD114/TR-LVs achieved not more than 40% of transduction. Concluding, for all the different cytokine prestimulation protocols BaEV LV pseudotypes outperformed VSV-G- and RD114/TR-LVs for hCD34+ cell transduction. Moreover, results obtained on unstimulated cells indicated that  ${\rm BaEV/TR}$  LVs and  ${\rm BaEVRLess}$  LVs were able to transduce 10-20% of unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells in the presence of retronectin. In contrast, VSV-G- and RD114/TR  $\,$ LVs were unable to transduce unstimulated quiescent hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells efficiently at the same vector doses (MOI=10). [0163] Secondly, the risk of insertional mutagenesis must be avoided to limit gene therapy side effects. Therefore, the inventors decreased the vector dose in order to limit multicopy integrations. Different MOIs were tested under rSCF+ rTPO and rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L stimulations (FIGS. 5 and 6). BaEV/TR pseudotyped LVs transduced notably better hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells at low vector doses reaching 60% (rSCF+ rTPO) and 70% (rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L) at a MOI of 5. BaE-VRLess-LVs were highly superior over the RD114/TR-LVs at a MOI of 5. VSV-G LVs, remained at low vector doses (MOI 5-10) much less efficient. Only at an MOI of 100 these VSV-G-LVs allowed efficient transduction of hCD34+ cells, a vector dose currently used for clinical gene therapy trials. But the VSV-G-LV transduction rate remained far below that of BaEV-LV (VSV-G-LVs (MOI of 100)=50-60% and BaEV-LVs (MOI 20)=75-90%; FIGS. 5 and 6). Under the higher stimulation condition, the inventors noted that BaEV/TR-, BaEVRLess-LVs and RD114/TR-LVs reached a plateau at a MOI of 10 for BaEV/TR-LVs and RD114/TR LVs (75% and 50% of transduction respectively). Consequently, incubation with low vector doses of BaEV LVs inferior or equal to 10 were sufficient to transduce hCD34+ cells very efficiently and to a much higher extent than RD114/TR-LVs and VSV-G LVs. In conclusion, BaEV pseudotyped LVs and particularly BaEV/TR-LV appeared to be more effective to transduce hCD34+ cells than the currently available VSV-G-LV and RD114/TR-LV vectors. Clearly, the VSV-G-LV hCD34+ cell transduction efficiency is dependent on the cytokines stimulation cocktail while for the BaEV pseudotyped LVs this is not the case.

Low BaEV-L V Vector Doses Allow Transducing at a High Rate Short Term Progenitors.

[0164] The inventors wanted to confirm that the high hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction obtained with BaEV pseudotypes were due to stable transduction of short term progenitors. Thus, they determined the transduction efficiency of BaEV pseudotyped LVs on hematopoietic progenitors thanks to a clonogenic assay performed in a semi-solid methylcellulose medium. Cells prestimulated with rSCF+rTPO and rSCF+ rTPO+rFlt3-L were transduced with RD114/TR, BaEV/TR, BaEVRLess pseudotyped vectors at a MOI of 10 and VSV-G at a MOI of 100. The inventors chose a higher MOI for VSV-G because clinical trials currently work with a MOI of 100 for this pseudotype to transduce hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells. It thus appeared more relevant to use this high vector dose for comparison. Three days after transduction, cells were cultured in a methylcellulose medium (complemented with cytokines) which allowed their differentiation into myeloid colonies. The inventors observed after 14 days erythroblastic, granulomonocytic and mixed colonies expressing GFP or not. First, they compared the number of GFP expressing colonies for different prestimulations (FIG. 7). For all vectors tested, both stimulations gave similar results. The proportion of clonogenic progenitors transduced with both BaEV mutant pseudotyped vectors at a MOI of 10 was higher than with VSV-G ones at a MOI of 100 (BaEV/TR-LV=50-70%, BaE-VRLess-LV=45-70%, VSV-G-LV=25-50%). At the same vector dose used for BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped LVs, only 10-35% of clonogenic progenitors were transduced with RD114/TR LV pseudotypes. There was no significant difference between the proportion of RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR-, BaEVRLess LV transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> cells after a rSCF+ rTPO prestimulation and the clonogenic progenitors derived

ment of a complete human blood system since they lack T, B and NK cells.

**[0167]** After 8-10 weeks, the animals were sacrificed and the percentage of total human blood nucleated cells (CD45<sup>+</sup>) in the bone marrow was determined by FACS analysis (Table 1).

TABLE 1

BaEV/TI	R- and BaEVRI	Less-LVs :	allow effic	ient transc	luction of	SCID rep	opulating	cells
	Bone		В		Spleen	Thymus		
Pseudotype	marrow Engraftment (%)	CD45+ GFP+ (%)	CD34+ GFP+ (%)	CD19+ GFP+ (%)	CD13+ GFP+ (%)	CD14+ GFP+ (%)	CD45+ GFP+ (%)	CD45+ GFP+ (%)
VSV-G	-							
1(*) 2(*) 3(*) RD114/TR	22.1 2.2 57.3	32.0 6.8 5.7	18.3 27.7 17.7	41.0 15.5 12.5	5.7 9.6 22.3	7.7 4.0 19.2	NA NA NA	NA NA NA
1(*) 2(*) 3(*) 4(*) 5(°) 6(°) BaEV/TR	32 15.3 2.3 34.0 30.6 25.3	3.2 39.0 17.6 27.2 76.5 12.6	2.9 33.8 16.5 40.1 64.5 13.8	2.8 38.6 21.8 27.1 78.8 10.0	4 34.2 11.3 24.1 57.4 11.1	7 35.0 13.5 18.7 45.2 4.8	NA NA NA 37.0 20.5	NA NA NA 41.2 15.8
1(*) 2(*) 3(°) 4(°) BaEVRLess	23.6 21.6 27.6 36.4	36.0 69.7 92.0 59.3	41.4 78.9 91.7 40.0	39.1 68.0 89.7 59.8	37.4 73.7 82.5 68.0	56.6 68.7 72.7 33.3	NA NA 84.2 69.4	NA NA 84.3 65.5
1(*) 2(*) 4(*) 5(°) 6(°) 7(°)	23.8 10.0 17.6 64.1 52.8 89.5	33.9 56.2 70.5 55.5 52.8 87.5	35.7 70.2 64.4 51.5 56.0 83.8	38.7 66.1 76.2 56.0 46.6 86.7	35.6 59.3 67.9 56.9 61.1 83.1	38.6 65.5 67.6 59.4 60.0 83.9	NA NA 52.0 42.5 69.4	NA NA 76.9 4.1 74.8

(\*)Balbc, Rag2-/-, yc-/- mice

(°)NOD/SCID/γc-/- mice

from them indicating that hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction was stable (FIG. 8). In contrast, for VSV-G LVs, the proportion of transduced clonogenic progenitors was significantly lower than the rate of transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> cells they were derived from (FIG. 8) suggesting that VSV-G pseudotyped vectors transduced more differentiated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells or were more toxic than other vectors tested.

**[0165]** These results showed that BaEV/TR- and BaEVR-Less-LV pseudotypes stably transduced at a high rate short term repopulating progenitor cells.

BaEV Pseudotyped LVs Transduce at High Efficiency Repopulating Hematopoietic Progenitors in Immunodeficient Mice

**[0166]** To determine the transduction efficiency of both BaEV mutant pseudotyped vectors on repopulating hematopoietic progenitors, cord blood CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were prestimulated 16 h with rSCF, rTPO and FLk-3L and then transduced with RD114/TR, BaEV/TR, BaEVRLess pseudotyped vectors at a MOI of 10 or with VSV-G-pseudotyped LVs at a MOI of 100 and transplanted into sublethally irradiated immunodeficient Balbc, Rag2<sup>-/-</sup>,  $\gamma c^{-/-}$  new born mice or NOD/SCID/  $\gamma c$ -/- (NSG) mice (Table 1). Both mice models allow engraft-

[0168] A comparable high level of engraftment with human cells was detected for all transduction conditions (up to 89%, Table 1). However, overall VSV-G-LVs allowed a much lower transduction of scid repopulating cells as compared to the other vectors. For the VSV-G-LVs, the inventors detected 32% transduced hCD45<sup>+</sup> cells in the total bone marrow of mice 1 (Table 1). In bone marrow, for VSV-G pseudotyped LV used at a MOI of 100, they observed a transduction bias since a majority of pre-B and pro B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup> CD34<sup>+</sup> cells) showed 33% of transduction but early progenitors (CD34<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>-</sup>) and myeloid progenitors (CD13<sup>+</sup>) and monocytes (CD14<sup>+</sup>) showed only 5 to 8% of transduction at most (FIG. 9).

**[0169]** In contrast, for BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs detailed phenotyping showed that very early progenitor cells (CD34<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>-</sup>), as well as B-cell CD19<sup>+</sup> progenitors and myeloid progenitor CD13<sup>+</sup>-cells were transduced to the same extent since over 30% transduction for all these different cell lineages was detected (FIG. 9). Table 1 shows that BaEV/TR-LVs and BaEVRLess-LVs transduced hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells resulted in high reconstitution levels in the bone marrow and the highest transduction levels of SCID repopulating cells (up to 90% CD45+GFP+ cells) in the bone marrow. Moreover, these

high transduction levels were sustained in the primary recipient mice in all hematopoietic tissues (bone marrow, thymus and spleen Table 1). Equivalent high level transduction was detected for immature progenitors (hCD34+ cells), lymphoid cells (CD19+) and myeloid cells (CD13+ and CD14+) in the bone marrow (Table 1).

**[0170]** For RD114/TR-LVs less than 5% transduction in all the different bone marrow cell lineages was detected for mice NR1. An identical picture was found for progenitors, T and B cells and monocytes in the spleen (FIG. **10**). RD114/TR-LVs demonstrated variable transduction levels of SCID repopulating cells (ranging from 3.2-76% of GFP+ CD45+ cells, Table 1).

**[0171]** Overall, these data strongly suggested that BaEV/ TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs allowed transduction of very early progenitor repopulating cells, so-called hHSC, able to differentiate into all the different lineages in immunodeficient mice. In contrast, VSV-G LV pseudotypes did not result in equivalent transduction of the different hematopoietic lineages indicating that VSV-G-LVs transduced more differentiated progenitors and less true HSCs as compared to BaEV/ TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs.

**[0172]** To confirm that true HSC were gene modified, secondary reconstitutions of NSG mice were performed with bone marrow hCD34 cells of primary NSG mice previously reconstituted with BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LV transduced hCD34+ cells for at least 2 months.

[0173] To improve engraftment into secondary recipients the primary NSG bone marrow derived hCD34+ cells were cultured in SCF and TPO to increase or at least maintain the homing capacity of these cells. Following 16-18 h of prestimulation,  $1-2 \times 10^5$  hCD34+ cells were injected into the liver of newborn NSG mice subjected to sub-lethal irradiation. At 8-9 weeks post-transplantation, the bone marrow, spleen and thymus of the secondary recipient mice were analysed for the percentage of human CD45+ GFP+ cells (FIG. 21A). In the spleen and bone marrow the pourcentage of GFP+ hCD45+ cells was maintained or increased in the secondary recipient mice (FIG. 21A). Moreover, for both BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs high levels of GFP+ hCD34+ early progenitor, lymphoid (CD19+) and myeloid (CD13+) cells were detected in the bone marrow of these secondary recipient mice and equivalent percentages of GFP+ cells were detected in these different lineages (FIG. 21B). This indicated that the secondary reconstituting SCID repopulating cells were capable of multilineage differentiation and thus that true human HSC were genetically modified to high levels by BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs.

BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess Pseudotyped SIV Vectors Transduce Efficiently Rhesus and Cynomolgus Macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> Bone Marrow Cells.

**[0174]** Lentiviral vectors based on HIV transduce hCD34<sup>+</sup>cells very efficiently, while they transduce the corresponding cells from old world monkeys (baboons, rhesus and cynomolgus macaques) very poorly. This is attributed to restriction factors (TRIM5a) interfering at several post-entry steps of HIV in simian cells. Thus, since the cynomolgus macaque is an important animal model, the inventors switched to a SIV (Simian Immunodeficiency Virus) based LV system, previously developed by the inventors (Negre et al. (2000) *Gene Ther.* 7:1613-1623), which was not subjected to these postentry restrictions and allowed efficient transduction of macaque T-cell and CD34<sup>+</sup> cells. For all pseudotypes, they obtained similar infectious titers for SIV-derived pseudotypes as compared to HIV vectors.

**[0175]** The stability of the pseudotyped vectors in cynomolgus macaque sera was evaluated. The same quantities of pseudotyped infectious particles were mixed with fresh macaque sera and with macaque sera incubated for 1 h at 56° C. which enabled inactivating the complement system. In contrast to VSV-G LVs that were readily inactivated in fresh sera, RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LV pseudotypes remained stable upon incubation with macaque sera evaluated (FIG. **11**). This was confirmed for two independent macaque donors.

[0176] In order to evaluate the macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction, the inventors pre-stimulated cynomolgus macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells derived from bone marrow with a strong cytokine cocktail (rSCF+rTPO+rFlt3-L+rIL-3+rIL-6) during 16 h. They transduced them with VSV-G, RD114/TR, BaEV/TR, BaEVRLess pseudotyped SIV-LVs at a MOI of 10 or 20 in culture wells coated with retronectin (FIG. 12). As reported for VSV-G-LV pseudotypes, they observed that they allow low level transduction of the macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells independently of the presence of retronectin. Importantly, RD114/ TR, BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess LV pseudotypes needed retronectin to transduce macaque CD34+ cells. BaEV/TR pseudotyped SIV-LVs at an MOI of 20 transduced up to 60% of cynomolgus macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells while the BaEVRLess LVs showed up to 45% of transduction (FIG. 12). The transduction of rhesus macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells was slightly different since BaEV/TR-LVs allowed the highest transduction levels (50%) and were superior over VSV-G- and BaEVRLess-LVs in efficiency (FIG. 13).

**[0177]** These first results indicated that BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LV pseudotypes efficiently transduced cynomolgus and rhesus macaque CD34<sup>+</sup> cells which means that it is possible to evaluate these vectors for pre-clinical testing of gene therapy vectors in these primate models, which are biologically very close to humans.

BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs Allow Efficient Transduction of rIL-7 and T Cell Receptor Stimulated Human T Cells [0178] Another essential target for gene therapy is T cells. Naive T cells are 'the' gene therapy targets of interest since these are the long-living cells that when corrected might persist over years. BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs allowed efficient transduction of rIL-7 pre-stimulated human T cells and were superior over VSV-G-LVs for the same vector doses (MOI=10) in the presence of retronectin (% transduction, BaEV/TR-LV=25-43%, BaEVRLess=25-45%, VSV-G-LV=5-15%; FIG. 14). Surprisingly, the RD114/TR-LVs allowed much lower transduction efficiency of rIL-7 prestimulated T cells as compared to BaEV-LVs (RD114/TR-LV=5-15%). Moreover, the BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs allowed an efficient high transduction level of both naive and memory IL-7 prestimulated T cells (FIG. 15). Since rIL-7 is a T cell survival cytokine regulating T cell homeostasis, no naive to memory phenotypic switch is induced as compared to a T-cell receptor (TCR) stimulation which induced a switch of naive to memory T cell phenotype. Indeed, BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs allowed transduction of IL-7 stimulated T-cells without compromising their naive phenotype. This is highly relevant for many gene therapy applications.

**[0179]** Up to date the majority of the clinical trials uses TCR stimulated T cells. Of high interest, the BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs permitted up to 90% T cell gene transfer in

TCR stimulated at low vector doses (MOI=10) and thus outperformed by far VSV-G- and RD114/TR-LVs for transduction of TCR prestimulated T cells (FIG. 16).

**[0180]** Overall, the novel BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs are promising gene transfer tools for T cell gene therapy.

BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs Allow Efficient Transduction of Unstimulated and BCR Stimulated Human B Cells

**[0181]** B lymphocytes are attractive targets for gene therapy of genetic diseases associated with B-cell dysfunction. In addition, long-lasting transgene expression in B-cells is of particular interest for immunotherapy by its potential to induce specific immune activation or tolerance. Moreover, efficient delivery of genes or shRNAs for gene expression knock-down into primary human B lymphocytes would allow studying gene functions in these cells. However, primary B-cells remain very poorly transducible with VSVG-pseudot-yped LVs even when stimulated into proliferation by cross-linking of CD40 in the presence of various cytokines.

**[0182]** Since BaEV glycoprotein pseudotyped LVs were able to transduce T cells, the inventors evaluated them for gene transfer into primary human B cells.

[0183] VSV-G-LVs were unable to transduce unstimulated resting human B cells efficiently even at high vector doses (MOI=100, VSV-G-LV<5% transduction). Of interest, RD114/TR-LVs allowed only low transduction levels of up to 8% of primary resting B cells (FIG. 17). BaEV/TR-LVs and BaEVRLess-LVs permitted highly efficient transduction of 20-30% of resting B cells and thus outperformed the VSV-G-LVs and RD114/TR-LVs by far (FIG. 17, Retronectin). Upon B cell receptor (BCR) stimulation, BaEV/TR- and BaEVR-Less-LVs transduced up to 70% of the B cells while VSV-G-LV transduction efficiency did no exceed 5%. RD114/TR-LVs allowed transduction of 25% of BCR stimulated primary B cells. Of importance, BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs transduced as well memory as naive B cells efficiently in the presence of retronectin (FIGS. 18 and 19). Of interest, primary marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) B cells were efficiently transduced by BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs (up to 75%) in the presence of retronectin (FIG. 20).

**[0184]** Thus, BaEV/TR-LVs and BaEVRLess-LVs outperformed VSV-G-LVs and RD114/TR-LVs for the transduction of human healthy and cancer B cells and might be promising tools for B cell based gene and immunotherapy

BaEVgp LVs Allow High-Level Transduction of Thymocytes in Early Stages of Differentiation

**[0185]** The thymus is the primary site of T cell development and plays a key role in the induction of self-tolerance. Therefore, targeting the thymus with an antigen of interest can result in the induction of tolerance. Indeed, this has been achieved by the direct injection of soluble antigen, of viral vector harboring an antigen of interest or even of entire cells (Khoury et al. (1993) *J Exp Med.* 178:559-66, Marodon et al. (2006) *Blood* 108:2972-8, Posselt et al. (1992) *Science* 256: 1321-4). Secondly, in situ correction of a genetic immunodeficiency, ZAP-70, by intra-thymus injection of a lentiviral vector expressing the correcting gene was demonstrated (Adjali et al. (2005) *J Clin Invest.* 115:2287-95).

**[0186]** Thymocyte differentiation is a highly regulated process that occurs via the interaction with the thymic stroma cells and cytokine stimulation (FIG. **22**A). Hematopoietic

stem cells (CD34+ CD1a-) are migrating from the bone marrow to the thymus where they first gain CD1a expression and lack the expression of CD8 and CD4 markers (CD8-CD4- double negative (DN) stage; 2-5% of total thymocytes). These DN cells subsequently develop into immature CD4 single positive cells (ISP) and gain expression of the pre-T cell receptor (pre-TCR; FIG. **22**A). The appearance of the CD8 surface marker together with CD4 and maturation of the TCR is called the double positive (DP) stage of thymocyte development (80-90% of the total thymocytes). Upon selection in the thymus DP thymocytes develop into CD8+ CD4- (SP8) and CD8-CD4+ (SP4) thymocytes (FIG. **22**A).

**[0187]** Because of the potential value of thymocyte gene transfer for immune modulation, it is important to develop vectors for efficient thymocyte transduction. Therefore, the inventors evaluated the performance of BaEVgp-LVs compared to the other LV pseudotypes for the transduction of all these different thymocyte subpopulations. Upon isolation of thymocytes from a human thymus, they transduced them in the presence of the survival cytokine IL-7 with VSV-G-, RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR-, and BaEVRLess-LVs encoding for the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10. For all transduction experiments retronectin coated plates were used. Three days later we determined the transduction levels by FACS in the different thymocyte subpopulations using CD4/CD8/CD3 triple staining.

[0188] VSV-G-LVs do not allow efficient transduction of all these different subpopulations reaching between 10 and 20% of transduced cells (FIG. 22B). RD114/TR-LV, BaEV/ TR-LVs and BaEVRLess-LVs though allow preferential transduction of the thymocytes in the early stages of development (DN and ISP) while they still transduce the more mature to a lower level (FIG. 22B). As already detected for adult human T cells, BaEVgp LVs transduced all different thymocyte subpopulations more efficiently than the RD114/ TR-LVs. Moreover, transduction with the different lentiviral vector pseudotypes had no effect on the distribution of different thymocyte subpopulations (FIG. 22C). This indicates that BaEVgp-LVs are excellent tools for transduction of thymocytes and that they are especially superior over VSV-Gand RD114/TR-LVs for the transduction of the immature DN and ISP thymocyte subpopulations.

BaEVgp-LVs Allow High-Level Transduction of Cord Blood Recent Thymocyte Emigrants

**[0189]** It might be of high interest for T cell gene therapy or immunotherapy to genetically modify truly naive T cells, which are understood to be the cells persisting for the entire life-span of an individual. Therefore, the inventors focused on cord blood (CB) T cells since they are gaining importance in the context of allogenic CB transplantations. The majority of CB T cells are naive and provide the advantage that they represent a reduced risk of graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), a common side effect seen in bone marrow allogenic transplantation including allogenic adult T cells. In contrast to adult T cells, though, CB T cell exert a reduced graft-versus-leukemia effect.

**[0190]** The majority of CB T cells (70-80%) are identified by CD31, CD62L and CD45RA positive staining which is a highly immature naive T cell population and are called recent thymocyte emigrants (RTEs). Genetic modification of these cells in the context of allogenic transplantation to increase their graft-versus-leukemia effect without increasing GVHD would be beneficial (Micklethwaite et al. (2010) *Blood* 115: 2695-703). Therefore, the inventors tested several lentiviral vector pseudotypes for their transduction efficiency of CB RTEs.

[0191] To conserve the T cell naive phenotype they prestimulated freshly isolated total CB T cells with the T cell survivial cytokine, IL-7, and subsequently transduced them with the different vectors: VSV-G-, RD114/TR-, BaEV/TR-, and BaEVRLess-LVs encoding the GFP reporter at an MOI of 10 or 20, except for VSV-G-LVs for which a higher vector dose (MOI of 50) was applied. FIG. 23A shows that BaEV/ TR-, and BaEVRLess-LVs show a transduction efficiency highly superior (40-50% transduction) at an MOI=10 as compared to VSV-G or RD114/TR-LVs (FIG. 23A). Importantly, BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs reached easily 65% transduction when the vector dose was 2-fold increased (MOI=20; FIG. 23A). In all cases the naive recent thymocyte emigrants (CD69L+ CD45RA+ CD31+) were transduced to the same extent as the more mature naive CB T cells (CD69L+ CD45RA+ CD31-; FIG. 23A). Moreover, transduction had no effect on the distribution of these two naive CB T cell populations (FIG. 23B).

#### Discussion

**[0192]** In this example, the inventors described efficient pseudotyping of lentiviral vectors using a novel envelope glycoprotein BaEV derived from the Baboon endogenous virus. Two mutants of this glycoprotein: the BaEV/TR chimeric glycoprotein and the BaEVRLess glycoprotein allowed a better incorporation on the LV surface as compared to the BaEVwt glycoprotein. LVs pseudotyped by these envelopes could be produced at high titers ( $1\cdot10^7$  IU/ml). Like RD114/TR-LV pseudotypes, they were stable in human and macaque sera, which allow potential clinical perspectives for in vivo delivery of transgenes.

[0193] Regarding transduction of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells, BaEV mutant LV pseudotypes were superior to VSV-G and RD114/ TR. First, they were able to transduce hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells upon very low prestimulation protocols. Indeed, people currently use cytokine cocktails containing rSCF, rTPO, rFlt3-L and IL-3 but it was reported that the more hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells are stimulated, the more they differentiate and they lose their long term hematopoietic reconstitution capacity. Furthermore, IL-3 was thought to notably increase the CD34+ differentiation. Here, the inventors showed that BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs achieved high transduction rates of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells when they were prestimulated with rSCF, rTPO or rSCF and rTPO costimulation for a short time of 16 h. These mild cytokine stimulation protocols strongly reduced the risk of differentiation of HSCs present in the hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell population. Of high importance, these results indicated that BaEV/TR-LV pseudotypes could transduce 10-20% of unstimulated hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells while VSV-G-LVs and RD114/TR-LVs remained inefficient. Thus, since no cytokine stimulation is needed to achieve efficient hCD34+ cell transduction with BaEV/TR- or BaEVRLess-LVs they possibly allow to conserve better the stem cell character of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells.

**[0194]** Another important observation was that at low MOIs (5 and 10) lentiviral vector pseudotyped with BaEV/ TR and BaEVRLess respectively, consistently transduced human CD34<sup>+</sup> cells better than VSV-G LV pseudotypes at MOI of 100. The use of a lentiviral vector at a very low MOI could limit insertional mutagenesis which occurs when the proviral DNA is inserted in an oncogene of the host cells. If too many vectors integrate into the host cell genome, it could

lead to genotoxicity due to host cell gene deregulation. Thus, in the case of BaEV-LVs, it would be possible to decrease significantly the vector doses to safe levels without a significant loss of the transduction rate. In contrast, for VSV-G-LVs very high vector doses were needed to allow efficient hCD34<sup>+</sup> cell transduction.

**[0195]** The ability of BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LV pseudotypes to highly transduce short term repopulating cells and the results on reconstitution of immunodeficient mice bone marrow and spleen with gene marked cells in all the different human cell lineages are arguments that strongly suggest they actually transduce HSCs.

**[0196]** Moreover, the novel BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs are promising gene transfer tools for T cell gene therapy since they allow high transduction of IL-7 prestimulated T cells without inducing a phenotypic switch. Additionally, if one considers the need for a life time correction, it is necessary to transduce the long-lived naive T cells which are shown here to be highly susceptible to BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LV mediated gene transfer and might know therefore many applications in vivo.

**[0197]** Finally, these BaEV/TR- and BaEVRLess-LVs represent a new tool allowing high stable gene transfer of primary quiescent B cells that now makes it possible to study with ease gene function and therapeutic gene transfer in these cells. These novel vectors may allow expression of co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40L or B7 molecules in non-dividing tumor B-cells such as B-CLLs in order to elicit immune responses against gene modified and unmodified cells. They also enable introducing DNA encoding the light and heavy chains of specific antibodies (for example antibodies specifically directed against HIV or HCV) or epitopes into autologous memory B cells in order to allow immunotherapy and tolerance induction upon reinfusion of the engineered cells.

[0198] In vivo gene delivery of lentiviral vectors displaying BaEV/TR- or BaEVRLess-LVs in HSCs, B cells or T cells would make gene therapy much easier. The advantages of in vivo gene delivery are multiple. In vivo gene transfer could target all HSCs in their stem cell niche, which creates a microenvironment regulating HSC survival and maintenance. Moreover, for the majority of diseases there is a requirement of a minimal number of gene-corrected cells to be re-infused. This requisite might be a limiting factor when treating children since CD34+ isolation results in significant loss of this target population or in bone marrow failure syndromes like Fanconi anemia, in which patients already suffer from a reduced number of hCD34<sup>+</sup> cells early on. All these concerns might be overcome by in vivo targeted gene delivery to HSCs. Identical reasoning is possible for T and especially for B cells since the latter cells go easily into apoptosis during ex vivo culture.

**[0199]** In summary, the inventors have developed a novel and apparently effective pseudotype for lentiviral vectors. BaEV/TR and BaEVRLess pseudotyped LV will probably become useful for many fundamental and clinical applications because they present a lot of advantages such as very high transduction of human primary HSCs, T cells and B cells.

## Sequence Identifiers Reference Table:

## [0200]

#### SEQ ID NO: Feature

1	Nucleic acid encoding the wild-type BaEV envelope
	glycoprotein

- 2 Wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein
- 3 Cytoplasmic tail domain of the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein
- 4 Transmembrane domain of the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein
- 5 Extracellular domain of the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein
- 6 Fusion inhibitory R peptide of the wild-type BaEV envelope glycoprotein

SEQ ID NO:	Feature
7	Modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide (BaEVRLess)
8	Cytoplasmic tail domain of the wild-type MLV envelope glycoprotein
9	Fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of the BaEV envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of the MLV envelope glycoprotein (BaEV/TR)
10	Human wild-type SCF
11	Human wild-type TPO
12	Human wild-type IL-2
13	Human wild-type IL-7
14	Human wild-type IL-15
15	Human wild-type Flt3-L

#### SEQUENCE LISTING

<160> NUMBER OF SEQ ID NOS: 15

```
<210> SEQ ID NO 1
<211> LENGTH: 1692
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Baboon endogenous virus
```

```
<400> SEQUENCE: 1
```

atgggattca	caacaaagat	aatcttctta	tacaacctag	tactggtcta	cgcggggttt	60
gacgaccctc	gcaaagccat	agaactagta	caaaagcgat	atggccgacc	atgcgattgc	120
agcggaggac	aagtgtccga	gcccccgtca	gacagggtca	gtcaagtgac	ttgctcaggc	180
aagacagctt	acttaatgcc	cgaccaaaga	tggaaatgta	agtcaattcc	aaaagacacc	240
tccccaagcg	ggccactcca	agagtgcccc	tgtaattett	accagtcctc	agtacacagt	300
tcttgttata	cctcatacca	acaatgcaga	tcaggcaata	agacatatta	tacggctact	360
ctgctaaaaa	cacaaactgg	gggcaccagt	gatgtacaag	tattaggatc	caccaacaaa	420
cttatacaat	ctccctgtaa	tggcataaaa	gggcagtcta	tttgctggag	cactacagct	480
cctatccacg	tctctgatgg	aggaggtcca	ttagacacca	caagaattaa	aagtgttcag	540
agaaaactgg	aagaaattca	taaagcccta	tatcctgaac	ttcagtatca	ccctttggcc	600
atacctaagg	ttagagataa	cctcatggtc	gatgcccaga	ctttaaacat	tctcaatgcc	660
acttacaact	tactcctaat	gtccaacacg	agcctagtgg	acgactgttg	gctttgttta	720
aaattaggtc	cccctactcc	cctcgcaata	cctaacttcc	tattatccta	cgtgactcgc	780
tcctcggata	atatctcttg	tttaataatt	ccccccttc	tagttcaacc	gatgcagttt	840
tccaattcat	cttgcctctt	ttcccctcc	tacaacagta	cagaagaaat	agatctaggc	900
catgttgcct	tcagcaactg	tacctccata	accaatgtca	ccggtcccat	atgcgctgta	960
aatggttcgg	tctttctctg	tggcaataac	atggcataca	cttatctacc	cacgaactgg	1020
acgggggcttt	gcgtcctagc	aactctcctc	cccgacattg	acatcattcc	cggagatgaa	1080
ccggtcccca	tccctgctat	tgatcatttt	atatatagac	ctaaacgggc	catacagttt	1140
attcctttac	tagcagggct	agggatcacc	gcagccttca	caacaggagc	tacaggccta	1200
ggtgtctctg	tgacccaata	tacaaaatta	tctaatcagc	taatttctga	tgtacaaatc	1260
ttatctaqca	ccatacaaqa	tctqcaaqat	caaqtaqact	cattaqccqa	aqtqqttctc	1320

19

									-
_	С	0	n	t	1	n	u	е	d

cagaacagaa	a gggggct	taga t	ctact	taca gc	agaacaa	ıg gag	gaat	ctg	tttag	geeetg	1380
caagaaaaat	t gctgctt	tta t	gttaa	caag tc	agggati	g tga	gaga	caa a	aata	aaaacc	1440
ttacaagaaq	g aactaga	aaag a	cgtag	aaaa ga	tctage	t cca	accc	act	ttgg	actggg	1500
cttcaagggd	c tecteco	etta c	ctcct	geee tt	tcttgg	c ctc	tact	tac	cctc	ctgctc	1560
ttactcacca	a ttgggco	cgtg c	atttt	taac cg	tctaac	g ctt	ttat	taa	tgata	aagtta	1620
aacataatad	c acgctat	ggt g	ctaac	ccaa ca	gtatca	ıg tgo	tcag	aac (	cgate	gaagaa	1680
gctcaagatt	t ga										1692
<pre>&lt;210&gt; SEQ &lt;211&gt; LENC &lt;212&gt; TYPP &lt;213&gt; ORGZ &lt;220&gt; FEAT &lt;221&gt; NAME &lt;222&gt; LOCT &lt;220&gt; FEAT &lt;220&gt; FEAT &lt;221&gt; NAME &lt;220&gt; FEAT &lt;221&gt; NAME &lt;220&gt; FEAT &lt;221&gt; NAME &lt;220&gt; FEAT &lt;221&gt; NAME &lt;220&gt; FEAT &lt;221&gt; NAME &lt;220&gt; FEAT &lt;221&gt; NAME</pre>	ID NO 2 GTH: 563 E: PRT ANISM: Ba FURE: E/KEY: MI ATION: (1) ER INFORM TURE: E/KEY: MI ATION: (5) ER INFORM TURE: E/KEY: MI ATION: (5) ER INFORM TURE: E/KEY: MI ATION: (5) ER INFORM	Aboon ISC_FEA L) (5 MATION ISC_FEA 507) MATION ISC_FEA 530) MATION ISC_FEA 547) MATION	endog ATURE 06) : ext: (529) : trai ATURE (563) : cyto ATURE (563) : R p	enous v racellu nsmembr oplasmi eptide	irus lar don ane don c tail	nain					
<400> SEQU	JENCE: 2										
Met Gly Ph 1	ne Thr Th 5	nr Lys	Ile	Ile Phe	Leu Ty 10	r Asn	Leu	Val	Leu 15	Val	
Tyr Ala G	ly Phe As 20	ap Aap	Pro 2	Arg Lys 25	Ala I	.e Glu	Leu	Val 30	Gln	Lys	
Arg Tyr GI 3!	ly Arg Pi 5	ro Cys	Asp	Cys Ser 40	Gly G	y Gln	Val 45	Ser	Glu	Pro	
Pro Ser As 50	sp Arg Va	al Ser	Gln 55	Val Thr	Cys Se	er Gly 60	гуа	Thr	Ala	Tyr	
Leu Met Pr 65	ro Asp Gl	ln Arg 70	Trp 1	Lys Cys	Lys Se 7!	er Ile	Pro	Lys	Asp	Thr 80	
Ser Pro Se	er Gly Pi 85	ro Leu 5	Gln (	Glu Cys	Pro Cy 90	rs Asn	Ser	Tyr	Gln 95	Ser	
Ser Val H	is Ser Se 100	er Cys	Tyr	Thr Ser 105	Tyr G	n Gln	Суз	Arg 110	Ser	Gly	
Asn Lys Th 1:	nr Tyr Ty 15	r Thr	Ala	Thr Leu 120	Leu Ly	's Thr	Gln 125	Thr	Gly	Gly	
Thr Ser A: 130	sp Val Gl	ln Val	Leu ( 135	Gly Ser	Thr A	n Lys 140	Leu	Ile	Gln	Ser	
Pro Cys As	sn Gly Il	le Lys	Gly (	Gln Ser	Ile C	vs Trp	Ser	Thr	Thr	Ala	
Pro Ile H:	is Val Se	er Asp	Gly (	Gly Gly	Pro Le	eu Asp	Thr	Thr	Arg	Ile	
Lys Ser Va	16 al Gln Ai	55 rq Lvs	Leu (	Glu Glu	170 Ile H	s Lys.	Ala	Leu	175 Tyr	Pro	
	180	5 -1~		185	A			190	-1-	•	
GIU Leu GI 19	in Tyr Hi 95	ls Pro	Leu i	Ala Ile 200	Pro Ly	vs Val	Arg 205	Aab	Asn	Leu	

			-
-	cont	ınu	ed

Met Val Asp Ala Gln Thr Leu Asn Ile Leu Asn Ala Thr Tyr Asn Leu Leu Leu Met Ser Asn Thr Ser Leu Val Asp Asp Cys Trp Leu Cys Leu 225 230 235 240 Lys Leu Gly Pro Pro Thr Pro Leu Ala Ile Pro Asn Phe Leu Leu Ser 245 250 Tyr Val Thr Arg Ser Ser Asp Asn Ile Ser Cys Leu Ile Ile Pro Pro 260 265 Leu Leu Val Gln Pro Met Gln Phe Ser Asn Ser Ser Cys Leu Phe Ser Pro Ser Tyr Asn Ser Thr Glu Glu Ile Asp Leu Gly His Val Ala Phe Ser Asn Cys Thr Ser Ile Thr Asn Val Thr Gly Pro Ile Cys Ala Val Asn Gly Ser Val Phe Leu Cys Gly Asn Asn Met Ala Tyr Thr Tyr Leu Pro Thr Asn Trp Thr Gly Leu Cys Val Leu Ala Thr Leu Leu Pro Asp Ile Asp Ile Ile Pro Gly Asp Glu Pro Val Pro Ile Pro Ala Ile Asp His Phe Ile Tyr Arg Pro Lys Arg Ala Ile Gln Phe Ile Pro Leu Leu 370 375 380 Ala Gly Leu Gly Ile Thr Ala Ala Phe Thr Thr Gly Ala Thr Gly Leu Gly Val Ser Val Thr Gln Tyr Thr Lys Leu Ser Asn Gln Leu Ile Ser 405 410 415 Asp Val Gln Ile Leu Ser Ser Thr Ile Gln Asp Leu Gln Asp Gln Val 420 425 430 Asp Ser Leu Ala Glu Val Val Leu Gln Asn Arg Arg Gly Leu Asp Leu 435 440 445 Leu Thr Ala Glu Gln Gly Gly Ile Cys Leu Ala Leu Gln Glu Lys Cys Cys Phe Tyr Val Asn Lys Ser Gly Ile Val Arg Asp Lys Ile Lys Thr Leu Gln Glu Glu Leu Glu Arg Arg Arg Lys Asp Leu Ala Ser Asn Pro Leu Trp Thr Gly Leu Gln Gly Leu Leu Pro Tyr Leu Leu Pro Phe Leu Gly Pro Leu Leu Thr Leu Leu Leu Leu Thr Ile Gly Pro Cys Ile Phe Asn Arg Leu Thr Ala Phe Ile Asn Asp Lys Leu Asn Ile Ile His Ala Met Val Leu Thr Gln Gln Tyr Gln Val Leu Arg Thr Asp Glu Glu Ala Gln Asp

<210> SEQ ID NO 3 <211> LENGTH: 34 <212> TYPE: PRT <213> ORGANISM: Baboon endogenous virus

<400> SEQUENCE: 3

#### -continued

Asn Arg Leu Thr Ala Phe Ile Asn Asp Lys Leu Asn Ile Ile His Ala 1 5 10 15 Met Val Leu Thr Gln Gln Tyr Gln Val Leu Arg Thr Asp Glu Glu Ala 20 25 Gln Asp <210> SEQ ID NO 4 <211> LENGTH: 23 <212> TYPE: PRT <213> ORGANISM: Baboon endogenous virus <400> SEQUENCE: 4 Tyr Leu Leu Pro Phe Leu Gly Pro Leu Leu Thr Leu Leu Leu Leu Leu 5 10 15 Thr Ile Gly Pro Cys Ile Phe 20 <210> SEQ ID NO 5 <211> LENGTH: 506 <212> TYPE: PRT <213> ORGANISM: Baboon endogenous virus <400> SEQUENCE: 5 Met Gly Phe Thr Thr Lys Ile Ile Phe Leu Tyr Asn Leu Val Leu Val 5 10 1 Tyr Ala Gly Phe Asp Asp Pro Arg Lys Ala Ile Glu Leu Val Gln Lys 20 25 30 Arg Tyr Gly Arg Pro Cys Asp Cys Ser Gly Gly Gln Val Ser Glu Pro 35 40 45 Pro Ser Asp Arg Val Ser Gln Val Thr Cys Ser Gly Lys Thr Ala Tyr 50 55 60 Leu Met Pro Asp Gln Arg Trp Lys Cys Lys Ser Ile Pro Lys Asp Thr 65 70 75 80 65 Ser Pro Ser Gly Pro Leu Gln Glu Cys Pro Cys Asn Ser Tyr Gln Ser 85 90 95 Ser Val His Ser Ser Cys Tyr Thr Ser Tyr Gln Gln Cys Arg Ser Gly 100 105 Asn Lys Thr Tyr Tyr Thr Ala Thr Leu Leu Lys Thr Gln Thr Gly Gly 115 120 125 Thr Ser Asp Val Gln Val Leu Gly Ser Thr Asn Lys Leu Ile Gln Ser 135 130 140 Pro Cys Asn Gly Ile Lys Gly Gln Ser Ile Cys Trp Ser Thr Thr Ala 150 155 160 145 Pro Ile His Val Ser Asp Gly Gly Gly Pro Leu Asp Thr Thr Arg Ile 165 170 175 Lys Ser Val Gln Arg Lys Leu Glu Glu Ile His Lys Ala Leu Tyr Pro 180 185 190 Glu Leu Gln Tyr His Pro Leu Ala Ile Pro Lys Val Arg Asp Asn Leu 195 200 205 Met Val Asp Ala Gln Thr Leu Asn Ile Leu Asn Ala Thr Tyr Asn Leu 210 215 220 Leu Leu Met Ser Asn Thr Ser Leu Val Asp Asp Cys Trp Leu Cys Leu 225 230 235 240 22

-continued

			_												
Lys Lev	u Gl	уP	ro	Pro 245	Thr	Pro	Leu	Ala	Ile 250	Pro	Asn	Phe	Leu	Leu 255	Ser
Tyr Val	l Tř	r A 2	rg 60	Ser	Ser	Asp	Asn	Ile 265	Ser	Сув	Leu	Ile	Ile 270	Pro	Pro
Leu Leu	u Va	1 G	ln	Pro	Met	Gln	Phe	Ser	Asn	Ser	Ser	Сув	Leu	Phe	Ser
Pro Sei	27 r Ty	ъ гА	sn	Ser	Thr	Glu	280 Glu	Ile	Asp	Leu	Gly	285 His	Val	Ala	Phe
290 Sor Ag	0	a T	br	Cor	TIO	295 Thr	Aan	Vol	- Thr	Clvr	300 Bro	710	Circ	710	Vol
305	ιcy	8 T	nr	ser	310	ınr	Asn	vai	INT	315	PIO	тте	сув	нιа	vai 320
Asn Gly	y Se	r V	al	Phe 325	Leu	Сүз	Gly	Asn	Asn 330	Met	Ala	Tyr	Thr	Tyr 335	Leu
Pro Thi	r As	n T 3	rp 40	Thr	Gly	Leu	Сүа	Val 345	Leu	Ala	Thr	Leu	Leu 350	Pro	Asp
Ile Asp	p I] 35	e I 5	le	Pro	Gly	Aap	Glu 360	Pro	Val	Pro	Ile	Pro 365	Ala	Ile	Asb
His Phe	e Il 0	еT	yr	Arg	Pro	Lys 375	Arg	Ala	Ile	Gln	Phe	Ile	Pro	Leu	Leu
Ala Gly	y Le	u G	ly	Ile	Thr	Ala	Ala	Phe	Thr	Thr	Gly	Ala	Thr	Gly	Leu
385 Glv Val	1 Sf	rV	al	Thr	390 Gln	Tvr	Thr	Lvs	Leu	395 Ser	Asn	Gln	Leu	Ile	400 Ser
		- •		405		-1-			410				4	415	
Asp Val	I G]	n I 4	1e 20	Leu	Ser	Ser	Thr	11e 425	Gln	Aab	Leu	Gln	Asp 430	Gln	Val
Asp Sei	r Le 43	u A 5	la	Glu	Val	Val	Leu 440	Gln	Asn	Arg	Arg	Gly 445	Leu	Asp	Leu
Leu Thi 450	r Al 0	a G	lu	Gln	Gly	Gly 455	Ile	Сүз	Leu	Ala	Leu 460	Gln	Glu	Lys	CÀa
Cys Phe 465	е Ту	r V	al	Asn	Lys 470	Ser	Gly	Ile	Val	Arg 475	Asp	Lys	Ile	Lys	Thr 480
Leu Gli	n Gl	u G	lu	Leu	Glu	Arg	Arg	Arg	Lys	Asp	Leu	Ala	Ser	Asn	Pro
Leu Trì	рTł	r G	ly	485 Leu	Gln	Gly	Leu	Leu	490 Pro					495	
-		5	00			-		505							
<210> \$ <211> I	SEQ LENC	ID TH:	NO 17	6 7											
<212> 1 <213> (	TYPE ORG#	: P NIS	RT M:	Babo	oon	endo	geno	us v:	irus						
<400> \$	SEQU	ENC	Ε:	6											
Val Leu 1	u Tł	r G	ln	Gln 5	Tyr	Gln	Val	Leu	Arg 10	Thr	Asp	Glu	Glu	Ala 15	Gln
Aap															
<210> \$	SEO	ID	NO	7											
<211> I	LENC	TH :	54	16											
<212> 1 <213> (	ORGA	: P NIS	RT M:	Art	ific	ial									
<220> I <223> (	FEA1 OTHE	URE R I	: NFC	ORMA	TION	: Syı	nthe	tic ]	prot	ein 1	BaEVI	RLes	5		
<400> \$	SEQU	ENC	Ε:	7											
Met Gly	y Pł	e T	hr	Thr 5	ГЛа	Ile	Ile	Phe	Leu 10	Tyr	Asn	Leu	Val	Leu 15	Val
-				2					10					10	

Tyr Ala Gly Phe Asp Asp Pro Arg Lys Ala Ile Glu Leu Val Gln Lys 20 25 30 Arg Tyr Gly Arg Pro Cys Asp Cys Ser Gly Gly Gln Val Ser Glu Pro 35 40 45 Pro Ser Asp Arg Val Ser Gln Val Thr Cys Ser Gly Lys Thr Ala Tyr Leu Met Pro Asp Gln Arg Trp Lys Cys Lys Ser Ile Pro Lys Asp Thr 65 70 75 80 Ser Pro Ser Gly Pro Leu Gln Glu Cys Pro Cys Asn Ser Tyr Gln Ser 85 90 95 Ser Val His Ser Ser Cys Tyr Thr Ser Tyr Gln Gln Cys Arg Ser Gly 100 105 110 Asn Lys Thr Tyr Tyr Thr Ala Thr Leu Leu Lys Thr Gln Thr Gly Gly Thr Ser Asp Val Gln Val Leu Gly Ser Thr Asn Lys Leu Ile Gln Ser Pro Cys Asn Gly Ile Lys Gly Gln Ser Ile Cys Trp Ser Thr Thr Ala Pro Ile His Val Ser Asp Gly Gly Gly Pro Leu Asp Thr Thr Arg Ile Lys Ser Val Gln Arg Lys Leu Glu Glu Ile His Lys Ala Leu Tyr Pro Glu Leu Gln Tyr His Pro Leu Ala Ile Pro Lys Val Arg Asp Asn Leu Met Val Asp Ala Gln Thr Leu Asn Ile Leu Asn Ala Thr Tyr Asn Leu 210 215 220 Leu Leu Met Ser Asn Thr Ser Leu Val Asp Asp Cys Trp Leu Cys Leu 225 230 235 240 Lys Leu Gly Pro Pro Thr Pro Leu Ala Ile Pro Asn Phe Leu Leu Ser 245 250 255 Tyr Val Thr Arg Ser Ser Asp Asn Ile Ser Cys Leu Ile Ile Pro Pro Leu Leu Val Gln Pro Met Gln Phe Ser Asn Ser Ser Cys Leu Phe Ser Pro Ser Tyr Asn Ser Thr Glu Glu Ile Asp Leu Gly His Val Ala Phe Ser Asn Cys Thr Ser Ile Thr Asn Val Thr Gly Pro Ile Cys Ala Val Asn Gly Ser Val Phe Leu Cys Gly Asn Asn Met Ala Tyr Thr Tyr Leu Pro Thr Asn Trp Thr Gly Leu Cys Val Leu Ala Thr Leu Leu Pro Asp Ile Asp Ile Ile Pro Gly Asp Glu Pro Val Pro Ile Pro Ala Ile Asp His Phe Ile Tyr Arg Pro Lys Arg Ala Ile Gln Phe Ile Pro Leu Leu Ala Gly Leu Gly Ile Thr Ala Ala Phe Thr Thr Gly Ala Thr Gly Leu Gly Val Ser Val Thr Gln Tyr Thr Lys Leu Ser Asn Gln Leu Ile Ser 

24

											-	con	tin	ued	
Asp	Val	Gln	Ile 420	Leu	Ser	Ser	Thr	Ile 425	Gln	Asp	Leu	Gln	Asp 430	Gln	Val
Asp	Ser	Leu 435	Ala	Glu	Val	Val	Leu 440	Gln	Asn	Arg	Arg	Gly 445	Leu	Asp	Leu
Leu	Thr 450	Ala	Glu	Gln	Gly	Gly 455	Ile	Сүз	Leu	Ala	Leu 460	Gln	Glu	Lys	Сув
Cys 465	Phe	Tyr	Val	Asn	Lys 470	Ser	Gly	Ile	Val	Arg 475	Asp	Lys	Ile	Lys	Thr 480
Leu	Gln	Glu	Glu	Leu 485	Glu	Arg	Arg	Arg	Lys 490	Asp	Leu	Ala	Ser	Asn 495	Pro
Leu	Trp	Thr	Gly 500	Leu	Gln	Gly	Leu	Leu 505	Pro	Tyr	Leu	Leu	Pro 510	Phe	Leu
Gly	Pro	Leu 515	Leu	Thr	Leu	Leu	Leu 520	Leu	Leu	Thr	Ile	Gly 525	Pro	Сүа	Ile
Phe	Asn	Arg	Leu	Thr	Ala	Phe	Ile	Asn	Asp	Lys	Leu	Asn	Ile	Ile	His
Ala	Met					535					540				
545															
<21 <21	0> SH 1> LH	EQ II ENGTH	0 NO H: 33	8 3											
<213	2 > 11 3 > OF	RGANI	ISM:	Mur	ine :	leuk	emia	vir	ıs						
<40	0> SH	EQUEN	ICE :	8			_		_						
Asn 1	Arg	Leu	Val	Gln 5	Phe	Val	ГЛа	Aab	Arg 10	Ile	Ser	Val	Val	Gln 15	Ala
Leu	Val	Leu	Thr 20	Gln	Gln	Tyr	His	Gln 25	Leu	Lys	Pro	Leu	Glu 30	Tyr	Glu
Pro															
<21	0> SH 1> LF	EQ II ENGTI	) NO 1: 54	9 62											
<212	2> T 3> OF	PE : RGANI	PRT SM:	Art	ific	ial									
<22) <22	0> FI 3> 01	EATUR THER	RE: INF(	ORMA	TION	: Syı	nthe	tic ]	prote	ein 1	BaEV	/TR			
<40	0> SI	EQUEÌ	ICE :	9											
Met 1	Gly	Phe	Thr	Thr 5	Lya	Ile	Ile	Phe	Leu 10	Tyr	Asn	Leu	Val	Leu 15	Val
Tyr	Ala	Gly	Phe 20	Asp	Asp	Pro	Arg	Lys 25	Ala	Ile	Glu	Leu	Val 30	Gln	Lys
Arg	Tyr	Gly 35	Arg	Pro	Суз	Asp	Cys 40	Ser	Gly	Gly	Gln	Val 45	Ser	Glu	Pro
Pro	Ser 50	Aab	Arg	Val	Ser	Gln 55	Val	Thr	Суа	Ser	Gly 60	ГЛа	Thr	Ala	Tyr
Leu	Met	Pro	Asp	Gln	Arg	Trp	Lys	Суз	Lys	Ser	Ile	Pro	Lys	Asp	Thr
65 Ser	Pro	Ser	Gly	Pro	70 Leu	Gln	Glu	Cys	Pro	75 Cys	Asn	Ser	Tyr	Gln	80 Ser
C	V-1	u		85	<b>C1</b>	<b>T 1 1 1</b>	Th	-	90	-	<i>c</i> 1	0	-	95	<b>C1</b>
ser	var	нта	ser 100	ser	сув	ıyr	inr	ser 105	ıyr	GIU	GTU	сув	лгд 110	ser	στγ
Asn	ГЛа	Thr 115	Tyr	Tyr	Thr	Ala	Thr 120	Leu	Leu	Lya	Thr	Gln 125	Thr	Gly	Gly

			-	
-con	ıt.	1 n	ued	

Thr Ser Asp Val Gln Val Leu Gly Ser Thr Asn Lys Leu Ile Gln Ser Pro Cys Asn Gly Ile Lys Gly Gln Ser Ile Cys Trp Ser Thr Thr Ala 145 150 155 160 Pro Ile His Val Ser Asp Gly Gly Gly Pro Leu Asp Thr Thr Arg Ile Lys Ser Val Gln Arg Lys Leu Glu Glu Ile His Lys Ala Leu Tyr Pro Glu Leu Gln Tyr His Pro Leu Ala Ile Pro Lys Val Arg Asp Asn Leu Met Val Asp Ala Gln Thr Leu Asn Ile Leu Asn Ala Thr Tyr Asn Leu Leu Leu Met Ser Asn Thr Ser Leu Val Asp Asp Cys Trp Leu Cys Leu Lys Leu Gly Pro Pro Thr Pro Leu Ala Ile Pro Asn Phe Leu Leu Ser Tyr Val Thr Arg Ser Ser Asp Asn Ile Ser Cys Leu Ile Ile Pro Pro Leu Leu Val Gln Pro Met Gln Phe Ser Asn Ser Ser Cys Leu Phe Ser Pro Ser Tyr Asn Ser Thr Glu Glu Ile Asp Leu Gly His Val Ala Phe 290 295 300 Ser Asn Cys Thr Ser Ile Thr Asn Val Thr Gly Pro Ile Cys Ala Val Asn Gly Ser Val Phe Leu Cys Gly Asn Asn Met Ala Tyr Thr Tyr Leu 325 330 335 Pro Thr Asn Trp Thr Gly Leu Cys Val Leu Ala Thr Leu Leu Pro Asp 340 345 350 Ile Asp Ile Ile Pro Gly Asp Glu Pro Val Pro Ile Pro Ala Ile Asp 355 360 365 His Phe Ile Tyr Arg Pro Lys Arg Ala Ile Gln Phe Ile Pro Leu Leu Ala Gly Leu Gly Ile Thr Ala Ala Phe Thr Thr Gly Ala Thr Gly Leu Gly Val Ser Val Thr Gln Tyr Thr Lys Leu Ser Asn Gln Leu Ile Ser Asp Val Gln Ile Leu Ser Ser Thr Ile Gln Asp Leu Gln Asp Gln Val Asp Ser Leu Ala Glu Val Val Leu Gln Asn Arg Arg Gly Leu Asp Leu Leu Thr Ala Glu Gln Gly Gly Ile Cys Leu Ala Leu Gln Glu Lys Cys Cys Phe Tyr Val Asn Lys Ser Gly Ile Val Arg Asp Lys Ile Lys Thr Leu Gln Glu Glu Leu Glu Arg Arg Arg Lys Asp Leu Ala Ser Asn Pro Leu Trp Thr Gly Leu Gln Gly Leu Leu Pro Tyr Leu Leu Pro Phe Leu Gly Pro Leu Leu Thr Leu Leu Leu Leu Thr Ile Gly Pro Cys Ile 

-continued

26

Phe Asn Arg Leu Val Gln Phe Val Lys Asp Arg Ile Ser Val Val Gln 535 540 530 Ala Leu Val Leu Thr Gln Gln Tyr His Gln Leu Lys Pro Leu Glu Tyr 545 555 550 560 Glu Pro <210> SEQ ID NO 10 <211> LENGTH: 273 <212> TYPE: PRT <213> ORGANISM: Homo sapiens <400> SEQUENCE: 10 Met Lys Lys Thr Gln Thr Trp Ile Leu Thr Cys Ile Tyr Leu Gln Leu 1 10 15 Leu Leu Phe Asn Pro Leu Val Lys Thr Glu Gly Ile Cys Arg Asn Arg 20 25 30 Val Thr Asn Asn Val Lys Asp Val Thr Lys Leu Val Ala Asn Leu Pro 40 35 Lys Asp Tyr Met Ile Thr Leu Lys Tyr Val Pro Gly Met Asp Val Leu 50 55 60 Pro Ser His Cys Trp Ile Ser Glu Met Val Val Gln Leu Ser Asp Ser 65 70 75 80 Leu Thr Asp Leu Leu Asp Lys Phe Ser Asn Ile Ser Glu Gly Leu Ser 85 90 95 Asn Tyr Ser Ile Ile Asp Lys Leu Val Asn Ile Val Asp Asp Leu Val 100 105 110 Glu Cys Val Lys Glu Asn Ser Ser Lys Asp Leu Lys Lys Ser Phe Lys 115 120 125 Ser Pro Glu Pro Arg Leu Phe Thr Pro Glu Glu Phe Phe Arg Ile Phe 140 130 135 Asn Arg Ser Ile Asp Ala Phe Lys Asp Phe Val Val Ala Ser Glu Thr 145 150 155 160 Ser Asp Cys Val Val Ser Ser Thr Leu Ser Pro Glu Lys Asp Ser Arg 165 170 175 Val Ser Val Thr Lys Pro Phe Met Leu Pro Pro Val Ala Ala Ser Ser 185 180 Leu Arg Asn Asp Ser Ser Ser Ser Asn Arg Lys Ala Lys Asn Pro Pro 195 200 205 Gly Asp Ser Ser Leu His Trp Ala Ala Met Ala Leu Pro Ala Leu Phe 215 210 220 Ser Leu Ile Ile Gly Phe Ala Phe Gly Ala Leu Tyr Trp Lys Lys Arg 230 235 240 225 Gln Pro Ser Leu Thr Arg Ala Val Glu Asn Ile Gln Ile Asn Glu Glu 245 250 255 Asp Asn Glu Ile Ser Met Leu Gln Glu Lys Glu Arg Glu Phe Gln Glu 260 265 270 Val

<210> SEQ ID NO 11 <211> LENGTH: 353 <212> TYPE: PRT <213> ORGANISM: Homo sapiens

<400> SEQUENCE: 11

2	7

-	С	0	n	t	l	n	u	е	С

Met Glu Leu Thr Glu Leu Leu Val Val Met Leu Leu Leu Thr Ala 1 5 10 15 Arg Leu Thr Leu Ser Ser Pro Ala Pro Pro Ala Cys Asp Leu Arg Val 20 25 30 Leu Ser Lys Leu Leu Arg Asp Ser His Val Leu His Ser Arg Leu Ser 35 40 45 45 Gln Cys Pro Glu Val His Pro Leu Pro Thr Pro Val Leu Leu Pro Ala 50 55 60 Val Asp Phe Ser Leu Gly Glu Trp Lys Thr Gln Met Glu Glu Thr Lys 65 70 75 80 Ala Gln Asp Ile Leu Gly Ala Val Thr Leu Leu Leu Glu Gly Val Met 85 90 Ala Ala Arg Gly Gln Leu Gly Pro Thr Cys Leu Ser Ser Leu Leu Gly 100 105 110 Gln Leu Ser Gly Gln Val Arg Leu Leu Leu Gly Ala Leu Gln Ser Leu 115 120 Leu Gly Thr Gln Leu Pro Pro Gln Gly Arg Thr Thr Ala His Lys Asp 130 135 140 Pro Asn Ala Ile Phe Leu Ser Phe Gln His Leu Leu Arg Gly Lys Val 150 155 160 145 Arg Phe Leu Met Leu Val Gly Gly Ser Thr Leu Cys Val Arg Arg Ala 165 170 175 170 165 Pro Pro Thr Thr Ala Val Pro Ser Arg Thr Ser Leu Val Leu Thr Leu 180 185 190 Asn Glu Leu Pro Asn Arg Thr Ser Gly Leu Leu Glu Thr Asn Phe Thr 195 200 205 Ala Ser Ala Arg Thr Thr Gly Ser Gly Leu Leu Lys Trp Gln Gln Gly 210 215 220 Phe Arg Ala Lys Ile Pro Gly Leu Leu Asn Gln Thr Ser Arg Ser Leu 225 230 235 240 Asp Gln Ile Pro Gly Tyr Leu Asn Arg Ile His Glu Leu Leu Asn Gly 250 245 255 Thr Arg Gly Leu Phe Pro Gly Pro Ser Arg Arg Thr Leu Gly Ala Pro 265 Asp Ile Ser Ser Gly Thr Ser Asp Thr Gly Ser Leu Pro Pro Asn Leu 275 280 285 Gln Pro Gly Tyr Ser Pro Ser Pro Thr His Pro Pro Thr Gly Gln Tyr 295 300 290 Thr Leu Phe Pro Leu Pro Pro Thr Leu Pro Thr Pro Val Val Gln Leu 310 320 305 315 His Pro Leu Leu Pro Asp Pro Ser Ala Pro Thr Pro Thr Pro Thr Ser 325 330 335 Pro Leu Leu Asn Thr Ser Tyr Thr His Ser Gln Asn Leu Ser Gln Glu 340 345 350

Gly

<210> SEQ ID NO 12 <211> LENGTH: 153 <212> TYPE: PRT <213> ORGANISM: Homo sapiens

<400> SEQUENCE: 12

```
-continued
```

Met Tyr Arg Met Gln Leu Leu Ser Cys Ile Ala Leu Ser Leu Ala Leu 1 5 10 15 Val Thr Asn Ser Ala Pro Thr Ser Ser Ser Thr Lys Lys Thr Gln Leu 20 25 30 Gln Leu Glu His Leu Leu Asp Leu Gln Met Ile Leu Asn Gly Ile 35 45 40 Asn Asn Tyr Lys Asn Pro Lys Leu Thr Arg Met Leu Thr Phe Lys Phe 50 55 60 Tyr Met Pro Lys Lys Ala Thr Glu Leu Lys His Leu Gln Cys Leu Glu 65 70 75 80 Glu Glu Leu Lys Pro Leu Glu Glu Val Leu Asn Leu Ala Gln Ser Lys 85 90 95 Asn Phe His Leu Arg Pro Arg Asp Leu Ile Ser Asn Ile Asn Val Ile 100 105 110 Val Leu Glu Leu Lys Gly Ser Glu Thr Thr Phe Met Cys Glu Tyr Ala 120 125 115 Asp Glu Thr Ala Thr Ile Val Glu Phe Leu Asn Arg Trp Ile Thr Phe 140 130 135 Cys Gln Ser Ile Ile Ser Thr Leu Thr 145 150 <210> SEQ ID NO 13 <211> LENGTH: 177 <212> TYPE: PRT <213> ORGANISM: Homo sapiens <400> SEOUENCE: 13 Met Phe His Val Ser Phe Arg Tyr Ile Phe Gly Leu Pro Pro Leu Ile 1 5 10 Leu Val Leu Pro Val Ala Ser Ser Asp Cys Asp Ile Glu Gly Lys 20 25 30 Asp Gly Lys Gln Tyr Glu Ser Val Leu Met Val Ser Ile Asp Gln Leu 40 35 45 Leu Asp Ser Met Lys Glu Ile Gly Ser Asn Cys Leu Asn Asn Glu Phe 50 55 60 Asn Phe Phe Lys Arg His Ile Cys Asp Ala Asn Lys Glu Gly Met Phe 80 65 70 75 Leu Phe Arg Ala Ala Arg Lys Leu Arg Gln Phe Leu Lys Met Asn Ser 85 90 95 Thr Gly Asp Phe Asp Leu His Leu Leu Lys Val Ser Glu Gly Thr Thr 100 105 110 Ile Leu Leu Asn Cys Thr Gly Gln Val Lys Gly Arg Lys Pro Ala Ala 115 120 125 Leu Gly Glu Ala Gln Pro Thr Lys Ser Leu Glu Glu Asn Lys Ser Leu 130 135 Lys Glu Gln Lys Lys Leu Asn Asp Leu Cys Phe Leu Lys Arg Leu Leu 145 150 155 160 Gln Glu Ile Lys Thr Cys Trp Asn Lys Ile Leu Met Gly Thr Lys Glu 165 170

His

<210> SEQ ID NO 14

				-
- C	cont	21	nu	ed

<211> LENGTH: 136 <212> TYPE: PRT
<213> ORGANISM: Homo sapiens <400> SEQUENCE: 14 Met Asp Phe Gln Val Gln Ile Phe Ser Phe Leu Leu Ile Ser Ala Ser Val Ile Met Ser Arg Ala Asn Trp Val Asn Val Ile Ser Asp Leu Lys 20 25 30 Lys Ile Glu Asp Leu Ile Gln Ser Met His Ile Asp Ala Thr Leu Tyr Thr Glu Ser Asp Val His Pro Ser Cys Lys Val Thr Ala Met Lys Cys Phe Leu Leu Glu Leu Gln Val Ile Ser Leu Glu Ser Gly Asp Ala Ser Ile His Asp Thr Val Glu Asn Leu Ile Ile Leu Ala Asn Asn Ser Leu Ser Ser Asn Gly Asn Val Thr Glu Ser Gly Cys Lys Glu Cys Glu Glu Leu Glu Glu Lys Asn Ile Lys Glu Phe Leu Gln Ser Phe Val His Ile Val Gln Met Phe Ile Asn Thr Ser <210> SEQ ID NO 15 <211> LENGTH: 235 <212> TYPE: PRT <213> ORGANISM: Homo sapiens <400> SEQUENCE: 15 Met Thr Val Leu Ala Pro Ala Trp Ser Pro Thr Thr Tyr Leu Leu Leu 1 5 10 15 Leu Leu Leu Ser Ser Gly Leu Ser Gly Thr Gln Asp Cys Ser Phe Gln His Ser Pro Ile Ser Ser Asp Phe Ala Val Lys Ile Arg Glu Leu Ser Asp Tyr Leu Leu Gln Asp Tyr Pro Val Thr Val Ala Ser Asn Leu Gln Asp Glu Glu Leu Cys Gly Gly Leu Trp Arg Leu Val Leu Ala Gln 65 70 75 80 Arg Trp Met Glu Arg Leu Lys Thr Val Ala Gly Ser Lys Met Gln Gly Leu Leu Glu Arg Val Asn Thr Glu Ile His Phe Val Thr Lys Cys Ala Phe Gln Pro Pro Pro Ser Cys Leu Arg Phe Val Gln Thr Asn Ile Ser Arg Leu Leu Gln Glu Thr Ser Glu Gln Leu Val Ala Leu Lys Pro Trp Ile Thr Arg Gln Asn Phe Ser Arg Cys Leu Glu Leu Gln Cys Gln Pro Asp Ser Ser Thr Leu Pro Pro Pro Trp Ser Pro Arg Pro Leu Glu Ala Thr Ala Pro Thr Ala Pro Gln Pro Pro Leu Leu Leu Leu Leu Leu 

	-
-contin	lued

Pro	Val	Gly 195	Leu	Leu	Leu	Leu	Ala 200	Ala	Ala	Trp	Cys	Leu 205	His	Trp	Gln
Arg	Thr 210	Arg	Arg	Arg	Thr	Pro 215	Arg	Pro	Gly	Glu	Gln 220	Val	Pro	Pro	Val
Pro 225	Ser	Pro	Gln	Aap	Leu 230	Leu	Leu	Val	Glu	His 235					

1. A pseudotyped viral vector particle for transferring biological material into cells, wherein said vector particle comprises at least:

- a chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV) envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a murine leukemia virus (MLV) envelope glycoprotein; or
- a modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide.

2. The pseudotyped viral vector particle according to claim 1, wherein the viral vector particle is a lentiviral vector particle.

**3**. The pseudotyped viral vector particle according to claim **2**, wherein the lentiviral vector particle is selected from the group consisting of HIV and SIV.

4. The pseudotyped viral vector particle according to claim 1, wherein the biological material is one or more nucleic acids.

**5**. The pseudotyped viral vector particle according to claim **1**, wherein said viral vector particle further displays at least one cytokine selected from the group consisting of stem cell factor (SCF), thrombopoietin (TPO), IL-2, IL-15 and IL-7.

6. The pseudotyped viral vector particle according to claim 1, wherein the pseudotyped viral vector particle is intended for transferring biological material into hematopoietic cells.

**7**. A method for treating a hematopoietic disorder or an autoimmune disease in a subject in need thereof comprising administering a therapeutically effective amount of a pseudotyped viral vector particle according to claim **1**.

8. The method according to claim 7, wherein the hematopoietic disorder is selected from the group consisting of Fanconi anemia, hemophilia, beta-thalassemia, Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome, X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency, adenosine-deaminase deficiency, chronic granulomatous disease and adrenoleukodystrophy.

**9**. A method for producing a pseudotyped viral vector particle comprising:

a) transfecting a cell with:

 (i) at least one first nucleic acid sequence comprising a packaging competent retroviral derived genome;

- (ii) at least one second nucleic acid sequence comprising a cDNA encoding core proteins from said retrovirus, and
- (iii) at least one third nucleic acid sequence comprising a cDNA encoding:
- a chimeric envelope glycoprotein which comprises or consists in a fusion of the transmembrane and extracellular domain of a baboon endogenous retrovirus (BaEV) envelope glycoprotein and the cytoplasmic tail domain of a murine leukemia virus (MLV) envelope glycoprotein, as defined above; or
- a modified BaEV envelope glycoprotein wherein the cytoplasmic tail domain is devoid of the fusion inhibitory R peptide, as defined above;

to yield a producer cell;

- b) maintaining the producer cell in culture for sufficient time to allow expression of the cDNAs to produce the encoded proteins; and
- c) allowing the encoded proteins to form pseudotyped viral vector particles.

**10**. A medicament comprising a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined in claim **1** as active ingredient.

11. (canceled)

**12.** A method for transducing a hematopoietic cell comprising contacting the hematopoietic cell with a pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined in claim **1** under conditions to effect the transduction of the hematopoietic cell by the pseudotyped viral vector particle.

**13**. The method according to claim **12**, wherein the hematopoietic cell is selected from the group consisting of hematopoietic stem cells, progenitor CD34+ cells, very early progenitor CD34+ cells, B-cell CD19+ progenitors, myeloid progenitor CD13+ cells, T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, monocytes, dendritic cells, peripheral blood CD34+ cells, cancer B cells (BCLL), marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) B cells and thymocytes.

14. The method according to claim 13 wherein the hematopoietic cell is not prestimulated with at least one cytokine.

**15**. A stable virus packaging cell line producing the pseudotyped viral vector particle as defined in claim **1**.

\* \* \* \* \*

## REFERENCES

- Acuto, O. and F. Michel (2003). "CD28-mediated co-stimulation: a quantitative support for TCR signalling." Nat Rev Immunol 3(12): 939-951.
- Adams, G. B., K. T. Chabner, I. R. Alley, D. P. Olson, Z. M. Szczepiorkowski, M. C. Poznansky, C. H. Kos, M. R. Pollak, E. M. Brown and D. T. Scadden (2006). "Stem cell engraftment at the endosteal niche is specified by the calcium-sensing receptor." Nature 439(7076): 599-603.
- Adedeji, A. O., B. Barr, E. Gomez-Lucia and B. Murphy (2013). "A polytropic caprine arthritis encephalitis virus promoter isolated from multiple tissues from a sheep with multisystemic lentivirus-associated inflammatory disease." Viruses 5(8): 2005-2018.
- Agarwal, P., A. Raghavan, S. L. Nandiwada, J. M. Curtsinger, P. R. Bohjanen, D. L. Mueller and M. F. Mescher (2009). "Gene regulation and chromatin remodeling by IL-12 and type I IFN in programming for CD8 T cell effector function and memory." J Immunol 183(3): 1695-1704.
- Agarwal, R. K., Y. Kang, E. Zambidis, D. W. Scott, C. C. Chan and R. R. Caspi (2000). "Retroviral gene therapy with an immunoglobulin-antigen fusion construct protects from experimental autoimmune uveitis." J Clin Invest 106(2): 245-252.
- Ahmed, F., S. J. Ings, A. R. Pizzey, M. P. Blundell, A. J. Thrasher, H. T. Ye, A. Fahey, D. C. Linch and K. L. Yong (2004). "Impaired bone marrow homing of cytokine-activated CD34+ cells in the NOD/SCID model." Blood 103(6): 2079-2087.
- Aiuti, A., L. Biasco, S. Scaramuzza, F. Ferrua, M. P. Cicalese, C. Baricordi, F. Dionisio, A. Calabria, S. Giannelli, M. C. Castiello, M. Bosticardo, C. Evangelio, A. Assanelli, M. Casiraghi, S. Di Nunzio, L. Callegaro, C. Benati, P. Rizzardi, D. Pellin, C. Di Serio, M. Schmidt, C. Von Kalle, J. Gardner, N. Mehta, V. Neduva, D. J. Dow, A. Galy, R. Miniero, A. Finocchi, A. Metin, P. P. Banerjee, J. S. Orange, S. Galimberti, M. G. Valsecchi, A. Biffi, E. Montini, A. Villa, F. Ciceri, M. G. Roncarolo and L. Naldini (2013). "Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy in patients with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome." Science 341(6148): 1233151.
- Aiuti, A., S. Vai, A. Mortellaro, G. Casorati, F. Ficara, G. Andolfi, G. Ferrari, A. Tabucchi, F. Carlucci, H. D. Ochs, L. D. Notarangelo, M. G. Roncarolo and C. Bordignon (2002).
   "Immune reconstitution in ADA-SCID after PBL gene therapy and discontinuation of enzyme replacement." Nat Med 8(5): 423-425.
- Albon, S. J., C. Mancao, K. Gilmour, G. White, I. Ricciardelli, J. Brewin, G. Lugthart, R. Wallace and P. J. Amrolia (2013). "Optimization of methodology for production of CD25/CD71 allodepleted donor T cells for clinical use." Cytotherapy 15(1): 109-121.
- Alenzi, F. Q., B. Q. Alenazi, S. Y. Ahmad, M. L. Salem, A. A. Al-Jabri and R. K. Wyse (2009). "The haemopoietic stem cell: between apoptosis and self renewal." Yale J Biol Med 82(1): 7-18.
- Alpdogan, O., S. J. Muriglan, J. M. Eng, L. M. Willis, A. S. Greenberg, B. J. Kappel and M. R. van den Brink (2003). "IL-7 enhances peripheral T cell reconstitution after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation." J Clin Invest 112(7): 1095-1107.
- Alpdogan, O., S. J. Muriglan, B. J. Kappel, E. Doubrovina, C. Schmaltz, R. Schiro, J. M. Eng,
  A. S. Greenberg, L. M. Willis, J. A. Rotolo, R. J. O'Reilly and M. R. van den Brink
  (2003). "Insulin-like growth factor-I enhances lymphoid and myeloid reconstitution after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation." Transplantation 75(12): 1977-1983.
- Alpdogan, O., C. Schmaltz, S. J. Muriglan, B. J. Kappel, M. A. Perales, J. A. Rotolo, J. A. Halm, B. E. Rich and M. R. van den Brink (2001). "Administration of interleukin-7 after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation improves immune reconstitution without aggravating graft-versus-host disease." Blood 98(7): 2256-2265.
- Amendola, M., M. A. Venneri, A. Biffi, E. Vigna and L. Naldini (2005). "Coordinate dual-gene transgenesis by lentiviral vectors carrying synthetic bidirectional promoters." Nat Biotechnol 23(1): 108-116.

- Amirache, F., C. Levy, C. Costa, P. E. Mangeot, B. E. Torbett, C. X. Wang, D. Negre, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2014). "Mystery solved: VSV-G-LVs do not allow efficient gene transfer into unstimulated T cells, B cells, and HSCs because they lack the LDL receptor." Blood 123(9): 1422-1424.
- Amos, T. A. and M. Y. Gordon (1995). "Sources of human hematopoietic stem cells for transplantation--a review." Cell Transplant 4(6): 547-569.
- Amrolia, P. J., G. Muccioli-Casadei, H. Huls, S. Adams, A. Durett, A. Gee, E. Yvon, H. Weiss, M. Cobbold, H. B. Gaspar, C. Rooney, I. Kuehnle, V. Ghetie, J. Schindler, R. Krance, H. E. Heslop, P. Veys, E. Vitetta and M. K. Brenner (2006). "Adoptive immunotherapy with allodepleted donor T-cells improves immune reconstitution after haploidentical stem cell transplantation." Blood 108(6): 1797-1808.
- Anai, Y., H. Ochi, S. Watanabe, S. Nakagawa, M. Kawamura, T. Gojobori and K. Nishigaki (2012). "Infectious endogenous retroviruses in cats and emergence of recombinant viruses." J Virol 86(16): 8634-8644.
- Anderlini, P., D. Przepiorka, D. Seong, P. Miller, J. Sundberg, B. Lichtiger, F. Norfleet, K. W. Chan, R. Champlin and M. Korbling (1996). "Clinical toxicity and laboratory effects of granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor (filgrastim) mobilization and blood stem cell apheresis from normal donors, and analysis of charges for the procedures." Transfusion 36(7): 590-595.
- Andre-Schmutz, I., D. Bonhomme, F. Yates, M. Malassis, F. Selz, A. Fischer and M. Cavazzana-Calvo (2004). "IL-7 effect on immunological reconstitution after HSCT depends on MHC incompatibility." Br J Haematol 126(6): 844-851.
- Arai, F., A. Hirao, M. Ohmura, H. Sato, S. Matsuoka, K. Takubo, K. Ito, G. Y. Koh and T. Suda (2004). "Tie2/angiopoietin-1 signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence in the bone marrow niche." Cell 118(2): 149-161.
- Araki, K., A. P. Turner, V. O. Shaffer, S. Gangappa, S. A. Keller, M. F. Bachmann, C. P. Larsen and R. Ahmed (2009). "mTOR regulates memory CD8 T-cell differentiation." Nature 460(7251): 108-112.
- Armitage, R. J., A. E. Namen, H. M. Sassenfeld and K. H. Grabstein (1990). "Regulation of human T cell proliferation by IL-7." J Immunol 144(3): 938-941.
- Aruffo A, Farrington M, Hollenbaugh D, Li X, Milatovich A, Nonoyama S, Bajorath J, Grosmaire LS, Stenkamp R, Neubauer M, et al. (1993). "The CD40 ligand, gp39, is defective in activated T cells from patients with X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome". Cell, 72:291-300.
- Arumugam, P. I., J. Scholes, N. Perelman, P. Xia, J. K. Yee and P. Malik (2007). "Improved human beta-globin expression from self-inactivating lentiviral vectors carrying the chicken hypersensitive site-4 (cHS4) insulator element." Mol Ther 15(10): 1863-1871.
- Arumugam, P. I., F. Urbinati, C. S. Velu, T. Higashimoto, H. L. Grimes and P. Malik (2009).
   "The 3' region of the chicken hypersensitive site-4 insulator has properties similar to its core and is required for full insulator activity." PLoS One 4(9): e6995.
- Ausubel, L. J., C. Hall, A. Sharma, R. Shakeley, P. Lopez, V. Quezada, S. Couture, K. Laderman, R. McMahon, P. Huang, D. Hsu and L. Couture (2012). "Production of CGMP-Grade Lentiviral Vectors." Bioprocess Int 10(2): 32-43.
- Aversa, G., J. Carballido, J. Punnonen, C. C. Chang, T. Hauser, B. G. Cocks and J. E. De Vries (1997). "SLAM and its role in T cell activation and Th cell responses." Immunol Cell Biol 75(2): 202-205.
- Azevedo, R. I., M. V. Soares, J. T. Barata, R. Tendeiro, A. Serra-Caetano, R. M. Victorino and A. E. Sousa (2009). "IL-7 sustains CD31 expression in human naïve CD4+ T cells and preferentially expands the CD31+ subset in a PI3K-dependent manner." Blood 113(13): 2999-3007.
- Azzouz, M., T. Le, G. S. Ralph, L. Walmsley, U. R. Monani, D. C. Lee, F. Wilkes, K. A. Mitrophanous, S. M. Kingsman, A. H. Burghes and N. D. Mazarakis (2004). "Lentivector-mediated SMN replacement in a mouse model of spinal muscular atrophy." J Clin Invest 114(12): 1726-1731.

Bagby, G. C. and B. P. Alter (2006). "Fanconi anemia." Semin Hematol 43(3): 147-156.

- Balaguer, H., A. Galmes, G. Ventayol, J. Bargay and J. Besalduch (2004). "Splenic rupture after granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor mobilization in a peripheral blood progenitor cell donor." Transfusion 44(8): 1260-1261.
- Banasik, M. B. and P. B. McCray, Jr. "Integrase-defective lentiviral vectors: progress and applications." Gene Ther 17(2): 150-157.
- Bank, A., R. Dorazio and P. Leboulch (2005). "A phase I/II clinical trial of beta-globin gene therapy for beta-thalassemia." Ann N Y Acad Sci 1054: 308-316.
- Barker, J. N., D. J. Weisdorf, T. E. DeFor, B. R. Blazar, P. B. McGlave, J. S. Miller, C. M. Verfaillie and J. E. Wagner (2005). "Transplantation of 2 partially HLA-matched umbilical cord blood units to enhance engraftment in adults with hematologic malignancy." Blood 105(3): 1343-1347.
- Bartholomae, C. C., H. Glimm, C. von Kalle and M. Schmidt (2012). "Insertion site pattern: global approach by linear amplification-mediated PCR and mass sequencing." Methods Mol Biol 859: 255-265.
- Bartosch, B., J. Dubuisson and F. L. Cosset (2003). "Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudoparticles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes." J Exp Med 197(5): 633-642.
- Baum, C., J. Dullmann, Z. Li, B. Fehse, J. Meyer, D. A. Williams and C. von Kalle (2003). "Side effects of retroviral gene transfer into hematopoietic stem cells." Blood 101(6): 2099-2114.
- Baum, C. M., I. L. Weissman, A. S. Tsukamoto, A. M. Buckle and B. Peault (1992). "Isolation of a candidate human hematopoietic stem-cell population." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89(7): 2804-2808.
- Beard, B. C., D. Dickerson, K. Beebe, C. Gooch, J. Fletcher, T. Okbinoglu, D. G. Miller, M. A. Jacobs, R. Kaul, H. P. Kiem and G. D. Trobridge (2007). "Comparison of HIV-derived lentiviral and MLV-based gammaretroviral vector integration sites in primate repopulating cells." Mol Ther 15(7): 1356-1365.
- Becker, A. J., C. E. Mc and J. E. Till (1963). "Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells." Nature 197: 452-454.
- Bell, A. J., Jr., D. Fegen, M. Ward and A. Bank (2010). "RD114 envelope proteins provide an effective and versatile approach to pseudotype lentiviral vectors." Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 235(10): 1269-1276.
- Benabdellah, K., M. Cobo, P. Munoz, M. G. Toscano and F. Martin (2011). "Development of an all-in-one lentiviral vector system based on the original TetR for the easy generation of Tet-ON cell lines." PLoS One 6(8): e23734.
- Benveniste, R. E., M. M. Lieber, D. M. Livingston, C. J. Sherr, G. J. Todaro and S. S. Kalter (1974). "Infectious C-type virus isolated from a baboon placenta." Nature 248(5443): 17-20.
- Beq, S., M. T. Nugeyre, R. Ho Tsong Fang, D. Gautier, R. Legrand, N. Schmitt, J. Estaquier, F. Barre-Sinoussi, B. Hurtrel, R. Cheynier and N. Israel (2006). "IL-7 induces immunological improvement in SIV-infected rhesus macaques under antiviral therapy." J Immunol 176(2): 914-922.
- Besseyrias, V., E. Fiorini, L. J. Strobl, U. Zimber-Strobl, A. Dumortier, U. Koch, M. L. Arcangeli, S. Ezine, H. R. Macdonald and F. Radtke (2007). "Hierarchy of Notch-Delta interactions promoting T cell lineage commitment and maturation." J Exp Med 204(2): 331-343.
- Bhardwaj, G., B. Murdoch, D. Wu, D. P. Baker, K. P. Williams, K. Chadwick, L. E. Ling, F. N. Karanu and M. Bhatia (2001). "Sonic hedgehog induces the proliferation of primitive human hematopoietic cells via BMP regulation." Nat Immunol 2(2): 172-180.

- Bhatia, M., D. Bonnet, B. Murdoch, O. I. Gan and J. E. Dick (1998). "A newly discovered class of human hematopoietic cells with SCID-repopulating activity." Nat Med 4(9): 1038-1045.
- Biffi, A., E. Montini, L. Lorioli, M. Cesani, F. Fumagalli, T. Plati, C. Baldoli, S. Martino, A. Calabria, S. Canale, F. Benedicenti, G. Vallanti, L. Biasco, S. Leo, N. Kabbara, G. Zanetti, W. B. Rizzo, N. A. Mehta, M. P. Cicalese, M. Casiraghi, J. J. Boelens, U. Del Carro, D. J. Dow, M. Schmidt, A. Assanelli, V. Neduva, C. Di Serio, E. Stupka, J. Gardner, C. von Kalle, C. Bordignon, F. Ciceri, A. Rovelli, M. G. Roncarolo, A. Aiuti, M. Sessa and L. Naldini (2013). "Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy benefits metachromatic leukodystrophy." Science 341(6148): 1233158.
- Bigger, B. W. and R. F. Wynn (2014). "Novel approaches and mechanisms in hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy." Discov Med 17(94): 207-215.
- Bijou, F., Z. Ivanovic, J. M. Boiron and F. Nicolini (2011). "[Hematopoietic stem cells mobilization: state of the art in 2011 and perspectives]." Transfus Clin Biol 18(5-6): 503-515.
- Billerbeck, E., W. T. Barry, K. Mu, M. Dorner, C. M. Rice and A. Ploss (2011). "Development of human CD4+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in human stem cell factor-, granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor-, and interleukin-3-expressing NOD-SCID IL2Rgamma(null) humanized mice." Blood 117(11): 3076-3086.
- Blachere, N. E., H. K. Morris, D. Braun, H. Saklani, J. P. Di Santo, R. B. Darnell and M. L. Albert (2006). "IL-2 is required for the activation of memory CD8+ T cells via antigen cross-presentation." J Immunol 176(12): 7288-7300.
- Blaese, R. M., K. W. Culver, A. D. Miller, C. S. Carter, T. Fleisher, M. Clerici, G. Shearer, L. Chang, Y. Chiang, P. Tolstoshev, J. J. Greenblatt, S. A. Rosenberg, H. Klein, M. Berger, C. A. Mullen, W. J. Ramsey, L. Muul, R. A. Morgan and W. F. Anderson (1995). "T lymphocyte-directed gene therapy for ADA- SCID: initial trial results after 4 years." Science 270(5235): 475-480.
- Blom, B., M. C. Verschuren, M. H. Heemskerk, A. Q. Bakker, E. J. van Gastel-Mol, I. L. Wolvers-Tettero, J. J. van Dongen and H. Spits (1999). "TCR gene rearrangements and expression of the pre-T cell receptor complex during human T-cell differentiation." Blood 93(9): 3033-3043.
- Blomer, U., L. Naldini, T. Kafri, D. Trono, I. M. Verma and F. H. Gage (1997). "Highly efficient and sustained gene transfer in adult neurons with a lentivirus vector." J Virol 71(9): 6641-6649.
- Bobisse, S., M. Rondina, A. Merlo, V. Tisato, S. Mandruzzato, M. Amendola, L. Naldini, R. A. Willemsen, R. Debets, P. Zanovello and A. Rosato (2009). "Reprogramming T lymphocytes for melanoma adoptive immunotherapy by T-cell receptor gene transfer with lentiviral vectors." Cancer Res 69(24): 9385-9394.
- Bondanza, A., V. Valtolina, Z. Magnani, M. Ponzoni, K. Fleischhauer, M. Bonyhadi, C. Traversari, F. Sanvito, S. Toma, M. Radrizzani, S. La Seta-Catamancio, F. Ciceri, C. Bordignon and C. Bonini (2006). "Suicide gene therapy of graft-versus-host disease induced by central memory human T lymphocytes." Blood 107(5): 1828-1836.
- Bonini, C., G. Ferrari, S. Verzeletti, P. Servida, E. Zappone, L. Ruggieri, M. Ponzoni, S. Rossini, F. Mavilio, C. Traversari and C. Bordignon (1997). "HSV-TK gene transfer into donor lymphocytes for control of allogeneic graft-versus-leukemia." Science 276(5319): 1719-1724.
- Bordignon, C., L. D. Notarangelo, N. Nobili, G. Ferrari, G. Casorati, P. Panina, E. Mazzolari, D. Maggioni, C. Rossi, P. Servida, A. G. Ugazio and F. Mavilio (1995). "Gene therapy in peripheral blood lymphocytes and bone marrow for ADA- immunodeficient patients." Science 270(5235): 470-475.
- Bouard, D., V. Sandrin, B. Boson, D. Negre, G. Thomas, C. Granier and F. L. Cosset (2007).
   "An acidic cluster of the cytoplasmic tail of the RD114 virus glycoprotein controls assembly of retroviral envelopes." Traffic 8(7): 835-847.
- Bovia, F., P. Salmon, T. Matthes, K. Kvell, T. H. Nguyen, C. Werner-Favre, M. Barnet, M. Nagy, F. Leuba, J. F. Arrighi, V. Piguet, D. Trono and R. H. Zubler (2003). "Efficient

transduction of primary human B lymphocytes and nondividing myeloma B cells with HIV-1-derived lentiviral vectors." Blood 101(5): 1727-1733.

- Brandle, D., S. Muller, C. Muller, H. Hengartner and H. Pircher (1994). "Regulation of RAG-1 and CD69 expression in the thymus during positive and negative selection." Eur J Immunol 24(1): 145-151.
- Braun, S. E., F. E. Wong, M. Connole, G. Qiu, L. Lee, J. Gillis, X. Lu, L. Humeau, V. Slepushkin, G. K. Binder, B. Dropulic and R. P. Johnson (2005). "Inhibition of simian/human immunodeficiency virus replication in CD4+ T cells derived from lentiviral-transduced CD34+ hematopoietic cells." Mol Ther 12(6): 1157-1167.
- Breckpot, K., P. U. Emeagi and K. Thielemans (2008). "Lentiviral vectors for anti-tumor immunotherapy." Curr Gene Ther 8(6): 438-448.
- Brody, B. A., S. S. Rhee and E. Hunter (1994). "Postassembly cleavage of a retroviral glycoprotein cytoplasmic domain removes a necessary incorporation signal and activates fusion activity." J Virol 68(7): 4620-4627.
- Brown, B. D. and L. Naldini (2009). "Exploiting and antagonizing microRNA regulation for therapeutic and experimental applications." Nat Rev Genet 10(8): 578-585.
- Broxmeyer, H. E. (2008). Cord blood hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. StemBook. Cambridge (MA), Harvard Stem Cell Institute Copyright: (c) 2010 Hal E. Broxmeyer.
- Buchholz, C. J., M. D. Muhlebach and K. Cichutek (2009). "Lentiviral vectors with measles virus glycoproteins - dream team for gene transfer?" Trends Biotechnol 27(5): 259-265.
- Buchholz, C. J., K. W. Peng, F. J. Morling, J. Zhang, F. L. Cosset and S. J. Russell (1998).
   "In vivo selection of protease cleavage sites from retrovirus display libraries." Nat Biotechnol 16(10): 951-954.
- Buchschacher, G. L., Jr. and F. Wong-Staal (2001). "Approaches to gene therapy for human immunodeficiency virus infection." Hum Gene Ther 12(9): 1013-1019.
- Burgess-Beusse, B., C. Farrell, M. Gaszner, M. Litt, V. Mutskov, F. Recillas-Targa, M. Simpson, A. West and G. Felsenfeld (2002). "The insulation of genes from external enhancers and silencing chromatin." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99 Suppl 4: 16433-16437.
- Burkett, P. R., R. Koka, M. Chien, S. Chai, F. Chan, A. Ma and D. L. Boone (2003). "IL-15R alpha expression on CD8+ T cells is dispensable for T cell memory." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(8): 4724-4729.
- Buza-Vidas, N., J. Antonchuk, H. Qian, R. Mansson, S. Luc, S. Zandi, K. Anderson, S. Takaki, J. M. Nygren, C. T. Jensen and S. E. Jacobsen (2006). "Cytokines regulate postnatal hematopoietic stem cell expansion: opposing roles of thrombopoietin and LNK." Genes Dev 20(15): 2018-2023.
- Bystrykh, L. V., E. Verovskaya, E. Zwart, M. Broekhuis and G. de Haan (2012). "Counting stem cells: methodological constraints." Nat Methods 9(6): 567-574.

# <u>C</u>

- Calloni, R., E. A. Cordero, J. A. Henriques and D. Bonatto (2013). "Reviewing and updating the major molecular markers for stem cells." Stem Cells Dev 22(9): 1455-1476.
- Calvi, L. M., G. B. Adams, K. W. Weibrecht, J. M. Weber, D. P. Olson, M. C. Knight, R. P. Martin, E. Schipani, P. Divieti, F. R. Bringhurst, L. A. Milner, H. M. Kronenberg and D. T. Scadden (2003). "Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche." Nature 425(6960): 841-846.
- Cantwell M, Hua T, Pappas J, Kipps TJ (1997). "Acquired CD40-ligand deficiency in chronic lymphocytic leukemia". Nat Med, 3:984-989.
- Cantwell MJ, Sharma S, Friedmann T, Kipps TJ (1996). "Adenovirus vector infection of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells". Blood, 88:4676-4683.
- Cartier, N., S. Hacein-Bey-Abina, C. C. Bartholomae, P. Bougneres, M. Schmidt, C. V. Kalle, A. Fischer, M. Cavazzana-Calvo and P. Aubourg (2012). "Lentiviral hematopoietic cell gene therapy for X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy." Methods Enzymol 507: 187-198.
- Cartier, N., S. Hacein-Bey-Abina, C. C. Bartholomae, G. Veres, M. Schmidt, I. Kutschera, M. Vidaud, U. Abel, L. Dal-Cortivo, L. Caccavelli, N. Mahlaoui, V. Kiermer, D. Mittelstaedt, C. Bellesme, N. Lahlou, F. Lefrere, S. Blanche, M. Audit, E. Payen, P. Leboulch, B. l'Homme, P. Bougneres, C. Von Kalle, A. Fischer, M. Cavazzana-Calvo and P. Aubourg (2009). "Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy with a lentiviral vector in X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy." Science 326(5954): 818-823.
- Cartier, N., S. Hacein-Bey-Abina, C. Von Kalle, P. Bougneres, A. Fischer, M. Cavazzana-Calvo and P. Aubourg (2010). "[Gene therapy of x-linked adrenoleukodystrophy using hematopoietic stem cells and a lentiviral vector]." Bull Acad Natl Med 194(2): 255-264; discussion 264-258.
- Case, S. S., M. A. Price, C. T. Jordan, X. J. Yu, L. Wang, G. Bauer, D. L. Haas, D. Xu, R. Stripecke, L. Naldini, D. B. Kohn and G. M. Crooks (1999). "Stable transduction of quiescent CD34(+)CD38(-) human hematopoietic cells by HIV-1-based lentiviral vectors." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(6): 2988-2993.
- Castermans, E., M. Hannon, J. Dutrieux, S. Humblet-Baron, L. Seidel, R. Cheynier, E. Willems, A. Gothot, J. F. Vanbellinghen, V. Geenen, B. M. Sandmaier, R. Storb, Y. Beguin and F. Baron (2011). "Thymic recovery after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation with non-myeloablative conditioning is limited to patients younger than 60 years of age." Haematologica 96(2): 298-306.
- Cavalieri, S., S. Cazzaniga, M. Geuna, Z. Magnani, C. Bordignon, L. Naldini and C. Bonini (2003). "Human T lymphocytes transduced by lentiviral vectors in the absence of TCR activation maintain an intact immune competence." Blood 102(2): 497-505.
- Cavazzana-Calvo, M. and A. Fischer (2004). "Efficacy of gene therapy for SCID is being confirmed." Lancet 364(9452): 2155-2156.
- Cavazzana-Calvo, M., E. Payen, O. Negre, G. Wang, K. Hehir, F. Fusil, J. Down, M. Denaro, T. Brady, K. Westerman, R. Cavallesco, B. Gillet-Legrand, L. Caccavelli, R. Sgarra, L. Maouche-Chretien, F. Bernaudin, R. Girot, R. Dorazio, G. J. Mulder, A. Polack, A. Bank, J. Soulier, J. Larghero, N. Kabbara, B. Dalle, B. Gourmel, G. Socie, S. Chretien, N. Cartier, P. Aubourg, A. Fischer, K. Cornetta, F. Galacteros, Y. Beuzard, E. Gluckman, F. Bushman, S. Hacein-Bey-Abina and P. Leboulch (2010). "Transfusion independence and HMGA2 activation after gene therapy of human beta-thalassaemia." Nature 467(7313): 318-322.
- Cesana, D., M. Ranzani, M. Volpin, C. Bartholomae, C. Duros, A. Artus, S. Merella, F. Benedicenti, L. Sergi Sergi, F. Sanvito, C. Brombin, A. Nonis, C. D. Serio, C. Doglioni, C. von Kalle, M. Schmidt, O. Cohen-Haguenauer, L. Naldini and E. Montini (2014). "Uncovering and dissecting the genotoxicity of self-inactivating lentiviral vectors in vivo." Mol Ther 22(4): 774-785.
- Cesana, D., J. Sgualdino, L. Rudilosso, S. Merella, L. Naldini and E. Montini (2012). "Whole transcriptome characterization of aberrant splicing events induced by lentiviral vector integrations." J Clin Invest 122(5): 1667-1676.
- Charrier, S., L. Dupre, S. Scaramuzza, L. Jeanson-Leh, M. P. Blundell, O. Danos, F. Cattaneo, A. Aiuti, R. Eckenberg, A. J. Thrasher, M. G. Roncarolo and A. Galy (2007). "Lentiviral vectors targeting WASp expression to hematopoietic cells, efficiently transduce and correct cells from WAS patients." Gene Ther 14(5): 415-428.
- Chen, Q., M. Khoury and J. Chen (2009). "Expression of human cytokines dramatically improves reconstitution of specific human-blood lineage cells in humanized mice." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(51): 21783-21788.
- Chen, S. H., T. F. Wang and K. L. Yang (2013). "Hematopoietic stem cell donation." Int J Hematol 97(4): 446-455.
- Cheshier, S. H., S. J. Morrison, X. Liao and I. L. Weissman (1999). "In vivo proliferation and cell cycle kinetics of long-term self-renewing hematopoietic stem cells." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(6): 3120-3125.
- Chiriaco, M., G. Farinelli, V. Capo, E. Zonari, S. Scaramuzza, G. Di Matteo, L. S. Sergi, M. Migliavacca, R. J. Hernandez, F. Bombelli, E. Giorda, A. Kajaste-Rudnitski, D. Trono, M. Grez, P. Rossi, A. Finocchi, L. Naldini, B. Gentner and A. Aiuti (2014). "Dual-

regulated Lentiviral Vector for Gene Therapy of X-linked Chronic Granulomatosis." Mol Ther 22(8): 1472-1483.

- Choi, K. D., J. Yu, K. Smuga-Otto, G. Salvagiotto, W. Rehrauer, M. Vodyanik, J. Thomson and I. Slukvin (2009). "Hematopoietic and endothelial differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells." Stem Cells 27(3): 559-567.
- Chow, A., D. Lucas, A. Hidalgo, S. Mendez-Ferrer, D. Hashimoto, C. Scheiermann, M. Battista, M. Leboeuf, C. Prophete, N. van Rooijen, M. Tanaka, M. Merad and P. S. Frenette (2011). "Bone marrow CD169+ macrophages promote the retention of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in the mesenchymal stem cell niche." J Exp Med 208(2): 261-271.
- Christ, O., K. Lucke, S. Imren, K. Leung, M. Hamilton, A. Eaves, C. Smith and C. Eaves (2007). "Improved purification of hematopoietic stem cells based on their elevated aldehyde dehydrogenase activity." Haematologica 92(9): 1165-1172.
- Christodoulopoulos, I. and P. M. Cannon (2001). "Sequences in the cytoplasmic tail of the gibbon ape leukemia virus envelope protein that prevent its incorporation into lentivirus vectors." J Virol 75(9): 4129-4138.
- Chu, Y. W., S. Schmitz, B. Choudhury, W. Telford, V. Kapoor, S. Garfield, D. Howe and R. E. Gress (2008). "Exogenous insulin-like growth factor 1 enhances thymopoiesis predominantly through thymic epithelial cell expansion." Blood 112(7): 2836-2846.
- Circosta, P., L. Granziero, A. Follenzi, E. Vigna, S. Stella, A. Vallario, A. R. Elia, L. Gammaitoni, K. Vitaggio, F. Orso, M. Geuna, D. Sangiolo, M. Todorovic, C. Giachino and A. Cignetti (2009). "T cell receptor (TCR) gene transfer with lentiviral vectors allows efficient redirection of tumor specificity in naïve and memory T cells without prior stimulation of endogenous TCR." Hum Gene Ther 20(12): 1576-1588.
  Cire, S., S. Da Rocha, R. Yao, S. Fisson, C. J. Buchholz, M. K. Collins and A. Galy (2014).
- Cire, S., S. Da Rocha, R. Yao, S. Fisson, C. J. Buchholz, M. K. Collins and A. Galy (2014).
   "Immunization of Mice with Lentiviral Vectors Targeted to MHC Class II+ Cells Is Due to Preferential Transduction of Dendritic Cells In Vivo." PLoS One 9(7): e101644.
- Civin, C. I., L. C. Strauss, C. Brovall, M. J. Fackler, J. F. Schwartz and J. H. Shaper (1984). "Antigenic analysis of hematopoiesis. III. A hematopoietic progenitor cell surface antigen defined by a monoclonal antibody raised against KG-1a cells." J Immunol 133(1): 157-165.
- Cleynen, I. and W. J. Van de Ven (2008). "The HMGA proteins: a myriad of functions (Review)." Int J Oncol 32(2): 289-305.
- Coiras, M., M. R. Lopez-Huertas, M. Perez-Olmeda and J. Alcami (2009). "Understanding HIV-1 latency provides clues for the eradication of long-term reservoirs." Nat Rev Microbiol 7(11): 798-812.
- Cole SP, Campling BG, Atlaw T, Kozbor D, Roder JC (1984). "Human monoclonal antibodies". Mol Cell Biochem, 62:109-120.
- Conze, T., R. Lammers, S. Kuci, M. Scherl-Mostageer, N. Schweifer, L. Kanz and H. J. Buhring (2003). "CDCP1 is a novel marker for hematopoietic stem cells." Ann N Y Acad Sci 996: 222-226.
- Copelan, E. A. (2006). "Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation." N Engl J Med 354(17): 1813-1826.
- Cornu, T. I. and T. Cathomen (2007). "Targeted genome modifications using integrasedeficient lentiviral vectors." Mol Ther 15(12): 2107-2113.
- Cosson, P. (1996). "Direct interaction between the envelope and matrix proteins of HIV-1." Embo j 15(21): 5783-5788.
- Coulombel, L. (2004). "Identification of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells: strength and drawbacks of functional assays." Oncogene 23(43): 7210-7222.
- Couto, L. B. and K. A. High (2010). "Viral vector-mediated RNA interference." Curr Opin Pharmacol 10(5): 534-542.
- Cronin, J., X. Y. Zhang and J. Reiser (2005). "Altering the tropism of lentiviral vectors through pseudotyping." Curr Gene Ther 5(4): 387-398.
- Cross, M. A. and T. Enver (1997). "The lineage commitment of haemopoietic progenitor cells." Curr Opin Genet Dev 7(5): 609-613.

- Croyle, M. A., S. M. Callahan, A. Auricchio, G. Schumer, K. D. Linse, J. M. Wilson, L. J. Brunner and G. P. Kobinger (2004). "PEGylation of a vesicular stomatitis virus G pseudotyped lentivirus vector prevents inactivation in serum." J Virol 78(2): 912-921.
- Cutler, C., S. Giri, S. Jeyapalan, D. Paniagua, A. Viswanathan and J. H. Antin (2001). "Acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic peripheral-blood stem-cell and bone marrow transplantation: a meta-analysis." J Clin Oncol 19(16): 3685-3691.

#### D

- D'Andrea, A. D. and M. Grompe (2003). "The Fanconi anaemia/BRCA pathway." Nat Rev Cancer 3(1): 23-34.
- Danet, G. H., J. L. Luongo, G. Butler, M. M. Lu, A. J. Tenner, M. C. Simon and D. A. Bonnet (2002). "C1qRp defines a new human stem cell population with hematopoietic and hepatic potential." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(16): 10441-10445.
- Danner, R., S. N. Chaudhari, J. Rosenberger, J. Surls, T. L. Richie, T. D. Brumeanu and S. Casares (2011). "Expression of HLA class II molecules in humanized NOD.Rag1KO.IL2RgcKO mice is critical for development and function of human T and B cells." PLoS One 6(5): e19826.
- Dao, M. A., J. Arevalo and J. A. Nolta (2003). "Reversibility of CD34 expression on human hematopoietic stem cells that retain the capacity for secondary reconstitution." Blood 101(1): 112-118.
- Davey, M. G., P. W. Zoltick, C. A. Todorow, M. P. Limberis, E. D. Ruchelli, H. L. Hedrick and A. W. Flake (2012). "Jaagsiekte sheep retrovirus pseudotyped lentiviral vectormediated gene transfer to fetal ovine lung." Gene Ther 19(2): 201-209.
- Davis, M. M. (1990). "T cell receptor gene diversity and selection." Annu Rev Biochem 59: 475-496.
- D'Cruz, L. M., M. P. Rubinstein and A. W. Goldrath (2009). "Surviving the crash: transitioning from effector to memory CD8+ T cell." Semin Immunol 21(2): 92-98.
- De Feo, C. J. and C. D. Weiss (2012). "Escape from human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) entry inhibitors." Viruses 4(12): 3859-3911.
- de Swart, R. L., M. Ludlow, L. de Witte, Y. Yanagi, G. van Amerongen, S. McQuaid, S. Yuksel, T. B. Geijtenbeek, W. P. Duprex and A. D. Osterhaus (2007). "Predominant infection of CD150+ lymphocytes and dendritic cells during measles virus infection of macaques." PLoS Pathog 3(11): e178.
- de Wynter, E. A., D. Buck, C. Hart, R. Heywood, L. H. Coutinho, A. Clayton, J. A. Rafferty, D. Burt, G. Guenechea, J. A. Bueren, D. Gagen, L. J. Fairbairn, B. I. Lord and N. G. Testa (1998). "CD34+AC133+ cells isolated from cord blood are highly enriched in long-term culture-initiating cells, NOD/SCID-repopulating cells and dendritic cell progenitors." Stem Cells 16(6): 387-396.
- Deeks, S. G., B. Wagner, P. A. Anton, R. T. Mitsuyasu, D. T. Scadden, C. Huang, C. Macken, D. D. Richman, C. Christopherson, C. H. June, R. Lazar, D. F. Broad, S. Jalali and K. M. Hege (2002). "A phase II randomized study of HIV-specific T-cell gene therapy in subjects with undetectable plasma viremia on combination antiretroviral therapy." Mol Ther 5(6): 788-797.
- Deichmann, A., S. Hacein-Bey-Abina, M. Schmidt, A. Garrigue, M. H. Brugman, J. Hu, H. Glimm, G. Gyapay, B. Prum, C. C. Fraser, N. Fischer, K. Schwarzwaelder, M. L. Siegler, D. de Ridder, K. Pike-Overzet, S. J. Howe, A. J. Thrasher, G. Wagemaker, U. Abel, F. J. Staal, E. Delabesse, J. L. Villeval, B. Aronow, C. Hue, C. Prinz, M. Wissler, C. Klanke, J. Weissenbach, I. Alexander, A. Fischer, C. von Kalle and M. Cavazzana-Calvo (2007). "Vector integration is nonrandom and clustered and influences the fate of lymphopoiesis in SCID-X1 gene therapy." J Clin Invest 117(8): 2225-2232.
- Demaison, C., K. Parsley, G. Brouns, M. Scherr, K. Battmer, C. Kinnon, M. Grez and A. J. Thrasher (2002). "High-level transduction and gene expression in hematopoietic repopulating cells using a human immunodeficiency [correction of imunodeficiency]

virus type 1-based lentiviral vector containing an internal spleen focus forming virus promoter." Hum Gene Ther 13(7): 803-813.

- den Braber, I., T. Mugwagwa, N. Vrisekoop, L. Westera, R. Mogling, A. B. de Boer, N. Willems, E. H. Schrijver, G. Spierenburg, K. Gaiser, E. Mul, S. A. Otto, A. F. Ruiter, M. T. Ackermans, F. Miedema, J. A. Borghans, R. J. de Boer and K. Tesselaar (2012). "Maintenance of peripheral naïve T cells is sustained by thymus output in mice but not humans." Immunity 36(2): 288-297.
- Desmaris, N., A. Bosch, C. Salaun, C. Petit, M. C. Prevost, N. Tordo, P. Perrin, O. Schwartz, H. de Rocquigny and J. M. Heard (2001). "Production and neurotropism of lentivirus vectors pseudotyped with lyssavirus envelope glycoproteins." Mol Ther 4(2): 149-156.
- Di Nunzio, F., T. Felix, N. J. Arhel, S. Nisole, P. Charneau and A. S. Beignon (2012). "HIVderived vectors for therapy and vaccination against HIV." Vaccine 30(15): 2499-2509.
- Di Nunzio, F., B. Piovani, F. L. Cosset, F. Mavilio and A. Stornaiuolo (2007). "Transduction of human hematopoietic stem cells by lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with the RD114-TR chimeric envelope glycoprotein." Hum Gene Ther 18(9): 811-820.
- Diaz-Flores, L., Jr., J. F. Madrid, R. Gutierrez, H. Varela, F. Valladares, H. Alvarez-Arguelles and L. Diaz-Flores (2006). "Adult stem and transit-amplifying cell location." Histol Histopathol 21(9): 995-1027.
- Dik, W. A., K. Pike-Overzet, F. Weerkamp, D. de Ridder, E. F. de Haas, M. R. Baert, P. van der Spek, E. E. Koster, M. J. Reinders, J. J. van Dongen, A. W. Langerak and F. J. Staal (2005). "New insights on human T cell development by quantitative T cell receptor gene rearrangement studies and gene expression profiling." J Exp Med 201(11): 1715-1723.
- Ding, L., T. L. Saunders, G. Enikolopov and S. J. Morrison (2012). "Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells." Nature 481(7382): 457-462.
- Dissen, G. A., A. Lomniczi, T. L. Neff, T. R. Hobbs, S. G. Kohama, C. D. Kroenke, F. Galimi and S. R. Ojeda (2009). "In vivo manipulation of gene expression in non-human primates using lentiviral vectors as delivery vehicles." Methods 49(1): 70-77.
- Domen, J., S. H. Cheshier and I. L. Weissman (2000). "The role of apoptosis in the regulation of hematopoietic stem cells: Overexpression of Bcl-2 increases both their number and repopulation potential." J Exp Med 191(2): 253-264.
- Douek, D. C., R. D. McFarland, P. H. Keiser, E. A. Gage, J. M. Massey, B. F. Haynes, M. A. Polis, A. T. Haase, M. B. Feinberg, J. L. Sullivan, B. D. Jamieson, J. A. Zack, L. J. Picker and R. A. Koup (1998). "Changes in thymic function with age and during the treatment of HIV infection." Nature 396(6712): 690-695.
- Douek, D. C., R. A. Vescio, M. R. Betts, J. M. Brenchley, B. J. Hill, L. Zhang, J. R. Berenson, R. H. Collins and R. A. Koup (2000). "Assessment of thymic output in adults after haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation and prediction of T-cell reconstitution." Lancet 355(9218): 1875-1881.
- Doulatov, S., F. Notta, E. Laurenti and J. E. Dick (2012). "Hematopoiesis: a human perspective." Cell Stem Cell 10(2): 120-136.
- Drake, A. C., Q. Chen and J. Chen (2012). "Engineering humanized mice for improved hematopoietic reconstitution." Cell Mol Immunol 9(3): 215-224.
- Dropulic, B. (2011). "Lentiviral vectors: their molecular design, safety, and use in laboratory and preclinical research." Hum Gene Ther 22(6): 649-657.
- Ducrey-Rundquist, O., M. Guyader and D. Trono (2002). "Modalities of interleukin-7-induced human immunodeficiency virus permissiveness in quiescent T lymphocytes." J Virol 76(18): 9103-9111.
- Dudakov, J. A., A. M. Hanash, R. R. Jenq, L. F. Young, A. Ghosh, N. V. Singer, M. L. West,
  O. M. Smith, A. M. Holland, J. J. Tsai, R. L. Boyd and M. R. van den Brink (2012).
  "Interleukin-22 drives endogenous thymic regeneration in mice." Science 336(6077): 91-95.
- Duisit, G., H. Conrath, S. Saleun, S. Folliot, N. Provost, F. L. Cosset, V. Sandrin, P. Moullier and F. Rolling (2002). "Five recombinant simian immunodeficiency virus pseudotypes lead to exclusive transduction of retinal pigmented epithelium in rat." Mol Ther 6(4): 446-454.

- Dull, T., R. Zufferey, M. Kelly, R. J. Mandel, M. Nguyen, D. Trono and L. Naldini (1998). "A third-generation lentivirus vector with a conditional packaging system." J Virol 72(11): 8463-8471.
- Duong, H. K., B. N. Savani, E. Copelan, S. Devine, L. J. Costa, J. R. Wingard, P. Shaughnessy, N. Majhail, M. A. Perales, C. S. Cutler, W. Bensinger, M. R. Litzow, M. Mohty, R. E. Champlin, H. Leather, S. Giralt and P. A. Carpenter (2014). "Peripheral Blood Progenitor Cell Mobilization for Autologous and Allogeneic Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation: Guidelines from the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation." Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.
- Dupre, L., S. Trifari, A. Follenzi, F. Marangoni, T. Lain de Lera, A. Bernad, S. Martino, S. Tsuchiya, C. Bordignon, L. Naldini, A. Aiuti and M. G. Roncarolo (2004). "Lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer in T cells from Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome patients leads to functional correction." Mol Ther 10(5): 903-915.

# E

- Egelhofer, M., G. Brandenburg, H. Martinius, P. Schult-Dietrich, G. Melikyan, R. Kunert, C. Baum, I. Choi, A. Alexandrov and D. von Laer (2004). "Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry in cells expressing gp41-derived peptides." J Virol 78(2): 568-575.
- El-Amine, M., M. Melo, Y. Kang, H. Nguyen, J. Qian and D. W. Scott (2000). "Mechanisms of tolerance induction by a gene-transferred peptide-IgG fusion protein expressed in B lineage cells." J Immunol 165(10): 5631-5636.
- Ema, H., K. Sudo, J. Seita, A. Matsubara, Y. Morita, M. Osawa, K. Takatsu, S. Takaki and H. Nakauchi (2005). "Quantification of self-renewal capacity in single hematopoietic stem cells from normal and Lnk-deficient mice." Dev Cell 8(6): 907-914.
- Ende, M. and N. Ende (1972). "Hematopoietic transplantation by means of fetal (cord) blood. A new method." Va Med Mon (1918) 99(3): 276-280.
- Enver, T. and M. Greaves (1998). "Loops, lineage, and leukemia." Cell 94(1): 9-12.
- Enver, T., C. M. Heyworth and T. M. Dexter (1998). "Do stem cells play dice?" Blood 92(2): 348-351; discussion 352.
- Escarpe, P., N. Zayek, P. Chin, F. Borellini, R. Zufferey, G. Veres and V. Kiermer (2003). "Development of a sensitive assay for detection of replication-competent recombinant lentivirus in large-scale HIV-based vector preparations." Mol Ther 8(2): 332-341.

#### E

- Farley, D. C., R. Bannister, M. A. Leroux-Carlucci, N. E. Evans, J. E. Miskin and K. A. Mitrophanous (2012). "Development of an equine-tropic replication-competent lentivirus assay for equine infectious anemia virus-based lentiviral vectors." Hum Gene Ther Methods 23(5): 309-323.
- Fehse, B., O. Frerk, M. Goldmann, M. Bulduk and A. R. Zander (2000). "Efficient depletion of alloreactive donor T lymphocytes based on expression of two activation-induced antigens (CD25 and CD69)." Br J Haematol 109(3): 644-651.
- Fehse, B., M. Goldmann, O. Frerk, M. Bulduk and A. R. Zander (2000). "Depletion of alloreactive donor T cells using immunomagnetic cell selection." Bone Marrow Transplant 25 Suppl 2: S39-42.
- Ferrand, C., E. Robinet, E. Contassot, J. M. Certoux, A. Lim, P. Herve and P. Tiberghien (2000). "Retrovirus-mediated gene transfer in primary T lymphocytes: influence of the transduction/selection process and of ex vivo expansion on the T cell receptor beta chain hypervariable region repertoire." Hum Gene Ther 11(8): 1151-1164.
- Finkelshtein, D., A. Werman, D. Novick, S. Barak and M. Rubinstein (2013). "LDL receptor and its family members serve as the cellular receptors for vesicular stomatitis virus." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(18): 7306-7311.

- Finzi, D., M. Hermankova, T. Pierson, L. M. Carruth, C. Buck, R. E. Chaisson, T. C. Quinn, K. Chadwick, J. Margolick, R. Brookmeyer, J. Gallant, M. Markowitz, D. D. Ho, D. D. Richman and R. F. Siliciano (1997). "Identification of a reservoir for HIV-1 in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy." Science 278(5341): 1295-1300.
- Follenzi, A., M. Battaglia, A. Lombardo, A. Annoni, M. G. Roncarolo and L. Naldini (2004). "Targeting lentiviral vector expression to hepatocytes limits transgene-specific immune response and establishes long-term expression of human antihemophilic factor IX in mice." Blood 103(10): 3700-3709.
- Foudi, A., K. Hochedlinger, D. Van Buren, J. W. Schindler, R. Jaenisch, V. Carey and H. Hock (2009). "Analysis of histone 2B-GFP retention reveals slowly cycling hematopoietic stem cells." Nat Biotechnol 27(1): 84-90.
- Fuleihan R, Ramesh N, Loh R, Jabara H, Rosen RS, Chatila T, Fu SM, Stamenkovic I, Geha RS (1993). "Defective expression of the CD40 ligand in X chromosome-linked immunoglobulin deficiency with normal or elevated IgM". Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:2170-2173.
- Frankel, A. D. and J. A. Young (1998). "HIV-1: fifteen proteins and an RNA." Annu Rev Biochem 67: 1-25.
- Frecha, C., C. Costa, C. Levy, D. Negre, S. J. Russell, A. Maisner, G. Salles, K. W. Peng, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2009). "Efficient and stable transduction of resting B lymphocytes and primary chronic lymphocyte leukemia cells using measles virus gp displaying lentiviral vectors." Blood 114(15): 3173-3180.
- Frecha, C., C. Costa, D. Negre, F. Amirache, D. Trono, P. Rio, J. Bueren, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2012). "A novel lentiviral vector targets gene transfer into human hematopoietic stem cells in marrow from patients with bone marrow failure syndrome and in vivo in humanized mice." Blood 119(5): 1139-1150.
- Frecha, C., C. Costa, D. Negre, E. Gauthier, S. J. Russell, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2008). "Stable transduction of quiescent T cells without induction of cycle progression by a novel lentiviral vector pseudotyped with measles virus glycoproteins." Blood 112(13): 4843-4852.
- Frecha, C., F. Fusil, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2011). "In vivo gene delivery into hCD34+ cells in a humanized mouse model." Methods Mol Biol 737: 367-390.
- Frecha, C., C. Levy, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2010). "Advances in the field of lentivector-based transduction of T and B lymphocytes for gene therapy." Mol Ther 18(10): 1748-1757.
- Frecha, C., C. Levy, C. Costa, D. Negre, F. Amirache, R. Buckland, S. J. Russell, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2011). "Measles virus glycoprotein-pseudotyped lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer into quiescent lymphocytes requires binding to both SLAM and CD46 entry receptors." J Virol 85(12): 5975-5985.
- Frecha, C., J. Szecsi, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2008). "Strategies for targeting lentiviral vectors." Curr Gene Ther 8(6): 449-460.
- Frecha, C., M. G. Toscano, C. Costa, M. J. Saez-Lara, F. L. Cosset, E. Verhoeyen and F. Martin (2008). "Improved lentiviral vectors for Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome gene therapy mimic endogenous expression profiles throughout haematopoiesis." Gene Ther 15(12): 930-941.
- Fry, T. J., B. L. Christensen, K. L. Komschlies, R. E. Gress and C. L. Mackall (2001). "Interleukin-7 restores immunity in athymic T-cell-depleted hosts." Blood 97(6): 1525-1533.
- Fry, T. J. and C. L. Mackall (2001). "Interleukin-7: master regulator of peripheral T-cell homeostasis?" Trends Immunol 22(10): 564-571.
- Fuji, S., M. Kapp and H. Einsele (2013). "Monitoring of pathogen-specific T-cell immune reconstitution after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation." Front Immunol 4: 276.
- Fuji, S., M. Kapp, G. U. Grigoleit and H. Einsele (2011). "Adoptive immunotherapy with virusspecific T cells." Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 24(3): 413-419.
- Fukui, T., K. Katamura, N. Abe, T. Kiyomasu, J. Iio, H. Ueno, M. Mayumi and K. Furusho (1997). "IL-7 induces proliferation, variable cytokine-producing ability and IL-2

responsiveness in naïve CD4+ T-cells from human cord blood." Immunol Lett 59(1): 21-28.

- Fukuma, A., M. Abe, S. Urata, R. Yoshikawa, Y. Morikawa, T. Miyazawa and J. Yasuda (2011). "Viral and cellular requirements for the budding of feline endogenous retrovirus RD-114." Virol J 8: 540.
- Funke, S., A. Maisner, M. D. Muhlebach, U. Koehl, M. Grez, R. Cattaneo, K. Cichutek and C. J. Buchholz (2008). "Targeted cell entry of lentiviral vectors." Mol Ther 16(8): 1427-1436.
- Gaj, T., C. A. Gersbach and C. F. Barbas, 3rd (2013). "ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Casbased methods for genome engineering." Trends Biotechnol 31(7): 397-405.

G

- Gallacher, L., B. Murdoch, D. M. Wu, F. N. Karanu, M. Keeney and M. Bhatia (2000). "Isolation and characterization of human CD34(-)Lin(-) and CD34(+)Lin(-) hematopoietic stem cells using cell surface markers AC133 and CD7." Blood 95(9): 2813-2820.
- Gallo, P., S. Grimaldi, M. V. Latronico, D. Bonci, A. Pagliuca, P. Gallo, S. Ausoni, C. Peschle and G. Condorelli (2008). "A lentiviral vector with a short troponin-I promoter for tracking cardiomyocyte differentiation of human embryonic stem cells." Gene Ther 15(3): 161-170.
- Galy, A., M. G. Roncarolo and A. J. Thrasher (2008). "Development of lentiviral gene therapy for Wiskott Aldrich syndrome." Expert Opin Biol Ther 8(2): 181-190.
- Galy, A., S. Verma, A. Barcena and H. Spits (1993). "Precursors of CD3+CD4+CD8+ cells in the human thymus are defined by expression of CD34. Delineation of early events in human thymic development." J Exp Med 178(2): 391-401.
- Gatti, R. A., H. J. Meuwissen, H. D. Allen, R. Hong and R. A. Good (1968). "Immunological reconstitution of sex-linked lymphopenic immunological deficiency." Lancet 2(7583): 1366-1369.
- Geiselhart, L. A., C. A. Humphries, T. A. Gregorio, S. Mou, J. Subleski and K. L. Komschlies (2001). "IL-7 administration alters the CD4:CD8 ratio, increases T cell numbers, and increases T cell function in the absence of activation." J Immunol 166(5): 3019-3027.
- Gentner, B. and L. Naldini (2012). "Exploiting microRNA regulation for genetic engineering." Tissue Antigens 80(5): 393-403.
- Geraerts, M., S. Willems, V. Baekelandt, Z. Debyser and R. Gijsbers (2006). "Comparison of lentiviral vector titration methods." BMC Biotechnol 6: 34.
- Ghiaur, G., S. Yegnasubramanian, B. Perkins, J. L. Gucwa, J. M. Gerber and R. J. Jones (2013). "Regulation of human hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal by the microenvironment's control of retinoic acid signaling." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(40): 16121-16126.
- Girard-Gagnepain, A., F. Amirache, C. Costa, C. Levy, C. Frecha, F. Fusil, D. Negre, D. Lavillette, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2014). "Baboon envelope pseudotyped lentiviral vectors outperform VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors for gene transfer into cytokine-stimulated and resting hematopoietic stem cells." Blood.
- Glimm, H., C. R. Ball and C. von Kalle (2011). "You can count on this: barcoded hematopoietic stem cells." Cell Stem Cell 9(5): 390-392.
- Gluckman, E. (1995). "Umbilical cord blood biology and transplantation." Curr Opin Hematol 2(6): 413-416.
- Godfrey, W. R., M. R. Krampf, P. A. Taylor and B. R. Blazar (2004). "Ex vivo depletion of alloreactive cells based on CFSE dye dilution, activation antigen selection, and dendritic cell stimulation." Blood 103(3): 1158-1165.
- Goodell, M. A., K. Brose, G. Paradis, A. S. Conner and R. C. Mulligan (1996). "Isolation and functional properties of murine hematopoietic stem cells that are replicating in vivo." J Exp Med 183(4): 1797-1806.

- Gore, S. D., M. B. Kastan and C. I. Civin (1991). "Normal human bone marrow precursors that express terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase include T-cell precursors and possible lymphoid stem cells." Blood 77(8): 1681-1690.
- Gothot, A., J. C. van der Loo, D. W. Clapp and E. F. Srour (1998). "Cell cycle-related changes in repopulating capacity of human mobilized peripheral blood CD34(+) cells in non-obese diabetic/severe combined immune-deficient mice." Blood 92(8): 2641-2649.
- Gourley, T. S., D. R. Patel, K. Nickerson, S. C. Hong and C. H. Chang (2002). "Aberrant expression of Fas ligand in mice deficient for the MHC class II transactivator." J Immunol 168(9): 4414-4419.
- Goussetis, E., M. Theodosaki, G. Paterakis, J. Peristeri, D. Petropoulos, V. Kitra, C. Papassarandis and S. Graphakos (2000). "A functional hierarchy among the CD34+ hematopoietic cells based on in vitro proliferative and differentiative potential of AC133+CD34(bright) and AC133(dim/)-CD34+ human cord blood cells." J Hematother Stem Cell Res 9(6): 827-840.
- Green, B. J., C. S. Lee and J. E. Rasko (2004). "Biodistribution of the RD114/mammalian type D retrovirus receptor, RDR." J Gene Med 6(3): 249-259.
- Gusella, G. L., E. Fedorova, B. Hanss, D. Marras, M. E. Klotman and P. E. Klotman (2002). "Lentiviral gene transduction of kidney." Hum Gene Ther 13(3): 407-414.

# H

- Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., A. Garrigue, G. P. Wang, J. Soulier, A. Lim, E. Morillon, E. Clappier, L. Caccavelli, E. Delabesse, K. Beldjord, V. Asnafi, E. MacIntyre, L. Dal Cortivo, I. Radford, N. Brousse, F. Sigaux, D. Moshous, J. Hauer, A. Borkhardt, B. H. Belohradsky, U. Wintergerst, M. C. Velez, L. Leiva, R. Sorensen, N. Wulffraat, S. Blanche, F. D. Bushman, A. Fischer and M. Cavazzana-Calvo (2008). "Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1." J Clin Invest 118(9): 3132-3142.
- Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., C. von Kalle, M. Schmidt, F. Le Deist, N. Wulffraat, E. McIntyre, I. Radford, J. L. Villeval, C. C. Fraser, M. Cavazzana-Calvo and A. Fischer (2003). "A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency." N Engl J Med 348(3): 255-256.
- Hachiya, A., P. Sriwiriyanont, A. Patel, N. Saito, A. Ohuchi, T. Kitahara, Y. Takema, R. Tsuboi, R. E. Boissy, M. O. Visscher, J. M. Wilson and G. P. Kobinger (2007). "Gene transfer in human skin with different pseudotyped HIV-based vectors." Gene Ther 14(8): 648-656.
- Haddad, R., F. Guimiot, E. Six, F. Jourquin, N. Setterblad, E. Kahn, M. Yagello, C. Schiffer, I. Andre-Schmutz, M. Cavazzana-Calvo, J. C. Gluckman, A. L. Delezoide, F. Pflumio and B. Canque (2006). "Dynamics of thymus-colonizing cells during human development." Immunity 24(2): 217-230.
- Hamilton, S. E., M. C. Wolkers, S. P. Schoenberger and S. C. Jameson (2006). "The generation of protective memory-like CD8+ T cells during homeostatic proliferation requires CD4+ T cells." Nat Immunol 7(5): 475-481.
- Hanawa, H., M. Yamamoto, H. Zhao, T. Shimada and D. A. Persons (2009). "Optimized lentiviral vector design improves titer and transgene expression of vectors containing the chicken beta-globin locus HS4 insulator element." Mol Ther 17(4): 667-674.
- Haneline, L. S., X. Li, S. L. Ciccone, P. Hong, Y. Yang, H. E. Broxmeyer, S. H. Lee, A. Orazi,
   E. F. Srour and D. W. Clapp (2003). "Retroviral-mediated expression of recombinant
   Fancc enhances the repopulating ability of Fancc-/- hematopoietic stem cells and
   decreases the risk of clonal evolution." Blood 101(4): 1299-1307.
- Harris, D. T., J. LoCascio and F. J. Besencon (1994). "Analysis of the alloreactive capacity of human umbilical cord blood: implications for graft-versus-host disease." Bone Marrow Transplant 14(4): 545-553.

- Harris, R. S., J. F. Hultquist and D. T. Evans (2012). "The restriction factors of human immunodeficiency virus." J Biol Chem 287(49): 40875-40883.
- Hartwig, U. F., M. Nonn, S. Khan, R. G. Meyer, C. Huber and W. Herr (2006). "Depletion of alloreactive T cells via CD69: implications on antiviral, antileukemic and immunoregulatory T lymphocytes." Bone Marrow Transplant 37(3): 297-305.
- Haskins, K., J. Kappler and P. Marrack (1984). "The major histocompatibility complexrestricted antigen receptor on T cells." Annu Rev Immunol 2: 51-66.
- Hastie, E., M. Cataldi, I. Marriott and V. Z. Grdzelishvili (2013). "Understanding and altering cell tropism of vesicular stomatitis virus." Virus Res 176(1-2): 16-32.
- Hatziioannou, T., S. Valsesia-Wittmann, S. J. Russell and F. L. Cosset (1998). "Incorporation of fowl plague virus hemagglutinin into murine leukemia virus particles and analysis of the infectivity of the pseudotyped retroviruses." J Virol 72(6): 5313-5317.
  Hematti, P., B. K. Hong, C. Ferguson, R. Adler, H. Hanawa, S. Sellers, I. E. Holt, C. E.
- Hematti, P., B. K. Hong, C. Ferguson, R. Adler, H. Hanawa, S. Sellers, I. E. Holt, C. E. Eckfeldt, Y. Sharma, M. Schmidt, C. von Kalle, D. A. Persons, E. M. Billings, C. M. Verfaillie, A. W. Nienhuis, T. G. Wolfsberg, C. E. Dunbar and B. Calmels (2004).
  "Distinct genomic integration of MLV and SIV vectors in primate hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells." PLoS Biol 2(12): e423.
- Hildinger, M., M. T. Dittmar, P. Schult-Dietrich, B. Fehse, B. S. Schnierle, S. Thaler, G. Stiegler, R. Welker and D. von Laer (2001). "Membrane-anchored peptide inhibits human immunodeficiency virus entry." J Virol 75(6): 3038-3042.
  Hiripi, L., D. Negre, F. L. Cosset, K. Kvell, T. Czompoly, M. Baranyi, E. Gocza, O. Hoffmann,
- Hiripi, L., D. Negre, F. L. Cosset, K. Kvell, T. Czompoly, M. Baranyi, E. Gocza, O. Hoffmann,
   B. Bender and Z. Bosze (2010). "Transgenic rabbit production with simian immunodeficiency virus-derived lentiviral vector." Transgenic Res 19(5): 799-808.
- Hochberg, E. P., A. C. Chillemi, C. J. Wu, D. Neuberg, C. Canning, K. Hartman, E. P. Alyea, R. J. Soiffer, S. A. Kalams and J. Ritz (2001). "Quantitation of T-cell neogenesis in vivo after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation in adults." Blood 98(4): 1116-1121.
- Hock, H., M. J. Hamblen, H. M. Rooke, J. W. Schindler, S. Saleque, Y. Fujiwara and S. H. Orkin (2004). "Gfi-1 restricts proliferation and preserves functional integrity of haematopoietic stem cells." Nature 431(7011): 1002-1007.
- Hofmann, A., B. Kessler, S. Ewerling, M. Weppert, B. Vogg, H. Ludwig, M. Stojkovic, M. Boelhauve, G. Brem, E. Wolf and A. Pfeifer (2003). "Efficient transgenesis in farm animals by lentiviral vectors." EMBO Rep 4(11): 1054-1060.
- Hogge, D. E., P. M. Lansdorp, D. Reid, B. Gerhard and C. J. Eaves (1996). "Enhanced detection, maintenance, and differentiation of primitive human hematopoietic cells in cultures containing murine fibroblasts engineered to produce human steel factor, interleukin-3, and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor." Blood 88(10): 3765-3773.
- Holkers, M., I. Maggio, J. Liu, J. M. Janssen, F. Miselli, C. Mussolino, A. Recchia, T. Cathomen and M. A. Goncalves (2013). "Differential integrity of TALE nuclease genes following adenoviral and lentiviral vector gene transfer into human cells." Nucleic Acids Res 41(5): e63.
- Horowitz, M. M. and D. L. Confer (2005). "Evaluation of hematopoietic stem cell donors." Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program: 469-475.
- Horowitz, M. M., R. P. Gale, P. M. Sondel, J. M. Goldman, J. Kersey, H. J. Kolb, A. A. Rimm, O. Ringden, C. Rozman, B. Speck and et al. (1990). "Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow transplantation." Blood 75(3): 555-562.
- Hu, B., A. Tai and P. Wang (2011). "Immunization delivered by lentiviral vectors for cancer and infectious diseases." Immunol Rev 239(1): 45-61.
- Huang, L., M. Shimoji, J. Wang, S. Shah, S. Kamila, E. R. Biehl, S. Lim, A. Chang, K. A. Maguire-Zeiss, X. Su and H. J. Federoff (2013). "Development of Inducible Leucinerich Repeat Kinase 2 (LRRK2) Cell Lines for Therapeutics Development in Parkinson's Disease." Neurotherapeutics.
- Humbert, J. M., C. Frecha, F. Amirache Bouafia, T. H. N'Guyen, S. Boni, F. L. Cosset, E. Verhoeyen and F. Halary (2012). "Measles virus glycoprotein-pseudotyped lentiviral vectors are highly superior to vesicular stomatitis virus G pseudotypes for genetic modification of monocyte-derived dendritic cells." J Virol 86(9): 5192-5203.

Humeau, L. M., G. K. Binder, X. Lu, V. Slepushkin, R. Merling, P. Echeagaray, M. Pereira, T. Slepushkina, S. Barnett, L. K. Dropulic, R. Carroll, B. L. Levine, C. H. June and B. Dropulic (2004). "Efficient lentiviral vector-mediated control of HIV-1 replication in CD4 lymphocytes from diverse HIV+ infected patients grouped according to CD4 count and viral load." Mol Ther 9(6): 902-913.

- Ibrahimi, A., G. Vande Velde, V. Reumers, J. Toelen, I. Thiry, C. Vandeputte, S. Vets, C. Deroose, G. Bormans, V. Baekelandt, Z. Debyser and R. Gijsbers (2009). "Highly efficient multicistronic lentiviral vectors with peptide 2A sequences." Hum Gene Ther 20(8): 845-860.
- Iezzi, G., D. Scheidegger and A. Lanzavecchia (2001). "Migration and function of antigenprimed nonpolarized T lymphocytes in vivo." J Exp Med 193(8): 987-993.
- Ikeda, Y., Y. Takeuchi, F. Martin, F. L. Cosset, K. Mitrophanous and M. Collins (2003). "Continuous high-titer HIV-1 vector production." Nat Biotechnol 21(5): 569-572.
- Ito, M., H. Hiramatsu, K. Kobayashi, K. Suzue, M. Kawahata, K. Hioki, Y. Ueyama, Y. Koyanagi, K. Sugamura, K. Tsuji, T. Heike and T. Nakahata (2002). "NOD/SCID/gamma(c)(null) mouse: an excellent recipient mouse model for engraftment of human cells." Blood 100(9): 3175-3182.
- Ito, R., T. Takahashi, I. Katano and M. Ito (2012). "Current advances in humanized mouse models." Cell Mol Immunol 9(3): 208-214.
- Iwama, A., H. Oguro, M. Negishi, Y. Kato, Y. Morita, H. Tsukui, H. Ema, T. Kamijo, Y. Katoh-Fukui, H. Koseki, M. van Lohuizen and H. Nakauchi (2004). "Enhanced self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells mediated by the polycomb gene product Bmi-1." Immunity 21(6): 843-851.

#### J

- Jabbari, A. and J. T. Harty (2006). "The generation and modulation of antigen-specific memory CD8 T cell responses." J Leukoc Biol 80(1): 16-23.
- Jabeen, R. and M. H. Kaplan (2012). "The symphony of the ninth: the development and function of Th9 cells." Curr Opin Immunol 24(3): 303-307.
- Jacome, A., S. Navarro, P. Rio, R. M. Yanez, A. Gonzalez-Murillo, M. L. Lozano, M. L. Lamana, J. Sevilla, T. Olive, C. Diaz-Heredia, I. Badell, J. Estella, L. Madero, G. Guenechea, J. Casado, J. C. Segovia and J. A. Bueren (2009). "Lentiviral-mediated genetic correction of hematopoietic and mesenchymal progenitor cells from Fanconi anemia patients." Mol Ther 17(6): 1083-1092.
- Jaleco, A. C., H. Neves, E. Hooijberg, P. Gameiro, N. Clode, M. Haury, D. Henrique and L. Parreira (2001). "Differential effects of Notch ligands Delta-1 and Jagged-1 in human lymphoid differentiation." J Exp Med 194(7): 991-1002.
- Jameson, S. C. and D. Masopust (2009). "Diversity in T cell memory: an embarrassment of riches." Immunity 31(6): 859-871.
- Jang, J. E., K. Shaw, X. J. Yu, D. Petersen, K. Pepper, C. Lutzko and D. B. Kohn (2006). "Specific and stable gene transfer to human embryonic stem cells using pseudotyped lentiviral vectors." Stem Cells Dev 15(1): 109-117.
- Janssens W, Chuah MK, Naldini L, Follenzi A, Collen D, Saint-Remy JM, VandenDriessche T (2003). "Efficiency of onco-retroviral and lentiviral gene transfer into primary mouse and human B-lymphocytes is pseudotype dependent". Hum Gene Ther 14:263-276.
- Jenkins, M. K., A. Khoruts, E. Ingulli, D. L. Mueller, S. J. McSorley, R. L. Reinhardt, A. Itano and K. A. Pape (2001). "In vivo activation of antigen-specific CD4 T cells." Annu Rev Immunol 19: 23-45.
- Jetmore, A., P. A. Plett, X. Tong, F. M. Wolber, R. Breese, R. Abonour, C. M. Orschell-Traycoff and E. F. Srour (2002). "Homing efficiency, cell cycle kinetics, and survival of

quiescent and cycling human CD34(+) cells transplanted into conditioned NOD/SCID recipients." Blood 99(5): 1585-1593.

- Johannisson, A. and R. Festin (1995). "Phenotype transition of CD4+ T cells from CD45RA to CD45R0 is accompanied by cell activation and proliferation." Cytometry 19(4): 343-352.
- Johnson, L. G., J. C. Olsen, L. Naldini and R. C. Boucher (2000). "Pseudotyped human lentiviral vector-mediated gene transfer to airway epithelia in vivo." Gene Ther 7(7): 568-574.
- Joshi, M., H. Sheikh, K. Abbi, S. Long, K. Sharma, M. Tulchinsky and E. Epner (2012). "Marginal zone lymphoma: old, new, targeted, and epigenetic therapies." Ther Adv Hematol 3(5): 275-290.

# <u>K</u>

- Kabadi, A. M., D. G. Ousterout, I. B. Hilton and C. A. Gersbach (2014). "Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-based genome engineering from a single lentiviral vector." Nucleic Acids Res.
- Kaech, S. M. and R. Ahmed (2001). "Memory CD8+ T cell differentiation: initial antigen encounter triggers a developmental program in naïve cells." Nat Immunol 2(5): 415-422.
- Kaech, S. M. and W. Cui (2012). "Transcriptional control of effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation." Nat Rev Immunol 12(11): 749-761.
- Kaech, S. M. and E. J. Wherry (2007). "Heterogeneity and cell-fate decisions in effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation during viral infection." Immunity 27(3): 393-405.
- Kafri, T., U. Blomer, D. A. Peterson, F. H. Gage and I. M. Verma (1997). "Sustained expression of genes delivered directly into liver and muscle by lentiviral vectors." Nat Genet 17(3): 314-317.
- Kafri, T., H. van Praag, F. H. Gage and I. M. Verma (2000). "Lentiviral vectors: regulated gene expression." Mol Ther 1(6): 516-521.
- Kalos, M., B. L. Levine, D. L. Porter, S. Katz, S. A. Grupp, A. Bagg and C. H. June (2011). "T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia." Sci Transl Med 3(95): 95ra73.
- Kamel-Reid, S. and J. E. Dick (1988). "Engraftment of immune-deficient mice with human hematopoietic stem cells." Science 242(4886): 1706-1709.
- Kaminski, D. A., Wei, C., Qian, Y., Rosenberg, A. F., & Sanz, I. (2012). Advances in human B cell phenotypic profiling. Front Immunol, 3, 302. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00302
- Kang, Y., C. S. Stein, J. A. Heth, P. L. Sinn, A. K. Penisten, P. D. Staber, K. L. Ratliff, H. Shen, C. K. Barker, I. Martins, C. M. Sharkey, D. A. Sanders, P. B. McCray, Jr. and B. L. Davidson (2002). "In vivo gene transfer using a nonprimate lentiviral vector pseudotyped with Ross River Virus glycoproteins." J Virol 76(18): 9378-9388.
- Kang, Y., L. Xie, D. T. Tran, C. S. Stein, M. Hickey, B. L. Davidson and P. B. McCray, Jr. (2005). "Persistent expression of factor VIII in vivo following nonprimate lentiviral gene transfer." Blood 106(5): 1552-1558.
- KATO, Ś., K. MATSUO, N. NISHIMURA, N. TAKAHASHI and T. TAKANO (1987). "The entire nucleotide sequence of baboon endogenous virus DNA: A chimeric genome structure of murine type C and simian type D retroviruses." 遺伝學雑誌 62(2): 127-137.
- Kato, S. I., K. Nagata and K. Takeuchi (2012). "Cell tropism and pathogenesis of measles virus in monkeys." Front Microbiol 3: 14.
- Keever, C. A., M. Abu-Hajir, W. Graf, P. McFadden, P. Prichard, J. O'Brien and N. Flomenberg (1995). "Characterization of the alloreactivity and anti-leukemia reactivity of cord blood mononuclear cells." Bone Marrow Transplant 15(3): 407-419.
- Kelly, E. J. and S. J. Russell (2009). "MicroRNAs and the regulation of vector tropism." Mol Ther 17(3): 409-416.
- Kennedy, D. R., B. J. Hartnett, J. S. Kennedy, W. Vernau, P. F. Moore, T. O'Malley, L. C. Burkly, P. S. Henthorn and P. J. Felsburg (2011). "Ex vivo gamma-retroviral gene

therapy of dogs with X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency and the development of a thymic T cell lymphoma." Vet Immunol Immunopathol 142(1-2): 36-48.

- Kimmig, S., G. K. Przybylski, C. A. Schmidt, K. Laurisch, B. Mowes, A. Radbruch and A. Thiel (2002). "Two subsets of naïve T helper cells with distinct T cell receptor excision circle content in human adult peripheral blood." J Exp Med 195(6): 789-794.
- Kneissl, S., T. Abel, A. Rasbach, J. Brynza, J. Schneider-Schaulies and C. J. Buchholz (2012). "Measles virus glycoprotein-based lentiviral targeting vectors that avoid neutralizing antibodies." PLoS One 7(10): e46667.
- Kobinger, G. P., D. J. Weiner, Q. C. Yu and J. M. Wilson (2001). "Filovirus-pseudotyped lentiviral vector can efficiently and stably transduce airway epithelia in vivo." Nat Biotechnol 19(3): 225-230.
- Kochenderfer, J. N., W. H. Wilson, J. E. Janik, M. E. Dudley, M. Stetler-Stevenson, S. A. Feldman, I. Maric, M. Raffeld, D. A. Nathan, B. J. Lanier, R. A. Morgan and S. A. Rosenberg (2010). "Eradication of B-lineage cells and regression of lymphoma in a patient treated with autologous T cells genetically engineered to recognize CD19." Blood 116(20): 4099-4102.
- Koh, M. B., H. G. Prentice, M. Corbo, M. Morgan, F. E. Cotter and M. W. Lowdell (2002). "Alloantigen-specific T-cell depletion in a major histocompatibility complex fully mismatched murine model provides effective graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis in the presence of lymphoid engraftment." Br J Haematol 118(1): 108-116.
- Komanduri, K. V., L. S. St John, M. de Lima, J. McMannis, S. Rosinski, I. McNiece, S. G. Bryan, I. Kaur, S. Martin, E. D. Wieder, L. Worth, L. J. Cooper, D. Petropoulos, J. J. Molldrem, R. E. Champlin and E. J. Shpall (2007). "Delayed immune reconstitution after cord blood transplantation is characterized by impaired thymopoiesis and late memory T-cell skewing." Blood 110(13): 4543-4551.
- Kong, F., C. H. Chen and M. D. Cooper (1998). "Thymic function can be accurately monitored by the level of recent T cell emigrants in the circulation." Immunity 8(1): 97-104.
- Kopf, B., U. De Giorgi, B. Vertogen, G. Monti, A. Molinari, D. Turci, C. Dazzi, M. Leoni, A. Tienghi, A. Cariello, M. Argnani, L. Frassineti, E. Scarpi, G. Rosti and M. Marangolo (2006). "A randomized study comparing filgrastim versus lenograstim versus molgramostim plus chemotherapy for peripheral blood progenitor cell mobilization." Bone Marrow Transplant 38(6): 407-412.
- Korbling, M. and P. Anderlini (2001). "Peripheral blood stem cell versus bone marrow allotransplantation: does the source of hematopoietic stem cells matter?" Blood 98(10): 2900-2908.
- Korin, Y. D. and J. A. Zack (1998). "Progression to the G1b phase of the cell cycle is required for completion of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription in T cells." J Virol 72(4): 3161-3168.
- Korin, Y. D. and J. A. Zack (1999). "Nonproductive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in nucleoside-treated G0 lymphocytes." J Virol 73(8): 6526-6532.
- Kotsopoulou, E., V. N. Kim, A. J. Kingsman, S. M. Kingsman and K. A. Mitrophanous (2000). "A Rev-independent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-based vector that exploits a codon-optimized HIV-1 gag-pol gene." J Virol 74(10): 4839-4852.
- Kowolik, C. M. and J. K. Yee (2002). "Preferential transduction of human hepatocytes with lentiviral vectors pseudotyped by Sendai virus F protein." Mol Ther 5(6): 762-769.
- Krause, D. S., M. J. Fackler, C. I. Civin and W. S. May (1996). "CD34: structure, biology, and clinical utility." Blood 87(1): 1-13.
- Krause, D. S., D. T. Scadden and F. I. Preffer (2013). "The hematopoietic stem cell niche-home for friend and foe?" Cytometry B Clin Cytom 84(1): 7-20.
- Krenger, W., B. R. Blazar and G. A. Hollander (2011). "Thymic T-cell development in allogeneic stem cell transplantation." Blood 117(25): 6768-6776.
- Kumar, P. and C. Woon-Khiong "Optimization of lentiviral vectors generation for biomedical and clinical research purposes: contemporary trends in technology development and applications." Curr Gene Ther 11(2): 144-153.

- Kutner, R. H., Zhang, X. Y., & Reiser, J. (2009). Production, concentration and titration of pseudotyped HIV-1-based lentiviral vectors. Nat Protoc, 4(4), 495-505. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2009.22
- Kvell K, Nguyen TH, Salmon P, Glauser F, Werner-Favre C, Barnet M, Schneider P, Trono D, Zubler RH (2005). "Transduction of CpG DNA-stimulated primary human B cells with bicistronic lentivectors". Mol Ther 12:892-899.
- Kwakkenbos, M. J., S. A. Diehl, E. Yasuda, A. Q. Bakker, C. M. van Geelen, M. V. Lukens, G. M. van Bleek, M. N. Widjojoatmodjo, W. M. Bogers, H. Mei, A. Radbruch, F. A. Scheeren, H. Spits and T. Beaumont (2010). "Generation of stable monoclonal antibody-producing B cell receptor-positive human memory B cells by genetic programming." Nat Med 16(1): 123-128.

# L

- Lansdorp, P. M., H. J. Sutherland and C. J. Eaves (1990). "Selective expression of CD45 isoforms on functional subpopulations of CD34+ hemopoietic cells from human bone marrow." J Exp Med 172(1): 363-366.
- Laurenti, E., I. Barde, S. Verp, S. Offner, A. Wilson, S. Quenneville, M. Wiznerowicz, H. R. Macdonald, D. Trono and A. Trumpp (2010). "Inducible gene and shRNA expression in resident hematopoietic stem cells in vivo." Stem Cells 28(8): 1390-1398.
- Laurie, K. L., M. P. Blundell, H. E. Baxendale, S. J. Howe, J. Sinclair, W. Qasim, U. Brunsberg, A. J. Thrasher, R. Holmdahl and K. Gustafsson (2007). "Cell-specific and efficient expression in mouse and human B cells by a novel hybrid immunoglobulin promoter in a lentiviral vector." Gene Ther 14(23): 1623-1631.
- Leblond, V., B. Autran and J. Y. Cesbron (1997). "The SCID mouse mutant: definition and potential use as a model for immune and hematological disorders." Hematol Cell Ther 39(5): 213-221.
- Ledran, M. H., A. Krassowska, L. Armstrong, I. Dimmick, J. Renstrom, R. Lang, S. Yung, M. Santibanez-Coref, E. Dzierzak, M. Stojkovic, R. A. Oostendorp, L. Forrester and M. Lako (2008). "Efficient hematopoietic differentiation of human embryonic stem cells on stromal cells derived from hematopoietic niches." Cell Stem Cell 3(1): 85-98.
- Lee, A., J. D. Kessler, T. A. Read, C. Kaiser, D. Corbeil, W. B. Huttner, J. E. Johnson and R. J. Wechsler-Reya (2005). "Isolation of neural stem cells from the postnatal cerebellum." Nat Neurosci 8(6): 723-729.
- Lefort, N., C. Benne, J. D. Lelievre, C. Dorival, M. Balbo, S. Sakano, L. Coulombel and Y. Levy (2006). "Short exposure to Notch ligand Delta-4 is sufficient to induce T-cell differentiation program and to increase the T cell potential of primary human CD34+ cells." Exp Hematol 34(12): 1720-1729.
- Lei, T. C., Y. Su and D. W. Scott (2005). "Tolerance induction via a B-cell delivered gene therapy-based protocol: optimization and role of the Ig scaffold." Cell Immunol 235(1): 12-20.
- Lei TC, Scott DW (2005). "Induction of tolerance to factor VIII inhibitors by gene therapy with immunodominant A2 and C2 domains presented by B cells as Ig fusion proteins". Blood 105:4865-4870.
- Lemon, K., R. D. de Vries, A. W. Mesman, S. McQuaid, G. van Amerongen, S. Yuksel, M. Ludlow, L. J. Rennick, T. Kuiken, B. K. Rima, T. B. Geijtenbeek, A. D. Osterhaus, W. P. Duprex and R. L. de Swart (2011). "Early target cells of measles virus after aerosol infection of non-human primates." PLoS Pathog 7(1): e1001263.
- Leonard, V. H., P. L. Sinn, G. Hodge, T. Miest, P. Devaux, N. Oezguen, W. Braun, P. B. McCray, Jr., M. B. McChesney and R. Cattaneo (2008). "Measles virus blind to its epithelial cell receptor remains virulent in rhesus monkeys but cannot cross the airway epithelium and is not shed." J Clin Invest 118(7): 2448-2458.
- Lesniak, M. S., E. Kelleher, D. Pardoll and Y. Cui (2005). "Targeted gene therapy to antigenpresenting cells in the central nervous system using hematopoietic stem cells." Neurol Res 27(8): 820-826.

- Lessard, J. and G. Sauvageau (2003). "Bmi-1 determines the proliferative capacity of normal and leukaemic stem cells." Nature 423(6937): 255-260.
- Levesque, J. P., F. M. Helwani and I. G. Winkler (2010). "The endosteal 'osteoblastic' niche and its role in hematopoietic stem cell homing and mobilization." Leukemia 24(12): 1979-1992.
- Levine, B. L., L. M. Humeau, J. Boyer, R. R. MacGregor, T. Rebello, X. Lu, G. K. Binder, V. Slepushkin, F. Lemiale, J. R. Mascola, F. D. Bushman, B. Dropulic and C. H. June (2006). "Gene transfer in humans using a conditionally replicating lentiviral vector." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(46): 17372-17377.
- Levy, C., F. Amirache, C. Costa, C. Frecha, C. P. Muller, H. Kweder, R. Buckland, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2012). "Lentiviral vectors displaying modified measles virus gp overcome pre-existing immunity in in vivo-like transduction of human T and B cells." Mol Ther 20(9): 1699-1712.
- Levy, C., C. Frecha, C. Costa, N. Rachinel, G. Salles, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2010). "Lentiviral vectors and transduction of human cancer B cells." Blood 116(3): 498-500; author reply 500.
- Li, L. H., E. Biagi, C. Allen, R. Shivakumar, J. M. Weiss, S. Feller, E. Yvon, J. C. Fratantoni and L. N. Liu (2006). "Rapid and efficient nonviral gene delivery of CD154 to primary chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells." Cancer Gene Ther 13(2): 215-224.
- Liao HX, Levesque MC, Nagel A, Dixon A, Zhang R, Walter E, Parks R, Whitesides J, Marshall DJ, Hwang KK, Yang Y, Chen X, Gao F, Munshaw S, Kepler TB, Denny T, Moody MA, Haynes BF (2009) "High-throughput isolation of immunoglobulin genes from single human B cells and expression as monoclonal antibodies." J Virol Methods 158:171-179.
- Licursi, M., S. L. Christian, T. Pongnopparat and K. Hirasawa (2011). "In vitro and in vivo comparison of viral and cellular internal ribosome entry sites for bicistronic vector expression." Gene Ther 18(6): 631-636.
- Liszewski, M. K., T. W. Post and J. P. Atkinson (1991). "Membrane cofactor protein (MCP or CD46): newest member of the regulators of complement activation gene cluster." Annu Rev Immunol 9: 431-455.
- Little, M. T. and R. Storb (2002). "History of haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation." Nat Rev Cancer 2(3): 231-238.
- Liu, M., C. L. Miller and C. J. Eaves (2013). "Human long-term culture initiating cell assay." Methods Mol Biol 946: 241-256.
- Liu, Y., S. E. Elf, Y. Miyata, G. Sashida, Y. Liu, G. Huang, S. Di Giandomenico, J. M. Lee, A. Deblasio, S. Menendez, J. Antipin, B. Reva, A. Koff and S. D. Nimer (2009). "p53 regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence." Cell Stem Cell 4(1): 37-48.
- Lizee G, Gonzales MI, Topalian SL (2004). "Lentivirus vector-mediated expression of tumorassociated epitopes by human antigen presenting cells". Hum Gene Ther 15:393-404.
- Lois, C., E. J. Hong, S. Pease, E. J. Brown and D. Baltimore (2002). "Germline transmission and tissue-specific expression of transgenes delivered by lentiviral vectors." Science 295(5556): 868-872.
- Lombardo, A., P. Genovese, C. M. Beausejour, S. Colleoni, Y. L. Lee, K. A. Kim, D. Ando, F. D. Urnov, C. Galli, P. D. Gregory, M. C. Holmes and L. Naldini (2007). "Gene editing in human stem cells using zinc finger nucleases and integrase-defective lentiviral vector delivery." Nat Biotechnol 25(11): 1298-1306.
- Lu, R., N. F. Neff, S. R. Quake and I. L. Weissman (2011). "Tracking single hematopoietic stem cells in vivo using high-throughput sequencing in conjunction with viral genetic barcoding." Nat Biotechnol 29(10): 928-933.
- Luckheeram, R. V., R. Zhou, A. D. Verma and B. Xia (2012). "CD4(+)T cells: differentiation and functions." Clin Dev Immunol 2012: 925135.
- Luo, X. M., E. Maarschalk, R. M. O'Connell, P. Wang, L. Yang and D. Baltimore (2009). "Engineering human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells to produce a broadly neutralizing anti-HIV antibody after in vitro maturation to human B lymphocytes." Blood 113(7): 1422-1431.

- Ma, H., W. Zhong, Y. Jiang, C. Fontaine, S. Li, J. Fu, V. M. Olkkonen, B. Staels and D. Yan (2013). "Increased Atherosclerotic Lesions in LDL Receptor Deficient Mice With Hematopoietic Nuclear Receptor Rev-erbalpha Knock- Down." J Am Heart Assoc 2(4): e000235.
- Ma, N. S., A. J. Shah, M. E. Geffner and N. Kapoor (2010). "Igf-I stimulates in vivo thymopoiesis after stem cell transplantation in a child with Omenn syndrome." J Clin Immunol 30(1): 114-120.
- Mackall, C. L., T. A. Fleisher, M. R. Brown, M. P. Andrich, C. C. Chen, I. M. Feuerstein, M. E. Horowitz, I. T. Magrath, A. T. Shad, S. M. Steinberg and et al. (1995). "Age, thymopoiesis, and CD4+ T-lymphocyte regeneration after intensive chemotherapy." N Engl J Med 332(3): 143-149.
- Maetzig, T., M. Galla, C. Baum and A. Schambach (2011). "Gammaretroviral vectors: biology, technology and application." Viruses 3(6): 677-713.
- Mali, P., Z. Ye, H. H. Hommond, X. Yu, J. Lin, G. Chen, J. Zou and L. Cheng (2008). "Improved efficiency and pace of generating induced pluripotent stem cells from human adult and fetal fibroblasts." Stem Cells 26(8): 1998-2005.
- Mang, R., J. Goudsmit and A. C. van der Kuyl (1999). "Novel endogenous type C retrovirus in baboons: complete sequence, providing evidence for baboon endogenous virus gag-pol ancestry." J Virol 73(8): 7021-7026.
- Manilla, P., T. Rebello, C. Afable, X. Lu, V. Slepushkin, L. M. Humeau, K. Schonely, Y. Ni, G. K. Binder, B. L. Levine, R. R. MacGregor, C. H. June and B. Dropulic (2005).
  "Regulatory considerations for novel gene therapy products: a review of the process leading to the first clinical lentiviral vector." Hum Gene Ther 16(1): 17-25.
- Marin, M., D. Lavillette, S. M. Kelly and D. Kabat (2003). "N-linked glycosylation and sequence changes in a critical negative control region of the ASCT1 and ASCT2 neutral amino acid transporters determine their retroviral receptor functions." J Virol 77(5): 2936-2945.
- Marin, M., C. S. Tailor, A. Nouri and D. Kabat (2000). "Sodium-dependent neutral amino acid transporter type 1 is an auxiliary receptor for baboon endogenous retrovirus." J Virol 74(17): 8085-8093.
- Marktel, S., Z. Magnani, F. Ciceri, S. Cazzaniga, S. R. Riddell, C. Traversari, C. Bordignon and C. Bonini (2003). "Immunologic potential of donor lymphocytes expressing a suicide gene for early immune reconstitution after hematopoietic T-cell-depleted stem cell transplantation." Blood 101(4): 1290-1298.
- Marodon, G., E. Mouly, E. J. Blair, C. Frisen, F. M. Lemoine and D. Klatzmann (2003). "Specific transgene expression in human and mouse CD4+ cells using lentiviral vectors with regulatory sequences from the CD4 gene." Blood 101(9): 3416-3423.
- Martin, F., M. G. Toscano, M. Blundell, C. Frecha, G. K. Srivastava, M. Santamaria, A. J. Thrasher and I. J. Molina (2005). "Lentiviral vectors transcriptionally targeted to hematopoietic cells by WASP gene proximal promoter sequences." Gene Ther 12(8): 715-723.
- Matrai J. Cantore A. Bartholomae C.C., et al. Hepatocyte-targeted expression by integrasedefective lentiviral vectors induces antigen-specific tolerance in mice with low genotoxic risk. Hepatology. 2011;53:1696–1707.
- Matrai, J., M. K. Chuah and T. VandenDriessche (2010). "Recent advances in lentiviral vector development and applications." Mol Ther 18(3): 477-490.
- Matsuzaki, Y., K. Kinjo, R. C. Mulligan and H. Okano (2004). "Unexpectedly efficient homing capacity of purified murine hematopoietic stem cells." Immunity 20(1): 87-93.
- Maurice, M., S. Mazur, F. J. Bullough, A. Salvetti, M. K. Collins, S. J. Russell and F. L. Cosset (1999). "Efficient gene delivery to quiescent interleukin-2 (IL-2)-dependent cells by murine leukemia virus-derived vectors harboring IL-2 chimeric envelope glycoproteins." Blood 94(2): 401-410.

- Maurice, M., E. Verhoeyen, P. Salmon, D. Trono, S. J. Russell and F. L. Cosset (2002). "Efficient gene transfer into human primary blood lymphocytes by surface-engineered lentiviral vectors that display a T cell-activating polypeptide." Blood 99(7): 2342-2350.
- May, C., S. Rivella, J. Callegari, G. Heller, K. M. Gaensler, L. Luzzatto and M. Sadelain (2000). "Therapeutic haemoglobin synthesis in beta-thalassaemic mice expressing lentivirus-encoded human beta-globin." Nature 406(6791): 82-86.
- Mazarakis, N. D., M. Azzouz, J. B. Rohll, F. M. Ellard, F. J. Wilkes, A. L. Olsen, E. E. Carter, R. D. Barber, D. F. Baban, S. M. Kingsman, A. J. Kingsman, K. O'Malley and K. A. Mitrophanous (2001). "Rabies virus glycoprotein pseudotyping of lentiviral vectors enables retrograde axonal transport and access to the nervous system after peripheral delivery." Hum Mol Genet 10(19): 2109-2121.
- Mazurier, F., O. I. Gan, J. L. McKenzie, M. Doedens and J. E. Dick (2004). "Lentivectormediated clonal tracking reveals intrinsic heterogeneity in the human hematopoietic stem cell compartment and culture-induced stem cell impairment." Blood 103(2): 545-552.
- McAllister, R. M., M. Nicolson, M. B. Gardner, R. W. Rongey, S. Rasheed, P. S. Sarma, R. J. Huebner, M. Hatanaka, S. Oroszlan, R. V. Gilden, A. Kabigting and L. Vernon (1972).
  "C-type virus released from cultured human rhabdomyosarcoma cells." Nat New Biol 235(53): 3-6.
- McCune, J. M., R. Namikawa, H. Kaneshima, L. D. Shultz, M. Lieberman and I. L. Weissman (1988). "The SCID-hu mouse: murine model for the analysis of human hematolymphoid differentiation and function." Science 241(4873): 1632-1639.
- McDermott, S. P., K. Eppert, E. R. Lechman, M. Doedens and J. E. Dick (2010). "Comparison of human cord blood engraftment between immunocompromised mouse strains." Blood 116(2): 193-200.
- McFarland, R. D., D. C. Douek, R. A. Koup and L. J. Picker (2000). "Identification of a human recent thymic emigrant phenotype." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(8): 4215-4220.
- McGrew, M. J., A. Sherman, F. M. Ellard, S. G. Lillico, H. J. Gilhooley, A. J. Kingsman, K. A. Mitrophanous and H. Sang (2004). "Efficient production of germline transgenic chickens using lentiviral vectors." EMBO Rep 5(7): 728-733.
- McGuckin, C. P., D. Pearce, N. Forraz, J. A. Tooze, S. M. Watt and R. Pettengell (2003). "Multiparametric analysis of immature cell populations in umbilical cord blood and bone marrow." Eur J Haematol 71(5): 341-350.
- McKinstry, K. K., T. M. Strutt and S. L. Swain (2010). "The potential of CD4 T-cell memory." Immunology 130(1): 1-9.
- Medina, M. F., G. P. Kobinger, J. Rux, M. Gasmi, D. J. Looney, P. Bates and J. M. Wilson (2003). "Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with minimal filovirus envelopes increased gene transfer in murine lung." Mol Ther 8(5): 777-789.
- Melo, M. E., J. Qian, M. El-Amine, R. K. Agarwal, N. Soukhareva, Y. Kang and D. W. Scott (2002). "Gene transfer of Ig-fusion proteins into B cells prevents and treats autoimmune diseases." J Immunol 168(9): 4788-4795.
- Mempel, T. R., S. E. Henrickson and U. H. Von Andrian (2004). "T-cell priming by dendritic cells in lymph nodes occurs in three distinct phases." Nature 427(6970): 154-159.
- Mendenhall, A., J. Lesnik, C. Mukherjee, T. Antes and R. Sengupta (2012). "Packaging HIVor FIV-based lentivector expression constructs and transduction of VSV-G pseudotyped viral particles." J Vis Exp(62): e3171.
- Mendez-Ferrer, S., D. Lucas, M. Battista and P. S. Frenette (2008). "Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations." Nature 452(7186): 442-447.
- Mendez-Ferrer, S., T. V. Michurina, F. Ferraro, A. R. Mazloom, B. D. Macarthur, S. A. Lira, D. T. Scadden, A. Ma'ayan, G. N. Enikolopov and P. S. Frenette (2010).
  "Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche." Nature 466(7308): 829-834.
- Merten, O. W., S. Charrier, N. Laroudie, S. Fauchille, C. Dugue, C. Jenny, M. Audit, M. A. Zanta-Boussif, H. Chautard, M. Radrizzani, G. Vallanti, L. Naldini, P. Noguiez-Hellin and A. Galy (2011). "Large-scale manufacture and characterization of a lentiviral

vector produced for clinical ex vivo gene therapy application." Hum Gene Ther 22(3): 343-356.

- Metharom, P., S. Takyar, H. H. Xia, K. A. Ellem, J. Macmillan, R. W. Shepherd, G. E. Wilcox and M. Q. Wei (2000). "Novel bovine lentiviral vectors based on Jembrana disease virus." J Gene Med 2(3): 176-185.
- Meyerrose, T. E., P. Herrbrich, D. A. Hess and J. A. Nolta (2003). "Immune-deficient mouse models for analysis of human stem cells." Biotechniques 35(6): 1262-1272.
- Miletic, H., M. Bruns, K. Tsiakas, B. Vogt, R. Rezai, C. Baum, K. Kuhlke, F. L. Cosset, W. Ostertag, H. Lother and D. von Laer (1999). "Retroviral vectors pseudotyped with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus." J Virol 73(7): 6114-6116.
- Miletic, H., Y. H. Fischer, H. Neumann, V. Hans, W. Stenzel, T. Giroglou, M. Hermann, M. Deckert and D. Von Laer (2004). "Selective transduction of malignant glioma by lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus glycoproteins." Hum Gene Ther 15(11): 1091-1100.
- Miller, C. L., B. Dykstra and C. J. Eaves (2008). "Characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells." Curr Protoc Immunol Chapter 22: Unit 22B.22.
- Miller, J. C., M. C. Holmes, J. Wang, D. Y. Guschin, Y. L. Lee, I. Rupniewski, C. M. Beausejour, A. J. Waite, N. S. Wang, K. A. Kim, P. D. Gregory, C. O. Pabo and E. J. Rebar (2007). "An improved zinc-finger nuclease architecture for highly specific genome editing." Nat Biotechnol 25(7): 778-785.
- Millington, M., A. Arndt, M. Boyd, T. Applegate and S. Shen (2009). "Towards a clinically relevant lentiviral transduction protocol for primary human CD34 hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells." PLoS One 4(7): e6461.
- Miyoshi, H., U. Blomer, M. Takahashi, F. H. Gage and I. M. Verma (1998). "Development of a self-inactivating lentivirus vector." J Virol 72(10): 8150-8157.
- Miyoshi, H., M. Takahashi, F. H. Gage and I. M. Verma (1997). "Stable and efficient gene transfer into the retina using an HIV-based lentiviral vector." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(19): 10319-10323.
- Modlich, U., S. Navarro, D. Zychlinski, T. Maetzig, S. Knoess, M. H. Brugman, A. Schambach, S. Charrier, A. Galy, A. J. Thrasher, J. Bueren and C. Baum (2009).
   "Insertional transformation of hematopoietic cells by self-inactivating lentiviral and gammaretroviral vectors." Mol Ther 17(11): 1919-1928.
- Moiani, A., Y. Paleari, D. Sartori, R. Mezzadra, A. Miccio, C. Cattoglio, F. Cocchiarella, M. R. Lidonnici, G. Ferrari and F. Mavilio (2012). "Lentiviral vector integration in the human genome induces alternative splicing and generates aberrant transcripts." J Clin Invest 122(5): 1653-1666.
- Montini, E., D. Cesana, M. Schmidt, F. Sanvito, C. C. Bartholomae, M. Ranzani, F. Benedicenti, L. S. Sergi, A. Ambrosi, M. Ponzoni, C. Doglioni, C. Di Serio, C. von Kalle and L. Naldini (2009). "The genotoxic potential of retroviral vectors is strongly modulated by vector design and integration site selection in a mouse model of HSC gene therapy." J Clin Invest 119(4): 964-975.
- Montini, E., D. Cesana, M. Schmidt, F. Sanvito, M. Ponzoni, C. Bartholomae, L. Sergi Sergi, F. Benedicenti, A. Ambrosi, C. Di Serio, C. Doglioni, C. von Kalle and L. Naldini (2006). "Hematopoietic stem cell gene transfer in a tumor-prone mouse model uncovers low genotoxicity of lentiviral vector integration." Nat Biotechnol 24(6): 687-696.
- Moreau, T., F. Bardin, J. Imbert, C. Chabannon and C. Tonnelle (2004). "Restriction of transgene expression to the B-lymphoid progeny of human lentivirally transduced CD34+ cells." Mol Ther 10(1): 45-56.
- Morgan, R. A., M. E. Dudley, J. R. Wunderlich, M. S. Hughes, J. C. Yang, R. M. Sherry, R. E. Royal, S. L. Topalian, U. S. Kammula, N. P. Restifo, Z. Zheng, A. Nahvi, C. R. de Vries, L. J. Rogers-Freezer, S. A. Mavroukakis and S. A. Rosenberg (2006). "Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes." Science 314(5796): 126-129.
- Morizono, K. and I. S. Chen (2005). "Targeted gene delivery by intravenous injection of retroviral vectors." Cell Cycle 4(7): 854-856.

Morrison, S. J. and D. T. Scadden (2014). "The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells." Nature 505(7483): 327-334.

- Moskowitz, C. H. (2006). "Pretreatment prognostic factors and outcome in patients with relapsed or primary-refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with second-line chemotherapy and autologous stem cell transplantation." Ann Oncol 17 Suppl 4: iv37-39.
- Mosmann, T. R., L. Li and S. Sad (1997). "Functions of CD8 T-cell subsets secreting different cytokine patterns." Semin Immunol 9(2): 87-92.
- Motabi, I. H. and J. F. DiPersio (2012). "Advances in stem cell mobilization." Blood Rev 26(6): 267-278.
- Muench, M. O., M. G. Roncarolo, R. Namikawa, A. Barcena and M. A. Moore (1994). "Progress in the ex vivo expansion of hematopoietic progenitors." Leuk Lymphoma 16(1-2): 1-11.
- Muhlebach, M. D., M. Mateo, P. L. Sinn, S. Prufer, K. M. Uhlig, V. H. Leonard, C. K. Navaratnarajah, M. Frenzke, X. X. Wong, B. Sawatsky, S. Ramachandran, P. B. McCray, Jr., K. Cichutek, V. von Messling, M. Lopez and R. Cattaneo (2011). "Adherens junction protein nectin-4 is the epithelial receptor for measles virus." Nature 480(7378): 530-533.
- Muller, L. U., M. D. Milsom, M. O. Kim, A. Schambach, T. Schuesler and D. A. Williams (2008). "Rapid lentiviral transduction preserves the engraftment potential of Fanca(-/-) hematopoietic stem cells." Mol Ther 16(6): 1154-1160.
- Munch, R. C., M. D. Muhlebach, T. Schaser, S. Kneissl, C. Jost, A. Pluckthun, K. Cichutek and C. J. Buchholz (2011). "DARPins: an efficient targeting domain for lentiviral vectors." Mol Ther 19(4): 686-693.
- Murakami, T. and E. O. Freed (2000). "Genetic evidence for an interaction between human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix and alpha-helix 2 of the gp41 cytoplasmic tail." J Virol 74(8): 3548-3554.

## Ν

- Naldini, L. (1998). "Lentiviruses as gene transfer agents for delivery to non-dividing cells." Curr Opin Biotechnol 9(5): 457-463.
- Naldini, L. (2011). "Ex vivo gene transfer and correction for cell-based therapies." Nat Rev Genet 12(5): 301-315.
- Naldini, L., U. Blomer, P. Gallay, D. Ory, R. Mulligan, F. H. Gage, I. M. Verma and D. Trono (1996). "In vivo gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector." Science 272(5259): 263-267.
- Napolitano, L. A., D. Schmidt, M. B. Gotway, N. Ameli, E. L. Filbert, M. M. Ng, J. L. Clor, L. Epling, E. Sinclair, P. D. Baum, K. Li, M. L. Killian, P. Bacchetti and J. M. McCune (2008). "Growth hormone enhances thymic function in HIV-1-infected adults." J Clin Invest 118(3): 1085-1098.
- Neagu, M. R., P. Ziegler, T. Pertel, C. Strambio-De-Castillia, C. Grutter, G. Martinetti, L. Mazzucchelli, M. Grutter, M. G. Manz and J. Luban (2009). "Potent inhibition of HIV-1 by TRIM5-cyclophilin fusion proteins engineered from human components." J Clin Invest 119(10): 3035-3047.
- Negre, D. and F. L. Cosset (2002). "Vectors derived from simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV)." Biochimie 84(11): 1161-1171.
- Negri, D. R., Z. Michelini, R. Bona, M. Blasi, P. Filati, P. Leone, A. Rossi, M. Franco and A. Cara (2011). "Integrase-defective lentiviral-vector-based vaccine: a new vector for induction of T cell immunity." Expert Opin Biol Ther 11(6): 739-750.
- Nguyen, T. H., J. C. Pages, D. Farge, P. Briand and A. Weber (1998). "Amphotropic retroviral vectors displaying hepatocyte growth factor-envelope fusion proteins improve transduction efficiency of primary hepatocytes." Hum Gene Ther 9(17): 2469-2479.

- Nilson, B. H., F. J. Morling, F. L. Cosset and S. J. Russell (1996). "Targeting of retroviral vectors through protease-substrate interactions." Gene Ther 3(4): 280-286.
- Notta, F., S. Doulatov, E. Laurenti, A. Poeppl, I. Jurisica and J. E. Dick (2011). "Isolation of single human hematopoietic stem cells capable of long-term multilineage engraftment." Science 333(6039): 218-221.
  - <u>0</u>
- Ogawa, M. (1993). "Differentiation and proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells." Blood 81(11): 2844-2853.
- Oguro, H. and A. Iwama (2007). "Life and death in hematopoietic stem cells." Curr Opin Immunol 19(5): 503-509.
- Oh, I. H. and R. K. Humphries (2012). "Concise review: Multidimensional regulation of the hematopoietic stem cell state." Stem Cells 30(1): 82-88.
- Ohishi, K., B. Varnum-Finney and I. D. Bernstein (2002). "Delta-1 enhances marrow and thymus repopulating ability of human CD34(+)CD38(-) cord blood cells." J Clin Invest 110(8): 1165-1174.
- Okada, R., T. Kondo, F. Matsuki, H. Takata and M. Takiguchi (2008). "Phenotypic classification of human CD4+ T cell subsets and their differentiation." Int Immunol 20(9): 1189-1199.
- O'Malley, D. P., Y. S. Kim, S. L. Perkins, L. Baldridge, B. E. Juliar and A. Orazi (2005). "Morphologic and immunohistochemical evaluation of splenic hematopoietic proliferations in neoplastic and benign disorders." Mod Pathol 18(12): 1550-1561.
- Orkin, S. H. (2003). "Priming the hematopoietic pump." Immunity 19(5): 633-634.
- Osborne, L. C. and N. Abraham (2010). "Regulation of memory T cells by gammac cytokines." Cytokine 50(2): 105-113.
- Ott, M. G., M. Schmidt, K. Schwarzwaelder, S. Stein, U. Siler, U. Koehl, H. Glimm, K. Kuhlcke, A. Schilz, H. Kunkel, S. Naundorf, A. Brinkmann, A. Deichmann, M. Fischer, C. Ball, I. Pilz, C. Dunbar, Y. Du, N. A. Jenkins, N. G. Copeland, U. Luthi, M. Hassan, A. J. Thrasher, D. Hoelzer, C. von Kalle, R. Seger and M. Grez (2006). "Correction of X-linked chronic granulomatous disease by gene therapy, augmented by insertional activation of MDS1-EVI1, PRDM16 or SETBP1." Nat Med 12(4): 401-409.

#### Ρ

- Park, F. and M. A. Kay (2001). "Modified HIV-1 based lentiviral vectors have an effect on viral transduction efficiency and gene expression in vitro and in vivo." Mol Ther 4(3): 164-173.
- Park, I. K., D. Qian, M. Kiel, M. W. Becker, M. Pihalja, I. L. Weissman, S. J. Morrison and M. F. Clarke (2003). "Bmi-1 is required for maintenance of adult self-renewing haematopoietic stem cells." Nature 423(6937): 302-305.
- Passegue, E., A. J. Wagers, S. Giuriato, W. C. Anderson and I. L. Weissman (2005). "Global analysis of proliferation and cell cycle gene expression in the regulation of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell fates." J Exp Med 202(11): 1599-1611.
- Pauwels, K., R. Gijsbers, J. Toelen, A. Schambach, K. Willard-Gallo, C. Verheust, Z. Debyser and P. Herman (2009). "State-of-the-art lentiviral vectors for research use: risk assessment and biosafety recommendations." Curr Gene Ther 9(6): 459-474.
- Payen, E. and P. Leboulch (2012). "Advances in stem cell transplantation and gene therapy in the beta-hemoglobinopathies." Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2012: 276-283.
- Pearce, E. L., M. C. Walsh, P. J. Cejas, G. M. Harms, H. Shen, L. S. Wang, R. G. Jones and Y. Choi (2009). "Enhancing CD8 T-cell memory by modulating fatty acid metabolism." Nature 460(7251): 103-107.

- Peled, A., I. Petit, O. Kollet, M. Magid, T. Ponomaryov, T. Byk, A. Nagler, H. Ben-Hur, A. Many, L. Shultz, O. Lider, R. Alon, D. Zipori and T. Lapidot (1999). "Dependence of human stem cell engraftment and repopulation of NOD/SCID mice on CXCR4." Science 283(5403): 845-848.
- Peng, K. W., R. Vile, F. L. Cosset and S. Russell (1999). "Selective transduction of proteaserich tumors by matrix-metalloproteinase-targeted retroviral vectors." Gene Ther 6(9): 1552-1557.
- Pepper, M. and M. K. Jenkins (2011). "Origins of CD4(+) effector and central memory T cells." Nat Immunol 12(6): 467-471.
- Pfeifer, A., M. Ikawa, Y. Dayn and I. M. Verma (2002). "Transgenesis by lentiviral vectors: lack of gene silencing in mammalian embryonic stem cells and preimplantation embryos." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(4): 2140-2145.
- Philippe, S., C. Sarkis, M. Barkats, H. Mammeri, C. Ladroue, C. Petit, J. Mallet and C. Serguera (2006). "Lentiviral vectors with a defective integrase allow efficient and sustained transgene expression in vitro and in vivo." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(47): 17684-17689.
- Philpott, N. J. and A. J. Thrasher (2007). "Use of nonintegrating lentiviral vectors for gene therapy." Hum Gene Ther 18(6): 483-489.
- Picanco-Castro, V., E. M. de Sousa Russo-Carbolante and D. Tadeu Covas (2012). "Advances in lentiviral vectors: a patent review." Recent Pat DNA Gene Seq 6(2): 82-90.
- Pickl, W. F., F. X. Pimentel-Muinos and B. Seed (2001). "Lipid rafts and pseudotyping." J Virol 75(15): 7175-7183.
- Pike-Overzet, K., M. van der Burg, G. Wagemaker, J. J. van Dongen and F. J. Staal (2007). "New insights and unresolved issues regarding insertional mutagenesis in X-linked SCID gene therapy." Mol Ther 15(11): 1910-1916.
- Pitcher, C. J., S. I. Hagen, J. M. Walker, R. Lum, B. L. Mitchell, V. C. Maino, M. K. Axthelm and L. J. Picker (2002). "Development and homeostasis of T cell memory in rhesus macaque." J Immunol 168(1): 29-43.
- Prlic, M. and M. J. Bevan (2009). "Immunology: A metabolic switch to memory." Nature 460(7251): 41-42.
- Prlic, M., G. Hernandez-Hoyos and M. J. Bevan (2006). "Duration of the initial TCR stimulus controls the magnitude but not functionality of the CD8+ T cell response." J Exp Med 203(9): 2135-2143.
- Prlic, M., M. A. Williams and M. J. Bevan (2007). "Requirements for CD8 T-cell priming, memory generation and maintenance." Curr Opin Immunol 19(3): 315-319.
- Prochazka, M., H. R. Gaskins, L. D. Shultz and E. H. Leiter (1992). "The nonobese diabetic scid mouse: model for spontaneous thymomagenesis associated with immunodeficiency." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89(8): 3290-3294.
- Punzel, M. and A. D. Ho (2001). "Divisional history and pluripotency of human hematopoietic stem cells." Ann N Y Acad Sci 938: 72-81; discussion 81-72.
- Purton, L. E. and D. T. Scadden (2008). The hematopoietic stem cell niche. StemBook. Cambridge (MA), Harvard Stem Cell Institute Copyright: (c) 2008 Louise E. Purton and David T. Scadden.
- Pyra, H., J. Boni and J. Schupbach (1994). "Ultrasensitive retrovirus detection by a reverse transcriptase assay based on product enhancement." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91(4): 1544-1548.

# Q

Qasim, W., T. Mackey, J. Sinclair, I. Chatziandreou, C. Kinnon, A. J. Thrasher and H. B. Gaspar (2007). "Lentiviral vectors for T-cell suicide gene therapy: preservation of Tcell effector function after cytokine-mediated transduction." Mol Ther 15(2): 355-360.

Qasim, W., C. A. Vink and A. J. Thrasher "Hybrid lentiviral vectors." Mol Ther 18(7): 1263-1267. Radtke, F., A. Wilson, G. Stark, M. Bauer, J. van Meerwijk, H. R. MacDonald and M. Aguet (1999). "Deficient T cell fate specification in mice with an induced inactivation of Notch1." Immunity 10(5): 547-558.

Rae, D. T. and G. D. Trobridge (2013). "Retroviral Genotoxicity."

- Ragheb, J. A. and W. F. Anderson (1994). "pH-independent murine leukemia virus ecotropic envelope-mediated cell fusion: implications for the role of the R peptide and p12E TM in viral entry." J Virol 68(5): 3220-3231.
- Ramalho-Santos, M. and H. Willenbring (2007). "On the origin of the term "stem cell"." Cell Stem Cell 1(1): 35-38.
- Ramezani, A., T. S. Hawley and R. G. Hawley (2000). "Lentiviral vectors for enhanced gene expression in human hematopoietic cells." Mol Ther 2(5): 458-469.
- Ranzani, M., D. Cesana, C. C. Bartholomae, F. Sanvito, M. Pala, F. Benedicenti, P. Gallina, L. S. Sergi, S. Merella, A. Bulfone, C. Doglioni, C. von Kalle, Y. J. Kim, M. Schmidt, G. Tonon, L. Naldini and E. Montini (2013). "Lentiviral vector-based insertional mutagenesis identifies genes associated with liver cancer." Nat Methods 10(2): 155-161.
- Rasko, J. E., J. L. Battini, R. J. Gottschalk, I. Mazo and A. D. Miller (1999). "The RD114/simian type D retrovirus receptor is a neutral amino acid transporter." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(5): 2129-2134.
- Rathinam, C., W. T. Poueymirou, J. Rojas, A. J. Murphy, D. M. Valenzuela, G. D. Yancopoulos, A. Rongvaux, E. E. Eynon, M. G. Manz and R. A. Flavell (2011).
  "Efficient differentiation and function of human macrophages in humanized CSF-1 mice." Blood 118(11): 3119-3128.
- Rathmell, J. C., E. A. Farkash, W. Gao and C. B. Thompson (2001). "IL-7 enhances the survival and maintains the size of naïve T cells." J Immunol 167(12): 6869-6876.
- Rege, T. A. and J. S. Hagood (2006). "Thy-1 as a regulator of cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions in axon regeneration, apoptosis, adhesion, migration, cancer, and fibrosis." Faseb j 20(8): 1045-1054.
- Reimann, C., L. Dal Cortivo, S. Hacein-Bey-Abina, A. Fischer, I. Andre-Schmutz and M. Cavazzana-Calvo (2010). "Advances in adoptive immunotherapy to accelerate T-cellular immune reconstitution after HLA-incompatible hematopoietic stem cell transplantation." Immunotherapy 2(4): 481-496.
- Reimann, C., E. Six, L. Dal-Cortivo, A. Schiavo, K. Appourchaux, C. Lagresle-Peyrou, C. de Chappedelaine, B. Ternaux, L. Coulombel, K. Beldjord, M. Cavazzana-Calvo and I. Andre-Schmutz (2012). "Human T-lymphoid progenitors generated in a feeder-cellfree Delta-like-4 culture system promote T-cell reconstitution in NOD/SCID/gammac(-/-) mice." Stem Cells 30(8): 1771-1780.
- Rein, A., J. Mirro, J. G. Haynes, S. M. Ernst and K. Nagashima (1994). "Function of the cytoplasmic domain of a retroviral transmembrane protein: p15E-p2E cleavage activates the membrane fusion capability of the murine leukemia virus Env protein." J Virol 68(3): 1773-1781.
- Reya, T., A. W. Duncan, L. Ailles, J. Domen, D. C. Scherer, K. Willert, L. Hintz, R. Nusse and I. L. Weissman (2003). "A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells." Nature 423(6938): 409-414.
- Rocha, V., J. Cornish, E. L. Sievers, A. Filipovich, F. Locatelli, C. Peters, M. Remberger, G. Michel, W. Arcese, S. Dallorso, K. Tiedemann, A. Busca, K. W. Chan, S. Kato, J. Ortega, M. Vowels, A. Zander, G. Souillet, A. Oakill, A. Woolfrey, A. L. Pay, A. Green, F. Garnier, I. Ionescu, P. Wernet, G. Sirchia, P. Rubinstein, S. Chevret and E. Gluckman (2001). "Comparison of outcomes of unrelated bone marrow and umbilical cord blood transplants in children with acute leukemia." Blood 97(10): 2962-2971.

- Rohll, J. B., K. A. Mitrophanous, E. Martin-Rendon, F. M. Ellard, P. A. Radcliffe, N. D. Mazarakis and S. M. Kingsman (2002). "Design, production, safety, evaluation, and clinical applications of nonprimate lentiviral vectors." Methods Enzymol 346: 466-500.
- Romero, Z., S. Torres, M. Cobo, P. Munoz, J. D. Unciti, F. Martin and I. J. Molina (2011). "A tissue-specific, activation-inducible, lentiviral vector regulated by human CD40L proximal promoter sequences." Gene Ther 18(4): 364-371.
- Rongvaux, A., T. Willinger, H. Takizawa, C. Rathinam, W. Auerbach, A. J. Murphy, D. M. Valenzuela, G. D. Yancopoulos, E. E. Eynon, S. Stevens, M. G. Manz and R. A. Flavell (2011). "Human thrombopoietin knockin mice efficiently support human hematopoiesis in vivo." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(6): 2378-2383.
- Rooney, C. M., C. A. Smith, C. Y. Ng, S. K. Loftin, J. W. Sixbey, Y. Gan, D. K. Srivastava, L.
  C. Bowman, R. A. Krance, M. K. Brenner and H. E. Heslop (1998). "Infusion of cytotoxic T cells for the prevention and treatment of Epstein-Barr virus-induced lymphoma in allogeneic transplant recipients." Blood 92(5): 1549-1555.
- Rosenberg, P. S., M. H. Greene and B. P. Alter (2003). "Cancer incidence in persons with Fanconi anemia." Blood 101(3): 822-826.
- Rosenberg, P. S., G. Socie, B. P. Alter and E. Gluckman (2005). "Risk of head and neck squamous cell cancer and death in patients with Fanconi anemia who did and did not receive transplants." Blood 105(1): 67-73.
- Rubinstein, P., C. Carrier, A. Scaradavou, J. Kurtzberg, J. Adamson, A. R. Migliaccio, R. L. Berkowitz, M. Cabbad, N. L. Dobrila, P. E. Taylor, R. E. Rosenfield and C. E. Stevens (1998). "Outcomes among 562 recipients of placental-blood transplants from unrelated donors." N Engl J Med 339(22): 1565-1577.
- Ruggeri, A., R. Peffault de Latour, M. Carmagnat, E. Clave, C. Douay, J. Larghero, J. M. Cayuela, R. Traineau, M. Robin, A. Madureira, P. Ribaud, C. Ferry, A. Devergie, D. Purtill, C. Rabian, E. Gluckman, A. Toubert, G. Socie and V. Rocha (2011). "Outcomes, infections, and immune reconstitution after double cord blood transplantation in patients with high-risk hematological diseases." Transpl Infect Dis 13(5): 456-465.

# <u>S</u>

- Sabin, F. R., C. A. Doan and C. E. Forkner (1932). "THE PRODUCTION OF OSTEOGENIC SARCOMATA AND THE EFFECTS ON LYMPH NODES AND BONE MARROW OF INTRAVENOUS INJECTIONS OF RADIUM CHLORIDE AND MESOTHORIUM IN RABBITS." J Exp Med 56(2): 267-289.
- Sabin, F. R., F. R. Miller, K. C. Smithburn, R. M. Thomas and L. E. Hummel (1936). "CHANGES IN THE BONE MARROW AND BLOOD CELLS OF DEVELOPING RABBITS." J Exp Med 64(1): 97-120.
- Sakuma, R., J. A. Noser, S. Ohmine and Y. Ikeda (2007). "Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by simian restriction factors, TRIM5alpha and APOBEC3G." Gene Ther 14(2): 185-189.
- Sakuma, T., M. A. Barry and Y. Ikeda (2012). "Lentiviral vectors: basic to translational." Biochem J 443(3): 603-618.
- Sallusto, F., J. Geginat and A. Lanzavecchia (2004). "Central memory and effector memory T cell subsets: function, generation, and maintenance." Annu Rev Immunol 22: 745-763.
- Samarasinghe, S., C. Mancao, M. Pule, N. Nawroly, H. Karlsson, J. Brewin, P. Openshaw, H. B. Gaspar, P. Veys and P. J. Amrolia (2010). "Functional characterization of alloreactive T cells identifies CD25 and CD71 as optimal targets for a clinically applicable allodepletion strategy." Blood 115(2): 396-407.
- Sandrin, V., B. Boson, P. Salmon, W. Gay, D. Negre, R. Le Grand, D. Trono and F. L. Cosset (2002). "Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with a modified RD114 envelope glycoprotein show increased stability in sera and augmented transduction of primary lymphocytes and CD34+ cells derived from human and nonhuman primates." Blood 100(3): 823-832.

- Sandrin, V., D. Muriaux, J. L. Darlix and F. L. Cosset (2004). "Intracellular trafficking of Gag and Env proteins and their interactions modulate pseudotyping of retroviruses." J Virol 78(13): 7153-7164.
- Santilli, G., E. Almarza, C. Brendel, U. Choi, C. Beilin, M. P. Blundell, S. Haria, K. L. Parsley,
  C. Kinnon, H. L. Malech, J. A. Bueren, M. Grez and A. J. Thrasher (2011).
  "Biochemical correction of X-CGD by a novel chimeric promoter regulating high levels of transgene expression in myeloid cells." Mol Ther 19(1): 122-132.
- Sato, T., J. H. Laver and M. Ogawa (1999). "Reversible expression of CD34 by murine hematopoietic stem cells." Blood 94(8): 2548-2554.
- Sauvageau, G., U. Thorsteinsdottir, C. J. Eaves, H. J. Lawrence, C. Largman, P. M. Lansdorp and R. K. Humphries (1995). "Overexpression of HOXB4 in hematopoietic cells causes the selective expansion of more primitive populations in vitro and in vivo." Genes Dev 9(14): 1753-1765.
- Schambach, A., D. Zychlinski, B. Ehrnstroem and C. Baum (2013). "Biosafety features of lentiviral vectors." Hum Gene Ther 24(2): 132-142.
- Schluns, K. S. and L. Lefrancois (2003). "Cytokine control of memory T-cell development and survival." Nat Rev Immunol 3(4): 269-279.
- Schmelzer, E., L. Zhang, A. Bruce, E. Wauthier, J. Ludlow, H. L. Yao, N. Moss, A. Melhem, R. McClelland, W. Turner, M. Kulik, S. Sherwood, T. Tallheden, N. Cheng, M. E. Furth and L. M. Reid (2007). "Human hepatic stem cells from fetal and postnatal donors." J Exp Med 204(8): 1973-1987.
- Schmidt, M., K. Schwarzwaelder, C. Bartholomae, K. Zaoui, C. Ball, I. Pilz, S. Braun, H. Glimm and C. von Kalle (2007). "High-resolution insertion-site analysis by linear amplification-mediated PCR (LAM-PCR)." Nat Methods 4(12): 1051-1057.
- Schmidt, M., K. Schwarzwaelder, C. C. Bartholomae, H. Glimm and C. von Kalle (2009). "Detection of retroviral integration sites by linear amplification-mediated PCR and tracking of individual integration clones in different samples." Methods Mol Biol 506: 363-372.
- Schmitt, T. M. and J. C. Zuniga-Pflucker (2002). "Induction of T cell development from hematopoietic progenitor cells by delta-like-1 in vitro." Immunity 17(6): 749-756.
- Schoenhals, M., C. Frecha, A. Bruyer, A. Caraux, J. L. Veyrune, M. Jourdan, J. Moreaux, F. L. Cosset, E. Verhoeyen and B. Klein (2012). "Efficient transduction of healthy and malignant plasma cells by lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with measles virus glycoproteins." Leukemia 26(7): 1663-1670.
- Schofield, R. (1978). "The relationship between the spleen colony-forming cell and the haemopoietic stem cell." Blood Cells 4(1-2): 7-25.
- Scholler, J., T. L. Brady, G. Binder-Scholl, W. T. Hwang, G. Plesa, K. M. Hege, A. N. Vogel, M. Kalos, J. L. Riley, S. G. Deeks, R. T. Mitsuyasu, W. B. Bernstein, N. E. Aronson, B. L. Levine, F. D. Bushman and C. H. June (2012). "Decade-long safety and function of retroviral-modified chimeric antigen receptor T cells." Sci Transl Med 4(132): 132ra153.
- Schriber, J. R., S. Dejbakhsh-Jones, C. R. Kusnierz-Glaz, N. Ginzton, B. Still, R. S. Negrin, P. Greenberg and S. Strober (1995). "Enrichment of bone marrow and blood progenitor (CD34+) cells by density gradients with sufficient yields for transplantation." Exp Hematol 23(9): 1024-1029.
- Scott DW, Venkataraman M, Jandinski JJ (1979). "Multiple pathways of B lymphocyte tolerance". Immunol Rev 43:241-280.
- Seder, R. A. and R. Ahmed (2003). "Similarities and differences in CD4+ and CD8+ effector and memory T cell generation." Nat Immunol 4(9): 835-842.
- Serafini, M., L. Naldini and M. Introna (2004). "Molecular evidence of inefficient transduction of proliferating human B lymphocytes by VSV-pseudotyped HIV-1-derived lentivectors." Virology 325(2): 413-424.
- Shah, D. K. and J. C. Zuniga-Pflucker (2014). "An overview of the intrathymic intricacies of T cell development." J Immunol 192(9): 4017-4023.
- Sherr, C. J. (2004). "Principles of tumor suppression." Cell 116(2): 235-246.

- Shi, Q., D. A. Wilcox, P. A. Morateck, S. A. Fahs, D. Kenny and R. R. Montgomery (2004). "Targeting platelet GPIbalpha transgene expression to human megakaryocytes and forming a complete complex with endogenous GPIbbeta and GPIX." J Thromb Haemost 2(11): 1989-1997.
- Shultz, L. D., F. Ishikawa and D. L. Greiner (2007). "Humanized mice in translational biomedical research." Nat Rev Immunol 7(2): 118-130.
- Shultz, L. D., Y. Saito, Y. Najima, S. Tanaka, T. Ochi, M. Tomizawa, T. Doi, A. Sone, N. Suzuki, H. Fujiwara, M. Yasukawa and F. Ishikawa (2010). "Generation of functional human T-cell subsets with HLA-restricted immune responses in HLA class I expressing NOD/SCID/IL2r gamma(null) humanized mice." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(29): 13022-13027.
- Shultz, L. D., P. A. Schweitzer, S. W. Christianson, B. Gott, I. B. Schweitzer, B. Tennent, S. McKenna, L. Mobraaten, T. V. Rajan, D. L. Greiner and et al. (1995). "Multiple defects in innate and adaptive immunologic function in NOD/LtSz-scid mice." J Immunol 154(1): 180-191.
- Silver, J., T. Maudru, K. Fujita and R. Repaske (1993). "An RT-PCR assay for the enzyme activity of reverse transcriptase capable of detecting single virions." Nucleic Acids Res 21(15): 3593-3594.
- Silvertown, J. D., J. S. Walia, A. J. Summerlee and J. A. Medin (2006). "Functional expression of mouse relaxin and mouse relaxin-3 in the lung from an Ebola virus glycoprotein-pseudotyped lentivirus via tracheal delivery." Endocrinology 147(8): 3797-3808.
- Singer, O. and I. M. Verma (2008). "Applications of lentiviral vectors for shRNA delivery and transgenesis." Curr Gene Ther 8(6): 483-488.
- Six, E. M., D. Bonhomme, M. Monteiro, K. Beldjord, M. Jurkowska, C. Cordier-Garcia, A. Garrigue, L. Dal Cortivo, B. Rocha, A. Fischer, M. Cavazzana-Calvo and I. Andre-Schmutz (2007). "A human postnatal lymphoid progenitor capable of circulating and seeding the thymus." J Exp Med 204(13): 3085-3093.
- Sladek, N. E. (1999). "Aldehyde dehydrogenase-mediated cellular relative insensitivity to the oxazaphosphorines." Curr Pharm Des 5(8): 607-625.
- Smith-Garvin, J. E., G. A. Koretzky and M. S. Jordan (2009). "T cell activation." Annu Rev Immunol 27: 591-619.
- Soares, M. V., N. J. Borthwick, M. K. Maini, G. Janossy, M. Salmon and A. N. Akbar (1998). "IL-7-dependent extrathymic expansion of CD45RA+ T cells enables preservation of a naïve repertoire." J Immunol 161(11): 5909-5917.
- Solomon, S. R., S. Mielke, B. N. Savani, A. Montero, L. Wisch, R. Childs, N. Hensel, J. Schindler, V. Ghetie, S. F. Leitman, T. Mai, C. S. Carter, R. Kurlander, E. J. Read, E. S. Vitetta and A. J. Barrett (2005). "Selective depletion of alloreactive donor lymphocytes: a novel method to reduce the severity of graft-versus-host disease in older patients undergoing matched sibling donor stem cell transplantation." Blood 106(3): 1123-1129.
- Song, K., R. L. Rabin, B. J. Hill, S. C. De Rosa, S. P. Perfetto, H. H. Zhang, J. F. Foley, J. S. Reiner, J. Liu, J. J. Mattapallil, D. C. Douek, M. Roederer and J. M. Farber (2005).
  "Characterization of subsets of CD4+ memory T cells reveals early branched pathways of T cell differentiation in humans." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(22): 7916-7921.
- Song, L., J. Wang, R. Wang, M. Yu, Y. Sun, G. Han, Y. Li, J. Qian, D. W. Scott, Y. Kang, N. Soukhareva and B. Shen (2004). "Retroviral delivery of GAD-IgG fusion construct induces tolerance and modulates diabetes: a role for CD4+ regulatory T cells and TGF-beta?" Gene Ther 11(20): 1487-1496.
- Sottocornola, R. and C. Lo Celso (2012). "Dormancy in the stem cell niche." Stem Cell Res Ther 3(2): 10.
- Spangrude, G. J., Heimfeld, S., & Weissman, I. L. (1988). Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science, 241(4861), 58-62.Spits, H. (2002).
  "Development of alphabeta T cells in the human thymus." Nat Rev Immunol 2(10): 760-772.

- Spits, H., B. Blom, A. C. Jaleco, K. Weijer, M. C. Verschuren, J. J. van Dongen, M. H. Heemskerk and P. C. Res (1998). "Early stages in the development of human T, natural killer and thymic dendritic cells." Immunol Rev 165: 75-86.
- Stanislawski, T., R. H. Voss, C. Lotz, E. Sadovnikova, R. A. Willemsen, J. Kuball, T. Ruppert,
  R. L. Bolhuis, C. J. Melief, C. Huber, H. J. Stauss and M. Theobald (2001).
  "Circumventing tolerance to a human MDM2-derived tumor antigen by TCR gene transfer." Nat Immunol 2(10): 962-970.
- Stegmeier, F., G. Hu, R. J. Rickles, G. J. Hannon and S. J. Elledge (2005). "A lentiviral microRNA-based system for single-copy polymerase II-regulated RNA interference in mammalian cells." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(37): 13212-13217.
- Stein, C. S., I. Martins and B. L. Davidson (2005). "The lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus envelope glycoprotein targets lentiviral gene transfer vector to neural progenitors in the murine brain." Mol Ther 11(3): 382-389.
- Stewart, S. A., D. M. Dykxhoorn, D. Palliser, H. Mizuno, E. Y. Yu, D. S. An, D. M. Sabatini, I. S. Chen, W. C. Hahn, P. A. Sharp, R. A. Weinberg and C. D. Novina (2003). "Lentivirus-delivered stable gene silencing by RNAi in primary cells." RNA 9(4): 493-501.
- Stiff, P. J., C. Emmanouilides, W. I. Bensinger, T. Gentile, B. Blazar, T. C. Shea, J. Lu, J. Isitt, A. Cesano and R. Spielberger (2006). "Palifermin reduces patient-reported mouth and throat soreness and improves patient functioning in the hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation setting." J Clin Oncol 24(33): 5186-5193.
- Stitz, J., C. J. Buchholz, M. Engelstadter, W. Uckert, U. Bloemer, I. Schmitt and K. Cichutek (2000). "Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with envelope glycoproteins derived from gibbon ape leukemia virus and murine leukemia virus 10A1." Virology 273(1): 16-20.
- Storek, J., M. Geddes, F. Khan, B. Huard, C. Helg, Y. Chalandon, J. Passweg and E. Roosnek (2008). "Reconstitution of the immune system after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in humans." Semin Immunopathol 30(4): 425-437.
- Storms, R. W., A. P. Trujillo, J. B. Springer, L. Shah, O. M. Colvin, S. M. Ludeman and C. Smith (1999). "Isolation of primitive human hematopoietic progenitors on the basis of aldehyde dehydrogenase activity." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(16): 9118-9123.
- Stornaiuolo, A., B. M. Piovani, S. Bossi, E. Zucchelli, S. Corna, F. Salvatori, F. Mavilio, C. Bordignon, G. P. Rizzardi and C. Bovolenta (2013). "RD2-MolPack-Chim3, a Packaging Cell Line for Stable Production of Lentiviral Vectors for Anti-HIV Gene Therapy." Hum Gene Ther Methods 24(4): 228-240.
- Strang, B. L., Y. Ikeda, F. L. Cosset, M. K. Collins and Y. Takeuchi (2004). "Characterization of HIV-1 vectors with gammaretrovirus envelope glycoproteins produced from stable packaging cells." Gene Ther 11(7): 591-598.
- Strebel, K., J. Luban and K. T. Jeang (2009). "Human cellular restriction factors that target HIV-1 replication." BMC Med 7: 48.
- Stripecke, R., A. A. Cardoso, K. A. Pepper, D. C. Skelton, X. J. Yu, L. Mascarenhas, K. I. Weinberg, L. M. Nadler and D. B. Kohn (2000). "Lentiviral vectors for efficient delivery of CD80 and granulocyte-macrophage- colony-stimulating factor in human acute lymphoblastic leukemia and acute myeloid leukemia cells to induce antileukemic immune responses." Blood 96(4): 1317-1326.
- Stroncek, D. F., P. V. Holland, G. Bartch, T. Bixby, R. G. Simmons, J. H. Antin, K. C. Anderson, R. C. Ash, B. J. Bolwell, J. A. Hansen and et al. (1993). "Experiences of the first 493 unrelated marrow donors in the National Marrow Donor Program." Blood 81(7): 1940-1946.
- Suerth, J. D., T. Maetzig, M. H. Brugman, N. Heinz, J. U. Appelt, K. B. Kaufmann, M. Schmidt, M. Grez, U. Modlich, C. Baum and A. Schambach (2012). "Alpharetroviral self-inactivating vectors: long-term transgene expression in murine hematopoietic cells and low genotoxicity." Mol Ther 20(5): 1022-1032.
- Song L, Wang J, Wang R, Yu M, Sun Y, Han G, Li Y, Qian J, Scott DW, Kang Y, Soukhareva N, Shen B (2004). "Retroviral delivery of GAD-IgG fusion construct induces tolerance and modulates diabetes: a role for CD4+ regulatory T cells and TGF-beta?" Gene Ther 11:1487-1496.

- Sung, V. M. and M. M. Lai (2002). "Murine retroviral pseudotype virus containing hepatitis B virus large and small surface antigens confers specific tropism for primary human hepatocytes: a potential liver-specific targeting system." J Virol 76(2): 912-917.
- Surh, C. D. and J. Sprent (2006). "On the TRAIL of homeostatic memory T cells." Nat Immunol 7(5): 439-441.
- Sutherland, J. S., L. Spyroglou, J. L. Muirhead, T. S. Heng, A. Prieto-Hinojosa, H. M. Prince, A. P. Chidgey, A. P. Schwarer and R. L. Boyd (2008). "Enhanced immune system regeneration in humans following allogeneic or autologous hemopoietic stem cell transplantation by temporary sex steroid blockade." Clin Cancer Res 14(4): 1138-1149.
- Sutton, R. E., M. J. Reitsma, N. Uchida and P. O. Brown (1999). "Transduction of human progenitor hematopoietic stem cells by human immunodeficiency virus type 1-based vectors is cell cycle dependent." J Virol 73(5): 3649-3660.
- Swain, S. L., A. D. Weinberg and M. English (1990). "CD4+ T cell subsets. Lymphokine secretion of memory cells and of effector cells that develop from precursors in vitro." J Immunol 144(5): 1788-1799.
- Swanstrom, R. and J. W. Wills (1997). Synthesis, Assembly, and Processing of Viral Proteins. Retroviruses. J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes and H. E. Varmus. Cold Spring Harbor (NY), Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Sykes, S. M. and D. T. Scadden (2013). "Modeling human hematopoietic stem cell biology in the mouse." Semin Hematol 50(2): 92-100.
- Szabolcs, P., K. D. Park, M. Reese, L. Marti, G. Broadwater and J. Kurtzberg (2003). "Coexistent naïve phenotype and higher cycling rate of cord blood T cells as compared to adult peripheral blood." Exp Hematol 31(8): 708-714.
- Szecsi, J., R. Drury, V. Josserand, M. P. Grange, B. Boson, I. Hartl, R. Schneider, C. J. Buchholz, J. L. Coll, S. J. Russell, F. L. Cosset and E. Verhoeyen (2006). "Targeted retroviral vectors displaying a cleavage site-engineered hemagglutinin (HA) through HA-protease interactions." Mol Ther 14(5): 735-744.
- Szulc, J., M. Wiznerowicz, M. O. Sauvain, D. Trono and P. Aebischer (2006). "A versatile tool for conditional gene expression and knockdown." Nat Methods 3(2): 109-116.
- Szydlo, R., J. M. Goldman, J. P. Klein, R. P. Gale, R. C. Ash, F. H. Bach, B. A. Bradley, J. T. Casper, N. Flomenberg, J. L. Gajewski, E. Gluckman, P. J. Henslee-Downey, J. M. Hows, N. Jacobsen, H. J. Kolb, B. Lowenberg, T. Masaoka, P. A. Rowlings, P. M. Sondel, D. W. van Bekkum, J. J. van Rood, M. R. Vowels, M. J. Zhang and M. M. Horowitz (1997). "Results of allogeneic bone marrow transplants for leukemia using donors other than HLA-identical siblings." J Clin Oncol 15(5): 1767-1777.
- Szymczak, A. L., C. J. Workman, Y. Wang, K. M. Vignali, S. Dilioglou, E. F. Vanin and D. A. Vignali (2004). "Correction of multi-gene deficiency in vivo using a single 'selfcleaving' 2A peptide-based retroviral vector." Nat Biotechnol 22(5): 589-594.

#### Taher, T. E., C. Tulone, R. Fatah, F. D'Acquisto, D. J. Gould and R. A. Mageed (2008). "Repopulation of B-lymphocytes with restricted gene expression using haematopoietic stem cells engineered with lentiviral vectors." Gene Ther 15(13): 998-1006.

- Tailor, C. S., A. Nouri, Y. Zhao, Y. Takeuchi and D. Kabat (1999). "A sodium-dependent neutral-amino-acid transporter mediates infections of feline and baboon endogenous retroviruses and simian type D retroviruses." J Virol 73(5): 4470-4474.
- Takahashi, K., K. Tanabe, M. Ohnuki, M. Narita, T. Ichisaka, K. Tomoda and S. Yamanaka (2007). "Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors." Cell 131(5): 861-872.
- Tanchot, C. and B. Rocha (2003). "CD8 and B cell memory: same strategy, same signals." Nat Immunol 4(5): 431-432.

- Tary-Lehmann, M. and A. Saxon (1992). "Human mature T cells that are anergic in vivo prevail in SCID mice reconstituted with human peripheral blood." J Exp Med 175(2): 503-516.
- Tatsuo, H., N. Ono, K. Tanaka and Y. Yanagi (2000). "SLAM (CDw150) is a cellular receptor for measles virus." Nature 406(6798): 893-897.
- ter Brake, O., K. t Hooft, Y. P. Liu, M. Centlivre, K. J. von Eije and B. Berkhout (2008). "Lentiviral vector design for multiple shRNA expression and durable HIV-1 inhibition." Mol Ther 16(3): 557-564.
- Terstappen, L. W., S. Huang and L. J. Picker (1992). "Flow cytometric assessment of human T-cell differentiation in thymus and bone marrow." Blood 79(3): 666-677.
- Terstappen, L. W., S. Huang, M. Safford, P. M. Lansdorp and M. R. Loken (1991). "Sequential generations of hematopoietic colonies derived from single nonlineagecommitted CD34+CD38- progenitor cells." Blood 77(6): 1218-1227.
- Thomas, E. D., C. D. Buckner, M. Banaji, R. A. Clift, A. Fefer, N. Flournoy, B. W. Goodell, R. O. Hickman, K. G. Lerner, P. E. Neiman, G. E. Sale, J. E. Sanders, J. Singer, M. Stevens, R. Storb and P. L. Weiden (1977). "One hundred patients with acute leukemia treated by chemotherapy, total body irradiation, and allogeneic marrow transplantation." Blood 49(4): 511-533.
- Thomas, E. D., H. L. Lochte, Jr., J. H. Cannon, O. D. Sahler and J. W. Ferrebee (1959). "Supralethal whole body irradiation and isologous marrow transplantation in man." J Clin Invest 38: 1709-1716.
- Thomas, E. D., H. L. Lochte, Jr., W. C. Lu and J. W. Ferrebee (1957). "Intravenous infusion of bone marrow in patients receiving radiation and chemotherapy." N Engl J Med 257(11): 491-496.
- Tiberghien, P., J. Y. Cahn and J. M. Chalopin (2001). "[Mechanism and clinical expression of graft rejection and graft-versus-host disease]." Rev Prat 51(9): 995-1000.
- Till, J. E. and C. E. Mc (1961). "A direct measurement of the radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells." Radiat Res 14: 213-222.
- Tiscornia, G., O. Singer, M. Ikawa and I. M. Verma (2003). "A general method for gene knockdown in mice by using lentiviral vectors expressing small interfering RNA." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(4): 1844-1848.
- Tolar, J., J. E. Adair, M. Antoniou, C. C. Bartholomae, P. S. Becker, B. R. Blazar, J. Bueren, T. Carroll, M. Cavazzana-Calvo, D. W. Clapp, R. Dalgleish, A. Galy, H. B. Gaspar, H. Hanenberg, C. Von Kalle, H. P. Kiem, D. Lindeman, L. Naldini, S. Navarro, R. Renella, P. Rio, J. Sevilla, M. Schmidt, E. Verhoeyen, J. E. Wagner, D. A. Williams and A. J. Thrasher (2011). "Stem cell gene therapy for fanconi anemia: report from the 1st international Fanconi anemia gene therapy working group meeting." Mol Ther 19(7): 1193-1198.
- Tolar, J., P. S. Becker, D. W. Clapp, H. Hanenberg, C. D. de Heredia, H. P. Kiem, S. Navarro, P. Qasba, P. Rio, M. Schmidt, J. Sevilla, E. Verhoeyen, A. J. Thrasher and J. Bueren (2012). "Gene therapy for Fanconi anemia: one step closer to the clinic." Hum Gene Ther 23(2): 141-144.
- Toscano, M. G., C. Frecha, K. Benabdellah, M. Cobo, M. Blundell, A. J. Thrasher, E. Garcia-Olivares, I. J. Molina and F. Martin (2008). "Hematopoietic-specific lentiviral vectors circumvent cellular toxicity due to ectopic expression of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein." Hum Gene Ther 19(2): 179-197.
- Traggiai, E., L. Chicha, L. Mazzucchelli, L. Bronz, J. C. Piffaretti, A. Lanzavecchia and M. G. Manz (2004). "Development of a human adaptive immune system in cord blood celltransplanted mice." Science 304(5667): 104-107.
- Tramsen, L., U. Koehl, T. Tonn, J. P. Latge, F. R. Schuster, A. Borkhardt, L. Uharek, R. Quaritsch, O. Beck, E. Seifried, T. Klingebiel and T. Lehrnbecher (2009). "Clinical-scale generation of human anti-Aspergillus T cells for adoptive immunotherapy." Bone Marrow Transplant 43(1): 13-19.
- Tripura, C. and G. Pande (2013). "Applications of human hematopoietic stem cells isolated and expanded from different tissues in regenerative medicine." Regen Med 8(6): 783-795.

Trobridge, G. D., B. C. Beard, C. Gooch, M. Wohlfahrt, P. Olsen, J. Fletcher, P. Malik and H. P. Kiem (2008). "Efficient transduction of pigtailed macaque hematopoietic repopulating cells with HIV-based lentiviral vectors." Blood 111(12): 5537-5543.

# U

- Uchida, N., M. M. Hsieh, J. Hayakawa, C. Madison, K. N. Washington and J. F. Tisdale (2011). "Optimal conditions for lentiviral transduction of engrafting human CD34+ cells." Gene Ther 18(11): 1078-1086.
- Unutmaz, D., V. N. KewalRamani, S. Marmon and D. R. Littman (1999). "Cytokine signals are sufficient for HIV-1 infection of resting human T lymphocytes." J Exp Med 189(11): 1735-1746.
- Ustek, D., S. Sirma, E. Gumus, M. Arikan, A. Cakiris, N. Abaci, J. Mathew, Z. Emrence, H. Azakli, F. Cosan, A. Cakar, M. Parlak and O. Kursun (2012). "A genome-wide analysis of lentivector integration sites using targeted sequence capture and next generation sequencing technology." Infect Genet Evol 12(7): 1349-1354.

# V

- van den Brandt, J., D. Wang, S. H. Kwon, M. Heinkelein and H. M. Reichardt (2004). "Lentivirally generated eGFP-transgenic rats allow efficient cell tracking in vivo." Genesis 39(2): 94-99.
- van der Kuyl, A. C., J. T. Dekker and J. Goudsmit (1999). "Discovery of a new endogenous type C retrovirus (FcEV) in cats: evidence for RD-114 being an FcEV(Gag-Pol)/baboon endogenous virus BaEV(Env) recombinant." J Virol 73(10): 7994-8002.
- van Dongen, J. J., H. Hooijkaas, M. Comans-Bitter, K. Hahlen, A. de Klein, G. E. van Zanen, M. B. van't Veer, J. Abels and R. Benner (1985). "Human bone marrow cells positive for terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT), HLA-DR, and a T cell marker may represent prothymocytes." J Immunol 135(5): 3144-3150.
- Van Maele, B., J. De Rijck, E. De Clercq and Z. Debyser (2003). "Impact of the central polypurine tract on the kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vector transduction." J Virol 77(8): 4685-4694.
- Vanhecke, D., G. Leclercq, J. Plum and B. Vandekerckhove (1995). "Characterization of distinct stages during the differentiation of human CD69+CD3+ thymocytes and identification of thymic emigrants." J Immunol 155(4): 1862-1872.
- Varnum-Finney, B., L. Xu, C. Brashem-Stein, C. Nourigat, D. Flowers, S. Bakkour, W. S. Pear and I. D. Bernstein (2000). "Pluripotent, cytokine-dependent, hematopoietic stem cells are immortalized by constitutive Notch1 signaling." Nat Med 6(11): 1278-1281.
- Veerappan, R., M. Morrison, S. Williams and D. Variakojis (2007). "Splenic rupture in a patient with plasma cell myeloma following G-CSF/GM-CSF administration for stem cell transplantation and review of the literature." Bone Marrow Transplant 40(4): 361-364.
- Ventura, A., A. Meissner, C. P. Dillon, M. McManus, P. A. Sharp, L. Van Parijs, R. Jaenisch and T. Jacks (2004). "Cre-lox-regulated conditional RNA interference from transgenes." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(28): 10380-10385.
- Verhoeyen, E. and F. L. Cosset (2004). "Surface-engineering of lentiviral vectors." J Gene Med 6 Suppl 1: S83-94.
- Verhoeyen, E. and F. L. Cosset (2009). "Engineering the surface glycoproteins of lentiviral vectors for targeted gene transfer." Cold Spring Harb Protoc 2009(8): pdb top59.
- Verhoeyen, E. and F. L. Cosset (2009). "Hematopoietic stem cell targeting with surfaceengineered lentiviral vectors." Cold Spring Harb Protoc 2009(8): pdb.prot5276.

- Verhoeyen, E., V. Dardalhon, O. Ducrey-Rundquist, D. Trono, N. Taylor and F. L. Cosset (2003). "IL-7 surface-engineered lentiviral vectors promote survival and efficient gene transfer in resting primary T lymphocytes." Blood 101(6): 2167-2174.
- Verhoeyen, E., D. Negre and F. L. Cosset (2008). "Production of lentiviruses displaying "early-acting" cytokines for selective gene transfer into hematopoietic stem cells." Methods Mol Biol 434: 99-112.
- Verhoeyen, E., F. Relouzat, M. Cambot, C. Costa, D. Negre, F. Legrand, C. Joubert, R. Le Grand, F. L. Cosset, P. Leboulch, A. Dubart-Kupperschmitt and S. Prost (2012).
  "Stem cell factor-displaying simian immunodeficiency viral vectors together with a low conditioning regimen allow for long-term engraftment of gene-marked autologous hematopoietic stem cells in macaques." Hum Gene Ther 23(7): 754-768.
- Verhoeyen, E., M. Wiznerowicz, D. Olivier, B. Izac, D. Trono, A. Dubart-Kupperschmitt and F. L. Cosset (2005). "Novel lentiviral vectors displaying "early-acting cytokines" selectively promote survival and transduction of NOD/SCID repopulating human hematopoietic stem cells." Blood 106(10): 3386-3395.
- Verma, I. M. (2013). "Medicine. Gene therapy that works." Science 341(6148): 853-855.
- Vicente, R., L. Swainson, S. Marty-Gres, S. C. De Barros, S. Kinet, V. S. Zimmermann and N. Taylor (2010). "Molecular and cellular basis of T cell lineage commitment." Semin Immunol 22(5): 270-275.
- Vicenzi, E. and G. Poli (2013). "Novel factors interfering with human immunodeficiency virustype 1 replication in vivo and in vitro." Tissue Antigens 81(2): 61-71.
- Vigna, E., S. Cavalieri, L. Ailles, M. Geuna, R. Loew, H. Bujard and L. Naldini (2002). "Robust and efficient regulation of transgene expression in vivo by improved tetracycline-dependent lentiviral vectors." Mol Ther 5(3): 252-261.
- Vigorito, A. C., W. M. Azevedo, J. F. Marques, A. M. Azevedo, K. A. Eid, F. J. Aranha, I. Lorand-Metze, G. B. Oliveira, M. E. Correa, A. R. Reis, E. C. Miranda and C. A. de Souza (1998). "A randomised, prospective comparison of allogeneic bone marrow and peripheral blood progenitor cell transplantation in the treatment of haematological malignancies." Bone Marrow Transplant 22(12): 1145-1151.
- Villinger, F., R. Miller, K. Mori, A. E. Mayne, P. Bostik, J. B. Sundstrom, C. Sugimoto and A. A. Ansari (2004). "IL-15 is superior to IL-2 in the generation of long-lived antigen specific memory CD4 and CD8 T cells in rhesus macaques." Vaccine 22(25-26): 3510-3521.
- Vincent, M. J., L. R. Melsen, A. S. Martin and R. W. Compans (1999). "Intracellular interaction of simian immunodeficiency virus Gag and Env proteins." J Virol 73(10): 8138-8144.

## W

- Wagner, J. E., J. N. Barker, T. E. DeFor, K. S. Baker, B. R. Blazar, C. Eide, A. Goldman, J. Kersey, W. Krivit, M. L. MacMillan, P. J. Orchard, C. Peters, D. J. Weisdorf, N. K. Ramsay and S. M. Davies (2002). "Transplantation of unrelated donor umbilical cord blood in 102 patients with malignant and nonmalignant diseases: influence of CD34 cell dose and HLA disparity on treatment-related mortality and survival." Blood 100(5): 1611-1618.
- Walter, E. A., P. D. Greenberg, M. J. Gilbert, R. J. Finch, K. S. Watanabe, E. D. Thomas and S. R. Riddell (1995). "Reconstitution of cellular immunity against cytomegalovirus in recipients of allogeneic bone marrow by transfer of T-cell clones from the donor." N Engl J Med 333(16): 1038-1044.
- Wang, G. P., A. Garrigue, A. Ciuffi, K. Ronen, J. Leipzig, C. Berry, C. Lagresle-Peyrou, F. Benjelloun, S. Hacein-Bey-Abina, A. Fischer, M. Cavazzana-Calvo and F. D. Bushman (2008). "DNA bar coding and pyrosequencing to analyze adverse events in therapeutic gene transfer." Nucleic Acids Res 36(9): e49.
- Wang, G. P., B. L. Levine, G. K. Binder, C. C. Berry, N. Malani, G. McGarrity, P. Tebas, C. H. June and F. D. Bushman (2009). "Analysis of lentiviral vector integration in HIV+

study subjects receiving autologous infusions of gene modified CD4+ T cells." Mol Ther 17(5): 844-850.

- Wanisch, K. and R. J. Yanez-Munoz (2009). "Integration-deficient lentiviral vectors: a slow coming of age." Mol Ther 17(8): 1316-1332.
- Watson, D. J., G. P. Kobinger, M. A. Passini, J. M. Wilson and J. H. Wolfe (2002). "Targeted transduction patterns in the mouse brain by lentivirus vectors pseudotyped with VSV, Ebola, Mokola, LCMV, or MuLV envelope proteins." Mol Ther 5(5 Pt 1): 528-537.
- Weaver, C. H., C. D. Buckner, K. Longin, F. R. Appelbaum, S. Rowley, K. Lilleby, J. Miser, R. Storb, J. A. Hansen and W. Bensinger (1993). "Syngeneic transplantation with peripheral blood mononuclear cells collected after the administration of recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor." Blood 82(7): 1981-1984.
- Webb, L. M., B. M. Foxwell and M. Feldmann (1999). "Putative role for interleukin-7 in the maintenance of the recirculating naïve CD4+ T-cell pool." Immunology 98(3): 400-405.
- Weerkamp, F., E. F. de Haas, B. A. Naber, W. M. Comans-Bitter, A. J. Bogers, J. J. van Dongen and F. J. Staal (2005). "Age-related changes in the cellular composition of the thymus in children." J Allergy Clin Immunol 115(4): 834-840.
- Wendorff, A. A., U. Koch, F. T. Wunderlich, S. Wirth, C. Dubey, J. C. Bruning, H. R. MacDonald and F. Radtke (2010). "Hes1 is a critical but context-dependent mediator of canonical Notch signaling in lymphocyte development and transformation." Immunity 33(5): 671-684.
- White, H., A. Thrasher, P. Veys, C. Kinnon and H. B. Gaspar (2000). "Intrinsic defects of B cell function in X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency." Eur J Immunol 30(3): 732-737.
- Whiteside, T. L. (2012). "What are regulatory T cells (Treg) regulating in cancer and why?" Semin Cancer Biol 22(4): 327-334.
- Williams, M. A., A. J. Tyznik and M. J. Bevan (2006). "Interleukin-2 signals during priming are required for secondary expansion of CD8+ memory T cells." Nature 441(7095): 890-893.
- Willinger, T., A. Rongvaux, H. Takizawa, G. D. Yancopoulos, D. M. Valenzuela, A. J. Murphy, W. Auerbach, E. E. Eynon, S. Stevens, M. G. Manz and R. A. Flavell (2011). "Human IL-3/GM-CSF knock-in mice support human alveolar macrophage development and human immune responses in the lung." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(6): 2390-2395.
- Wils, E. J., E. Braakman, G. M. Verjans, E. J. Rombouts, A. E. Broers, H. G. Niesters, G. Wagemaker, F. J. Staal, B. Lowenberg, H. Spits and J. J. Cornelissen (2007). "Flt3 ligand expands lymphoid progenitors prior to recovery of thymopoiesis and accelerates T cell reconstitution after bone marrow transplantation." J Immunol 178(6): 3551-3557.
- Wils, E. J. and J. J. Cornelissen (2005). "Thymopoiesis following allogeneic stem cell transplantation: new possibilities for improvement." Blood Rev 19(2): 89-98.
- Wilson, A., E. Laurenti, G. Oser, R. C. van der Wath, W. Blanco-Bose, M. Jaworski, S. Offner, C. F. Dunant, L. Eshkind, E. Bockamp, P. Lio, H. R. Macdonald and A. Trumpp (2008). "Hematopoietic stem cells reversibly switch from dormancy to self-renewal during homeostasis and repair." Cell 135(6): 1118-1129.
- Wisniewski, D., M. Affer, J. Willshire and B. Clarkson (2011). "Further phenotypic characterization of the primitive lineage- CD34+CD38-CD90+CD45RA- hematopoietic stem cell/progenitor cell sub-population isolated from cord blood, mobilized peripheral blood and patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia." Blood Cancer J 1(9): e36.
- Wiznerowicz, M. and D. Trono (2003). "Conditional suppression of cellular genes: lentivirus vector-mediated drug-inducible RNA interference." J Virol 77(16): 8957-8961.
- Wognum, B., N. Yuan, B. Lai and C. L. Miller (2013). "Colony forming cell assays for human hematopoietic progenitor cells." Methods Mol Biol 946: 267-283.
- Wong, L. F., M. Azzouz, L. E. Walmsley, Z. Askham, F. J. Wilkes, K. A. Mitrophanous, S. M. Kingsman and N. D. Mazarakis (2004). "Transduction patterns of pseudotyped lentiviral vectors in the nervous system." Mol Ther 9(1): 101-111.

- Wongsrikeao, P., D. Saenz, T. Rinkoski, T. Otoi and E. Poeschla (2011). "Antiviral restriction factor transgenesis in the domestic cat." Nat Methods 8(10): 853-859.
- Wu, M., H. Y. Kwon, F. Rattis, J. Blum, C. Zhao, R. Ashkenazi, T. L. Jackson, N. Gaiano, T. Oliver and T. Reya (2007). "Imaging hematopoietic precursor division in real time." Cell Stem Cell 1(5): 541-554.
- Wyma, D. J., A. Kotov and C. Aiken (2000). "Evidence for a stable interaction of gp41 with Pr55(Gag) in immature human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles." J Virol 74(20): 9381-9387.

# <u>X</u>

- Xiao, Z., K. A. Casey, S. C. Jameson, J. M. Curtsinger and M. F. Mescher (2009). "Programming for CD8 T cell memory development requires IL-12 or type I IFN." J Immunol 182(5): 2786-2794.
- Xu, B. and D. W. Scott (2004). "A novel retroviral gene therapy approach to inhibit specific antibody production and suppress experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced by MOG and MBP." Clin Immunol 111(1): 47-52.

# Y

- Yamazaki, S., A. Iwama, S. Takayanagi, K. Eto, H. Ema and H. Nakauchi (2009). "TGF-beta as a candidate bone marrow niche signal to induce hematopoietic stem cell hibernation." Blood 113(6): 1250-1256.
- Yanagi, Y., M. Takeda and S. Ohno (2006). "Measles virus: cellular receptors, tropism and pathogenesis." J Gen Virol 87(Pt 10): 2767-2779.
- Yanez-Munoz, R. J., K. S. Balaggan, A. MacNeil, S. J. Howe, M. Schmidt, A. J. Smith, P. Buch, R. E. MacLaren, P. N. Anderson, S. E. Barker, Y. Duran, C. Bartholomae, C. von Kalle, J. R. Heckenlively, C. Kinnon, R. R. Ali and A. J. Thrasher (2006). "Effective gene therapy with nonintegrating lentiviral vectors." Nat Med 12(3): 348-353.
- Yang, D., Q. Shao, H. Sun, X. Mu, Y. Gao, R. Jiang, J. Hou, K. Yao, Y. Chen and B. Sun (2011). "Evaluation of Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 2 specific T-cell receptors driven by T-cell specific promoters using lentiviral vector." Clin Dev Immunol 2011: 716926.
- Yang, H. G., B. L. Hu, L. Xiao and P. Wang (2011). "Dendritic cell-directed lentivector vaccine induces antigen-specific immune responses against murine melanoma." Cancer Gene Ther 18(5): 370-380.
- Yang L, Bailey L, Baltimore D, Wang P (2006), "Targeting lentiviral vectors to specific cell types in vivo". Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:11479-11484.
- Ye, Z., H. Zhan, P. Mali, S. Dowey, D. M. Williams, Y. Y. Jang, C. V. Dang, J. L. Spivak, A. R. Moliterno and L. Cheng (2009). "Human-induced pluripotent stem cells from blood cells of healthy donors and patients with acquired blood disorders." Blood 114(27): 5473-5480.
- Yee, J. K., T. Friedmann and J. C. Burns (1994). "Generation of high-titer pseudotyped retroviral vectors with very broad host range." Methods Cell Biol 43 Pt A: 99-112.
- Yilmaz, A., S. Fernandez, M. D. Lairmore and K. Boris-Lawrie (2006). "Coordinate enhancement of transgene transcription and translation in a lentiviral vector." Retrovirology 3: 13.
- Yin, A. H., S. Miraglia, E. D. Zanjani, G. Almeida-Porada, M. Ogawa, A. G. Leary, J. Olweus, J. Kearney and D. W. Buck (1997). "AC133, a novel marker for human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells." Blood 90(12): 5002-5012.
- Yu, X., X. Zhan, J. D'Costa, V. M. Tanavde, Z. Ye, T. Peng, M. T. Malehorn, X. Yang, C. I. Civin and L. Cheng (2003). "Lentiviral vectors with two independent internal

promoters transfer high-level expression of multiple transgenes to human hematopoietic stem-progenitor cells." Mol Ther 7(6): 827-838.

Yuan, Y., M. Call, Y. Yuan, Y. Zhang, K. Fischesser, C. Y. Liu and W. W. Kao (2013). "Dexamethasone induces cross-linked actin networks in trabecular meshwork cells through noncanonical Wnt signaling." Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.

- Zakrzewski, J. L., A. A. Kochman, S. X. Lu, T. H. Terwey, T. D. Kim, V. M. Hubbard, S. J. Muriglan, D. Suh, O. M. Smith, J. Grubin, N. Patel, A. Chow, J. Cabrera-Perez, R. Radhakrishnan, A. Diab, M. A. Perales, G. Rizzuto, E. Menet, E. G. Pamer, G. Heller, J. C. Zuniga-Pflucker, O. Alpdogan and M. R. van den Brink (2006). "Adoptive transfer of T-cell precursors enhances T-cell reconstitution after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation." Nat Med 12(9): 1039-1047.
- Zakrzewski, J. L., D. Suh, J. C. Markley, O. M. Smith, C. King, G. L. Goldberg, R. Jenq, A. M. Holland, J. Grubin, J. Cabrera-Perez, R. J. Brentjens, S. X. Lu, G. Rizzuto, D. B. Sant'Angelo, I. Riviere, M. Sadelain, G. Heller, J. C. Zuniga-Pflucker, C. Lu and M. R. van den Brink (2008). "Tumor immunotherapy across MHC barriers using allogeneic T-cell precursors." Nat Biotechnol 26(4): 453-461.
- Zanta-Boussif, M. A., S. Charrier, A. Brice-Ouzet, S. Martin, P. Opolon, A. J. Thrasher, T. J. Hope and A. Galy (2009). "Validation of a mutated PRE sequence allowing high and sustained transgene expression while abrogating WHV-X protein synthesis: application to the gene therapy of WAS." Gene Ther 16(5): 605-619.
- Zhang, C. C. and H. F. Lodish (2005). "Murine hematopoietic stem cells change their surface phenotype during ex vivo expansion." Blood 105(11): 4314-4320.
- Zhang, F., A. R. Frost, M. P. Blundell, O. Bales, M. N. Antoniou and A. J. Thrasher (2010). "A ubiquitous chromatin opening element (UCOE) confers resistance to DNA methylation-mediated silencing of lentiviral vectors." Mol Ther 18(9): 1640-1649.
- Zhang, F., S. I. Thornhill, S. J. Howe, M. Ulaganathan, A. Schambach, J. Sinclair, C. Kinnon, H. B. Gaspar, M. Antoniou and A. J. Thrasher (2007). "Lentiviral vectors containing an enhancer-less ubiquitously acting chromatin opening element (UCOE) provide highly reproducible and stable transgene expression in hematopoietic cells." Blood 110(5): 1448-1457.
- Zhang, J., C. Niu, L. Ye, H. Huang, X. He, W. G. Tong, J. Ross, J. Haug, T. Johnson, J. Q. Feng, S. Harris, L. M. Wiedemann, Y. Mishina and L. Li (2003). "Identification of the haematopoietic stem cell niche and control of the niche size." Nature 425(6960): 836-841.
- Zheng, J., H. Huynh, M. Umikawa, R. Silvany and C. C. Zhang (2011). "Angiopoietin-like protein 3 supports the activity of hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow niche." Blood 117(2): 470-479.
- Zhou, Q., I. C. Schneider, I. Edes, A. Honegger, P. Bach, K. Schonfeld, A. Schambach, W. S. Wels, S. Kneissl, W. Uckert and C. J. Buchholz (2012). "T-cell receptor gene transfer exclusively to human CD8(+) cells enhances tumor cell killing." Blood 120(22): 4334-4342.
- Zhu, J. and W. E. Paul (2008). "CD4 T cells: fates, functions, and faults." Blood 112(5): 1557-1569.
- Zhu, Y., G. Feuer, S. L. Day, S. Wrzesinski and V. Planelles (2001). "Multigene lentiviral vectors based on differential splicing and translational control." Mol Ther 4(4): 375-382.
- Ziegler, B. L., M. Valtieri, G. A. Porada, R. De Maria, R. Muller, B. Masella, M. Gabbianelli, I. Casella, E. Pelosi, T. Bock, E. D. Zanjani and C. Peschle (1999). "KDR receptor: a key marker defining hematopoietic stem cells." Science 285(5433): 1553-1558.
- Ziegler, L., L. Yang, K. Joo, H. Yang, D. Baltimore and P. Wang (2008). "Targeting lentiviral vectors to antigen-specific immunoglobulins." Hum Gene Ther 19(9): 861-872.

Z

- Zufferey, R., J. E. Donello, D. Trono and T. J. Hope (1999). "Woodchuck hepatitis virus posttranscriptional regulatory element enhances expression of transgenes delivered by retroviral vectors." J Virol 73(4): 2886-2892.
- Zufferey, R., T. Dull, R. J. Mandel, A. Bukovsky, D. Quiroz, L. Naldini and D. Trono (1998). "Self-inactivating lentivirus vector for safe and efficient in vivo gene delivery." J Virol 72(12): 9873-9880.
- Zufferey, R., D. Nagy, R. J. Mandel, L. Naldini and D. Trono (1997). "Multiply attenuated lentiviral vector achieves efficient gene delivery in vivo." Nat Biotechnol 15(9): 871-875.